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Summary under the Criteria for the Proposed Finding 

on the 

LITTLE SHELL TRIBE OF CHIPPEWA INDIANS OF MONTANA 

INTRODUCTION 

Thi~ report has been prepared in response to the petition received by the Assistant 
Secretary - Indian Affairs from the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana 
(Little Shell) seeking Federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe under Part 83 of Title 25 
of the Code of Federal Regulations (25 CFR Part 83). 

Part 83 establishes procedures by which unrecognized Indian groups may seek Federal 
acknowledgment of a government-to-government relationship with the United States. To 
be entitled to such a political relationship with the United States, the petitioner must 
submit documentary evidence that the group meets the seven criteria set forth in section 
83.7 of the regulations. Failure to meet anyone of the seven criteria will result in a 
determination that the group does not exist as an Indian tribe within the meaning of 
Federal law. 

Publication of the Assistant Secretary's proposed finding in the Federal Register initiates 
a 180-day response period during which arguments and evidence to support or rebut the 
evidence relied upon in the proposed finding may be submitted by the petitioner and any 
other interested or informed party. Such comments should be submitted in writing to the 
Office of the As~istant Secretary - Indian Affairs, 1849 C Street N.W., Washington, D.C. 
20240, Attention: Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Mail Stop 4660-MIB. 
Interested or informed parties must provide a copy of their comments to the petitioner. 

The petitioner shall have a minimum of 60 days to respond to any submission by 
interested or informed parties during the response period. After consideration of all 
written arguments and evidence recei ved during the 180-day response period, and the 
petitioner's comments on the responses by other parties, the Assistant Secretary will make 
a final detennination regarding the petitioner's status, a summary of which will be 
published in the Federal Register. 

The petitioner or any interested party may file a request for reconsideration with the 
Interior Board of Indian Appeals (IBLA) under the procedures set forth in section 83.11 of 
the regulations. This request must be made within 90 days of publication of the final 
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Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

determination. Unless a request for reconsideration is filed pursuant to section 83.11, the 
final determination will become effective 90 days from its date of publication. 

Administrative History of the Petition 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) received an initial letter petitioning for Federal 
acknowledgment of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana on April 28, 
1978 (Plummer 1978). This petition was transferred to the administrative process of 
Federal acknowledgment which became effective on October 2, 1978. The BIA received 
an initial partially documented petition from the Little Shell petitioner on December 15, 
1982. The BIA gave this petition a preliminary technical assistance review for obvious 
deficiencies, and summarized its findings in a letter to the petitioner dated January 27, 
1983 (BIA 1127/1983). The Little Shell petitioner submitted additional materials in 1983 
and a revised documented petition on September 22, 1984 (Morris and Van Gunten 
1984). The BIA sent the petitioner a second, more detailed, technical assistance letter on 
April 8, 1985 (BIA 4/8/1985). 

The Pembina Judgment Fund Act of 1982 (Statutes 1982, sec.6) required the Secretary of 
the Interior to report to Congress on the status of the Little SheIl petition for 
acknowledgment if the group had not been recognized by September 30, 1985. The 
Department's report, on August 2, 1985, informed Congress that no decision would be 
made on the Little Shell petition before September 30, 1985, because the petition was not 
ready for consideration. The report noted that in 1985 the BIA had sent the Little Shell a 
technical assistance letter that listed the petition's obvious deficiencies, and concluded 
that additional work would be necessary before the petition could be placed under active 
consideration (Interior 8/211985). 

The Little SheIl petitioner submitted a response to the 1985 technical assistance letter in 
November 1987 (Campisi and Starna 1987a). In 1989, the petitioner provided additional 
historical documentation. After the receipt of these materials, the BlA declared the Little 

Shell petition to be ready for active consideration in 1989. In response to a request from 
the BIA, the Little Shell petitioner submitted a resolution by its governing body in 
January 1990 asking that its petition be placed under active consideration (LSTCIM 
11511 99(l). The BIA began preliminary work to review the documented petition in July 
1990 (BIA 7/19/1990). In August 1990, however, the Little Shell council voted to 
withdraw its petition from the status of "ready for active consideration" so that its 
researchers could review new documents and conduct additional research (LSTCIM 
8/1\/1990). 

The Little Shell petitioner hired new researchers with the financial aid of the Native 
American Rights Fund (NARF). The BAR staff held a technical assistance meeting with 
the petitioner's new researchers on November 18, 1993, and on several subsequent 
occasions. The completed documented petition of the Little Shell petitioner, therefore, 
has been prepared by three separate teams of researchers. The partially-documented 
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Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

petition submitted in 1984 was prepared by C. Patrick Morris and Robert Van Gunten. 
The response to the BIA's review of the documented petition submitted in 1987 was 
prepared by Jack Campisi and William Starna. Additional research and documentation 
were provided from 1994 to 1997 by Robert J. Franklin and Pamela A. Bunte. Each of 
these three teams submitted one or more reports that provided a narrative or analysis of 
the evidence, as well as supporting documentation. 

The petitioner requested that it be evaluated under the provisions of section 83.8 of the 
regulations (LSTCIM 5117/1994; Peregoy 1994). The petitioner has claimed that it meets 
the requirements of section 83.8(c)(3) because it was acknowledged by the Federal 
Government during the late 1930's as a tribal political entity having collective rights to 
tribal lands (Franklin 1994). The BIA reviewed the petitioner's report on the issue of 
previous acknowledgment and made a preliminary determination that rejected the 
arguments made by the petitioner. The staff of the BIA presented its conclusions orally to 
the petitioner's attorney, Robert Peregoy of NARF, and its researcher, Robert Franklin, at 
a meeting on July 30, 1994 (BAR 7/3011994; Peregoy 1995). The petitioner's researchers 
have incorrectly characterized the BIA's advice as having included a preliminary 
determination that the Little Shell petitioner was previously acknowledged as part of the 
Turtle Mountain Band as late as 1904 (Franklin and Bunte 1994. 1; 1996, n.11). A more 
detailed review, based on the evidence presented in the technical report, has confirmed 
the preliminary determination that the petitioner was not previously acknowledged by the 
Federal Government. Therefore, the petitioner was not evaluated under the provisions of 
section 83.8(d), which modify the mandatory criteria for Federal acknowledgment. 

The BIA determined that the Little Shell petition was ready for active consideration on 
March 23, 1995 (BIA 3/23/1995). The petition was placed on active consideration on 
February 12, 1997 (BIA 3/14/1997). Field research for interview and documentary 
materials was conducted by the BAR research team in May 1998 in Montana, at the 
Turtle Mountain Agency in North Dakota. and at the regional branch of the National 
Archives in Kansas City. During the course of preparing the proposed finding, additional 
documentary and interview materials were obtained from NARF and the Little Shell 
petitioner at the request of the BAR staff. The period for active consideration was 
extended for 180 days, until August 11, 1998 (BIA 3/13/1998). A second extension was 
made until November 16, 1998 (Interior 8/28/1998). 

Another petitioner for Federal acknowledgment uses the "Little Shell" name and also 
claims to be the continuation of Chief Little Shell's band. The Little Shell Band of North 
Dakota submitted a documented petition in July 1995 and received a technical assistance 
letter from the BIA dated November 8, 1995. The BIAhas not received a response to that 
letter. At this time, the petition of the Little Shell Band of North Dakota is not considered 
to be ready for evaluation. The research on the petition of the Little Shell Tribe of 
Chippewa Indians of Montana did not find a present connection between this petitioner 
and the Little Shell Band of North Dakota petitioner . 

..; 
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Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

Terminolo~y 

The ancestors of the petitioner were "Metis," a people of a mixed French-Chippewa-Cree 
culture which developed in the early 1800's as a result of the fur trade and marriages 
between Europeans or Canadians and Indians. Historically, the term "Metis" has been 
applied to many peoples in addition to those ancestral to the petitioner and, in the 
technical report for this proposed finding, the term "Metis" has not been used to refer 
only to the petitioner's members and their ancestors. 

The term "Metis" is used throughout the technical report to refer to groups, families, and 
individuals who were the offspring, or descendants of the offspring, of non-Indian fathers, 
usually French-Canadian fur trappers or traders, and Indian mothers, usually Cree or 
Chippewa women. This population in the early-19th century developed a mixed French­
Chippewa-Cree culture and language which is often called "Michiff." This term is used 
in the technical report to refer to the culture and language of these Metis. These Metis, in 
general, were socially and culturally· distinct from both the European settlers and tribal 
Indians in the same area, but some were affiliated with or formed a part of Indian tribes. 
The term "Metis" has been used elsewhere by scholars, g~vernrnent officials, and groups 
themselves to refer to other peoples reSUlting from different patterns of intermarriage and 
cultural contact between Europeans and Indians, including other, and earlier, French­
Indian populations in Canada. 

In the technical' report the term "Metis" usually refers to a population which, in the mid-
19th century, was centered on the Red River Settlement in Canada and the Pembina 
settlement in the United States and, later, formed part of the Turtle Mountain Band. 
However, this Metis population included, especially after 1870, people who had been 
settled elsewhere in western Canada and the northern United States. It included at least 
some individuals with tribal backgrounds other than Chippewa and Cree, such as 
Assiniboine and Gros Ventre. It has not been possible for the report to determine with 
absolute certainty the full tribal background of all of the petitioner's Indian and Metis 

ancestors. 

Overview of the Little Shell Petitioner 

The evidence shows that a substantial portion of the petitioner's members have ancestry 
from either the historical Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians prior to a treaty of 1863, or 
from a successor, the Turtle Mountain Band. The petitioner asserts to have its origins in a 
Chippewa band which had been led by a succession of three hereditary chiefs, all known 
as Little Shell. The petitioner is a combination of historical Metis groups. Before 1870, 
many of the petitioner's ancestors were part of the Metis populations along the Red River 
of the north at the Red River Settlement (now Winnipeg) in Canada and at Pembina and 
St. Joseph in North Dakota. These Metis populations of the mid-19th century were 
described by contemporary observers as socially and culturally distinct from both the 

.: 
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Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

European settlers and tribal Indians in the same area, but also as being related to and 
sometimes acting together with Indian tribes. In the early 1890's, some ancestors were 
listed on censuses of the Turtle Mountain Band. 

In Montana, the petitioner's ancestors settled originally in two regions, migrating there by 
different routes between the 1860's and 1930's. One settlement region was north-central 
Montana, including both the Lewistown area and the Highline, the area along the railroad 
line from Wolf Point to Havre. Some ancestors of the petitioner's members began 
settling this region as early as the late 1860's and early 1870's. The other settlement 
region was the Front Range, the area along the eastern edge of the northern Rocky 
Mountains. Those ancestors of the petitioner who settled in this region arrived mostly 
after the failure of the Metis rebeJlion led by Louis Riel in Saskatchewan in 1885. The 
petitioner's ancestors settled originally in rural areas of Montana. Beginning in the 1910's 
and continuing into the depression of the 1930's, some of them began moving into 
neighborhoods on the fringes of the rural towns on the Front Range and along the 
Highline, or into Great Falls and Helena. Many of the petitioner's ancestors lived in 
segregated areas of these towns at some time' before the mid-1950's or early I 960s. Those 
areas were not limited to the petitioner's ancestors, except on the Front Range, and other 
Metis and Indians also lived in these neighborhoods. 

An organization was formed in 1927 in Hays, the petitioner's first formally organized 
predecessor in Montana. Joseph Dussome was elected in 1927 to lead the organization 
formed that year, and to lead organizations of different names in 1935. 1939, and 1949. 
The consistent leadership of Dussome and the consistent geographical region represented 
by his officers and area representatives demonstrate continuity from these organizations 
to the petitioning group. From the mid-1930's until the mid-1950's, two organizations 
advocated on behalf of the Montana Metis. Dussome's organization, known as the 
Landless Indians of Montana after 1939, largely drew support from the Highline and 
Lewistown area, while the Montana Landless Indians largely drew its support from urban 
areas and the Front Range. Since approximately 1955. the petitioner's members and 
ancestors have been part of the common political process of a single organization. 

The Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana adopted its current organizational 
name and its current constitution in 1977. Its membership requirements provide 
membership eligibility to individuals who can trace their ancestry to the Roe Cloud Roll, 
a list of unenrolled Indians in Montana which was prepared by the Office of Indian 
Affairs about 1938. The Little Shell petitioner had 3,893 members as of 1992. Its 
members are now geographically dispersed, mostly within Montana. The petitioner 
currently maintains an office in Great Falls, Montana. 
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SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS UNDER THE CRITERIA (25 CFR 83.7) 

Evidence for this proposed finding was submitted by the Little Shell petitioner and 
obtained through third parties and independent research by the staff of the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, Branch of Acknowledgment and Research. This proposed finding is based 
on the available evidence, and, as such, does not preclude the submission of other 
evidence during the 180-day comment period that follows publication of this finding. 
Such new evidence may result in a modification or reversal in the conclusions reached in 
the proposed finding. The final determination. which will be published after the receipt 
of the comments, will be based on both the evidence used in formulating the proposed 
finding and. any new evidence submitted in response to the proposed finding. 

This proposed finding departs from practice in previous acknowledgment decisions in 
certain respects, principally in giving different amounts of weight to various types of 
evidence than had been done in prior determinations. Precedent from earlier decisions 
are not binding on Department conclusions, but are useful as guidance for interpreting the 
regulations. 

For example, this proposed finding accepts as a reasonable likelihood that patterns of 
social relationships and political influence among the Metis residents of settlements in 
North Dakota and Canada during the mid-19th century persisted among their descendants 
who migrated to Montana and appeared on the Federal census records of Montana for 
1910 and 1920. This conclusion departs from prior decisions for meeting criteria (b) and 
(c), which depended upon specific evidence showing the continuity of tribal existence 
substantially without interruption. Based on the entirety of the record, especially the 
history of the United States' dealings with the ancestors of the petitioner, the strong 
evidence of continuous internal social interaction, the consistent existence of the 
petitioner's ancestors as distinct social and cultural communities, and the understandable 
difficulty in completing 'research on a very large number of dispossessed Indians on the 
American frontier, the Department proposes to find that criteria (b) and (c) are met in this 
case. 

This proposed finding also accepts as a reasonable likelihood that references to the 
petitioner'S individual ances.tors as Indians and references to portions of their ancestors as 
residents of Indian settlements before the 1930's are consistent with the identifications of 
these and other ancestors of the petitioner as Indian groups after 1935. This conclusion 
departs from prior decisions for meeting criterion (a), which required evidence of a 
specific identification of the petitioner as an Indian entity during each decade. The 
Department believes that, absent strong proof to the contrary, it is fair to infer a continuity 
of identification from the evidence presented, particularly in light of the fact that an 
absence of formal organization can be attributed to the United States' pursuit of a 
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discredited policy of treating "full-blooded" Indians differently from those of mixed white 
and Indian ancestry. While past precedent for meeting criterion (a) has accepted 
identifications of informal groups as well as formal organizations, to rigidly impose a 
mechanistic burden of proof on a people whose lack of formal organization is anributable 
to misguided Federal policy would be manifestly unjust and inconsistent with the 
regulations. 

Finally, this proposed finding accepts descent from a historical tribe by 62 percent of the 
petitioner's members as adequate for meeting criterion (e), although all previous 
petitioners who have met this criterion have demonstrated that at least 80 percent of their 
members descend from a historical tribe. In this case, there is evidence that many of this 
petitioner's ancestors descend from members of historical tribes of the \800's. It is clear 
that a majority of the petitioner's members descend from the historical Pembina Band of 
Chippewa. It also is clear that some of the petitioner's ancestors were part of the Linie 
Shell Band of Chippewa in the late \800's. The regulations require no specific percentage 
in this regard and, because of the dynamic nature of tribal populations in the mid- to late-
19th century, the Department proposes to find that criterion (e) is met in this case. 

We believe such departures from previous practice on these matters are permissible and 
within the scope of the existing acknowledgment regulations. Those regulations do not 
specifically address these questions. Public comment is invited on these various matters, 
including the consistency of these proposed findings with the existing regulations. The 
petitioner and third parties may respond by submitting additional evidence or arguments 
relating to these matters during the comment period on this proposed finding. Such 
supplementary evidence may create a different record and a more complete factual basis 
for the final determination, and thus eliminate or reduce the scope of these contemplated 
departures from precedent. 

Based on a review of the technical report, the charts prepared for each criterion, and some 
primary documents and background materials, and after consideration of the historical 
situations faced by this petitioner, the Department proposes to find that, although there is 
no specific evidence in the documentary record in this case for every time period, the 
evidence as a whole indicates that the Little Shell petitioner is a tribe. 

- 7 -
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83.7(a) 

Introduction: 

Criterion (a) 

The petitioner has been identified as an American 
Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis since 
1900. Evidence that the group's character as an Indian 
entity has from time to time been denied shall not be 
considered to be conclusive evidence that this criterion 
has not been met .... 

Under criterion 83.7(a), the petitioner was identified as an American Indian entity on a 
substantially continuous basis since 1900. Such identifications existed in Federal records, 
including identifications by the BlA, by local historians, and by local newspapers. 

Description of the Evidence: 

There are examples in the evidence available for this proposed finding of an external 
identification of the petitioner's ancestors as Indians in Montana from 1900 to the mid-
1930·s. Two modem recollections by outsiders suggest the past existence of small, local 
settlements that included some of the petitioner's families, although they were not 
contemporaneous descriptions. There is also evidence that the petitioner's individual 
ancestors were referred to as Indians during these years. It is possible that research at the 
local and state levels could discover identifications made between 1900 and 1930 of local 
or state Indian groups or entities associated with the petitioner's ancestors in Montana, 
and such research would strengthen the record for the final decision in this matter. 

The first explicit identification of a portion of the petitioner's ancestors as an Indian 
entity by an external observer, in the evidence available for this finding, was made by the 
Office of Indian Affairs in 1935. In that year, the Indian Office infonned Joseph 
Dussome that it hoped to include the "group" to which he belonged in the benefits of its 
land purchase program under the Indian Reorganization Act. By 1937, the Indian Office 
identified a "group of non-wards" represented by Dussome as a group which should be 
consulted in the Roe Cloud Roll enrollment process, and thus it appointed Dussome to an 
advisory committee. Henry Roe Cloud of the Indian Office referred to Dussome in 1938 
as the leader of the "landless Cree-Chippewas" of Montana. There were two organized 
groups of unenrolled Indians in the state, the Indian Office noted in 1941 and 1949. The 
regional director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs at Billings in 1949 identified Dussome as 
the leader of "the predominant group" of the state's unenrolled Indians. 

There are a few examples in the available evidence of an identification of the petitioner as 
an Indian entity by local sources between 1936 and 1950. During that period, those local 
sources referred to the group by a variety of names. In 1936, a Great Falls newspaper 
reported on the plans of a "Chippewa-Cree tribe," under the leadership of Dussome. to 
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bring an Indian claims case against the United States. A Phillips County newspaper in 
1941 referred to Dussome as the president of a "band" of Chippewa Indians. The first use 
of the term "Little Shell" for the group by an external source appeared in this 1941 article 
in a local newspaper, which used it to describe a statement made by Dussome. In 1950. a 
Havre newspaper said that an "organization of landless Indians of Montana" would file a 
claim with the Indian Claims Commission. 

Since 1949, the petitioner has been consistently identified by various external sources as 
the Little Shell band or as the Landless Indians of Montana. In contrast to earlier general 
references to "homeless" or "landless" Indians in Montana, after 1949 observers used 
"Landless Indians of Montana" as a proper noun and the formal name of a specific 
organization. In these instances, external observers made an explicit identification of the 
petitioner's organization as an Indian entity. A Great Falls newspaper identified the 
petitioner as the Little Shell band or the Landless Indians of Montana in articles in 1955, 
1956, 1959, 1972, 1981, and 1984. The Little Shell band was identified by 
anthropologist Verne Dusenberry, a Montana college professor, in an article published in 
1958 and reprinted in 1965. Tribal identifications of the petitioner as an Indian entity 
consist of resolutions in support of the Federal recognition of the Little Shell band passed 
by the National Tribal Chairman's Association in 1985, the tribal council of the 
Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Reservation in 1985, the tribal 
council of the Northern Cheyenne Tribe in 1985, the Chippewa Cree Tribe of Rocky 
Boy's Reservation in 1992, and the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa in 1992. 

The State of Montana, through its agencies and officials, has identified the Little Shell 
group as an Indian entity since 1949. The Attorney General of Montana wrote to the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1949 to "intercede" on behalf of a "group of Indians 
... known as the 'Landless Indians of Montana'" or as the Little Shell band. By 
including the group, since at least 1952, as a member of the Intertribal Policy Board, 
which advises the state government, the state has accorded the group a status similar to 
that of the federally recognized Indian tribes in Montana. The state legislature of 
Montana passed a resolution in 1955 in support of Federal legislation for economic 
rehabilitation of the Landless Indians of Montana. The Inter-Tribal Policy Board passed a 
resolution in support of recognition of the Little Shell band in 1978. The Governor of 
Montana in 1992 urged the Department of the Interior to recognize the Little Shell band. 
An identification at the local level of government consists of a letter to the Commissioner 
of Indian Affairs on behalf of the Landless Indians of Montana by the chairman of the 
Blaine County Board of Commissioners in 1969. 

Federal identifications since 1949 have been made by the Billings Area Director of the 
BIA in 1950 and a BIA research report in 1980 on the potential recipients of an Indian 
Claims Commission award. The Indian Claims Commission in 1954 accepted a "Little 
Shell" plaintiff as an identifiable group of Indians able to bring a claim against the United 
States. According to the interpretation of the Court of Claims, this was not an 
identification of the plaintiff as a federally recognized tribe or organized group, but as a 
group of descendants of an ancestral entity. Congress, in the Pembina Judgment Fund 
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Act of 1982, identified the Little Shell Band as a potential recipient of the judgment funds 
awarded by the Indian Claims Commission. The Indian Health Service (IHS) identified 
the Little Shell band in 1988 and 1994 in directives concerning how to provide illS 
services. 

Evaluation: 

The acknowledgment regulations require that the petitioner have been identified as an 
"Indian entity" for it to meet criterion (a). This language does not require the 
identification, in this case, to have been as "Little Shell" or as "Chippewa." 
Identifications of the petitioner or its organization as a "Metis" entity would be acceptable 
evidence to meet this criterion, because evidence of a group as consisting of people of 
"mixed-blood" Indian ancestry would be an identification of an Indian entity. The. 
regulations require only an external identification of the petitioner as a collective Indian 
entity, and identifications of the petitioner and its organization as a "group" meets the 
requirement. 

The acknowledgment regulations note that the evidence to be relied upon to meet 
criterion (a) is "evidence of identification by other than the petitioner itself or its 
members." The regulations provide examples of six types of external sources that may be 
used to meet the requirements of criterion (a). "One or a combination" of these sources 
may be used. Although the petitioner's researchers have emphasized identifications of the 
petitioner by Federal sources, this is not the only acceptable evidence for this criterion. 
External identifications of the petitioning group from sources at the local and state level, 
for example, would be appropriate evidence with which to meet this criterion. 

The acknowledgment regulations say that identifications of the petitioner as an Indian 
entity must have been made on a "substantially continuous" basis since 1900. This 
language does not require the group to have been so identified at every point in time. 
Identifications of the petitioner as an Indian group or entity have been accepted in this 
case for periods of time when such identifications were made infrequently, such as the 
1930's and 1940's, because such identifications were made for each decade since the mid-
1930's without any lengthy periods in which such identifications were lacking. The 
available evidence does not reveal instances in which the petitioner's character as an 
Indian entity has been explicitly denied. 

The more flexible interpretation of the available documentation, including limited 
evidence that the petitioner's ancestors were identified between 1900 and 1935 by 
external observers as Indians, permits a proposed finding that the petitioner meets 
criterion (a). In order to have this proposed finding affirmed in the final determination, it 
would be in the petitioner's. interest to provide during the comment period further 
evidence that external observers identified it as an Indian entity at various times between 
1900 and 1935. There are several examples of the identification of a group led by Joseph 
Dussome during the late 1930's and the decade of the 1940's as an Indian entity. After 
1949, the 'Little Shell petitioner has been consistently identified by a variety of external 
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observers as an Indian entity. 

83.7(b) 

83.1 

Introduction 

Criterion (b) 

A predominant portion of the petitioning group 
comprises a distinct community and has existed as a 
community from historical times until the present. 

Community means any group of people which can 
demonstrate that consistent interactions and significant 
social relationships exist within its membership and that 
its members are differentiated from and identified as 
disHnct from nonmembers. Community must be 
understood in the context of the history, geography, 
culture and social organization of the group. 

Under criterion 83.7(b), the petitioner demonstrated that a predominant portion of its 
membership comprised a distinct community from historical times until the present. 

Description of the Evidence: 

The evidence available for this proposed finding shows that a majority of the petitioner's 
members trace their ancestry back to Metis, or mixed-blood, families along the Red River 
of the north, either to a settlement in British territory in the years between 1814 and 1870 
known as the Red River Settlement (Winnipeg), now in Canada, or to settlements in 
United States territory in 1850 and later years at Pembina and St. Joseph (Walhalla), now 
in North Dakota. The evidence also shows that a minority of the petitioner's members 
trace a line of their ancestry back to men who received land scrip as mixed-blood 
relatives of the Chippewa bands which made treaties with the United States in 1863 and 
1864. It has not been possible for this report, however, to trace all of the Indian ancestors 
of all of the petitioner's members. The existing evidence indicates that more of the 
petitioner's members trace their ancestry to residents of Metis settlements in American 
territory than to the Red River Settlement in British territory. That evidence also shows 
that more of the petitioner's known Indian or Metis ancestors were living in the British 
Red River Settlement about 1870 than were receiving land scrip during the early 1870's 
as American relatives of the Red Lake and Pembina treaty bands. 

Some of the petitioner's members descend from 46 ancestors listed among the Metis 
population in the British Red River Settlement about 1870. Some of the petitioner's 
members descend from 16 families who had been in the British Red River Settlement 
before 1835. The available historical record reveals that there was some movement back 
and forth across the international bo~der by the petitioner's ancestors, so that these 
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families may not have been exclusively Canadian. A few of these ancestors were found 
in both American settlements and British settlements. Another group of the petitioner's 
members trace their ancestry back to 25 families who resided in Pembina County in 1850, 
presumably in Metis settlements at Pembina or St. Joseph. Still other members descend 
from 28 men who were included on an 1880 list of individuals who received land scrip 
under the terms of the treaties of 1863 and 1864. Twenty-two of those men were 
identified by the report as mixed-blood individuals with Pembina Band descent. Other 
men on the list of scrip recipients could be ancestors of the petitioner's members as well. 
Many of the petitioner's members have not been traced to an ancestor in these locations. 

The available evidence permits identification of many of the petitioner's Metis ancestors 
in locations along or near the Red River during the 19th century. Historical observers and 
modem scholars have noted that the Chippewa and Metis in the vicinity of Pembina were 
related to each other and associated with each other in various activities, although they 
have referred to them as separate groups with different cultures. This proposed finding 
concludes, based on several individual examples, that a social or political relationship 
among many of the petitioner's ancestors with the Pembina Band existed at the time of 
the treaties. The available evidence shows that the mixed-blood treaty scrip recipients 
formed a "distinct community" at the time of the treaties, or at the time they received the 
scrip, either as a part of a treaty tribe or as a separate community. 

To further demonstrate tribal continuity, the petitioner could strengthen the description 
and analysis of the migration of its ancestors to Montana. It is clear that the these 
ancestors, in addition to coming from somewhat diverse origins, arrived over a substantial 
period rather than coming all at more or less the same time. The evidence available for 
this proposed finding shows that individuals from the petitioner's ancestral families at 
Pembina / St. Joseph or the Red River Settlement, or the ancestral families who received 
treaty scrip, migrated to Montana. Although actual mignition dates are unknown, and are 
represented as the first appearance of a family descendant in a Montana record, the 
evidence indicates that descendants of the petitioner's ancestral families began arriving in 
Montana as early as 1868 and continued to arrive in Montana into the 20th century. 

Almost all of the migration from the British Red River Settlement occurred after the 1870 
Metis rebellion in Manitoba. Most of the migration to Montana of descendants of 1835 
residents of the Red River Settlement occurred before the 1885 Riel rebellion in 
Saskatchewan, while most of the ancestors who resided in the Red River Settlement in 
) 870 did not have descendants arrive in Montana until after that 1885 Metis rebellion. 
The majority of the ancestors who resided at the Red River Settlement in 1835 (10 of 16), 
resided in Pembina County in 1850 (19 of 25), or received treaty scrip after 1863 (17 of 
28), had descendants who arrived in Montana before the creation of the Turtle Mountain 
Reservation in 1884. 

To strengthen (he finding of continuous historical community, the petitioner may wish to 
evaluate the possibility that there were social ties between the residents of the new 
settlements in Montana which were based on the earlier residence of these immigrants in 
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the same Canadian or North Dakota settlement, or in Montana originally at St. Peter's 
Mission. The available evidence does not show clearly that immigrants to Montana from 
Dakota or Canada necessarily moved together as a com!TIunity or in a pattern of migration 
that maintained old community ties. The petition would be strengthened by such a 
showing. 

In Montana, the petitioner's ancestors settled in two geographically separate regions, each 
of which covered a large expanse of territory. One settlement area was in north-central 
Montana, including both the Highline, the area along the railroad line across northern 
Montana, and the Lewistown area south of the Missouri River in central Montana. The 
other settlement area was the Front Range, the area along the eastern edge of the northern 
Rocky Mountains. Some ancestors of the petitioner's members arrived in north-central 
Montana as early as the late 1860's and early 1870's. The migration of some ancestors of 
the petitioner to the Front Range largely occurred after the failed Riel rebellion of 1885 in 
Saskatchewan. While descendants of Red R.iver Settlement ancestors migrated to both 
regions. the descendants of only I of 25 ancestors at Pembina in 1850 migrated to a 
location on the Front Range other than St. Peter's Mission. The petitioner's ancestors 
settled in many different locations within each of these regions. This pattern of 
settlement in two geographically separate regions was revealed by the 1920 Federal 
census of Montana which showed households containing ancestors of the petitioner's 
members to have been located mostly in north-central Montana in the adjacent counties of 
Phillips, Fergus, and Blaine, and along the Front Range in the counties of Lewis and 
Clark, Teton, and Glacier. 

Given the fluid political and military circumstances on the northern plains in the late 
1800's, and the casual band- and family-centered organization of the Indians of this 
region, a single, organized migration of the entire group would have been most unlikely. 
Further. no evidence has been submitted in opposition to this interpretation of the 
migration. Still, the Department suggests that a clearer record might be established in the 
comment period. We recommend that the petitioner strengthen the evidence by providing 
a description of the communities it fonned or was part of once its members moved to 
Montana between the 1860's and the 1920's. Hopefully, this description will account for 
a larger proportion of the ancestors than has been possible in the present finding. The 
description should consider location, kinship ties among residents, and the degree to 
which the settlements were made up substantially or exclusively of ancestors of the 
current group. 

Almost all of the petitioner's adult Metis ancestors who moved into Montana were 
married to other ethnic Metis, and were the descendants of such marriages. Once in 
Montana, the petitioner'S Metis families intermarried extensively with other Metis 
families in the state. Measurements of intermarriage among the petitioner's ancestors, 
both by the BlA's researchers and the petitioner's researchers, showed very high rates of 
Metis-to-Metis marriage between 1880 and 1940, and substantial rates afterwards. 
Because the evidence indicates that the petitioner's ancestors formed a community or 
communities when they first settled in Montana, we can infer from the partial studies of 

-: 

- 13 -

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 17 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

marriage histories that the high rate of Metis-to-Metis marriages in the first Montana 
generation were within that community or those communities. 

A study of marriage patterns in selected family lines was made by the BIA staff. The 
marriage partners of selected family lines were examined to evaluate the extent of 
linkages of these family lines to other Metis family lines before 1940. This analysis was 
limited to demonstrating the extent of kinship ties established by marriages and was not 
undertaken together with a complete study of community in the relevant time periods. It 
thus did not take into account other social connections that mayor may not have existed, 
except for the disjunction of settlement patterns between the two main regions. While 
this analysis provided only partial data, the analysis supports a positive finding. 

An examination of five family lines from the Front Range indicated that each was directly 
linked to each other, or linked to a common line, by multiple marriages. Two of these 
family lines were linked by marriage to all of the other four family lines, two lines were 
linked to three of the other four, and one line was linked to two of the other four lines. 
There were 23 other Metis family lines which had married two or more of the five 
selected family lines. Another 40 Metis lines were directly linked by marriage to one of 
the five families. 

An examination of six Highline family lines found that two of these family lines had 
married into each of the other five family lines, three lines had married into four of the 
other five, and one line was linked to two of the other five lines. The six selected family 
lines had between 9 and 25 marriages to additional Metis lines in common with at least 
one of the other selected lines. Fifty-three Metis lines which were linked by marriage to 
one of the six selected lines. 

This limited review of marriage patterns among the Little Shell members and their 
ancestors, together with a review of additional family lines, indicated that in each 
geographical region there was at least one bloc consisting of a large number of Metis 
family lines that were linked with each other by marriage. What is clear is that these are 
marriages among people with similar origins, language and culture. 

Marriage,S between a person from the Front Range and a person from the Highline were 
infrequent, although not entirely absent, among the petitioner's members and ancestors. 
Such marriages between individuals from these two separate geographical areas were not 
common during any time period. Marriages were largely localized within these 
geographical regions. This is especially notable given the high rate of intennarriage 
among the Metis within each region and the fact that there were family lines in both 
regions which had originated in the Red River Settlement. Thus, the available evidence 
about the marriages of the petitioner's members and ancestors indicates that these 
marriages linked numerous family lines within each of the two separate geographical 
regions of settlement, but not extensively across those regional boundaries. 

The petitioner's 1994 report included some kinship charts and examples intended to 
-: 
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demonstrate that marriages in Montana had resulted in a wide network of kinship 
linkages. Franklin and Bunte noted that the kinship linkages resulting from marriages 
between Metis families "tend to be most extensive and intensive within the two major 
regional settlement areas ... as these regional community subgroups have the longest 
history of interaction and intermarriage" (Franklin and Bunte 1994,43). 

Although they used the term "regional network," Franklin and Bunte did not present an 
analysis intended to specifically demonstrate that all or most of the Little Shell families in 
a region were connected by marriage. Nonetheless, the sampling made by the petitioner 
and additional analysis by the Department demonstrates substantial kinship ties were 
created by the high rates of intermarriage. There is no requirement to show that all of the 
group or all of a region were connected by kinship ties. They presented four charts 
showing marriage-based links between groups of families, focusing on the family lines of 
individuals they or Campisi and Starna had interviewed (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
figures \-4). Two of the charts showed that Front Range families were linked, but did not 
show links between the families on the different charts. The other two charts showed two 
different blocs of intermarried Highline / Lewistown families, from separate geographical 
locations, but did not show these blocs to be linked to each other. Franklin and Bunte 
noted correctly that on each chart only part of each listed family line was actually shown, 
and that only some of the marriage links for these lines were shown (Franklin and Bunte 
1994, 44). Thus, there were more links, to more family lines, than were included in this 
analysis. 

Intermarriage among Metis generated numerous kinship links within each of the two 
geographical regions of settlement. However, a detailed and complete description of the 
distribution of these linkages was not made by the petitioner and has not been made for 
this proposed finding. These ties through marriage are evidence for the existence of a 
social community among the Metis ancestral to the petitioner. This evidence has not 
demonstrated conclusively whether social relationships based on kinship connected the 
petitioner's ancestors within either region as a whole. To strengthen the final 
determination, the petitioner may wish to establish, by a more extensive analysis, the 
extent to which the entirety of a region was linked by marriage ties, and by using other 
data concerning social and economic contacts, develop a more complete portrait of a 
historical community. 

These patterns of marriage and high rates of intennarriage among the Metis in Montana 
indicates in itself that these marriages occurred within populations of people who had· 
extensive social contact with each other. because it is unlikely that such extensive 
intermarriage would have occurred without a social context for marriage partners to 

become acquainted. The petition documentation includes some materials indicating that 
social events such as dances, and possibly hunting parties, drew people together whose 
residences were spread across some distance. This proposed finding could be 
strengthened by providing additional evidence for the social context for these marriages 
among the petitioner's ancestors. The distances between the two regions tends to account 
for the limited marriages and indicates the importance of the evidence that there were any 
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inter-regional marriages at all. 

A study of marriage rates in selected family lines was made by the BIA staff. The 
selected lines were chosen because they had a large number of descendants in the 
petitioner's membership, or because members of these family lines had become leaders of 
the petitioner's organization or had been frequently mentioned in interviews. Six family 
lines were chosen from the Front Range region and six family lines from the Highline 
region. No attempt was made to select family lines based on their apparent point of 
origin outside of Montana. The marriage rates of these twelve family lines were 
examined between 1870 and 1940, using the database on the petitioner's ancestry 
developed by the BIA staff for this proposed finding. The data were derived from a 
partial reconstruction of the family lines of the petitioner's members, including marriages 
not only of the petitioner's ancestors but also their siblings as well, even if they had no 
descendants in the present membership, since all family members would have been part 
of the same .group. 

The earliest Montana generation, ancestors born in the late 1860's and the 1870's and 
estimated to have married between 1880 and 1900, almost always married other Metis, 
doing so in 92 percent of marriages studied. In the next generation, ancestors marrying 
between 1900 and 1920, 84 percent of all marriages were between two Metis. Among the 
last generation born in the rural areas, individuals marrying between approximately 1920 
and 1939, the rate of marriage to other Metis was 48 percent. For the fmal cohort studied, 
those ancestors marrying between approximately 1940 and 1959, only 23 percent of the 
marriages were between Metis partners. While the rate of marriage between Metis 
partners appears to have dropped off rapidly among those marrying in the last ten years of 
this period, this pattern is consistent with marriage patterns of many Indian tribes in 
modern times. 

Marriage rates also were evaluated by the BIA staff by examining the parentage of all 
members on the Little Shell roll as of 1992. By counting a marriage as existing until the 
birthdate of the youngest child, this study partly measured the continuation of a marriage. 
The rates of Metis-to-M¢tis intermarriage obtained in this analysis were that 45 percent of 
members born in 1939 and 17 percent of members born in 1959 had two Metis parents. 

The petitioner's researchers made a similar review of the parentage of all individuals on 
(he 1987 Little Shell roll. Their analysis indicated that Metis-to-Metis marriages 
comprised 92 percent of marriages between 1880 and 1910, 63 percent between 1911 and 
1940,22 percent between 1941 and 1970, and 12 percent between 1971 and 1987 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 35-36). A second analysis, in which they assumed that 
marriages lasted 30 years, yielded a rate of Metis-to-Metis marriage of 63 percent of 
marriages in 1940, 51 percent in 1950, 34 percent in 1960, and 14 percent in 1987 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, table 2). While this method suggested that the rate of 
marriages between (WO Metis parents would not have fallen below 50 percent until after 
1950, the more conservative measure using the date of the inception of the marriages of 
the parents of members indicated that the late 1930's was the earliest that this rate would 
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have fallen below 50 percent. 

Marriage creates close, kinship-based social ties. which form the basis for a community. 
These marriages created kinship ties which resulted in social cohesion within populations. 
Thus, much of the social cohesion among the Metis during the 20th century may have 
been established as a result of these intermarriages after their arrival in Montana. 

The available evidence indicates that the petitioner's ancestors originally settled in rural 
areas of Montana. In the 1910's, the petitioner's ancestors along the Front Range began 
moving out of isolated settlements along the rivers and canyons of the mountains and into 
the rural towns of the Front Range such as Choteau and Augusta. By the agricultural 
depression of the 1920's and general economic depression of the 1930's, the petitioner's 
ancestors in north-central Montana were moving into settlements on the fringes of the 
rural towns along the Highline of northern Montana, while other ancestors were moving 
into the small cities of Great Falls and Helena. A minority of ancestors lived on the Ft. 
Belknap, Rocky Boy's, Blackfeet, and Ft. Peck Indian reservations. The rural towns and 
reservations where many Little Shell anceslOrs lived in the \930's covered a very large 
geographical span. For example, from Wolf Point, at the east end of the Highline, to 
Browning, at the northern end of the Front Range, is a distance of 371 miles by road. The 
two geographical regions of settlement, the Highline and the Front Range, were 
substantially separate from each other in terms of residence and intermarriage prior to the 
1950's. 

Many of the petitioner's ancestors lived in segregated areas of these towns, which often 
were referred to as "moccasin flats." Former residents of the segregated Indian or Metis 
neighborhoods along the Highline described them as having been almost exclusively 
occupied by the petitioner'S families, along with !v,1etis from the Turtle Mountain and 
Rocky Boy's reservations and Indians from other Montana reservations who were not 
ancestral to the petitioner. The segregated neighborhoods at Augusta, Gilman, and 
Choteau were exclusively drawn from Front Range Metis families. Interview data 
indicate that these segregated areas were social communities with a substantial degree of 
interaction and informal knowledge among the residents. The petitioner's families, 
however, typically lived in several different towns, reservations, or cities between the 
1930's and 1950's. At the same time, this movement resulted in the members of a family 
line becoming somewhat more widely distributed throughout the Highline area or the 
Front Range area, which indicates that social ties were being created within a portion of a 
given region. 

There were substantial cultural differences between the French-Chippewa-Cree Michiff 
culture of the Metis, which the petitioner'S ancestors shared, and that of their Anglo­
American and reservation Indian neighbors. By most interview accounts of the 
petitioner'S members. the last generation to fully maintain the historical Michiff culture 
was that of individuals born in the rural settlements. who to a large degree settled in the 
rural towns or cities after 1920. Accounts by individuals growing up in the 1930's 
consistently indicate that few of them learned the Michiff or French languages. 

. ..; 
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Interviews indicate that the full-scale traditional New Year's celebrations, one of the most 
distinctive social and cultural institutions, came to an end around 1950, as the older 
generation was reaching the end of its lifespan. Descriptions of Metis society in the 
1930's indicate that most adults in that era substantially retained the old culture, hence it 
is likely that most did so until at least the 1940's. Strong social distinctions from non­
Indians existed before the 1950's in the form of economic discrimination, limited access 
to jobs, partial school segregation, and partial residential segregation. 

The available evidence includes contemporary descriptions of the character and cohesion 
of social community among Little Shell members between approximately the 1950's and 
1992. Present-day interviewees, in discussing their informal social contacts, 
demonstrated substantial social knowledge of other Little Shell members, who were not 
close relatives, based on informal contacts throughout their lives during the 1950 to 1992 
era. This information is sufficient to demonstrate that these social relationships extended 
throughout a geographical region, though not across those regional boundaries. A 
substantial number of kin ties among the petitioner's members, based on earlier 
marriages, would have continued after 1950, gradually diminishing until the present. 
Two-thirds of the generation estimated as marrying between 1920 and 1939 married other 
Metis. Assuming that their children were born within the first ten years of the marriage, 
most of these children, who then became adults between 1940 and 1969, would have had 
two Metis parents. During the period between 1950 and 1992, the rate of marriage 
between two Metis declined sharply, with the rate of such in-marriage among new 
marriages dropping below 50 percent by about 1950, or somewhat earlier, and to almost 
none by 1992. Even with this increasingly large proportion of out-marriage, most of the 
petitioner's members in the latter years of this period would have had at least two Metis 
grandparents. 

Between 1950 and 1992, cultural differences and discrimination declined steadily. The 
evidence indicates that separate Indian neighborhoods ended in the rural towns by the 
mid-1950's, while continuing, in a diminished form, in Helena and Great Falls into the 
1960's. From the 1950's on, the petitioner's members increasingly moved into Montana's 
cities and towns. Although migration out of state became increasingly common, only 
10 percent of members born in 1959 were born outside Montana. There is also evidence 
that social or economic discrimination continued into'the 1960's, but little evidence that it 
conti·nued as strongly beyond that decade. There is further evidence that some cultural 
differences remained among older individuals, and a decreasing proportion of younger 
ones, until at least the 1980's. 

Today, there are no longer distinct settlement areas made up largely or exclusively of 
Little Shell members and other Metis. The current members have spread well beyond the 
traditional locations in Montana, or "home" areas, where their ancestors originally settled 
or relocated. Approximately 19 percent of current members live in Highline towns and 
reservations or in Lewistown. About 10 percent of members live along the Front Range. 
Some of the members living on the Front Range and the Highline, about 10 percent of all 
members, live on a Montana Indian reservation. The largest single concentration of 
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members today is in Great Falls, ;.vith 660 members, 17 percent of the membership. A 
substantial proportion of members have moved to other Montana rural and urban areas. 

Some small cultural differences from non-Indians survive among a large proportion of the 
petitioner's population, but significant differences remain among only a small portion of 
its members. The small differences are primarily the use of some traditional foods and 
the practice of some aspects of traditional New Year's celebrations. The petitioner found 
that there remain some fluent speakers of the Michiff language among its members, and 
others who are partial or passive speakers. These individuals constituted about 40 percent 
of the petitioner's interviewees, but the petitioner could not determine the percentage of 
all members who retain the Michiff language. The petitioner's interview sample, 
however, was weighted toward older, rural individuals, those people most likely to be 
culturally conservative. Most of the fluent speakers were born before 1920, and none 
after 1934. From other evidence, there appear today to be few young adult speakers of 
the language. 

Kinship ties exist within portions of the petitioner's membership. The high rate of 
intermarriage in previous generations established a broad range of kinship connections 
between family lines which are still active. A substantial minority of current members 
have two Metis parents: 17 percent of members born in 1959 and a higher portion of 
members born before 1959. Kinship ties derived from past intermarriages have 
continued. Additional individuals have kinship ties based on marriages from the 
grandparental generation. Kinship ties beyond immediate primary kin are commonly 
maintained and are part of the basis for informal social relations among segments of the 
petitioner's members. 

Informal social contacts exist among some of the petitioner's members. The information 
obtained from interviews shows that individual adult members of the Little Shell 
maintain informal social contact with at least some other Little Shell members outside of 
their immediate kin. Knowledge and acquaintance are based not only on kinship. but also 
on past common residence in the "moccasin flats" or other settlements, or participation in 
Metis social events such as the large, multi-day New Year's celebrations. Evidence 
concerning political conflicts since 1992, and other political processes, indicates that 
information, complaints, and opinions about political events are communicated among 
members through informal means, along kinship lines, and otherwise. Evidence 
concerning attendance at kinship group reunions and the annual Joe Dussome Day 
celebration demonstrated social community. The petitioner with further evidence may be 
able to strengthen this proposed finding by showing that this attendance encompassed a 
significant portion of the petitioner's members and thus provide additional evidence for 
the existence of social community. 

The strongest evidence that there has been and still is a significant amount of informal 
social interaction among Little Shell members is in the towns and rural areas of the 
Highline and Lewistown region and the towns and rural areas of the Front Range. 
Informal social cont~cts. kinship based and otherwise, have extended between these rural 
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areas and rural towns and the cities of Great Falls and Helena. In the city of Great Falls 
there has been less infonnal social contact among the resident population than there has 
been in these rural areas and rural towns. 

The evidence of significant social relationships also is less extensive for out-of-state 
members, or for members residing within Montana but outside of the group's traditional 
areas of settlement and outside of Great Falls and Helena. Social contacts are likely to 
exist based on close kinship ties and previous residence. For example, half of the 
members residing in the state of Washington, which has one third of the out-of-state 
membership, were born in the "home" areas or in Great Falls or Helena. An 
indetenninate portion of the rest of the Washington residents had primary kinship ties 
with relatives in the "home" areas. It is thus possible that, with further analysis, social 
connections for many of these individuals may be more fully demonstrated. The evidence 
shows that a substantial proportion of them were either born within the immediate area 
where the membership maintains substantial cohesion, or are immediate kinsmen of 
individuals there. 

Evaluation: 

Petitioner's Arguments: 

Section 83.7(b)(2) of the regulations outlines evidence which is sufficient by itself to 
meet criterion (b) for a given period of time. Franklin and Bunte attempted to show that 
the petitioner met criterion (b) for much of the 20th century with evidence sufficient by 
itself to meet the criterion. They sought to meet criterion (c) by a demonstration of 
evidence which was sufficient by itself to meet criterion (b), as is allowed under the 
regulations. Franklin and Bunte attempted to show that, at certain times in the 20th 
century, the petitioner met the requirements of section 83.7(b)(2) relating to rates of 
marriage within the group, geographical segregation of the group's members, and 
maintenance of distinct cultural patterns by members. 

The petitioner's researchers placed great weight on a measurement of marriage rates 
among the ancestors of the petitioner's members to demonstrate the existence of a 
historical community (Franklin and Bunte 1994: Franklin 1996). Section 83.7(b)(l)(i) of 
the acknowledgment regulations lists as evidence for community, "Significant rates of 
marriage within the group, and/or, as may be culturally required, patterned out-marriages 
with other Indian populations" (emphasis added). Section 83.7(b)(2)(ii) of the regulations 
provides that a petitioner shall be considered to have provided sufficient evidence of the 
existence of a community at a particular time if, "At least 50 percent of the marriages in 
the group are between members of the group" (emphasis added). The petitioner 
attempted to make this case by calculating rates of Metis-to-Metis marriages among the 
petitioner's ancestors. Franklin and Bunte calculated such a rate of intennarriage as 
having been above 50 percent from the 1880's through at least 1950. The petitioner's 
researchers argued that this conclusion met the requirements of section 83.7(b)(2)(ii) as 
sufficient evidence for the existence of a historical community. They argued further that 
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Metis-to-Metis marriage rates down to the present have remained at levels high enough to 
be considered significant evidence of the existence of a community. 

This case is different from cases where the petitioner's ancestors had lived much more in 
a single g~ographic locality or had maintained a geographical core settlement, in that this 
petitioner's members and their ancestors lived in geographically-separate settlements 
across several hundred miles of territory in northern Montana, none of which were 
shown to be an original core settlement. 

Franklin and Bunte stated that the marriages of the petitioner's ancestors in Montana were 
a continuation of the pre-Montana marriage patterns of the Pembina Metis, who mostly 
made Metis-to-Metis or Metis-to-Indian marriages (Franklin and Bunte 1994,34-35). 
Therefore, they argued that Metis-to-Metis intermarriages from the beginning of the 
Montana period demonstrated the existence of a community. 

The petitioner's researchers have also argued that the petitioner's members and their 
ancestors comprised a distinct community during the years from the 1930's until the 
1950's because the majority of them lived in exclusive ethnic "enclaves" during that 
period. The interview data of both the petitioner's researchers and the BIA's researcher 
confirm the existence of segregated neighborhoods in some Montana towns during the 
1930's, 1940's, and 1950's in which many of the petitioner's members and ancestors 
resided. Section 83.7(b)(2)(i) of the acknowledgment regulations provides that a 
petitioner shall be considered to have provided sufficient evidence of the existence of a 
community at a particular time if more than 50 percent of the members resided in "a 
geographical area exclusively or almost exclusively composed of members of the group." 

Some evidence indicates that, for a period of time, clusters of the petitioner's ancestors 
lived in settlements in which the other inhabitants were Metis from the Turtle Mountain 
and Rocky Boy's reservations and Indians from other Montana reservations, not non­
Indians. These neighborhoods consisted largely, but not exclusively, of Indian and Metis 
residents. While this fact alone does not meet the requirement of section 83.7(b)(2)(i), 
the demonstration that a substantial portion of the petitioner'S ancestors lived in a 
predominantly Indian area provides strong evidence for the existence of a distinct 
community in that area. 

The acknowledgment regulations state that evidence about cultural patterns may be 
sufficient by itself to demonstrate the existence of a community, if "at least 50 percent of 
the group members maintain distinct cultural patterns such as, but not limited to, 
language, kinship organization, or religious beliefs and practices" (§83.7(b)(2)(iii». The 
regulations also note that shared cultural patterns may be used to demonstrate the 
existence of a community if those patterns are "different from those of the non-Indian 
populations with whom" the group interacts (§83. 7(b)( 1)( vii)). Franklin and Bunte 
argued that surviving cultural differences at the present meet the requirements in section 
83.7(b)(2)(iii) for sufficient evidence to demonstrate the existence of a community 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 1 04). Th~y concluded that 84 percent of the 75 individuals 
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they interviewed practiced at least one of the cultural traits they examined, with the 
foodways and New Year's celebrations "by far the most common." 

With the exception of language, the cultural differences cited by the petitioner's 
researchers are not significant enough to meet the requirements.of section 83.7(b)(2)(iii) 
of the regulations. Language differences are highly significant cultural differences, but 
the evidence established that the Michiff language is not now spoken by 50 percent of the 
membership. The evidence showed that the old-style Michiff New Year's celebrations 
have not been carried out since approximately 1950. Since that time, celebrations of the 
New Year have been much more limited in character. It was not established that more 
than 50 percent of the present Little Shell members at present maintain cultural patterns 
distinct from the non-Indians with whom they primarily interact. Thus, the petitioner's 
argument does not meet the requirements of section 83.7(b)(2)(iii), and is not sufficient 
by itself to meet criterion (b). 

Section 83.7(b)(l) refers to evidence that may be combined to meet the criterion. A 
review of Franklin and Bunte's interviews and the BIA's interviews provide evidence to 
indicate that a degree of discrimination or negative distinction, in relations with non­
Indians, continues to exist in the rural towns. Franklin and Bunte also cited strong 
negative distinctions drawn between reservation Indians and the Little Shell Metis as 
continuing at the Fort Belknap, Blackfeet, and Rocky Boy's Reservations (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 104-105). The social distinctions with reservation Indians constitute "strong 
patterns of discrimination or other social distinction." 

Thus, while no single form of the evidence presented by the petitioner is sufficient 
standing alone, the totality of the record yields a combination of evidence that is 
sufficient to meet criterion (b) from historical times until the present. 

Definitions and Forms of Evidence 

The definition of "community" in section 83.1, which requires that "consistent 

interactions and significant social relationships" exist within the petitioner's membership, 
is not a requirement that all or most of the petitioner's members be involved in such 
relationships with all or most other members, especially when the group is relatively 
large. Because of the size of the Little Shell petitioner's membership and its wide 
geographical distribution, there is no expectation under the regulations that any individual 
member would have an informal acquaintance with all or even most of the rest of the 
petitioner's members. On the other hand, a demonstration that most members have 
significant informal social contact with other members demonstrates that this petitioner's 
extensive membership constitutes one community. 

The petitioner's members and their ancestors historically resided in two geographically 
separate regions of Montana, the Highline / Lewistown area of north-central Montana and 
the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains. Although evidence of kinship ties resulting 
from intermarriage, common residence in ethnically separate areas, social discrimination, 
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and cultural differences were all shown for substantial portions of the petitioner's 
members and ancestors between the 1930's and the 1950's, and to a decreasing extent 
from 1950 to 1992, none of this evidence of social connection and social distinction is 
conclusive. In contrast to the evidence of social contacts between members and the 
evidence that individuals had knowledge about other members within at least parts of the 
two regions, there was limited social contact and personal knowledge across the boundary 
between the two geographical regions of historical settlement. 

The evidence that some of the petitioner's members and ancestors were socially cohesive 
within parts of the two separate geographical regions of settlement since at least the 
1930's consists largely of oral history interviews with members of the petitioning group. 
These interviews document the residence of many members in residentially segregated 
settlements in many locations, and the discrimination against them in previous decades. 
The interview evidence suggests that members resided in several nearby towns over time, 
and had kinship ties there, thus bringing separate towns together in broader patterns of 
social cohesion. These interviews reveal that members maintain informal social contact 
with some other members at present, and that they have done so for more than the last 
half century. In interviews, members have displayed a social knowledge of other 
members of the petitioning group within their geographical region. These interviews also 
reveal that information about recent political issues and conflicts have been 
communicated widely among members. This evidence reveals the existence of social 
cohesion among portions of the petitioner's members and ancestors, demonstrating both 
the existence of two regional communities and a community of all the members or 
ancestors connected across regional boundaries. 

Further, as noted above, the historically high rates at which the petitioner's ancestors 
married other Metis created kinship ties that have created social cohesion among the 
petitioner's ancestors. Kinship charts and other evidence of the existence of kinship ties 
between many of the petitioner'S family lines are a form of evidence Which, combined 
with other evidence since the 1930's, demonstrates the existence of social cohesion 
among portions of the petitioner's membership within geographical regions. The 
evidence also demonstrates that disparate residential settlements were united by a single 
kinship bloc within each separate region. The available kinship charts, intermarriage 
analysis, and interview data demonstrate that kinship ties have extended beyond the 
boundaries of the two separate geographical areas of settlement to unite these regions into 
one community. This evidence under section 83.7(b)(l)(ii), when combined with other 
evidence in the record, is sufficient to meet criterion (b). 

Evidence also exists that strong social distinctions of the Metis from non-Indians existed 
in the past in the form of partial residential segregation in Montana's towns and cities, 
partial school segregation, and job discrimination. Strong social distinctions were created 
by discrimination by non-Indians from the 1930's to the 1950's. The Metis were also 
substantially distinct socially and culturally from the reservation Indians of the state. The 
evidence also indicates that discrimination exists at the present. Evidence. of strong social 
distinctions from both non-Indians and reservation Indians helps to demonstrate the 
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distinctness of the petitioner's Metis members and ancestors from those groups. Because 
this evidence of discrimination reveals that the petitioner's members experience 
discrimination at present, this evidence under the provisions of section 83.7(b)(l )(v), 
when combined with other evidence, is sufficient to meet criterion (b). 

The cultural differences that existed between the Metis and their Anglo-American and 
reservation Indian neighbors until the 1930's or 1940's provide substantial evidence for 
demonstrating the existence of communities in the past among subgroups of the 
petitioner's ancestors. For the contemporary period, cultural foodways have been 
accepted as evidence of distinct cultural differences. The use of the Michiff language by 
a significant portion of the petitioner's members or ancestors also is evidence of a distinct 
cultural difference, even though there appear to be few young adult speakers. Such is the 
case with many recognized tribes. The evidence about past and current cultural 
differences under the provisions of section 83.7(b)(J)(viii), when combined with other 
evidence, is sufficient to meet criterion (b). 

This review of evidence listed in section 83.7(b)( 1) or other evidence suitable for 
criterion 83.7(b) reveals that a variety of evidence indicates that there has been social 
cohesion among many of the petitioner's members and ancestors in the form of blocs of 
families linked by marriage, sub-regional or localized social communities, or even 
continued geographical distinctions in the Highline I Lewistown area. 

Chronological Survey 

A chronological review "from historical times until the present" reveals that the available 
evidence is sufficient to conclude that a distinct community, or communities that later 
amalgamated, existed among the petitioner's ancestors prior to the 1930's, in Montana or 
earlier. The evidence available indicates that the ancestry of a majority of the petitioner's 
members traces back to two separate geographical areas in the mid-19th century, the Red 
River Settlement in British territory and the Pembina / St. Joseph settlement in American 
territory. 

The available evidence reveals that the petitioner's ancestors settled in Montana In two 
geographically separate parts of the state, the Lewistown and Highline region of north­
central Montana and the Front Range region, and that they settled in those separate 
regions at different times by different patterns of migration from the earlier Metis 
settlements. Additional evidence that distinct local communities existed in the years 
before the 1930's, and had relationships to the historical Pembina and Red River Metis, 
would solidify the proposed finding of the existence of historical community. 

In the period between the 1930's and 1950's, there is substantial evidence for social 
connection within various portions of the Metis populations ancestral to the petitioner, 
and for their respective social and cultural distinction from surrounding populations. This 
conclusion is based on their residence in exclusively Metis and Indian neighborhoods, 
their substantial ties to each other through intermarriage, their distinct culture, and the 
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social discrimination against them. While the evidence indicates the existence of some 
social interaction and social cohesion within various portions of the petitioner's ancestral 
populations, the information and analyses presented for this proposed finding can be 
further refined to establish whether this was as two regional communities or as smaller 
social units within those regions, or what the scope and character of such social 
communities may have been. 

From the 1950's until 1992, the petitioner's cultural differences from non-Indians 
diminished gradually, the rate of Metis in-marriage continued to decline until by 1970 
few new marriages by the petitioner's members were with other Metis, and migration of 
the petitioner's members out of the two traditional areas of settlement began and steadily 
increased. However, a substantial portion of the petitioner's adult population in these 
years were former residents of distinct Indian neighborhoods, substantial kinship ties 
continued to exist in the adult population which was to a large degree the children of two 
Metis parents, and out-migration w'as recent enough to consider the migrants likely still to 
be in contact with members in the "home" areas. From 1993 to the present, the petitioner 
has demonstrated that within these respective regions, there is informal social contact 
which, together with evidence of cultural differences, demonstrates the existence of social 
cohesion within portions of the rural populations. 

In addition to the evidence of social cohesion within portions of the traditional rural 
regions. there is evidence to suggest that members in Great Falls and Helena form a 
community. Evidence indicates that urban residents of Great Falls and Helena maintain 
contact with residents of the traditional rural regions through kinship as a result of recent 
and past migration back and forth. There is some evidence that Little Shell members 
living either in the two traditional rural regions or the two main urban centers maintain 
social ties with the 49 percent of the members living either in the balance of the state or 
outside of the state. There is also evidence that members outside the traditional regions 
of settlement are largely migrants from those areas or immediate kinsmen of individuals 
there. They are therefore are likely to remain in contact with residents of those areas. 

Conclusion 

The petitioner has shown by the evidence available for this proposed finding that it 
derives as a community from a continuously existing historical community, or from 
amalgamated communities, which evolved from historical tribes. The evidence is 
sufficient to show that the petitioner's ancestors in Montana have formed a distinct 
community or communities. The present-day membership residing within each of the 
two traditional rural regions of settlement in Montana have been demonstrated to have 
social cohesion among themselves, and to have their respective ties to the members 
residing within the two major urban centers of settlement in the state. It has been 
demonstrated that the petitioner's members who live elsewhere maintain social ties with 
the cohesive portions of the membership . 
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Criterion (c) 

83.7(c) The petitioner has maintained political influence or 
authority over its members as an autonomous entity 

. from historical times until the present. 

83.1 Political influence or authority means a tribal council, 
leadership, internal process or other mechanism which 
the group has used as a means of influencing or 
controlling the behavior of its members in significant 
respects, and/or making decisions for the group which 
substantiany affect its members, and/or representing 
the group in dealing with outsiders in matters of 
consequence. This process is to be understood in the 
context of the history, culture and social organization of 
the group. 

Introduction 

Under criterion 83.7(c), the petitioner demonstrated thai it has maintained political 
influence Of authority over its members as an autonomous entity from historical times 
until the present. 

Description of the Evidence: 

There is evidence that some of the petitioner's ancestors were members of federally 
recognized tribes during the 19th century, or received treaty benefits as relatives of 
members of a treaty tribe. In 1851 and 1863 the United States Government negotiated 
treaties with the Pembina Band and considered Little Shell II one of its leaders. The 
Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians was accepted by the Government as a functioning 

political entity with iderytified leaders with whom it dealt as representatives of the band. 
By the ratified treaty of 1863 and its 1864 supplement, the Pembina Chippewa made 
provisions for their Metis relatives to receive benefits from the treaty. A minority of the 
petitioner's members descend from at least 22 men who received land scrip under that 
treaty as relatives of the Pembina Band. From 1876 until 1892, the Government 
consulted with a Turtle Mountain Band and treated Little Shell ill as its leader, at least 
until 1891. The available evidence indicates that a minority of the petitioner's members 
trace their ancestry back to a member of the Turtle Mountain Band prior to the 1892 
agreement. 

The evidence available for this proposed finding indicates that about half of the 
petitioner's members trace their ancestry back to a Metis resident of Pembina County, 
Minnesota Territory, on the Federal census of 1850. Census enumerators were not to 
count "Indians not taxed" for the 1850 census, so the census taker who listed these 
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individuals on that Federal census did not identify them as members of an Indian tribe. 
Both some contemporary observers and some modem historians have referred to the 
Metis in the mid-19th century as a group which was separate from the Indian as well as 
the white society. 

There is also evidence from the mid-19th century that some Metis residents of the 
settlements of Pembina and St. Joseph were related to, allied with, or associated with the 
Pembina Band of Chippewa. Observers noted that some Chippewa accompanied the 
Metis on their buffalo-hunting expeditions. The Government's treaty negotiator said that 
the Metis accompanied the Chippewa to the treaty negotiations of 1851 and 1863, even in 
violation of his specific instructions. There also is evidence from the mid-19th century 
which indicates that the Metis chose leaders for themselves separate from recognized 
Chippewa leaders. The Metis began the buffalo-hunting expeditions of the 19th century 
by electing their leaders for the hunt. In 1849, the Metis in Pembina elected a council of 
their leaders, and the Governor of Minnesota Territory in 1850 dealt with these men as 
the legitimate leaders of the Metis settlement at Pembina. Many of the descendants of the 
treaty scrip recipients migrated to Montana before the creation of the Turtle Mountain 
Reservation. Memoirs which recoIlect the Metis settlement of Lewistown, Montana, in 
1879 imply that the traditional leadership practices of Metis buffalo-hunting expeditions 
were followed by these settlers. 

There is some evidence that political leadership was exercised by certain Metis 
individuals within local settlements of the petitioner's ancestors in Montana. Although 
each of these accounts wasvaglie __ aQ91.1ttj"leyears during which this leadership was 
exercised, in general they described Metis settlements during the first quarter of the 20th 
c~ntury. A non-Indian recalled that inthe'area just north of the Missouri River in central 
Montana, the Doney brothers exercised political authority over a group of Metis families. 
An oral history of another non-Indian ~tated that in the Metis settlement in Dearborn 
Canyon on the Front Range, Jack Swan acted as the community leader. A memoir by 
another non-Indian who was raised in the Dupuyer Creek area recalled that his father 
knew a man known as "Chief Salois" who may have been an ancestor of the petitioner's 

members. The area settled by the Doney family was separated from the settlements at 
Dearborn Canyon and Dupuyer Creek by more than 200 miles. 

An organization was formed in 1927 in Hays as the petitioner's first formally organized 
predecessor in Montana. The leaders of this organization, which called itself the "lost 
band" of the Chippewa, all came from the area north of the Missouri River and east of 
Rocky Boy's Reservation. None of the attendees appears to have been from the Front 
Range. There is little available evidence which describes the activities of this 
organization, or its relation to its members, but "Chief Headman" Joseph Dussome 
represented the group by writing letters to advocate its interests. Leadership elections 
were held in 1935 for the "Non-Treaty Chippewa-Cree Indians of Northern Montana," in 
1939 for the "Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians who were under the leadership of 
Chief Thomas Little Shell," and in 1949 for the "Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians, 
known as the Landless Indians of Montana." While none of these organizations explicitly 
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described itself as the continuation of a previous organization of a different name, the 
choice of Dussome as a leader in each of these elections provides the continuity between 
these organizations and, along with the consistent geographical region represented by his 
officers and area representatives, demonstrates the continuity between these organizations 
and the petitioning group. 

The consistent leadership of Joseph Dussome of organizations from 1927 to 1963 and the 
consistent geographical region represented by his officers and area representatives imply 
the continuity of these organizations with the petitioning group. The petitioner is the 
successor of organizations which Joseph Dussome was elected to lead in 1927, 1935, 
1939, and 1949. Beginning at least in 1935, Dussome's organization used a system of 
area representatives. Examples of the existence of an internal political process within the 
organization include evidence of Dussome assigning area representatives to advise a 
governmental commission and of the area representatives assisting applicants to the 
commission in 1937, and evidence of fund raising and communications in support of the 
political activities of Dussome during the 1930's. There is evidence that Dussome and his 
area representatives undertook activities from the mid-1930's through the 1950's to obtain 
land and other economic benefits for their members, and that these actions were of 
importance to a portion of the membership because they were responsive to members' 
concerns and economic needs. 

There is no available evidence which describes how the electoral process worked in these 
various leadership elections. These organizations appear not to have had membership 
requirements or membership lists, and the payment of dues appears to have been 
voluntary. Thus, the available evidence does not fully reveal how many supporters these 
organizations had, or where they were located. The organization fonned in 1935 created 
the positions of district or area representatives. In 1935, these districts extended from 
Wolf Point on the east to Helena on the west, but there were no districts on the Front 
Range. The officers of the organization were mostly from north-central Montana, but one 
officer was from the Front Range. The 1939 elections were the first clear attempt to unite 
Highline leaders with Front Range and urban leaders to bring a common claim against the 
United States. 

Two organizations advocating on behalf of Montana's Chippewa-Cree population existed 
from the 1930's into the 1950's, reflecting the residence of the petitioner's ancestors in 
two geographically separate areas of Montana and involving many of them in one 
organization or the other. This development appeared to continue a conflict between 
organizations led by Joseph Dussome and Raymond Gray which had existed since about 
1935. After 1939, the rival organizations were known as the Landless Indians of 
Montana. led by Dussome, and the Montana Landless Indians. The area representatives 
of Dussome's organization represented the Highline and Lewistown area, but the 
organization did not include representatives of the Front Range ancestors of the 
petitioner's current members prior to 1939. The Montana Landless Indians also had the 
support of and advocated on behalf of some of the petitioner's ancestors, especially those 
in urban areas and along the Front Range. In 1941, an Indian Office employee observed 
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that there were two groups of unenrolled Indians in the state "who recognize separate 
leadership." As was to be expected, neither organization was very active during the years 
of World War II. Competition and contlict between these two organizations persisted 
into the mid-1950's. 

In oral interviews, some of the petitioner's members recall activities as far back as the 
1930's in which they worked to support Dussome's efforts by holding box socials as 
fund-raising activities. Dussome acted to represent his members during the 1930's by 
developing a case to bring against the Government for claims to compensation for lost 
aboriginal territory in northern Montana. Dussome and some of his area representati ves 
also played a role in advising the Government's enrollment committee which was 
preparing the roll of Montana's unenrolled Chippewa-Cree Indians, and in helping 
individuals to apply to the committee. The attempt of the Little Shell group in Montana 
to achieve IRA status during the 1930's is important evidence because it indicates the 
desire of the Little Shell group to obtain recognized status when the "landless" policies of 
the Federal Government were prohibitive. During the 1930's and 1940's, Dussome 
advocated for plans to obtain a Federal reservation for his members or land through 
Federal agencies, as well as loans and other economic support to develop it. Interviewees 
described the purpose of meetings in the 1930's as. "to organize people so they could get 
land and money." Thus, members suggested that these efforts by their leadership in the 
1930's and 1940's had been responsive to their needs. 

In the early 1950's, the rival Landless Indians of Montana and the Montana Landless 
Indians contended for recognition as the group which would represent the claims of the 
Little Shell Band against the United States. The two organizations and their supporters 
contested over the issue, with the Landless Indians of Montana prevailing in 1955. They 
also made parallel efforts to obtain approval of an economic rehabilitation program by the 
Government. The division between the two organizations was not as clearly a 
geographical one in the 1950's as it had been in the 1930's and 1940's. In the 1950's, the 
Montana Landless Indians was supported at times by leaders from the Highline and 
Lewistown who previously had supported Dussome, while Dussome had allies and 
support in Great Falls and at Browning on the Front Range, although those locations 
remained the center of support for the Montana Landless Indians. Attempts in 1955 to 
combine the two organizations failed. The evidence is that substantial support for the 
Montana Landless Indians was short-lived. Although the Montana Landless Indians 
continued to exist until 1969, after 1955 it functioned only on a small scale, while the 
Landless Indians of Montana has continued to the present, with support from both the 
Highline and Front Range regions. 

Between 1949 and 1992, the Landless Indians of Montana, or Little Shell Band, utilized 
several methods to maintain political contact between its leaders and its members who 
were drawn from a number of widely separated settlements. One means of maintaining 
contact between the organization's officers and members was an annual meeting at which 
the officers were elected. Up until at least 1961, the annual meetings were two-day 
affairs to which members traveled long distances. They were social as well as political 
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gatherings. Only a small proportion of the members attended a given meeting. The 
geographical rotation of quarterly council meetings, which were public meetings of the 
membership, also was used as a means of communicating information and generating 
suppon for the group's activities over a wide area. In Joe Dussome's day, he was widely 
reponed to have traveled, usually with other officers. to hold meetings in different areas 
to provide information and develop funds. Since his death. the leadership has generally 
continued the practice of rotating the location of meetings. The failure to do so has 
resulted in some instances of complaints from members that meetings were not being 
held in their areas and. consequently. that information was not being received. 

In order to maintain political contact between leaders and members, the Little Shell 
organization also has used district or area representatives, officers who represented 
particular localities and were, much of the time, locally elected. After 1949. there were 
area representatives for different locations along the Highline and the Front Range, as 
well as Lewistown, Helena, and Great Falfs. Since the 1970's, some area representatives 
have been established for other locations in Montana as well. The district or area 
representatives served to carry information from the council and officers to the members. 
and they hosted and organized local meetings. There is good evidence. from meeting 
minutes and interviews with present and recent political leaders, that the Little Shell Band 
fairly consistently conducted a variety of fund-raising effons from 1949 through the 
present, and that the organization in general depended on fund raising from and by its 
members rather than on grant money or other external sources. Present and past leaders, 
however. consistently described these efforts as small scale activities which raised only 
small sums. Area representatives have been expected to playa role in bringing 
membership views and opinions to meetings of the organization. Among the instances in 
which they did so were the conflicts with the rival Montana Landless Indians organization 
during the 1950's, theintemal political conflicts during the early 1980's, and the revision 
of the Little Shell political organization in the early 1990's as a result of membership 
unhappiness with the leadership and election procedures of the organization. 

Between 1949 and the early 1970's, the Little Shell organization attempted to address the 
economic needs of its membership. [n a continuation of the efforts of Joe Dussome and 
the Montana Landless Indians in the latter 1930's and early 1940's, the organization 
sought to obtain land or other Federal assistance to alleviate the poor educational and 
economic circumstances of its members. State and local assistance also were sought. 
During the early 1950's, there did not appear to have been conflicts between the rival 
Landless Indians of Montana and the Montana Landless Indians over rehabilitation 
efforts. The Little Shell obtained resolutions from the Montana legislature in 1949, 1951, 
and 1955 supporting efforts to get Federal help. It was able to have introduced Federal 
legislation to provide "rehabilitation" of the landless Indians in 1949-1950 and 1955 with 
funding to purchase and develop land or to provide other aid. The issue was raised at the 
convention of the Landless Indians of Montana in 1957. Through the Montana Intertribal 
Policy Board, the group obtained the Governor's support for a rehabilitation program in 
1959. None of this legislation was successful. The basis for members' political 
discontent with Joe Dussome in the 1950's, as expressed by interviewees who were adults 
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in the 1930's and afterwards, was that, after so many attempts to get land, he had failed to 
deliver. That the issue of economic rehabilitation was of political significance to 
members was borne out by interview data. 

Much of the organization's efforts between 1949 and the 1990's concerned claims before 
the Indian'Claims Commission. The claims activity, beyond hiring an attorney, included 
efforts begun in 1960 under Dussome to develop a revised roll, based on the Roe Cloud 
enrollment. The Landless Indians of Montana anticipated, incorrectly, that its 
membership list would become the list of individuals to be paid when the Indian Claims 
Commission awards were made. The organization, however, passed on to members 
information about deadlines and requirements for applying to the Bureau of Indian 
Affairs to receive a share of the awards. Arguing with the Bureau over the compilation of 
a judgment roll constituted another form of claims activity. The Little Shell office helped 
the Bureau to compile the Little Shell portion of the judgment roll, completed in 1994, for 
the payment for the 1905 cession, 

The available evidence indicates that the petitioner's members and ancestors have been 
part of one common political process since the mid-1950's, when the Landless Indians of 
Montana rather than the Montana Landless Indians were designated to represent a claims 
plaintiff before the Indian Claims Commission. Between 1955 and 1972, and to a lesser 
degree afterwards, the Landless Indians of Montana continued to address the economic 
needs of its members, a political issue of continued importance to them. One of its 
primary political goals was to get land and services for its largely impoverished 
membership, an objective of the organization since the 1930's. There is some evidence 
that political conflicts within the Landless Indians of Montana in the 1970's and early 
1980's generated strong political opinion within the Landless Indians of Montana and 
were conflicts that went beyond the officers of the organization, involving substantial 
portions of the general membership. Some geographical rivalries were evident from time 
to time in these conflicts. A system of area representatives served as a means of political 
communication between the council and the membership. Area representatives also 
played a role in political·conflicts. in bringing local opinion to bear on political decisions. 

Between 1963 and 1992, there were several periods lasting one or two years when records 
of meetings and activities by officers of the Landless Indians of Montana, or Little Shell 
Band, were limited or absent. There was no evidence that there had been significant 
breaks in the functioning of the organization, but it is likely that these were periods when 
formal activity was limited. In some instances, scheduled elections were not held. A 
new, younger group of leaders became active in the middle to late 1970's, however, 
revitalizing the organization. Among their efforts was the adoption of a constitution in 
1977. There have been no inactive periods for the petitioner'S organization since that 
time. 

Economic development and rehabilitation have appeared as political issues for the Little 
Shell organization in some instances since the early 1970's, These issues were no longer 
a consistent focus of the band after 1971. however, when the group's last substantial 
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legislative effort to obtain a Federal economic rehabilitation program was made. This 
shift may reflect an improving economic status of members. However, the Little Shell 
Band sought unsuccessfully in 1971 to have a portion of the 1863 Pembina award funds 
set aside for group economic and educational projects. In 1982, the Little Shell Band 
took a similar position with regard to the 1905 Pembina judgment and was successful in 
having money set aside, subject to the group becoming federally recognized. 

Access to services has been an important concern periodically expressed by members to 
the council, from at least 1970 until the present. This concern reflects a continuation of 
economic needs as a political issue. The organization began to seek Federal services in 
the late 1960's, but was initially rebuffed. From approximately 1970 until the present the 
petitioner's members have received, as individuals, some educational services from the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs and some health services from the Indian Health Service. One 
of the activities of the Little Shell council has been dealing with these Federal agencies on 
service questions such as how blood degree eligibility for services would be determined 
and what priority the group's members would have in relation to other Montana Indians. 
At the present time. the issue of access to Federal services continues to be an important 
concern expressed by members to the council. 

Since 1993. there have been several political conflicts within the Little Shell organization 
which provide evidence of the political functioning of the petitioner. The limited voting 
in the elections which were held at the annual meetings of 1990 and 1992 generated 
sustained membership discontent which led to a change in 1994 to voting by ballots cast 
at polling places around the state or by absentee ballots. A mobilization of political 
sentiment brought about this change in election procedures. in part through the process of 
area representatives bringing these concerns of members to the Little Shell council in 
1994. and in part through the response of members to the efforts of James Parker Shield 
to achieve such a change. Political discontent among the· membership with the 
functioning of the tribal office and the actions of the leadership. which resulted in part 
from geographical rivalry between members living in Great Falls and along the Highline. 
led to a move of the Little Shell office from Havre to Great Falls in 1995. This discontent 
also led to the removal of the chairman from office in 1995. The area representatives 
again were involved in bringing about these two changes. by acting as a channel through 
which members' discontent with the handling of the office was funneled. 

The conduct of the 1996 election generated a substantial protest which resulted in 
petitions from a considerable fraction of the number of members who had voted in that 
election. In addition, the removal from office in 1997 of the controversial individual who 
had been elected as chairman in 1996 was the result of substantial protests by members. 
The area representatives. reflecting membership opinion, again played a significant role in 
removing the chairman in 1997. This conflict demonstrated mobilization of public 
sentiment on a broad scale. indicating that the behavior of the chairman, James Parker 
Shield. and his election were matters of importance to members. It also showed 
communication within the group. Strong political opinions about this individual. and his 
removal, existed among the membership and resulted in abundant communication 
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between members and political leaders. 

Area representatives have thus played an important political role in political 
communication, voicing membership opinion. Current leaders report that, as in the past. 
there presently is a need to rotate the location of quarterly meetings and to use other 
means to maintain communication with members, for the failure to do so generates 
protests about the council acting without having communicated with the members. 

The political processes of the petitioner's organization at present draw interest and 
support from both geographical regions of traditional settlement as well as the two main 
cities where members reside, including them within a single framework. There is 
evidence from several recent political conflicts that a substantial portion of members are 
aware of the actions of the council and officers and consider them important. Those 
conflicts generated extensive and strong political opinion, and there is evidence of the 
communication of these political issues throughout a substantial portion of the 
membership. The area representatives played an important role in each of those political 
conflicts, by providing a means of channeling political opinion concerning the conflicts 
and the need for reform of the electoral system. Group activity by the petitioner's 
members was evident in their involvement to remove the group's officers and to change 
the group's governing procedures during the 1990's. There is evidence of social cohesion 
for at least portions of the contemporary group which provides supporting evidence for 
the existence of political processes within portions of the petitioning group. There is 
some evidence that continued kinship ties provide a major means of political 
communication among the petitioner's members. 

Evaluation: 

The petitioner has argued that it meets criterion 83.7(c), for the "historic period" before 
1927 as well as for "much if not all of the 1927-94 period" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
109,123), because section 83.7(c)(3) of the acknowledgment regulations provides that 
when the petitioner's existence as a distinct community has been established by one of 
the forms of evidence that are sufficient in themselves to meet criterion 83.7(b), this 
evidence also shall be considered to have provided sufficient evidence to meet criterion 
83.7(c) for the same period of time. Franklin and Bunte argued that they had "provided 
sufficient evidence for criterion c" by a demonstration of high rates of marriages within 
the group, exclusive enclave settlements, and "data on present-day cultural persistence" 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 123). The analysis of community in the previous discussion of 
criterion 83.7(b), however, demonstrated that the petitioner had not shown that it met the 
requirements of any of the three forms of evidence which are sufficient by themselves to 
demonstrate that the petitioner comprised a distinct community under the provisions of 
section 83.7(b)(2). Therefore, that evidence does not provide, by itself, evidence that the 
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(c). 

Nevertheless, the Department concludes that criterion (c) is met on the foHowing record. 
The available evidence shows that some of the petitioner's ancestors received benefits of 

.; 
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treaties as relatives of the treaty band of Pembina Chippewa. The available evidence 
shows that some of the petitioner's ancestors had been a part of Little Shell's band until 
1892. Franklin and Bunte contended that the petitioner's ancestors were followers of 
Chief Little Shell or of his attorney J.B. Bottineau until 1911 (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
[09-111). They noted that the names of some of the ancestors of the petitioner's 
members were associated with Little Shell ill: one ancestor on an 1881 report, ten 
ancestors on an 1885 petition, and one ancestor on an 1893 petition. Franklin and Bunte 
contended that the petitioner's ancestors considered themselves to be under the authority 
of the Turtle Mountain Agency until the 1920's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 113, 119). The 
evidence the researchers cited for agency jurisdiction was that an unknown number of 
ancestors were said to have applied for public domain allotments through the agency 
about 1910, and that a council member of the "lost band" in Montana, who was also an 
enrolled member at the Fort Peck Reservation, gave congressional testimony about those 
allotments on behalf of the petitioning group in 1927. 

Franklin and Bunte noted leadership in the settlement of Lewistown in 1879, in a buffalo 
camp on the Musselshell River in 1880, and in the election of a local leader at St. Peter's 
in the 1880's. They noted that outsiders referred to leaders in the early 20th century at 
Dearborn Canyon, at Dupuyer Creek, and in the Doney family. The recollections about 
"Chief Salois" at Dupuyer were those of a young boy. The evidence of the substantive 
leadership activities of making farm labor contracts on behalf of others applied to Jack 
S wan at Dearborn in the 1910's. The evidence of this local leadership applied to only a 
few of the local settlements of the petitioner's ancestors. 

The acknowledgment regulations require the petitioner to have maintained political 
influence and authority over its members "from historical times until the present" 
(§83.7(c». To accept the more flexible interpretation of the available documentation 
prior to the 1930's, this proposed finding concludes that evidence of some local leadership 
among a minority of the petitioner's ancestors in the past demonstrates a reasonable 
likelihood that patterns of political influence existed among many of the petitioner's 
ancestors before the 1930's. The petitioner is encouraged to provide additional evidence 
to more fully demonstrate its political influence or authority over its members from 
historical times until the 1930's for the final determination. 

While the continuous existence of a group which evolved from a historical tribe is 
required, it is acceptable for other peoples to have merged into that group over time to 
form the modem petitioner. The regulations do not address clearly the circumstance in 
which a petitioner's political entity unites two or more separate social communities. 
This proposed finding concludes that it is acceptable under the regulations for the 
petitioner's current political organization to be a confederation of previously or currently 
separate social communities. 

The petitioner devoted most of its attention to the period since 1927, the years in which it 
had a formal political organization, or organizations. Some of the evidence described in 
section 83.7(c)(l) exists for portions of the petitioner'S members and ancestors for limited 
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periods of time. From the mid-1930's through the 1950's. the evidence indicates that 
many members of Joseph Dussome's organization. which represented a portion of the 
petitioner's ancestors. considered the organization' s efforts to obtain land or other 
economic benefits to be "of importance" to them (§83.7(c)(l )(ii», and that many 
members were involved in "political processes" (§83.7(c)(l)(iii» through the activities of 
area representatives or fund raising activities. After 1955 there is evidence that "political 
processes" (§83.7(c)(1 )(iii)) continued with area representatives communicating local 
opinion on political issues to the council and information from the council to members, 
and with members being politically involved in important "internal contlicts" 
(§83.7(c)(l)(v» during the 1990's by removing the organization's officers and changing 
its electoral procedures. Since about 1970, many members have considered the 
organization's efforts to obtain Federal services to be "of importance" to them 
(§83.7(c)( I )(ii». 

83.7(d) 

Criterion (d) 

A copy of the group's present governing document, 
including its membership criteria. [n the absence of a 
written document, the petitioner must provide a 
statement describing in full its membership criteria and 
current governing procedures. 

The petitioner submitted a constitution dated September 10, 1977. as its governing 
document. Article V of the 1977 constitution states that all members of the group must 
have an application for membership which has been approved by the executive 
committee. Membership. as defined in the constitution. is open to any Indian of Pembina 
descent and 114 degree Indian blood, and to all the children of such members. 

The petitioner also submitted a resolution passed in 1987. Resolution 87-01, which 
interprets sections I, II, and ill of Article V of the 1977 constitution by clarifying the 
membership criteria to make them consistent with what the petitioner viewed as the 
"historical and contemporary understanding" of its members. Resolution 87-01 states 
that its membership consists of "those Little Shell Chippewa Indians, also referred to as 
Pembina Indians," who were listed on or eligible for enlistment on the Roe Cloud Roll, or 
the descendants of those members. That resolution also clarified that the intent of the 
constitution was to make eligible for membership any member's child who possessed a 
minimum of 118 Indian blood. The petitioner appears to meet its own requirements for 
membership under its 1977 constitution and membership resolutions. 

The constitution also describes the duties of the executive board, executive committee, 
officers, secretary-treasurer. and district council members. The constitution calls for 
elections to be held every two years for each council member and every four years for the 
executive board. 

.; 

- 35 -

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 39 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Summary for the Proposed Finding 

Therefore, the petitioner has submitted a constitution and resolutions which describe th~ 
membership criteria and the procedures by which it governs its affairs and its members. 

83.7(e) 

Introduction 

Criterion (e) 

The petitioner's membership consists of individuals who 
descend from a historical Indian tribe or from historical 
Indian tribes which combined and functioned as a 
single autonomous political entity. 

(2) The petitioner must provide an official membership 
list, separately certified by the group's governing body, 
of all known current members of the group .... The 
petitioner must also provide a copy of each available 
former list of members .... 

The petitioner has demonstrated that its members descend from a historical Indian tribe. 

Description of the Evidence: 

The petitioner submitted an official membership list, dated 1987, and subsequent 
supplemental lists of 1990, 1991, and 1992. These membership lists were certified by the 
group's council. The membership records in the petitioner's office contain applications 
for membership and copies of documents which record the descent of each applicant. 
The petitioner also submitted, as the group's previous membership lists, a list of 258 
applicants dated April 1978 and a membership list of 1,871 names dated September 25, 
1984. As a result of the petitioner's re-enrollment program in the 1980's, individuals on 
the earlier lists who were members of federally recognized tribes, who were deceased, or 
who did not fill out an ~pplication were removed from the membership list. However, 
children, parents, and siblings of members, as well as other individuals not previously 
enrolled, were added to the membership list. There were 3,366 names on the 1987 list. 
The BIA staff combined the lists of 1987, 1990, 1991, and 1992, eliminated duplicate 
names and deceased individuals, and concluded that there are 3,893 members of the 
petitioner's organization. 

The petitioner has not updated its membership list since 1992. However, it accepts new 
applications, and maintains them in a pending file, which it proposes to have its council 
act upon after the Department of the Interior's "decision" on the acknowledgment 
petition. The petitioner's enrollment committee continues to update these files and 
request additional documents from the applicants. The enrollment committee was 
reviewing the pending files in 1998 for completeness. It found that over 200 of the 
pending applications had all of the documentation necessary to meet its membership 
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requirements. 

The petitioner's governing document cites as evidence of descent from the Pembina Band 
of Chippewa the ability to trace one's ancestry to the Roe Cloud Roll of unenroIled 
Indians, which was prepared by the BlA in 1938 and approved in the 1940's. About 
66 percent of the petitioner's members are direct descendants of an individual on the Roe 
Cloud Roll, or were themselves on that list. Another II percent of members are closely 
related to someone on that roll. Although the Roe Cloud Roll was not a tribal roll and did 
not identify members of a historical tribe, the Department finds that it did identify a 
significant portion of the petitioner's ancestors as half-blood Indians of Chippewa-Cree 
descent. 

Some of the sources submitted by the petitioner or found by the BlA identified some of 
the petitioner's ancestors who were members of a historical tribe or were relatives of 
tribal members. The treaties with the Red Lake and Pembina Bands in 1863 and 1864 
and the subsequent annuity lists of the recipients of the benefits of those treaties revealed 
the members of the Pembina Band in that era. Metis relatives of the Pembina and Red 
Lake Bands who received land scrip in the early 1870's as a benefit of those treaties were 
identified in the 1880 McIntyre report on treaty scrip recipients. The records which 
identified members of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians and some of their 
Metis relatives included the 1890 census by the Mahone Commission, the 1892 
McCumber roll, and the 1884-1900 family registers and the 1906 family history books of 
the Turtle Mountain Agency. 

Other sources which identified some of the petitioner'S ancestors did not relate to specific 
historical tribes or did not identify tribal members. These sources included records of the 
Metis settlers in the British Red River Settlement in 1835 and 1870; the 1850 Federal 
census of Pembina County, Minnesota. Territory; a list of the 1873-1874 taxpayers in 
Pembina County, Dakota Territory; and the 1880 Federal census of Montana Territory. 

Some of the petitioner's ancestors were part of the two pre-treaty Metis populations that 
resided in the British Red River Settlement (Winnipeg, Canada) in 1835, and in Pembina 
County, Minnesota Territory (probably near modem Walhalla and Pembina, North 
Dakota) in 1850. The Metis population in both settlements included persons of mixed 
European and Indian ancestry, some of whom were Chippewa by descent, though no 
specific band of Chippewa was cited in the records. The Red River Settlement probably 
included Metis of Chippewa, Cree, Chippewa-Cree, Assiniboine, and other tribal descent. 
Thus, not all of these Metis were of Chippewa descent, and not all of the Metis in these 
two settlements were ancestral to the petitioner. 

The historical evidence available for this proposed finding indicates that about 27 percent 
(1,067 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from 16 families in the British Red 
River Settlement in 1835. About 48 percent (1,850 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members 
descend from the 25 families of its ancestors who were in Pembina County in 1850. Five 
of the families in the Red River Settlement in 1835 were later residing in Pembina 
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County in 1850. The petitioner's members with ancestry from one of these sources. 
therefore. often can trace their ancestry to both of these historical populations. 

Although these pre-treaty sources did not identify a historical tribe, the available evidence 
indicates that some of these ancestors did have ties to the historical Pembina Band, or to 
the band's Metis relatives. At least three and possibly five of the sixteen ancestors in the 
Red River Settlement in 1835 are the fathers of men who were listed in McIntyre's 1880 
report as recipients of, or applicants for, Chippewa treaty scrip. About two-thirds of the 
current members who descend from the residents of the Red River Settlement in 1835 
descend from the five men whose sons received or applied for treaty scrip. Although 
McIntyre found that only one of these five men was clearly eligible for scrip, one had 
been born at Pembina of parents born at Pembina, one was from a family line which 
included eligible individuals, and the other two had married women who appear to be 
from families with Pembina origins. Ten, and perhaps 12, of the 25 ancestors on the 
census of Pembina County in 1850 received treaty scrip, or had a son who received treaty 
scrip. 

The petitioner's ancestors who were considered to be part of the Pembina Band in the 
treaty era, or to be the mixed-blood relatives of that band, can be identified as the signers 
for the Pembina Band of the 1863 and 1864 treaties, as the individuals on the annuity list 
of 1864 or later treaty annuity lists, and as the recipients of treaty scrip as Metis relatives 
of the Pembina Band who were listed in McIntyre's 1880 report. Only 2 percent (74 of 
3,893) of the petitioner's members appear to descend from a treaty signer, Joseph 
Goumeau, who signed the 1863 treaty but not the 1864 treaty. Gourneau, however, also 
was on McIntyre's list of treaty scrip recipients. A series of treaty annuity lists exist, one 
of which the petitioner submitted as part of its petition documentation. Subsequent 
annuity lists may have more names, or may have both the Indian and European names. 
Neither the petitioner nor the BIA researched the names on subsequent annuity lists to 
determine whether the petitioner's known ancestors received treaty annuities in the 
1860's, 1870's, or 1880's. 

The available evidence indicates that 28 of the petitioner'S ancestors were included on the 
1880 McIntyre list of Red Lake and Pembina treaty scrip recipients. Approximately 
33 perceqt (1,293 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from 22 men who were 
identified in McIntyre's report as scrip recipients with Pembina Band descent. The 
remaining six scrip recipients who were clearly ancestral to the petitioner were found by 
Mcintyre to be either from Red Lake or of Cree, Assiniboine, or other non-Chippewa 
descent. An additional 134 people on the petitioner's membership list descend from at 
least one of these six men. Although these ancestors may not have been Pembina 
Chippewa or Pembina Metis, the evidence shows that either they, or some of their 
children or grandchildren, married into the Pembina Metis population. Further research 
during the comment period may identify other ancestors on the scrip list or annuity lists, 
or connect other members on the current membership list to these known ancestors, and 
thus increase the number of the petitioner's members who descend from the treaty-era 
ancestors. 
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In addition to the ancestors identified on Mcintyre's two lists of the recipients of scrip 
and the applicants who had applied for scrip after the closing date, there were another 
eight men on the two lists who have the same name as men in the petitioner's ancestry. 
Although they may not have qualified for scrip themselves, these eight families appear to 
have had close connections to the Pembina Chippewa Metis through their own marriages 
or through the marriages of their children to Pembina Chippewa Metis families. At least 
three of the eight men were living in Pembina County in 1850. If additional evidence 
establishes that these "same-name" men are indeed the petitioner's ancestors, then about 
200 more of the petitioner's members would have descent from the Pembina Band's 
mixed-blood relatives who were identified in Mcintyre's report. 

When the Bureau of Indian Affairs prepared a roll for the distribution of an Indian Claims 
Commission judgment award for the Government's taking of Indian territory by the 1863 
treaty, it included descendants of the "mixed-blood" element of the Pembina population 
who received benefits provided by the treaty. The Government thus treated Metis 
descendants of scrip recipients, who had at least 114 Pembina Chippewa ancestry, as 
having equal rights to receive judgment funds with the descendants who were members of 
the successor tribes of the Pembina Band of Chippewa. Individuals who received a 
judgment award were considered to be descendants of a member or relative of a member 
of the Pembina Band as it had been constituted in 1863. The judgment award for the 
Government's taking of Indian lands ceded by the McCumber Agreement also required 
recipients to have at least 1/4 Pembina Chippewa ancestry. Both judgment awards were 
made on the basis of lineal descent. About 38 percent (1,482 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
current members were recipients of the 1994 judgment award. 

Some of the petitioner's ancestors were found in records which were contemporaneous 
with the treaty, such as the records of Metis settlers at the Red River Settlement about 
1870 and the 1873 and 1874 tax lists of Pembina County. The petitioner had 46 ancestors 
listed among the Metis population in the British Red River Settlement about 1870. About 
38 percent (1,469 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from those 46 ancestors. 
Of this number, however, only 362 members descend solely from an 1870 Red River 
Settlement ancestor. Some of the men found in the records of this settlement in British 
territory in 1835 or 1870 had ties across the international border to the treaty tribe. For 
example, five of the petitioner's ancestors who received treaty scrip had a father who 
resided in the Red River Settlement in either 1835 or 1870. Only about 5 percent of the 
petitioner's members descend from six of their ancestors who were on the 1873 and 1874 
tax lists of Pembina County. This source put these ancestors in the vicinity of Turtle 
Mountain. 

The evidence indicates that about 26 percent (1,017 of 3,893) of the petitioner's current 
members descend from the historical Turtle Mountain Band because they have an 
ancestor who was listed on a roll prepared for either the Mahone Commission in 1890 or 
the McCumber Commission in 1892. A total of 31 ancestors of the petitioner's members 
were included on one of these lists and thus were accepted by one of the Federal 
commissions as a member of the Turtle Mountain Band prior to the negotiation of the 

.: 
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1892 agreement. At least an additional 9 percent (362 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
members descend from individuals who were on the 1884-1900 family registers or the 
1906 family history books of the Turtle Mountain Agency. Thus, at least 35 percent of 
the petitioner's members descend from an ancestor who can be considered a member of 
the Turtle Mountain Band at some time during the period from 1884 to 1906. However, 
these records do not provide a complete accounting of all of the petitioner's ancestors 
who may have been a part of the historical Turtle Mountain Band. A more thorough 
search of the Indian census records after 1885, for example, may identify additional 
ancestors Ii ving at Turtle Mountain in this era. 

The available evidence indicates that approximately 24 percent (922 of 3,893) of the 
petitioner's members have an ancestor who appeared on either the 1909 or 1917 rolls of 
Rocky Boy's Band of Chippewa Cree. According to Indian Inspector McLaughlin's 1917 
report, all of these ancestors claimed Chippewa ancestry. Nine of the ancestors at Rocky 
Boy's stated that they were Turtle Mountai·n or Pembina Chippewa, or were born at St. 
Joseph or Walhalla, North Dakota, and three stated they were Chippewa from Red Lake, 
Minnesota. The other ancestors claiming Chippewa or Chippewa-Cree descent did not 
specifically claim Pembina or Turtle Mountain Band descent. Pembina Chippewa 
ancestry was attributed to the Rocky Boy's Chippewa Indians by the Indian Claims 
Commission, and the BIA's 1994 judgment roll for the award included the Chippewa 
element of the Rocky Boy's Chippewa-Cree as a partial successor to the Pembina Band. 
For this current report, the BIA staff did not re-evaluate all of the sources used in the 
Pembina judgment award to determine how the Chippewa at Rocky Boy's were 
determined to be eligible as descendants of the Pembina Band. From the evidence 
currently available, however, it appears that at least a portion of the Chippewa at Rocky 
Boy's had Pembina Band descent. 

Evaluation: 

Petitioner's Arguments: 

The petitioner has made two claims for its descent from a historical tribe. Throughout its 
petition narrative, it repeated statements that its membership descends from followers of 
Chief Little Shell who were forced off, or who left, the Turtle Mountain Reservation in 
North Dakota after the McCumber Agreement of 1892. The petitioner's researchers also 
have argued that the group's members descend from the earlier Pembina Band of 
Chippewa and from a Chippewa-Cree Metis aboriginal community along the Red River. 

The petitioner claims descent from the followers of Chief Little Shell who had been part 
of the Turtle Mountain Band prior to the 1892 McCumber Agreement. The evidence 
submitted with the petition and the evidence discovered in the research process 
substantiates that some of the petitioner's members descend from a group that was 
excluded from the Turtle Mountain Band in 1892. Thirty of the petitioner's ancestors 
were on the Mahone census of Turtle Mountain Indians in 1890. In 1892, 20 of these 
same ancestors were still on the McCumber roll of the Turtle Mountain Band. Thus, only 
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ten individual ancestors could be said to have been excluded from the tribe by the 
McCumber Commission. About 6 percent (246 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members 
descend from those ten individuals who were on the Turtle Mountain census in 1890 but 
were not on the 1892 McCumber roll. The evidence also shows that some of the 
petitioner's members descend from individuals who were Turtle Mountain Band 
members prior to the McCumber Agreement; 26 percent (1,017 of 3,893) of members 
descend from an ancestor on the membership lists of the 1890 or 1892 commissions. 

This proposed finding accepts the petitioner's claim that its members derive from "the 
historic Turtle Mountain Chippewa Band and its immediate precursor group, the Pembina 
Chippewa Tribe, and ultimately from the Red RiverlPembina Chippewa-Cree Metis 
aboriginal community that made up the majority of the historic Pembina and the historic 
and present day Turtle Mountain Bands" (Franklin 1995, 2). 

Other evidence available about this petitioner offers some support for the petitioner's 
contention of the existence of a historical Chippewa-Cree tribe. There is evidence from 
the Pembina County census of 1850 and the treaty scrip list of 1880 that some Cree and 
other Indians married Pembina Indians or Pembina Metis prior to the treaty, as well as in 
later generations. The General Land Office found that four of the petitioner's ancestors 
wer~ not eligible for scrip under the treaty of 1863 because they were Cree or "Cree Yz 
Breed." These records show that the Cree were not considered beneficiaries of the 
Chippewa treaties. Although the records show some marriage between the Pembina 
Chippewa or their Metis relatives and the Cree or Cree-Metis at Pembina, as well as at 
the Red River Settlement in Canada and later in Montana. 

Membership Lists 

The petitioner submitted its most current membership lists, and those lists were certified 
by its governing body as being accurate and complete. The petitioner also submitted its 
available previous membership lists. Therefore, the petitioner meets the requirements of 
section 83.7(e)(2) of the acknowledgment regulations. 

The petitioner has indicated that it has a large number of pending applications for 
membership which it does not plan to act upon until after the Department of the Interior 
has made a "decision" on its petition for acknowledgment. The petitioner is advised that 
it should prepare its complete and final membership list prior to a final determination on 
its petition. The final determination will consider that list and, if the petitioner is 
acknowledged, that membership list will form the base roll of its tribal members. 

Definitions and Forms of Evidence 

Information about the petitioner'S ancestors was gathered from many historical sources. 
Only some of these sources, however, identified members of historical tribes, or their 
relatives, at certain times in the past. Some sources provided information about the lines 
of descent of the petitioner'S members, and identified their ancestors. Other sources 
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provided information about where some of those ancestors of the petitioner's members 
were located at specific historical times. 

Section 83.7(e)(1) lists several types of evidence which may be used to demonstrate that 
the petitioner's membership descends from a historical tribe. Documentation listed in 
parts (i) and (ii) of section 83. 7(e)( 1) has been accepted as providing information about 
the ancestry of the petitioner's members. Evidence which has been accepted as evidence 
of membership in, or affiliation with, or descent from the historical tribe of the Pembina 
Band of Chippewa includes the lists of tribal leaders who signed for the Pembina Band on 
the treaties of 1863 and 1864 and the list of individuals who received land scrip as 
relatives of members of the Pembina Band under the terms of those treaties. A listing on 
one of the annuity rolls of the beneficiaries of the treaties of 1863 and 1864 would be 
accepted as evidence of tribal membership. 

Evidence which has been accepted as evidence of membership in the historical tribe of 
the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa includes the censuses of tribal members produced 
by the Mahone Commission in 1890 and the McCumber Commission in 1892. and the 
lists of families in the Turtle Mountain Agency's family registers and family history 
books. A listing on one of the Indian census rolls of the Turtle Mountain reservation 
prepared after 1885 by the Office of [ndian Affairs would be accepted as evidence of 
tribal membership. The descent of some of the petitioner's members from the Indians on 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation was established by the census of the Indians of Rocky Boy's 
band in 1909 and the report by Indian Inspector McLaughlin in 191'7 on the members of 
the new reservation. In some instances, those records specifically attributed Pembina or 
Turtle Mountain descent. 

Other sources have been accepted as providing useful information about the ancestors of 
the petitioner's include the Federal censuses of 1850 for Pembina County, Minnesota 
Territory, 1880 for Montana Territory, and 1910 and 1920 for the State of Montana. 
Those census records identified many of the petitioner'S ancestors and provided 
information about their family relationships, but did not identify them as members of a 
tribe. The Roe Cloud Roll which was prepared by the Office of Indian Affairs about 
1938 identi fied some of the petitioner's present members or their ancestors as unenroIled 
Indians. 

Non-federal sources which have been accepted as providing information about an 
individual's tribal background, whether Chippewa or otherwise, include the published 
abstracts of records relating to the Metis population of the Red River Settlement in 
Canada. Those sources identified many of the petitioner'S ancestors who were living at 
the Red River Settlement in 1835 or 1870. The 1873 and 1874 tax lists of Pembina 
County, Dakota Territory, placed some of the petitioner's ancestors in the vicinity of the 
Turtle Mountain Reservation. Abstracts of the marriage and baptismal records of St. 
Peter's Mission in Montana identified many of the petitioner'S ancestors . 

. ; 
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Descent 

A majority of the petitioner's members trace their descent to an ancestor at a 19th century 
settlement at modern Pembina or St. Joseph, North Dakota, or Winnipeg, Canada. Those 
records established the presence of those ancestors in specific ge~graphical settlements. 

The available evidence indicates that a minority (33 percent) of the petitioner's members 
descend from ancestors who were related to members of the Pembina Band of Chippewa 
during the era of the treaty of 1863. Because these mixed-blood relatives of the treaty 
band were descendants of someone who had been a member of the band at an earlier 
time, the petitioner's members who descend from men who received treaty scrip as a 
relative of the Pembina Band therefore descend from a member of the band in a 
generation earlier than the treaty. The evidence also indicates that a minority (26 percent) 
of the petitioner's members descend from ancestors who were members of the Turtle 
Mountain Band during the era of the McCumber Agreement of 1892. 

Some of the petitioner's members descend both from an ancestor who was a relative of a 
member of the Pembina Band and an ancestor who belonged to the Turtle Mountain 
Band. Because of marriages between the petitioner's family lines, there are multiple lines 
of descent and duplication of points of origin for the petitioner's ancestors. Thes.e 
measurements of descent from these two historical tribes, therefore, are not exclusive of 
each other. 

If this duplication and double counting is eliminated in a way that gives priority to 
descent from the Pembina Band, which is the historical tribe cited in the petitioner's 
governing document, and next adds descent from the Turtle Mountain Band, its partial 
successor according to the Indian Claims Commission, then 33 percent (1,293 of 3,893) 
of the petitioner's members descend from the historical Pembina Band (based on the 
treaty of 1863 and McIntyre's report of 1880 on treaty scrip recipients) and an additional 
15 percent (582 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend exclusively from the 
successor Turtle Mountain Band (based on an additional 395 members having descent 
from individuals on the 1890 and 1892 commission censuses and another 187 members 
having descent from individuals who were on the 1884-1900 family registers or the 1906 
family history books of the Turtle Mountain Agency). Because the Turtle Mountain Band 
evolved from the Pembina Band, these exclusive lines of descent can be totaled to show 
that 48 percent (1,875 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members trace their ancestry back to 
the Pembina Band of Chippewa and its related Metis families, or to its successor. 

If Pembina ancestry is assumed for the Chippewa element of the Rocky Boy's Band of 
Chippewa-Cree, as was done by the Indian Claims Commission and by the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs in preparing the 1994 judgment roll for the distribution of the 
Commission's award, then an additional 14 percent (543 of 3,893) of the petitioner'S 
members with descent from a Rocky Boy's member of Chippewa ancestry, but not 
demonstrated descent from a Pembina Band or Turtle Mountain Band ancestor, could be 
included as individuals of Pembina Chippewa descent, bringing the total of members with 

.; 
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Pembina Band ancestry to 62 percent (2,418 of 3,893). 

If all of the descendants of the eight men on McIntyre's report who may be ancestors of 
some of the petitioner's members were counted, then potentially another 7 percent (289 
of 3,893) could be added to the computation of the petitioner's members with Pembina 
Chippewa descent. 

There are at least 433 individuals on the petitioner's membership list, about II percent of 
its members, who descend from an ancestor who was at the Red River Settlement in 1835 
or 1870. but not from any of the ancestors identified as having had ancestry from the 
Pembina Band, Turtle Mountain Band. or Rocky Boy's Band. Almost all of these 433 
individuals have at least one ancestor who was on the Roe Cloud Roll in 1938. 

The petitioner did not submit genealogical charts for all of the new members on the 1987 
membership list, or for any of the new members on its 1990, 1991, and 1992 
supplemental membership lists. For individuals who were the children of individuals 
already in the genealogical database, the BIA's researchers attached that existing 
genealogical information to the new members who lacked a genealogical chart. In this 
fashion it was possible to connect some of these new members to their ancestors. 
However, the descent of many indi viduals on the 1987-1992 membership lists could not 
be attached to existing genealogical information. For example, about 900 individuals 
with 1987, 1990,1991, or 1992 membership numbers have not shown descent from. or 
close collateral relationships to, someone on the Roe Cloud Roll. Because of this missing 
data, many of the petitioner's most recent members could not be counted as members 
who have descent from a historical tribe. It is possible that the petitioner will be able to 
show that a significant number of these individuals also descend from ancestors with 
established Pembina Chippewa descent. 

Conclusion 

The evidence establishes a reasonable probability that a strong majority of the petitioner's 
members descend from individuals with Pembina Chippewa ancestry. 

83.7{O 

Criterion (I) 

The membership of the petitioning group is composed 
principally of persons who are not members of any 
acknowledged North American Indian tribe •.•. 

The BlA's review of the membership records in the Billings Area Office of the federally 
recognized tribes in that jurisdiction shows that 15 of the petitioner's members appear on 
the membership records of the tribes of the Rocky Boy's, Fort Belknap, or Blackfeet 
Reservations. These individuals appear to have one parent who is a member of the 
federally recognized tribe and one parent who is a member of the Little Shell petitioner. 

.: 
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Thus, less than I percent of the members of the petitioning group are members of any 
acknowledged North American Indian tribe. 

Because very few of the petitioner's members are enrolled as members of a federally 
recognized tribe, its membership is composed principally of persons who are not 
members of any acknowledged Indian tribe. 

83.7(g) 

Criterion (g) 

Neither the petitioner nor its members are the subject of 
congressional legislation that has expressly terminated 
or forbidden the Federal relationship. 

No evidence available for this proposed finding indicates that the petitioning group was 
the subject of congressional legislation that prohibited or terminated a relationship 
between it and the Federal Government. 

Summary Conclusion 

For these reasons, the petitioner should be acknowledged to exist as an Indian tribe . 

. ; 
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Technical Report for the Proposed Finding 

on the 

LmLE SHELL TRIBE OF CHIPPEWA INDIANS OF MONTANA 

INTRODUCTION 

Summary of the Evidence: 

The Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana has petitioned for Federal 
acknowledgment that it is an lndian tribe. The Little Shell petitioner has used three 
separate teams of researchers to prepare its documented petition. Each of these three 
teams submitted one or more reports which provided a narrative or analysis of the 
evidence, plus supporting documentation. A petition narrative and documents were 
submitted in 1984 by C. Patrick Morris and Robert Van Gunten. A response to the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs' review of the petitioner's original documented petition was 
submitted in 1987 by Jack Campisi and William Starna. Additional research and 
documentation was provided from 1994 to 1997 by the team of Robert 1. Franklin and 
Pamela A. Bunte. 

The petitioner's essential argument, first set forth by Morris and Van Gunten in their 
narrative, is that the petitioner is the successor to the Little Shell Band of Chippewa 
Indians of the Turtle Mountain Reservation in North Dakota.· In addition. Morris and 
Van Gunten argued that the Turtle Mountain Band itself was a partial successor to the 
Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians which had negotiated treaties with the United States 
in 1851 and 1863. In their view, the Little Shell Band had been led by a succession of 
three hereditary chiefs known as Little Shell. Although the Turtle Mountain Band 

. remains a federally recognized tribe today, Morris and Van Gunten argued that the third 
Chief Little Shell and his followers were purged from the tribe's membership rolls and 
forced off its reservation because the chief refused to sign the McCumber Agreement of 
1892. by which the tribe agreed to cede its claim to territory in northern North Dakota in 
exchange for compensation from the United States. Morris and Van Gunten argued that 
in the years after 1892 Little Shell's band migrated to its buffalo-hunting territory in 
Montana and established a series of settlements across northern Montana which have 
persisted until the present. 

I Chippewa Indians are also referred to as the Ojibwa or Anishinabe. Because the petitioner calls itself 
"Chippewa," this report foHows the petitioner's usage. 
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The petitioner has made two claims for its descent from a historical tribe. It has 
contended that its membership descends from the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa 
through the followers of Chief Little Shell. It also has argued, through researcher 
Franklin, that the group's members descend from the earlier Pembina Band of Chippewa, 
which he contended had included Cree ancestry as well as Chippewa ancestry, and from a 
Chippewa-Cree Metis aboriginal community along the Red River of the north. In contrast 
to Morris and Van Gunten's claim that Little Shell's Band was the full-blood Chippewa 
portion of the Turtle Mountain Band, Franklin and Bunte consistently referred to the 
petitioner's ethnic group as Metis, or individuals of mixed-blood Chippewa-Cree and 
French descent. The petitioner, however, offered no evidence of a historical tribe of 
Chippewa-Cree or Metis along the Red River at Pembina or in British territory. 

Franklin and Bunte acknowledged that the migration of the ancestors of the petitioner's 
members to Montana had a more complex history than that presented by the original 
petition. Franklin and Bunte noted that ancestors of the petitioner's members were in 
Montana before 1892, especially at Lewistown and St. Peter's Mission before 1880. They 
emphasized the link of these early settlers of Montana to the Pembina Band rather than 
the Turtle Mountain Band. Without attempting to trace this migration over time in any 
detail, they asserted that these settlements were Pembina Metis communities because they 
contained an individual, or individuals, from Pembina. Franklin and Bunte also noted 
that the ancestors of the petitioner's members settled in Montana in two geographically 
separate areas: a triangular area of northern Montana between Havre, Lewistown, and 
Wolf Point, and an area along the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains south of the 
Canadian border. They recognized that the petitioner'S ancestors lived, and its current 
members live, in geographically separate towns or areas spread for hundreds of miles 
across Montana. They argued that the petitioner's members and ancestors maintained 
social cohesion during the 20th century with high rates of intermarriage, residence in 
segregated neighborhoods of rural towns, and maintenance of a distinctive culture. 

In contrast to Morris and Van Gunten's emphasis on an 1892 expulsion from the Turtle 
Mountain Band, Franklin and Bunte asserted that the Metis in Montana considered 
themselves to be Turtle Mountain members until some unspecified time in the 1910's or 
1920's. Franklin and Bunte also argued, however, that in Montana during the first quarter 
of the 20th century the petitioner maintained political influence over its members through 
leadership within local settlements. The first formal organization in Montana which the 
petitioner claims as a predecessor was formed in 1927 in Hays. The petitioner's 
researchers contend that the petitioner has maintained organizational continuity since 
1927, despite having used a series of different names for itself, and that this continuity 
was demonstrated by the consistent leadership of the organization, or organizations, from 
1927 to 1963 by Joseph H. Dussome. The petitioner adopted its current organizational 
name and its current constitution in 1977. 

The evidence available for this finding shows that a majority of the petitioner's members 
trace a line of their ancestry back to Metis, or mixed-blood, families along the Red River 
of the north, either to a settlement in British territory in the years between 1814 and 1870 
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known as the Red River Settlement (Winnipeg), now in Canada, or to settlements in 
United States territory in 1850 and later years at Pembina and St. Joseph (Walhalla), now 
in North Dakota. It is not known whether the petitioner's Metis ancestors along the Red 
River were mixed-blood Chippewa, mixed-blood Cree, or mixed-blood descendants of 
other tribes. The Metis residents of Pembina and St. Joseph, however, were described by 
contemporary observers as being related to and sometimes acting together with the 
Pembina Band of Chippewa. Some ancestors of the petitioner'S members can be 
identified in records of the Metis settlers in the British Red River Settlement between 
1835 and 1870, and in the records of the 1850 Federal census of Pembina County. 
Minnesota Territory. Although these records identified many of the petitioner'S 
ancestors, these sources did not identify them as members of an Indian tribe. 

With the available evidence, the ancestry of more of the petitioner's members can be 
traced to Pembina County of Minnesota Territory in 1850 than to any other historical 
origin. About 48 percent of the petitioner's members descend from 25 of their ancestors 
who were in Pembina County in 1850, probably at Pembina and to the west along the 
Pembina River and in the Pembina Hills. The Federal census of 1850 did not list tribal 
Indians. or Indians not taxed, so that census did not list members of a historical Indian 
tribe. The evidence available for this finding does not identify all of the petitioner's 
Indian and Metis ancestors in the 19th century. With the available evidence, the largest 
number of the petitioner's ancestors who have been identified as living in the same place 
at the same time, prior to their arrival in Montana, were the 46 families who were 
identified as Metis at the Red River Settlement in British territory about 1870, with the 
majority of them in St. Francois-Xavier Parish on the Assiniboine River. a tributary of the 
Red River. About 38 percent of the petitioner's members descend from the 46 ancestors 
listed among the Metis population in the British Red River Settlement about 1870. 
Residence in the Red River Settlement in British territory, however, did not constitute 
membership in a historical American Indian tribe. 

The evidence available for this finding also shows that a minority of the petitioner's 
members trace a line of their ancestry back to members of a historical tribe, or relatives of 
tribal members, at a specific time. Approximately 33 percent of the petitioner's members 
descend from 22 men who were identified in an 1880 report as an individual who had 
teceived treaty scrip as an American "mixed-blood" relative of the Pembina Band under 
the provisions of the treaties of 1863 and 1864. These scrip recipients were descendants 
of someone who had been a member of the band at a time prior to the treaty. The 
recipients of scrip also affirmed that they were an adult citizen of the United States and 
had "adopted the habits and customs of civilized life." Another six scrip recipients who 
were ancestral to the petitioner were, according to that report, either from Red Lake or of 
non-Chippewa descent. The 1880 report found that these 28 men were living in 
geographically scattered locations, not living together in one place. Further research 
could increase the percentage of the petitioner's members who descend from treaty scrip 
recipients. At least 26 percent of the petitioner's members can be traced to an ancestor 
who was a member of the Turtle Mountain Band prior to the 1892 agreement. This 
percentage could increase with additional research if a larger number of Turtle Mountain 
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rolls and censuses were examined. Some of the petitioner's members descend from both 
Turtle Mountain Band and Pembina Band ancestors. 

The Pembina Band of Chippewa emerged in the early-19th century as a band associated 
with the trading post at Pembina on the Red River. The Pembina Band was recognized 
by the United States in treaty negotiations in 1851 and 1863, although only the 1863 
treaty was ratified by the Senate. At that time, however, the Government's negotiators 
did not consider the Metis to be a part of the Chippewa tribe, and did not negotiate with 
them. After the treaty of 1863, the Pembina Band fragmented, with some members 
settling on reservations in Minnesota and others staying in the vicinity of the Turtle 
Mountains of North Dakota, west of the lands ceded by the treaty. The Turtle Mountain 
Band obtained a reservation in 1884. Before that time, however, children of the Pembina 
and St. Joseph Metis had relocated to several areas of central Montana. In these new 
settlements they were joined by some descendants of the Metis residents of the British 
Red River Settlement. Many of the Red River Metis migrated to the west after the failure 
of the Metis rebellion in Manitoba in 1870 led by Louis Riel. After the failure of a 
second Riel rebellion in Saskatchewan in 1885, some Metis ancestors of the petitioner's 
members moved into Montana and settled along the Front Range of the Rocky 
Mountains. Thus, Metis ancestors of the petitioner's members had established residence 
in Montana before the McCumber Agreement of 1892. 

The McCumber Commission negotiated an agreement for the Government with the Turtle 
Mountain Band in 1892 in which the band relinquished its claim to territory in North 
Dakota. Although the Government's instructions to the Commission indicated that it 
generally did not consider the "mixed bloods" to be a part of the tribe, the Commission 
included the Metis in the negotiations and listed them on the tribal roll. The 
Commission, however, sought to exclude Canadians from membership in the tribe and 
the benefits of the agreement. When the Commission refused to agree to Chief Little 
Shell's demand for a larger reservation, Little Shell withdrew from the negotiations. The 
Commission concluded an agreement with members of the band who continued the 
negotiations, but Little Shell refused to sign it. The available evidence does not show that 
Chief Little Shell relocated to Montana after 1892, for there is evidence that Little Shell 
remained at the reservation throughout the 1890's until his death in 1901. The 
McCumber Agreement was not ratified until 1904 by Congress and 1905 by the band. 
When the Government approved membership criteria about 1906 to determine the 
recipients of the benefits of the ratified agreement, indi viduals who had not resided on the 
ceded territory in North Dakota at the time of the 1892 agreement were not considered 
eligible for enrollment in the Turtle Mountain Band. 

In Montana. the petitioner's ancestors settled in two geographically separate regions, each 
of which covered a large expanse of territory. One settlement region was north-central 
Montana. including both the Highline,2 the area along the railroad line across northern 
Montana, and the Lewistown area south of the Missouri River in central Montana. The 

2 There are variant spellings of "Highline." This report follows the petitioner's usage. 
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other settlement region was the Front Range, the area along the eastern edge of the 
northern Rocky Mountains. Some ancestors of the petitioner's members arrived in north­
central Montana by the early 1870's. Included among them were some of the founders of 
Lewistown, in Fergus County, in 1879, and members of the Doney family who apparently 
settled in modem Phillips County during the early 1880's. Many of these early settlers 
had previous connections to the Metis settlements at Pembina and St. Joseph. The 
migration of some of the ancestors of the petitioner to the Front Range largely occurred 
after the failed Riel rebellion of 1885 in Saskatchewan. A minority of the early settlers 
on the Front Range had demonstrable ties to Pembina or St. Joseph, although about half 
appear to have had previous ties to the British Red River Settlement. 

This divergent settlement pattern was revealed by the 1920 Federal census of Montana 
which showed ancestors of the petitioner's members to have been living mostly in north­
central Montana in the adjacent counties of Phillips, Fergus, and Blaine, and along the 
Front Range in the counties of Lewis and Clark, Teton, and Glacier. In the 1910's, many 
of the petitioner'S ancestors along the Front Range began moving out of isolated 
settlements along the rivers and canyons of the mountains and into the rural towns of the 
Front Range such as Choteau and Augusta. At least by the economic depression of the 
1930's, many of the petitioner'S ancestors in north-central Montana were moving into 
settlements on the fringes of the rural towns along the Highline of northern Montana, 
while other ancestors were moving into the small cities of Great Falls and Helena. 
Although many of the petitioner's ancestors lived in segregated areas of these towns and 
cities, the available evidence does not demonstrate the petitioner's contention that the 
majority of the petitioner's ancestors prior to the 1950's lived in an exclusively ethnic 
"enclave." In Lewistown, where the Metis were long-established residents, they did not 
experience such residential segregation. 

Economic, educational, and residential oiscrimination by non-Indians against Metis in 
Montana during the 1930's and 1940's was described by contemporary observers and by 
modern interviewees who lived through those decades. Fonner residents of the 
segregated Indian or Metis neighborhoods described them as having been almost 
exclusively occupied by the petitioner's families, Metis from the Turtle Mountain and 
Rocky Boy's reservations, and Indians from other Montana reservations. The petitioner's 
families, however, typically lived in half a dozen different towns, reservations, or cities 
between the 1930's and 1950's. As a result, the segregated neighborhood of a town did 
not necessarily have a consistent composition over any substantial length of time, while 
the members of a family line became somewhat distributed throughout the Highline area 
or the Front Range area. Since the 1950's, the petitioner's members and their ancestors 
increasingly have moved to Great Falls, Helena, and other urban areas of the state. 

The amount of cultural differences between the Metis and non-Indians was already 
decreasing in the 1930's. A Metis or "Michiff' culture, which originated in the Red River 
and Pembina settlements and which was distinct from both white culture and reservation 
Indian cultures, persisted among older Metis adults who had been born in rural areas, but 
diminished rapidly among the generation that grew up in towns and cities from the 1930's 
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until 1950's, the individuals who are the older adults among the petitioner's members 
today. Accounts by people who grew up in the 1930's consistently indicate that few of 
them learned either the Michiff language or French. Interviews indicate that the full-scale 
traditional New Year's celebrations, one of the most distinctive Metis social and ,cultural 
practices, came to an end around 1950, as the older generation was reaching the end of its 
lifespan. 

Although Metis migrants to Montana settled in a variety of locations in the state, a pattern 
of intermarriage among Metis families established a basis for the later emergence of 
Metis social groups. Almost all of the families ancestral to the petitioner were Metis 
married to Metis when they arrived in Montana. Once in Montana, these Metis families 
intermarried extensively with other Metis families in the state. The rate of Metis in­
marriage remained above 50 percent for individuals born before 1919, for new marriages 
until the 1940's, and for existing marriages until the end of the 1960's. Each Metis family 
line generally had marriages with a substantial number of other Metis lines within their 
geographical region. Thus, extensive kinship ties between a Metis family line and 
numerous other Metis family lines, ranging across several generations, resulted from this 
high rate of in-marriage among the Metis. Although Metis in-marriages are now rare, 
substantial kinship ties among them remain because of the extensive intennarriage of past 
generations. The Metis in-marriages. were localized to the extent that marriage between 
individuals from the two well-separated geographical areas, the Highline and the Front 
Range, was uncommon during any time period. Intermarriages among the Metis occurred 
within the geographical boundaries of these regional settlement areas, not across them. 

From 1927 until 1963, Joseph H. Dussome was a leader of several successive 
organizations, or of a continuing group of supporters which adopted several names. In 
1927 Dussome was chosen as the "Chief Headman" of "the lost band of the 
Chippeways," which he also later referred to as the "Abandoned Chippewa Indians of 
Montana." In 1935 Dussome was chosen as president of the "Non-Treaty Chippewa-Cree 
Indians of Northern Montana." In 1939 Dussome was one of three persons elected as a 
member of the executive committee of an organization which began calling itself the 
"Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians," and Dussome soon was referred to as the 
president of the executive committee. In 1949 Dussome was elected president of the 
"Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians, known as the Landless Indians of Montana." 
From the mid-1930's until the mid-1950's, Dussome's leadership of the landless Indians 
or unenrolled Chippewa descendants in Montana was challenged by another organization 
which adopted the name of the "Montana Landless Indians." In general, Dussome's 
supponers came from the Highline towns and the Lewistown area of nonh-central 
Montana, while the Montana Landless Indians drew its suppon from the Front Range and 
the cities of Great Falls and Helena. 

After the passage of the Indian Reorganization Act in 1934, the Government sought to 
purchase land for the "landless" or unenrolled Indians of Montana who met the act's 
definition of an Indian as an individual of one-half or more Indian blood. During the last 
half of the 1930's, Government agents sought to create a roll of such Indians, whom they 
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came to refer to as the landless Cree-Chippewa Indians of the state. During the 
application process, the Office of Indian Affairs used Joseph Dussome as a member of its 
advisory committee and began referring to him as the leader of a group of landless 
Indians in the state. The result of this enrollment effort was the so-called Roe Cloud Roll 
of the landless Indians of Montana, which was originally compiled in 1938. but not 
approved until the 1940's. The Government. however. decided not to use the land 
purchased under the Indian Reorganization Act as a new and separate reservation for the 
individuals on the Roe Cloud Roll. but instead added the land to the existing Rocky Boy's 
Reservation. Thus, the Government did not attempt to organize these unenrolled Indians 
as a tribe under the provisions of the act. The petitioner, however, now finds applicants 
eligible for membership in the group if they can trace their ancestry to a person on the 
Roe Cloud Roll. and 66 percent of the petitioner's members are the lineal descendants of 
an individual on that roll. 

Joseph Dussome used a variety of arguments about the origins of his group while 
advocating its claims cases against the United States. In 1931 he argued that his group of 
Montana Chippewa was descended from the Pembina Band of Chief Red Bear, not from 
the Turtle Mountain Band of Chief Little Shell. and claimed that his group was in 
Montana long before the McCumber Agreement of .1892. In 1936 he argued that his 
Chippewa-Cree group was aboriginal to northern Montana and had been located there 
from time immemorial. Dussome and his group began referring to themselves in 1939 as 
the Little Shell Band only after proposed congressional bills. which were not enacted. 
provided that the Chippewa band of Thomas Little Shell. a living Indian leader in North 
Dakota, could bring claims against the Government in the Court of Claims. After the 
passage of the Indian Claims Commission Act in 1946, the Little Shell Band in the 1950's 
submitted a claim for compensation for the aboriginal territory in Montana of the Cree­
Chippewa tribe, but the Commission dismissed this claim. When the Commission 
accepted the Little Shell petitioner's stipulation that it had been part of the Pembina Band 
in 1863, it allowed the claims of those members of the Little Shell Band who were 
descendants of the Pembina Band to be incorporated into other cases, and allowed such 
members to obtain a share of the awards made by the Commission to the descendants of 
the Pembina Band and the Turtle Mountain Band. 

The first clear identification of a portion of the petitioner's ancestors as an Indian or 
Metis group by an external observer. in the available evidence. was made in the mid-
1930's during the Roe Cloud Roll enrollment process in a reference to Dussome's group. 
During the 1940's and early 1950's, the Bureau of Indian Affairs noted the existence of 
two competing organizations. Since 1949, the petitioner'S group has been consistently 
identified as the Little Shell band or as the Landless Indians of Montana by various 
external sources. These include identifications by the state of Montana and local 
newspapers, as well as by the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Indian Health Service. 
Other identifications have been by local officials in Montana and recognized Montana 
Indian tribes, as well as in the writings of several scholars. The state of Montana has 
accorded the Little Shell group a status similar to that of the several federally recognized 
Indian tribes in the state. The group has been included since at least 1952 as a member of 
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the state-sponsored Inter-Tribal Policy Board, which advises the State government of 
Montana. The Governor of Montana in 1992 urged the Department of the Interior to 
recognize the Little Shell band. 

The organization of the Little Shell band or Landless Indians of Montana utilized several means, between 1949 and 1992, [0 maintain contact between its leaders and its members 
who were living in a number of widely separated settlements across a broad geographical 
area. After the mid-1950's, Dussome's organization was essentially uncontested as a 
single organization of "landless" Indians, and thus lost its former regional character. One 
means of political communication was an annual meeting at which the organization's 
officers were elected. Until at least 1961, these were two-day affairs which were social as well as political gatherings. Only a small proportion of the membership attended each 
meeting, perhaps because members traveled long distances to attend them. Quarterly 
council meetings have been pubiic meetings of the membership, and the geographical 
rotation of those meetings has been used as a means of communicating information and 
generating support for the group's activities. The Little Shell organization also has used 
district or area representatives, individuals who represented particular localities and were, 
much of the time, locally elected. During Dussome's tenure from 1949 to 1963, district 
representatives conducted fund raising locally to support his efforts. Since 1949, the 
district or area representatives have served to carry information from the council and 
officers to the members, and to organize local meetings. They have been expected to play 
a role in bringing the views and opinions of members to meetings of the organization. 

The Little Shell organization dealt with several different issues between 1949 and 1992. 
From the 1950's until the early 1970's it continued its earlier efforts to obtain land or other 
Federal assistance to alleviate the poor economic circumstances of its members. Access 
to Federal services to Indians has been an important concern periodically expressed by 
members to the council from at least the 1970's until the present. Since approximately 
1970, the petitioner'S members have received some educational services from the Bureau 
of Indian Affairs and some health. services from the Indian Health Service as individuals, based on their blood degree. One of the activities of the Little Shell council has been 
dealing with these Federal agencies to obtain services for its members. Action on these 
issues were responsive to members' immediate concerns and needs. In contrast, much of 
the organization's efforts after 1951 involved its claims before the Indian Claims 
Commission. It sought to hire attorneys and to be recognized by the Indian Service as the 
legitimate group to pursue a claim on behalf of the "Little Shell Band." After awards 
were made by the Commission, it sought, unsuccessfully in 1971 and successfully in 
1982, to have a portion of the funds set aside for group use, subject to the group's 
becoming a federally recognized tribe. The Little Shell office helped compile the Little 
Shell portion of the judgment roll, completed in 1994, for the payment of the judgment 
for Turtle Mountain territory taken by the United States in 1905. 

Fonnal organizational activity was limited for several periods between 1963 and 1992. 
For a span of two or three years, records of meetings and of activities by officers were 
sparse or absent. In some instances, schedulod elections were not held. Anew, younger 
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group of leaders became active in the middle to late 1970's, revitalizing the organization. 
Among their efforts was the adoption of a constitution in 1977. Also in 1977, the 
organization changed its name from the Landless Indians of Montana or the Little Shell 
Band of Chippewa Indians of Montana to the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of 
Montana. There have been no inactive periods for the organization since 1977. The 
annual Joe Dussome Day celebration, the only social event involving the entire 
membership, has only been held since 1990. These events have drawn between 200 and 
300 individuals, usually from the region where the event was held. In the organization's 
first statewide election in 1994, 18 percent of the eligible voters voted. In 1996, voting 
participation was 15 percent. 

Several political conflicts within the Little Shell since 1992 demonstrate the political 
functioning of the petitioner's modern organization. Information and opinion about 
political events are broadly communicated through informal means, along kinship lines 
and otherwise. Leading figures in political conflicts since 1992 report receiving 
complaints and inquiries about these conflicts from many Little Shell members. 
Membership discontent with having elections held at the annual meetings led to a change 
in 1994 to voting by ballots cast at polli ng places around the· state or by absentee ballot. 
Widespread political discontent with the functioning of the tribal office led to moving the 
office in 1995 from Havre to Great Falls. This discontent also led to the removal of the 
chairman from office in 1995. The election of a controversial individual as chairman in 
1997 was soon followed by his removal as a result of substantial protests by members. 
Strong political opinions about this were widespread among members and resulted in a 
substantial amount of communication with political leaders. The area representatives, 
reflecting the opinions of members, played a substantial role in each of these political 
conflicts, including changing the voting procedures in 1994 and the removal of the 
chairman in 1997. 

The rural towns, small cities, and Indian reservations where most of the petitioner's 
members live today cover a very large geographical span. For example. the distance from 
Wolf Point, at the eastern end of the Highline, to Browning, at the northern part of the 
Front Range, is 371 miles by road. There are no longer distinct settlement areas made up 
largely or exclusively of Little Shell members and other Metis and reservation Indians, 
although a sizeable minority of members live in the rural towns where the petitioner's 
Metis families settled from the 1910's through the 1930's. The largest single 
concentration of members today, 17 percent of them, is in Great Falls. About 19 percent 
of members live in Highline towns and Lewistown, while another 10 percent live along 
the Front Range. The members who live outside the state of Montana, principally in 
nearby western states, constitute 30 percent of the total membership. An out-of-state 
population has not been long established, but is the result of migration of members out of 
Montana since the 1940's or 1950's. 

The available interview data reveal that, at present, individual adult members of the Little 
Shell maintain informal social contact, within portions of the two geographical regions of 
traditional settlement, with at least sOp1e other Little Shell members outside of their 
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immediate, primary kin. Present-day interviewees, in discussing informal social contacts 
since 1950, demonstrate substantial social knowledge of some other Linle Shell members 
within their region, who are riot close relatives, based on informal contacts throughout 
their lives. Acquaintance is based on kinship and on past common residence in the 
segregated neighborhoods of towns or in other settlements, or participation in Metis 
social events such as the large, multi-day New Year's celebrations. Kinship relations are 
maintained well beyond immediate primary kin, and are part of the basis for informal 
social relations within portions of the two regions. The high rate of intermarriage in 
previous generations established a broad range of kinship connections between certain 
family lines in their respective regions. There is a significant amount of informal social 
interaction among Little Shell members in the towns and rural areas within the Front 
Range and the Highline-Lewistown regions. In the city of Great Falls there is less . 
informal social contact among the resident population than in the rural areas. However, 
neither informal social contacts nor significant kinship ties extend, or have extended, 
between the two separate residential regions of the Highline and the Front Range. 

Some small cultural differences survive today among a large proportion of the petitioner's 
population, primarily some traditional foods and aspects of New Year's celebrations. 
There remain some fluent speakers of the Michiff language, but none of the fluent 
speakers was born after 1934 and there appear to be few young adult speakers. There w~ no evidence that the Little Shell people today face the widespread discrimination that 
occurred in the past. Little Shell members informally identify themselves as Metis, 
distinct from both non-Indian and Indians of the various Montana reservations. An 
alternative identification is as Chippewa. Although they also consistently identify 
themselves as "Little Shell people," their descriptions of their family histories and 
backgrounds only infrequently reference Chief Little Shell or his band. 

The petitioner's governing document is a constitution dated September 10, 1977. The 
constitution states that all members of the group must have applied for membership and 
had their application approved by the executive committee. Membership in the petitioner's organization, according to the constitution, is open to any Indian of Pembina 
descent and 114 degree Indian blood. A resolution adopted in 1987 clarified the 
constitution's membership criteria to make them consistent with what the petitioner 
viewed as the "historical and contemporary understanding" of its members. That 1987 
resolution stated that the organization's membership consists of "those Little S~ell 
Chippewa Indians, also referred to as Pembina Indians," who were listed on or eligible for 
enlistment on the Roe Cloud Roll, and the descendants ofthose members. Although 
members who descend from someone on, or eligible to be on, the Roll Cloud Roll are 
required to possess 114 degree Indian blood, the 1987 resolution stated that their children 
with at least 118 degree Indian blood are eligible for membership. The petitioner's 
membership records reflect that the group follows the criteria in its 1977 constitution and 
1987 resolution. 

The petitioner's official membership list, dated 1987, plus subsequent supplemental lists 
from 1990, 1991, and 1992. and minus deceased members and duplicate entries, p~oduces 
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a current membership list which contains the names of 3,893 members. These 
membership lists were certified by the group's council. The petitioner also submitted, as 
the group's previous membership lists. a 1978 list of applicants and a 1984 membership 
list. As a result of the petitioner's re-enrollment program in the 1980's, individuals on 
the earlier lists who were members of federally recognized tribes, who were deceased, or 
who did not fill out an application were removed from the membership list. However, 
children, parents, and siblings of members. as well as other descendants not previously 
enrolled, were added to the membership list. The petitioner has not updated its 
membership list since 1992. and it has more than 200 applications pending for 
membership. 
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TECHNICAL REPORT 

The Red River Chippewa and Metis, 1790's - 1850's: 

The petitioning group, the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana, claims to 
have evolved from a federally recognized Indian tribe. the Turtle Mountain Band of 
Chippewa Indians of North Dakota. which had been led by a succession of three 
hereditary chiefs known as Little Shel1. The Turtle Mountain Band evolved from the 
earlier Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians which had entered into treaty negotiations 
with the United States for a cession of its territory along the Red River of the north as 
early as 1851. The available genealogical evidence on the members of the petitioning 
group indicates that about one-third of them trace a line of their ancestry back to a man 
who received land scrip as a "mixed blood" relative of a member of the Pembina Band 
under the provisions of treaties of 1863 and 1864. In additron, a majority of the 
petitioner's members trace a line of their ancestry back to Metis families along the Red 
River in the mid-19th century, either to a settlement in British territory at the Red River 
Settlement (Winnipeg) or to a settlement in United States territory at Pembina or St. 
Joseph (Walhalla). Historical observers and modem scholars have noted that the 
Chippewa and Metis in the vicinity of the Red River were related to each other and 
associated with each other in various activities, but also referred to them as separate 
groups with different cultures. The documentation from the early and mid-19th century 
includes examples of cooperation between the Chippewa and Metis, but also examples of 
separate leadership of the two groups. 

Aboriginal Chippewa, or Ojibway, territory included lands bordering the Great Lakes and 
lands on both sides of what became the international boundary line between the United 
States on the south and British possessions and Canada on the north. During the 1700's, 
the Chippewa were expanding westward and pushing the Sioux out of what is now 
northern Minnesota. The area that is now eastern North Dakota was occupied during the 
1700's, some evidence suggests, by Sioux, Assiniboine, Cheyenne, and perhaps Arapaho 
and Hidatsa groups. According to most scholars and the Indian Claims. Commission, the 
western extent of Chippewa territory south of the international boundary did not reach the 
Red River of the north, the current boundary between the states of Minnesota and North 
Dakota, until the end of the 18th century (see Figure 1). Some anthropologists, however, 
have concluded that Chippewa hunting territory at the end of the 18th century had 
reached as far west as the Turtle Mountains, the wooded hills rising slightly above the 
treeless prairie in northcentral North Dakota. This westward expansion of the Chippewa 
has been explained by citing the pressure of population migration from the east, the 
decreasing supply of game in northern Minnesota. and the establishment of fur-trading 
posts on the Red River, which flows north to Lake Winnipeg and towards Hudson's Bay 
(Mooney 1907,277; Hickerson 195~, 292, 295, 308; Stewart 1956,351; Howard 1965, 
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12-13.15; Robinson 1966.24.26; Ind.CI.Comm. 1970.328; Ewers 1974.23; 
Ind.C1.Comm. 1974,473; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974, 3-7; Camp 1984,42-43; Murray 1984, 
15; Tanner 1992,44, map at 54). 

The Metis, or mixed-blood, population of the early-19th century was centered in the Red 
River Valley, especially at the Red River Settlement (modern Winnipeg) and at Pembina. 
which was in British territory before 1818 and in American territory after 1818.2 The 
Metis were the offspring, or descendants of the offspring, of non-Indian fathers, usually 
French-Canadian fur trappers or traders, and Indian mothers. usually Cree or Chippewa 
women. Visitors to the Red River region in the mid-19th century described cultural 
differences between the Chippewa and Metis. A modem tribal historian of the Turtle 
Mountain Chippewa has argued that the perceived differences between "full-blood" 
Chippewas and "mixed-blood" Metis were based on real differences in the cultural 
practices of the two groups (Gourneau 1971, n.p.). The leading historian of the Metis, 
Joseph Kinsey Howard, has argued that the Metis constituted a "new race" and that 
Pembina was its core or "first capital." The distinctiveness of the Metis stemmed from 
their lack of fuB acceptance by either white or Indian societies. Howard's interpretation 
was that a Metis identity as a distinctive ethnic group and a new "nation" was first formed 
out of a political and military rebellion against British authority in 1816 (Howard 1952, 
28. 36. 42). The culmination of this ethnic or national identity was the failure of the 
Metis rebellions against Canadian rule led by Louis Riel in 1870 and 1885, and the 
dispersal of the Red River Metis population (Howard 1952, passim; Sprague and Frye 
1983.28). 

A fur-trading post at Pembina, on the west side of the Red River near the mouth of the 
Pembina River and just south of the future international boundary, may have been 
established as early as 1780 (Howard 1952, 31). An enduring fur-tradi"ng presence on the. 
Red River at Pembina, however, began with the creation of North West Company posts at 
Pembina, at first by Charles Jean Baptiste ChaboiIlez in 1797 and later by Alexander 
Henry in 1801 (Senate 1900,46-48; Robinson 1966,58-59; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974,9). 
When Chaboillez founded his post during the winter of 1797-98, there were no permanent 
Chippewa villages in the vicinity of Pembina (Hickerson 1956, 305: Chaboillez 1959 
passim; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974, 10; Camp 1984,44). The bands which traded at his 
post were described by Chaboillez as bands which wintered on other rivers, and not as a 
Pembina band of Chippewa (Hickerson 1959, 415). Henry also initially identified the 
bands with which he traded as visiting from their locations on specific lakes in Minnesota 
(Hickerson 1956, 296). Although a permanent settlement did not develop at Pembina 
during Henry's tenure from 1801 to 1807, anthropologists have argued that the Indians 
and Metis who traded at the post began to develop a semi-permanent presence around the 

2 The Red River drainage basin. which included the post at Pembina, was not pan of the Louisiana 
Purchase because its waters flow to the north, not south into the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers. The 
boundary line between the territories of the United States and Great Britain was set at the 49th parallel 
between the Lake of the Woods and the Rocky Mountains by the Convention with Great Britain of 
October 20. 1818 (Statutes 1818, art 2). 
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Pembina post (Hickerson 1956,315,317; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974,54-55,60). 
Anthropologists Harold Hickerson and James Howard have identified this new trading 
post band of Indians as the nucleus of the Pembina band of Chippewa (Hickerson 1956, 
289; Howard 1965, 16). 

The first identification of the Red River or Pembina Chippewa as a separate band appears 
to have been made about 1804 by Meriwether Lewis. Although the Lewis and Clark 
expedition did not visit the Red River, Lewis included in his statistical table of the tribes 
of the area a group of Chippewa on the Red River about the mouth of the Pembina River 
(Hickerson 1956,319; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974,45-46). The records of fur trader 
Alexander Henry at Pembina suggest that the area west of the Red River was a hunting 
territory which the Chippewa had to contest with the Assiniboine and Cree. In the spring 
of 1804, Henry and his men established a new post in the Pembina Mountains among a 
band of Assiniboine (Wheeler-Voegelin 1974,34,38-39). In 1806, Henry found Cree 
and Assiniboine camped at the western end of Turtle Mountain (Ind.CI.Comm. 1970, 
333). Henry mentioned a Chippewa headman named Little Shell 3 (Petite Coquille) 
during the years from 1801 to 1808, although he identified Tabeshaw as the chief of this 
group (Ewers 1974, 29). This chief apparently was killed in a battle with a party of Sioux 
in northern Minnesota about 1807, while Little Shell was one of the few Chippewa 
survivors (Warren 1885,354-355; Senate 1900,56,72; Wheeler-Voegelin 1974,.51-52; 
Hickerson 1956, 324, and 1988, 95). Henry indicated that in 1808 Little Shell acted as 
the commander of a Chippewa war party against the Sioux (Senate 1900,61). John 
Tanner, a non-Indian who lived for many years as a Chippewa, referred to Little Shell 
(Ais-ainse, or the little clam) as a "chief' of the "Ojibbeways of Red River" in the 1810's 
(Tanner 1830, 157-160, 171). 

The anthropologist Harold Hickerson has speculated that a dispersion of the Red River 
Chippewa occurred after Henry closed his trading post in 1808, and that some Chippewa 
may have gone west to the Turtle Mountains (Hickerson 1956, 326-329). John B. 
Bottineau, a late-19th century claims attorney who represented Chief Little Shell, asserted 
in 1878 that the Chippewa had acquired the territory of northcentral Dakota prior to 1830 
(Bottineau 2116/1878, 3). Hickerson has concluded that the Chippewa occupied all of 
northern Dakota by the 1830's, but that during the first half of the 19th century Chippewa 
bands were scattered among Cree, Assiniboine, and Metis (Hickerson 1988, 9-10). The 

. historian Gregory Camp has claimed that a Turtle Mountain band of Chippewa had 
emerged as a new tribal group as early as the late 1820's, but he has not documented that 
claim with primary sources (Camp 1984, 46-47). Contemporaneous identifications of a 
Turtle Mountain band of Chippewa before the 1840's have not been found. In one 
possible reference to a permanent Chippewa presence west of the Red River, the journal 
of John Tanner noted that, sometime after 1808, he was invited by Little Shell to visit the 
chief's residence at "Spirit Lake," which may have referred to a lake in Minnesota or to 
Devil's Lake in North Dakota (Tanner 1830, 170; Hickerson 1956. 326; Wheeler­
Voegelin 1974, 55-56). 

J This would have been the first Chief Little Shell. 
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Other evidence indicates that while Chippewas were hunting west of the Red River 
during the first half of the 19th century, it was to some extent still a contested area. When 
an expedition to determine the location of the international boundary line, led by Major 
Stephen Long, visited Pembina in 1823, its journal referred to the middle Red River 
Valley as "debatable land, which both Chippewas and Dacotas [Sioux] claim, and upon 
which both frequently hunt, but always in a state of preparation for hostilities" (Keating 
1824, 2:9). A boundary line between the Chippewa and the Sioux was defined by a treaty 
made by the United States with various tribes in 1825, but that line was not extended west 
of the Red River. The westernmost boundary between these tribes, according to this 
treaty, was the Red River, except that the treaty did nol set a boundary for Chippewa 
territory north of Goose Creek (Statutes 1825, art.5; Interior 11113/1888, 133; Wheeler­
Voegelin 1974,87-90). Some maps of the United States prepared between 1832 and 
1839, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs argued in 1882, labeled the area west of the 
Red River and north of Devil's Lake as Chippewa territory (BIA 617/1882,26; 
Ind.CI.Comm. 1970, 333). Geologist David Dale Owen visited the Red River Valley in 
1848 and described the area as "a contested hunting-ground" between the Chippewa and 
the Sioux (Owen 1852, xxvii). 

Observers of the Metis prominently mentioned the large gfoup expeditions they 
undertook to hunt buffalo on the plains west of the Red River. Metis from both the Red 
River Settlement, in British territory, and Pembina, in American territory, hunted buffalo 
south of the international boundary. Most of the predominantly Metis residents of 
Pembina were absent on a 45-day buffalo hunt on the prairies when Long's expedition 
arrived there in 1823 (Keating 1824, 2:39). The most detailed account of a Metis buffalo 
hunt in Dakota was provided by Alexander Ross, a resident of the Red River Settlement. 
Ross described a buffalo-hunting expedition which left the Red River Settlement for a 
rendezvous with other Metis at Pembina in June 1840. Following customary procedure, a 
council was held at Pembina to choose the leaders, or "captains," to command the group 
and set the rules to be observed during the hunt. The senior captain elected for this 
expedition was Jean Baptiste Wilkie, whom Ross described as "an English half-breed, 
brought up among the French .... " This expedition consisted of 1,630 people. Because 
the buffalo herds already had been significantly depleted and had their range contracted, 
this 1840 expedition had to travel 19 days and 250 miles to the west and south before it 
encountered buffalo (Ross 1856,245-265). Governor Isaac Stevens of Washington 
Territory encountered Metis buffalo-hunting parties from both Pembina and the Red 
River Settlement during his 1853 exploration of a western railroad route. He said that the 
Pembina group consisted of about 1,300 people and was under the leadership of 
"Governor" Wilkie (Stevens 1854, 399). 

Both 19th-century writers and modem anthropologists have noted that small parties of 
Chippewa often accompanied the Metis on their semi-annual buffalo hunts during the 
first half of the 19th century (Hickerson 1988, 10). Alexander Ross indicated that about 
40 or 50 Chippewa were "attached as camp-followers to the expedition" of 1840. These 
Chippewa and the Metis, he said, were "mostly ail related .... " (Ross 1856,269-270). 
The artist Paul Kane described a buffalo hunt which he accompanied in 1846. This 
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TABLE 1 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: BRITISH RED RNER SETTLEMENT. ca. 1835 

Name/ID No. 

George Fidler [b.<1807] # 1541 

Charles Gladue [b.I776] # 1969 

James Short [b. 1809] # 4367 

. Andre Trottier [b. 179 l] # 4711 

Eusebe LeDeoux. [b.1811] # 2870 

Oliver LaRoque [b.1797] # 2792 

Louis Gardipee [b.1782] # 1898 

Angus McGillis [b.l775] # 3357 

Antoine Houle [b.1787] It 222] 

George Kipling [b.1801] # 2298 

Peter Whitford [b. 1795] It 5180 

James Anderson [b.I775) # 79 

Joseph LaFournaise [b.1776] # 2527 

Jean Baptiste Wilkie [b. ?] # 5186 

John Kipling [b. 1770] It 2293 

Alexis Belgarde [b.ISOO ca.] # 270 

SOURCE: Sprague and Frye 1983. table 2. 

NOTES: 

fsmh 

St. Francois-Xavier, Assiniboine R. 

Sl. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

st. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

Sl. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

St. Francois-Xavier: Assiniboine R. 

St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

St. Clement. Red River 

St. Andrew. Red River 

St. Andrew. Red River 

St. Boniface, Red River 

St. Vital. Red River 

st. Norbert, Red River 

St. Norbert, Red River 

Except as noted. all of these men were identified as "Metis" in Sprague and Frye 1983. table I. 
l Individual was identified as "European" in Sprague and Frye 1983. table I. 
b A spouse of the individual was identified as "Indian" in Sprague and Frye 1983, table I. 
e Individual's "race" was not cited in Sprague and Frye 1983. table 1. 
d On the 1850 Pembina census. [d) Son on the 1850 Pembina census. 
; In the Red River Settlement •. ca. 18ri0. . ., . . 

Son received 1863 treaty scnp. . Son a poSSible treaty scnp recipient or IIPphcant. 
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expedition left from the Red River Settlement, without traveling to Pembina, and hunted 
south of the international boundary and west of Red River. Kane noted that a "small 
party" of Chippewa accompanied the Metis on this hunt. He offered the opinion that the 
Chippewa did "not venture to hunt in the plains except in company with the half-breeds" 
(Kane 1859,51-56). Both U.S. Army Major Samuel Woods in 1849 and Minnesota 
Governor Alexander Ramsey in 1850 reported that some Chippewa joined the buffalo­
hunting caravans of the Red River Metis (Woods 1849,25; Ramsey 1850,58). During 
his 1853 exploration of a western railroad route, Isaac Stevens reponed that a "small band 
of prairie Chippewa Indians accompanied" the Metis party (Stevens 1854, 399). Only the 
Chippewa historian William Warren, in a manuscript written in 1852, contended that the 
Pembina band hunted buffalo and other game on the prairies west of the Red River 
without noting their cooperation with the Metis (Warren 1885,40). 

Genealogical researchers D.N. Sprague and R.P. Frye have compiled a table of the 
individuals who were awarded land in the Red River, or Selkirk, Colony in British 
territory between 1814 and 1835 (Sprague and Frye 1983, 33, table 2). This table 
contains the names of at least 16 ancestors of the petitioner's members (see Table I). 
These ancestors were living in six different parishes of the Red River Settlement (see 
Figure 2). There were nine ancestors in S1. Francois-Xavier Parish, two in S1. Andrew 
Parish, two in S1. Norbert Parish, and one each in St. Boniface, St. Clement, and St. Vital 
Parishes. In addition, Sprague and Frye's table contains individuals with surnames which 
are found among the petitioner's ancestors, but who can not be identified as ancestors of 
the petitioner on the basis of the available evidence. Therefore, there were probably more 
ancestors of the petitioner in the Red River Settlement than can be identified from this 
source. The 16 families identified in the 1814-1835 records for the Red River Settlement 
have 1,067 descendants in the petitioner's modem membership. Thus, about 27 percent 
(1,067 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members are descendants of early-19th century 
residents of the Red River Settlement. However, two of these household heads and the 
son of two others appeared later on the 1850 census of Pembina County. Thus, some of 
the petitioner's members who descend from an individual in the British Red River 
Settlement before 1835 also descend from someone in Pembina County in United States 
territory in 1850. 

Pembina was described as being a Metis rather than a Chippewa settlement as early as the 
1820's. When Major Long's expedition arrived at Pembina in 1823, the expedition's 
journal referred to the Metis as forming at least two-thirds of the town's population of 350 
persons. The journal described the Pembina settlement as consisting of sixty log houses 
or cabins (Keating 1824, 2:39). It did not refer to a resident Chippewa band. An 
American Fur Company post was reestablished at Pembina in 1844 by trader Norman 
Kittson (Murray 1984, 19). Pembina was visited in 1849 by a U.S. Army expedition 
under the leadership of Major Samuel Woods. According to Captain John Pope of the 
expedition, Pembina was a "settlement of half-breeds" who, in his opinion, had "no 
appearance whatever of the Indian .... " (Pope 1849, 77, 79). Major Woods described the 
Metis as "a distinct class of people ... differing materially from the Indian and the 
American ... in manners, customs and pursuits .... " The Metis gave Major Woods a list 
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of the residents of Pembina, not including Indians, which totaled 177 families and a 
population of 1,026 (Woods 1849,26-27). Alexander Ross of the Red River Settlement 
disparaged this population estimate, however, claiming that he could not find 500 people at Pembina, although he agreed that the "squatters" there were Metis (Ross 1856, 403-
406). 

The Catholic missionary George Belcourt put the Metis population of the Red River 
region in 1849 at over 5,000 (Belcourt 1849, 36). Major Woods apparently accepted this 
population figure, but concluded that over 4,000 of the Red River Metis lived outside the 
United States (Woods 1849,27). Governor Alexander Ramsey said that the Red River 
Metis had a population of 1,100. The Governor described the Metis as "mostly of a 
mixed descent of Chippewa and Canadian French" (Ramsey 1850,63). The United 
States census of Minnesota Territory for 1850 I isted about 1,123 people in the Pembina 
district (Tanner 1906.184; Robinson 1966,68; White Weasel n.d., 105-124). This 
extensive district ran west from the Lake of the Woods to the Missouri River, and 
extended south from the international boundary to the mouth of the Sheyenne River 
(Thorndale 1987, 171,259; White Weasel n.d., 105) (see Figure 3). The census indicated 
that over 64 percent of the residents of the Pembina district were born in Canada and that 
79 percent of males over 15 years of age were buffalo hunters (Tanner 1906, 184). The 
historian Stanley Murray has said that 1,049 individuals on this census were Metis 
residents of the area (Murray 1984, 19). The instructions for census-takers stated that, 
"Indians not taxed are not to be enumerated in this or any other schedule" (Commerce 
1979, 14). The inclusion of the Red River Metis on the 1850 census was an indication 
that the census enumerator did not consider them to be tax-exempt or tribal Indians. 

The 1850 Federal census of Pembina County, Minnesota Territory, also called District 
Number 7, listed 188 households in the district (Census 18~0; White Weasel n.d.). This 
census included at least 25 households of ancestors of the petitioner's members (see 
Table 2). Each of these households was composed of at least one parent and one child, 
usually an adult couple with a number of children, including adult children. These 25 households contained about 171 individuals. In addition, 12 other indi viduals, mostly 
young girls in their parent's household. had names and ages on the 1850 census which 
were similar to those of women who were ancestors of the petitioner. However, there is 
not enough available identifying information about the petitioner's ancestor to reasonably 
assume that the ancestor was the same person as the individual listed on the 1850 
Pembina census. A linkage between people- in Pembina in 1850 and people later in 
Montana .can not be made, as the anthropologist Verne Dusenberry attempted to do, 
solely on the basis of the similarity of surnames (Dusenberry 1958, 32). The 25 families 
were identified as ancestors of the petitioner'S members because the names and ages of 
each individual in the family were very similar to the names and ages of the petitioner's 
ancestors. These 25 families have I ,850 descendants in the petitioner's modem 
membership. Thus, about 48 percent (1,850 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members 
descend from an ancestor who was on the 1850 census of the Pembina district. 

Although the census enumerator did not specifically identify the citizens of this county as 
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FIGURE 3: PEMBINA COUNTY, MINNESOTA TERRITORY, 1850 
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TABLE 2 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: PEMBINA CO., MINNESOTA TERRITORY, 1850 

# Family 
~ Nam!: on ~!oIlli!.!li PetitiQn!<['~ ~i!ms< LUI< ~ Birth~lil!;;S< li2ru 

18 Joseph Ramville Renville 37 6 British Red River 

22 Francois Fion Fayant I Fagnant 60 II British Red River b 

33n2 Baptiste Can / Chunette Charette 40 7 Pembina c.[c) 

34 Francois SI. Pierre St. Pierre 49 6 Pembina 

59 Pierre Berger Berger 34 7 British Red River c 

61 Gabriel Azure Azure 26 3 Pembina c 

73 Edward Wells Wells / Welsh 38 6 British Red River [c) 

75 Michael Klayne Kline 31 9 British Red River 

84 Andre Trotter Trottier / Trotchie 66 6 British Red River a,b.(c] 

90 Charles Peltier Peltier / Peltchie 52 J3 Pembina b 

92 Antoine LaPierre LaPierre 37 7 British Red River 

94 Baptiste Wilker Wilkie 47 12 Pembina [al.e 

100 Charles Azure, Sr. Azure 29 7 Pembina c 

102 Antoine Azure Azure 56 4 British Red River 

108 Peter Laverdure Laverdure 31 6 Pembina c 

109 Joseph Gemon Goumeau 25 3 Pembina c 

115 Baptiste Davis Davis 28 7 British Red River 

126 Louis Landrie Landrie I Landry 44 7 British Red River b 

129 Antoine Houle [Sr.) Houle 50 2 Pembina 

133 Joseph Gemon Gourneau 60 4 LaPointe, Wis. c 

137 Alexis Bellgard Belgarde 50 8 British - Canada a,[c?] 

145 Baptiste LaFoumier LaFournaise 35 9 British Red River [a] 

147 Joseph Lanais Doney 29 5 British Red River 

175 Francois Klayne Kline 31 4 British Red River (c?] 

187 Jacque Morrisette John Moursette 57 12 British Red River 

SOURCES; U.S. Census 1850; White Weasel n.d. [1850 census]. 

NOTES; 
• In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835. lal Father in the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835. 
b In the Red River Settlement, ca. 1870. 
c Received 1863 treaty scrip. lei Son received 1863 treaty scrip. [e?] Son a possible treaty scrip recipient or applicant. 
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Indians or Metis, the column for "color," which was to be marked for white ("w"), black 
("b"), or mulatto ("m"), was left blank in every instance except for one "white" school 
teacher who had been born in Vermont. The occupations of the 25 ancestors of the 
petitioner were given as 23 hunters, I carpenter, and 1 laborer. The census taker was very 
specific in listing the place of birth of each individual in the household.· The places of 
birth of the 25 ancestors were given as 15 born in British territory, 9 born at Pembina, and 
1 born in Wisconsin. Some of these ancestors clearly had moved to Pembina from the 
Red River Settlement, such as the six individuals who had been listed as landholders 
there in 1835, and the family of Pierre Berger, whose two eldest children were born at the 
British Red River colony and two youngest children at Pembina. The pattern of 
birthplaces also indicated that some of these people moved freely back and forth across 
the international border. For example, the birthplaces of the children of Charles Peltier 
show that the family lived at Pembina from about 1824 to 1829, at the British Red River 
colony from 1831 to 1835, at Pembina from 1838 to 1840, at the Red River colony from 
1842 to 1844, and at Pembina after 1846 (Census 1850; White Weasel n.d.). At least 16 
of these 25 Pembina families had a member or a descendant in Montana by 1880. 

After his visit to Pembina in 1849, Major Woods reported that the Metis at Pembina 
possessed "the semblance of a government" in the form of a council consisting of five of 
their "principal men." Informing them that the Metis "living on our side of the 
[boundary] line were regarded as being in possession of the Indians' rights upon our soil," 
and therefore, would be "treated with as component parts of the Indian tribes," he "urged 
them to organize themselves into a band under a councilor chiefs .... " The Metis 
responded by presenting the major with a committee of nine individuals they had 
selected. Woods referred to this committee as "the future government of the Half-breed 
population within our borders." The president of the committee was Mr. Wilky [Wilkie] 
(Woods 1849,28). The next year, Governor Alexander Ramsey of Minnesota Territory, 
in which Pembina was located, informed the Commissioner of Indian Affairs that he had. 
been visited by a deputation of Metis from Pembina and had accepted nine individuals 
elected by them as their council (Ramsey 1850,64). 

Major Woods also reported after his trip to Pembina that, in addition to the Metis, there 
were about 150 men, and therefore about 500 or 600 individuals, who claimed to be 
Pembina Indians. He stated that the Indians, who were almost entirely Chippewas, spent 
little time at Pembina, for they hunted game and furs in the Pembina and Turtle 
Mountains to the west, and joined the Metis to hunt buffalo on the plains. Major Woods 
concluded that the "Red river Chippewas" were "rather stragglers than a band, having no 
chief or organization amongst them." He reported that he met with about 100 "warriors" 
and "urged them to organize themselves into a band, and appoint their chiefs .... " 
Because the Indians could not agree amongst themselves, Woods said, he recommended 
three men. The Chippewa then selected these three men as their chiefs. Green Feather 
(Sakikwanel) was chosen to be the "principal chief" (Woods 1849,23-25). Governor 
Ramsey considered the Chippewa around Pembina to be part of the "Red lake division" 
of the Chippewa tribe. He apparently did not accept the leader designated by Major 
Woods, for he reported that the chieftainship of the Red Lake and Pembina bands was 
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contested between Wa-wush-kin-ik-a (Crooked Ann) and Wa-wan-je-guon (Ramsey 
1850, 58). Green Feather or Green Setting Feather was identified as a Chippewa chief or 
subchief, however, in meetings with Federal officials in 1853 and 1856 (Stevens 1854, 
398; Smith 1856,433). 

After a great flood on the Red River in 1852 drove residents of Pembina from their 
homes, they settled the town of S1. Joseph (modern Walhalla). This town was located on 
the Pembina River at the base of Pembina Mountain about 31 miles west of Pembina and 
3 miles south of the international boundary (Smith 1856,427; Hind 1860, 255; Robinson 
1966, Ill). U.S. Army Colonel C.F. Smith visited St. Joseph in 1856 and described the 
town as consisting of 80 to 100 buildings and having a population of 1,500. Its people, he 
said, were principally "the descendants of Canadian Frenchmen and Cree, Chippewa, and 
Assiniboin Indians .... " (Smith 1856, 427). Smith continued on to Pembina, which he 
described as a town which had "gone to decay." The popUlation of Pembina also 
consisted principally of the Metis, he reported, but a population estimate of 1,000 was 
"greatly beyond reality." Smith said that the town consisted of only two dozen wooden 
buildings. He also noted. however, that the Metis population was strung out along the 
Pembina River between the settlements at Pembina and S1. Joseph (Smith 1856,444). 
The Canadian scientist and explorer Henry Youle Hind visited Pembina in October 1857. 
Whatever its former condition, Hind said, Pembina was then only "a small village 
containing about a dozen scattered log-houses." He said that St. Joseph already had 
become a trading depot of "considerable importance" (Hind 1860,254-255). 

The first clear identification of seasonal residence in the Turtle Mountains, which were 
about 110 to 150 miles west of Pembina and the Red River, referred to the Metis rather 
than to a Chippewa band. In a personal letter in 1845, missionary George A. Belcourt 
said that "a certain number of half breeds had established their quarters for the winter at 
the extremity of the Turtle Mountain and on the Mouse river .... " (quoted in Hesketh 
1923, 137). Paul Kane observed that after the buffalo hunt of 1846 the three separate 
hunting parties of Metis comprising the expedition met at Turtle Mountain before 
returning home (Kane 1859,52). In 1853, Governor Isaac Stevens received from Green 
Setting Feather (Way-shaw-wush-ko-quen-abe), whom Stevens identified as a Chippewa 
"sub-chief," a copy of a speech the chief had made the previous year in S1. Joseph in 
which he appeared to identify the Turtle Mountains as his territory (Stevens 1854,398). 
This appears to have been the first documented Chippewa claim to Turtle Mountain. At 
St. Joseph in 1856. Colonel Smith met with Green Feather (La-kik-wa-nel), whom he 
described as "the head chief of the Pembina band of the Chippewas," and a dozen of his 
principal men. Smith put the size of the band at 100 men (Smith 1856, 433, 443). 

Green Setting Feather, in the speech he made at St. Joseph in 1852, warned the Metis to 
stay at Pembina and to let the Indians keep their hunting grounds to themselves. He 
complained that the Metis had recently made a "hunting road" towards the Turtle 
Mountains "without our consent. which we cannot any longer allow." The chief indicated 
that the band would allow Metis who were the children of "full-blooded" Chippewa 
women to winter with them, provided that they hunted in accordance with the restrictions 
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of the band (Stevens 1854, 398-399). The fact that this Chippewa complaint was directed 
against the Me"tis in Pembina and St. Joseph suggests that in 1852 this Chippewa band 
saw the Metis as a separate group. On the other hand. the Catholic missionary George 
Belcourt referred to the "Chippewas and half-breeds" of the Red River basin as though 
they comprised a single group. Belcourt also made a distinction between the two groups, 
however, when he informed Major Woods that the Metis were much more numerous than 
the Indians in the region (Belcourt 1849. 36). 

Governor Ramsey observed in 1850 that the Chippewa claimed territory west of the Red 
River. but also noted that their use of it was contested by the Sioux (Ramsey 1850,58). 
Alexander Ross of the Red River Settlement disputed the Chippewa claim to the Red 
River valley itself, claiming that "Pembina was disputed ground" because the 
Assiniboine. Cree, and Chippewa "all laid claim to it as their land .... " (Ross 1856,412). 
A territorial boundary negotiated about 1858 without the presence of Federal agents, the 
"Sweet Com agreement," extended the 1825 treaty boundary line between the Chippewa 
and Sioux west of the Red River. By the terms of this agreement. the Sioux 
acknowledged that the area north and northwest of Devil's Lake was not their territory. 
Two men who claimed to have been present at this treaty council described the 
negotiations as occurring between the Sioux on one side and the "mixed blood and 
Chippewa Indians" on the other. They stated that "old Chief Wilkie, who was the leading 
chief [of] the mixed bloods," was present at this council, but that Chief Little Shell of the 
Chippewa was not (Gladue 1892; LaFromboise 1892; see also: McCumber et a1. 
12/3/1892, 19-20, and Ind.Cl.Comm. 1970,334-335). 

Treaty Negotiations and Benefits, 1850 • 1880: 

In September 1850, Congress appropriated funds for the Indian office to conduct treaty 
negotiations with "Indians ano half-breeds for the extinguishment of the title to their 
lands on the Red River of the North .... " (Statutes 1850). Governor Ramsey of 
Minnesota Territory, who was also superintendent of Indian affairs for the territory, was 
called to Washington in May 1851 to consult about the proposed negotiations (BIA 
5/16/1851). In advance of the treaty negotiations, Governor Ramsey sent out a messenger 
to the Indians to announce his coming and to summon them to council. When Ramsey 
arri ved at Pembina in September 1851, he found about 250 Indians and several hundred 
Metis already assembled there. At the request of the Indians, Ramsey said, the treaty 
council was delayed for the arrival of some of their "principal men." The Governor saw 
his objective as obtaining a cession of the lands of the Red River valley from the Pembina 
and Red Lake Indians. He said that the number of these Indians did not exceed 800. 
Ramsey and his commission engaged in "informal" discussions with the "chiefs and 
headmen" of the Chippewa at the fur-trading post in Pembina. However, according to 
historian Willoughby Babcock, "the chiefs signed the treaty as the governor had presented 
it to them" (Ramsey 1851,284-286; Babcock 1962,7-9). 

A treaty was signed on September 20. 1851. Ramsey said that the treaty acquired a 
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cession of 5 million acres for the sum of $230,000, to be paid over 20 years. The cession 
consisted of a tract that extended about 30 miles on either side of the Red River (Ramsey 
1851, 285; Ross 1856,.411). Governor Ramsey's instructions had not been to acquire a 
cession of all Chippewa territory. He noted that some Chippewa "roam beyond the 
western boundary of the present purchase," but he judged that they did not number more 
than 300 (Ramsey i 851, 287). The treaty was signed by representatives of both the "Red 
Lake band" and "Pembina band," Alexander Ross, however, alleged that the principal 
Chippewa chiefs had "declined to attend" the negotiations because they were not willing 
to cede their lands (Ross 1856,412). By negotiating this proposed treaty with individuals 
the Government's agent considered to be legitimate representatives of a "Pembina band." 
the United States acknowledged the existence of a Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians in 
1851. 

Governor Ramsey, however, refused to negotiate with the Metis. Congress had 
authorized negotiations with Indians and Metis, but had not indicated whether it 
considered them to be one group or separate groups (Statutes 1850). Ramsey 
acknowledged that the Metis requested to be parties to the negotiations and claimed to 
have actual possession of the country to be ceded by the treaty (Ramsey 1851, 285). The 
year before the negotiations, however, Ramsey had indicated that he believed that the 
Metis at Pembina had citizenship by the laws of Minnesota Territory (Ramsey 1850.63), 
Thus, at the treaty council, Ramsey took the position that the Government does not 
negotiate treaties with its own citizens, or its own "quasi citizens." Ramsey reported that 
the Metis understood his position and were satisfied with it (Ramsey 1851, 285). Ross, 
however, concluded that the treaty of 1851 disappointed the Metis because it did not 
recognize them as the rightful owners of the lands about Pembina (Ross 1856, 411-412). 
The Indians with whom Ramsey negotiated requested that, in order to satisfy the excluded 
Metis, $30,000 of the purchase price for the cession be paid immediately and be given to 
their mixed-blood relatives. Ramsey had no objection to the arrangement, perhaps 
because he considered the Metis to be the "actual occupiers" of the area. He also argued 
that a reason for approving the treaty and extinguishing the Indian title to these lands was 
to provide a way for the Metis to gain fee simple title to the lands they occupied (Ramsey 
1851, 286, 288). Thus, the Pembina band recognized by the Government's agent in the 
treaty of 1851 did not include the Metis. 

This treaty with the Chippewa was submitted to the Senate by President Fillmore in 
February 1852. In April, the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs recommended that the 
treaty not be ratified. The Senate voted against ratification of the treaty by a vote of 37-7 
in June 1852 (Senate 1969, 8:368, 382,405-406). The rejection of the Pembina treaty 
was not unusual, because almost all of the treaties negotiated by the Government during 
1851 were not ratified by the Senate. The Indian Claims Commission concluded that the 
Chippewa treaty failed of ratification because of a belief among Senators that the region 
ceded by the treaty was "too remote to be ceded at that time" (lnd.CI.Comm. 1958, 269). 
This was also the judgment of historian Elwyn Robinson in his history of North Dakota 
(Robinson 1966, 112). Historian Willoughby Babcock, however, concluded that the 
treaty "faced vigorous opposition from southern leaders who opposed expansion of 
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northern territory" (Babcock 1962, 10). According to Minnesota's congressional delegate 
in 1851, Henry H. Sibley, the chief argument used against the treaty was the remoteness 
of the area it covered. Sibley told Ramsey that the Chippewa treaty was "a conciliatory 
sacrifice" to obtain ratification of two treaties with the Sioux which were submitted by 
the Preside.nt at the same time as the Pembina treaty (Babcock 1962, 10). 

Two years later, the Catholic missionary G.A. Belcourt wrote to the Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs to inform him that the Pembina Indians desired that a treaty with the 
Government be made as soon as possible for the purchase of their lands so that their 
relatives, the Metis, could be firmly settled at Pembina with a right to individual plots of 
land. Belcourt also claimed to have been commissioned by the Pembina Metis to request 
the protection of the Go:vemment, since they were American citizens, against the buffalo­
hunting incursions across the international boundary by the British Metis (Belcourt 1854, 
70-71). Congress again' appropriated funds for negotiations to extinguish the title to the 
lands of the "Red Lake and Red River Chippewas" in June 1860 (Statutes 1860). A 
council held in September 1860 between Federal commissioners and representatives of 
the Red Lake and Pembina bands, however, failed to produce a treaty (Ind.CI.Comm. 
1958, 270). In 1862, Congress appropriated funds for the negotiation of a treaty with the 
"Chippewas of northern Minnesota" to extinguish their title to their lands (Statutes 1862). 
Although Dakota Territory had been created in 1861, making the Red River the boundary 
between Minnesota and Dakota, the treaty commissioners were authorized to negotiate a 
treaty with the Chippewas of the Red River for a cession on both sides of that river. The 
"S ioux uprising" of 1862 in Minnesota. however. prevented the treaty commissioners 
from reaching the council assembled on the Red River at the Grand Forks, and this effort 
to negotiate a treaty was suspended (Ind.CI.Comm. 1958,270-271). 

New instructions to negotiate a treaty under the authority of the act of 1862 were issued 
by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in July 1863. Governor Alexander Ramsey of 
Minnesota again was chosen as the Government's leading treaty commissioner. His 
instructions reiterated the instructions of the previous year. "The main object of the 
negotiation," Commissioner William Dole informed Ramsey. was to secure "the 
uninterrupted navigation of the Red River of the North." Although obtaining a cession of 
lands on each side of the river would be necessary to achieve this objective, Ramsey was 
advised not to purchase all the lands to which Indian title had not yet been extinguished, 
"as the settlement by whites will not be likely to extend to that remote region of our 
country for many years." The Commissioner also told the Governor that, in his opinion, 
the consideration paid for the cession ought not to be based on the "imaginary value of 
the land," but on the "present necessities" and future needs of the Indians. His 
suggestion, then, was that the Federal payment be based more on the number of Indians 
than the number of acres to be ceded by them. Despite this advice, Dole told Ramsey 
that, in negotiating a cession and fixing a payment for it, "you must exercise your own 
discretion" (BIA 7/24/1863). 

The site for the treaty council, on the Red Lake River near modern Crookston, Minnesota, 
was chosen as being halfway between the Red Lake and Pembina Indians. Ramsey 
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arrived there on September 21,1863. Ramsey's intent was "to unite both communities in 
one treaty" and to avoid separate negotiations. He said that he had given explict 
instructions that the Indian parties should limit their attendance to only their chiefs and 
principal men. Instead, he discovered that the Pembina Indians had brought with them 
"nearly all the half-breed population of Pembina and Saint Joseph, whose attendance was 
not expected or desired at all." The "excuse" given by his messenger for bringing the 
"uninvited" Metis, Ramsey reported, was that "the Pembina Indians are completely under 
the control of their half-breed relatives .... " The Metis, Ramsey said, "have long been 
accustomed to consider themselves ... the real owners of the soil, and as having even a 
greater interest in any treaty for its purchase than its ... aboriginal occupants" (Ramsey 
1863,428). Ramsey's enumeration determined that 352 Indians and 663 Metis of the 
Pembina bands, or 1.015 individuals, were present at the treaty grounds. Ramsey said 
that the Pembina bands claimed to have a population of 400 to 600 Indians, or more 
(Ramsey 1863,428,431). The commission's journal indicated that the Pembina bands 
were considered to have two chiefs, Red Bear and Little Chief (Little Shell),s also called 
Ase-anse. According to the commission, the group under the leadership of Little Chief 
consisted of 27 Indians and 442 Metis, for a total of 469 members (U.S. 1863,4,31; 
Interior 11/13/1888, 136).6 

Ramsey said that during the council he attempted to disabuse the Indians of their 
impression that the Government placed a great value on the acquisition of their lands. 
Thus, his initial negotiating position was that the Government desired a treaty not to 
purchase their lands but to provide for the safe passage of whites across their territory. 
He offered $20,000 for such a right of way, but, as he expected, it was rejected (Ramsey 1863,429; U.S. 1863, passim). While this was consistent with his instructions, Ramsey 
clearly disagreed with Commissioner Dole's judgment about the pace of white settlement 
in the region. Arguing that the "rapid advance of settlement throughout the valley of the" 
Red River" would soon require the extinction of Indian title to those lands, Ramsey 
utilized the discretionary power granted in his instructions to negotiate for a purchase of 
as much Indian land as, in his judgment. would soon be affected by commerce and 
settlement. The Indians' initial negotiating position, he said, was to accept no less than 
$10 or $12 million for the cession (Ramsey 1863,429-430). Ramsey considered that to 
be exorbitant, and refused to pay more "than an annuity equal to that granted the Pillager 
band of Chippewa in a previous treaty (U.S. 1863,47 and passim). The negotiations were conducted almost exclusively between Governor Ramsey and a spokesman for the Red 
Lake Band. Ramsey held a separate council with the Pembina band on September 30, but 
did not agree to the request of Red Bear and Little Chief that he negotiate an agreement 
with them after making one with the Red Lake Band (U.S. 1863,44-46,50-55). The 

5 This would have been the second Chief lillie Shell. 

6 Although the contemporary documents did not refer to a Turtle Mountain band in 1863. in 1902 a Senate committee concluded that at the time of the 1863 treaty negotiations. Red Bear was the chief of the Pembina band while Little Shell was the chief of the Turtle Mountain band (Senate 6/27/1902). This position followed the interpretation of the treaty advanced by claims attorney lB. Bottineau (Bottineau 12120/1892,1-2). 
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negotiations lasted for ten days. 

This treaty with the Red Lake and Pembina bands was concluded and signed on 
October 2, 1863 (Statutes 1863; U.S. 1863, 74). The cession which he obtained, Ramsey 
reported to the Commissioner, included "all the American valley of the Red River of the 
North, except a small portion previously ceded [by the Sioux]," and extended to the heads 
of the river's tributary streams (Ramsey 1863,430; Royce 1900, Area #445). Ramsey 
praised the treaty as not only removing the "obstruction" which the Indians had placed on 
travel and trade in the Red River valley, but also promoting the commercial interests of 
local communities and advancing the general development of the American northwest 
(Ramsey 1863,433). The treaty described the cession and provided for a per capita 
payment of $20,000 per year for 20 years. Ramsey indicated that the amount of annuities 
was based on his estimate of the number of Indians in the band. This estimate was too 
small to have included the Metis in attendance at the negotiations (Ramsey 1863, 431, cf. 
428). In order to determine the recipients of the per capita payments, the treaty required 
that an enumeration and enrollment of tribal members be made. Ramsey explained that 
an enrollment would be necessary so that the annuity payments would not be made to 
British Indians. The treaty also authorized a Federal payment of $100,000 to settle 
depredation claims against the bands. The treaty was signed by Red Bear and Little Shell 
(Ase-anse) as "Chief of [the) Pembina" band (Statutes 1863; Ramsey 1863,431; Morris 
and Van Gunten 1984, 17). By this treaty, the Government recognized a "Pembina band" 
of Chippewa.6 

In his report to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Ramsey noted that, despite the 
cession, the Pembina bands still "retain for themselves a tract of country claimed by them 
... north and northwest of Devil's lake" so that they could "subsist by buffalo 
hunting .... " (Ramsey 1863, 431). The journal of the treaty cOmmission recorded: that 
the Pembina chiefs said that they had, the previous year, agreed with the Red Lake 
Indians on a division of territory. Under this agreement, the Pembina Chippewa claimed 
the territory from the Red River west to the Mouse [Souris] River and the Missouri 
Coteau, a prominent escarpment. The Pembina Chippewa proposed, the commission 
noted, to reserve the westernmost portion of this territory as a hunting ground (U.S. 1863, 
51·52; Interior 11/13/1888, 137). During the treaty negotiations, Ramsey openly disputed 
the Chippewa's claim that the Sheyenne River was the southern boundary of their territory 
west of the Red River (U.S. 1863,42,49). In recollections two decades later, Ramsey 
cast doubt on the Chippewa claim to their western territory. His impression in 1863, he 
claimed, had been that the Pembina band was "feeble" and lacking in "the consistency of 
tribal organization .... " Because the Chippewa could not hold the country in the vicinity 
of 51. Joseph and Pembina against the Sioux, Ramsey recalled that he had "held their title 

6 Ramsey estimated that this cession contained II million acres. The sum to be paid for the cession. 
Ramsey said, would be about $510,000, an amount chosen to provide the Indians with an annuity payment 
over the next 20 years comparable to those made to other bands of Minnesota Chippewa (Ramsey 1863, 
430-431). The Indian Claims Commission later calculated the area ceded to the United States by the treaty 
as having consisted of 9.8 million acres (Ind.CI.Comm. 1958, 275). The Indian Claims Commission found 
the value of the payment for the cession of the 1863 treaty as $636,000 (lnd.CI.Comm. 1961, 344). 
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westwardly to be very weak .... " (Ramsey 1882). A quarter-century after the treaty, the 
Secretary of the Interior claimed that it was at the treaty negotiations of 1863 that the 
Chippewa first asserted a claim to the territory north and northwest of Devil's Lake . 
(Interior 1112411888, Ixxii). 

As in 1851, Ramsey did not recognize the Metis as a party to the treaty of 1863 (Interior 
III 1311888, 145; Murray 1984, 19). Although the treaty commissioners counted the 
number of Metis in attendance, their journal made no mention that they had held 
discussions with any Metis leaders (U.S. 1863). The treaty, however, did include a 
provision to benefit the excluded Metis. During Ramsey's separate council with the 
Pembina band, the parties agreed to provide farms for the band's Metis relatives (U.S. 
1863, 55). One article of the treaty provided that the United States would grant a 160-
acre homestead within the ceded territory to the adult male "mixed-bloods" who were 
related to members of the Pembina and Red Lake Chippewa bands and also were citizens 
of the United States (Statutes 1863). This provision was consistent with the position that 
Ramsey had taken during the 1851 treaty negotiations when he treated the Metis as 
citizens and argued that a benefit of the treaty was making the ceded land available for 
them to acquire by individual ownership. At the treaty signing, the Metis made an 
unsuccessful effort to obtain a clause to provide a large appropriation for them (U.S. 
1863,74). Because the Metis did not manage to include in the treaty the "provisions for. their benefit" which they favored, Ramsey contended, the chiefs of the Pembina band 
made a written request after the treaty was signed asking that $25,000 be appropriated for 
the Pembina Metis. Ramsey merely forwarded this to the Interior Department for its 
consideration (Ramsey 1863,434). In the Government's view, then, the band it 
recognized in the treaty of 1863 did not include the Metis. 

In January 1864, President Lincoln transmitted this treaty to the Senate. The next month 
the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs reported the treaty with amendments. On 
March I, 1864, the Senate unanimously agreed to the amendments to two articles of the 
treaty. One amendment modified the way in which the per capita payments and payments to settle depredation claims would be made. The other amendment required that before 
the Metis would receive patents for the homesteads provided by the treaty, they would 
need to present proof of actual residence of five years. The amendments required the 
approval of the Indians. Chiefs of the Red Lake and Pembina bands had been brought to 
Washington to consult on the amendments, which were prepared in the form of a 
supplemental treaty. Red Bear was present to represent the Pembina bands for these 
negotiations. Agreement on .these "articles supplementary to the treaty" were concluded 
in Washington on April 12, 1864. These additional negotiations made no change in the 
territorial cession under the treaty. The supplementary treaty reduced the annual per 
capita payment to the bands, but added annual Federal expenditures on their behalf. The 
provision [0 provide 160 acres of land to the Metis relatives of the bands was replaced by 
a provision to provide them with scrip for the same amount of land. The supplementary 
treaty was signed by Red Bear, but not by Little Shell. President Lincoln immediately 
transmitted the "supplemental treaty" to the Senate, which unanimously ratified it on 
April 21. 1864 (Statutes 1863, 1864; Senate 1969, 13:366,389,432,490,499; 
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Ind.CI.Comm. 1958, 276.) 

One of the signers of the 1863 treaty, Joseph Gornon (Gourneau), a "Pembina warrior," 
appears to be an ancestor of some of the petitioner's members. None of the three men 
who signed the 1864 treaty can be clearly identified as ancestral to the petitioner's 
members. According to a researcher who is a Tunle Mountain tribal member, the treaty 
signer Joseph Gourneau was born about 1817 and was the son of Little Thunder, who was 
born before 1797 and was also called Joseph Gourneau (White Weasel 1989, to). The 
daughter of Joseph Gourneau, the apparent treaty signer, married Isaie Berger, and they 
migrated to Montana before 1880. Little Thunder's daughter Margaret married Paul 
Kipling, who was a mixed-blood Pembina Chippewa (GLO 1880, # 152). They had at 
least one child who married a Berger and migrated to Montana before 1877 (McFarlane 
1981). The second son of Little Thunder, Kaishpaw Gourneau, married an Allard and 
had two children who married into the Wilkie and Renville family lines. Kaishpaw 
Gourneau stayed at the Tunle Mountain Reservation, but some of his descendants 
migrated to Montana after 1900 (LSTCIM 1984, membership records; BIA 1906a; BAR 
1998). Each of these three branches of the Gourneau family has descendants in the 
petitioner's membership. Two branches of the family left the Pembina area before 1880, 
while the other branch left about 30 years later. Thus, the Gourneau family had a history 
of divergent descent from the historical tribe, which is not a singular phenomenon among 
the petitioner's families. There are 74 descendants of the Gourneau family in the 
petitioner's membership, or about 2 percent (74 of 3,893) of current members. 

A tribal enrollment or annuity payment roll. as required by the treaty of 1863 to govern 
the annuity payments made under the provisions of the treaty, was prepared in January 
1864. This "Pembina roll" listed 674 persons as payment recipients. Little Shell 
(Aise-ance) was one of two individuals designated as a "chief' for purposes of payment 
to the band. The individuals apparently grouped under Little Shell consisted of 70 family 
heads and 249 individuals (BIA 1864). This roll included fewer individuals than the 
number of Indians and Metis in attendance at the 1863 treaty negotiations. Therefore, 
some treaty attendees were left off the 1864 annuity roll of the Pembina band, and it 
would have been consistent with the treaty negotiations for those excluded from the 
annuity roll to have been Metis who were considered citizens. The voucher for annuities 
paid in 1864 only listed the recipients by their phonetic Indian names, while the vast 
majority of the petitioner'S ancestors have been identified only by their French or English 
surnames.7 Therefore, it has not been possible to connect any of the petitioner's ancestors 
with individuals on the 1864 annuity list. The treaty called for twenty years of annuity 
payments, and Pembina annuity rolls were made from the 1860's into the 1880's. It is 
possible that the petitioner's ancestors could be traced to these additional rolls. In a 1980 
repon, however, the Bureau of Indian Affairs noted that "few French or other European 

7 Some of the petitioner's ancestors also had phonetic Indian names. For example. Joseph Gourneau 
(born before 1797) was also called "Animikinse," Joseph Gourneau (born about 1817) was "Che-Kee-Wit," 
and Pierre Berger was "Kijikow Kalapwitah." There is an "Ah nah leans sa" and an "Ah lee nan se" on the 
1864 list, but it is not known if either of these or some other man is Joseph Gourneau (BIA 1864). 
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surnames associated with the Metis appear on early Pembina annuity rolls," which it 
attributed to the treaty provision which provided the band's mixed-blood relatives with 
land scrip in lieu of treaty annuities (BIA 8/1911980, 5, 10). 

An applicant for treaty scrip deposed that, on the day the 1863 treaty was signed. he was 
"a male adult half-breed or mixed blood, related by blood to the Chippewas of the Red 
Lake or Pembina Band," and that he was 21 years old and a citizen of the United States, 
had "adopted the habits and customs of civilized life," and had not received scrip for 
lands under any other treaty (Application fonn 1869). According to the late-19th century 
authority on the public lands, land scrip "was locatable upon the public lands, under 
certain conditions and regulations" issued by the General Land Office (Donaldson 1884, 
289). Scrip could be used to acquire land, but it also could be sold by its recipient. 
Because of allegations of fraud in the issuance of land scrip under several treaties with the 
Chippewa, a special commission was appointed in 1871 to investigate these charges and 
the applications for scrip, including the land scrip issued under the provisions of the 
treaties of 1863 and 1864. The commission found that 723 applications for treaty scrip 
had been made. The commissioners observed that they had found it very difficult to 
decide whether or not individual Pembina Metis applicants met the treaty requirements to 
receive land scrip (BIA 9/411871). Additional applications were made and land scrip 
issued between 1872 and 1877. These applicants indicated on their application fonns that 
they wished to receive scrip rather than an allotment of land (Hill 1965). By 1880, land 
scrip had been issued to 464 Red Lake and Pembina Metis for 160 acres each, for a total 
of 74,240 acres (Donaldson 1884,289). 

Special Agent C. W. McIntyre of the General Land Office investigated alleged frauds in 
the issuance of scrip and submitted a report on Red Lake and Pembina Chippewa treaty 
scrip on August 20, 1880. The General Land Office forwarded his report to the Office of 
Indian Affairs. McIntyre's report included findings on individual cases (GLO 1880; Hill 
1965). McIntyre said that he had "prepared a list marked' A' which gives as far as I have 
been able to find out a history as to the pedigree and what was done with the scrip or 
lands obtained under the treaty" (GLO 1880). Mcintyre said that he had located 453 of 
the 463 pieces of scrip that had been issued. On "List A," McIntyre gave the applicant's 
name, residence,S a summary description,9 and a statement of whether the application's 
status was considered to be "good," "doubtful," "not good," or "bad." McIntyre also 
stated whether an entry was a duplicate of another application, which may account for the 
difference between the 475 names on his "List A" and the 463 pieces of scrip (GLO 1880, 
list A). McIntyre also attached a "List E" of 33 additional applications which had been 
submitted after the 1875 deadline. All but one were recommended for rejection because 

8 McIntyre used the terms "Mountains,'· "NW Territory," and "Far West" to refer to the land in northern 
Dakota and southern Manitoba which was along the Mouse and upper Pembina Rivers. 

9 The summary statements were very brief. and not always sufficient now to distinguish men of the same 
name from one another. However, the summary statements sometimes included an age, family relationship. 
source of information, origins (such as Pembina. Red Lake, Cree, or Assiniboine), or other information 
which helped to identify the applicants. 
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the applicants were dead, British subjects, "full blood" Indians, not of age at the time of 
the treaty, or could not be found (GLO 1880, list E; Anonymous 1880). An index to 
McIntyre's report included individuals on either "List A" or "List E." 

Mcintyre said that he had "as far as practicable visited the parties in person." He noted, 
however, that the "length of time which has elapsed since this scrip was issued and the 
habits of changing their locations of many of the mixed bloods has made the finding of 
many of them impossible." As a result, McIntyre said, "I have had to base many of my 
opinions on the infonnation given me by old residents of the Red River Valley & 
intelligent half breeds who are identified among the people interested in this treaty." 
McIntyre concluded that a "great wrong was done [to] both the Government and the 
intended beneficiaries in this matter" of the treaty scrip. He stated that, "Large numbers 
of pieces were issued to parties \,' were not residents of the country ceded, to people' 
that were dead, to people not r 1 the treaty Indians although Chippewa mixed 
bloods, to the same person un· ler name, to Sr. & Jr. both representing but one 
person. to the husband and ago. widow as his heir." He also concluded that. 
"Large 1'1' "ers were defraud, the benefits by the parties who took their 
applicatl 'nd added that H, nany instances the name of a person fully entitled 
by age bl ~sidence has be, Iged," both in an application and in a power of 
attorney tL. e the scrip frolu Lhe Indian Office (GLO 1880). 

The petitioner has used only the index to McIntyre's report to identify the ancestors of its 
members who received or applied for treaty scrip. Edna Teske's report on the origins of 
312 of the petitioner's members, those born before 1937 and listed on the Roe Cloud 
Roll. concluded that at least 111 of them had an ancestor or relative who had the same 
name as someone on the index to McIntyre's report (Franklin 1995. table 1. appendix B). 
The petitioner included copies of annotated ancestry charts to show the ancestors or 
relatives wh,.. . 1ames appear -.'1 the index (Franklin 1995, attachment 1). However, 
the Teske, I was not an e., ve study of the actual Mcintyre report, or of the 
descent of ,he petitioner's ;s from scrip recipients (Franklin 1995. 7). Many of 
the 111 members in Teske's f{ re siblings or close relatives of each other, and 
therefore descended from the s :estors. An investigation of McIntyre's report 
reveals that there often was me Jne person on the index with the same name as an 
ancestor, that not all of the pott ~estors on the index could be clearly identified as 
the petitioner'S ancestor of the ne or from a family of the same surname, and that 
there were people on the index re not identified as Pembina Chippewa in the 
actual report. 1O Although useful, .e's limited study comparing names on the index to 

10 The petitioner identified Joseph Delonais on the index of the Mcintyre repon as their ancestor Joseph 
Doney (Franldin 1995, appendix A, attachment 1). However, the repon stated Joseph. Xavier, and Baptiste 
Delonais were brothers living in Centerville, Minnesota. that they were from Lake Superior [Chippewa]. 
that they had been born in Anoka or Ramsey County. Minnesota. and that they had no claim for scrip under 
the 1863 treaty (GLO 1880. #53-55). On the other hand. the petitioner's ancestor named Joseph Doney was 
living in Pembina County in 1850 and in Meagher County. Montana. in 1880 (White Weasel n.d .. 120; 
Census 1880). At this time, there is no evidence that the petitioner's ancestor, or his father who also was 
named Joseph Doney, had brothers named Xavier or Baptiste. Therefore. the evidence currently available 
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the McIntyre report with the names of some of the petitioner's ancestors does not 
adequately identify the origins of the petitioner's ancestry. A more thorough analysis of 
McIntyre's report follows. 

Twenty-eight ancestors of the petitioner's members can be identified on "List A" of 
McIntyre's report on the recipients of land scrip under the treaties of 1863 and 1864 (see 
Table 3)." At least 1,382 of the petitioner's 3,893 members, about 36 percent of them, 
descend from these 28 scrip recipients. If the petitioner's ancestors named Joseph Francis 
Amelin and Joe Emely were actually the same person, then at least 1,452 members, or 
37 percent of members, would descend from a treaty scrip recipient. Because of 
intennarriage and father/son relationships between scrip recipients, there are a number of 
the petitioner's members who descend from more than one man on Mcintyre's list. 
McIntyre judged that 22 of these 28 applications were valid, or "good." The notations 
made by Mcintyre on the residence of these scrip recipients revealed that they were 
geographically scattered rather than living together in one place (see Table 3). Six of 
these men were said to live at Pembina. In addition, three men were at St. Vincent, across 
the river in Minnesota. Five men resided elsewhere in Dakota: three at St. Joseph, one in 
the Pembina Mountains, and one in the Turtle Mountains. Two of the scrip recipients had 
died by 1880. Therefore, only 14 of the 26 living scrip recipients, or slightly more than 
half of them, were believed by McIntrye to be living within the 100 or 150 miles between 
the Red River and the Turtle Mountains. 

Mcintyre's comments on each case indicated that at least 6 of these 28 applicants were 
not related to the Pembina Band. According to Mcintyre, four applicants were not related 
by blood to the Chippewa. while two apparently qualified for scrip through the Red Lake 

does not confirm that the Doney descendants cited in the Teske report descended from Joseph Delonais, or 
that Joseph Delonais was a Pembina Chippewa. The evidence currently available does show thaI the 
Doneys in the Teske report descended from either Charles Gladeau, Anthony Gladeau, Joseph Dussome. 
Gabriel Azure. or John Baptiste Wilkie (and possibly others) who were listed in McIntyre's report as 
eligible for Pembina scrip (GLO 1880: LSTCIM 1984 and 1987, ancestry charts; BAR 1998). 

II The 28 ancestors are: #14 Francois [Frank] Courchane; #18 Joseph Dussorne (father of Joseph H. 
Dussome}; #49 John B. Charette [Sr.] (father of #185); #52 Joe Aammand; #119 Pierre Bottineau; #135 
Jonas Emely [Amelin); #136 Gabriel Azure (father of #137 and brother of #325); #137 Antoine Azure (son 
of #\36); #\38 Pierre Berger (son-in-law of#I72); #140 Joseph Jerome; #152 Paul Kipling (son-in-law of 
#364): #172 Jean Baptiste Wilkie (father-in-law of #138); #173 Isadore Wallette (also #466, and son of 
#375); #185 John Charette (son of #49); #234 Louis Thomas; #277 Pele Aamand; #305 Antoine LaPlante; 
#321 Charles St. Arnaud (whose son married #140's daughter); #325 Charles Azure. Sr. (father of#326); 
#326 Charles Azure, Jr. (son of #325); #360 Anthony Gladeau; #363 Joseph Goumeau (son of #364, born 
about 1817); #364 Joseph Goumeau, Jr. (father of #363 and father-in-law of#152; born about 1797, aka 
Chief Little Thunder, the son of "Old Wild Rice," and step-son and "heir" of Joseph Goumeau, Sr.); #375 
Joseph Wallette (father of #173/#466); #389 Daniel Wells (son of Ed Wells); #396 Pierre Laverdure; and 
#444 Charles Trotchie. Also, there is a #241 Joseph Hamelin on McIntyre's list. The Roe Cloud Roll 
applications and the petitioner'S ancestry charts show individuals who descend from a Joseph Francis 
Ameline [Amelin] and from a Joe Emely [Emily or Ameline) who have approximately the same birth year. 
but (here is not enough evidence at this time to conclude thaI they are one in the same man. However, the 
Joseph Hamelin in McIntyre's report appears to be ancestral to the petitioner (see Table 3). 
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TABLE 3 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: RECIPIENTS OF SCRIP UNDER TREATIES OF 1863-1864 

~ ~' 

Joseph Amelin (Hamelin) #241 Good 

Antoine (La Belle] Azure #\37 Good 

Charles Azure [Sr.) #325 [Good) 

Charles tCharlience] Azure #326 [Good) 

Gabriel Azure #136 Good 

Pierre Berger # 13 8 Bad 

Pierre Bottineau # 119 Good 

John B. Charette [Sr.] #49 Good 

John Charette # 185 Good 

Frank Courchane #14 Good 

Joseph Dussome #18 Good 

Jonas Emely (Amlin) #135 Doubtful 

Joe F1ammand [F1ament] #52 Good 

Pete F1ammand [Pierre F1ament] #277 Good 

Antoine Gladeau #360 Not Good 

Joseph Gourneau [3d] #363 [Good] 

Joseph Goumeau [Jr.] #364 [Good) 

Joseph Jerome #140 Good 

Paul Kipling [Kipland] #152 Good 

Antoine LaPlante #305 [Bad] 

Pierre Laverdure #396 Bad 

Charles S1. Arneau #321 [Good) 

, Louis Thomas, Jr. #234 Good 

Charles Trotchie [Trottier] #444 ? 

Isadore Wallene #173, #466 Good 

Joseph Wallene #375 Good 

Daniel Wells #389 Good 

John Baptiste Wilkie [Sr.] #172 Good 

SOURCE: GLO 1880 [McIntyre Repon]. List A. 

NOTES: 

R~~iQens;~ Comments 

S1. Vincent "Pembina 112 breed" 

S1. Joseph family at Pembina 

"Can't find" family at Pembina 

[Mountains] family at Pembina 

SI. Joseph family at Pembina 

Dead "not a Chippewa" 

Red Lake Falls 

Pembina 

Pembina 

Pembina Mt. "mother from Red Lake" 

Mountains 

Turtle Mts. family "from Red River" 

White Earth "from Pembina" 

Pembina always "in ceded country" 

Wood Mts. "Cree In breed" 

Pembina father "Chippewa mixed" 

[Pembina] "Chippewa mixed blood" 

S1. Vincent 

Dead known at Pembina 

Mountains "Cree In breed" 

F1. Mcleod "Sioux or Assiniboine" 

Mountains brother's status is "good" 

Pembina 

? no one could identify 

Northwest ["of the Pembina tribe"] 

Mountains "of the Pembina tribe" 

SI. Vincent father at SI. Joseph 

S1. Joseph "first settlers at Pembina" 

I Status of application for scrip. according to GLO Agent McIntyre (GLO 1880). 
• Joseph Francis Amelin (70 descendants) or loe Emely (57 descendants), or both. in petitioner'S ancestry. 
b Father in the Red River Settlement, ca. 1835. 
C On the 1850 Pembina census. 
d In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1870. [d) Father in the Red River Settlement. ca. 1870. 

; g~s~~~~!;t2o~~~u~~r i~~~~~~o;~.11. 

~ 

a.f 

e 

c.e 

e 

c,f 

c 

c,e 

C 

f 
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c,[d] 

b.c,[d) 
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Band. McIntyre found that Antoine LaPlante (#305) and Antoine Gladeau (#360) were 
"Cree Y2 breed," that Pierre Laverdure (#396) was " Sioux or Assiniboine," and that 
Pierre Berger (#138) was "not a Chippewa." Mdntyre reported that Frank Courchane 
(#14) had Indian ancestry "from Red Lake," and that Pierre Bottineau (#119) resided at 
Red Lake Falls (see Table 3). Thus. 22 of the 28 ancestors of the petitioner's members 
who had received scrip could be considered relatives of members of the treaty band of 
Pembina Chippewa, and McIntyre found that 20 of them had a "good" claim to scrip 
(GLO 1880, list A). Approximately 33 percent (1,293 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
members descend from these 22 ancestors who had received treaty scrip as a relative of a 
member of the Pembina Band of Chippewa. 

McIntyre found that two applicants who were ancestral to the petitioner -- Pierre Berger 
and Pierre Laverdure -- had "bad" applications because they were not Chippewa. Berger 
"came from the Rocky Mountains." McIntyre said, "and married old man Wilkey[']s 
daughter.,,12 Thus, the descendants of Pierre Berger were also the descendants of John 
Baptiste Wilkie, whose application was "good." Berger's son and Wilkie's grandson, also 
called Pierre Berger, was on the list as "good," although he has no descendants in the 
petitioner's membership (GLO 1880, #5, #138). For his infonnation about Laverdure, 
McIntyre relied upon a Sioux interpreter at Fort Assiniboine who said that Laverdure and 
his brother. who had lived at Pembina "in early times," were "Sioux or Assiniboioe 1/2 
breeds and ... in no way related to the Pembina Chippewa" (GLO 1880, #396). 
However, Pierre Laverdure married Katherine Charette before 1845. She appears to be 
the sister of John Charette [Sr.], who was found to be of Pembina descent and eligible for 
scrip (GLO 1880, #49). This couple lived in Pembina County in 1850 (White Weasel 
n.d .• 117). While Pierre Laverdure may not have had Chippewa ancestry himself, he did 
have ties to the pre-treaty Pembina Metis through his marriage and his residence in 1850. 
After the treaty. his children married into the Peltier. Azure, and Wells families who were 
from Pembina (White Weasel n.d.; BIA 1937, #534), and he lived in the Judith Basin of 
Montana in 1880 along with seven other families from Pembina (Census 1880, Meagher 
Co., #53). 

McIntyre found that the application of one applicant who was an ancestor of the petitioner 
was "not good," and that the application of one ancestor was "doubtful." Anthony or 
Antoine Gladeau's scrip application was labeled by McIntyre as "not good" because he 

. was a "well known Cree 112 breed" (GLO 1880, #360). His son Modiste Gladeau, 
however, was born in Walhalla, Pembina County, in 1847. After the treaty, in 1877 at the 
Milk River in Montana, this son married the daughter of Gabriel Azure, Sr., who was a 
Pembina Metis residing at St. Joseph (McFarlane 1981). Therefore, although Anthony 
G1adeau was not Pembina Chippewa himself, all of his descendants who are on the 
petitioner's membership lists also descend from Gabriel Azure whose receipt of scrip was 

12 In 1830, the American Fur Company had sent Jacob Berger to negotiate with the Blackfeet in order to 
establish a trading relationship (Burlingame and Toole 1957,2:87; Malone et aI. 1991.55). A linkage of 
Pierre Berger to the fur trader Jacob Berger can not be confirmed. If they were father and son, however. 
that would explain McIntyre's statement that Berger had come from the Rocky Mountains. 
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"good." McIntyre classified Jonas Amlin (Emely in the petitioner's records) as 
"doubtful," but it is not clear whether this was because of residence, age, or descent. The 
report stated that he belonged to the family of Amlins who "came from Red River about 
10 years ago" and had sold their scrip for $100 each. McIntyre said that Jonas Amlin had 
"wandered off' in the mountains (GLO 1880, #135, #84, #86). 

Mcintyre did not pass judgment on the applications of two other ancestors, Charles 
Trottier and Antoine LaPlante. McIntyre remarked that he could not find anyone to 
identify Trottier, and did not make a conclusion about Trottier'S status as a scrip holder 
(GLO 1880, #444). The petitioner's ancestor named Charles Trottier was an Indian trader 
at Ft. Benton, Montana, in 1880. The census report stated he was 43 years old and had 
been born in Pembina, as were his parents, his wife, and his children (Census 1880, 
Choteau Co. #168). Charles Trottier's father, Andrew Trottier, was found in Pembina 
County in 1850 (White Wease1 n.d., 114). LaPlante was identified by McIntyre as Cree, 
implying that his application was "bad," but McIntyre left the entry for his scrip status 
blank (GLO 1880, #305). LaPlante's daughter married before 1876 into the Paranteau 
family, which may have been of Pembina descent (GLO 1880, #91, #203, #442, #443). 
As can be seen from this evidence, those men who were determined by Mcintyre to be 
ineligible for scrip -- whether "bad," "not good," ~'doubtful," or incomplete -- appear to 
have had some connections to the Pembina Chippewa Metis at least by residence and 
marriage ties, either before the treaty of 1863 or before scrip was issued in the 1870's. 

In addition to the 28 ancestors of the petitioner's members who can be identified in 
Mcintyre's report, there were 6 men on "List A" and 2 men on "List En in the report who 
might be ancestors of the petitioner. Numerous other surnames in the petitioner'S 
ancestry are also listed among the 475 names on "List A," and additional research may 
confirm other of the petitioner'S ancestors on this list. The six men on "List A" have the 
same name as men in the petitioner's ancestry, but there is not enough evidence at this 
time to reasonably assume :at they eve one in the same. They are: Joseph Belgarde, an 
Assiniboine Sioux living I .. he Turtle Mountains; [John] Baptiste Gardipee and Louis 
Guardipee, both Crees living in the Turtle Mountains; Francois Xavier Laverdure, 13 a 

13 There' is some difficulty in sorting men named Francois Xavier Laverdure and Frank Laverdure in the 
various records to detennine which might have been the brother of Pierre, or whether they were the same 
man. The two brothers, Pierre and Francois Xavier Laverdure (and possibly a third brother Joseph 
Laverdure) found in the Mcintyre report were nol identified by age or parentage (GLO 1880, #396, #455, 
#461). The interpreter at Ft. Assiniboine implied that they were all adults in 1880, by stating that they had 
been in Pembina "in early times," but there is no rea) evidence of their ages. This record implies that 
Francois Xavier was living in 1880, possibly at Ft. Mcleod. Since McIntyre did not cite age, as well as 
descent. for determining that their scrip claims were "bad," it could be inferred that these men were over 21 
years old in 1863. The petitioner's ancestor Pierre Laverdure was born before 1825; therefore, it is 
reasonable to assume that his brother[sl probably could have been born between 1820 and 1830. 

A Frank Laverdure was identified in the Roe Cloud applications as a man born in 1823 on the Red 
River in Minnesota, who had brothers Joseph and Pierre "Bo-Balee" Laverdure enrolled at Turtle Mountain 
(BlA 1937, applicant #214). No ages or spouses were listed for Joseph and Pierre "Bo-Balee"; however, 
they were probably born between 1818 and 1828. Their father was shown as Joe Laverdure [born about 
1803] (BlA 1937, applicant #214). This Frank Laverdure married Nancy Latergrass, had a daughter 
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brother of Pierre Laverdure, a Sioux or Assiniboine who was perhaps living at Ft. 
Mcleod in Canada; Francois Desjarlais, who, although perhaps from Pembina, was 
residing in Manitoba, Canada: and Francois St. Pierre, a "British subject" living in St. 
Anne's, Manitoba (GLO 1880, #327. #262, #267, #455, #56, #456). None of these men 
had a "good" claim to scrip. Two men on Mcintyre's "List E" have the same names as 
men in the petitioner's ancestry: Francois Cline (Frank Kline) who was a "British Subject 
living in Winnipeg," and Joseph LaRoque (Joseph "Bad Hand" LaRoque), of whom 
Mcintyre said, "some of the LaRoque family are Pembina mixed bloods but these two 
[Joseph and James LaRoque] I can not identify by anyone" (GLO 1880, list E).14 

If these eight men are indeed the men in the petitioner's ancestry with the same names, 
then an additional 331 members of the petitioning group would descend from an 
individual listed in Mcintyre's report. IS Adding these 331 members who descend from an 
ancestor who may have been listed in Mcintyre's report to the 1,382 members who 
descend from an identifiable ancestor in McIntyre's report would make 44 percent (1.7 I 3 
of 3,893) of the petitioner's members potential descendants of treaty scrip holders. 16 If 
the petitioner'S ancestors named Joseph Francis Amelin and Joe Emely were actually the 
same person, this would mean that another 70 members descend from an ancestor who 
received scrip, and that 46 percent (l, 783 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members could 
descend from treaty scrip holders. However, McIntyre found that some of the petitioner's 

Matilda born about 1866 in North Dakota, and died "along the Missouri River" in Montana "about 1876" 
(BIA 1937, applicants #26, #214). His daughter married into the family of Joseph Emily [Amelinel, and 
has 42 descendants in the petitioner's membership. Despite the similarities in age and in siblings' names, it 
is not clear that Francois Xavier Laverdure (OLD 1880, #455) and Frank Laverdure (father of Roe Cloud 
applicant #214) are one in the same man. Therefore, Francois Xavier Laverdure (GLD 1880, #455). is not 
included in the Table 3 of the petitioner's ancestors who received scrip under the 1863-\ 864 treaties. 

14 Francois Cline (Frank Kline) and Francois S1. Pierre had the same names as men on the 1850 census of 
Pembina; Alexis Belgarde on the 1850 census had a son Joseph Belgarde; and there were several LaRoque 
families on that census as well (Census 1850; White Weasel n.d., 123). 

Ij Because of intennarriage between family lines, these members also descend from other men cited in the 
McIntyre report: 24 of Joseph Belgarde's descendants also descend from Pierre Laverdure; 101 of Louis 
Guardipcc's descendants also descend from Joseph LaRoque; II of John Baptiste Oardipee's descendants 
descend from Joseph Francis Ameline; 4 of Francois Xavier Laverdure's descendants also descend from 
Frank Courchane; 23 of Francois St. Pierre's descendants also descend from Joseph LaRoque; 54 of 
Francois Cline's descendants also descend from Joseph Dussome; 77 of Joseph LaRoque's descendants also 
descend from Joseph Dussome, and one of Joseph LaRoque's descendants descends from Louis Thomas. 
The six descendants of Francois Desjarlais do not appear to descend from any other ancestors on 
Mcintyre's lists. The total of actual people on the petitioner'S roll, rather than the sum of the number of 
descendants of each ancestor, is 331. 

16 In some instances, the men on the Mcintyre report have siblings who, though themselves not included 
on the report, have descendants in the petitioner's membership. The known siblings of Daniel Wells have 
70 descendants in the membership, the known siblings of Joseph Belgarde have 62 descendants, the known 
siblings of John Baptiste Gardipee have 100 descendants, and one ofCbarles Azure's siblings has I 
descendant in the membership. Thus. there may be as many as 233 other members who descend from 
individuals with first degree family ties to individuals on the McIntyre report. 
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ancestors who received treaty scrip were not blood relatives of the Pembina Chippewa, 
and that more than one-fifth of these claims to scrip were not "good." For these reasons, 
not all of these members of the petitioner's organization clearly descend from a relative of 
the Pembina Band at the time of the 1863 treaty. If all scrip recipients are considered, 
however. regardless of whether McIntyre found them to be eligible or ineligible for scrip 
and whether he found them to be related to the Pembina Band or not, then at least 
36 percent (1,382 of 3.893) and possibly 46 percent (I. 783 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
members descend from men identified as scrip recipients under the provisions of the Red 
Lake and Pembina Chippewa treaties of 1863 and 1864. 

The Emergence of the Turtle Mountain Band, 1870's· 1880's: 

The first explicit reference to a Turtle Mountain band of Chippewa appeared in the 1871 
annual report of the Chippewa agent at the White Earth Agency. Agent E.P. Smith 
referred to a "Turtle Mountain band of Pembinas" and identified it as the band which had 
requested a reservation in the Turtle Mountain country (BIA 1118/1871). A "board of 
visitors" to the Chippewa Agency had reported in 1871 that the Pembina Indians had 
expressed a "strong desire" to have a reservation of their own in the Turtle Mountains 
because those mountains had "long been their hunting grounds" and had never been 
ceded to the United States (BIA 10/2011871). Some of the "Pembina Indians" could be 
induced to remove to the White Earth Reservation, Agent Smith judged, and others would 
go to the Turtle Mountains if a reservation were to be established there (BIA 11/8/1871). The following year, Agent Smith stated that a "portion of the [Pembina] band live on 
Turtle Mountain, in Dakota," and that its members claimed to have been living there at 
the time of the treaty of 1863. He reported that the band numbered about 350 Indians, 
plus 100 Metis who, in his view, "might be stricken from" the roll. The band argued that 
its territory lay west of the boundary of the treaty cession, and asked that its "rights in this 
unceded country may be recognized." Agent Smith recommended that the Department 
either recognize their right to the Turtle Mountains or order them to remove to the White Earth Reservation (BIA 10/1/1872). 

In January 1873, the legislative assembly of Dakota Territory requested the removal of 
the Pembina band from the lands they had ceded by the treaty of 1863 and their relocation 
to the White Earth Reservation (Dakota 1873). In March 1873, Congress passed an 
appropriation act which included a provision for the purchase of one township of land on 
the White Earth Reservation from the Mississippi bands of Chippewa for the use of the 
Pembina band (Statutes 1873). A township of land on the Wild Rice River on the 
reservation was assigned to the Pembina band (BIA 12/1/1873). Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs E.P. Smith, the former agent at the White Earth Agency, admitted in his annual 
report of 1874 that few of the "Pembinas" had complied with an order to remove to the 
reservation. Most of them remained, he said, at Pembina and Tunle Mountain. He noted 
that the Turtle Mountain band claimed that, if they were to remove to White Earth, they 
would be due compensation for relinquishing their lands west of the territory ceded by the 
treaty of 1863 (BIA 111111874, 29-30). A result of a partial removal to the White Earth 
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Reservation during the 1870's was that the previous band was divided and reduced in 
size. In 1878, Commissioner Hayt put the population of the Pembina band living in the 
Turtle Mountains at 360 (BIA 5/23/1878). In 1880, Agent c.A. Ruffee of the White 
Earth Agency described the Turtle Mountain Indians and the Pembina Indians as "one and 
the same," (BIA 9/14/1880), indicating that the identification of a separate and distinct 
Turtle Mountain band was not fully established as late as 1880. 

Both the historian Joseph Kinsey Howard and the anthropologist James Howard have said 
that many British Metis arrived in the Turtle Mountain area after the unsuccessful Metis 
rebellion of 1870 (Howard 1952.334; Howard 1958.41, and 1965, 10). Historian 
Stanley Murray, by relying upon earlier secondary sources, has concluded that after 1870 
there was a movement of the Red River Metis population into both the Pembina Hills and 
the Turtle Mountains. A result of this migration. he noted, was that the "full·blood" 
Chippewa were outnumbered more than ever by the Metis. Arguing that the combined 
Metis and Chippewa were "not a unified community," Murray made a distinction 
between two groups during the 1870's: the Turtle Mountain Chippewa and the Chippewa 
of Pembina and the Pembina Hills (Murray 1984, 20-21). In a contemporary study of the 
French Metis published by the Smithsonian Institution, V. Havard estimated the Metis 
population of Dakota Territory in the late 1870's at about 1,280. He concluded that there 
were 100 Metis families at Pembina and another 70 Metis families at St. Joseph and the 
Pembina Mountains. These Metis, he said, were mostly intermarried with Chippewa 
(Havard 1880, 316, 318). A party of British surveyors which helped to mark the 
international boundary line in 1873 reported that beyond the Metis village of St. Joseph it 
did not encounter "a single permanent habitation ... as far as the Rocky Mountains," 
with the exception of "a few Indian tepees at Turtle Mountain .... " (Parsons 1963,3,65). 

Some of the petitioner's ancestors appeared as taxpayers on the"tax lists of personal 
property valuations for Pembina County, Dakota Territory, in 1873 and 1874 (Pembina 
County 1873-1874). The published abstracts of the tax lists record only the name and 
value of the personal property. with no other identifiers, such as age or township of 
residence. None of the men on the list were identified as Indian or Metis, and most had 
the French or English names common to the petitioner. However, six names on the tax 
list ([John] Baptiste Charette, Joseph Goumeau [born 1817], Paul Keplen [Kipling], 
Urbain [Arban] Delorme, [John] Baptiste LaRoque, and Felix LaTraille [LaTray)) appear 
to be ancestral to the petitioner's membership (Pembina County 1873-1874; BAR 1998). 
Three of these men on the 1873 tax list (Charette, Gourneau, and Kipling) also appear to 
have been listed in the 1880 Mcintyre report as treaty scrip recipients (GLO 1880, # 185, 
#363, #152; Pembina County 1873). About 5 percent (179 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
members descend from these six men who paid taxes in Pembina County, Dakota 
Territory, in 1873 or 1874. 

In 1876, a petition to the United States Senate from the "Chippewa Indians of Turtle 
Mountain" in Dakota Territory, signed by Little Shell 17 as "Head Chier' and by three 

17 This probably was the third Chief Little Shell. 
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others, stated a "wish to surrender to the United States" the territory west of the Red 
River and north of the Sheyenne River. The petitioners requested a reservation, which 
would include the Turtle Mountains, extending 50 miles south of the international 
boundary and running 60 miles from east to west. They asked that the reservation be set 
apart for both "the full and half bloods of the Turtle Mountain band of Chippewas .... " 
(Senate 2/2311876).18 Senator Lewis V. Bogy of Missouri introduced a bill to create such 
a reservation, but the bill did not pass either house of Congress (Senate 312911876). In 
1878, twelve headmen of Little Shell's band, writing from St. Joseph, renewed the effort 
to reach a cession agreement and obtain a reserve (Little Bull et aJ. 1878). Attorney lB. 
Bottineau, stating that he acted on behalf of Little Shell (Es-sence), also prepared a 
petition to the Secretary of the Interior on the land claim of the "Pembina Chippewa 
Indians" in 1878 (Bottineau 211611878). Commissioner of Indian Affairs E.A. Hayt 
concluded that these Indians were "generally designated as the Turtle Mountain band of 
Chippewas" and, although he did not accept the validity of all of Bottineau's land claims, 
recommended that steps be taken to extinguish their title for lands west of the cession of 
1863 so that they could be removed to the White Earth Reservation (BlA 5/2311878). 

The Indian agent at the DeviJ's Lake Agency, James Mclaughlin, reported that he· was 
visited in October 1880 by a delegation of ] 0 Indians and 27 Metis who hoped to obtain a 
reservation in the neighborhood of Turtle Mountain. The statement was signed by 
delegates of three groups: Chippewa delegates representing Chief Little Shell, Metis 
delegates from Turtle Mountain, and Metis delegates from St. Joe, as St. Joseph was 
known. The delegates representing Chief Little Shell claimed that his band numbered 
about 500 lodges, most of whom were on the prairies to the west, and 40 lodges in the 
vicinity of St. Joseph. The Metis delegates claimed to represent about 250 families at St. Joseph and about 500 on the prairies to the west (Turtle Mountain 1880; BlA 
1111711880). During a visit to St. Joseph in March 188], Agent Mclaughlin learned that 
the Metis were in favor of a reserve in the Pembina Mountains, but that the Indians were 
unanimously in favor of a reserve at Turtle Mountain, bordering the Mouse [Souris] River 
and the international boundary. The reserve recommended by the agent did not include 
either location. The majority of the band, Mclaughlin said, were leading nomadic lives 
and were "scattered throughout Dakota, Montana, and the adjacent British Provinces." 
The agent estimated that the reservation population would be at least 600 Indians and 
1,000 Metis. Mclaughlin provided a list of the most influential members of the band, 
beginning with Little Shel1 (BlA 3/15/1881). 

Political opposition to a proposed reservation for the Turtle Mountain band arose in 1881 
and 1882 from the delegate to Congress from Dakota Territory, Richard F. Pettigrew, 
who urged that the territorial claim of the Turtle Mountain Indians not be recognized, that 

18 In response, the "head chiefs" of the Pembina Chippewas and the Turtle Mountain Chippewas at the 
White Earth Agency wrote to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to contend that the "representation" made by Little Shell and his delegation that they were the "only owners of the Tunle Mountains ... is not correct." This letter was signed as "head chief' of the Tunle Mountain Chippewas by Way-ke-she-ke-shick (Head Chiefs 1876). 
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a separate reservation not be established for them in Dakota, and that the band be 
removed to the White Earth Reservation (Pettigrew 1881, 1882). Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs Hiram Price contended that the land claim of the Turtle Mountain Indians 
was "based upon continuous possession and occupation by them and their ancestors for 
many generations," but admitted that there was some confusion about the western limit of 
the band's claim (BlA 10/24/1881, L; 617/1882). Price recommended that about 500,000 
acres of the territory they claimed be retained as a reserve for them. Taking the position 
that the Turtle Mountain Indians were a part of the Pembina Band of Chippewa, the 
Commissioner asked the Secretary of the Interior for authority to negotiate with the 
Pembina Band for the cession of this territory (BlA 2114/1882). The Commissioner also 
argued that the Pembina Chippewas residing on the White Earth Reservation had a 
common interest with the Turtle Mountain band in the lands to be ceded in Dakota and 
therefore should participate in the cession negotiations and share in the proceeds of the 
cession (BlA 3/11/1882). 

A group of 200 Turtle Mountain Indians reportedly under the leadership of Little Shell 
confronted newly-arrived white settlers during the summer of 1882 and told them to 
leave. The Turtle Mountain Indians posted a sign, an action also attributed to Little Shell, 
to warn incoming whites not to settle on Indian lands before a "treaty" was made. 
Historian John Hesketh described Little Shell at this time as "an Indian Chief from Wood 
Mountain, Manitoba" (Hesketh 1923, 119). Local historian Laura Thompson Law has 
concluded that Little Shell came to the Turtle Mountains at this time from Manitoba, and 
implied that the Iron Mountain range north of the international boundary was his home or 
place of origin (Law 1953,22-23). Relying upon these secondary sources. the historian 
Stanley Murray also has concluded that Little Shell was living in Manitoba at the time of 
these conflicts (Murray 1984, 22). According to historian Hesketh, the chief of the Turtle 
Mountain Indians at the time of these incidents was Cashpaw [Kaishpaw Gourneau?] 
(Hesketh 1923, 119). The Indian agent at the Devil's Lake Agency also cited the 
leadership of this man, reporting that he had been visited in June 1882 by "Caspar and his 
party of the Turtle Mountain Indians" while the territorial governor ruso was at the agency 
(BlA 6/30/1882). 

In October 1882, Secretary of the Interior Henry M. Teller directed the General Land 
Office to open to settlement the public lands lying north and west of Devil's Lake because 
the claim by the Turtle Mountain band to that territory was "not well founded .... " 
(Interior 1 0/4/1882; see also Teller 1898, 1904). Little Shell and a delegation of Turtle 
Mountain Indians traveled to Washington. D.C., in 1882, to protest this decision. While 
there. they had a meeting with Secretary Teller. The Secretary informed the delegation 
that his examination had concluded that they had no valid claim to own the country 
around Turtle Mountain. Chief Little Shell dissented. Secretary Teller indicated that the 
members of the band could acquire land in the area on the same basis as white settlers, 
and that he would allow them to make the first selections of land in the area. In order to 
allow individual members of the band to choose their homesteads before the tract was 
opened to public entry, the Secretary indicated that he would ask the President to 
withdraw from settlement a tract of country in which they could make their selections. 
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The Secretary indicated that the Metis "living with the Indians as Indians" would have the 
same rights as the Indians to select an individual homestead in this area. "[W]hen they 
had selected their lands" with the help of a special agent, the Secretary stated, "the tract 
so set apart for them now would be reduced" (Interior I 2/l 9/l 882; see also Teller 1898). 
Thus, Secretary Tener saw this land withdrawal as a temporary measure which would not 
create a permanent tribal reservation. 

On December 21, 1882, a few days after Secretary Teller's meeting with Little Shell's 
delegation, President Arthur issued an executive order to withdraw lands from the public 
domain for the use and occupancy of the "Turtle Mountain band of Chippewas" 
(President 12/21/1882). The reserve was a tract ofland about 32 miles by 24 miles, with 
the longest side running south from the international boundary (BIA 10/10/1883, xlviii; 
Royce 1900, Area #654) (see Figure 4). The Indian Claims Commission has concluded 
that a "Turtle Mountain Band" was recognized by the United States by this executive 
order of 1882 (Ind.Cl.Comm. 1958,250). Two months after the executive order, 
Secretary Teller explained to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs that the "reservation is 
only a temporary one," and that its purpose was "the protection of these Indians" by 
securing public "lands upon which they might be severally [i.e., individually] 
located .... " (Interior 2/23/1883). Congress endorsed this intent by appropriating funds 
in 1883 to enable the Secretary of the Interior "to establish the Turtle Mountain band of 
Chippewas in permanent homes on homesteads upon the public lands .... " (Statutes 
1883; BIA 10/10/1883, xlviii). 

In order to fulfill a promise made to the Turtle Mountain delegation at the time of its visit 
to Washington, the Indian Office sent Special Agent Cyrus Beede to visit Turtle 
Mountain in 1883 (BIA 10/10/1883). From his councils with the Indians, Beede said that 
he learned that they preferred a tribal reservation rather than individual allotments. They. 
claimed that they had been led to believe at the meeting in Washington that the entire 
reserve created by the executive order was intended to be their permanent home. They 
also argued that the -longer side of that reserve was to have run from east to west rather 
than from north to south. A result of this difference of opinion, Beede found, was that 
nearly all of the Metis settlements had been left outside the reserve, just to the east of its 
boundary line (BIA 7/2411883; Turtle Mountain 1883). The majority of the Metis who 
had settled in the vicinity of Turtle Mountain, in Beede's opinion, were foreigners. The 
members of the assembled council, however, identified these foreigners as their relatives. 
Beede emphasized that the "Canadian Indians" should receive no share of the "bounties" 
of the Government, but confessed that it was "a little difficult to ascertain just who are 
entitled" to benefits. He also noted that many of the Metis from Canada had filed their 
intentions to become citizens of the United States (BIA 7/2411883). 

Agent Beede proposed different policies for the Indians and for the Metis. If the Metis 
received homesteads for their existing locations, he argued, then a future reservation 
"would be occupied principally by Full Bloods .... " He estimated that twenty-five Indian 
families would reside permanently on this reservation (BIA 712411883). Commissioner 
of Indian Affairs Hiram Price endorsed Agent Beede's recommendations in his annual 
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report for 1883, saying that Beede had found that the Metis were anxious to secure 
individual homesteads, while the Indians instead favored retaining a small reservation 
(BIA 10110/1883, xlviii-xlix). The response of the Turtle Mountain council included a 
request that the selection of allotments of land be delayed for one year so that "their 
children who are still in the buffalo hunting ground in Montana" would be able to receive 
allotments (Turtle Mountain 1883). Special Agent Beede said that he could not estimate 
the number of "wandering half breeds," but concluded that they did not exceed one 
hundred families and individuals without families (BIA 7/24/1883). It was not until five 
years after Agent Beede visited Turtle Mountain that Chief Little Shell complained to the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs about Beede's report. Little Shell claimed that in 1883 
more than 100 families of "full bloods" of the Turtle Mountain band had lived upon the 
1882 reserve and another 150 families had been scattered elsewhere in search of 
subsistence. At the time of Beede's visit, he said, there had been 1,200 persons of the 
"mixed bloods" of the band within the limits of the reserve, and a large number in the 
locality (Little Shell et al. 1888). 

On March 29, 1884, President Anhur issued a second executive order which restored to 
the public domain all of the lands reserved for the Turtle Mountain Indians by the 
executive order of 1882, except for two townships (President 3/29/1884). The size of the 
reduced reservation was based on the recommendation made by Special Agent B~ede in 
1883. This order was consistent with the policy Secretary of the Interior Teller had 
announced when the original reserve was made in 1882, except that the Secretary had 
indicated that the reduction of the reserve would occur after individual selections had 
been made. Beede's report, however, was that the lands settled by the Metis were not 
covered by the original executive order. Furthermore, it appeared from Beede's report 
that the Chippewa had chosen a reservation instead of allotments. President Arthur 
issued a third executive order on June 3, 1884, which returned one of the two townships 
of the reservation to the public domain. and replaced it by adding a new township to the 
reserve (President 6/3/1884). This reservation was a tract measuring six miles by twelves 
miles, with the long side of the reserve running east and west (see Figure 4).19 In his 
annual report for the year, -the Commissioner of Indian Affai~ observed that "a 
permanent reservation has been made for the Turtle Mountain band of Chippewas in 
Dakota" (BIA 10/1511884, xxxviii). . 

, 

. Chief Little Shell was critical of the new reservation, and wrote to the President to 
contend that promises made to him in 1882 had "not been fulfilled," and that the "thirty 
mile reserve set [up] for my people has been settled upon by white people" (Little Shell 
1884). A year later. he said that the band's "Chippewas and Halfbreeds" wanted an 
inspector to examine their grievances. The signatories of this letter were listed in two 
groups, Indians and Metis (Little Shell et al. 1885). Despite the intent of the 1882 
executive order to allow the members of the Turtle Mountain band to obtain a homestead 
within the territory they claimed, historian Stanley Murray concluded that the Metis 
"stubbornly refused to file on land they had not ceded .... " (Murray 1984,24; see BIA 

19 Royce's map of the 1884 reservation is in error (Royce 1900. Area #656). 
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8/2311889). He also concluded that, at the time the reservation was created, the Turtle 
Mountain band included the previously separate groups from the Turtle Mountains and 
the Pembina hiIls (Murray 1984, 22-23). In a history of the Turtle Mountain band, David 
Delonne contended that the Metis from Pembina joined the band near the close of the 
19th century (Delonne 1955, 124). Federal officials, historians, and anthropologists also 
have concluded tnat the Turtle Mountain band was enlarged by British Metis who joined 
it following the failure of the Riel rebellion of 1885 in Saskatchewan (Interior 
1112411888, Ixxiv-Ixxv; Delonne 1955, 131-132; Howard 1965, 10; Schneider 1986, 
107). Historian Murray concluded that this influx of population increased the friction and 
conflicts between the Indian and Metis factions of the reservation population (Murray 
1984,24). 

The reservation experienced a series of conflicts during the late 1880's. In 1886 the 
Indian agent reponed that "trooble" had almost developed between the Indians, who were 
opposed to taking individual allotments of land, and the Metis, who had begun marking 
out the boundaries of their individual land claims (BIA 8/2511886). In 1887, the 
Department of the Interior directed that the public lands in the area claimed by the Turtle 
Mountain Band be surveyed (Interior 11/13/1888, 143; BIA 9/2111-891, 117). In his 
annual report for 1888, Secretary William F. Vilas stated that the Indians' "half-breed and 
mixed blood relatives and followers" did not have "any claims to the soil which are 
entitled to consideration from the Government in dealing with these Indians." He 
recommended that Congress provide for the removal to a Minnesota reservation of those 
Turtle Mountain Chippewa Indians who were entitled to the care of the Government 
(Interior 11124/1888, Ixxv). In 1889, an attempt by county officials to collect taxes on the 
personal property of the Metis living off the reservation, contending that they were 
citizens, almost resulted in an armed battle (House 1890; Hesketh 1923, 120-122; Murray 
1984, 24-25). Sub-agent E.W. Brenner alleged that Chief Little Shell had "instructed the 
mixed bloods to pay no attention to the agents," and also bitterly complained that Little 
Shell lacked "the attributes of a chie~' because he had been "controlled" by the Canadian 
Metis outside of the reserve (BIA 8/411890). Brenner requested that a detachment of 
troops be sent to his defense in both 1889 and 1890, and said that the situation at the 
agency in August 1890 had reached a "crisis" (BIA 8/4/1890). 

The annual Indian census rolls for the years 1886 through 1890 show that the Devil's 
Lake Agency maintained two separate censuses for the Turtle Mountain Reservation, one 
for the "full-bloods" and one for the "mixed-bloods." The 1885 roll was incomplete. 
The census for 1887 included a count of the "mixed bloods" which was a departure from 
all other years, perhaps because Brenner, the reservation's farrner-in-charge, dropped 
from the "roster" individuals who resided in an organized county and paid taxes. Many 
of these people, he said, had voted and filed on their land as citizens (BIA 8/3111 887). 
The census for 1889 introduced the use of a third category, "mixed bloods" in the vicinity 
of the reservation, but this did not become a regular category of the reservation .census 
until 1892. The number of "full bloods" counted on these rolls in the five years between 
1886 and 1890 varied from 262 to 326. With the exception of 1887, the number of 
"mixed bloods" counted on the rolls duringthis period varied from 963 to 1,197, but was 
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steadily increasing. Again excluding 1887, the total population of both "full bloods" and 
"mixed bloods" belonging on the reservation during the years from 1886 to 1890 varied 
from 1,245 to 1,459 (BIA 1885-1940, roll 94). The U.S. Census Office reported that the 
1890 population of the Turtle Mountain Reservation was grouped into 80 families of "full 
bloods" and 258 families of "mixed bloods." In addition, it reported, there were another 
500 or 600 Metis living on lands in the vicinity of the reserve. The "full bloods," it said, 
spent some of their time on the Canadian side of the boundary line (Census Office 1894, 
509,515-516). 

The Metis. Migration to Montana, 1870's - 1880's: 

The majority of the petitioner's family lines appear to have had a member migrate to 
Montana during the 1870's and 1880's. Some evidence, however, places some of the 
ancestors of the petitioner's members in Montana prior to 1870. The earliest presence of 
the petitioner's ancestors in Montana may be the births of Francois Xavier LaPier in 1850 
and John Baptiste Pambrun in 1854, although at least one parent of these children was 
likely a transient fur trapper or trader rather than a resident of the territory (Teton Comm. 
1988, 258; LaPier 1997, 106). Michael Gray and his wife Caroline Campion Gray were 
said to have lived near a Catholic mission to the Blackfeet in 1866 (Teton Comm. 1988, 
122). Emily Gardipee Fellers, who was born in Canada, was said to have arrived at Fort 
Benton in 1868 (Teton Comm. 1988, 174-175). Anthropologist Verne Dusenberry stated 
that old parish registers reveal Metis families along the Front Range of the Rockies in the 
earliest years of settlement (Dusenberry 1958, 30). Local histories of the counties of 
north-central Montana generally have acknowledged that Metis or "Cree half-breeds" 
came from Canada during the 1860's to hunt in the Milk River valley, where they lived in 
temporary cabins along the river (Noyes 1917, 21, 24. 42, quoted; Allison 1968, 2; 
Centennial Comm. 1989, 24). Dusenberry claimed that Metis hunters moved back and 
forth between Pembina and Montana during the 1850's, 1860's, and 1870's, but did not 
cite any evidence which documented regular movements between those places 
(Dusenberry 1958,30). 

In 1870, most of the Red River Metis population was located in the Red River Settlement 
at the junction of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers, and thus outside of United States 
jurisdiction (see Figure 1). Genealogical researchers D.N. Sprague and R.P. Frye have 
compiled a table of the individuals who appeared on the 1870 census of Manitoba and a 
table of the land occupancy in the Red River Settlement in 1870. as recognized by the 
Government of Canada and as shown in surveyors' field notes and the records of the 
Land Title Office (Sprague and Frye 1983, 34-35, table 4, table 5). These tables contain 
the names of at least 46 ancestors of the petitioner's members. These ancestors were 
living in 1870 in ten different parishes along the Assiniboine and Red Rivers, with 
76 percent (35 of 46) of them located along the Assiniboine River west of its junction 
with the Red River. More than half of these ancestors lived in the single parish of St. 
Francois-Xavier (see Figure 2). There were 27 ancestors in St. Francois-Xavier Parish, 4 
each in St. Boniface and St. Agathe Parishes, 2 each in High Bluff, Baie St. PaUl, 
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Headingly, and St. Charles Parishes, and I each in St. Andrew, St. Clement, and St. 
Norbert Parishes (see Table 4).20 

The 46 families identified as residing in the Red Ri ver Settlement in 1870 have about 
1.469 descendants in the petitioner's modem membership (BAR 1998). Thus, about 
38 percent (1,469 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members are descendants of the 1870 
residents of the British Red River Settlement. Because there were several instances of 
marriages between members of these families, many of the petitioner's members can 
trace their ancestry to two or three of these Red River settlers. One of these 1870 
ancestors of the petitioner's members, Daniel Wells, appeared in McIntyre's 1880 report 
as a treaty scrip recipient whose status was "good" (GLO 1880, #389). Two of these 
1870 ancestors had a son identified in McIntyre's report (GLO 1880, #396, #444).21 Five 
of these household heads in the Red River Settlement in 1870, aU in S1. Francois-Xavier 
Parish, had appeared on the 1850 census of Pembina (Census 1850; White Weasel n.d., 
108, 114, 115, 119).22 Since these 5 ancestors have about 283 descendants in the 
petitioner's membership, this means that the 41 ancestors of the petitioner's members in 
the Red River Settlement in 1870 whose family members had not appeared on the 1850 
Pembina census have about 967 descendants in the petitioner's membership (BAR 1998). 
Thus, about 25 percent (967 of 3,893) of the petitioner'S members are descendants of 
1870 residents of the British Red River Settlement who had not previously been on the 
1850 census of Pembina. 

Montana's "state folklorist" has said that the "identity" of the Little She]] petitioner in 
Montana "goes back to the Metis Diaspora of 1870 .... " (Vrooman 1994). Genealogists 
D.N. Sprague and R.P. Frye, who studied the Red River Metis population in great detail, 

~o Sprague and Frye also produced a summary table, titled "Genealogy of Red River Households, 1818-1870." of the Red River colony prior to Canadian jurisdiction (Sprague and Frye 1983, table I). In addition to the ancestors of the petitioner's members found on Sprague and Frye's tables of census and land ownership records. at least another IS of the petitioner's ancestors are listed in this summary genealogical table. These individuals could not be associated with a specific parish or a specific year of residence, and did not appear on Sprague and Frye's tables of landownership about 1835, landownership about 1870. or the 1870 census. Therefore, they have not been included in the discussion or tables of the Red River Settlement at 1835 or 1870. Four of these 15 individuals -- Michael Kline, Antoine LaPierre, Francois St. Pierre,·and Edward Wells -- appeared on the 1850 census of Pembina County and have been included in the discussion of Pembina (see Table 2). Pierre Delorme had a daughter (Judith Delorme married to Joseph Gourneau) in Pembina in 1850 (White Weasel n.d.). Antoine Rosebluff and John LaRoque appear to have had associations with Pembina through the marriages of their children to descendants of Peltchie, Kline. and Landrie ancestors of the petitioner on the 1850 census of Pembina. Joseph Parisan and Michel Monette were fathers-in-law of men (Bonaventure Gardipee and Jean Baptiste Faynand) who appeared in records of the Red River Settlement in 1870. James Swan (b.1829) was the father and father-in-law of men (Jack Swan and Frank LaPier) who settled in Montana in the 19th century. The other ancestors on Sprague's table 1 were James Shon, Joe Cook. John Wells, James Sinclair, and James Swan (b. before 1812). 

" Andre Trottier and son Charles Trottier, and Joseph Laverdure and son Pierre Laverdure. 

ZZ The five ancestors on the 1850 Pembina census were: Francois Fayant, Louis Landry. Moses Landry (as a child), Charles Peltier, and Andre Trottier. 
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TABLE 4 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: BRITISH RED RIVER SEITLEMENT. ca. 1870 

Name lID No. 

Joseph Pocha [b. I 800] # 3943 
Joseph Pocha [b.1833] # 3775 
Andre Desjarlais [b.IS22] # 1277 
Charles Peltier [b.1805] # 3584 
Andrew SI. Gennaine [b.1838] # 4549 
Francois SI. Gennaine [b.1782] # 4599 
Leander St. Gennaine [b.1839] # 4596 
Francois Fayant [bJ 796) # 1460 
Hugh Ross [b.1793] # 4246 
Antoine Houle [b.1787] # 2221 
Francois SI. Gennaine [b.1833] # 4597 
John J. Ross [b.1832] # 4226 
William Fiddler [b.1827] # 1544 
Oliver LaRoque [b.1797) # 2792 
Cuthben McGillis [b.1822) # 3358 
Louis Landry [b.1816) # 2591 
Moses Landry [b.1845] # 2684 
Andre Trottier [b. 1791] # 4711 
Jean Baptiste Fayant [b.1801] # 1461 
Alexander leannotte [b.1828) # 2354 
Angus McGillis [b.1838) # 3354 
Jean Baptiste Trottier [b.184I)·# 4971 
James (Napolean) Whiteford [b.1827) # 5175 
Alexander Gardipee [b.lB42] # 1805 
Baptiste Gardipee [b.1832] # 1808 
Bonaventure Gardipee [b.1822] # 1893 
Louis Gardipee [b.1836] # 1806 
Calaise lafountain [b.1826) # 2520 
Jean Baptiste LaFrambois [b. I 806] # 2529 
Alexander McGillis [b. I 811] # 3356 
Modeste McGillis [b.1848] # 3596 
Charles Bremner [b.1835] # 500 
Alexander Bremner [b.1793] # 492 
John Swan I Swain [b. I 832J # 4914 
Joseph Laverdure [b.1785J # 2837 
George Kipling [b. I 804] # 2298 
George Ram Kipling [b.1824 J # 2299 
Moses Carrier [b.1819 J # 720 
Emmanuel Champagne [b. I 801] # 739 
Eli Paranteau [b. 1835] # 3818 
Joseph Paranteau [b.IS17] # 3807 
Daniel Wells [b.1836] # 5231 
Alexander Moran [b.1836] # 3194 
Louis Moran [b.1812J # 3195 
Francois Dubois [b.t 775] # 1322 
John Baptiste Dubois [b.1826] # 1320 

SOURCE: Sprague and Frye 1983. table 4 and table 5. 

NOTES: 

~ 

High Bluff. Assiniboine River 
High Bluff. Assimboine River 
Baie St. Paul. Assiniboine River 
Baie SI. PaUl. Assiniboine River 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assin\boine R. 
5t. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
5t. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
5t. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
5t. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
St. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
Headingly. Assiniboine River 
Headingly. Assiniboine River 
St. Charles. Assiniboine River 
St. Charles. Assiniboine River 
St. Clement. Red River 
St. Andrew. Red River 
St. Boniface. Red River 
St. Boniface. Red River 
St. Boniface. Red River 
St. Boniface. Red River 
St. Norben. Red River 
St. Agathe. Red River 
SI. Agathe. Red River 
St. Agathe. Red River 
5t. Agathe. Red River 

• In Ihe Red River Settlement. ca. 18?S 
b On the 1850 Pembina census. [b On Ihe 1850 Pembina census as a child. 

LQ1 NOles 

66-70 
68 
13.246 
222 b 
94 d 

100-101 (d) 

101 
115-133 b 

115-133 [d] 

116-133 a 
127 (d] 
136 
147 
177 a.le') 
181-190 
195-196 b 
195-196 [b] 
195-196 a.b.[c] 
197 
199-202 d 
202-204 
202-204 
202-204 
none 
none 
none 
none 
none [d] 
none 
none 
none 
42 
43 
75 
90 [c) 
24 a 
264-267 
15 
15 
117-113 
117-1 I3 [dJ 
31-27 c 
575 d 
577 
577-579 
579 

c Received 1863 treaty scrip. Ie] Son received 1863 treaty scrip. [e'] Son a possible treaty scrip recipient or applicant. 
d On the 1890 Mahone Commission census. [d] Widow or child on the 1890 Mahone Commission census. 
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concluded that the Red River Metis were dispersed after the adoption of the Manitoba Act 
of 1870 (Sprague and Frye 1983.28). They documented that dispersal within modem 
Canada. but unfortunately did not trace the destinations of those Metis who fled Canada 
to the United States. According to historian Joseph Kinsey Howard, a reason for a Metis 
migration to Montana during the 1870's, in addition to the failure of the Metis to achieve 
an autonomous government in Manitoba in 1870, was the devastating impact of the 
extension of the railroads and the disappearance of the buffalo on a Metis economy which 
was based on buffalo hunting and the transportation of freight (Howard 1952,334). 
Metis trappers and buffalo hunters had made seasonal visits to Montana during the 19th 
century. During the 1870's and 1880's, however, Metis settlers began to establish 
permanent settlements in several areas of Montana, including the Judith Basin south of 
the Missouri River, the area along the Milk River and between the Milk and the Missouri, 
and the Front Range along the eastern edge of the'Rocky Mountains. A result of the 
dispersal of the Metis population during the 1870's and 1880's was that Metis settlements 
were established in Montana before the McCumber Agreement of 1892. From the 
earliest years of these Metis settlements they have been associated with some of the 
ancestors of the petitioner'S members. 

Many of the young Red River Metis migrated to Montana as buffalo hunters who moved 
with that animal's shrinking range. The extraordinary slaughter of the North American 
buffalo during the 19th century which brought those enormous herds nearly to the point 
of extinction in the late 1880's was described in an 1889 report for the Smithsonian 
Institution by William T. Hornaday (Hornaday (889). As a summation of his report, 
Hornaday included a map which indicated the extent of the buffalo range at various times 
and gave the dates of the extermination of the buffalo in various areas of the North 
American continent. Hornaday's boundary lines of the extent of the buffalo range 
represent the boundary outside of which the buffalo herds had been extenninated by a 
given date. His map indicates that the buffalo had been almost eliminated from Dakota 
Territory as early as 1880, and that in J 889 the last surviving herd in the United States, 
north of the Platte River, was located in the area between the Missouri and Yellowstone 
Rivers in Montana Territory. If the scarcity of the buffalo was noted a decade earlier than 
their extermination date, then Hornaday's map of the shrinking buffalo range would 
closely parallel the movement of some of the Metis from Canada and North Dakota to 
Montana in the 1870's and their settlement at the end of that decade in the Judith Basin 
(see Figure 5). 

A post-1870 migration of Canadian Metis or mixed-blood Cree Indians to the Milk River 
valley, after the failure of the Metis to establish their own government on the Red River. 
has been noted by scholars and local historians (Ewers 1974, 82-83; Hill Comm. 1976,5), 
Anthropologist Verne Dusenberry concluded that Metis migrated to the Milk River from 
St. Joseph (Dusenberry 1958.30-31). According to historian Larry Burt. one of the 
largest of the early Metis settlements in Montana was located on a portion of the Milk 
River known as the Big Bend. near where Frenchman's Creek enters the Milk northeast of 
modem Malta. Although Burt could not say when this settlement originated, he showed 
that the U.S. Army first took note of it in the 1870's (Burt 1987, 196). A history of 
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Phillips County has stated that a large number of Metis settled northeast of Malta in 1870. 
After cattlemen moved into the area, this local history contended: in 1879 this group of 
Metis moved farther west to the Missouri River "breaks" (Phillips H.S. 1978, 8). A 
history of Hill County has suggested that a group of Cree Indians moved to the Milk 
River in the 1870's, but, because of the disappearance of the buffalo herds, had to move 
into the Bear Paw mountains around 1879·1881 (Hill Comm. 1976, 5). Historian Burt 
also noted evidence of the presence of Crees in northern Montana during the 1870's and 
1880's (Burt 1987, 196-199). Further west, the chief astronomer of the U.S. commission 
surveying the international boundary line during the early 1870's said that the Metis and 
various tribes followed the buffalo in a common hunting territory centered in the Sweet 
Grass Hills of Montana (Twining 1877). 

In the local histories of north-central Montana, but not those of the Front Range, there has 
been some recognition that Metis or lndian families from the Turtle Mountains of North 
Dakota migrated to that area of Montana. Memoirs and oral interviews also follow this 
pattern. A memoir by Clemence Berger recounted how, shortly after her marriage in 
1 ~70, she left North Dakota with a group which followed the buffalo across North Dakota 
and Montana and spent several years on the Milk River at the site of modern Malta. 
When the buffalo thinned out, she indicated, the group moved south and settled in the 
Judith Basin and Lewistown area in 1879 (Berger n.d.). Anthropologist Verne 
Dusenberry used this source to describe the movement of some Metis from St. Joseph to 
the Milk River and then to Lewistown (Dusenberry 1958, 30-31). A history of Phillips 
County stated that the area northeast of Malta had been settled by Metis from the Turtle 
Mountains (Phillips H.S. 1978, 8). Historian Stanley Murray, relying upon the work of 
Dusenberry, suggested that Metis groups from St. Joseph and Pembina in Dakota 
Territory migrated to Montana during the years between 1870 and 1885, and established 
settlements along a variety of rivers in that state (Murray 1984,22). Historian Larry Burt. 
also claimed, without citing evidence, that "many Metis from the Turtle Mountain area" 
moved westward into Montana Territory as early as the 1860's (Burt 1987, 196). 

In 1879, groups of Metis settled the area of the Judith Basin and the future Lewistown 
(Berger n.d.: Van den Broeck 1925: Mueller 1931; Silloway 1936; Anderson 1943; 
Zellick 1943; Howard 1952; Burlingame and Toole 1957,2:147) (see Figure 1). The 
historian Joseph Kinsey Howard claimed that the Metis settlement on Spring Creek grew 
to 150 Metis families before any appreciable white migration to the settlement occurred 
(Howard 1952, 344). According to the memoir of Clemence Berger, the area was first 
settled in May 1879 by a group of 25 families led by her father-in-law Pierre Berger, an 
ancestor of the petitioner. In the fall of 1879, she recalled, another "contingent of our 
people" arrived (Berger n.d.; Dusenbeny 1958,31; Centennial Comm. 1989,24). One 
local expert has written that the Judith Basin was settled in 1879 by a party consisting of 
"fifty or more families of halfbreeds from northern Montana," under the leadership of 
Francis Janeaux and Paul Morase (Silloway 1936, 5-7). Another memoir referred to a 
group of settlers as the "Oulette Band" (Nault 1977,3). The first Metis settlers consisted 
of Berger, Daniels, Doney, Fiant, Gardipee, Janeaux, Kline, LaFountain, LaRocque, 
LaTray, Laverdure, Morase. Oulette, Swan, Turcotte, Wells, and Wilkie families (Berger 
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n.d: Van den Broeck 1925; Silloway 1936,6: Nault 1977,3: Roy Comm. 1990,3,333-
334). Although Clemence Berger stated that her family had begun its migration in North 
Dakota, another descendant of these early settlers claimed that her LaRocque family, 
together with the Doney, LaFountain, Swan, and Gardipee families, had migrated from 
Saskatchewan (Berger n.d.: Roy Comm. 1990, 333-334). 

The decision to remove to the Judith Basin and make a permanent settlement there in the 
spring of 1879, according to settler Clemence Berger, was made by the group in "several 
meetings" as a response to the "thinning out" of the buffalo herds (Berger n.d.). An 
account of the founding of Lewistown, based on an interview with Ben Kline, one of the 
first settlers, indicated that the group had decided to move to new hunting grounds in the 
Judith Basin after hearing about the area from an army officer (Van den Broeck 1925). 
However, another account, also based on an interview with Kline, suggested that in the 
fall of 1879 the U.S. Army had rounded up the Metis along the Milk River and removed a 
party of 50 families to the Judith Basin (Mueller 1931). The Army did move to expel 
mixed-blood groups along the Milk River in 1879 (Burt 1987, 197). Congress in 1874 
had set aside the land north of the Missouri, between Dakota Territory on the east and the 
Marias River and the summit of the Rocky Mountain on the west. as a reservation for the 
Gros Ventre, Piegan, Blood, Blackfeet. and River Crow Indians (Statutes 1874: Royce 
1900, Area #565). It would have been consistent with Federal policy for the Army to 
have required the American Metis on the Indian reservation north of the Missouri River 
to move off the reservation by relocating south of the Missouri. These memoirs suggest 
that one party of Metis may have chosen to leave this area, while a later party was 
compelled to move. 

In his contemporary study of the French Metis of the late 1870's, V. Havard estimated that 
the Metis population of Montana was about 1,000. The largest group of Metis, according 
to Havard, was a moving camp of 650 Metis on the Milk River. These Metis were 
buffalo hunters. mostly intermarried with the Gros Ventre and, he said, probably had 
migrated to Montana from Manitoba. Havard said that the small groups and individual 
families of Metis in Montana east of the continental divide were intennarried with the 
Cree and Chippewa (Havard )880,316.318). The historian Joseph Kinsey Howard said 
that the largest Metis settlement in Montana was that on Spring Creek. the future 
Lewistown. The other major Metis settlements in Montana during the 1880's, according 

. to Howard, were those at Milk River, Fort Benton. and Helena (Howard 1952,344). The 
ethnohistorian John Ewers agreed that the largest settlement of Metis in Montana in 1880 
was in the Spring Creek Valley in the Judith Basin south of the Missouri River. In 
addition, he said, the Federal census of 1880 listed 229 "half-breeds" in the extremely 
large county of Choteau, north of the Missouri River. The largest of these settlements 
were those of the 79 Metis at Fort Benton on the Missouri northeast of modem Great 
Falls, and the 66 Metis on the upper Teton River on the eastern edge of the Rockies 
(Ewers 1974,87). A Metis descendant has identified Metis settlements on the 1880 
census at the South Fork of the Sun River, west of modem Augusta, of 29 families and 
127 Metis. and at St. Peter's Mission, southwest of modem Great Falls, of 27 families and 
118 Metis (LaPier 1997, Ill). 
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The records of St. Peter's Mission help to date the arrival of the petitioner's ancestors in 
Montana. This Catholic mission to the Blackfeet Indians was located at three different 
sites on the Teton, Sun, and Missouri Rivers from 1859 to 1866. In its final site west of 
the Missouri between the Sun and Dearborn Rivers after 1874 the mission was converted 
to a school (Burlingame and Toole 1957, 1: 110-111; Schoenberg 1960, 38; Harrod 1971, 
52-54). The mission's marriage register (1859-1895) and baptismal register (1855-1879) 
have been translated and transcribed by the Reverend Dale McFarlane (McFarlane 1981). 
The first marriage recorded at S1. Peter's Mission between two of the petitioner's 
ancestors took place at an unknown location in 1874 (see Table 5). The five marriages 
recorded in 1877 and 1878 all occurred along the Milk River. The first marriage recorded 
as having taken place at St. Peter's Mission itself was in 1879, and the first marriage in 
the Judith Basin was in 1880. At least 55 marriages recorded in the mission's marriage 
register :~!)m 1874 to 1899 were between individuals who were ancestors of, or collateral 
relati"es of, the petitioner's members.23 Reverend McFarlane created a separate section 
of his transcript for marriages between Indians, although he did not indicate the 
participants' tribe or tribes. None of the 54 marriages between Montana Indians in the St. 
Peter's Mission records could clearly be identified as having included an ancestor of a 
member of the petitic :1ing group. In only two of these marriages between Indians was a 
witness to the marriage clearly ancestral to the petitioner (McFarlane] 981). 

In 1880, some ancestors of the petitioning group were listed on the Federal census as 
living in six of the large census districts of Montana Territory (see Table 6). There were 
10 households containing ancestors in the judith Basin district. Another 10 households 
containing ancestors were in the district of St. Peter's Mission. Ancestors were also living 
in 4 households in the district of Fort Benton. Along the Front Range, there were 
ancestors in 3 households in the Sun River district, 2 households in the Teton River 
district, and 1 household in the Shoukin Creek district (Census 1880).24 In addition to 
these 30 households containing ancestors of the petitioner's members, other households 
contained siblings of these ancestors who do not have descendants in the petitioner'S 
membership. The straight-line distan'ce between Fort Benton on the Missouri River and 
St. Peter's Mission, near the Missouri, was about 70 miles. The straight-line distance 

,3 Because the genealogies for the 19th century families are not complete, there may be marriages for 
other siblings or collateral relatives of the petitioner's ancestors in the St. Peter's Mission records, which 
were not included in this analysis. 

,~ The petitioner's researchers did not submit a list of the petitioner's ancestors on the 1880 census, for 
either Montana Territory or Dakota Territory, as they did for the 1910 and 1920 censuses of Montana. The 
index to the 1880 census of Montana Territory contains surnames ancestral to the petitioner in every county; 
those surnames, however, are not exclusive to the petitioner. The BIA researchers did not track all of the 
petitioner's surnames in the 1880 census index, but concentrated on trying to locate the petitioner's 
ancestors who were named in local histories and other records as having been pre-I 880 settlers of Montana, 
or who may have been living in one of the areas described by the petitioner'S researchers as a place where 
many of the petitioner's ancestors had lived. The BIA's available research time did not allow for its 
researchers to conduct a thorough search of all the Montana counties on the 1880 census. Such a search 
may identify other ancestors of the petitioner who were in Montana as early as 1880. A search of the 1880 
census also may locate ancestors of the petitioner who were in Dakota in 1880. 

-46-

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 108 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding. Technical Report 

TABLE 5 

PETmONER'S ANCESTORS: MARRIAGES AT ST. PETER'S MISSION. 1874-1892 

~ flli£ ~ Bride 

1874/8129 W[illiam) DuBray Marie Malaterre 
18771 I 129 Milk River Modeste Gladeu Melinie Azure 
187717 fI3 Milk River John Swan [James Jain) Elisa Nome 
18781 I 129 Milk River Francois Azure. #1 Marie Berger 
1878/1 129 Milk River Vital Turquotte Adele Berger 
187813 131 Milk River John Plummer Catherine Cook 
18791 I I 8 Ft. Belknap Clement Azure Margaret Edo 
18791 I f15 Francis Laverdure Marie Turcotte 
1879/2121 John M. [Lionel) Doney Virginia laFountain 
1879/3125 SI. Peters Ambrose laPierre Adelaid Roseblane 
1879/3125 SI. Peters Francis Henry LaPierre Maria Rosa Swan 
1880/2 I 9 Milk River Francois Azure. '2 Julia Peltier 
188012 flO Milk River John Malaterre Marie RoscbIane 
1880/41 6 Alexander Azure Marie Azure 
1880151 4 Judith Basin Anthony Aeury Ernestine Wells fHennestina Welsh 1 
1880/8130 South Fork Sun R. John Baptiste Pambrum Catherine [Euphrasinaj Malataire 
18811 I 124 SI. Peters Moyse Azure Margaret Champion. 
18811219 South Fork Francis Munro? Marie 
188115 flO Judith Basin William laFramboise Catherine Berger 
188117 110 Ft. Assiniboine Bernard Thomas [Tami] Eliza [Laiza] St. Dennis 
1881/9120 SI. Peters Ambrose Larance Catherine Nome 
1881111121 SI. Peters Bonaventure Azure Magdaline Gardipee 
188211/23 SI. Peters John Aloysius Courchene Marie Alphonsina Azure 
1882121 3 Musselshell R. Charles leMire Aloysia Swan 
188212/21 St. Peters John Gardipee Henrietta Blagon 
1882131 8 Carroll William Baston Marie Goslin 
1883/31 7 Carroll Isidore Azure Carolina Paquin 
1883/3114 Judith Basin John Thomas Welsh Aloysia Wilky 
1883/413 Judith Basin Bonaventure Gardipee Catherine laRocque 
1883/4/10 judith Basin Daniel [David) Laverdure Mary M. [Natalie) Wells 
1883/4/10 Judith Basin Joseph Laverdure Maric Upsilina Welsh 
1883/4/25 John Parrent Marie MaJaterre [DuMay) 
1883/4/30 Judith Basin Joseph Welsh Julia Wilky 
1883/8/21 St. Peters Anthony Azure Julia Collins 
18841 1128 SI. Peters Henry McCullough Ford Rose Daniels 
1884/31 8 51. Peters John Thompson Elizabeth Ouellette 
1884181 4 Flat Willow Cr. Eli Louis [Leoo) (Ndipee Marie LaRocque 
1885111 4 St. Peters Peter Beauchamp Julia Azure 
1885151 5 South Fork Pascal laPier Mariann Collins 
18851121 S Badger Cr. Elais Gardipee Antonia Kataitsips-tsaki 
1886f 11 7 SI. Peters Alexander James Foster Cecilia Azure 
1886f 1/12 SI. Peters Hilary Sangray Helen Trottier 
1886f 1/19 ludith Basin Elias Paul Rose Daniels I Dognon 
1886f 21 I St. Peters Aloysius Brunon Isabella Collins 
1886f 8122 Lewistown Modeste Rocheleau Catherine Berger 
1886111123 51. Peters Francis Azure Emma [Marie Virginia] Larance 
1888110123 SI. Peters Alben Larance Eliza SI. Germain 
1888/10123 SI. Peters John Baptiste Swan Julia Larance 
188915120 SI. Peters Caleb (Tom) Anderson Flora (Marie) Swan 
188915120 51. Peters Frank Sangray [Francis Landre] Mary Ann Anderson 
1889/10/14 St. Peters Peter Sangray [Mary] Christine Swan 
1891/5/28 St. Peters William Belgarde Christine Laverdure 
189214/25 SI. Peters Charles Swan Marian Deschenaux [Marie Deshnoe) 
189217127 St. Peters Moses LaPierre Ida LaFramboise 

SOURCE: McFarlane 1981 [51. Peter's Mission records). 
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TABLE 6 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: MONTANA TERRITORY, 1880 

Name ~ lliillkl E.Q. House ~ Background 

Katie Conway Choteau Ft. Benton 3 144 26 b. Montana 

Eli L. Gardipee Choteau Ft. Benton 3 161 22 b. Dakota [gr'father R.R.J 

Charles Trotchie Choteau Ft. Benton 3 168 43 Pembina 1850: father R.R 

Daniel (& Louise )Wells Choteau FI. Benton 3 [ 171] 45 Red R. 1870; b. Dakota 

Alexander Guardipee Choteau Shoukin 4 47 50 Red River 1870 

Baptiste Guardipee Choteau Teton R. 4 67 48 Red River 1870 

Eli Guardipee Choreau Teton R. 4 68 23 b. Canada 

Jack Swan Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 59 29 Father from Red River 

Frank LaPier Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 61 29 Father at Pembina 1850 

Gab fie I Azure Lewis & St. Peter's 20 63 57 Pembina 1850 

Francois Courchene Lewis & St. Peter's 20 65 46 [Pembina ca. 1860] 

Charles Azure, [Jr.] Lewis & St. Peter's 20 68 45 Pembina 1850 

Anthony/Antoine Azure Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 71 55 Pembina 1850 

Gabriel Beauchman Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 75 34 b. Dakota 

Paul Nomee Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 77 48 b. Canada 

Baptise Lavadure Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 81 30 b. Dakota 

Modeste G1adeau Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 82 32 b. Canada 

Moses LaPierre Lewis & Sun R. 20 217 ? b. Minnesota 

Henry M. Ford Lewis & Sun R. 20 223 16 b. Montana 

Louis Malatare Lewis & SunR. 20 229 47 b. British Columbia 

lohn Courchene Meagher Judith Basin 23 27 20 b. Canada [ I Dakota] 

John Charette Meagher Judith Basin 23 32 37 Pembina 1850 

Jacob Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 34 25 Father at Pembina 1850 

Isadore Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 35 32 Pembina 1850 

Pierre I Peter Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 36 60 Pembina 1850 

Isaie Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 37 35 Pembina 1850 

Moses LaTray Meagher Judith Basin 23 42 32 b. Canada 

Joseph Doney Meagher Judith Basin 23 44 37 Pembina 1850 

John M. Doney Meagher Judith Basin 23 46 22 Father at Pembina 1850 

Pierre Laverdure Meagher Judith Basin 23 53 65 Pembina 1850 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880; also: U.S. Census 1850; Sprague and Frye 1983, tables 4 and 5; and Riel 1985. 5:216, 
220,221,235,239,259,285,288,303,347. 
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from Lewistown, south of the Missouri in the judith Basin district, to Fort Benton was 
about 80 miles, while the distance from Lewistown to St. Peter's Mission was about 120 
miles (see Figure I). 

The majority of the ancestors of the petitioner in the Judith Basin, Fort Benton, and St. 
Peter's Mission districts in 1880 had a background at Pembina or in Dakota (see Table 6). 
In the Judith Basin in 1880, at least 8 of the 10 households containing an identified 
ancestor of the petitioner had Pembina ties. Six households included an individual who 
had been on the 1850 Pembina census. three as adults and three as dependents, and two 
other households contained the son of an individual on the 1850 Pembina census. The 
Berger family alone, however, accounted for four of these eight households. At Fort 
Benton in 1880, three of the four households containing an identified ancestor of the 
petitioner had Pembina ties. One household contained an individual who had been on the 
1850 Pembina census as a dependent, and two households induded persons who had been 
born at Pembina. At St. Peter's Mission in 1880, 7 of the 10 households containing an 
identified ancestor of the petitioner had a background at Pembina or claimed binh in 
Dakota Territory. Along the Front Range, however, one of the six ancestors of the 
petitioner claimed to have been born in Minnesota, but none of the petitioner's ancestors 
clearly had past ties to Pembina. 

Even in the 1880 settlements with noticeable numbers of Pembina ancestors, however, 
the ancestors linked to Pembina were a minority of the Indian or Metis population. The 
Judith Basin district had 31 Indian households clustered together, but only 8 of those 
households included Pembina Metis ancestors. The St. Peter's Mission district had 27 
Metis families, but only 7 of those families included Dakota Metis ancestors. Other 
households in these districts contained individuals who had been born in Dakota. In 
addition, some of the individuals who had been born in Canada may have lived in . 
Pembina or St. Joseph, but the available evidence does not reveal this information. In 
addition to the 8 households of ancestors in the concentration of Indian households in the 
Judith Basin district, another 6 households of non-ancestors contained individuals who 
had been born in Dakota or been listed on the 1850 Pembina census. Thus, 14 of the 31 
Indian households in the Judith Basin in 1880 had demonstrable ties to Dakota. It 
appears, therefore, that while the new Metis settlement in .he Judith Basin included 
Pembina Metis, it had been formed of Metis individuals of diverse origins. 

A study of the Metis in the combined districts of St. Peter's Mission and the South Fork 
of the Sun River on the 1880 census of Montana Territory showed that the majority of the 
Metis adults there had been born in Canada, and that only 28 percent (26 of 94) of the 
Metis adults had been born in either Dakota or Minnesota. Some of those adults born in 
Canada could have lived at Pembina or St. Joseph in Dakota before migrating to 
Montana, but, if so, they appear riot to have remained long enough to have had any large 
number of children born there. There were actually fewer Metis children than Metis 
adults in these two Montana settlements who had been born in Dakota or Minnesota. The 
majority of Metis children had been born in Montana, although almost half of the children 
born before 1875 had been born in Canada. Only 11 percent (17 of 158) of the Metis 
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children had been born in either Dakota or Minnesota. None of the children born after 
1875 had been born in Dakota or Minnesota, suggesting that there may have been few, if 
any, recent migrants from Dakota in these settlements (LaPier 1997, 115-116). Thus, 
while some Pembina Metis migrated to the settlement at 51. Peter's Mission, and perhaps 
the South Fork of the Sun River, these settlements were not Pembina Metis communities. 
At S1. Peter's Mission and along the Front Range, Metis settlements appear to have 
consisted mostly of Canadian Metis. 

A concentration of 31 Indian households on the 1880 census corresponds in size and 
family names to the party of about 25 families described by county histories and oral 
histories as the original Metis settlers of what would become Lewistown and its vicinity. 
In 1880, the census taker listed 61 households in the Judith Basin. One section of this 
census included 30 consecutive households in which the household head was identified as 
an "Indian." One household away was a non-Indian household which included "Indian" 
employees. It appears that these Indian families were living in relatively close proximity 
to one another since the census taker enumerated all of these households between June 10 
anJ June 12 (Census 1880, 427b-429b). The men in this Indian settlement were primarily 
hunters and farmers. This cluster of Indian settlers included 58 individuals born in 
Canada and 54 individuals born in Dakota. Only ten of the adults born in Dakota were 
over the age of 30, and the oldest person born in Dakota was 57. This age distribution 
-suggests that those who chose to migrate from Dakota were relatively young. The 
youngest person born in Dakota was seven years old. This fact matches the oral history 
accounts of a party from Dakota which followed the buffalo herds for about seven years 
before deciding to settle in the Judith Basin. 

The birthplaces and birthdates of the children of the 1880 Judith Basin ancestors of the 
petitioner provide evidence about how they migrated to Montana. Peter or Pierre Berger 
and his wife Judith Wilkie lived in the Judith Basin with six children and ten 
grandchildren. The Bergers had sons aged 37 and 35 born in Canada, and sons 32, 28, 
and 25. and a daughter 16 born in Dakota. All ten of their grandchildren, between the 
ages of 5 months and 9 years, were born in Montana. Therefore, the Berger's extended 
family had left Dakota after 1864 (the year their last child was born there), and arrived in 
Montana before 1871 (the year their first grandchild was born there). Joseph Doney had a 
9-year-old child born in Dakota, a 5-year-old child born in Canada, and a 3-year-old child 
born in Montana. This evidence indicates that his family left Dakota after 1871 and 
arrived in Montana from Canada between 1875 and 1877. Moses LaTray's two eldest 
children, age 9 and 8 years, were born in Dakota. His next two chiJdren, age 6 and 5 
years, were born in Canada. His youngest, a 2-month-old infant, was born in Montana; 
This evidence indicates that his family left Dakota after 1872 and arrived in Montana 
from Canada between 1875 and 1880 (Census 1880, 428a).25 None of these three 

2' The similarity in names and ages of 1850 Pembina Davis families to the names. birthplaces. and ages of 
the 1880 Judith Basin Davis families. coupled with the proximity of the 1880 Davis families to the 1880 
Berger families with a known Pembina background. implies that the Davis families may also have 
originated in Pembina (Census 1880, 428a; White Weasel n_d., 117). There are Davis ancestors in the 
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families of ancestors migrated directly from Dakota to the Judith Basin. Although the 
Doney and LaTray families had similar migration patterns, this evidence reveals that all 
three of these families did not migrate together as a group prior to settling in the Judith 
Basin. 

In August 1880, the members of a Metis buffalo-hunting party, which was camped on the 
Musselshell River in central Montana, presented a petition to the U.S. Army commander 
at Fort Keough on the Yellowstone River with the request that it be submitted to the 
Government in Washington (Riel 1985,2:223-227). The petition was delivered by Louis 
Riel, the Metis leader who had been temporarily exiled from Canada. Riel had lived near 
St. Joseph for part of 1879, and in 1880 was a member of, and perhaps a leader of, this 
group of Metis hunters. The petition asked that land in Montana be set aside as a 
reservation for the Metis. This request was not granted. According to the scholar 
Thomas Flanagan, who has studied this Metis petition, the Indian agent at the Crow 
Reservation recommended against the creation of a Metis reservation on the grounds that 
they were "British subjects" descended from the Canadian Cree. Flanagan noted that a 
request for a reservation for the Metis "was deeply at variance" with traditional American 
Indian policy. Although Riel did not sign the petition himself, his leadership was 
apparent, Flanagan concluded, in his cover letter to accompany the presentation of the 
petition to the Anny (Flanagan 1985, 182-185, 189). The petition referred to the Metis as 
neither white nor Indian, but as related to "several tribes" of the area (Riel 1985.2:224). 
Riel's goal, Flanagan concluded, was the establishment of a "recognized metis 'nation' as 
an enduring collective presence different from either Indians or whites" (Flanagan 1985. 
189). The petition did not assert any affiliation with the Chippewa at Turtle Mountain, 
nor acknowledge any authority of Little Shell. 

The petition contained the names of 101 men (Riel 1985,2:225-226). At least 43 of the 
101 men who were listed on this petition in 1880 were ancestors of members of the 
current petitioning group. Four of them had been present in the Red River Settlement in 
1870.26 Flanagan concluded that all the signatures, except the first 14, were in Riel's 
hand. Flanagan's examination of the backgrounds of the 10) signatories of this petition 
led him to conclude that 43 had been affiliated predominantly with the American 
communities of St. Joseph or Pembina, that 40 had been affiliated predominantly with the 
Canadian community of White Horse Plains CSt. Francois-Xavier Parish). and that 18 
could not be classified. Flanagan defined "community affiliation" as "the location where 
the individual appears to have spent the longest part of his life before migrating to 
Montana .... " At least 16 of the 43 men from St. Joseph I Pembina actually had been 
born north of the border. These Metis petitioners in 1880, Flanagan concluded, did not 
form a lasting community but "certainly dispersed." Some remained in Montana to 

petitioner's ancestry with Turtle Mountain Pembina descent, but there is not enough evidence at this time to 
connect them to the Davis families of the Judith Basin. 

26 These four ancestors were Baptiste Gardipee, Bonaventure Gardipee, Alexander Moran, and John Ross 
(Riel 1985. 2:225-226). 
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establish settlements at Lewistown and the S1. Peter's Mission, he said, while others 
returned to the Turtle Mountain Reservation and to Canada (Flanagan 1985, 183, 186-
189).27 

The area between the Missouri River and Milk River was settled by the Doney (or, 
Deloney) family, one of the largest of the petitioning group's family lines. Lalley Doney 
settled in the area which would become Phillips County in the early 1880's, according to 
county histories. It is possible, of course, that Doney remained in this area when the 
Metis in the vicinity of the Milk River moved, or were removed, to the Judith Basin. 
Doney was born in Montreal in 1848 and may have lived at Pembina in 1850. According 
to a county history of Phillips County, the Doney family made its pennanent home north 
of the Missouri River in the Larb Hills, which are just east of modem Malta and adjacent 
to the Milk River (see Figure I). Another county history, however, referred to Doney's 
residence as the mouth of Fourchette Creek, on the Missouri almost opposite the mouth 
of the Musselshell River. The petitioner's researchers have referred to an area of Metis 
settlement along the Missouri south of the Little Rockies, and south of the modem Fort 
Belknap Reservation, as the "Doney Flats" area (Phillips Comm. 1962, n.p.; Phillips H.S. 
1978, 48; Roy Comm. 1990, 22; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 58). This area of Montana 
north of the Missouri River was not fonnally open for settlement until those lands, which 
had been established as a reservation in 1874, were ceded by several tribes to the United 
States by an agreement which was ratified and approved in 1888. Three reservations -­
Fort Peck, Fort Belknap. and Blackfeet -- were excluded from this cession (Statutes 
1888). 

County histories indicate that a number of the petitioner's ancestors were located in 
north-central Montana prior to 1892. Archie Amiott helped to establish a trading post at 
the mouth of the Musselshell River on the Missouri in the summer of 1882. John and 
Virginia Doney and Eli and Marie Gardipee settled in the area of Fort Maginnis, northeast 
of Lewistown. Their children Joseph H. Doney. born in 1888, and Julia A. Gardipee, 
born in 1890, married and homesteaded in the same area as their parents. Sam Harvey. 
although born in Teton County in 1889, spent his childhood in Havre and later 
homesteaded northwest of Harlem. Maggie Pellitier was born in 1889 in what is now 
Phillips County, and later homesteaded in southern Phillips County. Alexzina LaRocque 
was born in 1890 east of Lewistown near Grass Range, and later homesteaded south of 
Roy in Fergus County. James Kipp was born in 1891 at the Old Agency near Browning, 
where his father operated a trading post, and later homesteaded at the mouth of Cow 
Creek on the Missouri River in Blaine County. Joseph Y. Doney was born in ) 891 near 
Malta, married Tillie Rose Gardipee in Lewistown, and then ranched in Fergus County 
(Phillips H.S. 1978,300; Centennial Comm. 1989,362,390; Roy Comm. 1990,5,73-74, 

27 A temporary seasonal presence of some of the Metis from the Turtle Mountain region in the Judith 
Basin of Montana to hunt buffalo was noted as late as 1884 by Agent John W. Cramsie of the Devil's Lake 
Agency. The agent was given this infonnation by a delegation of Turtle Mountain Chippewa which sought 
to assure him that a party reported as coming into the vicinity to commit depredations was in fact a party 
returning from a hunt (BIA 6/4/1884). 
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TABLE 7 

MIGRATION TO MONTANA OF PETITIONER'S 1835 RED RIVER ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant Location Descendants 
1835 Anc~stor in MQgtana in MQntaga I in MontilDa in PetitiQnl:r ~ 

Alexis Belgarde (b. 1800 ca.] child 1868 birth grchild Milk River 96 

Louis Gardipee [b.1782] child 1874 birth grchild Sun River 126 

Charles Gladue [b. 1776] grandchild 1878 birth g'grchild "Harlem" 70 

Eusebe LeDeoux [b.l811] child 1879 birth grchild Yellowstone [R.] 159 

Andre Trottier [b.1791] child 1880 census Ft. Benton 26 

Oliver LaRoque [b.1797] grandchild 1880 census FI. Benton 126 

Jean Baptiste Wilkie (b. ?] grandchild 1880 census Lewistown 259 

Antoine Houle [b.1787] grandchild 1880 birth g'grchild Chester 107 

Peter Whitford [b.1795] grandchild 1883 per application Choteau Co. 34 

James Anderson [b. 1775] grandchild 1883 per application Choteau Co. 34 

James Short [b. I 809] grandchild 1885 birth g' grchild Malta 152 

Joseph LaFoumaise [b. 1776] g'grandchild 1900 c. 2g'grchild [Valley Co.] IS 

Angus McGillis [b.I775] grandchild 1902 birth g' grchild Dupuyer 38 

George Fidler [b.<IS07) g'grandchild 1926 birth 2g'grchild [Blaine Co.] 10 

John Kipling [b. 1770] 3g'grandchild 1931 birth 4g'grchild Teton Co. 25 

George Kipling [b.1801] 2g'grandchild 1931 birth 3g' grchild Teton Co. 25 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880; Interior 711611917 I McLaughlin roll); BIA 1937 (Roe Ooud roll applications]; 
McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's Mission records]; White Weasel n.d., 106·124 [1850 census); Petitioner's ancestry charts. 

NOTES; 
See Table I for additional information about the petitioner's 1835 ancestors. 
I Some dates of birth and dates of marriage are estimates. 
l Because some of the petitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals. this colulTUl can not 
be added to obtain a total. 
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TABLE 8 

MIGRATION TO MONTANA OF PETITIONER'S 1850 PEMBINA ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant Location Descendants 
1850 Ancestor in M2!l11lDll in Montanll' in M21l111Dll in f!:tiliQn!:r Z 

Alexis Belgarde child 1868 birth grchild Milk River 44 

Michael Kline child 1869 birth grchild "Lewistown" 37 

Francois St. Pierre child 1869 birth grchild "Lewistown " 37 

Francois Fayant child 1878 birth grchild S1. Peter's 129 

Andrew Trotchie child 1880 census Ft. Benton 26 

Pierre Berger self 1880 census Judith Basin 189 

John Baptiste Charette child 1880 census Judith Basin 33 

Joseph Doney self 1880 census Judith Basin 536 

Joseph Goumeau [Sr.] grandchild 1880 census Judith Basin 55 

Joseph Goumeau [Jr.J child 1880 census Judith Basin 55 

Pierre Laverdure self 1880 census Judith Basin 168 

John Baptiste Wilkie child 1880 census Judith Basin 293 

Gabriel Azure self 1880 census SI. Peter's 328 

Antoine LaPierre child 1880 census St. Peter's 79 

Antoine Azure child 1880 census St. Peter's 61 

Charles Azure, Sr. child 1880 census St. Peter's 59 

Edward Wells grandchild 1880 marriage Judith Basin 46 

Frank Kline child 1882 birth grchi1d [Valley Co.l 96 

Charles Peltchie grandchild 1883 birth g'grchild Choteau Co. 104 

Louis Landrie grandchild 1893 marriage St. Peter's 24 

, John Moursette child 1896 birth grchild Aathead Co. 10 

Jean Baptiste LaFournaise grandchild 1900 birth g' grchild [Valley Co.J 15 

Joseph Renville grandchild 1907 birth g' grchild Wolf Point 19 

John Baptiste Davis grandchild 1919 birth g' grchild Wolf Point 18 

Antoine Houle [Sr.J grandchild 1934 birth g' grchild Blaine Co. 18 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880; Interior 7/16/ 1917 [McLaughlin roll]; BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applications); 
McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's Mission records); White Weasel n.d., 106·124 [1850 census]; Petitioner's ancestry charts. 

NOTES: 
See Table 2 for additional information about the petitioner's 1850 ancestors. 
, Some dates of birth are and dates of marriage estimates. 
l Because some of the petitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals. this column can not 

be added to obtain a total. 
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159,483). 

A variety of sources - including the Federal census, St. Peter's Mission marriage and 
baptismal records, enrollment application files of the Office of Indian Affairs, and the 
petitioner's membership records - provide evidence about when and where members of 
the petitioner's families arrived in Montana (Census 1880; Interior 7/1611917; BlA 1937; 
McFarlane 1981; White Weasel n.d., 106-124). The petitioner has not attempted such an 
analysis using these sources. The large number of the petitioner's members, and much 
larger number of the petitioner's ancestors, prevents a comprehensive analysis of the 
migration of the ancestors of the petitioner's members to Montana. However, a 
meaningful analysis of migration to Montana can be made, even if it is based on a 
selective segment of the ancestors of the petitioner's members, by using various cohorts 
of the petitioner's ancestors found on pre-1892 lists: the residents of the British Red 
River Settlement about 1835 and 1870, the residents of Pembina County in 1850, and the 
scrip recipients under the treaties with the Pembina Band of 1863 and 1864. 

Members of the petitioning group descend from at least 16 men who resided in the British 
Red River Settlement before 1835. The available evidence indicates that none of these 
men migrated to Montana, but that their children, grandchildren, and great grandchildren 
did so (see Table 7). The earliest arrival in Montana of a descendant of an 1835 ~esident 
of the Red River Settlement was about 1868, when one resident had a grandchild born 
along the Milk River. This could be evidence, of course, only of a seasonal presence of 
Red River residents in Montana while hunting buffalo. All the other evidence of the 
arrival in Montana of descendants of 1835 Red River Settlement residents dates after 
1874 and, therefore, after the 1870 Riel rebellion in Manitoba. The majority of the 1835 
ancestors had a descendant arrive in Montana before the 1885 Riel rebellion and before 
the 1892 Turtle Mountain agreement. There is clear evidence of only one 19th-century 
arrival on the Front Range, a birth on the Sun River. The available evidence indicates 
that most of the 19th-century migrants arrived in north-central Montana or in the vicinity 
of Fort Benton (see Table 7). 

Members of the petitioning group descend from at least 25 families on the 1850 census of 
the Pembina district. The 1850 census included only the earliest settlers at Pembina, of 
course, and in the years after 1850 members of other Pembina or St. Joseph families who 
had not been on the 1850 census likely were leaving for Montana as well. A tentative 
arrival date in Montana can be ascertained for these 25 families who were at Pembina in 
1850 (see Table 8). This evidence indicates that members of at least 76 percent (19 of 
25) of these family lines arrived in Montana before the creation of the Turtle Mountain 
Reservation in 1884, and before the 1892 agreement. This evidence also suggests that the 
migration to the west may have begun in the late 1860's. The ages and birthplaces of the 
children of descendants listed on the 1880 census of Montana show that these families 
arrived in Montana between about 1871 and 1879. Three of the eight household heads 
whose descendants arrived after 1880 were at the Red River Settlement in 1870, and their 
descendants may have migrated to Montana from Canada. Only 4 of the 25 heads of 
households at Pembina in 1850 migrated to Montana themselves. It was the children of 
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these 1850 Pembina families, rather than the family heads, who left for Montana (see 
Table 8). 

The pattern of migration to Montana of the descendants of the 28 ancestors of the 
petitioner's members who received treaty land scrip as "mixed blood" relatives of the 
Pembina Band waS similar to that of the descendants of the 1850 residents of Pembina 
County, in part because 11 of the 28 scrip recipients also had been counted on the 1850 
census. The available evidence indicates that 8 of the 28 recipients of treaty scrip 
migrated to Montana themselves, and did so before the creation of the Turtle Mountain 
reservation in 1884. At least 64 percent (18 of 28) of the scrip recipients arrived or had a 
descendant arrive in Montana prior to the 1892 agreement (see Table 9). Half of the pre-
1892 migrants first appeared in historical records in Montana as residents of the 
Lewistown and Judith Basin region. The other early migrants settled in north-central 
Montana or within the jurisdiction of St. Peter's Mission. Most of the late migrants, 
those whose arrival in Montana can not be dated prior to 1910, settled in the northeastern comer of the state. Only 1 of the 28 scrip recipients clearly had a descendant settle on the 
Front Range. The ten scrip recipients who had descendants arrive in Montana after the 
1892 agreement have relatively few descendants in the petitioner'S -current membership 
(see Table 9). Thus, the petitioner's members who descend from treaty scrip recipients 
descend disproportionately from those family lines which had arrived in Montana by the early 1880's. 

Members of the petitioning group descend from at least 46 individuals who were living in the British Red River Settlement in 1870. The available evidence indicates that only 8 of these 46 men migrated to Montana themselves. It was overwhelmingly the children or 
grandchildren of these 1870 Red River residents who migrated to Montana (see 
Table 10). The available evidence indicates that the descendants of 17 of these 46 men 
were in Montana prior to 1885. Thus, most of these Red River Metis did not have 
descendants arrive in Montana until after the 1885 Metis rebellion. All five of the 1870 
Red River settlers who also had been' on the 1850 census of Pembina had a descendant arrive in Montana by 1893. If this analysis of migration from the Red River Settlement is 
limited to residents who had not previously been on the Pembina census of 1850, then the descendants of at least 63 percent (26 of 41) of these residents of the Red Ri ver 
Settlement arrived in Montana after 1885, and thus after the failure of the rebellion of that 
year. The descendants of the 1870 residents of the Red River Settlement were more 
likely than the descendants of the 1850 residents of Pembina to migrate to locations west 
of the Missouri River and Fort Benton. The largest difference between these two groups 
of ancestors is that while 11 of 46 descendants of Red River Settlement ancestors 
migrated to a location on the Front Range other than St. Peter's Mission, only I of 25 
descendants of Pembina ancestors migrated to a location west and north of St. Peter's 
(see Table 8 and Table 10). 

Some of the early settlers of Montana who had documented past links to the Pembina 
Metis or the Turtle Mountain band were denied Turtle Mountain membership in the early 
20th century. When John B. Berger, Sr., applied for membership in the Turtle Mountain 
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TABLE 9 

MIGRATION TO MONT ANA OF PETITIONER'S 1863 TREATY SCRIP ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant Location Descendants 
1863 Ancestor inMQIlIl!!ll! in Montana t ill MQlllana in fellliQner " 

Antoine Gladeau child 1877 marriage Milk River 68 

Frank Courchane self 1877 per McLaughlin [Cascade Co.J 9 

Charles Trotchie [Trottier] self 1880 census Ft. Benton 27 

Pierre Berser self 1880 census Judith Basin 183 

John Charette self 1880 census Judith Basin 33 

John B. Charette [Sr.] child 1880 census Judith Basin 33 

Joseph Goumeau [Jr.J grandchild 1880 census Judith Basin 74 

Joseph Goumeau [3d] child 1880 census Judith Basin 29 

Pierre Laverdure self 1880 census Judith Basin 166 

John Baptiste Wilkie [Sr.) child 1880 census Judith Basin 287 

Charles [Charlience] Azure self 1880 census SI. Peter's 57 

Charles Azure [Sr.) child 1880 census SI. Peter's 57 

Gabriel Azure self 1880 census SI. Peter's 227 

Daniel Wells child 1880 marriage Judith Basin 58 

Joseph Dussome child 1881 marriage Malta 258 

Paul Kipling child 1881 birth grchild Lewistown 26 

Antoine [La Belle] Azure self 1884 birth child St. Peter's 18 

Joseph Amelin [Hameline] a child 1885 birth grchild a" Choteau Co. ? b 

Antoine LaPlante grandchild 1898 birth g' grchild Toole Co. 10 

Jonas Emely [Amlin] child 1912 birth grchild Phillips Co. 33 

Louis Thomas, Jr. grandchild 1913 birth g'grchild Fergus Co. I 

Joseph Jerome child 1913 birth grchild Sheridan Co. 3 

Charles St. Arneau grandchild 1913 birth g'grchild Sheridan Co. 3 

Pierre Bottineau grandchild 1914 birth g'grchild Wolf Point 9 

Joe Flammand [Flament] child 1915 birth grchild Pondera Co. 9 

Isadore Wallette grandchild 1933 birth g'grchild Ft. Peck 5 

Joseph Wallette g'grandchild 1933 birth 2g'grchild Ft. Peck 5 

Pete Flarnmand [Pierre Flament] child 1937 application Roosevelt Co. 6 

SOURCES; U.S. Census 1880; Interior 7/1611917 [McLaughlin roll); BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applications); 
McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's Mission records); White Weasel n.d., 106-124 [1850 census); Petitioner's ancestry charts. 
NOTES; 
See Table 3 for additional infonnation about the petitioner's ancestors who received 1863 treaty scrip. 
t Some dates of birth and dates of marriage are estimates. 
1 Because some of the petitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals, this column can not 

be added to obtain a total. 
• Joseph Francis Amelin or Joe Emely in petitioner's ancestry. •• Descendant of Joseph F. Amelin. 
b Undetermined; possibly 68 (Joseph Amelin), 56 (Joe Emily), or 124 (combined). 
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TABLE 10 

MIGRATION TO MONTANA OF PETITIONER'S 1870 RED RIVER ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Dale Descendant Location Descendants 
1870 AncestQr io MQDli!Oa in MQOtarJi! I in MonWlil in Petitione[ 1 

Bonaventure Gardipee self 1874 birth child Sun River 16 
James (Napolean) Whiteford self 1874 birth child ? 72 
Modeste McGillis self 1875 birth child "Fergus Co:' 18 
Hugh Ross child 1877 birth grchild "Wolf Point"' 27 
John J. Ross self 1877 birth child "WolfPoinC 27 
Francois Fayant child 1878 birth grchild SI. Peter's 126 
Calaise LaFountain child 1879 marriage SI. Peter's 236 
Oliver laRoque child 1879 birth grchild Yellowstone [R.] 104 
Eli Paranteau self 1879 birth child Yellowstone [R.] 104 
Joseph Paranteau child 1879 birth grchild Yellowstone [R.] 104 
Alexander Gardipee self 1880 census Choteau Co. 81 
Baptiste Gardipee self 1880 census Teton River 29 
Louis Gardipee grandchild 1880 census Ft. Benton 182 
Andre Trottier / Trotchie child 1880 census Ft. Benton 26 
Daniel Wells self 1880 census Ft. Benton 60 
Antoine Houle [b.1787] grandchild 1883 birth g'grchild "Rocky Boy" 107 
Charles Peltier grandchild 1883 birth g'grchild Choteau Co. 104 
Alexander McGillis grandchild 1885 birthg'grchlld Phillips Co. 254 
Moses Carrier child 1886 birth grchild [Teton Co.] 26 
Emmanuel Champagne grandchild 1886 birth g' grchild [Teton Co.] 26 
Joseph Laverdure grandchild 1890 birth g' grchild Dearborn River 54 
lohn Swan / Swain child 1890 birth grchild Dearborn River 54 
Louis Landry grandchild 1893 marriage SI. Peter's 24 
Moses Landry child 1893 marriage St. Peter's 24 
lean Baptiste Fayant grandchild 1894 birth g' grchild Valley Co. 36 
Angus McGiIIis child 1894 birth grchild Valley Co. 38 
lean Baptiste Trottier child 1897 birth grchild Blaine Co. 82 
Cuthbert McGillis grandchild 1902 birth g' grchild Pondera Co. 38 
loseph Pocha [Sr.] grandchild 1902 birth g' grchild Lewis & Clark Co. 79 
Joseph Pocha [Jr.] child 1902 birth grchild Lewis & Clark Co. 79 
Jean Baptiste LaFrambois grandchild 1905 birth g'grchild Cascade Co. 25 
Alexander Bremner grandchild 1906 birth g' grchild Milk River 14 
Charles Bremner child 1906 birth grchild Milk River 14 
Andrew SI. Germaine child 1907 birth grchild Wolf Point 7 
Francois SI. Germaine [Sr.] grandchild 1907 birth g' grchild Wolf Point 47 
John Baptiste Dubois child 1910 birth grchild Hill Co. 15 

, Francois Dubois grandchild 1910 birth g' grchild Hill Co. 15 
Andre Desjarlais grandchild 1919 birth g'grchild Wolf Point 18 
Alexander Jeannotte child 1919 birth grchild Phillips Co. 74 
Leander SL Germaine grandchild 1919 birth g'grchild Wolf Point 27 
William Fiddler g' grchild 1926 birth 2g' grchild [Blaine Co.] 10 
Francois St Germaine [Jr.] grandchild 1927 birth g'grchild Roosevelt Co. 13 
George Ram Kipling [Jr.] g'grchild 1931 birth 2g'grchild Teton Co. 25 
George Kipling [Sr.] 2g'grchild 1931 birth 3g'grchild Teton Co. 25 
Alexander Moran g'grchild 1949 birth 2g'grchild Wolf Point 9 
Louis Moran 2g'grchild 1949 birth 3g'grchild Wolf Point 9 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880; Interior 7/1611917 [Mclaughlin roll]; BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applications]; 
McFarlane 1981 [SI. Peter's Mission records); White Weasel n.d., 106-124 [1850 census); Petitioner's ancestry chans. 

NOTES: 
See Table 4 for additional information about the petitioner's 1870 ancestors. 
I Some dates of binh and dates of marriage are estimates. I Because some of the petitioner's members are 

descendants of more than one of these indiViduals, this column can not be added to obtain a total. 
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band in 1905, the agency superintendent rejected it on the grounds that Berger, of 
Lewistown, had not resided in the vicinity of the North Dakota reservation since 1871 
(BlA 31161l905b). Also in 1905, the superintendent sought to cancel the enrollment of 
Vital Turcotte of Montana on the grounds that his personal interview with Turcotte in 
Montana revealed that "he had not been on the ... reservation, or with the tribe but once 
in the last 27 years," or since about 1878 (BlA 9/2611905). Other ties of the petitioner's 
ancestors to North Dakota have been asserted, but not documented. Myrtle Bushman 
Reardon of Choteau claimed that before her father had settled in the Choteau area, about 
1877, he had been born near Fort Benton and had "spent most of his time down around 
Turtle Mountain and in Fort Benton," although those places were separated by more than 
500 miles (Reardon 1994, 22). The granddaughter of some of the first settlers of Fergus 
County, Marie Doney Morin, suggested that the "French Canadian" Metis who settled the 
area had moved from the East into North Dakota, then to Canada, and then to Montana. 
If her own grandparents had resided in North Dakota, they clearly had arrived in 
Montana, judging by the date and place of birth of their children, before the late 1880's 
(Roy Comm. 1990, 159). 

An analysis of the migration to Montana by the petitioner's ancestors based on the 
cohorts of the 1835 and 1870 residents of the Red River Settlement, the 1850 residents of 
Pembina County, and the 1863 treaty scrip recipients reveals little about the origins of the 
petitioner's ancestors who settled along the Front Range. A history of Teton County, 
however, has revealed that several of the petitioner's ancestors apparently settled in 
Montana along the Front Range during the 1870's or early 1880's. Michael Gray and his 
wife Caroline Campion were said to have moved west of Choteau in 1872, and then to 
have continued to live on the Teton [Tansey] River. The Ameline family was said to 
have settled in the area of Augusta in 1875. Daughter Frezine Ameline was born in 
Canada before the move to Montana, and son Alfred Ameline was born in 1886 in a camp 
near Augusta. Adolph Bushman, reportedly born in a buffalo camp north of Fort Benton 
in 1862 to French Canadian parents, was said to have moved to Teton County in 1877 
and eventually to have settled on a homestead in the Deep Creek area. Joseph Bruno was 
born in Canada, immigrated to Montana in 1880, and became a resident on the Front 
Range. Baptiste Guardipee, who was born in the Red River Settlement in 1832, was 
described as having acquired a ranch in 1882 about 18 miles from Choteau (Teton 
Comm. 1988, 101, 122, 127, 136, 192; BAR 1998). 

Metis families who arrived from Canada in flight from the failed Riel rebellion of 1885 
were among the earliest people to settle along northern Montana's Front Range, 
according to local histories of the Choteau area and Teton County (Hansen 1980; Teton 
Comm. 1988). Both these county histories and the oral histories of members of the 
petitioning group indicate that these Metis migrants included some ancestors of the 
petitioner's members. These immigrants moved south down the eastern slopes of the 
Rockies and settled in various places. Non-Indian residents of Teton County said that 
they had been told stories by the local Indians or Metis of how their ancestors had come 
to the Choteau area after the Riel rebellion and "hid out" along the mountains (Kenck 
1994a, 6-7). After the Riel rebellion, another non-Indian resident said, the Metis "fled 
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down here. They settled up in the foothills ... and wherever they could without being 
disturbed in the canyons" (Zion 1994, 5). The petitioner's members along the Front 
Range remain proud today that their ancestors "rode with Riel" (FD 1998). 

Some of these Metis immigrants to Montana after the Riel rebellion settled in the canyon 
on the South Fork of the Teton River, 25 miles west of Choteau (see Figure 6). A local 
history therefore referred to this settlement as the "Canyon People" (Teton Comm. 1988, 
14). In 1896, there reportedly were 10 to 15 cabins in the South Fork canyon (Hansen 
1980, 12). At its peak, according to a county history, the South Fork Canyon Metis 
settlement consisted of over 100 residents and about two dozen dwellings. By 1914, 
when the local school closed, however, most of the younger South Fork Canyon residents 
were moving out of the mountains (Hansen 1980, 18; Teton Comm. 1988,221). Among 
the first settlers on the South Fork Canyon of the Teton River after 1885 were Basil 
LaRance, Sr., and his wife Marguerite or Margaret, ancestors of the petitioner. The first 
burial in the Metis cemetery in the canyon was that of Marguerite LaRance, who died in 
1890 (Teton Comm. 1988,15,221; A. Wiseman 1994,21). These early Metis settlers 
also included the Bruno or Brunneau, St. Germaine, and Gray families which have 
descendants in the petitioning group (Teton Comm. 1988, 14-15). Other Metis families 
joined this Teton Canyon settlement, apparently during the 1890's. Frezine Ameline and 
Joseph Bruno, who were married about 1890, settled on the South Fork of the Teton and 
.raised eleven children there (Hansen 1980, 12; Teton Comm. 1988, 127). The family of 
Morris or Jacob "Jack" Jocko and Angeline McMilIum, who had four sons born in 
Canada before 1885, settled in the Teton Canyon about 1892 (Teton Comm. 1988, 215). 

The Dupuyer area of the Front Range was settled by Boushie and Salois families which 
have descendants in the membership of the petitioning group (see Figure 6). The Salois 
brothers, Gabriel, Toussaint, and Sam, arrived from Canada and settled on Dupuyer 
Creek after the Riel rebellion (Dupuyer Comm. 1977, 157; Nault 1977, 16). Ellen Salois, 
who was born in Alberta, migrated to the Dupuyer area in 1888 (Teton Comm. 1988, 
137). The petitioner's researchers say that their informants were able, in 1994, to reveal 
the location of the Salois family's "contiguous homesteads" on Dupuyer Creek, west of 
Dupuyer (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 59). William Boushie was a "Cree-French" Metis 
from Canada according to his grandson, and Shoshone, Cree, and French according to 
application records at Rocky Boy's reservation (Nault 1977, 1, 11; Interior 6/26/1917).28 
According to the recollections of his grandson, Boushie first moved from Canada to Red 
Lake, Minnesota. in the late 1870's. He then led a group of "mostly mixed bloods" up the 
Missouri River in an expedition that took several years. Boushie first trapped in the area 
from Augusta to the Canadian border and then moved to St. Peter's Mission when he had 
children of school age. His first homesteading site was about 15 miles south of Dupuyer, 
and his second site was about 18 miles west of Dupuyer. His grandson gave no dates for 

28 The petitioner's researchers claim that the Boushies or Bushies "appear to have been Pembina Metis," 
and cite Fred Nault, Boushie's grandson, as their source (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 59, citing Nault 1977, 
n.p.). However, Nault's account of William Boushie's life makes no mention of Pembina, St. Joseph, or 
Turtle Mountain. 
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these homesteading efforts, but said that Boushie moved away from Dupuyer in 1917 
when he was denied the right to homestead, or failed to prove up his homestead (Nault 
1977, 1-14). Another explanation for the move from Dupuyer is that Boushie was 
enrolled at Rocky Boy's reservation in 1917. 

The historian Larry Burt concluded that Little Bear's band of Cree made its winter camp 
in 1886 on a creek fifteen miles west of Augusta, where it was only one-quarter mile from 
a camp of Metis on a different creek (Burt 1987. 200). Some ancestors of the petitioner 
settled in the vicinity of Choteau and Augusta, but the available accounts are not clear on 
the specific areas of settlement or the specific dates of settlement. The family of 
Alphonse Carrier and Angeline Grant, who were married in Canada and had sons born at 
Fort Assiniboine in 1885 and Malta in 1894, moved to the Choteau area in the early 
1900's (Teton Comm. 1988, 140-141). Cecelia LaRance Wiseman. descended from Basil 
LaRance on her father's side, recalled that her mother's family had settled in the 
Sweetgrass Hills area of Montana before moving to the Choteau area at an unknown date 
(C. Wiseman 1994a, 15-16). 

Because they feared deportation to Canada, a local history argued, the Metis settlers in the 
canyon on the South Fork of the Teton "stayed close to the canyon" (Teton Comm. 1988. 
14). Myrtle Bushman Reardon of Choteau, a member of the petitioning group. recalled 
that her mother would not talk about having migrated to Montana from Canada after the 
Riel rebellion because of her fear of being "transported" back to Canada (Reardon 1994, 
8-10). An attempted removal of Canadian Indians from Montana gave credence and 
emphasis to these fears. Congress passed an act in 1896 to provide "for the deportation 
of refugee Canadian Cree Indians" from Montana (Statutes 1896). Canadian officials 
expected that Metis individuals would not be removed with the Cree. The U.S. Anny 
collected Indians presumed to be Cree and escorted them to the Canadian border. 
Historians of this removal have concluded, however, that most of the Cree returned to 
Montana (Dusenberry 1954. ~; Allison 1968, 56; Wessel 1974, 18; Burt 1987. 202-203). 
A county history stated that the Metis settlers in the South Fork canyon attempted to 
remain "out of sight" during the removal of the Canadian Cree in 1896 (Teton Comm. 
1988, 15). 

From the available sources. 22 families of the petitioner's ancestors can be identified as 
settlers along the Front Range prior to the 1910 Federal census. These 22 families 
consisted of 39 identifiable individual spouses. An American origin can be attributed to 
one or both spouses in six of these 22 families. 29 In each of these six families, one spouse 
or his or her parents appeared either on the 1850 Pembina census or in a historical source 
which indicated that they had been born in Minnesota Territory or a location in modem 

19 The six families are those of Caroline Campion Gray, Henry M. Ford and his wife Mary Ann 
Courchene, Moses LaPierre, Pascal LaPier, Alfred Ameline. and Frezine Ameline Bruno. If the analysis is 
e1tpanded beyond the Front Range to include the Rocley Mountains generally. then there was an additional 
family of early settlers whkh included 1850 Pembina resident John Moursette, who was in Flathead County 
and had a child born there before 1910. 
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North Dakota. The dates of birth of all of these ancestors were 1860 or earlier. An 
American origin can be attributed to seven of the 39 individual spouses. The available 
evidence indicates that an additional II of these 22 Front Range families had originated 
in the British Red River Settlement, or had descent from someone there, without any 
known descent or connection to Pembina or Dakota. These families contained 13 spouses 
who had origins in the British Red River Settlement. The other five of the 22 Front 
Range families had descent from ancestors born somewhere in Canada. 

The ancestors of the petitioner's members who were early settlers in Montana, whether at 
Lewistown, the Highline, or the Front Range, were described in both the oral histories of 
the petitioner's members and the biographical sketches in local histories as having lived 
on "homesteads." It is not clear whether these sources used the term "homestead" merely 
to refer to a residence or to state factually that these settlers had acquired land ownership 
under the terms of the Homestead Act. The petitioner's researchers have said that, "in 
many cases," the Metis in Montana "applied for formal homestead rights under the 
Homestead Act" as citizens (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 57). Both oral histories and local 
histories described ancestors of the petitioner's members as having had homesteads, both 
in their own right and through marriage to non-Indian settlers, along the Front Range and 
north of the Missouri River in the Highline area (Nault 1977, 16; Teton Comm. 1988, 
136, 158; A. Wiseman 1998; C. Salois 1998a; Hill Comm. 1976, 36; Phillips H.S. 1978, 
174, 300; Centennial Comm. 1989, 362, 390; Roy Comm. 1990,483; Plummer 1991; S. 
Doney 1998; Vogel 1998; Short 1998). South of the Missouri River, a local history 
referred to homesteads of the petitioner's ancestors near Roy and Black Butte (Roy 
Comm. 1990,73, 159,333). At Lewistown, according to historian Joseph Kinsey 
Howard, the "early arrivals declared their citizenship intention and took up 
homesteads .... " (Howard 1952,344). Although these accounts may have documented 
successful homestead claims, William Boushie's grandson contended that Boushie 
"couldn't prove up on his homestead because he was an Indian .... " (Nault 1977,5).30 

This evidence from a variety of sources about the presence in Montana of ancestors of the 
petitioner's members indicates that Metis individuals, and individuals of Chippewa 
descent, were in Montana by the 1870's and 1880's. However, the absence of a Chippewa 
tribe in Montana before 1888 was affirmed by the decisions of the Indian Claims 
Commission. The area of Montana north of the Missouri River, east of the Blackfeet 
Reservation, and west of the mouth of the Milk River, the Indian Claims Commission 
concluded, had been ceded to the United States by agreements with the Blackfeet, 
Assiniboine, and Sioux tribes in 1886 and 1887, which were ratified by Congress in 1888. 
The Commission found that the country bordering the Milk River was occupied 
aboriginally by the Gros Ventre (Ind.Cl.Comm. 1967,241,243,245,249). The 
Commission dismissed the claim of the Little Shell Chippewa plaintiff that this area of 
north-central Montana was aboriginal Chippewa or Cree-Chippewa territory, except as a 
hunting ground used by many tribes (Ind.CI.Comm. 1974,480-482,508-509). In a report 

)0 It is possible that this failure arose from Boushie becoming an enrolled member on the new Rocky 
Boy's reservation in 1917. 
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TABLE 11 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: TURTLE MOUNTAIN RESERVATION. 1890-1892 

1890 1892 Family 

~ _#- -.1L . ~ fu ~al!<IiQO: Qn Roll~ ~ 

Michael Allard 6 481 8 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Andrew Allery 4 6 37/49 9 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Anthony Azure 2 12 65/68 3-4 Mixed blood ON resn. [al 

Charles Azure, Sr. 19 16 75/76 2 Mixed blood ON resn. a.e 

Charles Azure, Jr. 21 17 53/55 4-5 Mixed blood ON resn. {al.e 

Louis Belgarde, #1 30 16 57/50 11 Mixed blood OFF resn. raj 

Susan [Susette] Belgarde 41 30 611 na 1-2 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Antoine Brien 17 45 64 / 67 5-6 Mixed blood OFF 1 ON 

[John] Baptiste Charette, [Sr.] 54 53 85/88 6 Mixed blood ON resn. a,e 

John Baptiste Davis, Sr. 89 70 71/73 4 Mixed blood ON resn. a.f 

Louis Davis 64 331 8 Mixed blood ON resn. [a).f 

Charles Demontgine [Demontigny] 87 721 I Mixed blood ON resn. d 

Joseph Goumeau, [3d] 117 105 63/62 4-7 Mixed blood ON resn. a.e 

John Hayes 132 118 25/26 3 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Antoine Houle. [Jr.] 129 121 65/65 5 Mixed blood ON resn. (aj 

Alexander Jeanotte 59 531 6 Mixed blood OFF resn. bJ 

Gaspar Jeanotte. Jr. 64 271 5 Mixed blood OFF resn. [b).f 

Margaret Gourneau Kipling 142 131 63/63 Mixed blood ON resn. [a) 

Charlotte Adams LaFountaine "159 163 60/63 3 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Moses LaPierre 167 134 49/50 3-4 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Oliver LaRoque 80 281 5 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Pete La Valley 178 147 44/45 7-8 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Alexander Martell 204 177 na/38 4 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Alexander Morin 187 551 7 Mixed blood ON resn. b.f 

Peter [St. Pierre] Morin 101 57 44/46 8 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Susanna Daigon Parenteau 233 781 I Mixed blood ON resn. c 

Charles Putra, [#2] 219 197 47/50 12 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Andre St. Germaine 122 521 4 Mixed blood OFF resn. b,f 

Cherez St. Germaine I Theresa Bonneau 124 651 4 Mixed blood OFF resn. c 

Joseph Thomas 250 227 43/46 7 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Vital Turcotte 74 133 8 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

SOURCES: Mahone et aI. 1890 [Mahone roll];"McCumber et aI. 1011/1892 [McCumber roll]. 

NOTES: 
• On the 1850 Pembina census. [a) Father on the 1850 Pembina census. 
b In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1870. [b) Father in the Red River Selliement, ca. 1870. 
C Husband in the Red River Selliement, ca. 1870. 
d In the Red River Selllement before 1870, according to Sprague and Frye 1983. Table I. 
• Received 1863 treaty scrip. 
r On the January 1892 list of the "Grand Council" of the Tunle Mountain Band (Tunic Mtn. 1892). 
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for the Commission, ethnohistorian John Ewers stated that his review of the evidence 
prior to 1888 had found, "No references to a 'Chippewa Cree tribe' ... in the 
contemporary writings of those who had knowledge of the Indian occupation of the area" 
of northern Montana (Ewers 1974, 13). 

The McCumber Agreement, 1890 - 1899: 

The Indian appropriation act of August 1890 authorized the President to appoint a 
commission of three persons to "negotiate with the Turtle Mountain band of Chippewa 
Indians" for the "cession and relinquishment ... of whatever right or interest they may 
have" in all the land in North Dakota "to which they claim title," and for their removal to 
the White Earth Reservation. or any other Chippewa reservation in Minnesota. Before 
the Turtle Mountain band could be removed. however, the commissioners would have to . 
obtain the consent of the Minnesota Chippewas to the relocation of the Turtle Mountain 
Indians on one of their reservations (Statutes 1890). The commission was appointed. 
with A.H. Mahone of West Virginia as chainnan, and received its instructions in October 
1890 (Mahone et al. 1891, 1). The Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs instructed the 
commissioners to exclude from the negotiations individuals who were not entitled to be 
recognized as members of the Turtle Mountain band because of their "foreign birth or 
long residence and affiliation with the Indians of the British possessions." The Indian 
Office did "not recognize the great body of half breeds who are scattered over the country 
... as being proper members of the Turtle Mountain band of Chippewas," the 
Commissioner said, although some Metis individuals might be recognized by the Indians 
as members because of their long "affiliation" with the band. The commissioners were 
directed to make an accurate census of the Indians as part of their work (BIA 10/411890). 

The Mahone commission arrived at the agency in early December 1890. The 
commissioners ordered a census of the band to be prepared. It is unclear who actualJy 
compiled this list. When completed, the census contained 2,327 names, a number 
significantly larger than the agency's census earlier in the year of J ,458 people (Mahone 
et al. 1891, 14-15, 34; BIA 1885-1940, roll 94). 11le commissioners said that they had 
been informed that the list did not include "scores of these people" who were "hundreds 
df miles away in Montana or the British Possessions." Prior to the census, the 
commission had reported that the spokesmen for the Indians and Metis claimed that their 
band consisted of 3,000 to 4,000 people who were "scattered along the border from 
Pembina County to Montana." The commission accepted everyone on the completed 
census as "American Chippewas," although it concluded that it was extremely difficult to 
prepare a census of only genuinely American Indians (Mahone et al. 1891, 18, 34-37). 
Thirty heads of families on the Mahone Commission's census of the Turtle Mountain 
Band in 1890 can clearly be identified as ancestors of the petitioner's members by 
comparing their names, ages, and family relationships on the list to infonnation from 
other sources about the petitioner'S ancestors (see Table 11). All 30 of the petitioner's 
ancestors on this census were listed as "mixed bloods," with 21 recorded as on the 
reservation and the other 9 as off the reservation, but in the vicinity (Mahone et al. 1890). 
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About 25 percent (980 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from an ancestor 
who was on the Mahone Commission's census in 1890.31 

The main council between the commissioners and the band was held on December 6. 
After the commission stated its objectives, nine speakers, starting with Chief Little Shell, 
outlined the grievances of the band and made it clear that they opposed removal and 
wanted a larger reservation. The commissioners then traveled to Minnesota, where they 
found that the chiefs of the White Earth and Red Lake Reservation Chippewas, and their 
Indian agent, were opposed to receiving the Turtle Mountain band. The commission held 
another council at Turtle Mountain on December 31, at which Chief Little Shell and 17 
other members of the band spoke, but did not obtain an agreement with the band (Mahone 
et a1. 1891, 15-34). The chief, headmen, and other "representative" men of the Turtle 
Mountain band then assembled and adopted a resolution on January 7, 1891, which stated 
that the band was entitled to the recognition of its territorial claim and demanded a final 
settlement of that claim and a reservation. This statement indicated the band's opposition 
to removal by declaring that "we have resolved to live and die here at our old home, the 
Turtle Mountain country .... " The resolution was signed by III adult males, beginning 
with "Head Chief' Ayabe-way-we-tung, or Little Shell (Turtle Mountain 1891). 

The Mahone Commission issued its final report on February 9, 1891. After describing it~ 
travels and its councils with the Indians, the commission observed that the Indians had 
declared themselves to be of one mind in wishing to have a reservation comparable to the 
lands reserved in 1882. Existing settlement near the present reservation made it 
practicable to expand the present reserve only to the west, the commission concluded. It 
would be possible to create a new and larger reservation farther to the west, but the 
commission admitted that a removal of the Turtle Mountain Indians to that new location 
would not be satisfactory to them (Mahone et al. 1891. 33, 40-41). Because the 
commission did not reach an agreement for the removal of the band to Minnesota, and did 
not settle the band's land claims in North Dakota, the Indian Office concluded that the 
commission had failed to achieve its objectives (BIA 9121/1891, 7/6/1893). Thus, two 
months after the commission concluded its work, Indian Agent John H. Waugh suggested 
that he and his staff could begin to prepare for another commission (BIA 411811891). 

In the summer of 1891, a "Committee of Thirty-Two" was organized on the Turtle 
Mountain Reservation. The committee claimed that it was "organized by a vote of the 
people at a general council .... " (Committee of Thirty-Two 12111/1893). Sub-agent 
Brenner stated the purpose of the new committee as being to represent the band in any 
settlement of its land claim with the Government. He described the committee as being 
made up of 16 "full bloods" and 16 "mixed bloods." Both Brenner and Agent Waugh 
said that its members had been elected (BIA 9/311892, 9/30/1892). Chief Little Shell was 

31 Several of the individuals on the list were father and son, father-in-law and son-in-law, or had 
descendants who married each other in later generations. The count of 980 descendants is a result of 
eliminating the multiple lines of descent 10 gel the actual number of the petitioner's living members who 
descend from indi viduals on the 1890 census. 

-58-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 128 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

not a member of this committee. According to a statement of the Turtle Mountain Band 
in 1892, "our Chief, Little Shell left us, to be absent for some time," about July 1891, and 
appointed Red Thunder to act as chief in his place (Turtle Mountain 1892). In January 
1892, Agent Waugh praised the members of a proposed delegation from the Committee 
of Thirty-Two as consisting of "progressive young American Indians and mixed bloods," 
and assured the Indian Office that "all Indians or mixed-bloods of doubtful nationality" 
had been excluded from it. By contrast, Waugh reported, Chief Little Shell "has but 4 or 
5 Indians with him who are known here, and ... the balance of his so called Turtle 
Mountain Band are Canadian mixed bloods" (BIA 1/28/1892). Thus, by early 1892 at 
least, Agent Waugh had come to think of the new Committee of Thirty-Two, not Little 
Shell, as the legitimate representative of the Turtle Mountain Band. 

On August 22,1891, attorney John B. Bottineau submitted to the Secretary of the Interior 
the Turtle Mountain Band's "preamble and resolutions" of January 1891 and asked that 
its claim against the Government for the lands around the Turtle Mountains be settled 
(Bottineau 8/22/1891). Soon after that, the Indian Office received a letter from Chief 
Little Shell, which was dated August 28, 1891, at Wolf Point, Montana, where Little 
Shell said that he was visiting his uncle, an Assiniboine chief. In the letter, Little Shell 
claimed that the Government's commission had promised him a new reservation in 
exchange for the Turtle Mountain Reservation. Therefore, he asked for a reservation in 
Montana along the north side of the Missouri River above the mouth of the Milk River 
which would measure 30 miles by 25 miles. He asserted that he would not sign a cession 
agreement unless he received a reservation which was at least 25 miles square. 
According to the Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Little Shell said that most of the 
tribe with him in Montana were "not contented to live at the Turtle Mountain," but would 
be satisfied with the proposed location in Montana. Little Shell concluded, the 
Commissioner reported, "that he can never live at Turtle Mountain again under th.e 
circumstances .... " (BIA 9/21/1891) . . The Indian Office, naturally, was struck by the 
differences between the band's "preamble and resolutions" of January 1891, which 
asserted that the band would never leave the Turtle Mountain region, and this letter of 
August 1891, which proposed to do just that. 

A year later, confronted with this "seeming conflict," Bottineau argued that the letter 
from Little Shell was not legitimate.32 He asserted that no member of the Turtle 
Mountain band had any relationship with the Assiniboine by blood or marriage, so the 
claim that the chief was visiting his Assiniboine uncle demonstrated that the letter was 
phony. He contended that the hereditary chief would not have acted without consulting 
his representative men still at Turtle Mountain. A proposition to surrender the Turtle 
Mountains for a reservation in Montana, Bottineau said, would create a great disturbance 
among the members of the band (Bottineau 7/8/1892, 43-44). Bottineau's argument, 

32 Although the petitioner'S researchers consistently relied upon Bottineau's versions of events against 
contending accounts, in this instance they rejected Bottineau'S argument and accepted Little Shell's letter 
from Montana as legitimate. This allowed them to use the letter as evidence of the band's interest in a future 
Montana home (see Morris and Van Gunten 1984,47; see also 59-60. 183). 
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however, could be understood as an attempt to deny that the proposition was made by 
Little Shell precisely because a great disturbance or split within the band already had 
occurred. In response to the conflicting resolution and letter received in August 1891, 
Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs R. V. Belt reported to the Secretary of the Interior 
that the territorial claim of the Turtle Mountain band "is of such doubtful and uncertain 
nature that I do not look upon it as having any great value." Therefore, he was willing to 
negotiate an agreement with the band, but would agree to pay the band only $150,000 to 
$200,000 for it to relinquish its claim. The Acting Commissioner also stated that he was 
opposed to enlarging the Turtle Mountain Reservation to accommodate the Metis, and 
said that if they were entitled to land from the Government they should receive it in the 
form of allotments or homesteads from the public domain (BIA 9/21/1891). 

On January 29, 1892, a "Grand Council" meeting of the Turtle Mountain Band, under the leadership of "Acting Chief' Misko-be-naice, or Red Thunder, stated the band's territorial 
claim, resolved to maintain its "title" and "possession" of that territory until its claim was 
settled by the executive branch or a court, and appointed Bottineau to be its attorney to 
prosecute its claim against the United States. As a challenge to the prevailing policy of 
the Government and Agent Waugh, this council resolved that "all the mixed bloods [sic] 
descendants of our tribe belonging to our said band are hereby recognized to be Indians" 
and entitled to all benefits "the same as any of the full bloods of our said tribe and band" . (Turtle Mountain 1892). Bottineau made a contract with this band in February 1892, but 
it was not approved by the Department of the Interior (Bottineau 4/1111899). He 
prepared a lengthy brief on the Turtle Mountain land claim in July 1892 which argued 
that the band held Indian title to the territory which had not been ceded or purchased, but 
had been "wrongfully taken from them and opened to white settlement" (Bottineau 
7/8/1892). The "proceedings and resolutions" of January 1892 were signed by 272 
individuals (Turtle Mountain (892). Bottineau later argued that these signers constituted 
the majority of the adult males of the band (Bottineau 4/11/1899). The Government's 
interpretation was that this council had not been regularly called, was not properly 
constituted, and did not represent the majority of the band (BfA 10/27/1898). 

The January 1892 list of the adult males of the Turtle Mountain band did not contain 
enough identifying information about these individuals to make it a useful source for 
recognizing ancestors of the petitioner on the list. The signatories were identified only by 
their narne (some with only an Indian name, some with only an English name, and some 
with both) and age. The list did not include information about an individual's family 
relationships or other distinguishing factors (Senate 1900, 118-123). Despite these 
inadequacies, nine of the petitioner's ancestors can be identified on this list of 272 
names. 33 Only 3 percent (132 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members trace their ancestry to 

JJ The ancestors of the petitioner on the January 1892 list were Mikel Allard (Lavoiy, 49); Anthony Azure (68); Charles Azure, Sr. (75); Charles AZure, Jr. (55); Pierre Gladeau (Pooh-yarkar, 54); John Hayes 
(Chonz. 27); Gaspard Jeannotte (Osh-Ke-nar-wins. 27); Charles Poitras [PutraJ (50); and Andrew St. Germaine (60). In addition, there is also a Joseph Laverdure (Tchee-zo-zay,' 55) on this list who may be one of the two men by that name who are ancestral to the petitioner, but there is not enough available evidence to confirm this connection. Also, Joseph Azure (63) and Francois St. Germaine (26) on the 1892 
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a man on the list of January 1892. Five of the nine ancestors on this list also were on the 
McCumber roll of October 1892 (McCumber et al. 10/111892).34 Thus, the January 1892 
list and the October 1892 roll were not mutually exclusive lists of the Turtle Mountain 
band, although they did have some differences. All four of the ancestors on the January 
1892 list but not on the McCumber roll appeared in the records of the Red Ri ver 
Settlement in 1870. Less than 2 percent (71 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members trace 
their ancestry to a man on the January 1892 list who was not on the McCumber roll. 
Although this infonnation is limited, it fails to demonstrate the validity of a hypothesis 
that the petitioner's members principally descend from individuals who pledged their 
support to Chief Little Shell in January 1892, refused to support the McCumber 
Agreement, and therefore were excluded from the McCumber roll of October 1892. 

In the Indian appropriation act of July 1892, Congress authorized the creation of a 
commission to "negotiate with the Turtle Mountain band ... for the cession and 
rei inquishment to the United States of whatever right or interest they may have" in any 
land "to which they claim title .... " In addition, the commission was to negotiate with 
the band for its "removal" to a location to be recommended by the commission, 
detennined by the Secretary of the Interior, and approved by Congress (Statutes 1892). 
The Turtle Mountain Indian Commission appointed by the President in 1892 would be 
known as the McCumber Commission after its chairman, Porter J. McCumber of. 
Wahpeton, North Dakota. The Indian Office issued instructions to the commission which 
made it the commission's "duty" to do four things. First, it was to make a careful census 
of the members of the Turtle Mountain band. Second, the commission was to obtain the 
consent of the Indians of the Fort Berthold Reservation in North Dakota, or some other 
reservation, to allow the Turtle Mountain Indians to live with them. Third, it was to 
negotiate with the members of the Turtle Mountain band for the cession and 
relinquishment of their claim to land in North Dakota, as directed by the act. Fourth,'the 
commission was to negotiate with the Turtle Mountain Indians for their removal to 
whatever location would be selected for the band (BIA 7/6/1893). 

Agent Waugh argued that only those individuals w.ho had "undoubted rights" as members 
of the band should participate in the upcoming negotiations. Achieving this objective, he 
acknowledged, meant that some individuals of uncertain American citizenship had been 
"stricken off the rolls" of the agency (BIA 8126/1892). Earlier in the year, the agent had 

. reported that the Turtle Mountain Indians had "at my suggestion finally taken action to 
get rid of the Canadian [element] among them .... " (BIA 4/1211892). After the creation 
of the Committee of Thirty-Two in 1891, sub-agent Brenner said, the committee had 
created a subcommittee of five men, who were "thoroughly acquainted with the family 

list do not have descendants in the petitioner'S membership, but their siblings do have descendants in the 
petitioning group. 

J4 The five ancestors on the McCumber roll were Anthony Azure; Charles Azure, Sr.; Charles Azure, Jr.; 
John Hayes; and Charles Putra. The four ancestors not on the McCumber roll who appeared in the 1870 
records of the Red River Settlement were Mikel Allard, Pierre Gladeau, Gaspard Jeannotte, and Andrew St. 
Germaine. 

-61-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 131 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

history of all," to designate the "foreign element" of the band. The result of this process, 
the sub-agent reported, was that" 112 families, comprising 525 individuals, were found as 
not entitled to recognition as Turtle Mountain Chippewas .... " Brenner said that 177 of 
these ineligible members. about one-third of the total, however, actually resided on the 
reservation (BlA 9/311892). The Committee of Thirty-Two said that it recognized that 
the first step to achieve a settlement with the Government was "the elimination of foreign 
Indians" from its membership. This resulted "in the striking off of the rolls of 512 
individuals .... " (Committee of Thirty-Two 5/2911893). Thus, as the negotiations were 
set to begin, Agent Waugh referred to the Committee of Thirty-Two as the representative 
of "the American Turtle Mountain Indians .... " (BlA 8/26/1892). 

When the McCumber Commission arrived at the reservation in September 1892, it 
indicated that before holding a council with the band, it would. in accordance with its 
instructions, first make a "correct census of the band .... " The commission requested the 
Committee of Thirty-Two to assist it in taking this census (McCumber et al. 12/3/1892, 
9-10). When Little Shell appeared before the commission, it told him that he and his 
council also could assist in this work, but that they would not be fed while doing so. 
Little Shell left (Bottineau 1212011892, 5-6). After reviewing the committee's Jist of 
foreign members, the commission made a list "of all persons whose names were stricken 
off the rolls, whether by the committee or this Commission," and posted copies of the list 
throughout the reservation and had the list read at local churches (McCumber et al. 
12/311892, 10). The notice posted by the commission listed the names which had been 
"stricken off' the roll of those "entitled to the benefits of a treaty with the Turtle 
Mountain Chippewa Indians." The notice informed the individuals on the list that "you 
are not accepted as members of the Turtle Mountain Band of Indians .... " (McCumber et 
al. 9/24/1892). The commission then heard appeals from excluded individuals who 
claimed membership in the band, but, with "a few exceptions," these tlaims were rejectec;l 
(McCumber et al. 12/311892, 10). 

McCumber later recalled that the commission had excluded from the tribal roll "any 
Indian who had lived for any portion of his life or had taken his residence practically in 
Canada. We excluded those who had taken government lands under the Canadian 
laws .... " (McCumber 1904). Attorney Bottineau argued against the use of the 
commission's roll by stating that it is "only those who are recognized by the chief and his 
council (and not those who are recognized by the Indian agents) that constitutes the 
members of a tribe" (Bottineau 1212011892, II). Refusing to credit any Federal concern 
about the nationality and citizenship of members of the band as legitimate. Bottineau later 
complai"ned that the Committee of Thirty-Two had "expelled" more than 500 individuals 
from the tribe (Bottineau ca. 1896, 41-42). Perhaps because of the efforts of Little Shell 
and Bottineau on behalf of those individuals stricken from the tribal roll on the grounds 
that they were, or had been, Canadian citizens, a later superintendent concluded that at the 
time of the McCumber Commission negotiations, Little Shell and Bottineau had been the 
leaders of "a large aggregation of mixed bloods, almost entirely from Canada .... " (BlA 
12/1911905). The McCumber Commission's list of the names "stricken off' the roll in 
1892 contained 107 names. If these individuals were the heads of families, then the 
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number of people stricken off by the commission was similar to that of the 112 families 
previously rejected by the Committee of Thirty-Two (McCumber et al. 9/24/1892). 

Chairman McCumber reported that when the commission arrived at the reservation, it 
discovered that there were "two facti<>ns" of the tribe. He said that one faction, led by 
Little Shell,3s insisted that all the names stricken off the roll by the Committee of Thirty­
Two be restored to the tribal roll. The other faction, which McCumber called the larger 
faction, insisted that the names stricken off should not be restored to the roll. Because the 
commission, in most cases, had refused to restore the names stricken off the roll, 
McCumber reported that the "ill feeling" had been "intensified" (McCumber et al. 
9/2911892). Agent Waugh informed the Commissioner of Indian Affairs that "a terrible 
bitter feeling by those who have been cut off' existed against the commission, and 
warned that it would be difficult to hold a council "without precipitating a fight. ... " 

. (BIA 9/3011892). Citing threats of personal injury against members of the Committee of 
Thirty-Two, and the advice of the committee and agents, the commission requested that a 
company of U.S. troops be sent to the reservation to maintain the peace during the 
negotiations (McCumber et al. 9/29/1892). Agent Waugh issued a notice which ordered 
all individuals who were not "enrolled as members of the Turtle Mountain Band and 
accepted by the commission ... as entitled to participate in any proceedings" with it, to 
"withdraw from within the limits of the Turtle Mountain Reservation at once or be 
arrested" (BIA IO/1511892a). 

The McCumber Commission's "Census of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa 
Indians," of October I, 1892, contained the names of 1,759 members of the band 
(McCumber et al. 12/3/1892. 21, 23-67). The McCumber roll identified each member by 
name, gender. relationship to head of the house, and age, and assigned them a census 
number and family number. The roll was divided into categories of "Full Bloods on 
Reservation," "Mixed Bloods on Reservation," and "Mixed Bloods in Vicinity of 
Reservation," thus following the practice of the agency's census rolls. Twenty-one heads 
of a family on the McCumber ~oll can clearly be identified as ancestors of the petitioner's 
members by comparing their names, ages, and family relationships on the roll to 
information from other sources about the petitioner'S ancestors (see Table 11). None'of 
the "Full Bloods" on the McCumber roll can be identified as ancestors of the petitioner. 
Seventeen of the petitioner's ancestors on the roll were listed as "Mixed Bloods" on the 
reservation, and four were listed as "Mixed Bloods" in the vicinity of the reservation 
(McCumber et aI. 10/111892). These 21 individuals have 780 descendants in the 
petitioner's modem membership. Thus, only about 20 percent (780 of 3,893) of the 
petitioner's members descend from an ancestor who was on the McCumber 

)' For a photograph of Chief Little Shell in 1874, see Murray 1984, 14, and Campisi and Stama 1987a. 
4/5 (from the Bureau of American Ethnology, No. 549). A photograph of Chief Little Shell also appeared 
as a frontispiece to a printed version of Senate Document 444 of the 56th Congress. This source also 
provided a brief sketch of the genealogy of the three hereditary chiefs known as Little Shell. but without 
providing binh or death dates. or the dates when they had served as chief (Senate 1900. In Item #114, 
Irregularly Shaped Papers (Entry 310), RG 75. National Archives). 
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Commission's roll in 1892.36 

In its final report, the commission said that although it did not accept as members 
individuals who were said to be away in Canada or with western tribes, it did not want to 
be understood as concluding that "there may not possibly be other persons entitled to 
recognition" (McCumber et al. 12/3/1892,23). McCumber later recalled that his 
commission had not claimed to have made a comprehensive list of all members of the 
band, because it had been told that many individuals who were related to the Turtle 
Mountain band "were outside of North Dakota at that time .... " (McCumber 1904). Of 
the 21 ancestors of the petitioner on the 1892 roll, at least nine of them, or some of their 
children who are ancestral to the petitioner, had appeared on census or church baptismal 
records in Montana prior to 1892. Nine of the 21 ancestors of the petitioner on the 
McCumber roll also had been on the 1850 Pembina census, or were the sons of someone 
on that census. None of these 21 ancestors had been living in the Red River Settlement 
about 1870. 

In negotiating the cession of 1892, the Indian Claims Commission later concluded, "all 
parties assumed that the Turtle Mountain Band properly included mixed bloods as well as 
full bloods" (Ind.CI.Comm. 1970, 329). This was a departure from the treaty negotiations 
of 1851 and 1863. Before the McCumber Commission, sub-agent Brenner at Turtle 
Mountain had noted that it was "generally believed" that few of the Metis in the 
immediate vicinity of the reservation were entitled to any of the benefits of any agreement 
which might be made with the Government to settle the band's land claims. He pointed 
out, however, that these Metis "participate in the general councils" of the Turtle 
Mountain Indians. He requested that the Department decide on "the relation these people 
hold as Indians and wards of the United States" (BIA 911211891). Since 1886, the agency 
had been keeping separate lists for its Indian census rolls of "full bloods" and "mixed 
bloods" on the reservation or in its vicinity (BlA 1885-1940). This practice also indicated 
the agents' uncertainty and ambivalence about whether or not the Metis in the vicinity of 
the reserve should be considered members of the band. Little Shell and his followers, 
however, had a clear position that they were part of the band. Thus, in an initial 
appearance before the McCumber Commission, Red Thunder said that the Metis should 
be recognized as members of the tribe (Bottineau 12120/1892,4-6). 

The McCumber Commission noted in its final report that the Department of the Interior 
had assumed that the Turtle Mountain band consisted of not more than 300 persons. 
"This is approximately correct," the commission argued, "if the term 'Indians' is intended 
to apply only to full bloods." The commission, however. said that it had recognized "all 
persons as members of the band" who had one parent who was a member of the band. By 
including "mixed bloods" and their descendants as entitled to membership in the band. 
this interpretation resulted in a count of 1,759 members (McCumber et aI. 12/311892, 21). 

36 Due to the intermarriages of McCumber roll descendants with other of the petitioner's ancestral lines, 
mOSI of Ihe McCumber roll descendants in the petitioner's current membership also descend from other 
family lines. 

-64-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 134 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

The Indian census roll taken earlier in the year appeared to count 245 "full bloods" and 
1,266 "mixed bloods," or 1,511 people on the reserve, and 1,804 Indians and "mixed 
bloods" either on the reserve or in the vicinity (BIA 1885-1940, roll 95). Compared to 
the agency's census roll, the commission either brought about a minimal decline (from 
1,804 to 1,759) or a slight increase (from 1,511 to 1,759) in members. From the 
perspective of Little Shell and Bottineau, the commission had excluded one-quarter of the 
individuals who had been accepted as members of the band by the 1890 commission (a 
reduction from 2,327 to 1,759). Compared to the expectations of the Interior Department, 
the commission claimed to have enlarged the band by six times (from 300 to 1,759). 
Although Little Shell and Bottineau criticized the commission for cutting down the size 
of the band, the McCumber Commission contended that it had increased the size of the 
band, perhaps dramatically so, by including the Metis as members in a departure from the 
past practice of the Department. 

A total of 31 ancestors of the petitioner's members were listed on a roll prepared for 
either the Mahone Commission in 1890 or the McCumber Commission in 1892 (see 
Table 11). About 26 percent (1,017 of 3,893) of the petitioner's current members 
descend from one of those individuals who was accepted by one of the Federal 
commissions as a member of the Turtle Mountain Band prior to the negotiation of the 
1892 agreement. A comparison of the rolls of the two commissions shows that 20 of the 
30 ancestors included on the 1890 census were also on the 1892 roll, while one ancestor 
not on the 1890 census was added to the 1892 roll. The one ancestor added to the roll in 
1892 was later removed from the Turtle Mountain roll in 1906 on the grounds that he had 
separated from the band and not affiliated with it after 1878 (BIA 12/2011906,208-210; 
6/2911906, 15; 9/26/(905). Ten ancestors on the 1890 census were not on the 1892 roll. 
These ancestors consisted of five families that had been among the "mixed bloods" on the 
reservation on the 1890 Mahone census and five families that had been among the ."mixed 
bloods" off the reservation on the 1890 census (see Table 11). 

Because the 1890 census for the Mahone Commission was the most inclusive list of 
members of the Turtle Mountain Band of the 19th century, including more members than 
any of the agency's Indian census roJJs prior to 1899, it is possible that those ancestors of 
the petitioner's members who were listed on the Mahone census of 1890 but were not on 
tHe McCumber roll in 1892 may never have been included on any agency census roll of 
the Turtle Mountain Band. Seven of the 10 individuals who were listed on the 1890 list 
but not on the 1892 roll appear to have been part of the British Red River Settlement in 
1870, and thus may have been excluded from the 1892 roll as Canadians (see Table 11). 
Three of these IO individuals were 65 or older in 1890, and thus may have died by 1892. 
About 7 percent of the petitioner's current members (281 of 3,893) descend from the 10 
ancestors on the 1890 list but not on the t 892 roll. However, 41 of these 281 descendants 
can also trace their descent from another ancestor who was on the 1892 McCumber roll. 
Thus, only 6 percent of the petitioner's current members (240 of 3,893) descend from an 
individual on the 1890 census but not on the 1892 roll, without also descending from 
someone included on the 1892 roll. 
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After completing the census of the band. the McCumber Commission moved on to the 
second task given to it by its instructions. obtaining the approval of the Indians of the Fort 
Berthold Reservation for the removal of the Turtle Mountain band there. The 
commission took with it six representatives of the band. including Chief Little Shell. The 
commission. however. found "it impossible to secure the assent of the Berthold tribes to 
admit the Chippewas .... " (McCumberet al. 12/311892,10-10. The commission's third 
task was to negotiate a cession agreement. When it returned to the Turtle Mountain 
Reservation, the commission called a council "of all adult males on the roll. ... " In its 
presemation to the assembled members, the commission urged them to lay aside their 
"factional differences" and to arrive at a settlement with the Government. The 
commission told them that the Government "had never directly recognized their claim to 
the lands they sought to be paid for," but was wiIling to pay them a "reasonable sum" to 
settle that claim and to assist them to become self-supporting. Because the Congress 
could.not be induced to increaSe the size of their reservation, the commission stated that 
"they must lay aside once and for all any hope of having their present reservation 
increased to 30 miles square or extended a single foot. ... " It would not be possible to 
give everyone an allotment of land on the present reservation or in the vicinity of the 
reservation. but the commission pledged that any adult head of a family would be able to 
select f bO acres on vacant public land (McCumber et a1. 12/3/1892, 11-12). 

After the commission's presentation, members of the band replied with speeches. 
Attorney Bottineau was not present because Agent Waugh had informed him that the 
commissioners had indicated that "they are instructed to deal directly with the people and 
will not recognize an attorney" (BIA lOll 511 892b). According to the commission's 
report, at this council the "faction headed by Little Shell. hereditary chief, ... complained 
bitterly of the action of the committee of thirty-two and the commission in cutting down 
the membership roll .... " The commission responded that that action "would not be 
open for discussion." The faction headed by Kakinawash, chairman of the Committee of 
Thirty-Two. complained of their treatment as a friendly band and asked if their land had . 
been ceded. The commission responded that no cession had been made and that the 
Government was willing to pay to extinguish their claim. whether it was well-founded or 
not. When the commission again indicated that discussion of an increase of the size of 
the reservation was useless, its report stated, "Little Shell and adherents then declared ... 
that they agreed that further discussion was useless, and that they would leave. as they 
would never consent" to an agreement that would not give them the 30-mile square 
reservation at Turtle Mountain they desired (McCumber et al. 12/311892, 13). 

The Committee of Thirty-Two remained to negotiate. The McCumber Commission 
suggested provisions for a settlement. Even after Little Shell's departure, however, the 
Committee of Thirty-Two continued to press for a reservation 30-miles square. The 
committee proposed that as compensation for its land claim the band should receive an 
appropriation of $50,000 per year for 100 years, which would total $5 million 
(McCumber et a1. 12/311892, 13-14). In its report, the McCumber Commission said that 
it was "forced to report that the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians have as valid 
an original Indian title to this entire tract of land as any Indian tribe had to any tract" 
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(McCumber et al. 12/311892, 20). Arguing in favor of ratification of this agreement a 
decade later, McCumber said that there was "no question about the title" of the band to its 
own territory, but "considerable question as to ... the extent" of that territory in view of 
"their roaming over the other sections of this unceded land." In his view a payment of 
$1 million was fair because it was based not on the number of acres the band claimed, but 
on its population (McCumber 1904). Chairman McCumber had to leave Turtle Mountain 
a few days prior to the final agreement because of an illness in his family. "After some 
days and nights of constant negotiations," the commission reported, the other 
commissioners secured a "final contract" with the Turtle Mountain band (McCumber et 
al. 12/311892, 13-14). 

The Articles of Agreement were dated October 22, 1892. The agreement was signed for 
the United States by the three commissioners and for the Turtle Mountain band by 258 
individuals, led by Kakinewash. Little Shell did not sign the agreement. The agreement 
included eleven articles. By the tenns of the agreement, the band ceded its lands in North 
Dakota, except for the executive order reservation established in 1884.37 The United 
States agreed to pay the band $1 million, in twenty annual payments of $50,000. The 
bulk of this compensation was to be paid in the fonn of supplies and improvements, but 
the agreement provided that $5,000 of the annual payment would be distributed per capita 
and paid in cash. The agreement provided that the reservation would be surveyed so that 
individual Indians could take homesteads on the reserve. It also provided that members 
of the band could select homesteads from any vacant public land belonging to the United 
States. In addition, individuals who took such a homestead would continue to share in all 
tribal funds, annuities, and property of the band, as if they were located on the 
reservation. One article stated that the agreement would not take effect until it was 
ratified by Congress (McCumber et al. 1213/1892, 14-18).38 

The McCumber Commission submitted its report to the Secretary of the Interior on 
December 3, 1892. The commission admitted that the agreement it had secured "does not 
meet the exact object for which the Commission was appointed, as expressed by the act 
of Congress." The agreement also was not "such a one as the Commission desired to 
make." The commission had prepared a census of the Tunle Mountain band and had 
negotiated a relinquishment of the band's claim to land in North Dakota. The 
commission, however, had failed to obtain the removal of the Turtle Mountain band to 
another reservation. It obtained neither the consent of the band to move nor the approval 
of another tribe to allow the band to relocate on its reservation. After unsuccessfully 
seeking the relinquishment of the band's existing reservation, the commission had to 

)7 The unceded lands claimed by the band, the commission concluded, consisted of about 8 to 10 million 
acres nonh and west of Devil's Lake (McCumber et al. 1213/1892,20). The area ceded by the agreement of 
1892, the Indian Claims Commission would later find. consisted of 8.1 million acres (lnd.CI.Corrun. 1978, 
253-254.273. 276-277). 

)8 Although the 1892 agreement is referred to by the petitioner'S researchers, members. and many others, 
as the "Ten-Cent Treaty" (Morris and Van Gunten 1984.53). it was not formally a treaty because Congress 
had legislated an end to the negotiation and ratification of treaties with Indian tribes in 1871. 
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settle for an article which allowed the lands of the reservation to be allotted to its 
individual members. The commission, however, came to the conclusion that it had to 
accept these terms or have no agreement at all. The compensation of $1 million for the 
band's relinquishment of its territorial claim, the commission argued, was "exceedingly 
favorable to the Government" and should be paid (McCumber et aI. 12/311892, 18-20). 

The day after the McCumber Commission had concluded its negotiations and obtained an 
agreement, Little Shell and his councilmen held a meeting. In their "proceedings," they 
claimed that "the majority of those who signed" the agreement "would not have done so 
if they had had proper opportunity of listening and participating in the proceedings," but 
"were induced to sign" by the "undue influence" exercised by the agent's committees. 
Because the commission's meetings had been held in the agency storehouse, they 
contended, only one-quarter of the tribe was able to attend, and those who did attend 
found it difficult to hear the speakers. They alleged that Agent Waugh and his agency 
police had prevented a "great number" of the Indians who were "not in harmony" with his 
position from participating in the discussions. The next day the same group formally 
assembled off-reservation at the courthouse in Rolla with attorney J.B. Bottineau, and 
with a judge and missionary present to certify the proceedings. The group resolved to 
confirm the power of attorney it had given to Bottineau in January and to give him the 
authority "to protest against the ratification by Congress" of the agreement. They also 
authorized Bottineau to prosecute their land claim, presumably to obtain a new agreement 
for more than $1 million. These "proceedings" were signed by 24 council members 
(Little Shell et al. 1892,38-39; also Bottineau 1212011892,9). 

Bottineau prepared a legal brief, or "protest," dated December 20, 1892, which 
announced that Little Shell and his council protested against the ratification of the 
agreement by Congress.39 While the McCumber Commission reported that it had had to 
engage in real negotiations with a legitimate representative of the enrolled members of 
the band, attorney Bottineau portrayed the agreement very differently. Bottineau alleged 
that the "interference" of Agent Waugh meant that the Turtle Mountain Indians had been 
"more or less under duress" in the negotiations. He argued that the agreement obtained 
by the McCumber Commission had not been made with the legitimate leadership of the 
tribe, which was Chief Little Shell and the council the chief had appointed. It had always 
been the ,tradition and practice of the tribe, Bottineau contended, for the hereditary chief 
to select his councilmen, who served on the council as long as they could "act in 
harmony" with the chief (Bottineau 12120/1892,2,8, 10_11).40 The agreement had been 

39 For a photograph of attorney J.B. Bottineau in 1896, see Campisi and Starna 1987a, 4/5 (from the 
Bureau of American Ethnology, No. 556). 

40 The petitioner's researchers, following Bottineau, contend that Agent Waugh and the McCumber 
Commission removed from the agency roll all members who were opposed to the agreement. They 
maintain that the agent and commission refused to accept lillie Shell's traditional political leadership 
because Little Shell had consistently opposed the land cession (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 169). 
However, the tribal roll was established before the negotiations began and before anyone had refused to 
sign the agreement. Little Shell was included on the roll. Little Shell spoke before the commission and 
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signed, Bottineau later contended, by the "younger element of the tribe" rather than by its 
"leading" members (Bottineau 411111899, 7). Over the next decade, he argued that the 
agreement had been made with an unauthorized committee (Bottineau 11118/1904). 
Bottineau also complained that the payment provided the band by the agreement was 
"entirely inadequate to the actual value" of the land (Bottineau 12/2011892, 11). This 
brief was s'ubmitted to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs by Bottineau on January 13, 
1893, after the Commissioner already had sent his report on the McCumber agreement to 
the Department (BlA II1l/1898). 

The petit-ioner's researchers argue that a list of Metis families which "apparently" was part 
of Bottineau's protest -- the "List[e] des familles metis americaine de Pembina" -­
demonstrates both that Little Shell and Bottineau considered Metis families in Montana 
to be part of "their political followership," and that they were able to "mobilize" the 
Montana Metis in 1892'. They also state that this document "explicitly asserted that these 
families were affiliated with Turtle Mountain" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 111-112, I 19). 
The document referred to by the petitioner's researchers was actually a series of six 
different lists of the Pembina Metis, all titled in French. The lists appear to have been 
enclosures to a letter from Bottineau which the Indian Office received in January 1896, 
not exhibits to his 1892 brief (Anonymous ca. 1896). Not one of the six lists was dated. 
Not one of them referred to the Turtle Mountains. One of the lists referred to the 
Pembina Mountains, which the petitioner's researchers have confused with the Turtle 
Mountains. The document titled "List[e] des families metis" actually contained no names 
known to be included in the petitioner's ancestry. Only two of the six lists contained the 
names of identifiable ancestors of the petitioner in Montana, a list of the American Metis 
and a list of American Metis having alleged rights to land in Dakota. Judging from the 
ages of some of the ancestors on these two lists, the documents can be dated to about 
1889-1892. On the face of the documents, there was nothing to indicate that these 
individuals had given their consent to be listed in protest of the agreement or had 
indicated their support of Little Shell and Bottineau. 

On January 6, 1893, Commissioner of Indian Affairs TJ. Morgan forwarded to the 
Department the final report of the McCumber Commission together with a draft of a bill 
to ratify the agreement (BIA 11611893; 9/1611893, 35). Commissioner Morgan observed 
that the commission had "failed to accomplish one of the principal objects of its mission, 
viz. the removal of the Indians from their present reservation .... " He said that he saw no 

accompanied it in its negotiations at Fort Berthold. Little Shell had not consistently opposed a land cession, 
but had consistently requested a cession agreement. He favored an agreement in 1892 and participated in 
the council with the commission. Little Shell opposed the specific agreement proposed by the commission 
and refused to sign an agreement not made on his terms. However, he was not removed from the agency's 
Indian census roll. The petitioner's researchers also contend that the agent and commission removed all 
those opposed to the agreement from the reservation (Morris and Van Gunten 1984. 169). Agent Waugh 
ordered non-members off the reservation during the negotiations. The order for them to remove was issued 
before anyone had rejected the agreement and before Little Shell withdrew from the negotiations. After the 
agreement, future agents continually complained about the presence on the reserve of these individuals who 
had not been accepted as members by the McCumber Commission. 
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point. however, in conducting further negotiations to achieve their removal, and would 
not recommend their removal without their consent. The $1 million payment, he implied, 
should be considered a reasonable, rather than excessive, compensation for the Indians' 
valid claim to the land (BIA 1/6/1893). The Department of the Interior's chief legal 
advisor argued that the agreement did "not fulfill the requirements of the act ... 
authorizing the negotiations" because of its failure to provide for the removal of the band 
(Interior 2/2/1893). The Secretary of the Interior was advised by Senator Hansbrough of 
North Dakota that a recommendation that the Turtle Mountain Chippewa be removed 
from their present location would improve the chances of congressional approval of the 
agreement (Hansbrough 1893). The Acting Secretary of the Interior defended the 
commission's agreement to the President only as "the best available" agreement (Interior 
2/4/1893). President Harrison transmitted the agreement and draft bill to Congress 
without making any recommendation as to whether or not the agreement should be 
ratified (President 2/611893). Congress took no action on the agreement in 1893. 

In December 1893, Little Shell's followers adopted a motion to reject and repudiate the 
1892 agreement, to approve the protest by Chief Little Shell, and to confirm the 
employment of Bottineau as the band's attorney.41 A second council adopted, by a show 
of hands, a motion to create a new "executive committee" of ] 2 full-blood Indians named 
by Chief Little Shell and 12 mixed-blood Indians chosen by the "present assembly." The 
..assembly also elected Tchewilliam, or William Davis, Jr., as chairman of the executive 
committee. These minutes were signed by approximately 252 individuals (Turtle 
Mountain 1893). This new committee replaced the traditional governance described by 
Bottineau with a new governing body and an elected chairman other than Little Shell. 
The Committee of Thirty-Two responded to the creation of this rival committee with a 
"formal protest" against the "interference" of Bottineau, saying that it did not want its 
work of negotiating an agreement undone by "the meddling of a notoriously irresponsible 
man" who only wanted to earn fees from claims on the Government. Bottineau was the 
attorney for only "a small portion of our people" and the rejected Canadian Metis, the 

41 From 1892 to 1905, Bottineau struggled unsuccessfully 10 have the Indian Office approve him as the 
attorney for the Tunle Mountain band. Bottineau maintained that in December 1893 he made a 
supplemental and amended agreement with the band to acl as its attorney (Bottineau 4111/1899). This 1893 
agreement was not executed and submitted to the Indian Office, however, until June 1896 (Tun Ie Mountain 
1896). The timing of this submission may be explained by the fact that the Indian Office had recently 
received an attorney contract made in March 1896 between the recognized Tunle Mountain band and 
another attorney (BIA 1012711898). Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning staled that he would 
not approve the contract submitted on behalf of Bottineau, "nor will I approve any contract between the 
Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewas and the said John B. Bottineau" (BIA 6/24/1896). In 1898, however, 
Bottineau informed the United States Senate and House of Representatives that he was the "accredited 
representative and attorney" of the ''Tunle Mountain Band of the Pembina Chippewa Indians" (Bottineau 
ca. 1898). Arguing that Bottineau had "been doing his ulmost to thwart the purposes of the Government • 
. . . and to substitute therefor [sic] some plans of his own, out of which he hopes to obtain a large fee." the 
next Commissioner of Indian Affairs, W.A. Jones. staled in 1898 that he was "unwilling 10 approve his 
contract" (BIA 10/2711898). The Interior Department calculaled that the settlement proposed by Bottineau 
would provide the Tunle Mountain Indians with $6 million. and that the attorney's 7 percent fee would earn 
him $420.000 (Interior 411511899). 
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committee claimed, and it warned that Bottineau would "split us up into factions .... " 
(Committee of Thirty-Two 12/11/1893). By the end of 1893, two competing committees 
claimed to be the legitimate representative of the Turtle Mountain Band. In 1898, Indian 
Agent F.O. Getchell's judgment was that the much smaller faction recognized Bottineau 
as its attorney, while the larger faction favored ratification of the agreement made with 
the commission in 1892 (BIA 9/17/1898). 

After the failure of Congress to act on the McCumber agreement in 1893, the Indian 
Office continued in 1894, 1895, and 1896 to recommend ratification of the agreement 
(BIA 12/9/1895,9/15/1896, 111111898). In 1895, Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. 
Browning argued that the Indians of the Turtle Mountain band strongly favored 
ratification of the agreement, and that ratification was opposed only by a Canadian Metis 
faction of the band (BIA 12/9/1895). However, from 1894 to 1899 the 53rd, 54th, and 
55th Congresses considered, but did not pass, bills to obtain a relinquishment of the 
unceded lands of the Turtle Mountain band. In 1898, biJIs were introduced in Congress 
to refer the land claim of the Turtle Mountain band to the Court of Claims (Senate 
2/1811898; House 311811898). The House bill was recommended for approval by the 
House committee, but it did not pass (House 1898). Thus, at the turn of the century, 
Congress had neither ratified the negotiated agreement of 1892, as favored by the Indian 
Office, nor agreed to submit the land claim of the Turtle Mountain band to the C9urt of 
Claims, as favored by Bottineau. 

Chippewa and Metis Settlements, 1890's - 1900's: 

The petitioner'S researchers contended that Chief Little Shell, his tribal councilor 
headmen, and several hundred tribal members "had gone into exile" in the band's 
traditional hunting grounds along the Milk River in northern Montana after rejecting the 
McCumber Agreement of 1892 (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 53). The researchers 
referred to the "banishment" of Chief Little Shell and his followers, and claimed that they 
were removed from the reservation as well as from the tribaJ roll because of their 
opposition to the 1892 agreement (Morris and Van Gunten 1984,62, 169). This 
interpretation implied that Little Shell's band relocated as a band soon after 1892. 
However, the petitioner's researchers also asserted that Little Shell's followers migrated 
west to Montana because of the Government's "continued" failure or refusal to recognize 
them as tribaJ members. They referred to a political "purge" of members "over the 
decades .... " (Morris and Van Gunten 1984,59,62). This interpretation implied that a 
graduaJ migration of individual members took place over time. The petitioner'S 
researchers noted that Little Shell ancestors settled in a variety of locations in Montana, 
and thus acknowledged that ancestors did not settle as a band in a single location. The 
researchers argued, however, that the area of settlement constituted both a single 
geographical region and a traditional tribal use area. They contended that this residential 
pattern has remained consistent since 1892 (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 180-181). 

Contrary to allegations that Little Shell was removed from the Turtle Mountain 
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Reservation and its roll. and that he either chose to relocate. or was forced to relocate. to 
Montana, agency records recorded Little Shell's continued presence on the reservation 
after 1892. Little Shell was listed on every Indian census roll from 1893 to at least 1897 
as a member of the Turtle Mountain Band (BIA 1885-1940).42 On every "family register" 
of the Turtle Mountain Agency from 1884 to 1900. Little Shell or "Essens" was listed as 
the head of one of the families of the reservation (BIA 1884-1900).43 An annotation in 
the last volume stated that Little Shell "died [lune I], 1901." In these registers. Little 
Shell was described as 50 years old in 1884 and 70 years old in 1900. and consistently as 
an age to have been born about 1830 to 1834. Little Shell was listed consistently during 
these years as having had two wives. "great woman" or "chief woman" (who was about 
5-10 years older than he was, but who died in 1892) and "young woman" (who was about 
25-30 years younger than he was), and perhaps a third wife (about 22 years younger than 
he was, who appeared only on the 1893-94 list). He appears to have had four children by 
his second wife after 1880, and perhaps a son by his first wife, living in his household 
until 1887. These volumes also gave a list of Little Shell's property, which usually, but 
not consistently, reported that he had a house and a stable. 

In 1895, when a conflict arose over the cutting of timber on Government lands in the 
vicinity of the reservation, a North Dakota newspaper reported that a "big show of 
resistance [was] offered by Chief Little Shell and his following." It stated that "a letter 
signed by Little Shell and 150 of his tribe" was given to a deputy U.S. marshal, and that 
the U.S. marshal then went to St. John and held a council with the Indians, who were 
"headed by Little Shell, Red Thunder and others .... " (Grand Forks Plaindealer 1895). 
Indian Agent Ralph Hall also described Little Shell's role in this conflict (BIA 
5/1 011895). To investigate this incident and to hear the Indians' grievances, Indian 
Inspector James McLaughlin visited the reservation in May 1895. His report indicated 
that Little Shell had been one of the speakers at this council (Interior 51] 5/1895). In 
1896, Little Shell wrote to Bottineau to inform him that another attorney had been to the 
reservation to seek a contract to become the band's claims attorney. The letter was 
written at Loreat, North Dakota (Little Shell et al. 1896). In ] 897, E.W. Brenner referred 
to "Little-shell, the chief," in his annual report from the sub-agency at the Turtle 
Mountain Reservation (BIA 811211897). In 1898, Little Shell wrote to Bottineau to ask 
for help in again bringing a delegation to Washington, D.C. The letter was written at 
Belcourt" North Dakota (Little Shell et al. 1898). A local historian claims that Little Shell 
was buried at Belcourt (Law 1953, 23). This evidence indicates that Chief Little Shell 
remained in the Turtle Mountain region throughout the 1890's and did not relocate to 
Montana. 

The individuals who had been stricken from the tribal roll in 1892 had been described as 

'2 Post-1892 entries for Little Shell on the Indian census rolls (roll 95) can be found for 1893 (frame 195), 
1894 (frame 316).1895 (frame 329),1896 (frame 445), and 1897 (frame 583). 

'J "Family Register" volumes: 1884-1886. p.l; 1887-1888. p.4; \889-1890, p.167; 1891-1892. p.124; 
1893-1894, p.52; 1895-1896. p.156; 1897-1898, p.148; and 1899-1900, p.138. 
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Canadians by the McCumber Commission. Since the tribal roll included both on­
reservation and off-reservation residents, not everyone removed from the roll would have 
been actually living on the reservation. In 1893, Kakenawash and the Committee of 
Thirty-Two wrote to the agent to point out that some of the individuals who had been 
removed from the tribal roll continued to reside on the reservation and had ignored posted 
notices telling them "to go away .... " The committee asked that action be taken to 
remove these people from the reserve (Committee of Thirty-Two 5/29/1893). These 
rejected members claimed, however, to have located on their lands prior to its being 
reserved as an Indian reservation (BIA 7/611893). Sub-agent Brenner put the number of 
persons who were not accepted as members but who continued to live on the reservation 
in 1893 as. I 77 persons in 40 families (BIA 8/2911893). In 1895, Brenner reported that 
175 people who were not recognized as Turtle Mountain Chippewas were being allowed 
to remain on the reservation pending action by Congress on the 1892 agreement (BlA 

. 8/23/1895). He repeated similar observations in his annual reports of 1896, 1898, and 
1900 (BlA 8/17/1896, 811111898, 812211900~ see also Murray 1984,29). Brenner's 1900 
report stated that there were 120 indi viduaJs in 27 families residing on the reservation 
who were not enrolled in the tribe (BIA 8/2211900). 11 is clear, then, that individuals 
dropped from the agency roll in 1892 were not forced to leave Turtle Mountain. 

After the Turtle Mountain Reservation was created in 1884, Indian agents noted that a 
group of Chippewa "full bloods" had refused to reside on the reserve and had settled 
together near the town of Dunseith. In 1887, sub-agent Brenner observed that 15 families 
of "full bloods" were residing at Dunseith (BIA 8/3111887). Senator Hansbrough said in 
1891 that he had been informed that a group of Indians was wintering in the hills back of 
Dunseith, 15 miles from the reserve, because they had been "crowded off the reservation" 
by the Metis (Hansbrough 1891). In the years after the 1892 agreement, agents continued 
to refer to this group. In 1899, sub-agent Brenner said that "the full bloods have just 
squatted on land in the mountains" in the immediate vicinity of the reservation because 
they refused to file for homests:ads in the unceded area (BlA 811411899). Agent FO. 
Getchell in 1900 reported that "the full-bloods" of the band "reside at or near Dunseith, 
some miles from the reservation" (BlA 8/21/1900). Although the "full-blood population 
is badly scattered," sub-agent Brenner said in 1902,36 families of 105 individuals made 
their homes near Dunseith (BIA 8/1111902). In 1904, Superintendent Davis noted the 
existence of a "full blood band of Turtle Mountain Chippewas, living near Dunseith .... " 
(BIA 10/2611904 quoted, 911/1904). At the time of the ratification of the McCumber 
Agreement in 1905, Davis referred to "the full bloods living near Dunseith" as "a band 
somewhat to themselves .... " (BIA 212411905). Reports by the Indian Office, therefore, 
indicated that an existing full-blood band did not relocate to Montana, but persisted at 
Dunseith after 1892. 

Contrary to allegations that Little Shell's band and those opposed to the 1892 agreement 
were removed from tribal membership, the McCumber Commission roll had little effect 
on the agency's annual Indian census roll. The commission completed its roll between the 
annual agency censuses of 1892 and 1893. The totaJ of "full bloods" and "mixed bloods" 
on the Turtle Mountain Reservation was 1,511 in 1892 and 1,5 14 in 1893. If the "mixed 
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bloods" in the vicinity of the reservation are added to the reservation totals, then the total 
number of people listed on the agency census actually increased from 1,804 in 1892 to 
1,895 in 1893. There was a gradual and uninterrupted increase in the total of the "full 
bloods" and "mixed bloods" on the reservation from 1888 to 1897, a decade surrounding 
the McCumber Agreement. There was a slight decline in the combined total of Indians 
and "mixed bloods" on and off the reservation from 1889 to 1892, before the McCumber 
roll was made. but a gradual and uninterrupted increase from 1892 to 1897 (BIA 1885-
1940, rolls 94-95). An examination of the total number of people listed on the Indian 
census roll for the Turtle Mountain Reservation, therefore, provides no obvious 
confirmation for a contention that Little Shell's band was purged from the agency roll 
after the McCumber Agreement of 1892. 

Attorney J.B. Bottineau claimed, during the decade prior to ratification of the McCumber 
Agreement in 1905, that a portion of the Turtle Mountain band was residing in Montana. 
In 1898, Bottineau said that the Turtle Mountain Chippewa Indians claimed to have a 
population of not less than 3,000 individuals, "including all those scattered and living in 
different parts of North Dakota, Montana, and Minnesota, and ... in the British 
Possessions" (Bottineau ca. 1898, 3). In 1900, he stated that the Turtle Mountain Band 
claimed to have a population of about 3.200 individuals, including 500 persons living 
au'::y from Turtle Mountain, "the majority of whom are in Montana" (Bottineau ca. 1900. 
4). Bottineau's geographical references were not very specific. In one brief, he referred 
to Chippewa residences near Basin and Boulder, Montana, towns in Jefferson County 
south of Helena (Bottineau 11/18/1904). In 1904, Bottineau asserted that there were 
"between 300 and 400" members of the Turtle Mountain band "who are temporarily 
living in the Basin, so called, and other parts of the state of Montana .... " (Bottineau 
12124/1904). Jefferson County and its towns of Basin and Boulder have no known 
connection to any ancestors of the petitioner. If "the Basin" referred to the Judith Basin 
or the Milk River basin, then that would have been an area containing a portion of the 
petitioner's ancestors. 

Superintendent Charles Davis recognized that some descendants of the Turtle Mountain 
band in 1904 were living "at distant points in this and other states" (BIA 5/1211904). 
However, he judged that some of the absentees had "permanently departed from the 
tribe .... " (BIA 9/27/1904). In 1905, the superintendent noted that "a minor portion [of 
members] are found scattered from Duluth to the Rocky Mountains" (BIA 8/1711905). In 
1906, Davis said that. "Many of the Turtle Mountain mixed bloods were born in 
Montana, and many have gone there every few years for hunting, to find profitable 
employment, and to visit friends and relatives." The superintendent added that there were 
many Turtle Mountain Metis "now residing in Montana all the way from the eastern 
boundary to the Rocky mountains" (BIA 3/2611906). Other sources noted the existence 
of unrecognized groups of Indians in Montana, but did not identify them as Chippewa or 
link them to the Turtle Mountains. For example, several years after the 1896 attempted 
removal of the Cree, a Montana newspaper referred to the existence of "strolling bands of 
Canadian Cree Indians" in the state, and said that the Commissioner of Indian Affairs had 
acknowledged that some of the Canadian Cree had taken up residence near Havre (Great 
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Falls Tribune 9nIl899). 

The Turtle Mountain Reservation, 1899 - 1916: 

The possibility of ratifying the 1892 agreement improved when the chainnan of the 
commission, Porter J. McCumber, became a United States Senator from North Dakota in 
1899. Bills to confirm the 1892 agreement were introduced by Senators Hansbrough and 
McCumber of North Dakota in the 56th Congress in December 1899, the 57th Congress 
in December 1901, and the 58th Congress in November 1903 (Senate 12/611899, 
12/411901,11/1/1903). In 1900, the Senate also printed a compendium of documents 
relating to the 1892 agreement which appears to have been compiled by Bottineau 
(Senate 1900). The actual ratification of the McCumber Agreement consisted of both 
congressional approval of a modified agreement and tribal approval of the agreement as 
amended by Congress. Congress approved the agreement by an act passed in April 1904. 
Members of the Turtle Mountain Band signed a ratification document in October 1904, 
and signed a required release of their claims against the United States in February 1905.44 

In its report on McCumber's bill in 1904, the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs 
amended the 1892 agreement to revise the tenns of the payment of $1 million to the band, 
limit the maintenance of reservation schools to a period of twenty years, and eliminate a 
640 acre grant to Red Bear (Senate 1125/1904). During consideration of the bill, both 
Senator McCumber, the chairman of the commission when the agreement was made in 
1892, and Senator Teller, the Secretary of the Interior when the reservation was created in 
1884, gave their accounts of the history of the band's land claim and urged passage of the 
bill. The Senate approved the committee's amendments, passed McCumber's bill, and 
incorporated its provisions into the annual Indian appropriation bill (Senate 3/2111.904, 
3/2211904). The House then amended the bill to require that the agreement as amended 
"be ratified and accepted by a majority of the adult members" of the Turtle Mountain 
band in a lawfully convened "general council." The House's amendment also provided 
that no part of the $1 million would be paid until the Indians executed a general release of 
all claims against the United StaleS, except for their right to the existing reservation and 
the allotments provided by the agreement. The House provided for the payment of fees to 
three attorneys, but not to Bottineau (House 4/8/1904). This act was signed into law on 
April 21, 1904 (Statutes 1904). Thus, almost twelve years after it had been negotiated, 
Congress approved the 1892 agreement. but made ratification of the agreement contingent 
upon an approval of the amendments and a release of its claims by the Turtle Mountain 
band. 

U The petitioner'S researchers claim that the ratification of the McCumber Agreement of 1892 was 
completed when a congressional act became law on February 17, 1905, is in error (Morris and Van Gunten 
1984, 61). Congress took no action on the bill cited by the petitioner's researchers (H.R.18519, 58th 
Congress), a bill introduced in January 1905 at Bottineau's request (House 113011905). A congressional act 
was involved in the ratification of the 1892 agreement, but it was a different piece of legislation from that 
mentioned by the petitioner's researchers, and contained very different provisions (Statutes 1904). 
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The Indian Office infonned Superintendent Charles Davis of the Fort Totten School. 
which had jurisdiction over the Turtle Mountain Reservation. that he had been selected to 
conduct the negotiations with the Indians. Davis' instructions directed him first to make a 
census of the Indians eligible to participate in the general council required by the act. and 
then to assemble that council and present its members with the question of whether or not 
they would approve the amended agreement. The census was to consist of the "surviving 
male adults" from the census prepared by the McCumber Commission in 1892. and the 
adult male descendants of individuals on the 1892 list. Individuals on the 1892 census 
who had "permanently departed" or "separated themselves from the band" were to be 
stricken from the roll. The Indian Office took the position that "there has been no legal 
addition to the band. other than by birth" since 1892 (BIA 8/2211904). This directive was 
responsive to the superintendent's concern that the agency "enrollment" had been 
expanded to include persons. including non-Indians. who had married members of the 
band, and the Indian Office's worry that impending ratification of the agreement might 
attract an influx of new members (BIA 4/2611904. 6/611904; Interior 61111904). The 
census prepared for the council held in October 1904. which included the "full bloods" 
and the "mixed bloods" both on and off the reservation. contained 2.094 names. This 
count represented a reduction of 620 members from the annual Indian census roll which 
had been prepared in June 1904 (BIA 4/2211905,811711905; BIA 1885-1940. roll 97; 
Murray 1984, 33). 

On October 8, 1904. Superintendent Davis sent a telegram to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs to report that the amended agreement had been ratified on October 6 by a majority 
of the Turtle Mountain band (BIA 10/8/1904). He also said that the general council had 
consisted of three days of deliberations, which implied ratification on October 8 (BIA 
811711905). A document for the band to "accept and ratify the modified and amended 
agreement" was dated October 6. Attached to this document was a list of 272 voters 
(although numbered to 278) which contained the infonnation that the voter had signed or 
made his mark in favor of ratification. Another list of 218 voters presumably consisted of 
men who did not sign the ratification document (BIA 10/6/1904). The superintendent's 
opinion was that the voters who were absent from the council were young men who were 
in favor of ratification (BIA 1011 0/1904). This explanation indicates that the voters who 
did not sign the ratification document included absent and non-voting members as well as 
members opposed to ratification. An actual vote for or against the agreement appears not 
to have oeen held. Superintendent Davis and the Indian Office both argued that 
ratification was made by a majority of eligible voters, not just of participating voters (BIA 
10/1011904. 10/1811904. 12/9/1904). Whether the number of eligible adult male voters 
on the October 1904 census was 464, as Davis reported (BlA 10/18/1904), or 490. as his 
lists suggested (272+218), the 272 voters who signed the ratification document 
constituted a majority. The superintendent thus determined that a majority of the band 
had rali fied the amended agreement. 

The Department of the Interior's Assistant Attorney-General issued an opinion on 
January 19. 1905, that the ratification of the amended agreement was not complete 
because the Turtle Mountain band had not provided a document releasing all of its claims 
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against the United States as was required by the Act of 1904 (Interior 112111905: BlA 
9/301190Sr This was one of the points that Bottineau had made in a brief against 
ratification (Bottineau 12124/1904). Bottineau claimed to have had a meeting with the 
Department's legal advisor, even though the Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs had 
dismissed his objections and pointed out that none of the four signatories of Bottineau'S 
"notice" requesting a hearing had been found eligible to be members of the band and to 
participate in the negotiations in 1892 (BIA 12/9/\904; Bottineau \1118/1904,2/6/\905). 
In view of the Assistant Attorney-General's opinion, the Secretary of the Interior directed 
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to "take proper steps to have a release executed as 
indicated" (Interior 112111905). The Indian Office then instructed Superintendent Davis 
10 call another council of the Indians entitled to participate in the ratification of the 
agreement, and to submit to them the matter of executing such a release. It provided the 
form and language of a release for the superintendent to use (BIA 1125/1905). 
Superintendent Davis said that he called the general council to meet on February 15, 
1905, because that date already had been established as a day on which supplies would be 
issued to members of the tribe. Therefore, members already would have made plans to be 
at the agency on that date (BIA 211/1905, 2/24/1905). 

Superintendent Davis said that the general council of the band in February 1905 lasted for 
"severa1 days" (BIA 8117/1905). The superintendent explained the purpose for which the 
council had been called. He pointed out that the band would retain its reservation and its 
members would retain their rights to acquire homesteads on the public domain. If they 
did not agree to the release of their other claims against the United States, he noted, the 
$1 million payment would not be made. That payment was for a relinquishment of the 
tribe's claims to land and, Davis observed, since the Government "did not agree that this 
land all belonged to the Indians," it was not a payment of 10 cents per acre but a payment 
for a release of the claim (BIA 2/17/1905, minutes for Feb. 15). On the third day of the 
council, Kakenowash spoke for the tribe and announced that the band had arrived at a 
consensus of opinion. "We will take the million dollars," he stated, but added that there 
were several things the band wanted. Davis summarized the band's position as accepting 
the payment and asking that cenain "requests" be considered. He stated that he would 
send the requests to Washington with his support, but added, "I do not promise that I can 
do all of these things .... " Davis said that his instructions were to take the names of all 
tnose willing to accept the agreement (BIA 2117/1905, minutes for Feb. 17). The release 
form, or "Ratification by the Turtle Mountain band," was signed by 300 individuals, and 
certified by the superintendent on February 17, 1905 (BIA 2117/1905).4s Superintendent 
Davis informed the Indian Office that the release had been obtained with no votes against 
it (BIA 211811905, 212411905). 

'5 Verne Dusenberry wrote that "Little Shell and his followers refused to sign" the release of February 15, 
1905, but ciled no evidence for this claim (Dusenberry 1958, 37). Other evidence indicates that Little Shell 
had died in 1900 or 1901. Dusenberry was unaware of the tribal ratification of October 1904, and unaware 
that the general release signed in 1905 was required by the act of 1904. He implied that the act of 1904 
introduced new provisions allowing Tunle Mountain members to take homesteads on the public domain. 
although that had been provided by Article 6 of the 1892 agreement. 
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After examining the repon and papers provided by Superintendent Davis, the Secretary of 
the Interior informed the Commissioner of Indian Affairs that, "This action by the 
Indians, supplementing that heretofore taken by them, constitutes full compliance with 
the provisions of the act of April 21, 1904 .... " The Secretary directed the 
Commissioner to "carry into effect" the provisions of the amended agreement (Interior 
311 011905). The Commissioner of Indian Affairs, in turn, informed Superintendent Davis 
that the Depanment had found the documents he had submitted to constitute "full 
compliance" with the provisions of the Act of 1904, and that it desired that steps be taken 
at once to carry the ratified agreement into effect (BIA 3/1611905a). The superintendent 
prepared a letter to the Tunle Mountain Band which informed its members that the 
agreement made with the McCumber Commission in 1892, as modified by Congress in 
1904, was now "fully in force" because it had been ratified by the tribe (BIA 4/6/1905). 
It was the date on which this release was executed in 1905, completing the ratification of 
the agreement of 1892, which the Indian Claims Commission later determined was the 
date of the "taking" of the Tunle Mountain Band's aboriginaJJands by the United States 
(lnd.C1.Comm. 1970,325,339). 

The petitioner's researchers claim that changes in the enrollment criteria at the TunJe 
Mountain Agency between 1905 and 1916 disenfranchised Little Shell's followers from 
tribal membership (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 62). They argue generally that the 
Metis became the predominant ponion of tribal members at Tunle Mountain after 
ratification of the McCumber Agreement in 1905. They specifically allege that new 
enrollment criteria were adopted in 1910 and that members were purged and the roll 
closed in 1916 (Morris and Van Gunten 1984,72,77,170. A historical survey of TunJe 
Mountain enrollment written in 1941 did not identify any such changes (BIA 12/1/1940. 
The ratification of the McCumber Agreement required the Depanment of the Interior in 
the years from 1904 to 1906 to clarify enrollment standards and to produce a tribal roll so 
that the Government would know who could vote on the ratification question and who 
should receive the benefits of the ratified agreement. These enrollment criteria were 
determined and announced by 1906, not 1910. Many new applicants who attempted to 
enroll at Tunle Mountain after 1905 were rejected because of these enrollment criteria. 
The petitioner's researchers assen, rather than demonstrate, that Little Shell's followers 
and the opponents of the 1892 agreement were kept off the roll by these rulings. They 
imply, but do not show, that these rejected individuals became the Little Shell petitioner 
of Montana. 

On January 24, 1905, the Assistant Attorney-General of the Interior Department stated his 
opinion that the only test of an entitlement to benefits under the McCumber agreement 
was membership in the tribe, and that these rights were held by every member regardless 
of his or her degree of Indian blood (BIA 9/3011906).46 An effect of this opinion was to 
uphold the right of the Metis to be members of the band. By affirming the principle that 

46 The petitioner's researchers claim thallhe Department of the Interior's opinion of January 24, 1905, 
was an "unusual standard," without attempting to explain how thaI opinion depaned from the Government's 
traditional standards of tribal membership (Morris and Van Gunten 1984,62-63). 
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membership in the tribe was the crucial test for benefits, this opinion compelled the 
Indian Office to define the criteria for membership in the tribe. In addition, 
Superintendent Davis noted that after ratification of the McCumber agreement in 1905 "a 
very large number of mixed blood Indians living in North Dakota, Minnesota, [and] 
Montana who are related to various members of the tribe" were claiming rights to 
enrollment' at Turtle Mountain, and thus rights to share in the benefits of the agreement. 
He wanted a clear standard for deciding the merits of these new applicants. The 
superintendent argued that the "supreme test" of membership should be whether, at the 
time of the 1892 agreement, the applicant lived in the vicinity of the reservation and was 
recognized as being part of the band (BIA 3/27/1905). 

In July 1905, the superintendent prepared rules to govern the consideration of 
applications for membership at Turtle Mountain. His rules prohibited from membership 
applicants who had not 'been living in 1892 on the tract ceded by the McCumber 
Agreement, and applicants who had come to the vicinity of the reservation from Canada 
after the agreement of 1892. These rules were approved by the Department of the Interior 
on August 11, 1905 (BIA 811911905; 9/3011906). The Indian Office agreed with the 
superintendent that successful applicants "must show a long and continued residence 
among the tribe," and that the essential test for membership was whether the applicants 
had "actually lived among and affiliated with the. tribe to such an extent as to be 
recognized as members" by the Indians (BIA 9/2211905, sn 11910). The Department 
upheld this as "a proper general rule." The opinion of the Assistant Attorney-General of 
the Department was that a member's voluntary withdrawal from affiliation with the tribe 
forfeited his or her tribal rights. Whether or not his had occurred, he said, would have to 
be detennined by the facts in each particular case (BIA 10/13/1905,9/30/1906). On 
enrollment questions, the Department of the Interior in October 1905 made it clear that it 
would not be bound by the action of the Indian councilor the superintendent, but would 
decide enrollment cases itself (BIA 5n 11910). 

Superintendent Davis observed that he had received about a thousand applications for 
new memberships in the band, mostly from persons who were away from the reservation 
(BIA 811711905, 10/311]905). In 1906, the Department sent Special Agent Edgar Allen 
to the reservation to consult with the band about these enrollment applications (BIA 
6/2111906). After the council passed judgment on the merits of a large number of 
"additional applications," Allen recommended that only 29 of these 747 applicants be 
admitted to the tribe. In addition, he suggested that 27 enrolled persons have their 
membership canceled (BIA 1212011906). In one case, the council unanimously 
recommended that the family of Vital Turcotte of Montana, an ancestor of the petitioner's 
members, be dropped from the roll for the reason that he had "separated himself from the 
band" by not having "affiliated with it for the past 27 years" (BIA 6/29/]906). According 
to Allen, the new applicants consisted of Metis who had remained at Pembina and 
Walhalla, Canadian Metis who had settled in the vicinity of the reservation, and a few 
Indians and Metis who had been omitted from the McCumber roll. The special agent's 
characterization of these applicants did not suggest that any significant number of them 
were living in Montana (BIA 12/2011906). 
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The 1906 report of Special Agent Allen included a group of 20 applicants who were 
grouped together as one case. These applicants were described as residents, or the 
descendants of residents, of the vicinity of Pembina who belonged to the fonner Pembina 
band of Chippewa and lived away from the reservation (BIA 12/2011906). None of these 
20 applicants, who were rejected for enrollment at Turtle Mountain in 1906, appear to be 
ancestral to members of the petitioner. Also in 1906, the Indian agency created one of the 
primary sources for confirming membership in the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa, 
the collection of records called the 1906 "Family History Books." These volumes 
recorded detailed information about members, their nuclear families, and their close 
relatives (BIA 1906a). In addition, infonnation relating to members of the Turtle 
Mountain Band, and three generations of their families, was recorded on "family data 
cards," which were created mostly for couples who married between 1878 and 1906 (BIA 
1906b). 

In 1906, the Indian Office prepared a statement of "General rules governing applications 
for enrollment" at Turtle Mountain. Following the principles approved in 1905, it stated 
that applicants not living on the ceded tract at the time of the 1892 agreement were 
"debarred from applying," unless they could show that they had been temporarily absent. 
Applicants who had arrived from Canada after the 1892 agreement were "prohibited from 
membership," unless they could show that they had been in Canada temporarily. In 

. general, applications would be considered only if it appeared that an error or omission in 
the case had been made by the McCumber Commission. Potential members were advised 
that it was the Department of the Interior which would approve or reject their applications 
(BIA ca. 1906). These membership criteria did not represent any significant change from 
the standards adopted in 1892 by the McCumber Commission, nor were new criteria 
adopted in 1910. Rather, in response to questions about enrollment from the band, the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1910 reviewed the history of enrollment and the 
standards for membership since 1892. He concluded that, "The fact that the band or its 
council recognizes an applicant as entitled to enrollment will be given proper weight by 
the Office, but cannot be accepted as decisive of the rights of an applicant." Although the 
Turtle Mountain band urged "purging the rolls of those names that should not be there," 
the Commissioner said that no person would be stricken from the roll unless the band 
furnished evidence that an individual had obtained membership by fraud (BIA 
5/7/1910).47 

When Superintendent Davis infonned the members of the Turtle Mountain Band that the 
1892 agreement had been ratified and was in effect. he also infonned them that they were 
entitled to take allotments of land, either on the reservation or on the vacant lands of the 
public domain. The superintendent assumed that, with some exceptions mandated by an 

., The petitioner's researchers claim that the Bureau of Indian Affairs created new enrollment criteria in 
1910 (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 70. 76) and imply that it cut off further allotment applications 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994. 113). They have misinterpreted the 19IO review of the history of the adoption of 
the el(isting enrollment criteria as an announcement of the adoption of new enrollment criteria or the closing 
of the roll. 
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1897 law, the children born to members of the tribe between the agreement of 1892 and 
the ratification of 1904 would be entitled to allotments. "Members having left the Turtle 
Mountain tribe since ... 1892, in such manner as to sever their connections with such 
tribe," the superintendent said, "will not be entitled to land" under this agreement (BlA 
4/611905). Departmental instructions in 1907 said that there was nothing in the 
ratification act of 1904 which prevented a child born after a certain date from receiving an 
allotment, but that interpretation would be overruled in 1916 (Interior 9/3011907; Statutes 
1904). The twelve-year delay in the ratification of the 1892 agreement, Senator 
McCumber explained, meant that the band's members were no longer able to take 
homesteads in the vicinity of the reservation and were compelled to select lands in 
western North Dakota or Montana (McCumber 1912). The Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, in his annual report for 1905, observed that because there was "very little public 
land near the reservation," it would be necessary for members of the band "to go a long 
distance to find suitable land" to take as homesteads or allotments. He pledged, however, 
that the Indian Office would provide a man to assist members in locating such lands (BIA 
9/3011905). 

In response to public opposition from Montana citizens and politicians to allotment in 
that state, Superintendent Davis said that his agency did not intend to make allotments in 
Montana in extensive and contiguous tracts, or to confine allotments to a single cpunty 
(BlA 3/26/1906). In his annual report for 1906, the superintendent stated that allotments 
had been made in four land districts. About one-quarter of the allotments made to that 
time, 149 of 583, were in Montana (BlA 8/2711906). The superintendent personally 
visited Montana to aid in this work and to inspect the allotments selected by members of 
the band (BIA 9/811906, 9113/1906). In 1907, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
reported that 326 allotments had been made on the reservation and another 650 on the 
public domain, and suggested that another 1,370 individuals receive cash in lieu of land 
(BIA 9/30/1907). A year later, however, an Indian inspector reported that 1,066 
allotments had been made to Turtle Mountain members in Valley County alone, in the 
northeastern comer of Montana (Interior 11110/1908). In 1910, the Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs reported that 1,177 members had received allotments or homesteads during 
the past year. These land entries had been filed in nine land offices, including those in 
Glasgow, Miles City, Lewistown, and Great Falls in Montana (BIA 1111/1910). By 1914, 
almost all new allotments were being made in Montana (BlA 9/2111914). Some Turtle 
Mountain members did relocate to these allotments in Montana at this time (Laframboise 
1994, I, 9). Recipients of these allotments remained enrolled members of the Turtle 
Mountain band. 

In 1916, the Department of the Interior concluded that in order to be entitled to an 
allotment on the public domain under the Act of April 21, 1904, a Turtle Mountain 
member must have been born before October 8, 1904, the date on which the agreement of 
1892 was ratified. This case, Voight v. Bruce, came to the Department as an appeal from 
a decision of the General Land Office on an allotment claimed in the Glasgow, Montana. 
land district by a Turtle Mountain member on behalf of his minor child. The Department 
reasoned that the Government had agreed in the 1892 agreement to pay a consideration 
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for the relinquishment of the band's land claim, and that the consideration to be paid was 
a fixed amount. The privilege of members to take lands on the public domain "was part 
of the consideration for the cession," the Department argued, and it was "not reasonable 
to suppose that it was intended that this consideration was to be increased indefinitely." 
as would happen if each new child born to a member, or each new person admitted to 
membership. were allowed to receive an additional payment in the fonn of land. 
Therefore, the Department concluded, receipt of the payment of the consideration 
specified in the Act of 1904 was limited to those persons "in being at that time." It 
followed that all persons whose names appeared on the roll at the time of the ratification 
of the agreement in 1904 were entitled to take lands either on the reservation or on the 
public domain (Interior 1/15/1916,2/23/1916). 

Although this decision prevented some children from receiving a patent for an allotment 
of land previously made, it did not remove them from the Turtle Mountain roll. The 
petitioner's researchers. however. argue that in 1916 the Turtle Mountain roll was closed 
and that many allottees were purged from the roll and had their land taken from them 
(Morris and Van Gunten 1984,72,77,171; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 113). In his 1941 
survey of the history of the Turtle Mountain roll, John Holst mentioned no change in 
1916. Although the Turtle Mountain roll had been regarded as closed after 
Superintendent Davis' roll of 1904, Holst concluded that the agency roll "was never 
closed" (BIA 12/1/1941,9, 10). Holst noted that the agency census was kept up after 
1905 like any other agency census. It was the enrollment criteria affinned in 1905 and 
1906 which acted to close the roll to new applicants who did not meet those criteria. The 
effect of the Department's decision in Voight v. Bruce was to deny allotments to persons 
born after 1904, and thus to reverse the agency's policy of making allotments to those 
minors. At a later date, the Department concluded that this decision resulted in the 
cancellation of allotment selections made by about 607 children born after October 1904 . 
(Interior 411611928). This decision, however, did not remove these minors from the 
agency roll. Because the 19] 6 opinion established a closing date for persons eligible for 
allotment, it could be said that the allotment roll was closed by this ruling. This opinion, 
however. did not alter the criteria for tribal enrollment. Allotment depended upon 
membership, but membership did not depend upon allotment. 

The petitioner's researchers have argued that many of the petitioner'S ancestors unfairly 
had their applications for allotments of land rejected, that they lost their land at an 
uncertain date, and that they therefore fonned an organization in 1927 (Morris and Van 
Gunten 1984,72, 77; Franklin and Bunte 1994,60-61, 113, 120). The first mention of 
this issue came in 1929 in a statement submitted to the Senate Committee on Indian 
Affairs and published in the Survey oj Conditions oj the Indians in the United Stares. The 
statement, titled "The Turtle Mountain Abandoned Chippewa Indians," was made by 
David LaRoque. who identified himself as a resident of Wolf Point, a member of the Fort 
Peck Indian tribe, and a "Turtle Mountain Chippewa." In 1927, he had been elected a 
leader of the "lost band" of the Chippewa, the first fonnal organization in Montana which 
the petitioner claims as its predecessor. LaRoque stated that in 1910 some "unalJoted 
Turtle Mountain Chippewa Indians were allowed to make allotment selections on the 
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public domain" under Section 4 of the Allotment Act of 1887, only later to have the 
allotments canceled by the General Land Office at the recommendation of the Office of 
Indian Affairs (LaRoque 1929). After 1931, the argument that Chippewa Indians in 
Montana had lost land and become "landless" because their allotment applications had 
been rejected was made regularly by· Joseph Dussome and several successive 
organizations led by him which the petitioner claims as its predecessors (Dussome 
12/5/1931,4/4/1934; BlA 7/1011934; Pembina Band 7/211941; LIM ca. 1950). 

These claims that Chippewa descendants applied for allotments about 1910 and lived on 
them and worked them for two to seven years before they were rejected is consistent with 
allotments, made to minors about 1910 to 1914 and canceled by the decision of 1916, 
except for the idea of minors born after 1904 living on and working their own land. 
LaRoque and Dussome and others consistently claimed, however, that the lost allotments 

. were made under the provisions of the Allotment Act of 1887. not the Act of 1904 which . 
ratified the Turtle Mountain agreement.48 Section 4 of the 1887 act provided that any 
Indian "not residing upon a reservation," or whose tribe did not have a reservation, might 
be entitled to have public land allotted to him or her. In such applications, the filing fees 
would be paid from the Treasury of the United States (Statutes 1887). An advantage of 
filing for land under the Allotment Act of 1887 rather than the Homestead Act was not 
having to pay filing fees. One of Dussome's complaints, however, was that filing fees for 
allotments had been made and lost, which he demanded to have refunded to the 
applicants (Dussome 4/4/1934).49 The available evidence includes only two examples of 
such a rejected public domain allotment application (LaRoque 1929; BIA 111211933). In 
the absence of evidence, it is impossible to say how many of the petitioner'S ancestors had 
allotment applications rejected, where the allotments were located, why they were 
rejected, and when they were rejected. Without such evidence, it is difficult to interpret 
the issue of allotments as the catalyst for the formation of an organization in 1927. 

Montana Settlements, 1900's - 1920's: 

The petitioner claims always to have been separate from Rocky Boy's band and the 
Chippewa-Cree Tribe of the Rocky Boy's Reservation, but others have attributed 
common origins to the two groups (Monis and Van Gunten 1984, 77-78). A history of 
the creation of the Rocky Boy's Reservation has concluded that the Office of Indian 
Affairs had been unaware of the existence of Rocky Boy's band in Montana until it 

48 One interviewee presented detailed documentation showing that several members of his family had 
applied for Turtle Mountain allotments in an area just east of the Rocky Boy's Reservation (Burchard 
1998). The documentation indicated that the allotments had been rejected on the grounds that these family 
members were nOl maintaining tribal relations with the Turtle Mountain Band. 

49 Several interviewees said that their parents or grandparents had been able to get homesteads in the 
period from 1900 to 1930, but that they were not economically viable (Sinclair 1998; Vogel 1998). The 
homesteads were described as too small or lacking water, and the homesteaders as lacking the funds to 
develop and "prove up" their claim (Sinclair 1979). 
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received a petition from him in 1902 (Wessel 1974, 22). ~o The Indian Office supported 
legislation introduced in 1904 to provide "the American-born part of Rockyboy's [sic] 
band" with land on the Flathead Reservation (BlA 1/8/1904; Senate 212611904). In 1908, 
Congress appropriated $30,000 to settle Rocky Boy's band on available public lands, or 
on an existing reservation if an agreement could be concluded with an Indian tribe in the 
state to do so (Statutes 1908; Ewers 1974, 124-125). Indian Inspector Frank Churchill 
then investigated and found that all the Indian tribes and agencies in Montana were 
opposed to locating Rocky Boy's band on their reservation. He recommended that the 
band be located on the public domain in northeastern Montana, where the Government 
was allotting members of the Turtle Mountain band (Interior 11110/1908; Wessel 1974, 
25-26). Rocky Boy's band, however, did not assemble to be relocated there. The 
Secretary of the Interior then ordered in October 1909 that the band be placed instead on 
the Blackfeet Reservation. A majority of the band left the reservation by 1911 (BlA 
9/411912; Wessel 1974, 28-30). 

In 1912, the Indian Office sent Fred Baker, a supervisor of Indian schools, to Montana to 
investigate how to provide for Rocky Boy's band and other non-reservation Indians in the 
state (Wessel 1974, 38). Baker reported that reservation Indians were not willing to 
accept Rocky Boy's band on their reserves, and that he could not find vacant public lands 
suitable for the band. Therefore, Baker recommended using the abandoned Fort 
Assiniboine military reservation southwest of Havre as a pennanent Indian reservation for 
Rocky Boy's band and other non-reservation Indians (BIA 9/4/1912; Wessel 1974,39). 
In a compromise with local officials, the Government agreed to limit the proposed 
reservation to the southern part of the fonner military reserve (Wessel 1974,47, 70). The 
Department of the Interior prepared draft legislation to create the reservation and urged 
that the reserve be adequate to support 500 Indians (Interior 3117/1916). After the Senate 
removed one of the four townships from the proposed reserve, the bill was passed by 
Congress (Wessel 1974, 70-71). The act, which was signed into law on September 7, 
1916, established a reservation for "Rocky Boy's Band of Chippewas" and other 
"homeless Indians" in Montana, of 56,000 acres of the former Fort Assiniboine military 
reservation (Statutes 1916) (see Figure 6).~1 

The origins of Rocky Boy's band were unclear. The agent from the Flathead Agency 
visited Rocky Boy, in his camp near Anaconda, and reported in 1904 that the band 
consisted of Chippewas and Crees. Although some of them were from Canada, he said 
that many reponed that their relatives were from Wisconsin (BlA 118/1904). According 
to the Great FaJIs Tribune, in 1905 Rocky Boy "related the story of his separation from 
the ... band of Chippewa Indians who inhabited the nonhern part of Wisconsin," and 
said that his people were now "wandering about" Montana (Great Falls Tribune 

lO For a photograph of Rocky Boy, see Bun 1987, 203. 

11 In an anicle purponedly about the creation of Rocky Boy's reservation, historian Larry Bun did not 
consult the text of the authorizing legislation or other primary sources and thus was simply wrong in stating 
that the reservation originally was created by an Act of February II, 1915 (Burt 1987, 206; Stat. 38 :807). 
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1011211905). The agent at the Flathead Agency reported in 1908 that Rocky Boy claimed 
that his band had come to western Montana about 18 years earlier, or about 1890 (Ewers 
1974, 124). Inspector Churchill reported in 1908, however, that Rocky Boy claimed to be 
a Chippewa Indian and to have been born in Montana in the country around Butte and 
Anaconda (Interior 11/1011908). The 1910 Federal census listed a Rocky Boy with the 
infonnation that he had been born in Minnesota to parents born in Wisconsin (Census 
1910). In a 1910 article about Rocky Boy's band, the Great Falls Tribune claimed that the 
band had its origins in Wisconsin, but had temporarily "spent some time" on the Turtle 
Mountain Reservation in North Dakota before arriving in Montana (Great Falls Tribune 
611411910). Verne Dusenberry. who studied the band in the 1950's, concluded that Rocky 
Boy was "a Wisconsin-born chief who came with his small band of Chippewas to 
Montana after having lived many years in Canada" (Dusenberry 1954, 2, quoted; 
Burlingame and Toole 1957. \: 185). 

The size of Rocky Boy's band also was poorly known. In November 1908, Chief Rocky 
Boy provided Inspector Churchill with a list of his band which contained 100 names. 
Rocky Boy implied. however. that more names should be added to the list. In 1908, 
Churchill recommended that an enumeration of Rocky Boy's band be made by allotting 
clerk Thralls W. Wheat (Interior 11110/1908). In March 1909, Wheat was directed by the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs both to compile "an accurate census" of the Indians 
belonging to Rocky Boy's band and to prepare a separate census of the Canadian Indians 
affiliated with the band. Wheat said that he found Chief Rocky Boy and "the greater 
part" of his band camped east of Helena, but that he also found camps of Rocky Boy's 
Indians at Birdseye, Townsend, Clancy, Garrison, and Anaconda. Wheat concluded that 
there were 120 American Indians affiliated with Rocky Boy's band, and another 17 
individuals affiliated with the band who were Canadians. His census, however, contained 
139 rather than 137 names. Each of the Canadian Indians on Wheat's census appe:ars to 
have been either a spouse, child, parent, or sibling of an American member of the band 
(BlA 4/20/1909). The superintendent of the Blackfeet Agency estimated in 1910 that 
Rocky Boy's band had 400 members. He also said, however, that Rocky Boy could not 
keep his people together (Wessel 1974,36). 

Anthropologist Verne Dusenberry, on the basis of his personal fieldwork and the previous 
assessments of bureaucrats and observers, concluded that the Indians of the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation included people from two bands, Rocky Boy's Chippewas and Little Bear's 
Canadian Crees, that had been separate entities for the previous 30 years (Dusenberry 
1954, 2; Burlingame and Toole 1957, 1: 186). Historian Larry Burt suggested that the two 
bands began merging while living near Helena about 1905 (Burt 1987, 204). As early as 
1908, Inspector Churchill noted that the common understanding in Montana was that 
Little Bear's band of Canadian Cree was part of Rocky Boy's group of roving Indians 
(Interior 1111011908). A memoir of a member of Rocky Boy's band, however, concluded 
that the "Little Bear Crees and the Rocky Boy Chippewa were not really a single group" 
unti I they camped together in 1914. In this view, the two bands came together in the 
vicinity of the proposed reservation after Baker's recommendation to create an Indian 
reservation from the old military reserve. The interpretation of this Rocky Boy's member 
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was that Little Bear's band of Cree was included on the new reservation under the 
provision of the statute which allowed other "homeless Indians" to be located there (Nault 
1977, 13 and map p.). After the creation of the Rocky Boy's Reservation, some Metis 
who earlier had settled along the Front Range, like William Boushie at Dupuyer Creek, 
moved to the new reserve. Boushie's grandson argued that Boushie, who was a Metis of 
Cree ancestry, had' been associated with Chief Little Bear and advised him on obtaining 
the reservation (Nault 1977,5, 13-14). 

Indian Inspector James McLaughlin organized an enrollment of the Indians of the Rocky 
Boy's Reservation. Applicants appeared before the inspector and a group of advisors at 
Browning on the Blackfeet Reservation and at the band's camp in Hill County during 
May 1917 (Interior6/261l917, 717/1917). McLaughlin prepared a tentative roll on 
May 30, 1917 (Interior 5/3011917). This list consisted of 657 names and included, 
McLaughlin said, "every Indiart who applied to me for enrollment" (Interior 71711917). 
The Commissioner of Indian Affairs described this list as a census of all Indians 
"claiming to be members of the band" (BIA 10/15/1917). In preparing the "corrected 
roll," McLaughlin reported, 206 applicants were eliminated from the list (Interior 
717/1 917). The final roll, approved by the Department of the Interior on July 16, 1917, 
contained 451 names (Interior 7/16/1917, roll; see also Interior 71711917; BIA 
1011511917; Dusenberry 1954, 14; Wessel 1974, 77). Only about 45 of the 139 names on 
Wheat's 1909 census of Rocky Boy's band can be clearly identified on the final roll of 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation in 1917. This means that perhaps as few as 10 percent 
(about 45 of 451) of the individuals on the 1917 Rocky Boy's roll had been listed on 
Wheat's 1909 census of the band. 

Inspector McLaughlin noted that the reservation had been created for Rocky Boy's band 
and "other homeless Indians" in Montana. Therefore, he reported, he had "given first 
consideration to the needs of the older and homeless Indians, without means of support," 
and had included "practically all" of them on the final roll. McLaughlin acknowledged 
that "many of the older Indians were born in Canada," but claimed that "they have been in 
this country for years" and were "recognized as members" of the band (Interior 717/1917). 
Anthropologist John Ewers, noting that the 1917 roll of the Rocky Boy's Reservation was 
several times larger than the 1909 census of Rocky Boy's band, argued that the expansion 
of the band consisted of "mixed bloods" and Canadian Crees. Ewers' report for the 
Indian Claims Commission, which focused on individuals on the 1917 roll who had been 
born before the Indian cession of the territory in 1888, concluded that 68 percent of the 
members of the Rocky Boy's band in 1917 had been born in Canada (Ewers 1974, 131, 
132, 136). 

Ancestors of the petitioner's members can be identified in five households with a total of 
17 individuals on Wheat's 1909 census of Rocky Boy's band. In addition, one Canadian 
woman on the census can be identified as an ancestor of the petitioner's members. One 
other American family of three individuals also may be ancestral to the petitioner. The 
petitioner's ancestors constituted about 12 percent (17 of 139) of the membership of 
Rocky Boy's band in 1909. The final roll of the Rocky Boy's Indians in July 1917 
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contained 18 households or families, with 51 individuals, who can be identified as 
ancestors of the petitioner's members. There may be six additional individuals from two 
different families on the 1917 roll who have descendants on the petitioner's roll. The 
petitioner's ancestors constituted about II percent (51 of 451) of the membership of the 
Rocky Boy's Reservation in 1917. Fourteen of the 17 ancestors of the petitioner's 
members who had been listed on the 1909 census also were listed on the 1917 roll. 
Therefore, 37 of the 51 ancestors on the 1917 roll, more than two-thirds of them, had not 
been on the 1909 census. The petitioner has 922 members who trace their ancestry to 
someone in Rocky Boy's band according to either Wheat's 1909 census or McLaughlin's 
1917 roll (BIA 4/20/1909; Interior 711611917; BAR 1998). Thus, about 24 percent (922 
of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from someone on either the 1909 or 1917 
lists of Rocky Boy's band. 

The petitioner has identified 796 ancestors of its members on the 1910 census of Montana 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 7; Census 1910). The petitioner's researchers found that 
69 percent (550 of 796) of those ancestors were identified by the census takers as 
"Indians." In addition, they point out, 60 percent (476 of 796) of them were listed on the 
separate "Indian Population" schedules of the 1910 census (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 7). 
This also means that only 23 percent (74 of 320) of ancestors not listed on the separate 
Indian schedules were identified as "Indians." The petitioner's researchers say that almost 
all of these ancestors were identified on the census as having "Chippewa" or "Cree" 
ancestry, or a combination of both (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 7). Their finding that 476 
ancestors of the petitioner in 1910 were listed on the Indian schedules of the census is 
consistent with the report of a prominent anthropological reference work, and suggests 
that the Indian population schedules may have been its source. Anthropologist John 
Swanton, in his 1952 guide to The Indian Tribes of North America, wrote that there were 
486 Chippewas in Montana in 1910 (Swanton 1952, 390). 

The 1910 Federal census can be used to analyze the origins of the ancestors of the 
petitioner's members who settled on the Front Range. Few ancestors appeared in Front 
Range locations on the 1880 Federal census of Montana except at St. Peter's Mission. 
Other evidence has suggested that most of the migration to the Front Range by the 
petitioner's ancestors occurred after 1885. The 1890 census was largely destroyed by fire, 
and the petitioner did not submit evidence about the location of its ancestors on the 1900 
census. The petitioner's researchers have identified 51 households on the 1910 Federal 
census in the only two Front Range counties in 1910, Teton County and Lewis and Clark 
County (Census 1910). All of these households contained individuals with surnames 
found in the petitioner's ancestry. It is not possible with the evidence available on the 
petitioner's census abstracts, however, to confirm that an ancestor of the petitioner'S 
members resided in 13 of these 51 households. which limits the analysis to 38 
households. 

The geographical origins of these Front Range families can be partially detennined by 
looking at the place of birth of the parents of these 38 household heads and their 31 
spouses. These 69 individuals had 138 parents. The place of birth was unknown for 6 of 
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these 138 parents, while 8 were born in Montana, 7 elsewhere in the United States (all but 
one in Dakota, Minnesota, and Wisconsin), 116 in Canada, and I in a European nation. 
For the purposes of examining migration to Montana from North America, the parents 
born in Montana can be excluded, as can those with an unknown or European place of 
birth. Because 116 parents were born in Canada and 7 in the United States, about 
94 percent of the petitioner's families on the Front Range had previously resided in 
Canada. If this analysis is performed with all 51 households selected by the petitioner's 
researchers, then these 51 household heads and their 43 spouses had 188 parents, of 
whom 144 were born in Canada and 20 in the United States. On the basis of the 
petitioner's data, about 88 percent of the petitioner's families on the Front Range had 
previously resided in Canada. This analysis alone, however, cannot determine either how 
many of these Canadians migrated to Montana through Pembina, St. Joseph, or Turtle 
Mountain, or how many American Metis migrated to Montana through Canada. 

On the 1910 census, the petitioner's researchers have noted an area of Metis settlement 
along the Front Range at Dearborn Canyon on the Dearborn River (Franklin and Bunte 
1994. 59-60) (see Figure 6). This area was settled by the Metis, presumably, at some time 
between 1880 and 1910. The earliest reference in the available evidence to such a 
possible settlement is information that Virginia Swan, a descendant of the British Red 
River Settlement residents John Swan and Joseph Laverdure, was born in 1890 on the 
Dearborn (BAR 1998). One household head on the 1910 census, Jack Swan, appears to 
have been listed previously on the 1880 census at St. Peter's Mission. He was the son of 
James Swan of the Red River Settlement (Sprague and Frye 1983, table I; Riel 1985, 
5:347). On the 1910 census, the petitioner's researchers have identified six households of 
49 people in the district of Dearborn Canyon (Enumeration District 181). They 
considered another three households of 22 people in another census district (Enumeration 
District 177) to have been part of the same settlement along the Dearborn River, thus 
making its size nine households and 71 people (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 59-60). A non­
Indian resident of Augusta recalled, in a 1994 oral history interview, that the Metis people 
on the Dearborn River in the 1910's lived in seven or eight cabins "scattered" about a 
half-mile to a mile or two miles apart from each other. "There wasn't really a settlement" 
in the area, he said, as "most of those people lived in tents, year around" (Kenck 1994b). 

Some evidence suggests that local Metis settlements in Montana in the first quarter of the 
20th century had fonns of local Metis leadership. The reminiscences of a non-Indian 
resident of Phillips County referred to the brothers Lalley and "Big" Gregory Doney as 
"chief of the Doney tribe." Furthermore, he ascribed their leadership to include other 
families in the local area, saying that "their word was an unwritten law that took in such 
breed families as the Gladeaus, the Parenteaus, the Azuers [AzuresJ, the La Treys and the 
LaPlaunts [LaPlantesJ. and the tribe of fabulous old John Moran [Morin]" (Coburn 1966, 
11; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 116). The petitioner's researchers reported that their 
interviews indicated that Lally Doney had been a leader among an extensive group of 
families (CampiSi and Stama 1987a. 12). The oral history of a non-Indian resident of 
Augusta described Jack Swan as the "chief of the whole bunch" of Metis living along the 
Dearborn River in Lewis and Clark County (Kenck 1994a. 3-4). The petitioner's 
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FIGURE 7: NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS CONTAlNlNG ANCESTORS OF THE PETITIONER'S MEMBERS, 1920 
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TABLE 12 

LOCATION OF PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS IN MONTANA, 1920 

Quum: Ell..! # Householdli 

Big Horn Crow Resn. 10 
Blaine 10 3 
Blame 242 5 
Blaine 244 2 
Cascade 31 2 
Fergus 84 5 
Fergus 86 4 
Fergus 87 I 
Fergus 90 I 
Fergus 91 3 
Fergus 103 2 
Fergus 106 5 
Fergus 111 8 
Fergus 112 1 
Glacier 125 2 
Glacier 126 6 
Glacier Blackfeet Resn. 6 
Hill 130 2 
Hill 13 I 2 
Hill 132 2 
Hill 136 2 
Hill Rocky Boy Resn. 4 
Lewis & Clark 102 1 
Lewis & Clark 106 1 
Lewis & Clark 107 3 
Lewis & Clark 114 1 
Lewis & Clark 119 1 
Lewis & Clark 125 16 
Missoula 169 I 
Pondera 163 5 
Phillips 152 2 
Phillips 153 3 
Phillips 156 15 
Phillips 157 3 
Phillips 158 I 
Phillips 160 2 
Phillips 161 3 
Phillips 162 
Phillips 239 1 
Phillips I Blaine • Belknap Resn. 12 
Roosevelt 188 3 
Roosevelt 189 1 
Roosevell 191 2 
Roosevelt 196 I 
Sheridan 200 I 
Telon 207 7 
Telon 208 3 
Telon 214 3 
Toole 216 2 
Valley 226 3 

SOURCE: U.S. Census 1920 (Pelition Document: 1995 Exhibit 31). 

NOTES: 
• Ft. Belknap Resn. = Phillips Co. (8), Blaine Co. (4). 
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researchers claim that this childhood recollection described Swan enforcing community 
standards of behavior and representing the community in making farm labor contracts 
with local whites (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 117). The recollections of a non-Indian of 
his boyhood on a ranch in the Dupuyer area in Pondera County referred to a "Chief 
Salois" (Shatraw 1970, 176, 181-182; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 117-119).52 While these 
examples demonstrate that some individual settlements had Metis leaders at the local 
level, none of this evidence suggests leadership which transcended the local level to unite 
geographically separate local settlements as a larger entity. 

The petitioner has identified 953 of its ancestors on the 1920 census of Montana (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 8; Census 1920). The petitioner's researchers found that 60 percent (576 
of 953) of those ancestors were identified by the census takers as "Indians." There were 
no separate "Indian Population" schedules for the 1920 census. The researchers found 
176 households in Montana in 1920 which contained an ancestor of the petitioning group 
(see Table 12). About 24 percent (42 of 176) of the households containing ancestors 
were located on a Montana Indian reservation, including households in the reservation 
towns of Browning and Wolf Point. The largest number of off-reservation ancestors were 
in Phillips County (31 households), Fergus County (30 households), and Lewis and Clark 
County (23 households). If grouped by geographical areas, then 76 households of 
ancestors in 1920 were located in northern Montana, 59 were along the Front Range or in 
the area west of the great bend of the Missouri River, 30 were in the area south of the 
Missouri in central Montana, 10 were on the Crow Reservation in southern Montana, and 
1 was west of the continental divide. 

The larger residential pattern in 1920 was that ancestors of the petitioner lived in two 
separate geographical regions, one in north-central Montana on both sides of the Missouri 
River and the other along the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains (see Figure 7). The 
region containing ancestors in north-central Montana consisted of Phillips, Fergus, and 
Blaine counties. The region containing ancestors along the Front Range consisted of 
Lewis and Clark, Teton, and Glacier counties. In 1920, there was an extent of territory 
between these two regions which contained few ancestors, The petitioner's researchers 
have recognized this geographical pattern, and have referred to these two areas of the 
petitioner's members and their ancestors as the "Front Range" and the "Havre-Wolf 

52 According to the petitioner's researchers, Shatraw "described Toussaint Salois as leading his group of 
several related families on their annual subsistence hunting and gathering trips in the nearby Rockies .... " 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 119). Shatraw, however, made no reference to "several related families." 
Shatraw wrote that, "At least once every year Chief Salois and his large family would come by on their 
hunting and berrying trips." When the young Shatraw visited Salois's temporary camp, he saw the "old 
chiefand two younger men," but said that "there was no sign of the women and children" (Shatraw 1970, 
181-182). Shatraw did not provide enough evidence to identify "families." The petitioner's researchers 
assert that Shatraw's reference to "Chief Salois" was "almost certainly a reference to Toussaint" Salois 
(Franidin and Bunte 1994, 118). Shatraw described how Chief Salois had removed his shirt to show his 
"badly crippled" left arm with its "shrunken" muscles, the result of his having been attacked by a grizzly 
bear when he was "a young man" (Shatraw 1970, 182). The petitioner's researchers, however, have 
presented a photograph of Toussaint Salois as an adult aiming his rifle at a presumed hunting target in 
which he appears to have a normal left arm (Dupuyer Comm. 1977, 153). 

-89-

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 161 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

Point-Lewistown triangle" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, passim). These two areas of 
settlement were widely separated. The straight-line distance between Zortman, in the 
southwestern comer of Phillips County near the Missouri River, and Augusta, along the 
Front Range at the northern end of Lewis and Clark County, is almost 200 miles. The 
modem driving distance between those towns is at least 250 miles. 

The petitioner's ancestors in 1920 were dispersed throughout 46 enumeration districts 
and four reservations, and across hundreds of miles (see Table 12; see Figure 7). 
Concentrations of ten or more households of ancestors of the petitioner in 1920 existed in 
only two census districts and two Indian reservations (see Table 12). There were 16 
households of ancestors in the Augusta district of Lewis and Clark County (Enumeration 
District 125), and 15 households of ancestors in the enumeration district for the 
southwestern quarter of Phillips County (Enumeration District 156). There also were 12 
households of ancestors on the Fort Belknap Reservation and 10 households on the Crow 
Reservation. In none of these districts did the ancestors of the petitioner constitute a 
majority of the population. There were only two smaller areas or neighborhoods in 1920 
which might be labeled as exclusive areas in which the petitioner'S ancestors were in the 
majority. In the Tyler district of Fergus County (Enumeration District Ill), the 
petitioner's ancestors resided in six of seven consecutive households. In School 
District 9, just north of Malta, in Phillips County (Enumeration District 157), ancestors of 
the petitioner were listed in five of nine consecutive households. The 32 households of 
ancestors residing on Indian reservations were located in areas of exclusive settlement, of 
course, but only the four households on the Rocky Boy's Reservation could be said to 
have been residing exclusively among its own ethnic group. 

During the first half of the 20th century, Montanans were aware of the existence of non­
reservation Indians in the state. Newspapers in the state noted, at least as early as the 
1920's, that many of these "homeless" or "landless" Indians resided in small groups or 
camps on the edges of many of the state's towns. Despite the creation of Rocky Boy's 
Reservation, a local newspaper columnist observed in 1925, there were "still poverty­
stricken Crees hanging about our cities .... " (Brady Citizen 8/2211925). The Great Falls 
Tribune reponed in 1926 that the city council had failed in an anempt to remove "the 
Indians who have been long encamped" on the city's west side. "The Indians for several 
years occupied a small site on the west banks of the Missouri river," it said, and had 
avoided eviction by leasing two and one-half acres of private land near their previous site 
(Great Falls Tribune 4/611926). In 1931 the state's senators, in the words of the Great 
Falls newspaper, had visited "the communities that have the vagrant Indian problem" 
(Great Falls Tribune 11911932). In 1937, the Great Falls Tribune observed that Montana's 
"homeless Indians" had "encampments near several large cities of the state .... " (Great 
Falls Tribune 7/25/1 937). 

Contemporary reports on Montana's non-reservation Indians during the 1920's and 1930's 
neither identified them as a single tribe or community, nor as the descendants of a single 
tribe. The most common observation was that these Indians were Crees from Canada. 
The newspaper in Brady in 1925 referred to the state's urban Indians as Crees (Brady 
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Citizen 8/2211 925). An employee of the city-county health board identified the Indians at 
Great Falls as Crees and Chippewas (Great Falls Tribune 411411927). The opinion of the 
superintendent at the Rocky Boy's Agency was that the Indians in the camp at Great Falls 
were "principally Crees from Canada." The superintendent said that Indians from Canada 
were found at many places along the main line of the Great Northern railroad and at cities 
like Great Falls and Helena (Great Falls Tribune 4/21/1927). A survey by the local Red 
Cross in 1933 concluded that the residents of the settlement west of Great Falls, which 
became known as "Hill 57," were descendants of at least seven or eight different Indian 
tribes (Great Falls Tribune 4/13/1933). The Indian Rights Association published a report 
at the start of 1936 which said that the state had "some 3,000 homeless Cree Indians who 
have roamed in small groups around Montana for some years" (Indian Truth 1936). 
D'Arcy McNickle of the Office of Indian Affairs, in a 1937 article about Hill 57, offered 
the opinion that its residents, and those on the edge of Montana's prairie towns, were the 

. descendants of individuals who had been Hudson's Bay employees on the Red River a 
century earlier, and who had fled to Saskatchewan after 1870 and to the VniCed States 
after 1885 (McNickle 1937). 

Accounts by non-Indians living in the vicinity of Metis families in rural settlements 
during the early 20th century described them as socially and culturally distinct. They 
usually referred to the Metis as "half-breeds" or :'breeds." These non-Indians provided 
descriptions of their own, and collected first-hand accounts from Metis individuals, of a 
distinct Metis culture such as the New Year's celebrations and other celebrations, which 
they sometimes referred to as "fiddle dances" (Coburn 1966, 11; Dupuyer Comm. 1977, 
154-155; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 24; Kenck 1994a, 6). However, both some of these 
non-Indian observers and Metis individuals recalled that non-Indians as well as the Metis 
had participated in these dances (Coburn 1966, 11; A.Wiseman 1993b, 5; Kenck 1994a, 
6; Reardon 1994, 30; C.Wiseman I 994b, 33). An interview with a former chairman of 
the petitioning group described large joint hunting parties by men from different Metis 
families (Plummer 1991). De~pite the more or less uniform Catholicism ofthe Metis 
families, there was little or no mention of the church or Catholicism in any of the 
interviews with the Metis or accounts of their social life. Thus, there was no indication 
that all the Metis within a geographical area attended the same church, or that their 
churches were a nexus of Metis social life. 

According to the petitioner's researchers, the petitioner's ancestors along the Front Range 
began during the 1910's to move out of their isolated settlements in the foothills and into 
the towns of Choteau and Augusta and the cities of Helena and Great Falls. Their 
comparison of the 1910 and 1920 censuses revealed that the cluster of ancestors along the 
Dearborn River declined from 71 to 8 people during the decade, while the number of 
ancestors increased from 33 to 88 people in the town of Augusta and from none to 36 in 
the town of Choteau (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 60). Some of the Front Range families 
moved to reservations. According to one account, some of the Salois sold out and moved 
to the Rocky Boy's Reservation when it was established in 1917. Families from 
Dearborn Canyon also reportedly went to Rocky Boy's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 32, 
49). Oral history from one interviewee suggested that some of the Front Range Metis 
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remained at the Blackfeet Reservation after Rocky Boy's group left (Bremner 1998). 
Metis intermarried and living at Blackfeet include individuals from the Bremner, Salois, 
Boushie, and Gray family lines. In north-central Montana, in what the petitioner's 
researchers have called the "Havre-Wolf Point-Lewistown triangle," however, the 
petitioner's ancestors in 1920 continued to live in what those researchers characterized as 
"a relatively dispersed settlement pattern" of "rural homesteads." Population movement 
into rural towns in this area came after 1920, perhaps because of the agricultural 
depression and environmental drought of the late 1920's and the entire decade of the 
1930's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 57-58, 60-61). 

During the period from the 1910's to the 1930's. some of the petitioner's members have 
claimed, the Metis families that had settled on homesteads in relatively remote areas were 
no longer able to maintain the independent living which had been based on a mix of stock 
raising, subsistence farming. hunting, and selling wood. Thus. Metis individuals came to 
be laborers employed by others (e.g, A. Wiseman 1998). These changes in the economic 
subsistence of Metis families also led to the movement of many of the ancestors of the 
petitioner's members into small rural towns over the course of the two decades from the 
mid-1910's to mid-1930's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 32). A Metis descendant also has 
attributed the movement of her ancestors from the Front Range into Great Falls to the 
depression of the 1930's (LaPier 1997, 114). Some families continued to hold land in the 
1920's and 1930's, however, especially in the Lewistown area. For example, the 
petitioner's researchers have described the Berger family as having had a "ranch" near 
Lewistown (Morris and Van Gunten 1984 172). A Doney descendant referred to her 
family having landholdings, which were south of Zortman toward the Missouri River, at 
the time of her birth in 1935 (Vogel 1998). An Indian Service employee, discussing land 
planning in 1937, indicated that some of the landless Indians had only recently sold their 
failing homesteads (BIA 4/1411937). 

The Creation of Organizations in Montana, 1920· 1936: 

The first evidence of organizational activities in Montana by the ancestors of the 
petitioner's members comes from the memories of Howard Paul, a former chairman of 
the petitioning group. Paul remembered that, when he was about 7 years old, a meeting 
which consisted of 40 to 60 persons was held sometime during 1920 on the ranch of his 
grandparents about 40 miles east of Lewistown. His grandfather was Jacob Berger, one 
of the founding members of the Lewistown settlement. He said that the attendees 
included the Bergers, !sadar laframboise, Mose Ouellette, Jack Guardipee, and Joe 
Dussome. Paul recalled the purpose of the meeting as having been to discuss the "lands 
claim against the federal government" and to decide who should represent the group in a 
meeting to be held at the Turtle Mountain Agency (H. Paul 1998; Morris and Van Gunten 
1984, 172). A bill to authorize the Chippewa Indians of Minnesota to submit their claims 
against the Government to the Court of Claims was introduced in Congress in 1920 
(House 3/811920). This action may have led Chippewa descendants in Montana to hold 
meetings in 1920 and to request a similar opportunity. On April 13, 1921, a bill was 
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introduced in Congress to authorize "the Indians residing on or belonging to the Turtle 
Mountain Reservation, N.Dak.," to submit claims to the Court of Claims (Senate 
4/13/1921). P~rhaps, then, the first meetings which Paul remembered as having occurred 
in Mayor June of 1920 actually occurred in Mayor June of 1921 in response to the 
introduction of this bill on behalf of the Turtle Mountain Indians. Congress took no 
action on this bill. 

In a resolution proposed in 1971 for the Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians of 
Montana, but not certified as approved by the organization, it was asserted that the Little 
Shell Band of Montana was organized by Joseph Dussome in 1924 "to employ legal 
counsel to prosecute land claims .... " (Little Shell Band of MT 311311971, quoted: see 
also Campisi and Slama 1987b). No contemporary documents support the claim that an 
organization was formed in 1924 or that it used the Little Shell name. Former chairman 
Howard Paul recalled that another meeting of 50 to 60 persons was held at a bam about 
four miles outside of Lewistown during the autumn of 1925 or 1926. The attendees he 
mentioned were the Doneys, Swans, Turquottes, and Joe Dussome (Morris and Van 
Gunten 1984, 172). According to the petitioner, it was the rejection of the descendants of 
Little Shell's band from the rolls of the Rocky Boy's Reservation after 1916 which 
prompted Dussome to fonn an organization (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 80). The 
petitioner contends that an organization of the "Abandoned Chippewa Indians of. 
Montana" was formally established by Dussome in 1927. It asserts that this organization 
"was the result of several years of meetings with various leaders of the Landless 
Chippewa Indian camps along the 'Highline, ,,, which refers to the towns along the 
railway line across northern Montana (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 172 quoted, 72-73). 
The only available evidence the petitioner presents for meetings prior to 1927, however, 
are Howard Paul's recollections of the two meetings during the 1920's held in the vicinity 
of Lewistown. 

On August 20, 1927, Joseph Dussome (or Disume) was elected as the "Chief Headman" 
of "the lost band of the Chippeways."S4 This group identified itself as the lost band "of 

the late Red Bear Band. fonnerly of North Dakota, now residing in Montana .... " It 
claimed that its mixed-blood Chippewa members were "Indians, for all intents and 
purposes," who were "entitled to the benefits" due them as "American Indians." In 
addition to electing Dussome as "chief," the meeting selected a "special committee" of 
five men and authorized it to act on behalf of the band. The committee consisted of 
Dussome and J.L. Doney, both from Malta; Joe Fyant from Zortman: Dan Belcourt from 
Rocky Boy; and Dave LaRoque from Wolf Point. Four of the five members of the special 
committee were from north-central Montana. None of these five officers came from 
south of the Missouri River or from the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains. This 
meeting was held at the fairgrounds in Hays. The minutes of the meeting were signed by 
50 individuals. Since none of the 5 members of the special committee appear to have 
signed this document, the total attendance would have been at least 55 persons. The 
Doney family was prominent in these proceedings, constituting 16 of these 55 attendees, 

S4 For a photograph of Joseph Dussome, see Dusenberry 1958.26. 
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and other attendees were from family lines intennarried with the Doneys.55 Nine family 
surnames accounted for 46 of the 55 persons present at the meeting. No attendee was 
identifiably from one of the Front Range settlements (Lost Band 1927). Later, Dussome 
and others associated with him would consistenrly refer to 1927 as the date when the 
Landless Indians of Montana were first organized. 

The petitioner has provided a list of its "tribal officers" for the years after 1927. During 
the years from 1927 to 1934, it claims, Joseph Dussome was president and Thomas 
Oulette [sic] was vice-president or secretary. From 1929 to 1934, it claims. Gabriel 
Gardipee was treasurer. The petitioner provides no citations to documentary evidence 
which demonstrates that these individuals were officers in an organization during the 
years from 1927 to 1933. The document which it cites as support for its detailed 1934 list 
of three officers and six district representatives is a brief letter by Dussome which named 
no officers or districts at all and was signed by Dussome as a "representative" of an 
unnamed organization (LSTCIM 1984, appendix F; Dussome 5/2511934). The minutes 
of the organizational meeting of 1927 show Dussome as the leader of the "lost band." but 
as its "chief headman" rather than "president." Neither Thomas Ouellette nor Gabriel 
Gardipee appeared as an officer or participant in the 1927 meeting (Lost Band 1927). 
The available evidence indicates that Ouellette and Gardipee were not officers in an 
organization led by Dussome until 1939. 

By 1928 the Indian Office had received several letters from Dussome which it 
characterized as regarding "the rights of certain persons claiming to be Chippewa Indians 
in Montana." The Commissioner of Indian Affairs explained to Senator Burton K. 
Wheeler of Montana that the 1892 agreement had been ratified and that Dussome and 
other persons of "like status" could not now be enrolled with the Turtle Mountain Band 
(BIA 411611928). Dussome wrote to the Commissioner in 1931 as the representative of 
the "Abandoned Band of the Chippewa of Northern Montana," which he said was more 
commonly known as the "Cree Indians of Northern Montana." The Chippewa Indians of 
Montana. he said, had been rejected for allotments under the Allotment Act of 1887, did 
not receive assistance from the Federal Government, were kept from hunting by the State 
government. and were now homeless. He repeated the 1927 claim that these people were 
"Indians for all intent[s] and purpose[s]" and should have the rights extended to other 
tribes. Dussome asserted both that these Indians were descendants of "the Red River 
Indians" and that they could "lawfully claim this northern portion of Montana" as their 
own (Dussome 12/5/1931). In reply, the Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
referred to Dussome's "Abandoned Band of Chippewa" as "Chippewas of the Turtle 
Mountain Band" who had been under the leadership of Little Shell, refused to approve the 
1892 agreement, and removed to Canada. "About the only place at which the Little Shell 
may be considered as having any rights," he concluded, "is on the Turtle Mountain 

55 The family lines intermarried with the Doneys included the Gardipee. Kelsey, Wells. Fleury, Turcotte. 
and Lavenger. The list included other Highline families not linked by marriage to the Doneys. including 
several Azures, an Amiotte. and a few others. The background of a few individuals, with surnames Fyant. 
SI. Pierre, and Ducharme, could not be determined. 
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Reservation .... " (BIA 1211411931). 

Joseph Dussome, however, rejected the Indian Office's apparent assumption that the 
Chippewa of northern Montana were related to the Turtle Mountain Chippewa who had 
been under the leadership of Chief Little Shell. Instead, Dussome asserted in 1931 that 
his "Abandoned Band of Chippewa Indians of Northern Montana" consisted of 
descendants of the band known as the "Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians" whose 
"Principal Chief' had been Red Bear. He stated that, "we are of the Pembina Band, and 
not of the Turtle Mountain Band." Dussome argued that these descendants of the 
Pembina Band had been in Montana long before the agreement with the United States 
was made by the Turtle Mountain Band in 1892, and long before a reservation was 
created for the Turtle Mountain Band by the Government in 1882. Dussome said that his 
band "had nothing to do with" the 1892 agreement "as we were in Montana at the time," 
He and his members, Dussome said, "know our own history best." When the Indian 
Office referred to the Turtle Mountain Band under the leadership of Chief Little Shell, 
Dussome concluded, it referred "to a different Band of Chippewa Indians" than his own 
(Dussome 12/2111931).55 

The contemporary oral history of the petitioner's members accords with statements made 
by Joseph Dussome in the 1930's about the economic problems of his members. In a 
1931 letter, Dussome raised issues which he would repeat throughout the decade. He 
stated that, "Many of my fellow Chippewa Indians of Northern Montana have no place to 
call their homes" and are living "on some one else['s] land." These people, Dussome 
said, "can not afford to rent houses or farms to live in," and their poverty was so 
"extreme" that "you will see many of them living on the dump piles of our towns ... ," 
He claimed that these Indians were landless because they had been rejected for allotments 
(Dussome 12/511931). The contemporary interviews of individuals who were alive 
during Dussome's tenure characterized the political issue for his members as simply that, 
"the old people wanted land, ... they wanted a place to farm or run cattle" (Vogel 1998). 
An older member described tne purpose of the meetings in the \93O's as "to organize 
people so they could [get] land and money" (R. Doney 1993). Interviewees also 
perceived land policy to have been unfair, allowing whites to get the best land while' 
Indians had difficulty obtaining homesteads (Sinclair 1979). These interviews revealed a 
~revailing belief that, during the 1930's and 1940's, the Metis had come to a large degree 
from failed farms and ranches and were working as hired hands on big ranches, and saw 
the acquisition of land as the solution to their economic problems. During the 1930's and 

II This argument by Dussome directly contradicts the argument advanced for the petitioner by Morris and 
Van Gunten that Dussome's group was the successor to the Little Shell band which migrated to Montana 
because it knew it had been excluded from the Turtle Mountain Band in 1892 (Morris and Van Gunten 
1984, passim). This argument by Dussome appears to contradict the argument advanced for the petitioner 
by Franklin and Bunte that Dussome's group considered itself to be part of the Turtle Mountain Band until 
the mid· 1920's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 113). However, since Dussome apparently had inquired about 
Turtle Mountain enrollment in 1928, his arguments may have been variable (BIA 4/1611928). In 1948. 
Dussome adopted a completely different attitude to the Assistant Commissioner's 1931 letter (Dussome 
3/311948). 
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1940's, economic rehabilitation appeared to be the primary political issue for Dussome's 
organization and its members. 

By .1934. state-wide activity was taking place on behalf of the landless Indians of 
Montana. Joseph Dussome and A.D. Nault visited Washington, D.C., in March and April 
of 1934 as "Montana representatives of homeless Indians" (Great Falls Tribune 
3/25/1934). The delegates said that they were in the capital to demand the creation of a 
separate reservation (Dussome and Nault 1934a). According to a statement issued by 
delegates Dussome and Nault, they were representing "the abandoned band of the 
CHIPPEW A AND CREE INDIANS of Montana, more commonly known as the 
homeless Indians" of Montana. "Our people were known at one time," this statement 
said, "as the PEMBINA band of CHIPPEW[A] INDIANS of the RED RIVER of the 
North in North Dakota" (Dussome and Nault 1934b, emphasis in the original). At this 
time, Dussome also issued a set of thirteen demands on behalf of the "Lost Band of the 
Chippewa and Cree Indians of Northern Montana .... " He referred to this group as 
consisting of non-ward, non-treaty, and so-called homeless Indians. Dussome demanded 
recognition of the Lost Band's claims to territory in Montana and payment for the "lease" 
of that land since the date of Montana statehood. He defined the lands of the Lost Band 
as the territory between the mouth of the Milk River and the Rocky Mountains, and 
between the Missouri River and the Canadian line. He demanded an agreement for the 
cession of this allegedly unceded land and the creation of a reservation for the band 
(Dussome 4/4/1934; Great Falls Tribune 5/9/1934). 

Later that month, a meeting in Augusta passed a resolution stating that the "members of 
the Chippewa and Cree Indians of Montana, known as the Homeless Indians," approved 
of both a proposed Indian rights bill and an expansion of the Rocky Boy's Reservation for 
the homeless Indians (Chippewa and Cree Indians 1934). The minutes of the meeting do 
not reveal whether this meeting was connected with the activities of Joe Dussome or not. 
The next month, Dussome wrote to Senator Wheeler to infonn him that meetings had 
been held in various localities in Montana and that all were in favor of Wheeler's pending 
bill that would become the Indian Reorganization Act (Dussome 5/2511934). Other 
evidence from 1934 suggests that Indian descendants along the Front Range were acting. 
independently of Dussome, under the leadership of James Brown. In November of 1934, 
Brown wrote to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs on behalf of the "Homeless Indians" 
in the vicinity of Dupuyer (Brown 1934). In January 1935, the Great Falls Tribune 
referred to Brown as the president of the "Homeless Indian organization," and indicated 
that he was seeking a reservation for some 300 individuals (Great Falls Tribune 
1/3/1935). 

After the passage of the Indian Reorganization Act in June 1934, the superintendent of 
the Fort Belknap Agency called a meeting "with non-ward and Turtle Mountain Indians" 
in July to advise them of his plans to request the Government to purchase 20,000 acres of 
land near the reservation for the use of the landless Indians of Blaine and Phillips 
counties. In response, Dussome spoke of his efforts to obtain an addition to the Rocky 
Boy's Reservation. A vote on the issue of the preferred location for new lands revealed 
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that the attendees overwhelmingly favored an expansion of the Rocky Boy's Reservation 
over lands near the Fort Belknap Reservation. When the superintendent asked the 
audience to appoint a committee with which he could consult, the audience answered that 
"we have a representative in each district," and that Joe Dussome and Dave Doney were 
the representatives for their local districts (BIA 711011934). While this exchange 
indicated the existence of organization among the landless Indians, it only identified 
Joseph Dussome as the district representative of an unnamed organization. These agency 
minutes did not acknowledge Dussome to be a statewide president or tribal leader. 

Dussome was identified as the leader of a meeting of "Homeless Indians" held in Helena 
in December 1934. This meeting decided to call a state convention, to be held in January 
1935, in order to "elect [a] slate of officers" to protect the rights of landless Indians under 
the recently passed Indian Reorganization Act (Pocha 1934). The first issue of a 
newsletter published by the Indian Federation of Workers also identified Dussome as the 
individual who had called the convention for January 1935, and said that he was acting as 
state organizer for the Indian Federation of Workers. The newsletter claimed that this 
organization had been formed under the authority granted by the Indian Reorganization 
Act of 1934, and already had a membership of over two thousand (Indian Worker 1935a). 
At a later date, however, one of Dussome's followers identified Raymond Gray as the 
man who had organized the Indian Federation of Workers, and who acted as chairman 
when the state convention assembled (Swan 1955). These reports suggested both that the 
Indian Reorganization Act had called new organizations into existence in order to 
organize under that act's provisions, and that Dussome, Brown, and Gray were seeking to 
form and to lead regional or statewide organizations during 1934 and 1935. 

The meeting in Helena in January 1935 was referred to as "the first state convention of 
the Indian Federation of Workers" by that organization's newsletter. The meeting was 
attended by fifty delegates from various parts of the state, and lasted for three days. This, 
convention elected Raymond Gray of Helena as "State Organizer" of the Indian 
Federation. After reporting on the convention, the newsletter then attacked Dussome for 
favoring the removal of landless Indians to new lands adjacent to the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation and for cooperating with that agency's superintendent (Indian Worker 
1935b). In other accounts of this meeting, the superintendent at Rocky Boy's reported on 
the "radical tendency" of the state convention, and one of Dussome's followers later 
recalled having been offended because Gray had denounced the church and his followers 
had sung "soviet songs" (BIA 2/4/1935; Swan 1955). After his election, Gray wrote to 
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, "as state organizer for the homeless and non-treaty 
Indians," to announce that the state convention had rejected the use of one large tract of 
land for the homeless Indians because the homeless Indians had lived for years "in small 
groups on the out skirts of different towns" and did not want to be removed to a 
reservation (Gray 1124/1935). Four days later, Dussome wrote to the Commissioner and, 
without identifying his organization, said that several meetings of "the homeless of 
Montana" had unanimously voted in favor of receiving a reservation on lands adjoining 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation. "We are ready to move at any time that we get word to do 
so," he informed the Commissioner (Dussome ]128/1935). 
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Another organization was fonned during the summer of 1935. The "Non-Treaty 
Chippewa-Cree Indians of Northern Montana" held a state convention in Chinook. 
adopted a constitution, and chose Joseph Dussome as president. According to the Great 
Falls Tribune, this convention of the "Chippewa-Crees" was attended by 500 members. 
The council consisted of six officers. In addition. there were nine regional representatives 
(Great Falls Tribune 3/29/1936).56 Only two individuals, Joseph Dussome and Joe 
Fayant, served as officers in both this 1935 organization and the 1927 "Lost Band," which 
did not have district representatives. The first vice-president was Mrs. C.E. Thompson of 
Malta. The Tribune described her as a daughter of Lalley Doney, and said that the 
"Doney clan" was the organization's largest family. The newspaper contended that the 
Doney brothers had been the first settlers of the Missouri and Milk river area and noted 
that Mrs. Thompson had been born in Montana on the site of the future town of Malta 
(Great Falls Tribune 3/20/1936). The second vice-president was James Brown of 
Browning, who recently had been described as the president of a homeless group along 
the Front Range. The other officers were from north-central Montana. The district 
representatives came from Lewistown, Wolf Point, Glasgow, Harlem, Zortman, Hays, 
Havre, Great Falls. and Helena (Great Falls Tribune 3/29/1936). The district 
representative from Lewistown. Elizabeth Swan, later said that she ·held this position for 
the next twenty years (Swan 1955). 

The Great Falls Tribune reported in 1936 that this "Chippewa-Cree tribe," whose 
members described themselves as the "first settlers" of Montana, was preparing one of 
the largest claims ever filed by Indians against the United States. Contending that their 
ancestors "occupied the territory between the Missouri river and the Milk river and the 
Dakota line and main range of the Rockies since time immemorial," they intended to ask 
for compensation for those lands taken by the Government or reserved by it for other 
Indian tribes. They claimed that they were the only Indians in Montana with whom the 
Government had not signed a treaty, and they argued that the treaty between the Blackfeet 
and the United States was "unconstitutional" because it ceded land which was "the 
property of the Chippewa-Cree nation." Joseph Dussome claimed to have evidence from 
historical maps and journals to support the Chippewa-Cree claim that this was their 
territory (Great Falls Tribune 3/20/1936, 3/29/1936). In contrast to the argument 
Dussome had made in 1931, this claim advanced no argument that these Indians had 
migrated, to Montana from North Dakota or the Red River, but asserted instead that 
Montana had been their aboriginal territory from time immemorial. 

S6 These officers are different from the petitioner's list of officers in 1935. According to the petitioner, 
1935 was (he only year between 1927 and 1963 that Joseph Dussome was not the president of its 
organization. The officers listed by the petitioner for 1935 were president Joseph Venne and secretary 
Thomas Oulelte [sic] (LSTCIM 1984, appendix F). Neither Venne nor Ouellette was an officer or district 
representative of the "Chippewa-Cree Indians of Northern Montana" in 1935. Ouellette would become an 
officer in Dussome's organization in 1939 and the 1940's. Venne would replace Raymond Gray as 
president of the rival Montana Landless Indians in 1941. 
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The Indian Reorganization Act and the Roe Cloud Roll, 1934 • 1940: 

The Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) of June 18, 1934, provided that any "Indian tribe, or 
tribes, residing on the same reservation" could organize and adopt a constitution (Statutes 
1934, sec.16). The act's definition of an "Indian," in its Section 19, included not only the 
members of federally recognized tribes, but also all persons who were residing within the 
boundaries of an Indian reservation who were the descendants of members of a federally 
recognized tribe, and "all other persons of one-half or more Indian blood" (Statutes 1934, 
sec,19). During the administration of Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier, the 
Indian Office used these provisions of the Indian Reorganization Act to seek to extend the 
benefits of the act to Indians not under Federal jurisdiction. When outlining the plans of 
the Indian Service for the Secretary of the Interior at the end of 1935, Commissioner 
Collier stated that it was "clear that the Congress did not intend to limit the benefits 
conferred by this legislation to Indians now under Federal jurisdiction," but had intended 
that "other Indians of one-half or more Indian blood, should be included" as well (BIA 
12/23/1935). Under this developing policy, the Government would purchase land for a 
group of "half-blood" Indians, put the land into reservation status, and organize a tribal 
government for the residents of the new reservation. 

The Office of Indian Affairs had been considering plans to expand the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation by acquiring land from adjacent ranchers at least as early as 1933 (BIA 
10118/1933). In addition, in 1934 it was seeking funds to acquire a tract with which to 
provide 5-acre "subsistence" homesteads to Indian families residing around Great Falls, 
and to purchase "submarginal" lands near Fort Belknap under a Federal program which 
was not limited to Indians (Great Falls Tribune 3/3011934; BIA 7110/1934). After 
passage of the Indian Reorganization Act in 1934, however, the Indian Office began to 
consider plans to acquire additional lands for individuals who met the act's definition of 
an Indian as a person with "one-half or more Indian blood." Superintendent Earl 
Wooldridge recommended adding 80,000 acres to his Rocky Roy's Reservation and 
resettling the unenrolled "Chippewas and Crees" of Montana there (BIA 1122/1935; 
Wessel 1974. 159-160).57 The Office of Indian Affairs also considered proposals to 
purchase land in the vicinity of the Fort Belknap Reservation, and justified that land 
a~quisition as meeting the needs of landless Chippewas. It was suggested that the Indian 
Office might acquire either 34,000 acres west of Fort Belknap, or 40,000 acres east of the 
reservation (BIA 211211935, 3/25/1935). When the Indian Office sought the approval of 
the Secretary of the Interior to exercise its options to purchase land in early 1936. 
Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman said that it planned to use 
the purchased lands to provide homesites for as many of the non-reservation Indians of 
Montana as possible (BIA 111511936). 

17 On this issue of the attempted use of the IRA. the petitioner provided a large number of documents 
from the records of the Bureau of Indian Affairs in the National Archives, but it appears not to have 
examined documents from the Office of the Solicitor in the records of (he Secretary of the Interior at the 
National Archives. 
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"The needs of the homeless Indians of Montana have long been recognized," 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier told Montana Representative Roy Ayers in 
February 1935 (BlA 2/28/1935). An Indian Office committee working to develop 
procedures to implement the act of 1934 told the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, in July 
1936, that the "landless Montana Indians stand in great need of official recognition and 
aid, and many of them can no doubt qualify for recognition under Section 19 of the Indian 
Reorganization Act" (BlA 7/6/1936). When asked how the act would apply in Montana, 
the Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs noted, in January 1935, that the act would 
not provide benefits to all homeless Indians, but only to those who were entitled to 
benefits under the act by having one-half or more Indian blood (BlA 1114/1935). 
Assistant Commissioner Zimmerman described the land purchase proposals as attempts 
to provide land for the "Chippewa Indians" of the state, but did not think it would be 
possible to create a single reservation for them (BlA 3/12/1935). He indicated that the 
Indian Office planned to acquire additional land both for existing reservations and for 
individuals "who may be entitled to benefits under the [Indian] Reorganization Act." 
Zimmerman noted that the Indian Office was seeking to prepare a "list of Montana 
homeiess Indians of one-half or more Indian blood," and would choose the families to 
settle on the newly-purchased lands from the approved list, "giving preference to those of 
most Indian blood .... " (BlA 6/10/1935). 

In reply to an inquiry from Joseph Dussome, the head of the land division of the Office of 
Indian Affairs informed Dussome that he hoped that "the group to which you belong" 
would be included in the land purchase plans being developed "for landless Indians in 
general. ... " (BlA 3/2/1935). An Indian delegation, which included Dussome as a 
representative of "the landless Chippewa-Crees," visited the Office of Indian Affairs in 
Washington on June 12,1936 (BlA 6/1211936,1113011937; Dussome et al. 10/6/1939). 
At about this time, a "petition" approved by delegates of the Rocky Boy's Band and the 
"Homeless Indians of Montana" stated their agreement that the land purchase should 
result in separate reservations for the two groups (Rocky Boy's Band n.d.). Dussome and 
the Rocky Boy's committee, however, disagreed about which group should get 1,500 
acres of new "hay land" (Rocky Boy's Band 1936). After the meeting in Washington, 
Assistant Commissioner Zimmerman indicated that some of the new lands would be used 
for the benefit of the Rocky Boy's Reservation, and that the remainder of the lands in the 
vicinity of that reserve would be used for the "landless Indians." The landless Indians to 
be located on the newly purchased lands, he pointed out, "must first establish themselves 
as individuals of one-half or more Indian blood .... " He said that after a "reasonable 
number" of applications had. been approved, "these individuals may form an 
organization .... " When the Indian Office concluded "that the number who have been 
located on these lands is adequate," he added, "then a permanent organization can be set 
up under the Indian Reorganization Act" (BlA 6112/1936). 

In conjunction with its efforts to obtain land for the landless Indians of Montana and then, 
perhaps, to organize and recognize them, the Office of Indian Affairs understood that it 
needed to determine the number of landless Indians and to produce a list of those who 
would be eligible for benefits under the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934. This effort 

-100-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 172 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding· Technical Report 

would culminate, about 1938, with the creation of the "Roe Cloud Roll." It began. early 
in 1935, with Superintendent Earl Wooldridge of the Rocky Boy's Agency reporting that 
a census of the "non-ward" Indians of Montana would be undertaken by the State Relief 
office (BIA 112211935). In May 1935. the superintendent reported that the census was 
complete (BIA 5/31/1935). The Indian Office. however, urged that the census be 
completed by giving particular attention to family histories in order to establish the 
individual's degree of Indian blood, so that the Indian Office would have a "census or list 
of Montana homeless Indians of one-half or more Indian blood, who may be entitled to 
benefits under the Reorganization Act" (BIA 6/1011935). In August 1935. 
Superintendent Wooldridge submitted a census, compiled from infonnation gathered by 
the state office of the Federal Emergency Relief Administration (FERA), as two lists 
intended to constitute a census of the "Montana homeless Indians of one-half or more 
Indian blood .... " (BIA 9/1611935). The census made by the FERA. the Commissione'r 
concluded. showed that there were more than 2,000 homeless Indians in Montana, and 
that they were "largely of the Chippewa Tribe, and related to the Rocky Boy's Band in 
that State" (BlA 12/23/1935). 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs made it clear, however, that approval by the 
Department of lists for such a purpose would require evidence to substantiate that these 
individuals did meet the requirement of the act that they have one-half or more Indian 
blood. Concluding that the lists prepared by the' FERA were insufficiently documented, 
the Commissioner indicated that he would not approve the lists which the superintendent 
had submitted. Because a more detailed investigation would be needed before the 
Government extended benefits under the "half-blood" provisions of the act throughout 
the country, the Commissioner noted that the Indian Office would develop an application' 
fonn for individuals who sought to enroll as Indians of more than one-half blood degree 
(BIA 911 6/1935). An Indian Office memorandum indicated that it prepared a procedure 
and form to deal with applications from individuals claiming to have one-half or more 
Indian blood throughout the country, not just in Montana (BIA 7/2/1936). To comply 
with the terms of the Indian Reorganization Act, the Commissioner sought a procedure 
which would produce a census which included individuals on the basis of their blood 
degree. 

The proposed "registration application fonn" prepared by the Indian Office "for the 
enrollment or registration of Indians under the provisions of the Act of June 18. 1934" 
was submitted to the Department for approval by Commissioner Collier in December 
1935 and was approved by the Acting Secretary of the Interior in January 1936 (BIA 
12/23/1935). In March 1936, the Office of Indian Affairs published Circular No. 3134 on 
"Enrollment under the Indian Reorganization Act" to infonn its employees of its 
interpretation of that act. The Indian Office construed the act to mean that its definition 
of an "Indian" in Section 19 applied only to the implementation of the act itself and to the 
identification of the individuals who could receive the benefits provided by the act. It 
held that "a person of one-half or more Indian blood" was eligible to participate in the 
benefits of the act "irrespective of tribal membership or residence on a reservation." This 
Indian Office circular noted that an application form had been prepared to identify such 
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persons (BIA 31711936). Later statements by Federal officials followed this policy, and 
indicated that to be considered a "half-blood" Indian under the act, an individual needed 
only to demonstrate this blood degree, and not affiliation with a tribe (Interior 7/411937; 
BIA 3/6/1939). Under this interpretation of the Indian Reorganization Act, to enroll or 
list an individual as eligible to participate in· the benefits of the act did not assume that he 
or she was a member of an existing tribe or band of Indians. 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs directed that all applications under the act would be 
sent to the Washington office of the Office of Indian Affairs for decision. The Indian 
Office would act on the premise that the applicants bore the burden of proof of their 
claims. The Commissioner also noted, however, that he could appoint a field investigator 
or a committee of investigators to aid in gathering evidence. The Commissioner 
acknowledged that a detennination of the degree of Indian blood would be "entirely 
dependent on circumstantial evidence," and his memorandum listed five classes of 
acceptable evidence (BlA 9/22/1936). The enrollment of landless Indians in Montana, 
judging from the application files received by the Indian Office (BIA 1937), relied 
primarily on three of these five classes: testimony of applicants. supported by family and 
official records; affidavits from persons who were familiar with the applicant's family 
background; and testimony of applicants and witnesses regarding the extent to which the 
applicant had retained "Indian culture and habits of living" (BIA 9/2211936). 

The Commissioner's memorandum also provided for the use of an advisory committee. 
When applicants claimed "affiliation with or relationship with a recognized tribe," or 
were expected to seek enrollment in a recognized tribe, the superintendent with 
responsibility over the tribe could appoint a "committee of Indians to act for the tribe" to 
advise the Indian Office's investigators (BIA 9/22/1936). In Montana, the Indian Office 
fonned an "Enrollment Committee" to evaluate applicants. The committee appears to 
have begun its work at the start of December 1936. After meeting with the Enrollment 
Committee, the Rocky Boy's Business Committee agreed to appoint an "Advisory 
Committee" of three of its members to assist the Indian Office's Enrollment Committee "in offering information on the family history of applicants .... " After examining 
unenrolled families at the Rocky Boy's Agency, the Enrollment Committee visited Great 
Falls and the Fort Belknap Agency to gather applications and evidence (BlA 
12/ 10/ 1936a). It planned to resume its work in the spring of 1937. 

In March 1937, field agent Allan G. Harper submitted to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs applications for registration as Indians under the provisions of the Indian 
Reorganization Act from "members of the landless unenrolled Cree-Chippewa Indians of 
Montana .... " Harper said that the applicants were "members of a group of about 600 
families of landless, unenrolled Indians" who were "widely scattered in small bands .... " 
He added, however, that they "all speak the same language and have other common 
affinities." Noting that these people had "practically no written records," Harper placed 
heavy reliance upon the recommendation of the Advisory Committee from Rocky Boy's 
band as to whether or not they knew the applicant or his family. "The fact of these people 
being Indian and being entitled to the benefits intended by Congress," Harper asserted, 
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"has not been questioned." Therefore, he judged that it "was not felt necessary to set up 
rigid scientific tests to show proof of Indian blood .... " Harper's position was not that 
these applicants had one-half or more Indian blood, as required by the act, but that they 
were of Indian descent. Harper's interpretation was that the ancestors of these people had 
been settled along the Red River prior to 1870 and had fled westward after the 1870 
rebellion. He argued that these landless Indians were of the "same stock" as Rocky Boy's 
band (BIA 3/8/1937). Harper's assumption, then, was that these landless Indians traced 
back to the Red River Metis or Chippewa, but not that they were a remnant of the Turtle 
Mountain Band of Chippewa. 

Joseph Dussome complained about the use of the Advisory Committee to the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs in December 1936. He based his objection in pan on the 
argument that this procedure was not consistent with the proposed constitution of the 
"Cree-Chippewa Indians of Montana." The Commissioner responded that the proposed 
constitution had not been ratified either by the group or the Secretary of the Interior and 
lacked the force of law. He told Dussome, however, that when the enrollment work was 
resumed, "I hope to have the full cooperation of you and your people" (BIA ca. 1937). 
The previous year, Dussome's organization apparently had held a meeting in Chinook to 
discuss the proposed enrollment procedures. According to the Great Falls Tribune, at that 
time the "Indians decided not to sign the applications until they are assured that ;1 

representative of their tribe or council is present to explain the questions to men and 
women who are unable to read or write" (Great Falls Tribune 3/2911936). Thus. in reply 
to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in February 1937, Dussome clarified the objection 
of his people as being that there were "no members of our own" on the Enrollment 
Committee (Dussome 21911937). 

The assistant to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs then wrote to Dussome to promise 
that when the enrollment of landless Indians resumed, the Indian Office would arrange 
"for your group to be represented on the Indian Advisory Committee" (BIA 3/3/1937) .. 
He also infonned the new chainnan of the Enrollment Committee to get in touch with 
Dussome and to "arrange with him to have his group of non-wards represented" on an 
advisory committee (BIA 3/1211937). Several weeks later, the assistant to the 
Commissioner infonned the committee chainnan that since Dussome had been told that 
he "would be given an opportunity of designating a representative to serve on the 
advisory committee" for the enrollment of landless Indians, "immediate steps" should be 
taken to do so in order to avoid "future difficulties in dealing with his group" (BIA 
4/6/1937). In an additional telegram, the assistant to the Commissioner stated that 
Dussome represented a "state wide non ward group," and was entitled to name a 
representative on the advisory committee (BIA 4/1311937). When contacted, Dussome 
quickly designated individuals to advise the Enrollment Committee in its work in the 
Lewistown and Crow Reservation areas (BIA 411411937). Dussome said that he arranged 
for his group's district representatives to aid the enrolling committee (Dussome 
611211937). Later, Dussome recalled that he had assisted that committee and had "helped 
a great many of the applicants, to fill out their applications" (Dussome 6/10/1963). 
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Thus. the Enrollment Committee resumed taking applications in Montana in 1937 with 
the help of Dussome and his representatives. In May 1937, the new chairman, O.H. 
Lipps. reported that the services of Dussome, acting as a member of the advisory 
committee. had been "indispensible in identifying the Indians and in advising us where to 
locate them" in the Harlem district. The landless "Cree-Chippewa" Indians were 
currently "scattered," he said, and had been able to find employment on the cattle and 
sheep ranches of the area. Some of them were landless, he claimed, because they had 
recently sold their homesteads to the Government under its sub-marginal land purchase 

. program. Lipps maintained that these landless Indians were "just as much Indian as those 
on the Turtle Mountain and Rocky Boy's Reservation .... " However, "casual 
observation" indicated, he said, that "very few" of the landless "Cree-Chippewa" Indians 
"possess as much as 112 Indian blood .... " He suggested that because they were called 
"half-breeds," all of them "contend that they are half bloods." It was going to be "very 
difficult," he concluded, to determine an accurate quantum of Indian blood for these 
applicants (BIA 515/1937). 

A series of lists of applicants for registration as Indians "of one-half or more Indian 
blood" under the provisions of Section 19 of the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934 were 
transmitted to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in May and June of 1937. For each 
applicant there was both an Indian Advisory Committee and an Indian Office Committee 
recommendation for or against enrollment of the individual (BIA 5127/1937, 6/4/1937, 
611111937,6/15/1937). These applicants were arranged in geographical groups which 
stretched across northern Montana from Wolf Point and Culbertson to Choteau and 
Augusta, and also included the towns of Great Falls, Helena. and Billings, and the state's 
Indian reservations. The Enrollment Committee had visited 24 Montana communities. 
Superintendent Wooldridge estimated that between 2,000 and 2,500 individuals were 
covered by more than 500 applications from Montana's landless Cree-Chippewa Indians 
(BIA 7/20/1937). In August 1937, D'Arcy McNickle of the Office of Indian Affairs 
stated that the enrollment of "the landless Cree Chippewa Indians in Montana" had been 
completed. McNickle reported that <! total of 586 applications had been taken in 
Montana. and that 501 of those applicants would be recommended for recognition "as an 
Indian" under the provisions of the act (BIA 81211937). In February 1938. Henry Roe 
Cloud of the Enrollment Committee said that the work of the committee in Montana was 
complete "except for the classifications of applications" (BIA 211 6/1938). At some point 
between 1937 and 1938, the number of approved applicants increased by 49. 

In April 1938, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs said that the list consisted of 550 
eligible I"andless Indians (BIA 4/2911938). As late as September 1938, however. the 
Indian Office stated that the list of 550 applicants had not yet been formally approved 
(BIA 9/28/1938). Additional applications were received in the years from 1938 to 1940.58 

,. There were about 45 additional applications with dates from 1938 to 1940. The same application fonn 
used for the other Roe Cloud Roll applications was used in these cases. Most of these applicants were 
found not to be eligible because they had less than one-half Indian blood. Some were found not to be 
eligible because they were married to a white person. 

-104-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 176 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

In 1940, McNickle reported that more than 600 applications had been received, and that 
50 or more applicants had been rejected. Applicants were rejected as "less than one-half 
Indian," as "Canadian born," and as having "inherited interests at some reservation .... " 
McNickle claimed that the 550 eligible applicants represented 325 families and 1,732 
individuals (BIA 12/9/1940). These eligible applicants were accepted as meeting the 
Indian Reorganization Act's definition of an Indian by having "one-half or more Indian 
blood," and were certified as having that blood degree. This list of 550 approved 
applicants has become known as the "Roe Cloud RoIL" The first reference to this as "the 
list of applicants compiled by Mr. Roe Cloud," was made by an assistant to the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs in August 1939 (BIA 81711939). Dr. Henry Roe Cloud 
was one of the three persons assigned to the Enrollment Committee, first in November 
1936 with C.E. Faris as chairman. and again in March 1937 with O.H. Lipps as chairman 
(BIA 11110/1936,3/12/1937). Lipps retired during the summer of 1937, however, and 
Roe Cloud appears to have succeeded him as chairman (BIA 1119/1938).59 The "Roe 
Cloud RoB" was not the work of Roe Cloud alone, but was compiled by a committee in 
the field and approved by Indian Office officials in Washington. 

The "Roll of Landless Indians of Montana," presumably as completed by Dr. Henry Roe 
Cloud's committee in 1938 or 1940, listed 550 families by the name of the head of the 
household (BlA 1938. 1945).60 This roll included the names of children, the maiden 
names of women, the family's place of residence, and occasional remarks on individuals 
such as "single," "husband, white," or "child by former marriage." The actual application 
forms of the Office of Indian Affairs, titled "Application for Registration as an Indian," 
were much more complete than the roll itself, and provided additional information on 
family connections; places of birth, marriage, and death; tribal descent; and arrival in 
Montana (BIA 1937).61 These application forms, however, contained conflicting 
statements, especially when siblings contradicted each other by variously stating that their 

'9 Henry Roe Cloud (1884-1950)·was supervisor of education at the Haskell Institute. He had received a 
Doctor of Divinity degree in 1932 from Emporia Kansas College, and was aD ordained Presbyterian 
minister. He had received a masters degree in anthropology from Yale University (Champagne 1994 .. 
1033). 

, 60 In preparation for distributing the Pembina judgment award. BIA employees at the Turtle Mountain 
Agency conducted research to clarify the status of persons on the Roe Cloud Roll. One of the results of this 
research was an annotated version [ca. 1987] of the Roe Cloud Roll (BlA 1987). This version of the Roe 
Cloud Roll included columns for ··present and last" roll numbers. date of birth, surname, given name, 
maiden and other names, sex, relation to head of house. "Indian blood: Chippewa and Total" (in fractions], 
and remarks. The remarks column included: date of death, enrollment status ("Enrolled with Turtle 
Mountain," "Not enrolled," or a roll number in a tribe such as Rocley Boy's, Turtle Mountain, or Flathead), 
family relationships with other names on the Roe Cloud Roll, and citations to the 1906 Turtle Mountain 
Family History books or the 1917 McLaughlin Report. 

61 The application forms were lengthy and called for the applicant's name, birthday. place of birth. 
gender, degree of Indian blood. marital status and personal information on the spouse, tribe or band of 
descent, residences since birth. attendance at an Indian school, minor children (including name, gender. 
degree of blood, birthdate, birth place), and similar information for the applicant's father and mother. as 
well as both the paternal and maternal grandparents. 
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parents had been born in Canada, Nonh Dakota, or Montana. By using the names and 
binhdates of individuals on the petitioner's membership list in conjunction with the 
genealogies submitted with the petition, it is possible to identify members of the 
petitioning group who were listed on the Roe Cloud RoIl, as weIl as their parents, 
grandparents, siblings, and other collateral relatives. 

The available evidence indicates that 66 percent (2,562 of 3,893) of the petitioner's 
current members are the direct descendants of someone who was on the Roe Cloud Roll. 
They descend from about 310 of the 550 applicants on the Roe Cloud Roll. The 
petitioner's membership requirements do not limit membership only to direct-line 
descendants of the Roe Cloud applicants, however, but allow for descendants of persons 
who would have qualified for the Roe Cloud enrollment to become members as well. 
Thus, individuals who were not Roe Cloud enrollees themselves, but who had a sibling 
enrolled on the Roe Cloud list, may have descendants in the petitioner's membership. 
There are 430 individuals on the petitioner's membership list, ] I percent of its members, 
who have a collateral relative on the Roe Cloud Roll. Another II people on the 
petitioner's membership list appear to be related to Roe Cloud enrollees, but the 
references on the petitioner's membership records do not clearly define such a 
connection. Thus, at least 77 percent (2,992 of3,893) of the petitioner's members 
descend from, or are closely related to, an individual who was on the Roe Cloud RoI1.62 

The available evidence demonstrates that 2]4 of the 310 ancestors on the Roe Cloud Roll 
(69 percent) could trace their ancestry to one of the 25 families of ancestors of the 
petitioner's members who were listed on the 1850 census of Pembina County (White 
Weasel n.d.; BIA 1938; BAR ]998). At least 115 of the 310 ancestors on the Roe Cloud 
Roll (37 percent) could trace their ancestry to 18 men who were listed in McIntyre's 1880 
report as recipients of land scrip under the provisions of the treaties of 1863 and 1864 
(GLO 1880; BIA 1938; BAR 1998). It is not known at this time whether any of the Roe 
Cloud Roll applicants or their ancestors were on any of the annuity payment lists for the 
treaty with the Pembina Band. The available evidence indicates that 151 of the 310 
ancestors on the Roe Cloud Roll (49 percent) could be traced to the 46 ancestors of the 
petitioner's members who appeared in the records of the Red River Settlement for the 
years about 1870 (Sprague and Frye 1983, table 4 and table 5; BIA 1938; BAR 1998). 
All of the petitioner's members who trace to the 1870 Red River Settlement also trace to 
an ancestor on the Roe Cloud Roll (BAR 1998). 

The Federal officials who proposed and administered these land purchase and enrollment 
plans did not describe them as intended to benefit a specific band or tribe of Indians, but 
to benefit individuals who met the requirement of the Indian Reorganization Act that they 
have one-half or more Indian blood. In general, Federal officials referred to the 
populations to whom they sought to provide services as the "landless Indians" of 

62 At this time, 900 of the petitioner's members, 23 percent of the petitioner's membership, have not been 
identified as descendants or collateral relatives of the Roe Cloud Roll applicants. Most of these individuals 
have 1987 or later membership numbers. 
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Montana. without clearly referring to a specific tribe. In some of these planning 
documents, references to "landless lndians" included enrolled Indians without land. both 
on and off reservation. as wel1 as unenrolled and off-reservation Indians. Although the 
lndian Office was careful to note that it would implement the Indian Reorganization Act 
by adhering to the act's "half-blood" provisions, some of its policymakers and employees 
came to describe the proposed beneficiaries of the enrollment and land purchases under 
the act as landless lndians with a common Cree-Chippewa background, referring to them 
as "Chippewa," "Cree-Chippewa," or "Chippewa-Cree" Indians (BIA 112211935. 
2/12/1935.3/12/1935.3/25/1935,12/23/1935, 12/I0/1936b, 3/811937. 5/511937. 
8/211937.2/911939).63 During this period, the Indian Office also began to refer to Joseph 
Dussome as the representative of an Indian group in Montana (BIA 3/2/1935, 3/311937, 
3/12/1937,4/611937,4/1311937). Federal officials, however, did not see Dussome's 
group as consisting of all the landless Cree-Chippewa in the state or on the Roe Cloud 
Roll. and they identified his group no more specifically than as a group of "non-ward" or 
unenrolled lndians. 

It does not appear that serious consideration was given by the Office of Indian Affairs to 
organizing the landless lndians of Montana as a tribal government. In 1938, Joseph 
Dussome inquired about the status of a constitution which his group apparently had 
submitted to the Indian Service for approval (Dussome et aI. 3/12/1938). The lndian 
Office replied that "at present you don't have the status whereby a constitution under the 
IRA can be considered or approved" (BIA 4/25/1938). In 1940, when the newly-formed 
Montana Landless Indians also requested that the Secretary of the Interior call an election 
under the Indian Reorganization Act to approve its constitution, the Assistant 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs stated that the "organization as a tribe under constitution 
and bylaws would not be possible for your group until land had been purchased and 
declared a reservation" for the group (BIA 2112/1940b).64 Because the Indian Off!ce 
decided to use its newly-purchased lands as an addition to the Rocky Boy's Reservation. 
rather than as a new and separate reservation, the basis for organizing a new tribal 
government under the Indian Reorganization Act did not exist. Therefore, none of the 
landless Indians of Montana were recognized as a separate community of "half-blood" 
Indians. 

Montana Settlements, 1930's - 1940's: 

The areas with the largest numbers of accepted applicants on the Roe Cloud Roll were the 

OJ Joseph Dussome. however. later referred to the Roe Cloud enrollment process as one which was 
essentially individual rather than tribal. In 1962. he testified that the roll was not of a particular tribe. but of 
anyone who was not enrolled on any Indian reservation (Dussome 9120/1962. 315). 

64 The Assistant Commissioner also noted that the Department could provide certain educational and 
employment assistance to an individual Indian who had demonstrated that he or she had "Indian blood of 
one-half or more degree" (BIA 2112l1940b). The available documentation. however, does not show that the 
Indian Office provided services on an individual basis to individuals listed on the Roe Cloud Roll. 
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towns of Harlem with 67, Hays with 56, Lewistown with 54, and Wolf Point with 51. 
Most of the Roe Cloud applicants came from the Highline towns between Havre and 
Wolf Point (222) plus the area between the Milk and Missouri Rivers (124), including the 
Rocky Boy's Reservation, the town of Hays on the Fort Belknap Reservation, and the 
towns of Landusky and Zortman just outside the Fort Belknap boundary. Less than one 
in ten applicants came from either the Front Range (55) or the Lewistown area (54) south 
of the Missouri River. The area of north-central Montana, combining the Highline (346) 
and Lewistown (54), accounted for 73 percent (400 of 550) of accepted Roe Cloud 
applicants (see Table 13). Most of the Front Range applicants were from Babb and 
Browning on the Blackfeet Reservation. The towns of Choteau, Augusta, and Gilman 
combined produced only 19 applicants. West of the continental divide, the Flathead 
Reservation had 27 applicants. The birthdates of the petitioner's members who were born 
in the area of the Flathead Reservation suggest that a few of the petitioner's families 
moved there after 1920. Less than one in twelve applicants lived in one of the state's 
cities of Helena, Great Falls, Billings, or Missoula (BIA 1938, 1945). 

By the early 1930's, the petitioner's researchers Franklin and Bunte concluded. the 
majority of the petitioner's ancestors had congregated in settlement sites on the margins of 
many of Montana's towns and cities. They referred to these clusters of Indian ancestors 
as ethnic "enclaves." The petitioner'S researchers contended that these "enclaves" existed 

.in most of these rural towns from the 1930's through the 1950's. Since the 1960's, they 
observed, the ethnic exclusivity of residential patterns has largely disappeared (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 61, 77). Non-Indian Montanans often referred to such a distinct 
residential area as a "moccasin flat," or sometimes as a "breedtown" or "french town" 
(e.g., Allen 1998). It is not clear, however, that only two, three, or four households in 
some of these neighborhoods in rural towns truly constituted an "enclave." According to 
the petitioner's researchers, the Front Range ethnic "enclaves" were at Babb. Browning, 
and Heart Butte-Birch Creek on the Blackfeet Reservation, and off-reservation at 
Choteau, Augusta-Gilman, and Helena. The ethnic "enclaves" they have identified in 
north-central Montana were at Havre, Chinook, and Glasgow along the Highline, and at 
Zortman. They say that Malta also had an "enclave," but only during the 1930·s. In 
addition, they note that Great FaIls had several ethnic "enclaves" (Franklin and Bunte 
1994, 61, 64-65, 68-69) (see Figure 6). 

The emphasis the petitioner's researchers have given to a dozen residential "enclaves" 
does not reflect the more diverse residential pattern of the ancestors of the petitioner's 
members, and the Metis of Montana as shown by the Roe Cloud Roll. Among the Metis 
settlements not identified as "enclaves" by the petitioner's researchers were the four 
towns with the largest numbers of Roe Cloud Roll applicants: Harlem. Hays, Lewistown, 
and Wolf Point. Harlem may have had a separate residential area, but there is little 
information available about it (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 68). A large number of Metis 
families were attracted to Hays, according to oral history, by St. Paul's Mission and jobs 
on nearby ranches. Many of the families in this area sent their children to the school at 
the mission, and interviewees described this as having been done in part because the 
mission school relieved the economic burden on these poor families (Teske 1998; 
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TABLE 13 

LOCA nON OF ACCEPTED ROE CLOUD ROLL APPLICANTS, ca. 1938 

Highline and Lewistown 400 
Havre 31 

Chinook 16 
Zurich 5 

Harlem 67 
Dodson 15 
Malta 13 
Glasgow 20 
Wolf Point (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 51 

Brockton (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 3 
Poplar (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 

Rocky Boy's Reservation 33 
Ft. Belknap Reservation 2 
Hays (on Flo Belknap Reservation) 56 
Zortman 20 
Landusky 12 
Timber Ridge I 
Lewistown 54 

Front Range 55 
Browning (on Blackfeet Reservation) 21 
Babb (on Blackfeet Reservation) 15 
Choteau \0 
Augusta 8 
Gilman 

J1rW 43 
Great Falls 10 

Helena 31 
Billings 

Missoula' 

Elsewhere in Montana 50 

Flathead Reservation (Polson, Arlee, St. Ignatius) 27 

Crow Reservation and Hardin 10 
East of Ft. Peck (Culbertson. Froid, Dagmar) 9 

Others (location unknown) 4 

Address not given 2 2 

Total 550 550 

SOURCE: BIA 1938 (Petition Document: 3000-8-85) and BIA 1945 (Petition Document: 3000-5-47). 
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S. Doney 1998). In this sense, Hays functioned as a regional center for the triangle about 
the small £owns of Hays, Landusky, and Zortman. The petitioner's researchers concluded 
that there were no clearly segregated areas in Lewistown, and suggested that this was 
because the Metis had been present in Lewistown since its founding and, in contrast to 
other towns in Montana, were not newcomers squatting on its fringe (Franklin and Bunte 
1994,68/69, 73). There is no available evidence concerning whether the Metis families 
at Wolf Point were residentially clustered or not. The. Roe Cloud Roll and application 
forms themselves do not provide the information which would reveal whether or not 
these applicants were living in an Indian neighborhood. 

From their interview information, the petitioner's researchers have identified the families 
that lived in the "enclaves" they have identified, or the surnames associated with each 
"enclave," except Great Falls, at any time from the 1930's to the 1960's. Not all of the 
families they identified, of course, lived in these "enclaves" at the same time. The largest 
of these ethnic settlements appear to have been Chinook, with about 14 households on the 
north side of town and another 11 households in the "moccasin flat" section southeast of 
town; the entire town of Zortman, just south of the Fort Belknap Reservation, with about 
22 households; the north side of Choteau, with about 14 households; the north side of 
Havre with about 12 families or surnames; and the town of Gilman. near Augusta, with 
II surnames (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 68-69, table 4, and maps; see also Franklin 1996). 
At least one interview not used by Franklin and Bunte named a number of additional 
families in the Chinook neighborhoods, indicating that they have not completely 
reconstructed residential patterns (Sinclair 1979). If the Roe Cloud Roll is used as a 
measure of the potential size of the twelve residential "enclaves" in the 1930's identified 
by the petitioner's researchers, then the largest "enclaves" could have consisted of 31 
Metis families each at Havre and Helena. Nine other towns with "enclaves" contained 
between 9 and 21 Metis families each. Heart Butte was not listed as a residence for any 
of the Roe Cloud applicants (BIA 1938, 1945). 

Two small Montana cities, Great Falls and Helena, also developed "enclaves" of Indian 
settlement. From census and interview data, the petitioner'S Tesearchers identified a few 

of the petitioner's families in Great Falls and Helena by J 920 (Franklin 1994, 25: Census 
1920; Morrow 1217/1993; LaPier 1979). The birthplaces and birthdates of individuals on 
the petitioner's current membership list are consistent with this conclusion, as the list 
includes five members born in the 1920's in Great Falls and four in Helena. There is little 
information available to indicate that Butte, Anaconda, Missoula, or Billings, cities with 
good-sized modem populations of the petitioner's members, had developed Indian 
"enclaves" as early as the 1920's or 1930's. However, four current members were born in 
Butte in the 1920's. These urban settlements appear to have grown larger during the 
depression of the 1930's. Helena had at least one "Indian ghetto" by the 1930's, while 
Great Falls had several. The most infamous of these was Hill 57 on the western outskirts 
of Great Falls. 

In September 1941, Raymond Gray produced a census of Great Falls' Indian settlements. 
He found 68 Indian families, totaling 278 individuals, living on Hill 57, Mount Royal, 
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Smelter Hill (also called Wire Mill), the west side, and the south side of Great Falls. 
Gray said that these 68 families lived in 53 households, although his tables suggested that 
there were fewer than 53 households (Gray 9/24/ I 941). The petitioner's researchers 
considered the first four of these five sites to have been Indian "enclaves." By identifying 
specific individuals on Gray's list, they interpreted Gray's census data as showing that 18 
of the 37 heads of a family at Hill 57, west of Great Falls, were members of the 
petitioner's ethnic group. In addition, they said that the petitioner's ethnic group 
contained 9 of 11 families at Mount Royal, which was slightly removed from the Hill 57 
camp, and 5 of 8 families at Smelter Hill, north of Great Falls. At the West Side 
settlement, they said that 7 of 8 heads of a family were either part of the ethnic group or 
married to someone who was. Thus, they concluded that 59 percent (38 of 64) of the 
families listed by Gray in these four settlements contained individuals who were members 
of, or married to a member of, the petitioner's ethnic group (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 64-
65). 

In the cases of some of these "enclaves," the petitioner's researchers have identified more 
families who resided there than were listed on the Roe Cloud Roll, as one would expect 
in a comparison of residence over several decades to residence at a specific time. In other 
cases, however, their reconstruction of the size of an "enclave" over time is much smaller 
than the number of Metis families on the Roe Cloud Roll in 1938 alone: 5 surnames for 
the Helena "enclave" compared to 3 I families on the Roe Cloud Roll; 6 surnames for the 
Glasgow "enclave" compared to 20 families on the Roe Cloud Roll; 5 families for the 
Malta "enclave" compared to 13 familes on the Roe Cloud Roll; and 19 surnames in three 
"enclaves" in Havre compared to 31 families on the Roe Cloud Roll (BIA 1938, 1945; 
Franklin and Bunte 1994,68/69). This result could mean that many Metis families in 
these towns with a "moccasin flats" did not live in that neighborhood and were not 
residentially segregated. It also could reflect the fact that many individuals who used a 
town as their Post Office address did not actually reside in town, but this also would 
mean that these Metis were living outside of the "enclaves" in town. 

Most interview descriptions of life in the so-called "moccasin flats" indicate that they 

were almost exclusively composed of Metis families. The petitioner's ancestors were 
only part of the Metis in these residential neighborhoods, however, because these areas 
also included Metis who were enrolled members of the Turtle Mountain and Rocky Boy's 
Bands. The "moccasin flats" of Highline towns contained relatively few Indians from 
other reservations, except at Harlem, which is adjacent to the Fort Belknap Reservation 
(e.g., Vogel 1998, Sinclair 1979). The petitioner'S researchers concluded that a 
significant percentage of the residents of the Highline "moccasin flats" were Turtle 
Mountain Metis, but they did not quantify this observation (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 69-
70). The interviews conducted by the BIA staff also indicated that the "moccasin flats" 
included residents whom the interviewees identified as Turtle Mountain members and 
described as representing a minority of those neighborhoods. A 1937 study of the 
distribution of the enrolled members of the Turtle Mountain Band found a number of 
Turtle Mountain enrollees in Highline towns (39 in Malta, 35 in Chinook, 12 in Havre, 12 
in Glasgow, and 11 in Harlem) and in other Montana towns and cities (2 I in Great Falls, 
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16 in Hays, and lOin Helena), but there were no Tunle Mountain enrollees on the Front 
Range (BlA 3/18/1937), In Malta, Chinook, and Great Falls, the number of Tunle 
Mountain members in 1937 was larger than the number of unenrolled Indians on the Roe 
Cloud Roll of 1938. 

Despite having identified many of the families who lived in these settlements. the 
contention of the petitioner's researchers that the majority of the petitioner's ancestors in 
this period lived in an exclusive ethnic "enclave" was an impressionistic rather than 
quantitative conclusion (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 69, 75). The researchers' listing of the 
families or surnames in each "enclave" suggests that a minimum of 162 families lived in 
one of these settlements of three or more families at some time between the 1930's and 
1960's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 65, 68/69, table 4, and maps). Assuming that each 
family identified from the researcher's interview infonnation as having lived in an 
"enclave" other than Great Falls consisted of two adult Indian ancestors, unless the 
researchers listed only a single adult, these 124 families contained about 209 adult Indian 
ancestors (Franklin and Bunte 1994,68/69, table 4, and maps). Gray's census of Great 
Falls settlements in 1941 did not list spouses. Among the petitioner's ancestral families. 
though, there were at least five one-person families and two heads of families who only 
were married to a member of the petitioner's ethnic group (Franklin and Bunte 1994,65; 
Gray 9/2411941). Thus, the 38 families identified by the researchers in Great Faps would 
have contained at most 69 adult Indian ancestors. Combining Gray's census of 1941 and 
the interview data of the petitioner's researchers yields a total of 162 families and about 
278 adult Indian ancestors of the petitioner's members who lived in an ethnic "enclave" 
at some time from 1930 to 1960. 

However, those researchers said that they had identified 953 of the petitioner's Indian 
ancestors on the 1920 census of Montana (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 8). Those ancestors 
largely constituted the age cohort described by the petitioner'S researchers as adults living 
in "enclaves" during the 1930's, 1940's, and 1950's. All of the individuals on the 1920 
census would have been adults at least by 1941. While some of the individuals on the 
1920 census would have died before the 1930's, additionaJ members or ancestors of the 
petitioner born after 1920 would have become adults during the 1950's. Assuming that 
births in the 1920's and 1930's exceeded deaths in the \ 920's, then the age cohort of adult 
Indian ancestors of the petitioner'S members alive from the 1930's to the 1950's was 
larger than 953 adults. Also, the genealogical charts of the petitioner'S members and 
other evidence indicates that more than 1,300 of their Indian ancestors were born between 
1875 and 1920, and. would have been adults aged between 20 and 65 in 1940. The 278 
adult ancestors identified by the petitioner's researchers are not half of the adult ancestors 
alive at the time. Thus, the petitioner's researchers have not demonstrated that a majority 
of the members or Indian ancestors of the petitioning group during 1930's, 1940's, and 
1950's lived in a geographical "enclave" in which they constituted the majority of the 
population. Therefore, they have not shown that a majority of the members or Indian 
ancestors of the petitioning group lived within a community of geographically separate 
but socially interacting "enclaves" almost exclusively composed of group members. 
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In interviews. adults who lived in the Indian residential neighborhoods of the Highline 
towns in the 1930's to 1950's consistently described these neighborhoods as culturally 
distinct, separate residential areas (FD 1998; Sinclair 1979: Vogel 1998). They described 
the neighborhoods of their youth as communities. in which they knew everybody, whether 
they were immediate relatives or not. Such descriptions often appeared in the context of 
a discussion of how the interviewee had assisted a relative to organize a meeting or a box 
social in order to raise funds for Dussome's efforts. Individuals who lived in more than 
one settlement over time, or worked together with other Metis families as contract crews 
or ranchhands on the ranches, knew a broad range of people. Several fonner residents 
characterized Zortman in the 1940's and 1950's as a "halfbreed settlement" (Franklin 
1996, 24; Teske 1998; Gilbert 1998). 

Interviewees's descriptions of the Front Range towns of Choteau and Augusta were less 
detailed than those of the Highline towns and Great Falls. The Front Range "moccasin 
flats" settlements at Gilman - Augusta and Choteau, according to available accounts, 
were exclusively drawn from Front Range Metis families (A. Wiseman 1993a; LaRance 
1993; F. Paul 1993; Reardon 1994; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 60, 70). One individual 
described Gilman as having been all "breed" (F. Paul 1993). Another described it as a 
"close little neighborhood ... they were all Chippewa Cree" (A. Wiseman 1993a; 
Franklin and Bunte 1994,90). The petitioner'S researchers concluded that the residential 
"enclaves" on the Blackfoot Reservation were more or less limited to the petitioner's 
families and the Blackfeet who had married with them (Franklin and Bunte 1994 and 
1996). 

Many people from the petitioner's families lived in more than one location in Montana in 
their lifetime, especially across the Highline from Havre to Malta and in the Zortman -
Landusky - Hays area. The typical pattern, judging from interviews, was that a family 
might have lived in a series of different towns. or cities, or reservations between the 
1930's and 1950's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 69). As a result, the petitioner'S members 
have relatives distributed throughout this area of north-central Montana. This tends to 
make the present Metis families of the Highline towns, especially in the area between 
Havre and Malta, more of a single group than mere residents of separate towns or areas. 
There was little indication in the interview data that a given "moccasin flat" had a 
consistent composition over any substantial length of time, or that a given town on the 
Highline had a consistent set of families over time. Thus, even when a "moccasin flat" 
neighborhood existed, it may have had a constantly changing composition because of the 
movement of people between towns. By contrast, Lewistown and the Hays area 
apparently had a much more consistent set of residents over time. However, having 
resided in a "moccasin flat" at some point during one's lifetime was a common 
experience of interviewees who lived during the years from the 1930's to the 1950's. 

The cultural picture of the "moccasin flats" painted by most Little Shell members 
interviewed was of the Metis or "Michiff' culture, a mixture of French and Chippewa or 
Cree elements. This culture originated in the Red River and Pembina settlements. 
Franklin and Bunte cited various studies to show that this culture was common to both 
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the people at Turtle Mountain Reservation and the Little Shell members and their 
ancestors in Montana (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 99; 1996). The major elements of Metis 
culture that are listed by Franklin and Bunte that are described in older accounts of the 
rural settlements and by interviewees as continuing in the "moccasin flats" include the 
Michiff language, music and dance! foodways, and the New Year's celebrations. The 
music and dance were French songs and jigs, with a distinctive style (Franklin 1996, 29). 
The foodways prominently mentioned included "bullets" (meatballs), rubaboo (a kind of 
sauce or stew), a kind of bread called "bannock," foods made with chokecherries, 
pemmican, and other items, some with colorful names like "son of a bitch in a sack." 
Although almost all of the Metis were Catholic at least until the 1920's, the Metis 
interviewees in most instances provided no descriptions that indicated that they practiced 
a culturally specific form of Catholic worship. However, Campisi and Stama stated that 
several of their interviewees suggested that the church had attempted to prevent "Indian 
style" wakes (Campisi and Stama J 987a, 42). Few of the interviewees mentioned the 
church, and they did not describe it as playing a role as a community institution among 
the Metis. 

This Metis culture was undiminished among adults born in the rural areas, but it 
diminished rapidly with the generation that grew up in the towns, the individuals who are 
the older adults among the petitioner's· members today. An example of this is language 
use. An adult would typically describe hearing, as a child, the use of French, Michiff 65 

(also termed "coyote French"), and sometimes Chippewa or Cree, typically when 
communicating to an Indian outside the group. Interviewees frequently stated that they 
could understand their parent, grandparent, or other older relative who spoke Michiff. 
Chippewa. andlor French, and who in some cases did not speak good English. However, 
most interviewees reported that they did not actually learn to speak French, at least not 
fluently. Franklin and Bunte concluded that the language was spoken in a majority of 
Little Shell households until the 1930's or 1940's (Franklin and Bunte 1994. 99; 1996, 
32). Other continuing cultural practices described by interviewees were the New Year's 
celebrations, which would betin at midnight. Individuals started at the homes of their 
closest relatives and continued outward, to other relatives and friends, and often to other 
neighborhoods and other towns. In these celebrations, there was food, fiddling, and· 
dancing throughout the night (FD 1998; Bishop 1986; Sinclair 1998; Short 1998). 

According to interviews with the petitioner'S members, the typical occupation of their 
members and their ancestors in the years during the first half of the 20th century was a 
ranch hand (FD 1998). Some individuals formed crews and hired out for haying, building 
fences and other ranch jobs (Parenteau 1998; Allen 1998; FD 1998). By the 1920's, some 
of the petitioner's families in the Highline region had found work on the Phillip's ranch, 
south of Zortman (Franklin 1994, 28). The women were usually homemakers, or worked 
as housekeepers and cooks during the summer working season on the ranches. A few 
individuals had better jobs, such as working for the railroad. Some families, where the 

M "Michiff' is a mixture of French and Indian (primarily Chippewa and Cree) that developed during the 
Red River period. It combines elements of vocabulary and grammar from each (Franklin 1996, 29). 
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husband was non-Indian, were somewhat better off. These mixed families frequently, but 
not always. lived in the "moccasin flat" areas of towns. Residence was semi-itinerant. 
with summers often spent working out of town on the ranches, and winter in town (e.g, 
Teske 1998, G. Azure 1998). Changing residence between towns was also quite 
common. During the Depression of the 1930's, a significant number of Metis sought 
work on one of the reservations, or moved there to take advantage of relief programs, 
especially if they had relatives enrolled on the reservation (e.g., Sinclair 1998). This was 
especially common at Rocky Boy's Reservation. 

Discrimination against Indians and Metis in Montana during the 1930's and 1940's was 
noted by a variety of observers. An Indian Office employee attributed the cancellation of 
plans to settle some of the landless Indians on a parcel of land near Great Falls in 1940·to 
white resistance to that plan. Noting their strong opposition, he stated that, "Local 
residents of the vicinity did not wish the Indians as their neighbors" (BIA 1211311940). 
Raymond Gray, a political leader of the Montana Landless Indians, argued in 1940 that, 
"If you live in a white community you are discriminated against because you are Indian." 
He added that. "If we go to school and try to get a job on the outside the fact remains that 
no group of white men ever enjoy having a half-breed bossing them. We can just go so 
far." Gray also argued that discrimination by non-Indians.meant that, "we cannot 
assimilate ourselves with white people. We are always breeds" (BIA 311811940, 4-5). 

In interviews with the petitioner's members, they describe discrimination as common in 
the lives of those growing up in the "moccasin flats" of the rural towns and in the urban 
Indian neighborhoods of Great Falls and Helena (FD 1998). One of Franklin's 
interviewees stated, with reference to the Choteau "moccasin flat," that "there was really 
alot of prejudiced dealings going on, so people kind of tend[ed] to stick to themselves," 
and that whites "called them half breeds" and "dirty drunken Indians .... " (quoted in 
Franklin and Bunte 1994, 70-71). Some children of mixed marriages who were born in 
the 1930's or 1940's described snubs by their white relatives. One common result of the 
experience of discrimination, expressed by present-day interviewees, was a very strong 
desire to excel in education and economically. Another result, as described by one 

individual, was that she and her family always were very strict about their personal 
appearance and the condition of their house. This was a remnant of their parents' 
teachings. and the experiences of their childhoods, when they did not want to be known 
as "dirty 'Indians" (Fleury et al. 1998). 

Some of the petitioner'S families attempted to keep themselves somewhat apart from the 
Indian neighborhoods and their Indian relatives. A portion of the membership, including 
some leaders, is from families that in the 1930's had separated themselves from the Metis 
society and even to some degree from their immediate relatives in order not to be 
recognized as "halfbreeds" (R. Salois 1998; FD 1998). Some of these families, usually 
where one parent was non-Indian, were able to live outside of the "moccasin flat" areas 
(Koke 1998; Fleury 1998; FD 1998). Presently, individuals who grew up in the 
"moccasin flats" sometimes say that some families denied that they were Indians (Sinclair 
1979; J. Azure 1998). Also, it is sometimes said, with reference to particular individuals 

-114-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 187 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

who did not live in a "moccasin flat" as a child, that "so and so didn't know they were 
Indian" until a few years ago. However, interviews with the individuals referred to 
indicate that this statement was not necessarily literally true. In some cases, while the 
individuals referred to were from families that had kept them somewhat apart when they 
were growing up, their Metis background had not been hidden from them and they had 
social connections with their Metis relatives (FD 1998; R. Salois 1998; Koke 1998; Fleury 
1998; McGillis 1993). Nonetheless, the perception that particular families denied or 
downpJayed their Indian ancestry is something which still draws somewhat negative 
comments from others, former "moccasin flats" residents, who knew these individuals 
earlier in their lives. 

Detailed information was not developed concerning when the discrimination described 
for the 1930's declined. Two individuals, born in 1938 and 1940, reported strong 
discrimination in Highline towns during their childhoods, presumably referring to the late 
1940's (Bishop 1986; Maki 1998). A former chairman, Donald Bishop, born in 1938, 
reported having to fight his way in and out of school, and that the Indians were required 
to sit at the back of the church in segregated seating (Bishop 1986).66 He reported that 
white kids avoided the Indian kids because the latter were supposedly dirty and had poor 
hygiene. Bishop also reported that when he was young, the Mayor of Malta said that he 
would not rest till "all the breeds were out." The gradual ending of the partial residential 
segregation was underway by the 1950's. Marriage with non-Indians was already 
increasing well before the 1930's. 

An analysis of the birthplaces of individuals presently on the petitioner's membership list 
indicates that it was uncommon for their families to move out of Montana before 1940, 
but that the rate of movement out of state increased substantially in succeeding decades. 
This finding is consistent with the ethnographic information that most members or their 
ancestors did not move far from their original Montana locations until after the . 
depression of the 1930's. No analysis was made to determine whether there were 
differences between the two regions in migration rates or migration destinations. 

Only about 7 percent (66 of 939) of individuals on the current membership list who were 
born before 1940 had birthplaces outside of Montana (Petitioner's membership list). Of 
these, the large majority were born either in Canada or North Dakota, and live presently 
in Montana.67 By contrast, 15 percent of members born between 1940 and 1949 (70 of 
479) were born out of state, and less than one-fifth of these were born in North Dakota or 

66 This was the only instance located where an interviewee reported differential treatment by the 
church (which presumably, at this date, was the local Catholic church). 

67 This appears to reflect the continuation of migration from Canada and North Dakota well into the 20th 
century. Essentially all of the present members born before 1933 who were not born in Montana were born 
in Canada or North Dakota. The data on some family lines (e.g., Calais Lafountain, Bremner) in the . 
Family Tree Maker database show Canadian or North Dakota birthplaces for individuals born as late as the 
1930's. Because these individuals were born later than older individuals in their family line had moved to 
Montana, it suggests continued movement back and forth between Montana and the point of origin. 
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Canada. The portion of members born out of state increased to 21 percent (167 of 793) of 
members born in the decade from 1950 to 1959, and to 27 percent of members born 
between 1960 and 1969. This increase over time in the percent of members born out of 
state parallels in time the decline of the "moccasin flats" residential enclaves after 1940. 

Almost one-third bf those members born out of state between 1950 and 1959, and more 
than one·third of the members born out of state between 1960 and 1969. presently live in 
Montana, indicating that members born out of state fairly commonly move to Montana.68 

Organizational Activities, 1939 - 1949: 

An organization referring to itself as the Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians of 
Montana was formed for the first time in 1939. This organizational activity followed two 
developments related to Montana's Chippewa descendants. First, the desire of the 
landless Chippewas of Montana to obtain a separate reservation was thwarted in 1939. 
The Office of Indian Affairs decided that its newly· purchased lands would be added to 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation, rather than being set aside as a new and separate 
reservation. or reservations. The Indian Office also arranged for the Rocky Boy's band to 
adopt a limited number of landless Indians, rather than to organize most or all of the 

.Iandless Indians as a new reservation tribe. Second, during the 1930's Congress seriously 
considered legislation to refer the claims against the Government of the Turtle Mountain 
Band of Chippewa to the Court of Claims, and included Chippewa Indians in Montana 
among those Indians who would be authorized to have their claims considered under this 
legislation. In 1935. the Department of the Interior began to refer in public documents to 
some of the Chippewas in Montana as descendants of Chief Little Shell's band. 

The Office of Indian Affairs changed its position on the use of the new lands being 
purchased in Montana by early 1937, when it decided that the new lands should be added 
to the Rocky Boy's Reservation and not be set aside as a new reservation (BlA 3/6/1937). 
In November 1937, the Indian Office informed Montana's senators of its decision, as 
Henry Roe Cloud described it. "not to create a separate reservation out of newly acquired 
lands for the landless Cree-Chippewa .... " (BlA 211611938). Indian Office officials 
displayed a concern for the carrying capacity of the Rocky Boy's reservation, the number 
of residents the lands of the reserve could support, and the efficient administration of both 
the tribe and its resources. Superintendent Wooldridge of the Rocky Boy's Agency 
favored the change. and provided a summary of the rationale for the new policy. Using 
the new lands to expand the existing reservation, the superintendent argued, would allow 
tribal resources to be combined and managed as a single unit. It also would avoid 
"setting up a separate organization" for the landless, generating disputes between two 
distinct organizations, hiring personnel for a new agency, and creating white opposition to 
a new reservation (BlA 3/25/1937). Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier agreed 

68 Presumably some of these individuals returned to the state as children, when their families returned to 
the state. 
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that it would be more efficient to use the existing tribal organization than to establish a 
new and separate organization of the non-ward Indians (BIA 11/9/1937). 

When the Indian Office decided to expand the Rocky Boy's Reservation. it realized that it 
then would have to ask the Rocky Boy's band to adopt some of the landless Indians as 
new members of its tribe (BIA 3/611937). Dussome objected to adoption of landless 
Indians into the band without "mutual consent." insisted that a separate reservation had. 
been agreed upon. and requested that individual allotments of land be made from the 
newly purchased lands (Dussome 3/30/1937). The Assistant Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs agreed that adoption into the band would be by mutual consent. but pointed out to 
Dussome that allotment of the land being purchased was "out of the question" because it 
was prohibited by the Indian Reorganization Act (BIA 5/3/1937). After an internal Indian 
Office debate about how many new members the expanded reservation could support. 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier in April 1938 directed that a proposal be 
made to the Rocky Boy's band that it adopt 25 families of landless Cree-Chippewa from 
the list of 550 individuals "considered eligible for recognition as Indians of the half­
blood." The Commissioner's instructions were that the tribe would determine which 
persons to adopt, and that the Indian Office would not recommend any particular 
individual or group (BIA 4/29/1938). After originally voting not to adopt any candidates, 
in a second election in March 1939 the Rocky Boy's band approved a slate of 25 "non­
ward" families for adoption into the band (BIA 10/10/1938, 3/18/1939, 3/21/1939). Ten 
days later, Congress authorized the addition of about 114,000 acres to the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation (Statutes 1939). 

In his report on the Rocky Boy's adoption election of 1938, Henry Roe Cloud 
characterized the landless Indians of Montana as descendants of the "French-Canadian 
Indians" who had fled to the United States from Canada after the Riel rebellion of 1885 
(BIA 10/10/1938). In February 1938, Roe Cloud referred to Joseph Dussome as "the 
leader of the landless Cree-Chippewas of Montana .... " He also observed that despite 
"the fact that these Indians are scattered over wide areas, they are exceedingly well 
organized" (BIA 2116/1938). According to Roe Cloud, Dussome desired a reservation, a 

constitution, and an organization separate from those of Rocky Boy's band, so that his 
non-wards could obtain "a practical autonomy" (BIA 7/23/1938). The Indian Office, 
however, had decided on a policy which differed from Dussome's position on each of 
these issues, and therefore would not recognize his group as a separate and distinct entity. 
Thus, as Roe Cloud noted, Dussome organized and led opposition to the Indian Office's 
policy of having landless Indians adopted into Rocky Boy's band. Roe Cloud referred to 
his intent to "explain" the Government's policy to Dussome, rather than to consult him 
about it. The Government was "not putting the question of adoption to Joseph Dussome 
and the non-wards," Roe Cloud observed, but to the tribe of the Rocky Boy's Reservation 
(BIA 7/2311938). 

When Congress in the early 1930's was considering a bill to allow the Turtle Mountain 
Band of Chippewa Indians of North Dakota to submit its claims against the United States 
to the Court of Claims, the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs reported that the Turtle 
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Mountain Band of North Dakota consisted of two groups, the band recognized by the 
Government and another band, "under the leadership of Chief Little Shell," which 
claimed to be "part of the original Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewas." Thomas Little 
Shell, a son of the historical Chief Little Shell, emerged as a leader of this second group 
in North Dakota.69 The committee amended the original bill in February 1933 by adding 
language to allow claims to be submitted by "the band of chief or Thomas Little Shell, 
and other isolated Pembina Bands of Chippewas of North Dakota and Montana" (Senate 
2/21/1933). In April 1933, three attorneys -- two from North Dakota and one from 
Washington, D.C. -- signed a contract with "Chief' Thomas Little Shell and other 
individuals in North Dakota who were acting on behalf of "Chief Little Shell's Band" 
(BIA 8/3111939). During congressional hearings in 1935, an attorney appeared as the 
representative of the "Thomas Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians of North Dakota" 
(Senate 5/10/1935). 

References to the claims of "the band of Chief or Thomas Little Shell, and other isolated 
bands of Chippewas of North Dakota and Montana" were repeated in other biIls during 
the late 1930's which proposed to give the Court of Claims jurisdiction to hear these 
claims (Senate 217/1935, 5/13/1935, 2110/1937, 2/24/1939; House 1/3/1939). While 
these statements indicated that the Congress was aware of the presence of Chippewa 
descendants and possible Chippewa bands in Montana, the Congress appeared to consid~r 
them to be separate from the band of Little Shell, because it referred to them as "other" 
bands. In commenting on one of these proposed bills in April 1935, however, Secretary 
of the Interior Harold L. Ickes said that a part of the Turtle Mountain tribe, under the 
leadership of Chief Little Shell, had refused to participate in negotiations for the 
agreement of 1892 and had left the main body of the tribe. These Indians, Ickes said, 
"finally settled at various places in the State of Montana on the public domain, where they 
now reside." He advised the chairman of the Senate committee that the Little Shell band 
had claims which should be adjudicated with those of the Turtle Mountain band (Interior 
4/20/1935). The Acting Secretary repeated this analysis in 1937 in letters to 
congressional committees (Interior 4/2011937,5/2711937). 

Joseph Dussome's group did not begin to refer to itself as the "Little Shell band" of 
Chippewa Indians of Montana until after these proposed bills to submit claims to the 
Court of Claims had referred to the Little Shell band, and the Department of the Interior's 
comments on these bills had stated that some Chippewas from Little Shell's band had 
eventually settled in Montana. The first documented reference to "the Little Shell Band 
of Chippewa Indians of Montana" occurred as part of an effort from February to April 
1939, apparently led by Dussome. to collect funds for claims attorney Halvor Halvorson 
of Mino[, North Dakota (Little Shell Band of MT 1939). Halvorson was one of the 
attorneys who had signed a contract in 1933 with "Chief' Thomas Little Shell of North 
Dakota (BIA 8/31/1939). During the late spring of 1939, apparently, a series of regional 

69 For a photograph of Thomas Little Shell, see Howard 1958,43, and 1965.23. Chief Little Shell was 
shown to have a son Thomas on the 1897 Indian census roll. when he was listed as a one-year-old child of 
the 66-year-old Little Shell (BIA 1885-1940, roll 95, frame 583). 
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meetings were held to organize the Chippewa Indians of Montana. The individuals 
attending an area meeting of the "Pembina Band" in Lewistown claimed that they were 
entitled to panicipate in claims litigation because they were "descendants of those Indians 
who had as their Chief, Thomas Little Shell. ... " (Pembina Band ca. 1939). 

The Chippewa descendants meeting at Lewistown referred to themselves as "the Pembina 
Band of Chippewa Indians, formerly of North Dakota and now residing in the State of 
Montana in small groups at various points .... " They elected Elizabeth Swan as their 
representative "to meet with the representatives of similar groups within the State of 
Montana" for the purpose of selecting three members of "the Chippewa Tribe in 
Montana" to enter into a contract with an attorney. Presumably, such local meetings to 
select representatives to a state meeting were held in eight or nine districts of Montana 
about the same time. This action was taken, the Lewistown group stated, "on the basis of 
a bill now before Congress relative to the claims of the Turtle Mountain Band or Bands of 
Chippewa Indians .... " (Pembina Band ca. 1939). Thus, this effort to form an 
organization of Chippewa Indians in Montana in 1939 was explicitly tied to the expected 
passage of an act to refer the claims of the Turtle Mountain band or bands to the Court of 
Claims. 

On June 10, 1939, eight district representatives of "the various groups of Chippewa 
Indians residing in Montana" met at the home of Joseph Paul in Great Falls. Four of 
these representatives were from the Highline and Lewistown area, two were from the 
Front Range, and two were from cities.1O They elected a three-person committee '~to 
represent the Chippewa Indians in Montana" in pursuing their claims against the United 
States Government based on land "formerly owned by the Turtle Mountain Band or 
Bands of Chippewa Indians[,] including the Band of Chief or Thomas Little Shell .... " 
In order to pursue these claims of the "Pembina Band," the representatives authorized this 
executive committee to employ an attorney. Their claims were valid, according to the 
statement signed by these eight representatives, because they were "descendants of those 
Indians who owned said land prior to the agreement of 1892 .... " This statement of their 
position, which they sometimes referred to as the "agreement" made by the Chippewas of 
Montana, was addressed to the Secretary of the Interior and the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs. The three members elected as the executive committee were Thomas Ouellette, 
Joseph H. Dussome, and Joseph Paul. All three of these individuals attended this 
meeting as district representatives: Ouellette from Wolf Point, Dussome from Box Elder, 
and Paul from Great Falls (1. Azure et aI. 1939; Pembina Band 6110/1939; Ouellette 
6/13/1939,7/18/1939).71 

70 The eight areas represented were: Harlem (Joe Azure), Lewistown (Elizabeth Swan), Dupuyer (Millie 
Salois), Augusta (Thomas Sangray), Helena (William Boyer), Wolf Point (Thomas Ouellette), Great Falls 
(Joseph Paul), and Box Elder (Joseph Dussome). 

71 The basis of these claims, of course, represented a complete reversal from the claims which Joseph 
Dussome had advanced throughout the 1930·s. 
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The group's executive committee immediately began using stationery with a letterhead 
which referred to the new organization as the "Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians who 
were under the leadership of Chief Thomas Little Shell." This letterhead included the 
names of a three-member executive committee and six district representatives. These 
were the eight representatives to the meeting of June 10, plus an additional district 
representative from Hays (Ouellette 6/13/1939). The organization's original "agreement" 
or initial statement of its formation and purposes, and the minutes of its first meeting, 
implied that the three members of the executive committee had equal status and powers 
(1. Azure et aI. 1939: Pembina Band 6/10/1939). A month after the formative meeting. 
however, Thomas Ouellette was writing letters as the "secretary" of the executive 
committee (Ouellette 7/18/1939). Within four months, at least, Joseph Dussome was 
being listed as "president" of the executive committee (Dussome et a1. 10/6/1939). By 
using the name of Thomas Little Shell, who was mentioned in the pending Court of 
Claims bills, this Montana Chippewa group had adopted the name of a contemporary 
leader of the Little Shell band of North Dakota in the 1930's, not the historical Chief 
Little Shell of the 1880's and 1890's. 

As the secretary of the organization, Ouellette informed Senator James Murray in July 
1939 that the executive committee had selected E.C. Angland of Great Falls as its 
attorney to prepare claims under the pending legislation. Ouellette sought the senator's 
advice on how to have an attorney's contract approved by the Department of the Interior 
(Ouellette 7/]8/]939). Even prior to the organizational meeting of June ]0, however, 
attorney Angland had written to the Office of Indian Affairs about negotiating a contract, 
as the Indian Office described his proposal, with "several groups of Indians residing in 
Montana," but constituting "a part of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians of 
North Dakota, for the purpose of prosecuting their claims against the United States." In 
its reply, the Indian Office noted that the Department already had approved two attorney 
contracts, one for the Turtle Mountain Band and one for "Chief Little Shell's Band," and 
that these attorneys were able to represent Indians who belonged to those bands but 
resided in Montana. Angland's proposed contract, it concluded, would be in conflict with these existing contracts. The Indian Office thus informed Angland that it would not 
approve any contract he might make with Chippewa Indians in Montana (BIA 8/31/] 939). 

The executive committee, with Dussome as its president, wrote to the Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs in October 1939 to assert its position that the Commissioner's office had 
agreed, during a meeting in ] 936, to use newly purchased lands to create a separate 
reservation for the "Landless Chippewa Indians" of Montana, and to protest that the 
purchased land had been used "for other purposes than it was intended for. ... " In 
addition to the organization's objection to this specific policy decision, it also had a more 
general concern about its relation to the Indian Office. "We have set up an Organization 
... to negotiate with your Office and the Superintendent here," the executive committee 
said, "but it appears that your Office will not recognize our Committee in transacting any 
business affairs pertaining to the affairs of said Landless Indians" (Dussome et al. 
10/6/1939). The executive committee of the new organization understood in 1939 that 
the "Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians who were under the leadership of Chief Thomas 
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Little Shell" was not recognized as a tribal entity by the Office of Indian Affairs. 

On December 17, 1939, at a meeting in Great Falls, a new organization was fanned 
which would adopt the name of the "Montana Landless Indians." Raymond Gray was 
elected chainnan of the new organization by acclamation at the Great Falls meeting. 
Rose Gray was elected secretary. Chainnan Gray then explained "why we want to 
organize." The sparse minutes of the meeting indicate that attendees discussed how to 
organize under the Indian Reorganization Act and claim their "rights as Indians" under 
that act. The pending Senate bill to allow a suit against the Government for 
compensation for lands in North Dakota was explained to the audience. Chairman Gray 
discussed the "split with Dussome" (MU 12117/1939). Three days later, the new 
organization held another meeting at Helena to dispense infonnation (MU 1212011939). 
On December 20, Gray also sent out a fonn letter asking participants to sign two petitions 
(Gray 12/2011939). On January 18. 1940. the Montana Landless Indians forwarded these 
petitions to the Secretary of the Interior, and claimed that they had been signed by 
approximately 600 Indians of one-half or more Indian blood. The letter said that the 
purpose of the petitions was to acquire "Indian rights" under the Indian Reorganization 
Act, and that the group would ask for a charter under that act (MU 1/1811940). One 
petition asked for adoption of a constitution and bylaws, and the other requested that land 
be purchased for the group under the Indian Reorganization Act (MU 1118/1940; BIA 
2/12/1 940a). 

The Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs explained to both the Montana Landless 
Indians and Senator James E. Murray of Montana that the petitioning group would not be 
eligible to organize under the Indian Reorganization Act unless a reservation were to be 
established in its behalf. He also pointed out that the land purchase funds authorized by 
the Indian Reorganization Act were wholly exhausted (BIA 211 211 940a, 2112/1940b). 
After a conference at the Rocky Boy Agency which Raymond Gray attended, the agency 
superintendent warned Washington that the Montana Landless Indians intended to move 
onto "the thirty odd thousand acres of newly purchased lands adjoining the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation ... within the next two months in an effort to force the Indian Service to 
provide them with lands for home sites" (BIA 3n/1940). On March 12, the Montana 
Landless Indians wrote to the Indian Office to infonn it that "unless we receive an 
appropriation from this Congress to purchase land, we will settle on the 37,000 acres 
adjoining Rocky Boy and claim our Indian rights and the land that was intended for the 
landless Indians of Montana" (MU 3/1211940). In a letter written to a supporter in April. 
Gray indicated that he was opposed to the creation of a new reservation for the newly 
purchased lands, and favored the adoption of all of the landless Indians into the tribe of 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation (Gray 4/2411940). 

Joseph Dussome and his followers continued during 1940 to seek a separate reservation 
for the newly purchased lands. Dussome and a delegation of landless Indians met with 
the superintendent of the Rocky Boy's Agency on April 6 and insisted that an agreement 
had been made in 1936 that the lands would become a separate reservation (BIA 
4/611940). On April 27, the Rocky Boy's Business Committee held a special meeting 
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with Dussome and Thomas Sangray, a representative of the Montana Landless Indians. 
Dussome argued that the Indian Office and Rocky Boy's Business Committee had agreed to a separate reservation. Rocky Boy member Fred Nault, who had accompanied 
Dussome to Washington in 1934, countered Dussome's arguments by claiming that their 
request for a land purchase had included Indians of the Rocky Boy's Reservation who 
needed land (BlA 5/211940). The Indian Office rejected Dussome's interpretation of the 
1936 meeting and denied that an "agreement" to create a separate reservation had been 
made then. The Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs admitted to Senator Murray 
that the Indian Office had been "rather too sanguine about the number of families" the 
purchased lands would support, but insisted that his 1936 letter had "left to future 
determination the question of whether or not the new land would be proclaimed a 
separate Indian reservation or whether it would be added to the existing Rocky Boy 
Reservation" (BlA 5/1311940). The Indian Office continued to pursue its policy of 
adding the lands to the reservation. 

In June 1940, Dussome's fellow Pembina Band executive committee member Thomas 
Ouellette concluded that it was "useless to try and work ourselves in" at the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation, and therefore "we should find some other location in which to get land for 
the landless Indians." He proposed having the GovernmeAt buy land along the Missouri 
River for landless Indians in his Wolf Point district (Ouellette 6/2211940). Dussome 
replied that Ouellette'S plan was "O.K. with me," but indicated that another new plan 
"suggested by the people" was to request that the Government purchase the "Phillips 
Holdings" of land southwest of Malta (Dussome 711/1940). In July 1940, writing to 
"friends and kinsmen" on the letterhead of the "Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians," 
Dussome contended that the only way to get a separate reservation was to get land at a 
distance from the Rocky Boy's Reservation. We "have located a desirable site for a 
Reservation," he reported, "containing 17 thousand acres of irrigated land and about 
40 thousand acres of grazing land." He said that he had communicated with the land 
owners of the Phillips Holdings, and that Mrs. B.M. Phillips was "wiIling to help us all 
she can to get this land" (Dussome 7/1011940). At a meeting in Chinook in October 
1940, the "Pembina Band," also known as the "Landless Indians of Montana," appointed 
Dussome, Ouellette, and Mrs. Phillips as delegates to present their grievances and their 
plan to the proper officials in Washington, D.C. (Pembina Band 10/511940). This trip to 
Washington apparently occurred in early 1941. 

As a state senator, Mrs. Phillips won passage by the state legislature in February 1941 of 
a memorial to the Congress requesting legislation to establish a reservation for the state's 
Indians of one-half or more Indian blood (Montana 1941). In response to the state's 
memorial, the Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs informed Senator Murray that 
the creation of a reservation for "unenrolled Indians" would require "specific, adequate 
appropriations" (BlA 4/1111941). In March 1941, however, Dussome presented the 
Governor with a petition which proposed a different plan. Rather than aQ Indian 
reservation under the supervision of the Office of Indian Affairs, Dussome proposed that 
the Phillips ranch be acquired as a rehabilitation program under the Farm Security 
Administration (Dussome et a1. 1941). Senator Burton K. Wheeler, who also received the 
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petition, noted that since this plan would remove land from the county tax rolls, Dussome 
would need to obtain a resolution of support from the county commissioners (Wheeler 
4/3/1941). The Phillips County commissioners passed a resolution in April 1941 which 
gave their support for a reservation or resettlement project for the "landless Indians," but 
qualified it by favoring a plan in which the county would be reimbursed for its lost tax 
revenue (Phillips County 1941). Dussome's ] 941 petition bore 163 signatures from Wolf 
Point, Chinook, Hays, Landusky, Zortman, Malta, Havre, and a few other northern 
Montana towns (Dussome et al. 1941 ),72 Dussome's support, at least for a land purchase 
program in Phil1ips County, came from northern Montana and Highline towns. and not 
from the Front Range. 

The local newspaper, the Phillips County News. reported on the land purchase plan as 
described by Dussome, the "president of the band." The "land selected by the Indians and 

. receiving favorable consideration in Washington," the newspaper reported, was the 
65,OOO-acre Phillips ranch, 25 miles southwest of Malta The paper said that it was 
"probable," according to Dussome, that "65 families of the Pembina or Little SheJ] band 
of Chippewa Indians, known locally as the non-ward or landless Indians," would be 
settled on this land. The band believed it was "entitled to resettlement," the paper 
reported, because an 1892 agreement had offered such a small price for Chippewa land. 
Under Dussome's plan, each family would receive 60 acres of irrigable land and two 
sections of grazing land. These Indians were asking for government land, the paper 
reported, without government supervision. Noting that there were believed to be 650 
families of landless Indians in Montana, the paper observed that the Phillips County 
project would be the first of several such projects. It said that other groups of Indians 
resided near Havre, Chinook, and Wolf Point. The Little Shell band had recommended. it 
reported, that the Indians be settled in the counties where they had been living for years 
(Phillips County News 5/111941). 

When an Office of Indian Affairs official, J.C. McCaskill, prepared a memorandum in 
April 1941 on the "Landless Unenrolled Indians" in Montana, he noted that the landless 
Indians were "represented by a least two groups of leade~ .... " (BlA 4/23/1941). A year 
later. he repeated that there were two groups of unenrolled Indians "who recognize . 
separate leadership" (BIA 2/2311942). Relying upon a variety of prior surveys and 
estimates. McCaskill judged that the number of unenrolled landless Indians in Montana 
was at least 2,500 to 3,000 individuals, or 500 to 600 families. He indicated that the 
largest numbers of landless Indians were located on the Blackfeet and Fort Peck 
Reservations. with large numbers also at Great Falls, Malta, Chinook, and the Rocky 
Boy's Reservation. Although it would take "considerable investigation" to determine the 
"exact origin" of the unenrolled landless Indians of the state, he said, it "is generally 
believed that some of them are Crees and originally came from Canada. Many are 
Chippewas of American origin who have drifted westward from the Lake States." Noting 
that the National Resources Board had reported that the "Cree-Chippewas of Blaine and 
Phillips Counties ... have in the past years asserted their right to a large reservation for 

72 The Lewistown group petitioned in favor of the Phillips Ranch in August 1941 (BIA 101411941). 
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their exclusive use," McCaskill identified several sites available for purchase near the 
Fort Belknap Reservation, including the Phillips ranch, as well as the Floweree ranch on 
the Sun River 50 miles west of Great Falls (BlA 412311941; see also BlA 212311942). 

A convention called by Dussome met in Malta on July 2-3, 1941. The convention was 
attended by 62 members and 2 observers. Delegates were called on to present their 
credentials from the "official districts"; 9 or 10 district representatives were present. An 
election was held to choose a new and expanded Executive Committee. Joseph H. 
Dussome was elected president, Thomas Ouelette vice-president, George St. Clair second 
vice-president, Mrs. Bill Doney secretary, and Mrs. Joseph H. Dussome treasurer. In 
addition to the election, Mrs. Phillips reported on the trip to Washington and gave the 
address she made before the Committee on Indian Affairs. Thomas Ouellette and 
Dussome explained three land purchase plans that had been considered: one of the group, 
one of the Resettlement Administration, and one of the Office of Indian Affairs. The 
convention passed a resolution, presented by Dussome, which requested Congress to 
provide the landless Indians of Montana with land in lieu of their rejected land 
allotments, asserting that the United States had a lawful obligation "to provide us with 
land." The convention also passed a resolution, as the "Pembina Band of Chippewa 
Indians known as the Landless Indians of Montana," in favor of settling on the lands of 
the Phillips ranch under a rehabilitation program of the Fann Security Administration. 
The plan they insisted upon provided each head of family with 60 acres of irrigated land, 
two sections of range land, and a loan of $5,000 (Pembina Band 7/2/1941 and 7/311941; 
Anonymous 1941). After the convention, Dussome apparently wrote a constitution and 
bylaws for the group (Ouellette 8/19/1941). 

Sometime in 1941, Joseph Z. Venne replaced Raymond Gray as president of the Montana 
Landless Indians (Venne 9/9/1941). In his new job in the state Department of Public 
Welfare, Gray investigat the conditions of the Indians living in Great Falls (e.g., 
Gibson 1941; Gray 9/2t.. H). In October 1941, Gray reported that he had taken several 
Indians on a tour of the Floweree ranch near Augusta, and that he was preparing petitions asking that this land be purchased as a reservation (Gray 1011/1941). The petitioner's 
researchers argue that a petition in favor of the purchase of the Floweree ranch was signed 
by members of the petitioner'S ethnic group who were living in the Front Range towns of 
Browning. Choteau, and Augusta, or had moved to Great Falls and Helena (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 131-132; MLI 1941). Later that month, Venne wrote to Governor Sam Ford. 
and apparently to Senator Burton K. Wheeler as well, to request support "in obtaining the 
tract of land known as the Aoweree Ranch" as a reservation "for the Montana Landless 
Indians" (Venne 1012211941; Wheeler 10/30/1941). The Montana Landless Indians held 
a convention of local delegates on November 28-29, 1941, in Helena (Venne 
1111411941). At this meeting, attendees elected a delegation of three people to travel to 
Washington. They also voted in favor of a proposal to have the 55,OOO-acre Floweree 
ranch purchased as a reservation for them. Gray stated that the plan was to move Indians 
from Helena and the Front Range to the new reservation (Cascade Courier 1941; Great 
Falls Leader 12/1/1941; Choteau Acantha 12/4/1941: Big Timber Pioneer 12/811941). 
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When Thomas Ouellette saw a newspaper account of the Montana Landless Indian 
meeting in Helena, he wrote to Dussome to suggest that a protest be made to the 
Governor and state Department of Public Welfare (Ouellette 11130/1941). Dussome's 
response to the newspaper report that the landless Indians had asked for the purchase of 
the Roweree ranch was that it was inconsistent with the expressed wishes of the "the old 
original band of Landless Indians of Montana .... " Since none of the original band's 
representatives were present at the convention, he said, it was a misrepresentation for the 
delegates there to claim to act on behalf of all the landless Indians of the state (Dussome 
12/111941). Dussome also received a letter from Great Falls which told him that he had 
"a few loyal supporters left" there, and asked him to come there for a meeting (Kolika 
1941). At the meeting in Great Falls on December 6, Dussome and Ouellette explained 
their land purchase and resettlement program, contrasting it to a proposal for an Indian 
reservation. Ouellette cast the issue as whether to "live over here on a reservation, or take 
your place as a white man." He said that he favored the latter. The minutes explained 
that the purpose of the meeting was to explain to the people that recently "a communist 
group who are not the original landless Indians of Montana" was "misleading and 
misrepresenting the real or original landless Indians." After some heated exchanges, 
Raymond Gray and several of his supporters, who were in the audience. walked out of the 
meeting (Pembina Band 121611941). 

Both the Landless Indians of Montana and the Montana Landless Indians stopped 
advocating their separate land purchase proposals during World War II. Nor is there 
evidence of wartime meetings of these organizations. Dussome. however, wrote a 1943 
letter to "friends and members" in which he stated that the main objective of the 
organization remained to try to get land, or to derive benefits from "our Native Land," 
equivalent of that extended to other tribes. He continued to complain of the "subversive 
political activities" of the "substitute Band." Admitting that the "substitute Band". had 
lured away members, he added hopefully that "we hear no more of their activities .... " 
(Dussome 2/5/1943). A lack of organiz.ational activities and meetings during the war 
years has been characteristic of groups whjch have petitioned for Federal 
acknowledgment. After the war, Dussome wrote the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 
April 1947 to ask whether anything was being done to obtain a rehabilitation plan for the 
landless Indians of Montana (Dussome 4/4/1947). The Montana Landless Indians had 
tabled their grievances during the war, Thomas Sangray of Augusta told Senator Murray 
in April 1948, but now sought an appropriation on behalf of the state's landless Indians 
(Sangray 1948). 

When Joseph Dussome wrote to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in April 1947, he 
asked whether or not his group of landless Indians was entitled to select its own attorney 
under the Indian Claims Commission Act which had been passed the previous year 
(Dussome 4/4/1 947). In 1948, Dussome asked the superintendent of the Turtle Mountain 
Agency whether attorneys already had been selected to represent the Little Shell band in 
submitting its claims against the United States. and, if so. whether their contract provided 
that they would represent unenrolled members in Montana. According to records of the 
Office of Indian Affairs, Dussome argued, "we are the original band of the late Chief 
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Thomas Little Shell who refused to accede to the terms" of the agreement of 1892. In 
making this point, Dussome referred to a 1931 letter by the Office of Indian Affairs which 
had suggested that the "Abandoned Band of Chippewa" of Montana had been under the 
leadership of Chief Little Shell prior to 1892. In 1931 Dussome had denied any linkage 
of his band to Little Shell or the Turtle Mountain band and had repudiated that Indian 
Office letter, but in 1948 he claimed that linkage and utilized that letter (Dussome 
3/311948; see also, LIM 6/311950; compare to, BIA 1211411931 and Dussome 
12/2111931). 

Dussome revived his 1941 rehabilitation plans and informed Representative Wesley A. 
D'Ewart in 1947 that the Landless Indians of Montana favored an "American Plan" and 
opposed "any COMMUNISTIC Plans" (Dussome7/28/1947, emphasis in the original). 
Although the Phillips ranch apparently was sold in 1944, Mrs. Phillips continued to 
advocate for the purchase of land (Phillips County News 1/13/1944; Phillips 1945). With 
the aid of Mrs. Phillips, now a Montana State Senator, the group obtained the interest and 
support of the Governor and the Montana Congressional delegation (Great Falls Tribune 
112011949; BlA 2/21/1949). The focus of Phillips' efforts was on "rehabilitation," rather 
than tribal r~cognition. She sought combined state, local and Federal aid for the landless Indians. After conferring with the Indians, Phillips won passage by the Montana 
legislature in February 1949 of a joint memorial which called for Congress to resume the .pre-war efforts of rehabilitation of the "landless Indians in Montana" (Montana 1949). 
Referring to the joint memorial, Dussome wrote Congressman D'Ewart in March 1949, 
on behalf of the organization "the Landless Indians of Montana," and described "the 
disgraceful living conditions of the landless Indians" and stated that they were compelled 
to live in slums (Dussome 31111949). 

Politica) Influence and Actions, 1949·1963 

The first post-war minutes of Dussome's organization were those of a June 1949 meeting in Chinook. In the pre-war years the organization had used the title of the "Pembina 
Band of Chippewa Indians who were under the leadership of Chief Thomas Little Shell," 
but the 1949 minutes now referred to the organization as the "Little Shell Band of 
Chippewa Indians, known as the Landless Indians of Montana" (LIM 6/1/1949). An 
election Of officers, perhaps the first since 1941, was held at this meeting. Joseph 
Dussome was elected president, Albert Gardipee vice-president, Michall Morin secretary, 
and George St. Claire treasurer. Dussome and S1. Claire had previously served as 
officers, but Gardipee and Morin were new to leadership positions. This meeting was 
attended by 23 members and Mrs. Phillips. The meeting reviewed key events of the 
previous two decades. Dussome stated that, "We organized in 1927," and went by the 
name of "the Abandoned Band of Chippewa Indians." The group read and discussed 
meeting notes from 1936 and 1940, recent newspaper clippings, correspondence with 
state and federal officials, a Rocky Boy's resolution, and the memorial introduced by Mrs. 
Phillips (LIM 61111949). 
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In 1949 and the early 1950's, the division and rivalry between Dussome's Landless 
Indians of Montana (LIM) and the Montana Landless Indians (MLD reappeared. At the 
1949 meeting in which Dussome was elected president of the LIM. he reviewed his 
group's opposition to the MLI since the 1930's when. he said, they had rejected that 
organization as "nothing but communistic." After reading a letter from the Department of 
the Interior. however. Dussome acknowledged that, "Mr. Raymond Gray is more known 
than we are" (LIM 61111949). As with the organizations under Raymond Gray's 
leadership during the 1930's and early 1940's, the MLI after 1949 appears to have been 
centered in Helena and also, to an extent, in Great Falls. This conclusion is based 
primarily on information about where its officers were from and its meetings were held. 
The discussion at the LIM meeting in June 1949 referred to the MLI in part as "the 
Anaconda and the Gray group" (LIM 6/111949). The MLI also may have drawn support 
beyond this geographical base, for some oral history suggests that discontent with 
Dussome may have been becoming widespread. 

In 1949. Regional Director Paul Fickinger of the Bureau of Indian Affairs summarized 
what his agency understood to be the history and status of Montana's landless Indians. He 
was replying to a specific request from the Attorney General of Montana who had written 
to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs at the "request of the leaders" of a "group of 
Indians ... known as the 'Landless Indians of Montana'" or as the "Little Shell Band" 
(Montana Attorney General 1949). Fickinger concluded that "the Federal Government 
has not accepted any responsibility" for the landless Indians of Montana, and that the 
Indian Service could not assume responsibility for them until Congress directed it to do 
so and made "appropriate appropriations to provide for them." Because the landless 
Indians were not officially organized, Fickinger said, he could not name their "legal 
representative." He identified two groups of landless Indians. It was his understanding, 
Fickinger said, that the group which called itself the "Little Shell band" looked "to a man 
by the name of James [sic] Dussome of Malta, Montana, as their leader." The group 
which called itself the "Montana Landless Indians," he said, "seem to recognize as their 
leader a man by the name of Raymond Gray ... of Helena." Fickinger's judgment was 
that Dussome's group was "the predominant group, although by no means all-inclusive of 
the landless Indians of Montana" (BIA 6121/1949). 

Fickinger told the attorney general that the landless Indians of Montana were "largely of 
Chippewa-Cree origin." Although a "great deal of detailed investigation and research 
would be necessary to determine their exact origin," he concluded, it was "generaJIy 
known and accepted that many of these Indians came from Canada and others had left the 
Turtle Mountain band of Chippewas after the Reil [sic] rebellion in 1885." Fickinger 
made no mention of the 1892 agreement. His interpretation was that individuals "who 
participated with Rei! [sic]" in 1885 were "not included in the distribution of the lands" 
of the reservation. These "so-called 'renegade' Indians," he said, including the bands "of 
Little Shell and Rocky Boy," then "wandered over North Dakota and adjoining states." 
"Throughout the nineteenth century," Fickinger concluded, "Montana acquired small 
groups of wandering Indians, lost tribes, and individual Indians who were not enrolled in 
tribal groups recognized by the United States." He could only repeat the 1941 estimate 
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that there were from 2.500 to 3.000 landless Indians in Montana in the mid-20th century 
(BlA 6/21/1949). 

In the years after 1949, the Landless Indians of Montana organization was engaged in 
efforts to obtain Federal assistance for the economic rehabilitation of its members and to 
win a claim against the Government under the Indian Claims Commission Act for 
compensation for lost territory. In 1950, the Landless Indians of Montana passed a 
resolution calling for a law to give each landless Indian a productive and profitable unit of 
land (LIM ca. 1950). At the same time, the organization approved a resolution asserting a 
525 million claim against the Government for aboriginal lands taken by the United States (LIM ca. 1950). The petitioner's organization appears to have used the tems "Landless 
Indians of Montana" and "Little Shell Band" somewhat interchangeably in these years. In 
matters pertaining to claims, however, the name Little Shell Band generally was used. 

The organization's interest in economic assistance and rehabilitation was apparent at the 
start of 1950. After having been infonned by George Plummer, area representative from 
Harlem, that fifteen of the "Landless Indian" families in Harlem were in need of 
assistance to pull them through the winter, Dussome wrote to the Billings area director on their behalf in January 1950, but was infonned that the agency had no responsibility or 
authority to help and was advised to refer the problem to the county welfare worker (BlA 
1123/1950). At some time during early 1950, Dussome visited Washington, D.C., to meet 
with an attorney concerning a proposed claim under the Indian Claims Commission Act 
(MUrray 1950). In local meetings during May and June 1950, the Landless Indians of 
Montana approved the choice of Willis M. McKeon as their claims attorney (LIM 
5/26/1950, 6/3/1950). McKeon attended the special meeting of district representatives in May at which his selection was approved, and his report on the earlier meeting in 
Washington noted that it had concerned a rehabilitation bill as well as claims (LIM 
5/26/1950). 

A newspaper from Havre already had reported, in March 1950, that an "organization of landless Indians of Montana" would file a claim for $25 million plus interest with the 
Indian Claims Commission. According to the organization's spokesmen, the newspaper 
said. an "unauthorized agreement made in 1892" had deprived them of the area bounded 
by the Rocky Mountains and the North Dakota line on the west and east, and the Missouri 
River and the Canadian line on the south and north. They asserted, according to this 
newspaper, that Chief Little Shell had refused to cede this area of ]0 million acres in 
Montana (Anonymous 1950). A resolution adopted by the Landless Indians of Montana, 
presumably about this time, asserted that they had a claim against the Government 
because Chief Little Shell had refused to cede 10 million acres of land. because they had 
filed for allotments of public domain land and had their allotments canceled, and because 
they had acquired title to the lands of northern Montana. They valued their claim at $2.50 
per acre for 10 million acres (LIM ca. 1950). It is not clear from the resolution whether it 
was asserting a single claim for 10 million acres in Montana lost by the 1892 agreement, 
or a claim for both 10 million acres'in North Dakota ceded by the] 892 agreement and 
extensive lands in northern Montana held by aboriginal Indian title prior to 1892. 
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In June 1950, Representative Mansfield of Montana introduced a "rehabilitation" bill that 
he said "would put the Indians on a social and economic basis comparable to that enjoyed 
by other citizens of the area in which they live" (Great Falls Tribune 6/1511950). The bill 
was not a recognition bill, but called for compiling a roll of Indians of one-half blood or 
more who would benefit through the fonnation of cooperative associations and be able to 
draw on In'dian Service funding. The Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs opposed the 
legislation, partly on the grounds that the Indians were in large part probably of Canadian 
origin (BIA 6/1511950). A December 16, 1950, meeting at Great Falls of LIM district 
representatives focused on the efforts to get a rehabilitation bill passed in Congress. The 
meeting also included a discussion of the status of the 40-acre Sun River tract near Great 
Falls, which had been purchased by the Government in 1935 for "landless Indians," but 
which Congress had authorized for sale by the Act of August 18, 1950 (LIM 12116/1950~ 
Statutes 1950). An artiCle in the Great Falls newspaper, apparently referring to the same 
meeting despite referring to the group as the "Montana Landless Indians club," reported 
that this meeting at the Smeltennen's union hall had voted to draw up petitions to support 
the rehabilitation legislation (Great Falls Tribune 12/18/1950). The paper reponed that, 
"Delegations from Browning. Chinook. Zortman and Great Falls attended the session." 

At the urging of Albert Gardipee, the LIM meeting in December 1950 also moved to try 
[0 bring a case to court to challenge the rejection of allotments earlier in the century (LIM 
1211611950). The group voted to send for records from Washington, D.C.. and to choose 
an allotment case to litigate (Great Fans Tribune 12/18/1950). District representatives 
who attended were instructed to get in touch with the district representatives not present 
at the meeting and have them send members to the state convention to be present during 
further consideration of this issue. It was decided to set up a fund in each district, with a 
portion sent to the "general office." This funding mechanism would not go into effect 
until the statewide convention could vote on it (LIM 12/1611950). This funding scheme 
was evidently implemented, at least temporarily (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 136, quoting 
Belgarde 1979). 

Much of the conflict between the LIM and the MLI at the beginning of the 1950's 
centered around the perceived need to fonnaJly organize in order to "have a legaJ 
organization" which would represent members of both groups in the planned suit before 
the Indian Claims Commission. The two groups made an apparent attempt at unification 
for the purpose of obtaining a charter as a non-profit organization under state law. At a 
later date, Edward Belgarde, the most prominent leader of the MLI at this time, recalled 
that they had thought that "in order to be recognized" to bring the claim they needed a 
charter (Little Shell Band 3/25/1955a). A meeting of the Landless Indians of Montana in 
February 1951 appeared to bring the two sides together. At this meeting, Belgarde 
acknowledged the underlying conflicts by stating that, "If the group would go on the 
record as being the official organization, they would not have to be concerned about the 
organization pulling apart and forming other groups of the same nature" (LIM 21311951). 

The officers elected at the February 1951 meeting of the Landless Indians of Montana 
were to hold office only until an organization with a charter was approved. That meeting 
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apparently included both Dussome and the rural people associated with him, such as 
George Bremner and Tom Sangray, and the Helena and Great Falls people associated 
with the MLI. At this meeting, Dussome was elected president, while the rest of the 
officers were divided between the two sides (LIM: 2/3/1951). Albert Gardipee of Great 
Falls was elected as vice-president, and Lucy Sharp was elected as secretary and treasurer. 
Gardipee and Sharp had been or were officers in the Lllvl and supporters of Dussome. 
Elected as vice-presidents from the other side were Jack Sangray of Helena and Jerry 
Thumm of Great Falls. 

This meeting also voted to look for funds to file a test case on the denial of Turtle 
Mountain allotments earlier in the century, to continue to work to get a biIl in Congress 
for rehabilitation of the landless Indians, and to see if the landless Indians still could be 
settled on the Sun River tract near Great Falls. Strong emphasis was placed on finding 
means for economic rehabilitation. Mrs. Phillips and the Governor of Montana both 
addressed the convention and gave strong support to the needs of the landless Indians and 
to Montana Indians in general. Two days before the meeting, the state legislature had 
passed a resolution, which had been introduced by Mrs. Phillips, which was similar to the 
resolution approved in 1949 (Montana 1951). 

The contemplated followup meeting was held in April 1951 (Great Falls Tribune 
4/23/1951). It elected officers who were somewhat different from the "temporary" ones 
elected at the February meeting. Dussome was elected president and Jerry Thumm and 
Jack Sangray, both of Great Falls, were elected first and second vice-president. However, 
instead of electing Dussome's allies Sharp and Gardipee, Helen (Mrs. Jerry) Thumm was 
elected secretary and Mrs. Orville Good was elected treasurer. Both were from Great 
Falls and were allied with the MLI. The contemplated charter was adopted, under the 
title of "Montana Landless Indians." Although the meeting was apparently held under th~ 
"Montana Landless Indians" name, the Great Falls Tribune report on the meeting stated 
that the organization had "approximately 6000 members" and was divided into 17 
districts (Great Falls Tribune 4123/1951). This suggests that the meeting was at least 
ostensibly a meeting of the Lllvl. 

In May 1951, a non-profit organization was established under Montana law, its charter 
signed by Joseph Dussome and Helen Thumm, with Jack Sangray, Jerry Thumm, and 
Mrs. Orville Good listed as directors (MU 5/2111951). The charter stated that the 
purpose of establishing the organization was that "the group might be represented as 
claimant before the Indian affairs bureau in Washington." Other stated purposes of the 
corporation were to "organize the Indians and relations of Indians of the Chippewa-Cree 
tribe, formerly of the Pembina Band of the Red River Tribe. the Chief Little Shell Band, 
the Wilkie Band. the Gabriel Azure Band, the Turtle Mountain Band and all other Indians 
residing in the State of Montana who have no prior claims or payments from the 
government of the United States." The charter went on to state that it would "provide an 
organization for all INDIANS not living on an Indian reservation or who are not wards of 
the United States" in Montana and who "have not had any grant of land or otherwise as 
Indians made to them by the United States .... " (MU 5121/1951, emphasis in the 
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original). The charter's description of its membership appeared to identify the group as 
derived from the Pembina Band and Red River people, with diverse if related origins. 
The statement, however, added a clause to include all other landless. non-ward Montana 
Indians within the organization. 

The group's petition to the Indian Claims Commission. as the Little Shell Band, dated 
June 6, 1951, was signed by Dussome and Helen Thumm (LIM 3/2011954). Prior to this 
submission, differences of opinion between the two sides had broken out over the choice 
of an attorney to represent them before the Commission. In March 1951, Helen Thumm 
had written a letter in the name of the MLI seeking an attorney via her contacts in the 
Mine, Mill and Smelterman's union. which had many Indian members in Helena. as well 
as members in Great Falls. Butte. and Anaconda. In April, Thumm arranged for a 
Washington attorney. David Rein, to handle the case. Anticipating conflict. she advised 
Rein that he would get a lener from Dussome stating that he would me a claim for the 
Cree nation (Thumm 1951 ).73 Rein, concerned about getting involved in an internal 
conflict, sought further information. Dussome reacted angrily to Thumm's action. He 
had looked into obtaining an attorney for pursuit of claims as early as 1947, and in 1950 
the LIM already had approved Willis McKeon as its claims attorney (Dussome 4/4/1947; 
BIA 5/28/1947; LIM 5/26/1950, 6/311950). However, Rein became the attorney of record 
for the submission of the petition (LIM 9/25/1955). 

Dussome later asserted that, subsequent to the petition in June 1951, Mrs. Thumm had 
left the LIM. He argued that she and the MLI therefore had no right to take actions in 
connection wi th the Little Shell case, Docket 191, before the Indian Claims Commission 
(LIM 3/2011954). Dussome also rejected both the way the charter had been set up and the 
election results at the meeting in April 1951. He drew up an undated document entitled 
"Minutes Taken from a Fraud Election .... " in which he complained that, without notice, 
the name under the charter had been switched from Landless Indians of Montana to 
Montana Landless Indians (LSTCIM n.d.). It would appear that Dussome initially had 
been willing to, or felt that he needed to, work with the Helena-Great FaIls based group. 
only to withdraw or split off from it within a few months in a contest over who would 
represent the landless Indians before the Indian Claims Commission. 

Dussome may have been trying to overcome opposition to him which may have been 
based upon substantial differences of opinion within the "landless" Indians. One 
individual interviewed, a Doney from the Highline, stated very clearly that at this time the 
families on the Highline had been badly split between Dussome and the MLI. with 
feelings running high (M. Doney 1998). It appears the MLI may have tapped into a vein 
of discontent with Dussome which extended elsewhere in the state. Ed Belgarde. the 
main leader of the MLI in the early 1950's. expressed frustration during a 1979 interview, 
however. at his inability to maintain an initially high level of support for the 

7J Dussome in 1954 denied that he was making such a claim (LIM 3120/1954). Thumm sought by her 
comments to make Dussome's position illegitimate. since the Crees were considered Canadian and thus not 
eligible to file a claim before the Indian Claims Commission. 
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organization's activities, which suggests that it represented a somewhat short-lived 
manifestation of discontent with Dussome's leadership (Belgarde 1979: see also 
Providencia 1979). There is not solid evidence concerning how many people followed 
the Montana Landless Indians in the 1950's. It did not establish a statewide structure 
equivalent to Dussome's organization. The named leaders were, with one exception 
(Thomas Sangray), all from Helena and Great Falls. The opposition to Dussome did not 
entirely follow geographical lines, although a tendency for his opponents to come from 
the Montana cities and the Front Range was evident. 

Expressions of dissatisfaction with Joe Dussome or opposition to him are not uncommon 
in modern interviews with individuals who were active participants in the LIM. Strong 
opinions are evident which call into question his motives and honesty, as well as his 
effectiveness. At least part of the complaints appear to stem from the fact that Dussome 
was never able to accomplish the objective of getting land for the group (see Short 
1998).74 It could not be determined whether the individuals providing these oral histories 
had supported the MLI or simply represented a diversity of opinion within the LIM. 
Former chairman George Plummer, for example, stated that Dussome had "brainwashed 
everybody. Everybody thought he was it" (Plummer 1991). Plummer felt that Dussome 
had mistakenly pushed for money rather than land, with the result that the landless 
Indians gained no permanent rights as Indians: Richard Doney, a highly respected older 
Little Shell Band member, considered that Dussome had made mistakes such as not 
accepting land for the group at Ft. Belknap in the 1930's (R. Doney 1993).75 MLI leader 
Ed Belgarde indicated in a later interview that he had strong doubts about Dussome's 
abilities (Belgarde 1979). 

Albert Gardipee and George St. Clair of the LIM appeared at times to be working against 
Dussome. Gardipee's daughter later stated that her father and Dussome had been very 
close. but that about 1958 they broke up in a bitter fight in which Gardipee accused 
Dussome of keeping money for himself and preventing the claims settlement (Fernandez 
1979). Gardipee. who lived in Great'Falls, was also close to the Thumms, but eventually split with them as well. St. Clair, who was very active in the LIM as district 
representative or officer from the late 1940's until becoming president in 1963 after 
Dussome's death, gave some evidence of sometimes supporting the other side, or at least 
not fully supporting Dussome (Great Falls Tribune 3/2711955). In March 1955. he 
appears to have been part of a committee. together with Thumm and Belgarde, to "take 
action" if the Indian ·Claims Commission rejected the lawyer again (LIM, Mar. 1955). 

At the same time that they expressed discontent with Dussome, however, interviewees 
acknowledged his leadership. George Plummer attested to Dussome's influence, stating 

74 Sister PTOvidencia, who was allied with the Thumrns, suggested that Dussome had other motives than benefitting the group for pushing the purchase of the Phillips ranch (Providencia 1979). 

7' While Doney was incorrect, since the Fort Belknap land was actually voted down in a meeting of 
landless Indians (see above), his disagreement with Dussome and Dussome's effons was clear. 
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that "he [Dussome] had everybody believing and he did organize them" (Plummer 1991). 
Belgarde noted that a lot of people followed Dussome (Belgarde 1979). 

In a 1952 Jetter to Jerry Thumm, Dussome ex pressed his reaction to the April 1951 
election, which had been dominated by members from Helena and Great Falls (Dussome 
2/21/1952). In it, Dussome asserted that the 1951 election was undemocratic because the 
Great FalIs district had a disproportionate weight in the vote. He complained, by 
inference, against Ed Belgarde, who he claimed had never been interested in "our 
organization" or the problems of the landless Indians. Stating that it was the wish of "the 
majority of our District Representatives," he set a statewide convention to be held in Hays 
to conduct· a new election. Hays was the likely center of his supporters and a difficult 
journey from Great Falls in February. The letter was dated February 21, just a few days 
from the planned meeting dates of February 25 and 26, 1952. No minutes are available 

. from this convention, which evidently elected candidates more to Dussome's liking. 

Dussome eventually prevailed with the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) in having his 
group accepted as the representative of the landless Indians and its choice of attorney 
approved. In 1953, Dussome provided a notarized affidavit and other infonnation to the 
Billings Area Office in response to its inquiries concerning the contesting claims to have 
the right to choose the attorney (BIA 4/1611953, in Dussome ca. 1953). Dussome's 
affidavit referenced a February 1953 resolution of the Landless Indians of Montana 1 
Little She)) Band (LIMILSB) to terminate Rein's contract. The resolution had been sent 
to the BIA (LIM 9/25/1955). The area office appeared at that point to have accepted 
Dussome as the legitimate spokesman for the LIMJLSB.76 

The conflict between the two organizations continued to be a focus of the LIM, judging 
by the minutes and correspondence of the organization. The MLI's activities are less well 
known. In 1953, the MLI evidently invited Dussome and his officers to its annual 
convention at which officials were to be elected (Dussome 4/13/1953. in Dussome ca. 
1953). DU'ssome angrily rejected this offer, alleging that the MLI had the previous year 
falsely listed certain of the LlM members as having anended their meeting. He also 
alleged that the previous year the MLI had claimed to have elected Tom Sangray as . 
president in place of himself. In response to this claim, Dussome asserted that the LIM 
was a separate organization and had not been replaced by the MLI, In 1953, Tom 
Sangray of Augusta was president of the MLI, Ed Belgarde of Helena was vice-president, 
and Helen Thumm of Great Falls was secretary (Dussome ca. 1953). 

Dussome also asserted that the MLI was a very small group in 1953. In a letter to the 
director of the Billings Area Office in 1953, Dussome asserted that Belgarde was the only 
MLI member in Helena. Although Dussome stated that he and his district representatives 
had rejected the invitation to attend the 1953 MLI convention, he also said that he had 

76 A contract with Lawrence C. Mills, for prosecution of Docket 191, was not approved until November 
1956 (Garrett 1966), The Acting Commissioner. Banon Greenwood, noted that the contract was in lieu of 
one with David Rein, which the Bureau had earlier rejected (BIA 11115/1956). 
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had his district representative from Great Falls attend. He reported that only nine 
members had been present at that MLI convention (Dussome 6/29/1953). 

The minutes of the 1954 statewide convention of the LIM indicate it was largely taken up 
with discussion of the conflict with the MLI and Dussome's efforts to get the BIA to 
accept the LIM as 'the representative for the claims case (LIM 3/20/1954). Members also 
discussed a process of issuing new membership cards. Dussome was re-elected president. 
The convention voted to endorse the efforts of Mrs. Phillips on their behaJf. She in tum 
urged the meeting attendees to sign up for the "Teepee Club," an organization she 
apparently sponsored and which she stated had been started "some years ago." Nothing 
else is known about this organization. 

In 1955, Sister Providencia arranged for a meeting in Great Falls for the purpose of 
unifying the two groups. She produced a mailing to "Dear Chippewa friends," dated 
March 15, which invited people to a meeting in Great Falls. The letter included a ballot 
to yote on whether or not to change claims attorneys (Providencia 3/1 5/1955). The letter 
included a reference to the need to limit the organization to those "with Turtle Mountain 
family connections," possibly reflecting the idea that some of the landless Indians were 
Crees rather than ChIppewa and as such would not be eligible to share in the claim. 

The Great Falls meeting was preceded by one in Havre, February 26 and 27, 1955, 
chaired by Dussome. Dussome's group had been urged by a Havre attorney working with 
them, Chan Ettien, to get together with the opposition and agree to a set of attorneys in 
order to facilitate prosecution of the claim (Little ShelJ Band ca. 1955). A ballot was 
prepared, to be sent to the district representatives, who were to collect them and mail 
them to Sister Providencia. The ballot called for either keeping or replacing the LIM's 
current Washington attorneys. No information was found to indicate whether the ballots were distributed and, if so, what the results were. 

Providencia made a second "Dear Chippewa Friends" mailing on March 22, 1955 
(Providencia 3/22/(955). Its purpose was to provide a copy of a reply by Dussome to her 
first mailing. She stated that the reason for the mailing was that "it is important to me 
that you should know the views of Mr. Dussome about" the upcoming meeting. In his 
letter. Dussome expressed his gratitude for her work for the Little Shell Band. Dussome 
then characterized the planned meeting as a convention of the MLI and rejected the 
invitation. He followed this by his standard attack on the MLI and the Thumms. asserting 
that the MLI and LIM were two different organizations. He finished with an invitation to 
the MLI members to join the LIM as the way to settle the controversy between the two 
groups. 

The Great Falls meeting. held March 25 and 26th, 1955, was attended on the first day by 
35 people, including Dussome and his sometime allies Albert Gardipee and George S1. 
Clair (Little Shell Band 3/25/1 955b). An additional 23 arrived for the second day of the 
meeting. including Elizabeth Swan, one of Dussome's main lieutenants. People from as 
far away as Wolf Point, Lewistown, and Browning attended, although the largest number 
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were from Great Falls. 

The meeting was a failure, judging by a set of minutes prepared by Dussome (MLI 
3/25/1955). These minutes characterized the meeting as a joint meeting of the MLI and 
the "Landless Indians of Montana, the Little Shell Band," to "prove to members of Little 
Shell Band" who the rightful representatives of the Little Shell band were and also to 
settle the dispute over the choice of attorney. Dussome walked out of the first session but 
returned the foHowing morning and spoke. The minutes prepared by Dussome indicate 
that he recited his standard position that the MU had never worked for the Little Shell 
people, that the 1951 charter belonged to his group, and that the MLI was a "communistic 
organization." The meeting appears to have ended without settling the conflict, rehashing 
but not resolving the arguments over which group the non-profit charter belonged to and 
whose choice of attorney should prevail. 

Elizabeth Swan had written to Sister Providencia a few days before the meeting in 
response to Providencia's first mailing (Swan 1955). Swan's letter thanked Sister 
Providencia for her assistance to "our allied members at Great Falls," a reference to Sister 
Providencia's work on "Hill 57," but asked her forgiveness for the LIM group's refusal to 
attend the upcoming meeting.78 Swan then recited the history of the MLI under Gray in 
the 1930's, charging that Gray had been virulently against the Catholic church (to which 
most of the Metis then belonged) and that the MLI had only tried to disrupt Dussome's 
efforts. 

After 1955, the MLI appears to have become less active, or at least less well documented. 
However, the group held a two-day statewide convention in April 1959 in Great Falls 
(Great Falls Tribune 4/26/1959). The officers then remained the same as earlier in the 
decade, Tom Sangray of Augusta as president, Ed Belgarde as vice-president, and Helen 
Thumm as secretary. The meeting had an active agenda, with resolutions on proposed 
rehabilitation and recognition legislation by Congress, and support of an appointment to 
the state intertribal Indian board. It was addressed by a state representative and an ex,. 
governor. Belgarde in this same period was active as the representative of the Landless 
Indians on the Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board, which was sponsored by the State 
government. He was evidentially influential in this role in getting the Governor's support 
for a rehabilitation program, through the Governor's new advisory council on Indian 
Affairs (Great Falls Tribune 10/17/1951).79 

A March 3, 1955. joint resolution of the Montana House and Senate to the state's 
congressional delegation called for Congress to "resume and initiate an adequate program 
of recognition, education and rehabilitation" for the "descendants of Chief Little Shell's 
Band of Chippewa Indians" (Montana 1955). It stated that this group had become known 

78 This indicates that the LIM evidently had originally planned to boycott the meeting. 

79 There is no indication that Dussome objected to Belgarde's activities with the Board. which extended 
over a period of years. 
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as the "Montana Landless Indians, Inc." and that many lived on the outskirts of Montana 
cities in "many cases under deplorable conditions." 

Another rehabilitation bill was introduced in Congress in 1955 by Representative 
Metcalf. It would not have provided recognition (House 7/1811955). Funding was to be 
provided from the appropriations for "education and welfare services in the Department 
of the Interior and related agencies." The House report on the bill noted that its purpose 
was emergency aid to the Indians of "Hill 57 " in Great Falls because of the exhaustion of 
local resources (House 7/2911955). The Interior Department opposed the bill, arguing it 
would set a bad precedent to provide welfare to non-reservation Indians. was counter to 
termination policies. and would take away from funding for reservation Indians (Interior 
7/2911955). Later in the same year. the Cascade County Community Council wrote to 
Congressman Metcalf describing the needs of the Indians in Great Falls. which included 
recent migrants from the Fort Peck, Rocky Boy's, and Turtle Mountain reservations. It 
also noted the poor conditions in the Indian neighborhoods in Havre and Helena (Cascade 
County Community Council 1955). 

The "Landless Indians of Montana, known as the Little Shell Band of Chippewa" held a 
special meeting in Havre in February 1956. At that meeting, an attorney contract was 
signed with attorney Lawrence Mills (Great Falls Tribune 2/2311956). Members in 
attendance signed either the contract or some form of supporting resolution (Little Shell 
Band ca. 1956). The newspaper account of the meeting reported that Mrs. Phillips 
discussed a rehabilitation program for the Indians and that it "caused considerable 
interest" (Great Falls Tribune 2/2311956). 

The] 957 annual convention of the LlM was held May I ] -12 at Havre. The elections 
were held over until the second day so that more people could arrive. Joe Dussome was 
reelected president, with Elizabeth Swan reelected as secretary. In a three-way race. the 
sitting vice-president, George St. Clair, was defeated by Albert Gardipee, of Great Falls, who was not infrequently at odds with Dussome. St. Clair and Swan were two of 
Dussome's most active supporters in the 1950's and early 1960's. The meeting minutes 
noted that each district was to elect its own representative at a meeting within the district. 
Gardipee's suggestion to reorganize the districts, particularly the Browning District, was 
rejected. Mrs. Phillip's position was again ratified. The progress of the claim in Docket ] 91 and the need for a rehabilitation program were discussed. A committee was 
appointed to look into the status of the land purchase contemplated in the] 930's by the 
Indian Service near Fort Belknap for the landless Indians. 

An article about Dussome and his group's efforts for recognition was published in 1958 
in the state historical journal of Montana. Written by Verne Dusenberry. a Montana 
college professor of English and anthropology, "Waiting for a Day that Never Comes" 
told a story of Dussome, his memories. and the materials he had assembled on the history 
of the 4,000 displaced individuals living in Montana who were the "descendants of the 
Red River Hunters" who had lived in both Canada and the United States. "Perhaps the 
word Metis is the best for them," Dusenberry wrote, for they were "neither Chippewa nor 

-136-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 209 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

Cree nor French, but a mixture of all three" (Dusenberry 1958,26-27).79 These people 
now lived. he said. in Great Falls. Choteau, Augusta, Dupuyer. Havre. Chinook, Malta. 
and Glasgow. After leading organizations for the last thirty years. "Joe Dussome still 
believes," Dusenberry concluded, "that the federal government will eventually provide a 
rehabilitation program for his people; that the Indian claim to the hunting rights of the 
Turtle Mountain area will some day be recognized ... ; and [that] some of the inequities 
of the past will be rectified" (Dusenberry 1958. 38-39). Dusenberry's article was 
reprinted in 1965 as "The Metis of Montana" in an anthology of articles about the Indians 
of the American West, and was reprinted in 1985 as "Waiting for a day that never comes: 
the dispossessed metis of Montana" in an anthology of articles about the Metis of North 
America (Kennedy 1965; Peterson and Brown 1985). 

In 1960, Dussome and the LIM conducted a process of enrollment which was an updating 
of the Roe Cloud Roll. apparently in anticipation of a claims payment. Dussome, who 
evidently had retained a copy of the Roe Cloud Roll and possibly the applications, sent 
letters to district representatives enclosing the names of people from each district that had 
applied for the Roe Cloud Roll (Anonymous 1960). The district representatives were to 
distribute to the members cards Dussome had sent, then gather them and send them to 
Dussome (Sinclair 1960). The new enrollment was to include those born after the 
"original roll," apparently referring to the Roe Cloud Roll (Anonymous 1960). 

Dussome's instructions stated, in apparent reference to the Roe Cloud applications. that 
"We have already proved we are Indians, but now we must prove that we are not [sic] 
descendants of the original Pembina band whose ancestors were from the Red River 
valley in North Dakota" (Anonymous 1960). Dussome asserted that "many if not all of 
the present generation of descendants of the Pembina band" could prove that they were so 
descended, by tracing from the 1863 treaty.so He advised that those who had blood 
relations enrolled in the Turtle Mountain Band of North Dakota should use this as 
evidence. He made no reference to Chief Little Shell. 

The 1961 statewide convention was held September 2-3 at Lewistown (Lll\1 9/211961). 
Among the items discussed was a resolution the group had sent to Senator Metcalf in 
1960 attempting to have the Roe Cloud Roll recognized as the official roll of the Little 
Shell Band for purposes of presentation to the Indian Claims Commission. The request 
had been made to the Indian Service in response to advice from the group's claims 
attorney to prepare a tribal roll. At the convention, a somewhat angry discussion 
followed a reading of the Commissioner of Indian Affair's response to this request. The 
Commissioner stated correctly that the request was premature and that the roll to be used 
would not be determined until after the Indian Claims Commission had made its award. 

19 Dusenberry made statements about the group's history, but, since he had not done any archival 
research. many of his specific comments about the history of the Turtle Mountain reservation, the 
agreement of 1892. and the ratification of that agreement were inaccurate. 

1\0 The "not" in the previous sentence appears, in context, to be in error. 
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The response was seen by those at the meeting as a denial of a tribe's right to conduct its 
own enrollment. It was noted that the minutes needed to reflect the infonnation received 
from the Commissioner, so that the members in the districts who could not attend would 
have a better understanding of Commissioner's position. The Indian Claims Commission 
made a preliminary award in Dockets 18-A; 113, and 191, for the 1863 treaty award on 
October 5, 1961. The amount of the award was amended by the Commission in 1964 
(Ind.CI.Comm 1964; LSTCIM 6/17/1982). 

The convention nominated Dussome, Mrs. Phillips, Albert Gardipee, and Gabe Gardipee 
as delegates to testify at an Indian Claims Commission hearing scheduled for February 
1962. Communication with a Mr. LaFountain of the Turtle Mountain Band concerning 
that group's claim before the Indian Claims Commission was discussed, as was the 
disposition of Docket 191 in relation to the other Pembina claims dockets. Earlier in the 
year, a delegation from Turtle Mountain had come over to Montana to meet with the 
Little Shell Band concerning coordination of claims (LIM 9/211961). 

Another issue raised at some length at the 1961 convention was discrimination. Dussome declared that "we would not have so many complaints of discrimination ... which our 
ancestors were subject to and which still goes on, if the State and Federal laws were put 
into practice." George St. Clair then noted that he had been fined for killing a deer, 
which he explained he had done because he was trying to avoid getting further into debt. 
He reported that at the hearing after his arrest he had cited to no avail an 1855 treaty and 
was convicted of violating state law. St. Clair also described difficulties obtaining 
surplus commodities through the Blaine County Welfare Board for members in his 
district. Members present were asked to fill out a description of discrimination for 
inclusion in the minutes and forwarding to the Secretary of the Interior. A resolution on 
the subject of discrimination was passed. However, rather than addressing individual 
instances of discrimination by non-Indians in work, or school, or the like, it repeated the 
LIM claims over the preceding two decades concerning the lack of a treaty, the denial of 
allotments, and the resulting lack of services comparable to other Indians (LIM 91211961). 

At a January 20, 1962. meeting in Chinook, 43 members signed a resolution concerning 
the "Ten-Cent Treaty," the group's name for the 1892 McCumber Agreement which was 
ratified in 1905 (LIM 112011962). Appended to the minutes was a handwritten note by 
Dussome entitled "Notice," directed "to all members of the Little Shell Band of 
Chippewa Indians and District Representatives." The staled purpose was to discuss the 
upcoming February hearing in Washington. D.C., before the Indian Claims Commission, 
and to get ready for their testimony. The notice went on to say, "following the meeting 
there will be a box social. All ladies please bring your baskets." Most of the meeting, 
judging by the minutes, was a discussion of the claim and how the members could trace 
their ancestry. George St. Clair reported that a lot of "my people in the Chinook area do 
not have any faith in the fact that we will get our treaty money." Reorganization of the 
districts was discussed. the feeling being expressed that "people are not as organized as 
they were." A motion was passed to send Dussome to the districts to discuss it. 
Expenses for Dussome's trips, and for a typewriter, were to be paid by the districts. 
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Available minutes and other records show meetings of the LIM as occurring consistently 
from 1949 through 1962 (Campisi and Starna 1987b). For most years there was a record 
of an annual "convention" and a record of the attendance of district representatives. 
Attendance lists of members generally were not available for this period of time. 

Political Influence and Actions, 1963 ·1993 

Joe Dussome died in 1963 of tuberculosis. George St. Clair of Chinook, the first vice­
president, became president. At a November 1963 meeting, which may have been the 
first after Joe Dussome's death, S1. Clair was elected president for a one-year term. His 
election came after his having noted that some objections had been voiced to his 
succeeding to the positi"on (LIM 10/30/1963). St. Clair remained president until April 
1976. 

The November 1963 meeting in part concerned the payment of funeral expenses for 
Dussome, to which the Chinook district evidently contributed substantially. The minutes 
of the meeting mostly concerned infonnation given by claims attorney Mills, who was 
present, about the status of the claim before the Indian Claims Commission. Mills 
cautioned the group to "not let anyone try to disunite" them, a reference to the Montana 
Landless Indians. A total of 68 people attended the meeting, all from the Highline towns 
or Lewistown. The minutes noted that, "Everybody brought to attention the fact that we 
should give more notice for the meeting." A collection of $114 for Mills' fare was made. 
There were forty contributors plus Mrs. Phillips and "the Chinook Treasury." 

Records of LIM meetings are limited for the years 1964 to 1969. No surviving minutes 
were found for 1964 and 1965, but several meetings a year were recorded for 1966-1967, 
one meeting in 1968, and several in 1969. Records of elections were generally sketchy. 
Two interview sources suggested that in the 1960's, and the 1970's up to 1976, elections 
were sometimes not held, but that instead the existing officers were kept on (Van Gunten 
1998; Sinclair 1979). 

St. Clair noted at a January 1966 meeting that there was talk that he should be replaced, 
but the meeting voted to keep him (L1M 1/9/1966). His status was also challenged 
unsuccessfully in 1969 at a district meeting (L1M 111611969). In neither case did the 
minutes record who opposed him. The 1968 "eJection" was simply a motion to retain the 
present officers (LIM 10/511968). 

In 1964, Congress appropriated funds for the 1863 treaty award made by the Indian 
Claims Commission in 1961. The Bureau of Indian Affairs then began working on 
developing a plan for distribution of the award (Garrett 1966). This work continued until 
1971, when the legislation establishing that plan was enacted. At LIM meetings in the 
mid-1960's the award based on the 1863 treaty was discussed, with interest expressed 
about how the money would be distributed and about the necessity of developing family 
trees in order for a distribution to be made. Chairman St. Clair exchanged 
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correspondence with the claims attorneys in Chicago during this time (Garrett 1966). At 
a November 1969 district meeting, it was proposed from the floor that the claims money 
be used for purchasing land (LIM 1111/1969). 

St. Clair at a November 15, 1966, meeting declared that before each general meeting each 
district should meet and decide on the questions they wanted to discuss with the chairman 
and business committee. St. Clair also wanted each district to appoint a fund-raising 
committee to raise funds in their district for the claims work (LIM 10/1511 966). 

The issue of the lack of Federal services was raised by members in at least one meeting in 
1969 (LIM 1/1111969). Chairman St. Clair made a request that year to the Indian Health 
Service for services for the group's members, but was rejected (Morris and Van Gunten 
1984, 156; SI. Clair 1969). In 1969, apparently at the behest of the group, the chairman 
of the Blaine County Board of Commissioners wrote to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs on behalf of the Landless Indians of Montana (Stephens 1969). 

In the late 1960's, apparently as a result of the preparations for the payment of the 1863 
treaty award, the Tunle Mountain Band and the BlA began an "update" of the Tunle 
Mountain roll (BIA 4/111965).81 Thousands of individuals were added to the Turtle 
Mountain rolls. It was noted in the LIM minutes of January 1, 1966, that a letter was sent 
to Hays "asking if anyone wanted to enroll at Turtle Mountain Reservation" (LIM 
1/1/1966). The letter stated. according to the minutes, that it did not mean the enrollee 
would receive any benefits. The minutes noted that some of the members did write and 
ask to be enrolled there.82 

The Montana Landless Indians organization was active between 1963 and 1969, "bucking 
us every chance they get" according to Landless Indians of Montana president St. Clair 
(LIM 1/9/1966). The Montana Landless Indians treated the Indian Claims Commission 
claim as theirs (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 145). At the 1963 meeting after Dussome's 
death, the Little Shell claims attorney Mills had emphasized the imponance of not 
becoming "disunited" or associating with a group with unsavory political connections. 
This was a reprise of earlier Landless Indians of Montana charges against the Montana 
Landless Indians (LIM 11/30/1963), Chairman St. Clair in 1966 stated that he felt that 
some of the Landless Indians of Montana district representatives were passing claims 
attorney correspondence that he had forwarded to them to the Montana Landless Indians 
(LIM, July 1966). 

MU meetings in the this period were essentially limited to people from Helena, with a 
few from Great Falls (MU 4/2211966). There was no evidence in the limited available 
documents or interviews that it had a substantial following outside of Helena and Great 

81 This updating was done under the authority of the act of May 24, 1940 (Statutes 1940). 

M1 Information was not developed for this repon concerning how many applied and how many were accepted. 
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Falls in the 1960's (Fernandez 1979). 

The Montana Landless Indians apparently sought to have the two organizations join 
together. In January 1969, the Landless Indians of Montana voted to send a 
representative to a Montana Landless Indians meeting in Helena and proposed a statewide 
meeting together with them in April 1970 (LIM: 1116/1969). There was no evidence 
found to show that this meeting ever occurred. In 1971, Ed Belgarde and Robert Gopher 
were invited to a Landless Indians of Montana meeting but failed to respond (Little Shell 
Band 3/1311971). The Montana Landless Indians were mentioned again in 1972, when 
Gopher, now identified as one of the group's leaders, attended a Little Shell Band meeting 
(LIM: 1115/1972).83 The minutes included an opinion that the attendance of Gopher and 
Belgarde was seen as a positive step. This was the last mention found in the available 
documentary record of the Montana Landless Indians. 

Only a few Landless Indians of Montana 1 Little Shell Band minutes are available from 
1970 to 1973, and none from 1974. There was no indication whether this reflected a lack 
of meetings or a lack of documentation. Minutes for two meetings exist for 1975, and 
from 1976 through 1979 there are records of at least four quarterly and other meetings a 
year (Campisi and Stama 1987b). 

At a March 1970 meeting it was proposed that the landless Indians unite and form a 
single group, and that they spend the claims money as a group for education grants and 
services (LIM 3nI1970). The group was also concerned with updating the enrollment to 
include people who had been missed. 

In 1971, Congress passed an act establishing how the 1863 treaty award was to be paid 
out. The act provided for funds to be paid to the recognized Turtle Mountain Band, 
Rocky Boy's Band, and Minnesota Chippewa tribes, and for individual payments to other 
descendants of the Pembina Band (Statutes 1971). Later in 1971, Chainnan St. Clair 
requested that the BIA provide the Little Shell Band with $7,000 of the claims money 
awarded for the 1863 treaty to be used for "programming purposes," that is, for 
developing programs for the group such as education and strengthening government. The 
request was rejected because the band was not a recipient, as a group, under the 1971 act 
(Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 156; BIA 5/2711969, ca. 1971). Little Shell members 
could only be paid as individual descendants. 

A vailable evidence indicates that the Little Shell Band leadership in the early 1970's 
continued to attempt to obtain or improve BIA and IHS services for its members. The 
Bureau of Indian Affairs in 1970 began to provide some limited services to individual 
Little Shell Band members on the basis of blood degree (BIA 5/4/1970, 612111971) (see 

81 The Gophers were identified in a 1954 study of "Hill 57" (see above) as descendants of a Chippewa 
band from the Great Lakes, unrelated to the Little Shell families (Providencia, July 1955). Their inclusion 
at this point as pan of the Montana Landless Indians suggests that the MLI may have lost broad support, 
and drawn in some non-Metis urban families instead. 
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below). Part of the exchange between the Little Shell Band and the BIA in this period 
concerned what the value of the Roe Cloud Roll was in establishing the necessary blood 
degree to be eligible for services (BlA 9/1311967). Little Shell members also received 
some services from the Indian Health Service beginning in the 1970's (see below). 

In 1970, Chainnan George St. Clair wrote to Montana Senator Metcalf, stating that the 
group sought to incorporate under sections of the Indian Reorganization Act which 
provide for incorporating Indian tribes (St. Clair and Marble 1970). St. Clair asked the 
Senator's help in presenting the request to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Acting 
Associate Commissioner William Benham responded that because the group was not 
recognized and did not have a reservation, it could not incorporate under the IRA (BlA 
4/2311970). The letter noted that the descendants of Chief Little Shell's band were found 
in the Landless Indians of Montana as well as the Turtle Mountain Band and various 
Mont,ma tribes. 

Two bills to benefit the Little Shell Band were introduced in the U.S; Senate in 1971. 
The first bill introduced. S. 287, would have designated the group as the Little Shell 
Band, but explicitly stated the act would not provide recognized status (Senate 
1126/1971). S. 522. introduced later. would have recognized the Little Shell Band and 
allowed it to organize under the IRA (Senate 2/2/1971). There was no information 
available concerning how these bills. introduced by Senators Mansfield and Metcalf of 
Montana. came to be developed. The Department of the Interior opposed S. 287, in part 
on the grounds that these Indians were largely "alien" Indians deriving from Canada and 
that "there is among the group no common bond of ancestry entitling them to recognition 
as an Indian tribe or band" (BIA 6/2111971). 

The Little Shell Band organization was active in 1971 and 1972 with the on-going 
process of individual applications for the 1863 Pembina treaty award, under 1971 
legislation implementing distribution of the award (Great Falls Tribune 21111972). The 
Little Shell Band requested that the deadline for applying be extended (Great Falls 
Tribune 113011972). 

John "Bud" Sinclair, George St. Clair's son, and first vice-president, expressed concern in 
1973 with the state of the group's organization. He asked at a meeting that they "organize 
our people in the different towns, and also to take an enrollment of all and elect 
representatives" (LIM 211711973). At the same meeting the articles of incorporation were 
reviewed, although no changes were made. 

Up until the 1970's the name Landless Indians of Montana tended to appear either alone 
or. often, together with "the Little Shell Band." After the reorganization and 
revitalization of the organization which began in 1976. the "Little Shell" name came to be 
used almost exclusively. 

The 1976 and 1977 elections brought in a number of new figures who would play leading 
roles in changes in the Little Shell Band's activities in the following years. George St. 
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Clair was replaced as chainnan by John Contway in 1977. Contway was in tum replaced 
by George Plummer in 1978 (LSTCIM 1984. appendix F). A list of representatives and 
alternates in 1976 included Donald Bishop, Howard Paul and James Parker Shield. each 
of whom later became chairman (Campisi and Stama 1987c). Additional new faces 
among the area representatives in 1977 included Steve Doney and Robert Van Gunten. 
who continued to play important roles. In 1978, Shield was elected first vice-chairman 
and Donald Bishop was elected second vice-chairman (LSTCIM 1984. appendix F). 

The lists of area representatives for 1976 and 1977 were approximately twice as large as 
any previous lists (Campisi and Stama 1987c). They included for the first time alternates 
and. in some instances. more than one representative from a given location. The changes 
marked a shift to a less formalized system of districts. The area representatives and 
alternates in 1976 included. apparently for the first time, representatives for Butte 
(Howard Paul and a second person). Anaconda. BiiIings. and Lame Deer. as well as from 
western Montana locations such as St. Ignatius. Lolo, and Libby. Also elected for the 
first time in a number of years were representatives from Great Falls, including Shield. In 
1977 there were area representatives from two additional areas, Helena and Missoula. 

The petitioner adopted a "Constitution and By-Laws of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa 
Indians of Montana" on September 10. 1977 (LSTCIM 9/10/1977). According to later 
recollections, the group had decided at a meeting in Lewistown earlier in 1977 that the 
area representatives would take a proposed constitution "back to their districts and collect 
votes for adoption from the people" (LSTCIM 3nIl987a). This constitution adopted in 
1977 is currently being used by the petitioner. although the group temporarily adopted at 
least one other constitution after 1977. Article I of the 1977 constitution defined the 
governing body of the group as the Executive Board, which consisted of a president. vice­
president, second vice-president, secretary-treasurer, and area council members. 
Article V defined the group's membership criteria. Those eligible for membership would 
be Indians of Pembina ancestry and one-quaner degree Indian blood. provided that they 
had never received an allotmeht of land. All children born to members who possessed 
one-quarter degree of Indian blood were entitled to membership (LSTCIM 9/1011977) 

Interest and activity turned in 1977 towards seeking Federal recognition. James Zion, 
from Helena, became the Little Shell Band attorney in that year. Zion submitted 
comments to the Bureau of Indian Affairs in 1977 on the draft acknowledgment 
regulations published that year (Zion 1977). An initial letter petitioning for recognition 
was received by the BIA on April 28. 1978. accompanied by a resolution from the 
Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board in support of the petition (Plummer 1978; MITPB 
1978). It was announced in November 1978 that Zion, together with a Native American 
Rights Fund (NARF) attorney, would be preparing the petition for acknowledgment (New 
Nation 1978a). 

Committees concerned with a variety of subjects were established by the LIM for the first 
time in 1977. Committees were established to deal with recognition and tribal history, as 
well as education and health (Campisi and Stama 1987c). A newsletter, the "New 
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Nation" was initiated in 1978. The tribal history committee, led by Robert Van Gunten, 
applied to several sources for grants for oral history, and obtained funding from the 
National Indian Lutheran Board and Montana State University (Van Gunten 1998; New 
Nation 1978b). An anthropologist at Montana State University, C. Patrick. Morris, agreed 
to help prepare a petition. . 

Little Shell Band meetings in the late 1970's continued to be concerned with eligibility for 
services and the process of enrollment for membership, as they had been earlier in the 
decade (LIM 3/1211977). A new process of tribal enrollment was begun in 1976 or 1977. 
It was reported in November 1978 that 2,000 members had become enrolled (New Nation 
1978c). According to interviews, the enrollment was begun by James Park.er Shield as a 
localized effort in Great Falls (Shield 1998), but later expanded to include the entire 
group. The Little Shell Band's newsletter in 1978 indicated that donations were often 
included with applications for enrollment (New Nation 1978c). 

The new leaders initiated an annual gathering in 1978 called Pembina Days, later 
renamed Joe Dussome Day (Great Falls Tribune 7/1/1978; Van Gunten 1998). The event 
was intended to replace the two-day long annual statewide convention. Although annual 
meetings had continued, at least in most years, for a decade or more these had not been 
the old-style two-day social gatherings. One of the initiators of Pembina Days described 
it as a way to increase contact among members and as a response to the desire of younger 
members to learn more about their heritage (Van Gunten 1998). It was reported that more 
than 100 people attended the first gathering, held at Zortman, which included a "feed," 
fiddling, and an open council meeting (Great Falls Tribune 711/1978).84 

Conflict arose over the December 1978 elections. Chairman George Plummer had issued 
a notice canceling the December meeting because of poor traveling conditions, and 
postponing it until March 10, 1979. Notwithstanding his notice, an election meeting was 
held December 9, 1978, at Great Falls. The chairman and some of the councilmen were 
absent, although a quorum of officers including first vice-president John Sinclair was 
present. Those at the meeting discussed whether the scheduled elections could take place 
in the absence of the chairman and without some of the area representatives having been 
"able to have meetings in their areas" in advance of the election (LSTCIM 12/911978). It 
was concluded that elections could go forward. John Sinclair was elected chainnan, with 
Jerry Azure being elected first vice-president, Dempsey Azure second vice-president and 
Shirley Gardipee secretary-treasurer. 

In response to the December meeting, Plummer issued a bulletin to the membership dated 
January 5, 1979, stating that he had received protests "concerning the illegal meeting" of 
December 9 (Plummer 1979). Plummer stated that he had consulted with attorneys and 
asserted that the December meeting was only an area meeting. Therefore, he concluded, 
the elections, and any other tribal business conducted at the meeting, were "not binding." 

84 The available evidence indicates this event. which has been held regularly since about 1990, was not 
held between approximately 1980 and 1989 (see below). 

-144-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 217 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

Plummer called it a meeting of a few "self-serving members" and decried the dissension 
"just when the tribe was moving forward." He asked area representatives to hold 
meetings in their areas for the purpose of selecting candidates "whom their area 
supports," and to discuss grievances to bring before the executive committee. It appears 
that charges and countercharges had been exchanged, and issues raised about 
reorganization and amending the bylaws. The specifics of these charges and issues were 
not specified in the available documentation. 

It is not entirely clear who all of the contending parties were in this conflict. One source 
suggested that the dispute was partly geographical, likening it to later conflicts in which 
local area constituencies appear to have been involved (Swanson 1998). Campisi and 
Starna state that the December meeting was overturned by the "executive committee" in 
March, but no documentation Was found of such a meeting (Campisi and Stama 1987a, 
32). 

In 1980, a local office opened in Great Falls for the stated purpose of supporting "tribal 
business for the Great Falls area" (New Nation 1980). The office resulted from the efforts 
of James Parker Shield, who described himself as the "area president" for Great Falls. 
Shield in a later interview stated that there was a large, active group of individuals in the 
Great Falls area at the time (Shield 1998). The Great Falls office was to have a full time 
staff and was to support the Little Shell enrollment and Federal recognition efforts. It was 
decided at a March 1980 meeting of the Little Shell Band that the enrollment files were to 
be located at Great Falls (LSTCIM 3/8/1980). It was also decided that the tribal council 
would review each application, apparently an assertion that the enrollment efforts would 
be controlled by the overall organization and not by the very active group at Great Falls. 

Records of most of the regular quarterly meetings for the years between 1981 and .1986 
were available for this report (Campisi and Starna 1987b). There were also scattered 
records of area meetings and special meetings for these same years. The activities of the 
Little Shell band for these years can be (raced in these documents. 

After an election in J artuary 1981, none of the four officers were from either the Front 
Range or the Highline (LSTCIM: 1/31/1981). The chainnan, Jerry Azure, was from St. 
Ignatius, in western Montana. Three were from urban areas. James Parker Shield, 
elected secretary-treasurer, was from Great Falls, Ralph Doney, elected second vice­
chairman, was from Missoula, and John Sinclair, elected first vice-chainnan, was from 
Helena. 

By March, Shield had been removed from office by vote of the council. Shield's actions 
after he was elected antagonized both officers and members. At a special meeting, 
chairman Azure stated that he had received a number of complaints "about the secretary 
not doing his job and neglect of his office duties." He stated funher tha[, "He [Shield) 
has not perfonned his duties since being elected into the office" (LSTCIM 3/21/1981). 
Present-day interviews describe Shield at this time as acting without consulting tribal 
members and officers, and asserting powers that the council and members considered that 
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his office did not give him (FD 1998). The interviews characterize his behavior as 
similar to actions in 1997 which also led to his removal from office (see below). One 
interviewee suggested that geographical conflicts were also involved, with the strong 
organization developed by Shield in Great Falls at this time bringing a negative reaction 
from elsewhere (Swanson 1998). The office in Great Falls was closed some months after 
the removal of Shield (Shield 1998). 

Discussions which had been going on for several years concerning modifying the Little 
Shell constitution led to ratification of a new constitution and bylaws on May 16, 1981 
(LSTCIM 911 011977, encl.: R. Doney 1011811981). This change was made at least partly 
at the urging of attorney Zion who, however, had resigned in February 1981. Zion had 
been urging the Little Shell to reorganize since at least a March 1980 meeting. The 
language in Section I of the 1981 constitution limited membership to persons of at least 
one-quarter "Pembina Chippewa Blood," which was also called "Chippewa-Cree Blood 
derived from Pembina ancestry." 

Ralph Doney became chainnan after the death of Jerry Azure in September 1981 (R. 
Doney 9/2911981: LSTCIM minutes 9/i 211981). Doney in October 1981 noted that the 
Little Shell were seeking funding to establish a central office in Missoula. The chairman 
commented that "all present funding is by membership donations, consequently it is 
.taking a great deal of time to accomplish our goals" CR. Doney 10/1811981). 

Don Bishop, the Little Shell Band's delegate to the Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board, 
was elected Board chairman in 198]. Bishop previously had held the office of secretary­
treasurer of the Board (MITPB 198], 6). 

A major activity by the council in 1982 was the pending legislation for the distribution of 
the Indian Claims Commission award for the territory ceded by the Turtle Mountain Band 
by the provisions of the 1892 agreement, which the council referred to as the "Ten-Cent 
Treaty." The membership discussed the issue at several meetings during the year and 
voted on May 8, 1982, to oppose the draft bill's requirement that applicants would have to 
have at least one-quarter degree Pembina Chippewa Indian blood to be eligible for the 
payment (LSTCIM 5/8/1982). They also voted 35 to 2 to request that the bill treat the 
Little Shell portion of the fund in the same manner as the funds for the recognized tribes, 
by setting aside 20 percent for tribal use for programs for the membership. The Little 
Shell Band statement to the Senate Indian Affairs Committee at the June 17, 1982, 
hearing declared that, "We are not asking for a reservation, as our people have not had 
one all of these years and we can see what reservation life can do to its Indian members." 
It stated further that the Little Shell Band sought "with our portion of the settlement to 
provide for our children" the education and medical benefits to which other tribes had 
been entitled (LSTCIM 6/] 711982). The act as passed on December 31, 1982, included 
the requested provision to set aside 20 percent of the share of the Little Shell members for 
tribal use, but retained the blood degree requirement to which the Little Shell Band had 
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objected (Statutes 1982).85 

The Little Shell Band submitted a partially documented petition for acknowledgment on 
December 15, 1982 (LSTCIM 1982). In response to the BIA's technical assistance review 
letter of January 27, 1983 (BLA 1/27/1983), the Little Shell Band completed a revised 
documented petition which was submitted September 22, 1984 (LSTCIM 1984, petition). 

Much of the business of council and quarterly membership meetings in 1983 concerned 
the tribal enrollment and the enrollment for the claims judgment award. A motion was 
passed in March to limit the blood degree requirement for membership in the Little Shell 
Band to not less than one-eighth (LSTCIM 311211983). It was noted at the March 
meeting that the tribal enrollment had been closed as of July I. 1982. "to show ·the BLA 
... we are a tribe." However, a vote at the meeting on September 10, 1983, reopened the 
enrollment until December 31, 1983 (LSTCIM 9/10/1983). 

The enrollment office was moved from Helena to Havre in late 1983, in part because of 
membership complaints about how enrollment was being handled (LSTCIM 10/811983). 
At the same time, Edna Teske, mother of councilwoman Deborah Swanson, became the 
enrollment chainnan. At the November 8, 1983, meeting. there were indications of 
continued "assertiveness" on the part of Great Falls members, with complaints about 
enrollment problems and demands that the enrollment committee include members from 
Butte, Great Falls, and Helena. 

The enrollment complaints from the urban areas were led by Donald Bishop, a member 
from Billings. At the November meeting, Bishop had opposed the moving of the 
enrollment office to Havre. Bishop was made enrollment coordinator at that meeting, 
apparently as a peace gesture. He urged that efforts be made to maximize the 
participation of members from Great Falls at an upcoming meeting in Helena (LSTCIM 
10/8/1983). 

Bishop had attacked chainnan Ralph Doney in September 1983, with a memorandum to 
Little Shell members (Bishop 1983a). He complained that Doney had failed to fully 
record meeting minutes and to file them with the Billings Area Office of the BLA, as 
required by the constitution. Bishop took particular issue with the validity of the 1981 
constitution, holding that its adoption by a vote of only 39 members was undemocratic. 

Bishop's memorandum indicates that he had recently been under attack for supporting the 
appointment of James Parker Shield as State Coordinator of Indian Affairs (Bishop 
1983a). Bishop evidently had written a letter to the Great Falls newspaper in support of 
Shield's appointment. This action drew a letter in reply from Chairman Ralph Doney, 
who apparently accused Bishop of illegally acting in the Little Shell Band's name. Bishop 
rebutted this, declaring that his statements to the press had indicated that his support was 

M~ This 20 percent continues to be held, pending an acknowledgment determination. The act provides for 
a per capita distribUlion of these funds if the Little Shell are denied acknowledgment. 
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as an individual. At the same time. he chided Doney to put aside "personality 
differences" with Shield. noting the advantage to the Little Shell Band of having Shield 
be State Indian Coordinator. Bishop also made reference to a "personality problem" 
between tribal member Shield and the council. Bishop stated that he had received council 
permission to approach Shield in the latter's· capacity as State Coordinator of Indian 
Affairs on behalf of the tribe. but then had received little support when he did so. 

Bishop issued a second attack in December. criticizing statements by councilman George 
Plummer that the recognition petition was in great shape (Bishop 1983b). Bishop stated 
that. contrary to reports that "the petition has had nothing but glowing remarks from the 
Review Committee." a review of the petition by Dr. Frank Porter of the American Indian 
Research and Resource Institute found that the petition document "failed to answer six of 
seven criteria."s6 Bishop again raised the issue of the 1981 constitution, noting that it 
lacked criteria for enrollment. among a variety of other complaints. He also called for a 
petition to re-call the officers. saying it was "up to the people of the tribe to decide if 
further action is to be taken" (Bishop 1983b). 

There was no information available concerning what the membership's reaction was to 
Bishop's attacks. but Chairman Doney resigned soon afterwards. His position was 
initially filled by Vice-chairman Howard Paul. Bishop was elected chairman on June 23. 1984 (LSTCIM 6/2311984; Great Falls Tribune 7/25/1984). 

Earlier, on May 26. 1984. the council had concluded that the 1981 constitution was not 
valid and had passed a resolution to reaffinn the 1977 constitution as the group's 
governing document (LSTCIM 5/26/1984. 9/14/1985). The council had been advised on 
this issue by Kathy Fleury, a Little Shell member and an attorney. At that meeting, 
questions were raised about Little Shell Band election procedures, and a committee 
headed by Fleury was appointed to study the issue. It was also voted at this meeting to 
forbid dual enrollment with other tribes and to use the Roe Cloud Roll as the base roll. 

Work on the petition continued and was one of the main topics of discussion at meetings 
in 1985. A detailed technical assistance letter reviewing the documented Little Shell 
petition was sent to the group by the BIA in April 1985 (BIA 4/8/1985). The BIA asked 
the petitioner to provide an explanation of its membership requirements. The petitioner 
then passed a resolution on September 14. 1985, to rescind the language in the resolution 
adopted in 1984 that had limited membership to persons of "at least one-quarter Pembina 
Chippewa blood," and to reaffirm that Article V of the 1977 constitution defined who 
was eligible for membership (LSTCIM 9114/1985). New petition researchers -- Jack 
Campisi, William Stama, and Fred Nicklason -- were obtained through the Native 
American Rights Fund. Campisi and Stama conducted research in late 1985 and 1986, 
with additional interviewing between 1989 and 1991 (Campisi and Stama 1987a, i). 

In an indication that the conflicts over geographical representation of the preceding two 

~o Porter's review was not available for review for this report. 
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years continued, Chairman Bishop at the September 1985 meeting in Great Falls 
apologized to the Great Falls members. He stated that the "council is now traveling 
throughout the state to let people know what is going on with Federal recognition" 
(LSTCIM 9/14/1985). In September 1985 the Little Shell Band enrollment stood at 3,300 
(LSTCIM 9/14/1985). 

Available records of meetings in 1986 and 1987 showed Federal recognition efforts as a 
major concern. Efforts also were made to get state recognition (LSTCIM 9/2011986). In 
response to questions raised by the BlA in its technical assistance letter, a special meeting 
in March 1987 reaffirmed the use of the 1977 constitution (LSTClM 3nIl987a). There 
continued to be questions raised by members at meetings concerning enrollment in the 
Little Shell Band and the status of enrollment with the Bureau for the Indian Claims 
Commission judgment award. Work on the latter was being carried out by the Turtle 
Mountain Agency (LSTCIM 4/26/1986). The Little Shell Band continued to accept 
applications for enrollment but did not act on them, holding them until the rolls were 
reopened. 

At a September 20, 1986, area meeting, questions continued to be raised about the need to 
rotate meetings among the districts to get information out to people. Councilman 
McGi11is explained that the idea of holding the meetings in different locations "has been 
to get this information to the people." The council was also concerned with aspects of the 
election process, and apparently discussed the use of "proxy," or absentee, ballots. The 
council also instructed council members to develop nominations in their areas for the four 
open council seats. 

Minutes of a special meeting held in Havre on March 7, 1987, provided evidence that the 
council discussed at length interpretations of the membership requirements in the 1977 
constitution. Copies of the 1977 constitution and of the 1985 resolution which had 
"construed and interpreted" the provisions of each section of Article V of the constitution 
were distributed to the council members for review and discussion. The resulting 
Resolution 87-1 reaffirmed the 1977 constitution as the organization's governing 
document. The 1987 resolution also provided a detailed interpretation of the meaning of 
the language in the membership criteria in Article V of the 1977 constitution (LSTCIM 
3n/1987b). 

Several times in 1989 and 1990 problems of eligibility for Indian Health Service (lliS) 
services were raised with the council by members. Complaints were voiced that members 
were facing restrictions at the clinics operated at the Fort Belknap Reservation (LSTCIM 
5/13/1989) (see separate analysis of eligibil.ity for lliS and BlA services, below). 

A pennanent office for the Little Shell Band was opened in 1989 in Havre (Havre Daily 
News 5/1111989). The scheduled elections of officers in 1990 and 1992 were not held. 
Instead, at the annual meeting held July 14, 1990, in Havre, the 26 members in attendance 
voted unanimously to retain the present council in office until the next scheduled election, 
in 1992 (LSTClM 7/14/1990). Two years later, at a July 18, 1992, quarterly meeting, the 
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membership voted again to retain the council members and officers for another term 
rather than hold an election. The vote was 14 to O. Bypassing the election meant that the 
council elected in 1988 would serve through 1994, and the officers would serve through 
1996. No reason was given at either meeting for the deviation in practice. These votes, 
to effectively bypass the election process, became a major political issue by 1994 (see 
below). 

FunCTioning of the Little Shell Organization 

The membership of the Landless Indians of Montana (Little Shell) was drawn from a 
number of widely separated settlements. The organization as set up by Joe Dussome in 
the 1930's had several mechanisms intended to deal with the size and dispersion of the 
membership. In the mid-1930's, Dussome's followers appear to have been dispersed 
within north-central Montana, but this geographical dispersion became greater after the 
vir1ual disappearance of the rival Montana Landless Indians in the mid-1950's. The 
available oral histories provide only a limited number of descriptions which could be 
dated as specifically referring to the organization's activities between 1936 and 1941. 
Documentation referring to these mechanisms is also limited for this time period. 
Interview and documentary sources which relate to the period between 1949 and 1963 are 
more numerous and more detailed. The description below pertains to this latter period 
except where otherwise noted. 

The organization had "district" or "area" representatives from particular localities, in 
addition to the councilmen. 'ficers who were elected at large.s7 Initially the 
organization appears to have __ lined, in the charter or constitution, a fixed set of 
geographical districts. However, there is not good evidence that Dussome's system 
actually functioned this way. The actual practice was that district representatives were 
designated only by town, without a demarcated territory. There was also some variation 
from year to year in which towns were listed as having a representative (Campisi and 
Stama 1987b). Interviewees described the district representatives as generally being 
elected at local meetings (FD 1998). 

The district or area representatives carried information from the organization's leaders and 
state-wide meetings to the membership, hosted and organized local meetings, and 
developed loca) fund-raising to support Dussome's efforts. When Dussome wanted to get 
information to the membership, he sometimes would write to the area representative, 
sending infonnation for that person to pass along to the members in their particular area 
(Vogel r 998; Short 1998). There are few documentary references to the role of district 
representatives in the organization's functioning before 1949. In one example from 1937, 
however, Dussome revealed some of his thinking about the role of the district 
representative by stating that "each district representative would know their own people 
better than anyone else" (Dussome 6/12/1937). 

87 During at least part of Dussome's tenure, however. the group's officers also served as district 
representatives, along others who were elected only as district representatives. 
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Box social dances, where the women of each family donated a boxed meal of some kind 
which was then raffled, were one of the most popular means of raising funds for the 
organization. These were commonly organized by the area representative, though 
sometimes by other local people. Some were held in conjunction with Dussome's visilS 
to hold area meetings. In other instances, one or more socials would be held and the 
money collected would be sent to Dussome to support his trips to Washington or other 
activities (Bremner 1998). Highline and Front Range interviewees reported them as 
common in the 1930's (FD 1998; Bremner 1998; Sinclair 1979; R. Doney 1993). 
Interviewees indicated they were also held after 1949. Dussome's call for one in 1962 is 
documented (LIM 112011962). 

The organization held an annual statewide meeting, sometimes referred to as a 
"convention," which in Dussome's day was usually a two-day affair (Campisi and Stama 
1987a, 14-15). At the annual meetings officers were elected and business was discussed. 
There was not a set location for these meetings, although they appear always to have been 
held somewhere on the Highline. Interviewees described traveling over long distances, 
sometimes by horse or wagon, and staying for at least two days, camping out (Campisi 
and Stama 1987a, 14-15). Available minutes indicate that the state-wide conventions 
were held for two days in most years from 1949 until at least 1961. 

Poor road conditions and lack of funds among the mostly poor constituency made travel 
to meetings difficult until the 1960s. Because of this, Dussome and one or more of his 
lieutenants would travel to the different settlements and hold local meetings where 
Dussome would provide information (Bremner 1998; Short 1998; Campisi and Stama 
1987a, 10, 14), Those who accompanied Dussome at one time or another included 
Elizabeth Swan, Dave Doney, Thomas Sangray, and George St. Clair. The district 
representative served as an organizer when Dussome would visit and hold a meeting, 
notifying local people and arranging for a meeting place (FD 1998). 

Writing in 1984, Morris and Van Gunten described a practice of "area meetings" which 
were held quarterly by the council (see below), Area meetings were council meetings 
open to the general membership. Rather than meeting in a fixed location, the quarterly 
meetings were held in different towns on the Highline or Front Range, or in Helena or 
Great Falls. Morris and Van Gunten characterized the area meetings as "the primary 
statewide communication" and said that they "move[d] from one community to another to 
insure maximum tribal participation and communication between" the council and 
members (Morris and Van Gunten 1984, 182). Council member Mack McGillis stated at 
a 1986 meeting that "the idea of moving the meetings around has been to get this 
information to the people" (LSTCIM 4/26/1986; see also Bishop 1986). 

Campisi and Stama, and Morris, equate these meetings with the earlier meetings held by 
Dussome and his lieutenants traveling to various localities. Campisi and Stama list 
records of at least one quarterly meeting for most years between 1949 and 1987 (Campisi 
and Stama 1987b). 
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How well and how consistently the area representatives and quarterly meetings 
functioned between 1949 and 1993 as a means of contact between the officers and the 
membership is not fully demonstrated by the available evidence. There were several 
years between 1963 and 1993 (1964-5, 1970, and 1973-4) when records of meetings and 
activities by officers are limited or absent. There is no evidence that there had actually 
been significant breaks in the functioning of the organization, but it is likely that there 
were periods where formal activity was limited. The number of area representatives and 
where they were from varied substantially from year to year (Campisi and Starna 1987c). 
After 1976, the number of area representatives and the number of locations represented 
became significantly larger than it had been up to that point. At the same time, the area representative system became somewhat less formalized (see below). 

The role of district representatives and communication through them was documented 
from time to time in minutes between 1949 and Dussome's death in 1963, as well as 
afterward (see above). Additional information is found in the available interviews and 
other documentation. The functions of district representatives were mentioned on several 
occasions. In 1949, it was reported that one of the area representatives communicated 
with Dussome concerning the dire economic condition of some families in his district. In 
1950, when plans were being made for a lawsuit over denial of allotments, district 
representatives at the statewide meeting were instructed to contact those representatives 
not present at the meeting. Plans were also made to set up a fund in each district to pay 
for the suit (see above). When Dussome set up a special meeting in February 1952 to 
replace officers elected the previous year, ostensibly by the Montana Landless Indians, he 
justified his call for the meeting by saying it was the wishes of a majority of the area 
representatives. District representatives were expected to playa role in the the balloting 
which was proposed in 1955 to decide which set of claims attorneys should represent the 
Little Shell by collecting the ballots locally and transmitting them for counting (see 
above). 

The wife of a district representative ~ho served between approximately 1960 and 1965 
described his activities as contacting local members to find out what they wanted Joe 
Dussome to do and conducting locaJ fund raiSing. He also organized local meetings to 
communicate what information he had received from chairmen Joe Dussome or George 
St. Clair,and information he had gained at meetings of the LIM (Shon 1998). The 
minutes of the 1961 statewide convention noted the necessity to communicate with 
district representatives concerning panicular issues discussed at the convention. 
Chairman George St. Clair in October 1966 complained that the representatives did not 
always respond when he sent them copies of correspondence from the claims lawyers 
(LIM 10/15/1966). St. Clair said that before each general meeting each district should 
meet and decide which questions they wanted to discuss with the chairman and business 
committee. He also wanted each district to appoint a committee to raise funds in their 
district for the claims work. A similar fund-raising role for the districts was planned in 
1968 to defray the costs of an envisioned lawsuit against Mrs. Phillips to regain Joe 
Dussome's papers (LIM 10/5/1968). In 1977, the secretary-treasurer asked the area 
representatives to tell the people in their areas to keep the secretary informed of changes 
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of membership (erasco 1977). 

During the 1979 controversy over the so-called "illegal" December 1978 election 
meeting, the importance of the area representatives and their role was illustrated. 
Chairman George Plummer's bulletin to members objecting to the meeting and calling for 
it be in March instead included a request that "each Area representative call a meeting in 
their Area for the purpose of selecting candidates whom their area supports for 
nomination" in advance of the upcoming annual meeting where elections would be held. 
Plummer also asked the representatives to discuss grievances in these local meetings. and 
be ready to bring them before the "Executive committee" (plummer 11911979. cited in 
Campisi and Stama I 987a, 31). In addition, at the December 1978 meeting itself, the fact 
that some area representatives had been unable to hold local meetings in advance was 
discussed as a potential obstacle to voting on new officers. In the meeting itself, area 
representatives "met with people from their areas to take a vote on officers" and were 
then brought back to the council for voting by secret ballo{ (LSTCIM: 121911978). In 
addition, two vacant area representative positions were filled at that meeting. before the 
elections went forward. 

A petition narrative submitted in 1983 described the area representative system at the 
time, stating that, "The councilmen and Area representatives. listed on the following 
pages, are responsible to the members in their areas. Keeping them informed on the latest 
issues and happenings. meeting dates and any news concerning the Little Shell Tribe of 
Chippewa Indians of Montana" (LSTCIM 3/21/1983. section "Current Community"). It 
went on to state that, "The chairman sends out news bulletins to the Councilmen and 
Area representatives, to keep them informed." 

Morris and Van Gunten in 1984 similarly stated that the representatives "call local 
community meetings to answer questions and initiate new business." They argued that 
the local meetings, besides having political purposes, "provide an opportunity for tribal 
members to share tribal and c6mmunity news, and hold dances," and play music (Morris 
and Van Gunten 1984.181). The individual who was the area representative from 
Choteau in 1984 gave a detailed description of his activities that supports the above . 
description (Brewster 1998). He described holding area meetings, which were well 
attended, and passing on information received from the tribal council. His tenure was 
during a period which was especially active because of the enrollment for the Indian 
Claims Commission judgment award. 

Campisi and Stama presented a description of "the contemporary political system" of the 
Little Shell Band, including a description of the area representatives and quarterly 
meeting system which is consistent with other accounts (Campisi and Stama 1987a, 35-
37).88 They stated that area representatives were required to attend tribal (council and 
quarterly) meetings and, although not having a vote in the tribal council, "they bring 

88 This is apparently based on their 1985 and 1986 fieldwork. Some additional field work was conducted 
in 1989 and 1991 after the preparation of their 1987 report (Campisi and Starna 1989-1991). 
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questions to the council" as representatives of their districts. Campisi and Stama noted 
that the tribal council members at that time also served as area representatives. Their 
description of the area representative's role was similar 10 that given in interviews with 
present-day area representatives who state that they are supposed to maintain informal 
contact with people in their area, and sometimes call "district" meeting to provide 
information and answer questions (Campisi and Stama 1987a, 36; Parenteau 1998: Koke 
1998; Thomas 1998). 

In addition to the official area representatives, Campisi and Starna noted that there were 
others who were unofficial representatives in that they had not been voted upon in a 
district meeting and approved by the council (Campisi and Stama 1987a, 36-37). These 
informal representatives apparently functioned in a manner similar to the formal ones. 
Campisi and Stama named nine such individuals. 

Campisi and Stama argued that the Little Shell petitioner'S pattern of leadership is 
derived ultimately from a traditional form of sociopolitical organization which was 
prevalent among Chippewa populations generally and was transformed somewhat to 
accommodate conditions among Prairie and Plains Chippewa groups. They stated more 
specifically that the petitioner's organizational structure in the years after 1927, which 
consisted of a president and district representatives, had evolved out of the chief and 
councilman system which, according to Bottineau, had existed in 1900 (Campisi and 
Stama 1987a, 2, 12). Campisi and Stama did not provide a detailed account of political 
leadership between 1900 and 1927 in order to demonstrate that the claimed pattern had 
existed in that period, and that there was actual continuity from that precedent in the years 
after 1927. The claimed continuity which they described in the mid-1980's, of having a 
president and district representatives, is at best a general means of leadership and political 
influence among a dispersed but connected population. The asserted cultural continuity is 
too general to show that this was a specific traditional cultural pattern which had been 
maintained, rather than a broadly similar approach to political influence under similar 
circumstances. 

Economic Need as a Political Issue 

Economic need was described by interviewees as the underlying motivation for one of the 
primary political issues of the 1930 and 1940's, obtaining land and services (see 
discussion above). In that era, many of the petitioner's ancestors were very poor. 
Obtaining land, and funds to develop it, were important goals of Dussome's organization. 
Federal and state aid for economic "rehabilitation" remained a goal of the LIM in the 
1950's. Rehabilitation bills were proposed in Congress in 1949 and 1955. The issue was 
raised at the 1957 LIM convention. Ed Belgarde of the MLI, the representative of the 
landless Indians on the Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board, played an influential role in 
getting the Governor's support for a rehabilitation program in 1959. 

There was less evidence after the early 1960's that economic need influenced issues 
brought to the tribal council. However, the group pushed for health services from the IHS 
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and education services from the BIA in 1969 and 1970, and was ultimately successful 
(see below). In 1970, a proposal to use claims money for land for the group was raised at 
a meeting. In 1971, the group was able to have two bills to aid the landless Indians 
introduced in the U.S. Senate. 

There is evidence from 1982 that economic improvement for the membership was a 
significant political issue. In that year the Little Shell membership voted to ask Congress 
to set aside 20 percent of the Little Shell Band's portion of the Indian Claims Commission 
award for use by the group, rather than have it paid out on a per capita basis. The group 
sought the funds to use for economic and educational purposes. 

Analysis of Meeting Attendance 

Either sign-in sheets or statements of the total anendance were available for a substantial 
number of the quarterly and special meetings of the Little Shell organization between 
1981 and 1990. There was one or the other measurement of attendance for 19 meetings 
between 1981 and 1983 and for 10 meetings from 1984 through 1990. Attendance at 
these 29 meetings averaged 38 persons per meeting, with a median figure of 39. Who 
attended varied substantially over time. Attendees included many individuals who were, 
or later became, area representatives or other officers. Attendees came from a reasonably 
wide range of hometowns, though the profile of attendance at a given meeting was clearly 
affected by distance to the site. 

Franklin and Bunte offered a different measure of meeting attendance which they argued 
demonstrates "active involvement in tribal political processes" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
133-136, 139-40). Reanalyzing the field notes of Campisi and Stama's interviews 
conducted in 1986, they concluded that 90 percent of the 52 individuals interviewed, who 
were born before 1950 and for whom there was useful interview information on meeting. 
attendance, indicated they had attended meetings during at least pan of the period 
between the 1940's and 1970's. About a third, 32 percent, indicated they had attended 
meetings more or less continuously during this period of time. Not all answers could be 
clearly classified. 

According to Franklin and Bunte, 56 percent of Campisi and Stama's interviewees had 
attended tribal or district meetings in the 1980's (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 139). Another 
12 percent indicated they had not done so. The interviews of the remaining 33 percent 
did not offer useful information.89 Franklin and Bunte characterized the interviewee 
sample as "quite representative of the overall adult Little Shell population" (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 134). However, they did not compare the interviewees with a profile of the 
membership. offering only the observations that few political figures were included, the 
ages of the interviewees ranged from the twenties to the eighties, and the hometowns of 
the interviewees included most, but not all, of the rural towns and Montana cities where 
Little Shell members were concentrated. 

~9 Because of rounding, the percentages do not add up to 100 percent. 
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Indian Claims Commission Awards, 1964·1994: 

The claims of the Little Shell band against the Government were presented before the 
Indian Claims Commission in its own case of Little Shell Band of Chippewa v. United 
States (Docket (91), and by its incorporation into two other cases, Red Lake, Pembina, 
and White Earth Bands of Chippewa v. United States (Docket 18-A) and Turtle Mountain 
Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket I 13). In a 1954 opinion in the Little Shell 
case, the Indian Claims Commission held that the Little Shell plaintiff was entitled to 
maintain an action before the Commission. By reaching this conclusion, the Commission 
ruled against the argument made by the United States that the Little Shell band could not 
bring a claim because it was not "a presently existing tribe. band. or other identifiable 
group of Indians .... " (Ind.CI.Comm. 1954. 417). In the Turtle Mountain case, the Turtle 
Mountain Band argued that the Little Shell band was only a "faction" of the tribe and was 
nor entitled to separate representation. However, because the Turtle Mountain Band did 
not include all Little Shell members. the Court of Claims decided on appeal that the Little 
Shell plaintiff could not be barred from separate representation in the case. The Court 
concluded that the Little Shell plaintiff did not need to have fonned a separate band or 
organized entity in order to bring a claim as an identifiable group. An unorganized group 
of the descendants of an ancestral entity was entitled, the Court held, to representation in 
.a case before the Indian Claims Commission (Ct.CI. 1974, 456-459). 

The attorney for the Little Shell plaintiff, in an agreement with the attorneys of the other 
petitioning groups which partly claimed the same aboriginal territory, stipulated in 1957 
that the petitioner in Little Shell had been a constituent part of the Pembina Band in 1863. 
On the basis of that stipulation, the Commission concluded that "such members of the 
[Little Shell] petitioner group represented in Docket 191, who are descendants of 
members of the Pembina Band of Chippewas as it existed in 1863," had an interest in the 
claim made in the case of the Red Lake, Pembina, and White Earth Bands for the lands 
ceded by the treaty of 1863 (Ind.CI.Comm. 1958. 251-252, 306-309). The Commission held that the Little Shell plaintiff had standing to participate in the claim made in the case 
of the Turtle Mountain Band because the Turtle Mountain Band was not the full 
successor in interest to the original tribal entity if that entity had divided after the taking 
of its land by the Government. The Commission said that "many of their [Little Shell] 
members are descendants" of the ancestral entity as it existed at the time of the land 
cession (Ind.CI.Comm. 1971, 351-352). On appeal, the Court of Claims concluded that 
the ancestral landowning entity of the area ceded under the McCumber Agreement was 
the "American Pembina Chippewa" group, which consisted of both Indians and Metis and 
included a Little Shell Band "subgroup." Therefore, the Court said, the Little Shell 
plaintiff should be pemitted to petition for participation in any award in the Turtle 
Mountain case (Ct.C!. 1974, 456 and n.33). 

In the Little Shell case, the Little Shell plaintiff sought compensation for 16 million acres 
of land in northern Montana which it claimed as its exclusive aboriginal territory. This 
territorial claim included the area from the Missouri River on the south to the 
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international boundary on the north, and from the border with North Dakota on the east to 
the Sweetgrass Hills and Marias River on the west. The Little Shell plaintiff claimed to 
have occupied this portion of Montana well before the 1892 McCumber Agreement. The 
United States took this land from the Little Shell band, according to the plaintiff. by an 
1855 treaty with the Blackfeet tribe and an 1873 executive order expanding the Blackfeet 
Reservation. The Indian Claims Commission rejected this contention and concluded that 
the evidence did not show Cree, Chippewa, or Cree-Chippewa exclusive use and 
occupation of any portion of the area claimed by the Little Shell plaintiff, or by the other 
plaintiff which claimed to represent Little Shell's band, the Chippewa-Cree tribe of the 
Rocky Boy's Reservation. The Commission was convinced by the expert witness for the 
United States, Dr. John Ewers of the Smithsonian Institution, that this territory was used 
and occupied by the Blackfeet, Gros Ventre, and Assiniboine tribes, or was a common 
hunting ground of many tribes. Thus, in 1974 the Commission dismissed the claim of the 
plaintiffs in the Little Shell case (Ind.CI.Comm. 1974,470-472,480-482,484-486,508-
509). . 

In the Pembina case, the Indian Claims Commission in 1964 set the award to the 
Pembina, Red Lake, and White Earth Bands for the lands ceded by the treaty of 1863 at 
$2,035,000. The Commission divided the award two-thirds to the Red Lake Band and 
one-third to the Pembina Band. However, the value of the "offsets" to the award, because 
of payments made on behalf of the bands by the United States, was much greater for the 
Pembina Band than for the Red Lake Band. Therefore, the Red Lake Band was awarded 
$1,798,000 and the Pembina Band $237,000 (Ind.C!.Comm. 1964, n.p.). Congress 
provided for the distribution of this award to the Pembina Band for the 1863 cession by 
legislation in 1971 (Statutes 1971). In the Turtle Mountain case, the Indian Claims 
Commission in 1978 set the award to the "American Pembina Chippewa" for the lands 
ceded by the tribal ratification of the McCumber Agreement in 1905 at $52,527,338 
(Ind.Cl.Comm. 1978, 274). The Court of Claims rejected the Government's appeal of the 
amount of the award in 1979 (Ct.C!. 1979). After a determination of the value of the 
"offsets" to the award, in 1980 the Court of Claims issued a judgment for the Indian 
plaintiffs of $47,376,623 (Ct.Cl. 1980). Congress provided instructions for the 
distribution of this award for the 1905 cession by legislation in 1982 (Statutes 1982). 

'Fhe /863 Pembina Award 

After the Indian Claims Commission's 1964 decision in the Pembina case, the 
Department of the Interior in 1968 prepared a report on the award for the 1863 treaty 
cession which concluded that three reservation tribes -- the Minnesota Chippewa Tribe of 
the White Earth Reservation in Minnesota, the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa 
Indians of the Turtle Mountain Reservation in North Dakota, and the Chippewa-Cree 
Tribe of Rocky Boy's Reservation in Montana -- "may be considered to be comprised in 
part of Pembinas or descendants of Pembinas" (Interior ca. 1968, 2). The report found 
that the modem Tunle Mountain Band consisted of Metis who had fled Canada after 
unsuccessful rebellions in 1870 and 1885, together with Metis who had "evidently long 
been associated with the Pembina Band," plus the "conservative (called 'full blood') 
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Turtle Mountain or Pembina Chippewas .... " The report said that the "non-Metis or 
original Pembina" formed "a small ... Indian minority on the reservation or in the Turtle 
Mountain area." The report accepted a finding that Rocky Boy had been a successor to 
Pembina Chief Red Bear, and said that interviews with Rocky Boy's residents and other 
research revealed that the majority of the Rocky Boy's Chippewa-Cree Tribe had 
Pembina Chippewa ancestry (Interior ca. 1968,3,4). 

In addition to these three reservation tribes, the report concluded that, "A nonreservation 
based element must also be considered in the disposition of the award. Pembina 
descendants, in unknown numbers, are found among the group generally called 'Landless 
Indians of Montana'," or the Montana Landless Indians, Inc., or the Little Shell Band of 
Chippewa Indians of Montana. Most of these people, the report said, were Metis. The 
report concluded that the presence of the Metis, on and off reservation and their confusion 
with the Pembina Band and Plains Chippewa groups, was a complication in "the 
development of a just and realistic legislative proposal for the disposition of the award." 
Noting that "annuity payments made under the 1863 treaty involved, almost exclusively, 
Chippewa Indian names," with "the well known French or other European names of the 
Metis being absent," the report added, however, that, "Some Metis, apparently those who 
have long been associated with the Pembinas, are able to trace their ancestry to persons 

, whose names were distinctly Chippewa and who were undeniably Pembina" on the old 
annuity rolls (Interior ca. 1968, 3,4). The Department prepared a draft bill which 
provided that funds would be "apportioned to the Minnesota Chippewa Tribe, the Turtle 
Mountain Band, and the Chippewa-Cree Tribe on the basis of the numbers of descendants 
found to be enrolled with the tribes," while also providing for a "payment of shares to 
those descendants who are not enrolled with any of the three cited tribes .... " (Interior ca. 
J 968,6). 

In the Act of July 29, 197 I, Congress provided instructions for the distribution of funds to 
pay the Indian Claims Commission award. The act directed the Secretary of the Interior 
to prepare a roll of all persons "living on the date of this Act who are lineal descendants of members of the Pembina Band as it was constituted in 1863 .... " (Statutes 1971). 
Excepted from this roll were members of the Red Lake Band and Minnesota Chippewa 
bands whose award was provided for by separate legislation. Descendants who were not 
U.S. citizens were not eligible for a share of the award. Section 4 of the act defined those 
individuals eligible for the award as being Pembina descendants who were members of 
the Minnesota Chippewa Tribe, the Turtle Mountain Band of North Dakota, and the 
Chippewa-Cree Tribe of Montana, as well as descendants who were not members of the 
three named tribes (Statutes 1971). The Bureau of Indian Affairs found that the category 
of "other" Chippewa descendants included members of the Little Shell Band, but was not 
limited to them (BIA 111111999). Section 5 of the act provided that Pembina descendants 
within the Turtle Mountain Band could form a Pembina Descendants Committee in order 
to work with that tribe's governing body to make recommendations to the Secretary 
concerning the distribution of funds (Statutes 197 I). In short. the award was to be made 
strictly on lineal descent from the Pembina Band of Chippewa which made the treaty of 
1863. 
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The Secretary of the Interior was directed by the Act of 1971 to prepare a roll of those 
persons born on or prior to, and alive on, the date of the act who were the lineal 
descendants of members of the Pembina Band as it was constituted in 1863 (Statutes 
1971). The Department of the Interior established regulations for the preparation of the 
judgment roll. These regulations were published in the Federal Register on October 19, 
1971. The regulations placed the burden of proof of eligibility on the applicant, who was 
required to use birth, death, or marriage certificates, baptismal and other church records, 
probate records, or affidavits to support his or her claim for enrollment. BlA records 
could also be used to establish eligibility (25 CFR [1976 ed.] 43g.6(a)). The regulations 
stated that collateral relationships could not be used to prove descent (25 CFR [1976 ed.] 
43g.l (e)). The completed roll was to contain "for each person a roll number, name, 
address, sex, date of birth, and in the remarks column the name and relationship of the 
ancestor through whom eligibility is claimed" (25 CFR [1976 ed.] 43g.9(b)). 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs sent instructions for preparing the roll to the director 
of the Aberdeen area office in September 1971 (BlA 9/17/1971). As acceptable sources 
to prove the descent of applicants, the instructions included the Pembina annuity payment 
rolls for 1864 to 1878, the 1885 census of half-breeds at the Turtle Mountain Reservation, 
the 1886 census of Turtle Mountain full-bloods, the 1889 list of Pembinas belonging at 
the White Earth Reservation, and the 1891 census of the White Earth Reservation (BIA 
911711971). Two of the annuity rolls specifically named a number of followers of Red 
Bear (460 names in 1865 and 265 names in 1871) and Little Shell (471 names in 1865 
and 282 names in 1871). The 1878 annuity roll stated there were 543 names on the list 
for the Red Bear and Little Shell bands of Pembina Indians. The Commissioner's memo 
also listed as acceptable sources records of the Chippewa-Cree families "proposed for 
adoption into the Rocky Boy's Tribe, original rolls [of Rocky Boy's] established July 16, 
1917, marriage cards, and other material regarding the adoption up to February 1923," 
and nine Rocky Boy's census rolls between 1915 to 1925 (BIA 9117/1971). 

As the Pembina judgment roll was being compiled, additional materials were included in 
the list of acceptable sources for proof of Pembina descent (BlA 12/6/1971, 12/9/1971, 
12/14/1971, 1/27/1972,2/9/1982). The Minnesota Agency suggested that the basic roIl of 
the Minnesota Chippewa Tribe be considered as an approved source, for its Pembina 
members, since the tribal roll was the last of a series of annuity payrolls dating back to 
1891 (BIA 1217/1971). The Minneapolis Area Director concurred (BIA 121911971). 
Subsequently, the Aberdeen Area Director wrote to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
to recommend that the Minnesota Chippewa Tribal Roll be approved for use as a "basic 
document to establish eligibility to share in the Pembina judgment award" (BIA 
5/25/1972). In September 1972, the Deputy Commissioner approved the 
recommendation and stated that, "An individual who is listed on the Minnesota Chippewa 
Roll as being of Pembina Indian descent is automatically eligible for enrollment to share 
in the Pembina judgment funds providing he meets the other requirements of the Act." 
He added that, "This eligibility would also apply to the applicant's descendants provided 
they prove their relationship to the applicant" (BlA 9/2511972). 
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The Bureau of Indian Affairs also concluded that the descendants of the Pembina "mixed 
bloods" who were beneficiaries of the treaties of 1863 and 1864 should not be excluded 
from sharing in the Pembina judgment funds. "Although the Pembina half breeds and 
mixed bloods are not referred to specifically [in the treaties] as members of the Pembina 
Band, but rather as relatives by blood of members of the Band who ... were citizens of 
the United States," the Bureau noted that the "mixed bloods" were beneficiaries of the 
treaties because they had been issued scrip pursuant to treaty provisions. It had been 
"common practice during that period," the Bureau said, for tribes to make some provision 
for their "mixed bloods who might not wish to accompany them when the tribe emigrated 
to a new area." As a result, the "mixed bloods" received treaty benefits despite "the 
Pembina Band's eventual disintegration .... " Concluding that the Pembina "mixed 
bloods received land in lieu of annuities," the Bureau presumed that "the language 
'relinquish the right to share in the future claims for annuities' was meant to prevent them 
from receiving both land and money." The Bureau reasoned that the Pembina claim was 
based on the treaties of 1863 and 1864 and that, by the language of the treaties, the "scrip 
recipients relinquished only the right to share in the future claims for annuities," but not 
to "all rights to future claims against the government" (BlA 2/1111974). 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs issued instructions in 1980 that "there was no reason 
to question the Pembina Band derivation" of anyone named on the Turtle Mountain roll 
made by McCumber in 1892, or identified "consistently as Chippewas or partly 
Chippewa" on the two rolls of Rocky Boy's Indians made in 1917, or identified "as 
Chippewa or partly Chippewa on an approved application for enrollment on the so-called 
'Roe Cloud Roll of Landless Indians of Montana'" (BIA 8/15/1980). The Commissioner 
also agreed with the Turtle Mountain Agency that its 1906 "family history books" of 
families living on or off the Turtle Mountain Reservation, which included names not on 
the other specified rolls, were an acceptable source of Pembina descent, "so long as the 
researcher is sure that the person named thereon is of Chippewa descent." The 
Commissioner noted, however, that if one of the parents was a non-Indian, it was possible 
that the parent could also have non-Indian children. "In that case," he instructed, the 
"mere appearance of an ancestor's name in the 1906 family history books would not be 
sufficient to establish Pembina ancestry" (BIA 11112/1980). The Commissioner said in 
1981 that rejected applications for the 1904 Davis Roll of members of the Turtle 
Mountain Band could be used as a source of Pembina descent if the applicant's residence 
outside the boundaries of the territory ceded by the 1892 agreement "was the only reason 
the application was rejected" (BIA 3/5/1981). 

The Aberdeen Area Director asked the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for a clarification 
of the eligibility of an individual "whose lineal ancestry does not trace to a person named 
on one of the acceptable Pembina source documents but whose collateral relationship to 
persons named on the Pembina source documents can be established" (BlA ~/5/ 1981). In 
reply, the Commissioner stated in 1981 that "an individual whose brothers and sisters 
were named on the documents" identified as acceptable sources of Pembina descent in the 
Bureau's earlier memoranda "shares the same lineal ancestor who, we presume, was a 
member of the Pembina Band as it was constituted in 1863." Thus. such an individual 

-160-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment 
Lsm V001 0007 Page 233 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

was, "in effect, a lineal descendant of a member of the Pembina Band" of 1863. The 
Commissioner added that by including "other rolls and records" as source documents 
acceptable to the Secretary, "we shall broaden the eligibility criteria and, hopefully, 
eliminate the need for interpretation" (BlA 3/511981). The inclusion of additional rolls, 
censuses, and family history books as acceptable sources of Pembina descent, and the 
inclusion of collateral relatives as Pembina descendants, necessitated a reevaluation by 
the Bureau of the eligibility of some previously rejected applications. 

The award payment was made on October 18, 1984, after the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
had found over 21,000 individuals to be eligible to share in judgment funds as provided 
by the 1971 act. The names of the Little Shell band's members were not segregated on 
the roll from the names of other lineal descendants who were not members of the three 
named tribes (BlA 1111/1999). The complete roll of persons eligible was not available 
for the preparation of this report. Therefore, this report provides no accurate accounting 
of the petitioner's members who received awards under the 1971 act. However, a record 
of the Individual Indian Money (IIM) accounts for minors and deceased persons who 
were eligible for the Pembina judgment award was available to the BIA researchers. 
Eligible applicants who also were affiliated with the Little Shell band were included in 
the "all other descendants" category of the lIM record. There were 29 deceased persons 
in this category on the lIM list who also were listed in the petitioner'S membership 
records. In addition, 85 of the 1,973 minors on the lIM list also appeared in the 
petitioner's membership records (LSTCIM 1984; BAR 1998).90 

The 1905 Turtle Mountain Award 

After the Indian Claims Commission's 1978 decision in the Turtle Mountain case, the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1980 preRared a "Results of Research" report on the 
award for the 1905 Turtle Mountain cession. The Commissioner sought to interpret the 
Court of Claims's designation of the landowning entity in the claim as the "American 
Pembina Chippewa." The Court had explicitly identified the "Pembina Band" as one of 
the three representatives of the landowning entity in the case. The Commissioner's report 
therefore was concerned, he said, "with groups deriving from the Pembina Band of the 
period 1892-1905 and prior thereto." For this reason, the Commissioner also referred to 
this award in the Turtle Mountain case as the" I 905 Pembina" award. The Bureau of 
Indian Affairs had identified the beneficiaries of the 1905 award, the Commissioner 
concluded, to be "the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians as presently 
constituted. the Chippewa Cree Tribe [of Rocky Boy's Reservation], the Minnesota 
Chippewa Tribe as representative of the White Earth Reservation Pembinas, and 

CJO Since the petitioner's membership list would not ordinarily include names of deceased individuals, the 
BIA researchers used the petitioner's genealogical records, which were verified from a variety of historical 
records by the BIA and compiled in the Family Tree Maker Genealogical program as "BAR-LS.98" (BAR 
1998). Also, the petitioner's membership records are listed by the current surname of the member; 
therefore, females who were minors in 1984 may be listed under a different surname in the current 
membership records. It was easier to compare the names on the lIM lists with the names in the genealogical 
program than with the names on the membership list. 
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American Pembina descendants (U.S. citizens) of at least one-quarter Pembina Chippewa 
blood .... " The Commissioner recommended that the funds for this award be divided 
among these beneficiary entities "on the basis of the respective numbers" of their 
members or eligible descendants, as of the date of the future legislation for the disposition 
of the funds (BlA 811911980, I, 10, (3) 

The Turtle Mountain Band had been explicitly identified by the Court of Claims as a 
representative of the landowning entity in the case. The Commissioner agreed that the 
modern Turtle Mountain Band was "a tribal successor to the Pembina Band of the period 
1892-1905 and earlier." "There is no evidence," he added, "that present band members 
do not derive from ancestors who themselves derive from the Red River - Turtle 
Mountain homeland .... " The Court had not explicitly mentioned the Minnesota 
Chippewa Tribe as a representative of the plaintiff in the case, but the Commissioner 
conclQded that it was a tribal successor to the Pembina Band which had, in 1892, 
maintained an "interest in the aboriginal North Dakota lands." He noted that the tribe's 
base membership roll of 1941 designated some of its members as "White Earth 
Pembinas." The Indian Claims Commission had dismissed the Chippewa-Cree Tribe of 
the Rocky Boy's Reservation as a plaintiff in the case. Finding that decision 
"inexplicable," the Commissioner added that, "we are not precluding individual Pembina 
descendants within the Chippewa Cree Tribe from participation" in the award. Because 
of the Court's decision and the presence on the tribe's 1917 roll "of significant numbers of 
non-Chippewas," the Commissioner would not recommend the modern Chippewa Cree 
Tribe "as a full tribal successor to the Pembina Band .... " Rocky Boy's members whose 
Indian ancestry was "derived solely from non-Chippewas," the Commissioner said, 
"would not be included for purposes of detennining a Chippewa Cree share of the funds" 
(BlA 8/1911980, 2, 9, I 1-13). 

Although the Indian Claims Commission had said that the Chippewa Cree plaintiff had 
conceded that it had no interest in the Turtle Mountain claim, and although claims 
attorney Lawrence C. MiI1s had stated that the Rocky Boy's reservation was not a party in the case, the Commissioner concluded that Chippewa Cree tribal officials at Rocky Boy's 
reservation were not aware of these developments (BlA 8/19/1980, 3; Ind.CI.Comm. 
1970, 3 18). Both the Indian Claims Commission and the Court of Claims, the 
Commissioner contended, had exhibited "confusion" about the identification of the 
Chippewa Cree Tribe of Rocky Boy's Reservation. Although the Commissioner 
conceded that "not a single professional ethnohistorian has adequately examined the 
origins" of the Rocky Boy's people, he concluded that "we cannot ignore their obvious 
... Pembina Band derivation." Although the Commissioner agreed that the "historical, 
ethnological and political record is practically silent regarding the derivation of Rocky 
Boy" and his followers, he stated that Rocky Boy was a successor to Pembina chief Red 
Bear (BIA 811911980, 7-8; emphasis in the original). 

In large part, the Commissioner appeared to rely upon interviews conducted by the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs in 1964 "with mainly aged residents of the Rocky Boy's 
Reservation." Granting that "Rocky Boy people do not employ the term Pembina," the 
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Commissioner stated that the ethnohistorical data and interviews lead "to the inescapable 
conclusion that those Chippewas with Rocky Boy were Pembinas." "They could not," the 
Commissioner contended. have "been other than Pembina." Although Rocky Boy had 
maintained that he originated in Wisconsin, the Commissioner dismissed this evidence by 
saying that his members "could not have had any memory of Wisconsiri." and by 
claiming that his band had a fear of being returned to Turtle Mountain. It also had 
become clear, the Commissioner added, that Rocky Boy's band was "essentially a Red 
Bear, not a Little Shell following." In addition to the interview infonnation, the 
Commissioner cited some documentary evidence which linked some Rocky Boy's 
members to Chippewa ancestory or to the Turtle Mountain Band. The Commissioner 
found that.some Rocky Boy relatives had been on the 1892 McCumber roll, and that the 
1917 Rocky Boy rolls included people of Chippewa ancestry. The Commissioner 
concluded that the Bureau's research and analysis "have not produced a shred of evidence 

. that the designation 'Chippewa' on the 1917 rolls is not synonymous with Pembina" 
descent (BIA 811911980, 3, 7-9). 

In addition to the three federally recognized tribes which the Commissioner identified as 
at least partial successors to the Pembina Band. he recommended that unenrolled 
Pembina descendants share in the award. Although the Court had explicitly identified the 
Little Shell Band plaintiff as a representative of the landowning entity in the claims case, 
the Commissioner referred more broadly to Pembina descendants. The Commissioner 
said that these Pembina descendants were located "primarily in Montana." but also in the 
Dakotas and other places, and his report referred to them as "Montana Pembinas." He 
could not say how many eligible Pembina descendants there were. but the Commissioner 
observed that, "We can only suspect that perhaps several thousand of these people will be 
able to establish Pembina ancestry." Unenrolled Pembina descendants, the 
Commissioner noted. might be identified by using a variety of historical rolls. He said 
that, "Some may be able to trace to the 1917 Rocky Boy rolls, the McCumber [1892] or 
Davis [1904] rolls or Pembina annuity rolls made from the 1860's thru [sic] the 1880's." 
The Bureau of Indian Affairs,'the Commissioner also concluded, had found "no evidence 
that the Chippewa designations on the Roe Cloud RoB are not synonymous with 
Pembina" (BIA 8/19/1980,9, 10, 13). 

The Pembina descendants in Montana, the Commissioner said, "are virtually all 
Metis .... " Many of them, he said, were partly Sioux, while others were partly 
Assiniboine, Gros Ventres, Crow, or Blackfeet, and were members of recognized tribes. 
In contrast to these enrolled descendants, the Commissioner said, the unenrolled Pembina 
descendants in Montana were "acutely aware of [their] Pembina derivation." The 
Commissioner assumed that "the descendants of those who accompanied Little Shell to 
Montana would be found among these people, in unknown numbers." The 
Commissioner said that these descendants were known by a variety of names such as the 
"Landless Indians of Montana," "Cree," "Chippewa Cree," and the "Little Shell Band of 
Montana." The "Little Shell" name, he added, had "an organizational connotation .... " 
That organization, according to its president, "now encompasses formerly rival groups." 
The Commissioner said that the organization had "recently changed its name to the Little 
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Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana." In order to maintain parity with the 
enrollment criteria of recognized beneficiary tribes, the Commissioner concluded that 
unenrolled Pembina descendants should "be required to establish a minimum of one­
quarter Pembina Chippewa blood quantum in order to participate" in the award. Thus, 
the Commissioner recommended that "American Pembina descendants" who had "at least 
one-quarter Pembina Chippewa blood" and were U.S. citizens should be the beneficiaries 
of the 1905 Pembina award (BIA 8119/1980, 9, 10, 13). 

In one respect, the Bureau of Indian Affairs had changed its conclusions about descent 
from the Pembina Band since the Department's first Results of Research report on the 
award for the 1863 treaty cession. The Bureau was "now persuaded that very large 
numbers of Metis," the Commissioner said, "are indeed able to establish Pembina 
derivation." The Commissioner concluded that it was now "apparent that all Plains 
Ojibwa, both ethnically 'full blood' and 'mixed blood,' derive ultimately from the Red 
River - Turtle Mountain area." Alth!=Jugh the Metis had developed a "distinct culture" 
and had been "marginal" to both tribal peoples and non-Indians, the Commissioner stated 
that those Metis who had been "associated with the Pembina Band in the Red River­
Turtle Mountain area" had been "politically part of that band" and had "recognized the 
authority of the traditional chiefs .... " He also claimed that it was "evident" that when 
Little Shell had left the Turtle Mountain area "large numbers of Metis were among his 
followers." The Commissioner acknowledged that "few French or other European 
surnames associated with the Metis appear on early Pembina annuity rolls." He 
suggested that this was the case because land scrip had been issued under the treaties of 
1863 and 1864 in lieu of treaty annunities. The Bureau concluded, however, that "it is 
now evident that a surprising number of Metis are able to trace to old Pembina annuity 
rolls" (BIA 811 911 980,4-5, 7, 11). 

In the Act of December 31, 1982, Congress provided instructions for the distribution of 
the award to the "American Pembina Chippewa" for the 1905 cession. The act divided 
the award among five parties, one of which was the Little Shell Band of Chippewa 
Indians of Montana. Section 6 of the act provided that 80 percent of the award allocated 
for the Little Shell Band would be distributed in the form of per capita payments "to all 
enrolled members of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana" who were 
living on the date of the act and could meet the enrollment criteria for unenrolled 
Pembina Chippewa descendants. These criteria, in Section 7(a) of the act, required that 
an individual have at least one-quarter "Pembina Chippewa blood" and be enrolled on, or 
be a lineal descendant of someone enrolled on, the Pembina judgment roll prepared under 
the Act of 1971, the McCumber roll of 1892, the Davis roll of the Turtle Mountain Band 
of 1904, the two Rocky Boy's rolls of 1917, or the Roe Cloud Roll of landless Indians of 
Montana.91 Five of these rolls previously had been used to establish ancestry on the sixth 

91 Of the six rolls cited as sources for establishing Pembina descent, the act specifically cited the Pembina 
descendants under the Act of July 29. 1971, and two Turtle Mountain Indian rolls as sources for proof of 
Pembina descent, thus implying that everyone on those three rolls had Pembina ancestry. However, the act 
also specified that those enrolled ··as Chippewa" on two Rocky Boy's rolls and on the Roe Cloud Roll be 
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roll, the roll of Pembina descendants under the Act of 1971. This section also required 
recipients of judgment funds to be citizens of the United States. The act, in Section 6, 
provided that 20 percent of the award allocated for the Little Shell Band would be held in 
trust for the use of the band, if it became a federally recognized tribe. If Federal 
recognition were not approved, then the entire award would be distributed on a per capita 
basis (Statutes 1982). 

Finding the act's language on eligibility confusing, the BIA' s Branch of Enrollment 
requested the Department's Office of the Solicitor to provide it with an interpretation of 
Sections 6 and 7 of the 1982 distribution act. In 1985, the Solicitor found that in order to 
participate in the distribution of funds under Section 6( I) of the act, a person must be 
both a member of the Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians of Montana and meet the 
criteria listed in Section 7(a) of the act (Interior 9/6/1985). Therefore, the criteria for 
eligibility for the distribution of funds to the members of the Little Shell band under the 
1982 act were that the individual: be an enrolled member of the band~ have one-quarter 
Pembina Chippewa blood; be a United States citizen; not be a member of any of the other 
named Chippewa or Chippewa-Cree tribes who also were recipients of this award; and 
either be enrolled, or have a lineal ancestor who was enrolled, on one of the six rolls 
specified in Section 7(a) or the "other rolls or records acceptable to the Secretary" that 
would establish Pembina ancestry (Interior 9/6/1985; Statutes 1982, sec.7). 

Edna Teske, who was the enrollment officer for the Little Shell petitioner, worked with 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs to prepare the 1994 judgment roll. In 1994, Teske prepared 
a report to demonstrate the Chippewa-Cree ancestry of 312 Little Shell "Elder Enrollees" 
who had been listed on the Roe Cloud Roll (Franklin 1995, table 1, appendix B). 
Following the logic in the Commissioner of Indian Affairs's instructions for the earlier 
judgment roll regarding collateral relatives, Teske's report included collateral 
relationships as well as lineal ancestry to confirm the descent of these 312 elders. 'Her 
report provides a summary of how various rolls and censuses were used to conftrrn the 
descent of these Little Shell members. Teske's report used the 1906 Turtle Mountain roll 
rather than the 1904 roll cited in the ) 982 act, and a "ca. ) 892 Bottineau Ljst" rather than 
the 1892 McCumber roll cited in the 1982 act. Using these two sources, Teske found a 
combined count of 27] elder members who were linked to Turtle Mountain Chippewas. 
Thus, her report claimed that 87 percent of Little Shell elders who could demonstrate 
Chippewa-Cree ancestry could show descent from an alleged source of Turtle Mountain 
band membership. Her report showed that 114 elders, or 36 percent of those with 
Chippewa-Cree ancestry, were themselves on, or had an ancestor or collateral relative on, 
the 1906 Turtle Mountain roll. 

Teske also found that 58 of the 312 Little Shell elders, or about 19 percent of them, were 
themselves on, or had an ancestor or collateral relative on, the 1917 Mclaughlin report of 
Rocky Boy's Indians which was ciled in the 1982 act (Franklin 1995, table 1). She 

considered as eligible, implying that there may be Indians of other descent on those rolls who would not be 
considered as eligible (Statutes 1982, sec.7(a)(5)(A)(iv». 

-165-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 238 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding· Technical Report 

reported that 40 of the 312 Little Shell elders were on the 1934 Rocky Boy's roll. 
Although the 1934 Rocky Boy's roll was not specifically named in the 1982 act, it falls in 
the category of "other rolls or records acceptable to the Secretary" allowed by 
Section 7(a)(5)(B) of that act. Using these two sources. Teske found that a total of 98 of 
the 312 elders who could demonstrate Chippewa-Cree ancestry, 31 percent of them. had a 
lineal or collaterar link to the Rocky Boy's Chippewa who were identified in the 1982 act 
as descendants eligible for enrollment. Although Teske's report analyzed only about 
8 percent of the Little Shell petitioner's current membership. it showed that the vast 
majority of those who could demonstrate Chippewa ancestry. 288 of 312 of them. were 
themselves on. or had at least one ancestor who was on. one of the acceptable rolls for 
proving Pembina descent under the provisions of the judgment fund distribution Act of 
1982, or a source substituted for an acceptable roll. 

The names of 1,722 members of the Little Shell Band in 1987 appeared on the 1994 
judgment roll (BIA 3/2411994; LSTCIM 1987. membership list). This was about 
51 percent (1,722 of 3,366) of the Little Shell Band's membership in 1987. At least 
1,482 of the petitioner's current members -- on a combined roll which includes the 1987 
membership list and supplemental lists dated 1990, 1991, and 1992 -- were recipients of 
the 1994 judgment award (BlA 3/24/1994). This is about 38 percent (1,482 of 3,893) of 
the petitioner's current members. 

Patterns of Marriage within Montana, 1880's - 1980's 

Introduction 

An examination was made by BIA researchers of patterns of marriage among the 
ancestors of the petitioner. focusing on marriages among immigrants to Montana that 
occurred after migration or immediately before migration to Montana. One purpose was 
to analyze the extent to which these marriages created kinship links among all or a portion of the petitioner's ancestors within Montana, or potentially reinforced existing 
links. These populations were not shown to be closely linked previous to arriving in 
Montana. Evaluating the social cohesion that was established or reinforced as a result of 
intermarriage is pertinent to evaluating whether the Metis in the Montana rural 
settlements before 1920, in the subsequent rural town settlements. and in the state up to 
the present were, or are, a social community or communities. A second purpose of the 
examination was to measure rates of intermaniage. and changes in rates over time. within 
the population ancestral to the petitioner.92 

Selected family lines were evaluated in detail for the analyses of kin linkages and 
intermarriage rates described below. For the analysis of kinship links resulting from 
marriage, eleven family lines were examined. For the analysis of intermarriage rates, 

92 Significant rates of marriage within a group are evidence for community under section 83.7(b) of the regulations (25 CFR Part 83). 
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twelve family lines were selected. Some of these lines were reviewed only for the 
analysis of marriage rates or for the analysis of kinship links, but not for both. A core 
group of major family lines, however, was used for both of these analyses. A total of 
fourteen family lines were selected for these two studies. Marriage patterns and marriage 
rates were analyzed by examination of specific family lines from both of the two 
geographical regions of traditional settlement. A total of seven family I·ines from the 
Front Range and seven from the Highline were studied. More than two dozen additional 
lines were also examined, in less detail, in the course of evaluating the possible existence 
of community and political systems among the petitioner's members and ancestors from 
the 1930's to the present. 

The patterns of marriage are described here separately from the main historical narrative 
of this report, with an eye towards eventual integration of this analysis into a more 
complete analysis of the social character and history of this population than has been 
possible for this report. It anticipates eventually putting the results of the analysis 
together with other data concerning social and economic contacts between these 
populations, and describing the evolution of the petitioner and the extent to which its 
members have developed social cohesion and political processes. 

Character of the Population Analyzed 

The available evidence indicates that the "founding" populations in both the Front Range 
and Highline I Lewistown regions were drawn from several separate geographical origins. 
Their tribal origins, and past association with the Pembina and Turtle Mountain Bands or 
other tribal entities were not fully determined for this report, but appear to have varied 
substantially. Families migrated to Montana from the Pembina settlement, the Red River 
Settlement, Turtle Mountain, and other areas. The source tribe or tribes and regjon of 
origin of a substantial proportion of the Montana immigrants ancestral to the petitioner 
were not determined for this report. The sources of the famHies chat settled the two 
regions were the same, but the two regions differed in the proportions of the settling 
populations which came from a given area. 

For these reasons, being "Metis" did not demonstrate that the migrants to Montana were a 
single group upon their arrival in the state. Therefore, a marriage between two Metis 
individuals was not necessarily a marriage in which both partners were members of an 
existing social group prior to their marriage. The existence of marriages between two 
Metis lines did not in itself show that the marriages in Montana were within a single, 
preexisting social group. Metis-Metis marriages in this instance can not be evaluated as 
marriage within or outside of a group, except insofar as the resulting kinship ties may 
show or be partial evidence for such a group. The review of the marriage patterns under 
these circumstances becomes then part of the examination of the basic character of these 
populations as a group or groups, which may have combined or divided. 

It is clear that the Montana ancestors of the present group, in addition to being of 
somewhat diverse origins, arrived over a substantial period, from the early 1860's to the 
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1930's, rather than coming all at more or less the same time. Furthermore, in some lines, 
some Metis spouses were drawn from North Dakota or Canada after the line, or part of it, 
had moved to Montana. In some instances, some members of a line moved back to their 
family's original area permanently or for a period of time, judging by a sprinkling of 
births in North Dakota or Canada after it appears that the line or that portion had moved 
to Montana. It also appears likely that some family lines continued to an undetermined 
extent to maintain ties with their home regions after moving to Montana. 

Almost all of the Metis adults that came into Montana were married to other Metis, and 
were the descendants of one or more generations of such marriages. However, because of 
the size and diverse historical origins of the migrating population, these marriages in 
themselves do not demonstrate ties between the migrating families which predated their 
arri val in Montana. 

No detailed evaluation was made for this report of whether or not there were preexisting 
ties among the Metis adults who came into Montana based on earlier marriages linking 
their family lines, nor was such an evaluation provided by the petitioner. Many had 
common orIgins in that they had earlier resided in the same settlement or location at the 
same time (e.g., the Red River Settlement in 1870), sometimes living immediately 
adjacent to each other. In some instances, both spouses of a migrating family were from 
the same area. A detailed analysis was not made to determine the extent or significance 
of this. In the selected Jines studied for marriage rates, it was not found in most instance 
that Jines linked by marriage had migrated together to Montana, or even that more than 
the one person from a family who married a "Montana" line had moved to Montana. An 
initial review of the large Doney line found the Metis spouses of the first two generations 
of Doneys resident in Montana were drawn from a number of different lines and had no 
clear prior links with each other. 

Franklin and Bunte argued that the marriages in Montana were a continuation of pre­
Montana marriage patterns of the Pembina Metis as largely Metis-Metis or Metis-Indian 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994,34-35). They considered, incorrectly, that the almost complete 
universality of pre-Montana marriages as Metis-Metis was good evidence of ties among 
the body of migrants which predated Montana. They did not present a systematic analysis 
to demonstrate preexisting ties or to show a continuity of the initial Montana settlements 
from the pre-Montana communities of origin of the migrants. The petitioner did not 
present information to demonstrate preexisting ties based on pre-Montana marriages, 
except for a few examples of interrelated extended families coming as groups, which 
pertained to only limited portions of the petitioner. The most prominent example was the 
Berger-Wilkie party which settled around Lewistown. Actually demonstrating 
preexisting ties among the migrating families based on marriages or on tribal membership 
or residence in the same settlement would be an important part of demonstrating 
community in Montana before 1900 by showing that the newly arrived populations had 
preexisting linkages. 
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Comments on Method of Analysis of Marriage Patterns 

"Metis" was defined for purposes of this evaluation as being of French-Indian ancestry, 
with the Indian ancestry usually being Cree and/or Chippewa. The source of evidence for 
this determination was the infonnation entered by BlA researchers into a Family Tree 
Maker (FrM) database (BAR 1998).93 No identification or assumption of group 
membership was incorporated into the analysis. Marriages with individuals identifiably 
from the Turtle Mountain Band or Rocky Boy's Band were counted separately, consistent 
with identifications and distinctions made by petitioner members presently and, evidently, 
throughout the 20th century. 

The time period examined in detail was from the 1860's on, even though the migration of 
family lines was spread over a period of some 60 or more years after 1860. The 
evaluation was focused'on the marriages of individuals moving to Montana, including 
marriages which occurred before they moved, with a lesser examination of some of their 
immediate ancestors. 

Family lines were classified by the region, Highline or Front Range, where they were 
found in Montana. The classification was based largely on the birthplaces of individuals 
within a family line and on references to their residences in historical records and oral 
histories. Essentially all of the family lines reviewed were clearly associated with one or 
the other region, but not both regions. Evidence on places of marriage and death were too 
limited to be useful as other than supplementary evidence. For almost all of the lines, the 
pattern of birthplaces showed Canada and/or North Dakota as the birthplaces of earlier 
generations, followed later by Montana locations. The earliest Montana birthplaces were 
generally rural Highline or rural Front Range locations, but not both, with rural town 
locations, Montana city, and out-of-state locations coming later. In other words, the data 
were, by and large, consistent with what is known of the history of the movement of these 
popuations. 

An evaluation of marriage patterns and rates of intermarriage over time ideally is based 

93 The following sources were used to document the petitioner's genealogies. The initial data which the 
BIA used to compile the petitioner's genealogies into one user-friendly genealogical research program 
(BAR 1998) were the membership records, anceslry charts. and individual histories submitted with the 
petition (LSTCIM 1984. 1987). The Roe Cloud Roll and applications (BIA 1937. 1938). and the published 
records of the Red River Settlement (Sprague and Frye 1983) were used to clarify genealogical connections 
between family lines and from one generation 10 the next. Other sources which contributed significantly in 
verifying lineages and identifying tribal descent were the censuses or rolls of the Turtle Mountain Band of 
Chippewa (BIA 1884-1900. 12120/1906 [Allen report], 1906a. 1906b; Interior 8128/1885 [Gardner report); 
Mahone et al. 1890; McCumber et al. 10/1/1892.9/24/1 892) and the Rocky Boy's Indians (BIA 4/2011909 
[Wheat]; Interior 711611917 [McLaughlin]). Additional records relating to Ihe Turtle Mountain Chippewa 
who resided on the reservation after 1892 also identified some of their ancestors and relatives who were 
deceased or no longer living on the reservation (BIA 21411907, 4/29/1 909. 11/1 0/1913. ca. 1920). The 
Federal censuses for Pembina County, Minnesota Territory in 1850 and Montana Territory in 1880 (White 
Weasel n.d.; Census 1880) were also used by the BlA to clarify family relationships and are quoted in the 
"notes" in the genealogy program (BAR 1998), 
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on the complete past and present population of the petitioning group. However, even 
assuming that the petitioner's ancestors in the past fanned a definable group or groups, a 
complete reconstruction of past populations and marriages was not possible within the 
time frame for this review because of the large population over time of several generations 
of the ancestral families of the current 3,893 Little Shell members. As an alternative, the 
source of information used for this analysis was the FT:\1 database which was not limited 
to direct lineal ancestors of present members of the petitioner, but consisted of a partial 
reconstruction of their family line which included marriages of individuals with no 
present descendants in the membership. 

The present Little. Shell membership of 3,893 descends from an unknown number of 
historical ancestors who originated the petitioner's various family lines. A complete list 
of all of the petitioner's Metis and Indian ancestors in the 19th century was not presented 
by the petitioner, nor compiled for this report. A complete listing of these ancestors 
would be substantially larger than the number of ancestors traced to Pembina, the Red 
River Settlement. or other pre-Montana locations (and listed in the tables for this report). 
About one-third of the petitioner's members had no ancestors who could be traced to one 
of these sources even provisionally; instead, they were indicated as having Metis ancestry 
by the inclusion of themselves or their ancestors on the Roe Cloud Roll, or by 
information in other sources such as local histories or oral histories. In addition, the 
evaluation of marriage links and Metis-Metis marriage rates demonstrated that many 
others, who had, for example, a Turtle Mountain ancestor, had other Metis ancestors as 
well. 

General Description of Marriage Patterns 

The marriage patterns of fourteen selected family lines have been examined in detail, and 
more than two dozen additional lines in less detail, by the BIA researchers. Based on all 
of the lines examined, the petitioner's Metis families almost exclusively married other 
Metis families for several decades after their arrival in Montana. A small percentage of the Metis families married Metis from Canada or North Dakota or Indians from Montana 
tribes. The marriages were largely localized within each region, to the extent that 
marriage between families from these two geographically well-separated areas was not 
common during any time period in Montana. Each family line generally had marriages 
with a substantial number of other Metis lines, rather than just a few. Multiple marriages 
between the same two lines were not uncommon, some of them a sibling pair marrying a 
sibling pair. In some instances after 1900, marriages occurred among different branches 
of the same line; for example, a Parenteau descendant married another Parenteau 
descendant, or, not infrequently, a Doney married someone from one of the other 
branches of the very large Doney line. No lines were found which differed substantially 
with regard to having high rates of Metis-Metis marriage initially in Montana and 
declining rates into the 20th century. 
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Creation of Kinship Ties 

The high rates of Metis-Metis marriage between 1880 and 1940. and substantial rates 
afterwards, linked numerous family lines within each of the two regions. These 
marriages created extensive kinship based social ties within each region or parts of each 
region which were reflected subsequently in the social and political character of the 
petitioner. These ties largely existed within one of the regions only, because marriage 
between an individual from the Front Range and an individual from the Highline was 
very infrequent. 

Franklin and Bunte noted that the kinship linkages resulting from marriages between 
Metis families "tend to be most extensive and intensive within the two major regional 
settlement areas ... as these regional community subgroups have the longest history of 
interaction and intermarriage" (Franklin and Bunte 1994,43). It is not clear from their 
description whether they concluded that each region consisted of a single network 
encompassing all of the Little Shell Metis families or that there were several networks 
within each region that were not necessarily connected with each other. Although they 
used the term "regional network," they did not present an analysis intended specifically to 
demonstrate that all or most of the Little Shell famiJies in a region are connected by 
marriage. 

Franklin and Bunte presented four charts showing marriage-based links between groups 
of families, focusing on the family lines of individuals they or Campisi and Stama 
interviewed (Franklin and Bunte 1994, figures 1-4). Franklin and Bunte noted correctly 
that on each chart only part of the listed family line is actually shown, and that only some 
of the marriage links for these lines are shown (Franklin and Bunte 1994,44). Thus there 
are more links, to more families. than are shown on their charts (judged by the FTM 
data). Their Figure 1 shows the Doney line and some linked lines, including the Antoine 
Azure line and Joe Dussome. Figure 2 is focused on a different set of linked lines from 
the Highline, located in the Havre and Chinook area. Figure 3 shows two groups of 
linked lines from the Front Range. Family Jines which originally settled at Dearborn 
Canyon and, subsequently, at Augusta, were linked with lines originally from Teton 
Canyon which subsequently moved to Choteau. The Gray family line is shown as linking 
these two sets of families. Figure 4, labeled as showing kinship ties among Browning, 
Dupuyer, and Choteau families, focuses on the Salois and Bushie lines. No links are 
shown to the Front Range lines that are in Figure 3. 

To evaluate the extent of linkages, the BIA researchers made an examination of five 
family lines within the Front Range region and six family lines within the Highline I 
Lewistown region using the FrM database (BAR 1998). This review of marriages among 
the Little Shell members and ancestors indicated that in each region there were one or 
more blocs consisting of a large number of Metis family lines which were linked with 
each other by marriage. This analysis suggested, but did not fully show, that some lines 
were more closely linked to each other (had more intermarriages within a given time 
period) than were others. There is some indication, from examination of these and other 
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lines, that there may be multiple blocs within a region, perhaps with a few links to others. 
Because of the large number of lines, it is possible for a given line to marry numerous 
other Metis lines without marrying anyone of these more than once and without those 
lines necessarily having.a high number of other links between them. This analysis was 
limited in scope and did not attempt to show whether all or most of the petitioner Metis 
family lines within each region were linked to each other in a single bloc. Such an 
analysis could not be made because of the large number of lines involved and because a 
complete list was not compiled of all of the Metis migrants to Montana ancestral to the 
peti tioner ( or otherwise) between the 1860's and the 1930's. 

The examination of five Front Range lines indicated that each was directly linked to each 
other, or linked to a common line, by multiple marriages between 1870 and 1940. 
However, the examination also showed that each was linked to a substantial number of 
lines with which the others did not have evident links.94 The five lines were the 
descendants of Abraham Salois. Basil Ambrose Larance, William Boushie. James Swan 
(b. 1829), and James R. Gray (Raymond Gray line). The analysis charted each line's 
marriages to each of the others and to other Metis lines. The Larance and Boushie lines 
were linked to all of the other four lines. The Gray and Salois lines were linked to three, 
and the Swan line to two. There were 23 other Metis lines which had married two or 
more of the five lines. Another 40 lines were directly linked by marriage to only one of 
the five families. These five linked families had originally settled in more than one 
location within the Front Range. 

The Metis marriage partners of the six selected Highline family lines between 1850 and 
1940 were examined to determine evaluate the extent of the linkage of these lines to other 
Metis family lines from the region or outside the region. The selected lines were the 
Joseph Doney, Calais lafountain, Jacob Berger. Louizon Gardipee, Antoine Azure (b. ca. 
1804), and Alexander McGillis lines. These lines were selected because they had a large' 
number of descendants in the petitioner, because there were petitioner leaders from these 
lines, or because they were frequently mentioned in interviews. No attempt was made to distribute the selected lines geographically or by apparent point of origin. One or another 
of the lines had settled originally at or near Lewistown or elsewhere in the Judith Basin, 
the Doney area, and along and nonh of the Milk River. 

This examination found that the Doney and lafountain lines had married into each of the 
other five lines, and that the Azure, Berger, and Gardipee lines had married into four of 
the other five. The McGillis line was directly connected only to the Doney and Azure 
lines. Each of the six lines had marriages to additional Metis lines in common with at 
least one other of the six. The number of these links ranged from nine in common for 

9-C Because of the structure of presentation in the FTM database the analysis did not identify every 
marriage link between these families. 
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Gardipee to 24 for Lafountain and 25 for Doney.95 Overall, there were 29 lines (other 
than the six themselves) married into at least twO of the selected six lines, eight married 
to three such lines, six married to four, and one married into five. However, there were 
an additional 53 Metis lines which were linked by marriage to only one of the selected six 
lines. Thus on both the Highline and the Front Range, approximately half of the Metis 
families that had married with the selected family lines over the time span from 1860 to 
1940 had no connection with the selected line other than that one marriage. 

The analyses above suggest that the petitioner may be able to establish, by a more 
extensive analysis, whether each of the two regions was entirely linked by marriage ties, 
or whether there were only sub-regional, possibly localized, subgroupings. 

Some typical descriptions of the marriages are given below to illustrate the complexity of 
relationships. Of the descendants of Louis Gardipee (Highline), in the very earliest 
Montana generation an individual born in 1866 in Montana married a Doney and then a 
Fleury. His first generation descendants married a Parisien, a LaTray, a Fleury, a 
Parenteau, and a Gardner. Half of the next generation, born between 1914 and 1937. 
married an Azure, a Doney, a Parenteau, a Berger, a LeMercier, and individuals from 
other lines. 

The Doneys, the largest Little Shell line, were linked through marriages in one of the first 
three Montana generations with Gardipee (HighIine), Plummer, Sinclair (Highline), 
Kelsey, Jarrett, Gardner, Lafountain, Moran, Allery, Lavenger, Turcotte, Fleury, and 
other lines. Some of these names appeared more than once, in the same or successive 
generations of marriages. In the later generations, there were marriages between branches 
of the Doneys themselves. 

The Antoine Azure line, through marriages of individuals born after 1860, was linked 
with LaFromboise (before moving to Montana), Moran, LaPier, Ducharme, Azure, 
Trottier. Gladeau, LaMere. Jeanotte, and others. 

The prominent Front Range Salois family line had marriages in the first three Montana 
generations with the Sinclair (Front Range) line, LaRance, Gray, Collins, Gardipee (Front 
Range), Flamand, Fellers, and other lines, as well as to their own Salois kinsmen. 

Marriage between the Front Range and Highline regions was infrequent between 1880 
and 1940, but was not entirely absent. This is especially notable given the intensity of 
marriage within each region and that fact that there were family lines in both regions 
which had originated in the Red River Settlement. As noted, there were some differences 
between the selected family lines in the number of inter-regional marriage ties. Many of 
the selected family lines had no inter-regional marriages, or only one or two; a few family 

9l Pan of the difference reflects the substantial differences in size of the six lines, with Doney and 
Lafountain being the largest and. consequently, substantially more marriages than. for example, the Berger 
line. 
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lines had more inter-regional marriages, although such marriages were never more than a 
minority of all the marriages in a family line. The confinement of marriages within a 
region is consistent with the other evidence that, while there was social contact among 
Metis within the two areas or within pans of the two areas, after they moved to Montana, 
there was little contact between the two areas. 

Franklin and Bunte did not describe a substantial number of inter-regional marriage ties, 
contrasting the infrequency of these with the intensity of marriage within each region 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 43). They gave only a few examples of marriages across 
regional boundaries, and specifically identified only links between Lewistown families 
and the Front Range settlements of Augusta and Choteau. 

Among the inter-regional marriages were several in the Louis Gardipee line. Another 
important exception was the John Swan line (b.1832 in Red River Settlement) some of 
whose descendants settled at Lewistown, which had several marriages with Front Range 
LaPiers and several others. The descendants of a James Swan (b.1829 in Canada) who 
primarily lived in Front Range areas, judging by birthplaces, included marriages of 
indi ... lduals born before 1920 to Highline families of Antoine Azure, Parenteau, Gladue, 
Lafountain, Trotchle, and possibly others. A few inter-regional marriages occurred after 
1920 as a result of post-I 900 popul ation movements. In one or two instances after 1900, 
individuals from the Highline had moved to the Front Range or vice versa, and had 
married there. In a few other instances, there were marriages between individuals whose 
family lines were from the two areas but who were themselves born after 1920 in Great 
Falls or Helena where Metis were drawn from both regions. 

There may have been social ties between the two regions based on earlier residence of 
migrants in the same Canadian or North Dakota settlement, or at St. Peter's Mission. 
However, this was not demonstrated by the petitioner. 

Analysis of Rates of Past Marriages 

The rates of marriage discussed here are, with one exception, a measure of the prevalence 
of past Metis-Metis marriage among the overall body of the petitioner's ancestral 
populations, as far as they are known. The gross marriage rates developed by these 
analyses', and those of Franklin and Bunte, do not measure the distribution of these 
marriages, that is, whether they spread across the entire population being studied or 
primarily occurred within smaller clusters of families. These measures do not show 
whether there were substantial differences among subgroups or communities in the rate of 
marriage to members of those subgroups, or to Metis in general. The petitioner has a 
large number of Metis ancestors, multiple historic settlements, and great distances 
between those settlements. Given this historical situation, whether the marriages were 
well distributed across the entire population, thus linking it, or primarily occurred within 
smaller groups of families, is a more important question in this case than it would be for a 
smaller group, derived from a single settlement, with fewer ancestral families than the 
very large number of ancestral families here. 
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To determine rates of marriage within a group requires a definition of the group which is 
independent of the phenomenon or variable, in this case marriage, that is to be measured. 
That kind of definition of a group has not been adequately established here.· Absent this 
baseline infonnation, a general marriage rate based on all the petitioner's ancestors would 
not necessarily demonstrate social cohesion as a single community. Consequently, it 
could not be concluded on the basis of present knowledge whether the Metis-Metis 
marriages in the first Montana generation of the petitioner's ancestors, those marrying 
between 1880 and 1900, were marriages within a pre-existing group or not. They may, 
alternatively have been only marriages within a population with similar origins, language, 
culture and religion. 

Measured Rates in Selected Family Lines 

One measure of marriage rates was made by the BIA researchers by studying six family 
lines from each of the two major geographical regions of settlement. The family lines 
chosen were ones with large numbers of descendants in the present membership and ones 
which have been somewhat prominent in the 20th-century history of the group. It does 
not include all such lines. At least 25 percent of the current membership is descended 
from these lines. 

The Highline family lines reviewed were those of Joseph Dodet Parenteau, Antoine 
Azure (b. ca. 1804), Louizon Gardipee, Jacob Berger, Alexander McGillis, and Joseph 
Doney. The Doney line and this Azure line are among those with the largest number of 
descendants within the membership of the Little Shell group.96 The Doney line's 
ancestors deri ve from the 1850 Pembina settlement, and came via the Turtle Mountain 
area. This Azure line and the Berger line were also in the Pembina settlement in 1850. 
These Parenteau and Gardipee lines were present in the Red River Settlement in 1870. 

The family lines of individuals who settled, or whose descendants settled, on the Front 
Range were those of Abraham Salois, Basil Ambrose LaRance, Louis Gardipee 
(b. 1782),97 Jacob Jocko, James Swan (b.1829) and James R. Gray. Swan, Larance, and 
Gardipee originated in the Red River SenJemenl. Members of the Salois line reportedly 
served in Riel's rebellion and may have been from the Red River Settlement. The specific 
place of origin of the Gray and Jocko lines was not determined. 

The source of information on the marriages of the petitioner'S ancestors was the FTM 
database (BAR 1998), which included a partial reconstruction of marriages of individuals 
in the petitioner's ancestral families who have no descendants in the petitioner's present 
membership. There was no information concerning marriage for a substantial number of 

ge The ancestors of the Little Shell include many individuals with shared last names who mayor may not 
have had any connection with each other. 

97 There was no evident connection between the two Gardipee lines, one on the Highline and one on the 
Front Range, at least as far back as approximately 1800, from the data available at this time. 
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siblings in some lines. These individuals were of necessity excluded from the 
calculations. The degree to which this may have skewed the results, and in what 
direction, is unknown. Marriages where the spouse's ethnicity was not identified were 
counted as marriages to non-Indians. More than half of the marriages to "non-Indians" in 
these statistics are marriages where the ethnicity of the spouse was not shown in the 
database. 

This evaluation measured marriage at the estimated date of inception of the marriage. 
Because the FTM database did not consistently include the date of marriage of a couple, 
the date of marriage was estimated as 20 years after the birth year of the individual from the family line being examined. This measure does not account for the fact that marriages 
continue for a span of years, and hence is a conservative measure of the chronological 
period when those marriages were in existence. Given that in this case Metis-Metis 
marriage was initially almost universal in Montana, and became gradually less frequent, 
this measure tends to understate the percent of existing Metis-Metis marriages (new and 
continuing) among this population at a later time. 

"Generation" here refers to the chronological age ranges stated, rather than genealogical 
generations. Because most families were large, the age range among succeeding 
generations of descendants of a group of siblings quickly diverged sharply. Age range 
was used, instead of genealogical generations, to reflect the presumed shared social 
context of those who came of age at approximately the same time. 

The earliest Montana "generation" of the petitioner's ancestors, individuals born in the 
late 1860's and the 1870's, and living in the rural Montana Metis settlements, almost 
always married other individuals from Metis families, doing so in 92 percent of marriages 
studied (48 marriages). The balance of marriages consisted of 6 percent with non-Indians 
and 3 percent with other Indians. Segregating the Front Range lines from the Highline 
lines, the rates were 100 percent of the Front Range marriages and 85 percent of the 
Highline marriages. These marriages were estimated to have occurred between 1880 and 1900 while the rural Montana Metis settlements were at their height. 

In the next generation, individuals born between 1880 and 1899, 84 percent of all the 
marriages measured were between Metis. By regions, this consisted of 72 percent on the 
Front Range and 91 percent on the Highline. Marriages with non-Indians constituted 
15 percent, and 1 percent of marriages were with other Indians. This generation would 
have married between approximately 1900 and 1920, at a time when the rural settlements 
remained intact. 

The individuals born between 1900 and 1919, the last generation born in the rural areas, 
had largely moved to the towns before adulthood. Of these marriages (193 marriages), 
estimated as occurring between 1920 and 1939,48 percent were with other Metis, 
46 percent were with non-Indians, and 6 p~rcem were with other Indians.98 The Front 

98 With a few exceptions the other Indians were Gros Ventre or Assiniboine. 
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Range rate of marriage to Metis was 52 percent and the Highline rate was 46 percent. 

For the final cohort studied, individuals born between 1920 and 1939 and marrying 
between approximately 1940 and 1959 (337 marriages), 23 percent of marriages were 
with other Metis, 72 percent were with non-Indians. and 5 percent were with other 
Indians. The rate of marriage to Metis partners appears to have dropped off rapidly 
among those born in the last ten years of this period. 

Although most lines examined showed several marriages to Metis or reservation Lndians 
for individuals born between 1940 and 1960. these were isolated instances. making up 
less than 3 percent of the total marriages. Consequently, specific rates have not been 
calculated for this report. There have been few marriages in the past twenty years 
between two members of the Little Shell Band. 

Past Marriage Rates Based on the Current Little Shell Roll 

Marriage rates were also evaluated by examining the parentage of members on the Little 
Shell roll as of 1992. The birthdates of individuals on the roll were used as the measure 
of when a marriage was extant. This approach panly measures the continuation of a 
marriage past inception, until the birthdate of the youngest child, which the analysis of 
selected lines above did not do. This measure does not include past marriages which did 
not result in descendants in the present membership, nor marriages of individuals whose 
children are all deceased, but does include all of the present membership. Whether this 
procedure skewed the results was not detennined for this report. 

Forty-five percent of members born in 1939 had two Metis parents. By comparison. the 
measurement of marriages in selected lines showed 48 percent of new marriages between 
1920 and 1939 were Metis-Metis. Seventeen percent of those on the Little Shell roll who 
were born in 1959 had two Metis parents. This compares with 20 percent of new 
marriages between 1940 and 1959 measured in selected lines. The rates obtained based 
on parentage of those on the roll are consistent with the measure by selected lines. 

Measurements by the Petitioner 

The petitioner (Franklin and Bunte 1994; Franklin 1996) placed great weight on the 
measurement of marriage rates to demonstrate community because of the provisions of 
the acknowledgment regulations which provide that if more than 50 percent of the 
marriages of a group are within the group, this is sufficient in itself to demonstrate 
community.99 The petitioner's researchers concluded that the Little She)) had at least 
50 percent in-group marriages from the 1880's through at least 1950. None of their 
analyses attempted to demonstrate whether these marriages were spread out throughout 
the Little Shell'S ancestral population, or limited to subgroups. They did note that 
marriages between the two regions were infrequent. 

~ Section 83.7(b)(2)(ii) of the regulations (2~ CFR Part 83). 
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The petitioner, in a report by Franklin and Bunte, reviewed the parentage of all of those 
on the 1987 Little Shell roll (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 35-36).100 The rates of Metis­
Metis marriage derived through this analysis were generally consistent with those derived 
by BAR. Franklin's analysis found that Metis-Metis marriages comprised 92 percent of 
marriages between 1880 and 1910, 63 percent between 1911 and 1940, 22 percent 
between 1941 and 1970, and 12 percent between 1971 and 1987. The BAR's estimate has 
the advantage of including the 1990, 1991, and 1992 supplemental rolls as well as 
including many known marriages in earlier generations with no currently living 
descendants or where the descendants are not enrolled. Nonetheless, the BAR measure 
substantially accorded with Franklin's results. 

Franklin and Bunte presented a second analysis of the 1987 roll which factored in an 
estimate of an average length of marriage as 30 years (Franklin and Bunte 1994, table 2). 
This allowed for the fact that marriages would usually have continued later than the 
birthdate of the youngest child, the last date counted by the first method he used. This 
approach yielded a rate of Metis-Metis marriage of 63 percent of marriages in 1940 (the 
c.1fliest ycdr reported in the their table), 51 percent in 1950, 34 percent in 1960, and 
14 percent in 1987. This result is reasonably consistent with the conclusion above that by 
1950 new marriages within the group would have fallen below a rate of 50 percent Metis­
Metis marriages. 

Franklin and Bunte also presented a brief analysis of marriages extant in 1937 by 
examining the Roe Cloud Roll (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 38-39). They calculated that 
82 percent of the marriages of those on the roll were Metis-Metis "in-marriages," 
counting marriages to Rocky Boy's Chippewa-Cree and Turtle Mountain Band members 
as the same as marriages with other Metis. Another 7 percent were married to members 
of other Indian tribes. The Roe Cloud Roll, however, only included a portion of the 
ancestors of the present membership or of the Metis in Montana that time. The roll does 
show that there was a large body of Metis individuals intermarried at a rate more or less 
consistent with the other measures. 

Franklin in 1996 revised the petitioner'S marriage rates to calculate the percent of married 
members at a given time who were married to another Metis, rather than the percent of 
such marriages. Franklin followed draft acknowledgment guidelines which stated that 
in-marriages count "twice" because they affect two members of the groUp.IOI This 
approach has not been adopted, however, in any previous acknowledgment 
determinations. The acknowledgment regulations plainly refer to the percent of 
marriages, not the percent of members of the group affected. Thus, the percent of 
members participating in in-group marriages is not relevant evidence for the 50 percent 

100 It was not detennined if this limitation had any effect on their results. 

101 Thus, if 50 percent of the marriages of the petitioner's members were to another Metis. then 
67 percent of the petitioner's married members had married another Metis. 
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requ"irement of the regulations. 102 

The number of individuals in a group affected by in-group marriages, however, is relevant 
in evaluating ordinary evidence for the existence of a social community, under the 
regulations. 103 In calculating the percent of individuals in a group who marry within it, an 
in-marria~ involves two members of the group, while an out-marriage involves only one. 
Based on this approach and using the petitioner's 1987 roll, Franklin calculated that the 
portion of members who were born to marriages between two Metis was 96 percent for 
members born between 1880 and 1910, 77 percent for 1911 to 1940, 36 percent for 1941 
to 1970, and 22 percent for 1971 to 1987 (Franklin 1996,2).104 Incorporating the 
approach of counting the number of members of the group involved in Metis-Metis 
marriages, rather than the number of such marriages, and adopting an assumption that the 
length of marriages waS 30 years, Franklin estimated that the portion of members with a 
Metis-Metis marriage was 69 percent in 1949 (the earliest year presented), 50 percent in 
1960, and 25 percent in 1987. 

The petitioner estimated that the last year when more than 50 percent of Little Shell 
members marrying were marrying other Metis was 1949, when the rate was 53 percent 
(Franklin 1996,4). Franklin, looking at extant marriages and incorporating his estimate 
of a marriage length of 30 years, estimated that 50 percent of married Little Shell were 
married to another Metis in 1960, with the percentage declining after that time. The more 
conservative BAR measure of the parentage of members on the 1992 roll indicates that 
the late 1930's was the earliest that the portion of the petitioner'S new marriages that were 
between two Metis would have faJlen below 50 percent. The percent of Little Shell 
members marrying another Metis, as opposed to the percent of marriages, would have 
remained above 50 percent until somewhat later. The BAR's analysis of the parentage of 
members on the 1992 roll was consistent with its evaluation of selected family lines, 
which showed that 48 percent of new marriages between 1920 and 1939 were Metis­
Metis. 

Marriages to Members of Montana Reservation Tribes 

Only a small percentage of past marriages were with individuals from the federally 
recognized reservation tribes in Montana, the Rocky Boy's, Blackfeet, Gros Ventre. or 

[02 Section 83.7(b)(2)(ii) of the regulations (25 CFR Part 83). 

[OJ Section 83.7(b)(I)(i) of the regulations (25 CFR Part 83). 

104 Based on this approach. the statistics for selected lines analyzed above would be: 96 percent of 
members of these families marrying between 1880 and 1899 married another Metis. Between 1900 and 
1919. approximately 91 percent of those maFrying married another Metis. The proportion falls to 
65 percent of those marrying between 1920 and 1939. Of those marrying between 1940 and 1959, the 
percentage of individuals marrying Metis is 38 percent. Using this analysis. assuming a constant rate of 
decline, new marriages which were Metis-Metis would have fallen below 50 percent of members marrying 
by approximately 1950. 
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Assiniboine tribes. However. the data used may be skewed so that these results 
somewhat underestimate the actual number of historical marriages to reservation Indians. 
The potential skewing results from the Little Shell Band's prohibtion of dual enrollment 
with a recognized tribe. As a consequence, some of the descendants of marriages to 
members of one of the reservation tribes are not on the Little Shell roll, because they are 
enrolled with the tribe of their non-Little Shell parent (see Franklin and Bunte 1994.52-
54). These unenrolled descendants, and their ancestors, may not show on the 
genealogical outline of the family line in the FfM, even though they are pan of the family 
lines with members in the petitioner (see below, relationship to reservation Indians). 

Marriage Patterns in the Context of Discrimination and Social Distinction 

Franklin..:.. i Bunte concluded that past marriages with non-Indians were much more 
commonly a Metis woman marrying a white man than vice-versa (Franklin and Bunte 
1994,51). This was true of almost all of the few marriages to non-Indians between 1880 
and 1910. The ratio of Metis women versus Metis men marrying non-Indians declined 
gradually. at the same time as the percent of Metis marrying non-Indians increased. The 
ratio did not become an even one until 1970. by which time there were almost no Metis­
Metis marriages. A systematic pattern of the women of a social group. but not the men, 
marrying into a high status group is tenned "hypergamy." It frequently occurs where one 
of the two intermarrying groups has a lower status than the other. This historical pattern 
of Metis marriage to non-Indians lends support for the conclusion that the Metis were 
regarded by non-Indians in the past as having a lower status and that this view continued, 
albeit to a diminishing extent, throughout the 1950's and 1960's. 

While there were significant barriers to intermarriage resulting from views of the 
surrounding non-Indian population, oral histories and interviews indicated that there was 
no barrier from the point of view of the Metis families to marriage to white non-Indians 
within the lifetime of living individuals (FD 1998). This applied to marriages either with 
non-Indians or with reservation Indians. This attitude was almost universally reported by adults who grew up in the "moccasin flat" era, notwithstanding the discrimination 
experienced in that era. These accounts report attitudes after 1920 and are consistent with 
increasing frequency of marriage to non-Indians after that time. Two individuals in their 
sixties stated, however, that their parents would have preferred that they had married 
another Metis rather than marrying non-Indians as they did (Allen 1998; G. Az;ure 1998). 

Franklin and Bunte argued in part that the increase in out-marriage resulted from the 
Metis lines having become so intermarried that individuals had become so closely related 
that there were no longer eligible marriage partners within the group. The analysis of 
selected family lines above indicates that the number of Metis family lines "available" for 
marriage was very large and that it is unlikely that potential Metis marriage partners were 
not available. 
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Conclusions 

Intermarriage among the Metis generated numerous links between Metis families within 
the two geographical regions. The complete distribution of these links within each 
region, however, could not be detennined in adequate detail from the petitioner's or 
BAR's analysis. This analysis was sufficient to demonstrate, along with other kinds of 
evidence, that the two regions were substantially separate. It also demonstrated the 
existence of substantial blocs of linked families within each region, but not to the extent 
that an entire region may have been linked together. This analysis did not demonstrate 
whether there were multiple communities within the regions, or the extent to which there 
were families ancestral to the petitioner which had few or no marriage ties to other such 
families. 

The patterns of marriage and high rates of Metis-to-Metis marriage before the 1940's 
indicate that those marriages were occurring within a popUlation of individuals with 
extensive social contact with each other. These patterns and rales of marriage also appear 
to reflect circumstances where there were likely strong social boundaries against marriage 
and interaction outside of the population because of cultural and social differences 
between the French-Indian Catholic Metis and the largely Protestant Anglo-American 
settlers around them. The intensity of marriage indicates that other social ties be~ides 
marriage existed, since it is unlikely that such ex.tensive marriage would have occurred 
without a social context for marriage partners to become acquainted. Although the social 
context for the period of extensive Metis-Metis marriage in Montana has not been 
completely developed for this report, the localization of marriage partners within regions 
strongly indicates a high degree of local social contact among Metis, a fact consistent 
with the limited available descriptions of Metis social life up until the 1930's as described 
earlier in this report. 

Social Relationships and Social Interaction, 1950 - 1993 

Introduction 

None of the petition narratives present a detailed description of the existence of social 
community among the petitioner's members and ancestors between 1950 and 1993. 
Franklin and Bunte's 1994 report assumed that section 83.8, which applies to previously­
acknowledged groups, applies to the Little Shell case, which would mean that the 
petitioner would not have to demonstrate the existence of historical community (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 31). Franklin and Bunte therefore focused much of their argument about 
community on demonstrating the existence of a community at present, although they 
described some historical evidence to support their discussion of a modern-day 
community. Beyond that, they depended on arguments for high rates of marriage within 
the group, as we]] as members' continuing cultural differences and social distinctions 
from non-Indians. As a consequence, there is not a focused presentation in Franklin and 
Bunte's report describing community between 1950 and 1993. 
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The narrative report by Morris and Van Gunten in 1984 and the repon by Campisi and 
Stama in 1987 were prepared before the provisions relating to previously-acknowledged 
petitioners became pan of the acknowledgment regulations in 1994. Campisi and 
Stama's brief 1987 repon, based on research conducted in 1985 and 1986, gave only a 
limited description of a community at the time their research was conducted. Its 
description of community before 1987 was limited. and generalized over too long a span 
of time to be a useful description of community at any given time in the past. The initial 
documented petitions of 1982 and ) 984, including the repon by Morris and Van Gunten, 
included only brief descriptions of community at that time. 

There were not substantial contemporary descriptions of social community among the 
Little Shell membership between 1950 and 1993. except for studies of "Hill 57" and other 
Indian residence areas in Great Falls. However. information about changes in residence 
and marriage patterns. and the maintenance of Michiff culture before and after 'this time 
period. provided useful data. Some useful interview data were also available. 

Kinship Ties Resultingfrom Marriage among Mitis Families 

The almost universal Metis-Metis marriages earlier in the century, as described above, 
created an extensive network of kinship-based social ties within ponions of the regions of 
original settlement in Montana. Thus in 1950, substantial kinship ties existed within 
these various ponions of the adult popUlation, since these adults were to a large degree 
the children of two Metis parents. Such kinship ties would have continued between 1950 
and ) 993, but would have gradually diminished as the percentage of marriages between 
Metis families diminished. During the period between 1950 and 1993, the rate of 
marriage of Little Shell Metis to other Metis declined sharply. Of those marrying 
between) 940 and 1959. the percentage of individuals marrying Metis ·is estimated as 
33 percent. The rate of Metis in-marriage continued to decline after 1959, so that by 1970 
few new marriages were Metis-Metis. Even though the rate of new marriages that were 
Metis-Metis declined after 1950. many marriages made before 1950 would have 
continued after 1950. Because of continuing marriages. the percentage of married adults 
within the Little Shell Metis families who were involved in Metis-Metis marriages is 
estimated not to have dropped below 50 percent until approximately 1950. 

Because 6f the declining rate of Metis-to-Metis marriages, the percent of adults who were 
the children of two Metis parents would have gradually diminished. Based on the gross 
rates of marriage cited above, and assuming that the children of a marriage were born 
within the first 10 years of a marriage, most of the adults born between 1920 and 1949 
and becoming adults between 1940 and 1969 would have had two Metis parents. The 
number of adults who were the children of two Metis parents probably did not fall below 
50 percent until some after 1970. Even with the increasingly large proportion of ethnic 
out-marriage, most individuals in the latter years of this period would have had at least 
two Metis grandparents, as well as likely links through aunts and uncles or cousins who 
married Metis. As discussed in the earlier analysis, however, the extent to which these 
kinship ties linked various portions of the petitioner's members and ancestors within the 
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separate geographical regions is not evident from the available data and analysis. 

Settlements and Distribution of Membership 

Ancestors in the oldest Montana generation. who grew up before the "moccasin flat" era. 
died over time between 1950 and 1993. In addition, an increasing percentage of Little 
Shell adults were individuals born after the end of the Hmoccasin flat" era. Thus there 
was a decline both in the proportion of members who had experienced the Metis social 
life and the proportion of members who had been former residents of the distinct Indian 
neighborhoods. However. even today approximately one quarter of the current members 
(939 of 3.S93) were born before 1940 and are therefore old enough to have participated in 
the society of the "moccasin flat" era. lOS . 

From the 1950's on, the membership increasingly moved from the rural areas of 
settlement to Great Falls and Helena. as well as to other urban Montana areas. In 
addition. migration out of state, which began in the 1940's, became increasingly common 
from the 1950's onward. About 14 percent of the members born before 1959 were born 
out of state. Most of these individuals continue to reside out of state. 

The social division between the two regions continued, although some contact between 
individuals from the two regions probably occurred in urban settings. Whether each 
region was a single unit in this era. or instead was composed of several independent units 
within it, could not be determined from the evidence submitted. 

Urban Settlements 

Great Falls and Helena had substantial numbers of Little She)) residents by 1950. 
Statistics on Little Shell members' birthplaces reflect the history of Great Falls and 
Helena as the primary centers of urban relocation for Little ShelJ families before the 
1950's. Many of the present adull members resident in these two cities have lived there 
all of their lives. Of 534 individuals on the current membership list born in Great FaJJs, 
approximately 272 were born before 1960. The equivalent figure for Helena is 128 of 
228. By comparison, only 36 of 126 individuals born in Butte were born before 1960 and 
0nly seven of 126 members born in Anaconda were born before 1960, indicating that 
settlement in those cities tended to come later. Some of the members living in these cities 
were permanent residents, but others migrated back and forth between the rural towns and 
the cities. Urban residents maintained kin ties with family in the rural towns (Jacoby 
1998; Thomas 1998). 

The "moccasin flat" Indian neighborhoods which had developed in Great Falls and 

10' No estimate of the proportion of adults drawn from the pre-1920 and the 1920-40 periods has been 
made. 
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Helena in the late 1920's and 1930's continued to exist until at least the 1960'S.I06 A study 
of "Hill 57" by Sister Providencia 107 of the College of Great Falls in 1964 stated that the 
population of Hill 57 / Mt. Royal 108 had averaged 400 persons during the 1940's and 
1950's. It stated that there had been seven communities of Indians within the city in those 
decades. Providencia concluded that the city's Indian population first grew as a result of 
the Depression, and then World War n. Poor economic conditions on the reservations in 
the early 1950's encouraged later migrations (Providencia 1964). 

A detailed population survey in 1954-1955 of the Hill 57 I Ml. Royal settlement and the 
Wire Mill settlement by Sister Providencia found a population of 412 individuals who 
had been resident for more than one year (i.e., omitting transients) (Providencia, July 
1955). The study's population summary identified 18 households at Hill 57, 23 at Mount 
Royal, and 10 at Wire Mill as composed of Indians with "Tun Ie Mountain rights." Those 
households so identified apparently included both families actuaJJy from Tunle Mountain 
Reservation and petitioner families. The repon identified another ten households with 
Rocky Boy's Band, nine as Chippewa, and one as a Cree. 109 Franklin and Bunte analyzed 
the complete lists of residents included with the repon and concluded that out of 184 
adults, 106 were from Little Shell families (58 percent), 56 were other Chippewa-Cree 
from Rocky Boy and Tunle Mountain (30 percent), II were other Indian, and I I were 
non-Indian (Franklin and Bunte 1996,21). This analysis identified about 40 percent of 
the residents of these Indian neighborhoods at that time as reservation Indians. Group 
affiliation was identified by Franklin and Bunte on the basis of the 1987 Little Shell roll 
and the 1969 Rocky Boy's roll (Franklin and Bunte 1996, 21). 

Although many residents of these settlements were squatters, many others were shown on 
the 1954- I 955 list as owning their own houses (albeit apparently smaJJ houses, poorly 
constructed, with no more than two to four rooms) and the land they stood on. Others 
were renting. Home ownership was especially common on Mt. Royal (Guzman 1998; 
Van Gunten 1998). This indicates that although the inhabitants of this area were 
generally poor, the neighborhood segregation was panly racial, and not entirely a matter 

106 Although Great Falls and Helena are characterized here as "urban" centers, they are still relatively small cities, and were substantially smaller in the past. The 1990 population of Great Falls was 55,000, and that of Helena, 25,000. 

107 Sister Providencia first became involved with "Hill 57" in the early 1950's at the instigation of Jerry Thunun of the MLI. Her students did several studies, in addition to working on projects to aid the residents (Providencia 1979). 

101 The adjacent settlements of "Hill 57"and Mount Royal are sometimes referred to separately and sometimes grouped together simply as "Hill 57." 

109 The Chippewa included a small and distinct group, centered around the Gopher family, some of whom are still resident on "Hill 57" today. This group claimed descent from a Chippewa chief from the Great Lakes area. They were identified in the studies of "Hill 57" (see above) as descendants of a Chippewa band from the Great Lakes, unrelated to the Little Shell families, Tunle Mountain, or the bands on the Rocky Boy's Reservation. 
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of economics. However, only 3 of 40 men were permanently employed and about 
60 percent of the residents were receiving welfare services, although none from the BIA 
(College of Great Falls ca. 1955). 

A family that lived in Hill 57/ Mt. Royal neighborhoods for many years indicated in an 
interview that there was a strong sense of community among the residents in the 1950's 
and I 960·s. They said that residents clearly distinguished the Little Shell Metis living in 
the neighborhoods from residents who were Rocky Boy Chippewa-Cree or Indians from 
other reservations (Guzman 1998). Sister Providencia, referring to the 1950's, stated that 
"on the Hill, the Little Shell people were recognized as distinct by the other Indians" 
(Providencia 1979.9). 

In 1964, the settlements were smaller. but there were still between 100 and 150 persons 
Jiving on "Hill 57" and an equal number in Mt. Royal (Providencia 1964). The Indian 
popUlations in these two settlements were characterized in a J 964 study by Sister 
Providencia as having more social control than non-Indian families of the city 
(Providencia 1964). The study also stated that there was "community interaction among 
the many clans." The settlements were described as a haven for Indians who came to 
Great Falls looking for work. 

It is unclear to what extent Indians living in Great Falls and Helena lived outside these 
settlements before the 1950's. The 1954·1955 study noted that there were Indians living 
elsewhere in Great Falls. A mapping of Indian schoolchildren in 1957 showed 
concentrations of Indians outside of Hill 57 / Mt. Royal and Wire Mill. They were 
located on the south side of Great Falls east of the river, and on the west side below Hill 
57. A few of the schoolchildren were scattered around the town as well (Anonymous 
1957). Interviews indicated that in the 1950's Metis families began to move from "Hill 
57" and the other neighborhoods into oon.segregated but low-income areas of the 'city 
(Thomas 1998). It appears that residential segregation in Great Falls gradually broke 
down and. as a result, the Indian neighborhoods declined in size. There remained 14 
houses on "Hill 57" in 1979 and two in 1998 (LaPier 1979; Van Gumen 1998). 

The size and nature of the Indian neighborhood, or neighborhoods, in Helena is not well 
documented. Some indication of the Indian population there in the 1930's is given by the 
Roe Cloud Roll, which included 32 families from Helena. Franklin and Bunte stated that 
they were unable to offer much information concerning Helena, past or present (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 72). Campisi and Stama quoted one Helena resident, interviewed in 
1986, as observing that "the Little Shell community in Helena 'sticks together' and that 
they all know each other" (Campisi and Stama 1987a. 60). One interviewee, in her late 
50's, provided a description of a settlement of Indians that was poor, segregated, and with 
a strong sense of community (Mayer 1998; see also Swan 1998). She described the 
settlement as a mixture of Little Shell and other Indians. There was no information 
available about what proportion of this settlement consisted of petitioner families. The 
Little Shell families were, however, reportedly distinct from the other inhabitants. 

·185· 

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 258 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding· Technical Report 

Cultural Differences 

There were no detailed, contemporary measures of the maintenance of distinct culture by 
the petitioner's members and ancestors between 1950 and 1992. Based on the evidence 
from before 1950 and after 1992, there were continued cultural differences from non­
Indians and reservation Indians in this period, but the amount of difference declined 
substantially in this interval. This infonnation, which provides only a general description, 
indicates similar changes and trends within both regions, and among their respective 
populations whose connection with each other has not been fully established. 

By most interview accounts, the last generation to fully maintain the historical Michiff 
culture was that of individuals born in the rural settlements, who to a large degree settled 
in the rural towns or cities between 1920 and 1940. This Metis culture diminished 
rapidly with the generation born after 1930 that grew up in the towns and cities, the 
individuals who are the older adults among the petitioner'S members today. Accounts by 
individuals growing up in the 1930's consistently indicate that few of them learned the 
Michiff language, or French. Interviews indicate that the full-scale traditional New Year's celebrations, one of the most distinctive social and cultural institutions, came to an end 
around 1950, as the older generation was reaching the end of its lifespan. Thus, the 
overall amount of cultural differences between the Metis and non-Indians was already 
decreasing in the 1930's. Some differences probably remained, among older individuals, 
and a decreasing proportion of younger ones, until at least the 1980's. 

Discrimination 

By several measures, the discrimination described for the 1930's was already in decline by 
1950, and substantial negative social distinction of Little Shell members from non­
Indians based on discrimination had ended well before 1992. The measures are marriage 
and residential patterns, with a few interview and other direct reports. Marriage with 
non-Metis was already increasing in the 1930's, and Metis-Metis marriage had 
substantially declined by the mid-1950's. By 1970, there were almost no Metis-Metis 
marriages among the petitioner's members. Residential segregation had ended by the 
early 1960's at the latest. After 1949, discrimination was mentioned as an issue only once 
in the minutes of the Landless Indians of Montana / Little Shell Band, in 1962. 

Fonner chainnan Donald Bishop stated that when he returned to Malta to work in 1965, 
one individual threatened him with being run out of town and another refused to hire him 
(Bishop 1986). Two examples from Great Fa))s, which do not deal specifically with the 
petitioner's members, also suggest that some discrimination may have continued into the 
1960's. A 1964 narrative by a non-Indian concerning Indian attitudes toward non-Indians 
in the city stated that there was frequent fighting between Indian and non-Indian students 
and a strong feeling of distrust of the white citizens by the Indians, despite considerable 
day-to-day mixing (Gubatayao 1964). Discussants at a 1974 workshop at the College of 
Great Falls complained that there was still discrimination in employment (Great Falls 
Tribune 212511974). Since earlier discrimination applied to both Little She)) and 
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TABLE 14 

LOCATION OF PETITIONER' S CURRENT MEMBERS. 1992 

Montana 2715 (70%) 
Highline and Lewistown 738 

Havre 224 
Chinook 76 
Zurich 5 
Harlem 50 
Dodson 39 
Malta 59 
Glasgow 41 
Wolf Point (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 38 
Poplar (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 17 
Box Elder (on Rocky Boy's Reservation) 25 
Hays (on Ft. Belknap Reservation) 69 
Zortman 12 
Landusky 3 
Lewistown (including Roy and Hilger) 80 

Front Range 383 
Browning (on Blackfeet Reservation) 165 
Babb (on Blackfeet Reservation) 51 
Heart Butte (on Blackfeet Reservation) 9 
Cut Bank (near Blackfeet Reservation) 63 
Dupuyer 6 
Choteau 75 
Augusta 14 

Urban 1146 
Great Falls (incl. Black Eagle and Vaughn) 660 
Helena (incl. E. Helena) 178 
Butte III 
Anaconda 47 
Billings 95 
Missoula 55 

Elsewhere in Montana 448 
Kalispell 52 
Libby 48 
Flathead Reservation 28 
Balance of the State 320 

Out QfState 1178 (30%) 
Washington 400 
California 168 
Oregon 133 
Idaho 73 
Wyoming 62 
North Dakota 40 
Other 304 

Total 3893 3893 

SOURCE: LSTCIM 1987. 1990. 1991. 1992 [Petitioner's membership lists]. 
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rese;"ation Indians, the reference here to "Indian" is believed to refer to both. These 
examples were not sufficient to make a detennination that strong patterns of 
discrimination existed in the 1960's and 1970's. 

Contemporary Social Relationships and Social Interaction 

Introduction 

The petitioner's members do not now live in a distinct settlement area. or in various 
distinct settlements made up largely or exclusively of Little Shell members or related 
Metis. There remain a substantial number of members in the towns where the Metis 
families settled beginning in the 1920's (see above). I 10 There are 738 members in the 
Highline towns and Lewistown. including 224 at Havre. There are 383 members along 
the Front Range, including 288 are on the Blackfeet Reservation. I I I However, the current 
membership has spread well beyond these traditional locations (see Table 14). The 
largest single concentration is in Great Falls. with 660 members. 17 percent of the 
membership. Substantial numbers have moved to other Montana urban areas. Thirty 
percent live out of state. 

Present-day informal social relations among Little Shell Band members are to a 
significant degree based on past association and kinship relations. The available 
interview information is most detailed within the Highline and Front Range regions, and 
for Great Falls. 

Description of Interview Data 

Franklin and Bunte stated that they conducted interviews in 1993 and 1994 with 76 
individuals from 60 households. Some of their interviews were done with two or three 
individuals in a household at the same time. Fifty-four of the interviews were with 
residents of the Highline (40) or the Front Range (\4); another ten were urban, eight of 
them in Great Falls; and four were from western Montana. 1 12 The median birthdate for 
those interviewees who could be identified on the current membership list was 1928. 
Franklin and Bunte also prepared notes and transcripts of the Parenteau reunion. a senior's 
meeting in Malta. and visits with Little Shell members to cemeteries or areas of former 
residence. 

110 Infonnation was not available about how many Metis family descendants that are not enrolled in the 
Little Shell organization either because they are enrolled in a recognized tribe. or are not enrolled anywhere 
live in these towns. 

III Includes 63 at Cut Bank, immediately adjacent to the reservation. 

112 There was insufficient information to detennine the location or the membership status of other 
individuals interviewed. 

-187-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 261 of 397 



Little Shell (:'vtT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

Campisi and Stama indicated that they conducted research in 1985 and 1986, 
interviewing a total of 93 individuals (Campisi and Stama 1987a, i). Their 1985 
interviews were not included in the petitioner's submission and were not referenced in 
Franklin and Bunte's reanalyses of Campisi and Stama's data (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
[33-134). The petitioner submitted copies 0f 57 interviews conducted by Campisi and 
Stama in August 1986. More than two-thirds of those 1986 interviews were with 
individuals born in [925 or earlier.") The petitioner's submissions included other 
interviews by Campisi and Stama, conducted in 1989 and 1991, which were not 
referenced in any of the petition narratives (Campisi and Stama 1989-1991). Because the 
interviews for Campisi and Stama's report were conducted 13 or 14 years ago, their value 
for evaluating a community at present was somewhat limited. 

A total of 31 interviews with 35 Little Shell members were conducted by BAR in May 
1998. The BAR's interviews were weighted in terms of geography somewhat similarly to 
those of Franklin and Bunte, but with a higher proportion from Great Falls and Helena. 
Only one or two individuals interviewed by BAR or Franklin and Bunte were from the 
30 percent of members living out of state. The BAR's interviewees had a somewhat 
younger median age than those of Franklin and Bunte. The interview selection by. the 
BAR put more emphasis on present and past office-holders than did the two sets of 
petitioner interviews. 

Kinship Networks 

The petitioner offered no systematic analysis which provided detailed data about how 
widely the petitioner's kinship networks are maintained. As described above, the 
available evidence indicates that kinship networks have generally been limited to a 
geographical region, or part of a region. Also, it has not been demonstrated that the 
family lines within a given region have been significantly linked to each other through 
marriage ties, although there have been at least several groupings of linked family lines. 
Although this qualification of the petitioner'S research needs to be noted. Franklin and Bunte presented data to show that Little Shell members today generally maintain contact 
with kinsmen beyond their primary kin. Interviews by the petitioner and the BAR with a 
substantial number of individuals from different areas and family lines provided evidence 
to support this conclusion. Together with the closeness of kinship ties between ancestral 
lines of the petitioner due to the high rates of past marriages between them, the interviews 
were sufficient to support a conclusion that wide kinship networks are commonly 
maintained within regions and within portions of the petitioner's extensive membership. 

Many of the BAR and petitioner interviews indicated that the people interviewed 
generally maintain social contact among a wide network of their kinsmen living within 
one of the geographical regions, but not across regional boundaries. "Wide" here means 
extending beyond immediate kin -- children. siblings, parents, grandparents, aunts, and 

113 The age range appears to reflect a fieldwork focus on reconstructing as much of the earlier politicaJ organization as possible. 
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first cousins. Individuals know how they are related not only to more distant relatives in 
their own family line, but also how they are connected to the multiple different Metis 
family lines that have intermarried with theirs in immediately past generations. A given 
person might describe his or her relationship to the Doney, Gardipee, Swan and other 
families, through various kinship connections. For example, Highline people interviewed 
could describe in detail how they were related to Joe Dussome and how he was related to 
a various families (FD 1998). 

The Doney name may be the most widely recognized surname within the Little Shell 
membership. Present-day members with Doney ancestry tend to identify themselves and 
be identified by others as Doneys rather than one of the other Metis families in their 
immediate ancestry. This is because of the large number of Doney descendants, extensive 
intermarriage with other family lines, and prominence of Doney descendants in the 
LIMILSB organization. This body of kinsmen has somewhat of a distinct reputation, 
based on their family history, and the well-known four brothers who founded the family 
in Montana (Jacoby 1998; Vogel 1998). Current members generaJ1y recognize many 
other family names as local Metis, or "breeds," and as prevalent among the Liule Shell 
membership. These include Salois, Gardipee, Berger, Gray, Swan, Laverdure, Lavenger. 
Fayant, Sinclair / St. Clair. Trotchie, LaRance. Parenteau and Azure. 

Several of the major family lines have reunions from time to time. Franklin and Bunte 
collected data on reunions of the Doney family, the Parenteaus, Trotchies, Broughs, and 
Boushie-Sinclair families. The Trotchie and Parenteau reunions include kinsmen from the 
United States and Canada. They include branches of these families which never resided 
in Montana and are not part of the petitioning group today. The Parenteau reunion 
includes both Metis and non-Metis branches of the family line and is held alternately in 
Montana and Canada (Parenteau 1998; Franklin and Bunte 1994, 84-85). The 1993 
Boushie-Sinclair reunion was attended by 800 people. Franklin and Bunte described one 
reunion celebration, noting that it included elements similar to the old-style Metis 
celebrations such as fiddle dancing and traditional foods (Franklin and Bunte 1994,84). 
Franklin and Bunte also reported that there was an annual reunion of families formerly 
resident at Gilman, including Pauls, Swans, Pochas, Sangrays, Luceros and Brewsters 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, III). The Gilman reunion is an annual one, attended by 50-60 
people. 

No instances were found of groups of related families acting in concert, and no indication 
that groups of relate.d families are organized, informally or otherwise, for political or 
other purposes. However, kinship ties serve as communication networks on political 
matters (see later discussion of contemporary political processes). 

Analyses of Informal Social Contacts 

FrankJin and Bunte presented summaries and analyses of several kinds of data which 
intended to demonstrate that informal social contact is spread widely among the Little 
Shell membership at present (Franklin and Bunte 1994). They described evidence of 
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infonnal social knowledge. including informal visiting (including telephoning) and 
gossiping. Their analysis of infonnal social contacts covered both contacts between 
extended kin and social contacts between unrelated Metis families. 114 They discussed 
funerals, family reunions, and tending of family graves. I IS 

In a table labeled "Informal Social Interaction in the 1990's," Franklin and Bunte cited 18 
of their interviews in the Highline area, six in Great Falls and five in the Front Range in 
which there is information showing informal visiting, knowledge of the affairs of other 
Little Shell, or other evidence of informal social contact (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
table 5). All of their interviews (including those in the table) were indexed by Franklin 
and Bunte to show information falling within four categories of infonnal social 
interaction: gossip about individuals, visits and phone calls, kinship relations among 
community (town) members. and kinship relations among the immediate and extended 
family (Franklin and Bunte 1995a). This index indicates that in 59 of their 60 interviews 
there was information which fit one or more of these categories. A spot check of the 
interviews beyond the 29 in the table confirmed the accuracy of the index, and indicated 
that informal social contacts beyond immediate family is common. However, the 
petitioner presented no analysis which would show that these informal contacts 
substantially link most Little Shell members with each other, or that they link most 
members with each other within a geographical region or area within a region. In short, 
this demonstration that informal social contacts extend beyond immediate family does not 
demonstrate that the petitioner's extensive membership as a whole forms a distinct 
community. 

Franklin and Bunte also presented data to illustrate their conclusion that among Little 
Shell members there continues to be a high level of interpersonal social knowledge of 
each other (Franklin and Bunte 1994,91-98). They presented a number of examples of 
conversations between Little Shell members which included stories or anecdotes about 
both past and recent personal histories of the participants or Little Shell that they were 
related to or knew. These are characteristic of individuals with a long-standing personal acquaintance with each other. Franklin and Bunte attempted to demonstrate by these data 
that Little Shell members frequently have knowledge of other individual members' 
personal affairs, and that gossiping about members is common. They describe this as 

114 Their discussion of infonnal social contacts did not consistently distinguish between social contacts of an individual with other Little Shell who are pans of what are fairly widely maintained kinship networks. and friendships with Little Shell who are not related. Although both kinds of infonnation are significant data for showing infonnal social contact. the presentation was not as useful as it would have been if it described these separately. 

I" Campisi and Starna presented a description of the social contacts with other Little Shell members of 34 individuals that they interviewed (Campisi and Slama 1987a, 48-64). Almost all were from the rural towns, Great Falls, or Helena. The contacts described were almost all with primary kin, except for those of present or former political leaders. who had much broader contacts. Because it did not examine broader social contacts, this material was of little value in detennining whether or not the Little Shell membership fonned a social community in 1987. 
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evidence that there are social relationships among the Little Shell membership which are 
more than casual ones. However, they presented only a few examples of specific 
conversations, and some of these concerned only close kinsmen. This material was too 
limited to be sufficient evidence that a high level of interpersonal social knowledge is 
commonplace among Little Shell members as a whole. 116 

Franklin and Bunte concluded that the informal sociarcontacts described in their 
interviews resulted from relationships "which are the product of a shared history of 
intimate, community living with other Little Shell people" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 79). 
The social knowledge and contact derived from past common residence or other close 
association in the past are still a significant influence on social interaction today. For 
example, an individual may know others because they grew up together, had worked 
together, or had attended the same New Year's festivities (FD 1998: Franklin 1993-94). 
The '''moccasin flats" in the rural towns ended in approximately the mid-1950's, with the 
Great Falls Indian neighborhoods lasting somewhat longer. Approximately one quarter of 
current members (939 of 3,893) were born before 1940, so a substantial minority of the 
present membership is old enough to have participated in the Metis cultural life in the era 
of the "moccasin flats," though not necessarily having lived in one of those settlements. I 17 

Since these segregated neighborhoods existed in a number of towns which have not been 
shown to have interacted as a community in the past, present links to such past 
settlements may suggest continuing social interaction within portions of the petitioner'S 
membership, but not show that interaction extended to the petitioner as a whole. 

Franklin and Bunte concluded that there are local gathering places at present in Havre, 
Great Falls, and Browning where "Little Shell tend to interact." They named locations 
such as the tribal office (in Havre), bowling or bingo halls, the Native American center in 
Great Falls, and certain bars identified as so-called "breed bars." They did not give an 
estimate of the proportion of the membership that interacts in these settings, and do not 
cite specific interview data. BAR interview data confirmed their conclusion for Great 
Falls, but did not allow for an estimate of how many members were involved there. 
Franklin and Bunte went on to say that, "In Havre, for example. everyday communicative 
contacts, etc., link virtually all adults in the community to each other, so that the same 
group of names repeat again and again .... Very clearly these people all know each other 
and interact frequently" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 88). Franklin and Bunte's interviews, 
and BAR's interviews, did not support a conclusion that virtually all the adults in Havre 
were infonnally socially connected. The infonnation in these interviews is not extensive 
enough to do this. There are 224 members in Havre, but only 14 individuals were 
interviewed there by Franklin and Bunte. Further, the BAR Highline interviews provide 

116 Although they indicate that their interview materials contain "literally dozens" of such "narratives" 
(Franklin and Bunte \994,93), these examples were not identified or analyzed in their repon. 

117 Some families had to varying extents separated themselves from local Metis society (discussed above). 
The percentage of these could not be precisely estimated but based on the available interview data, these 
families were a minority. Judged by the Roe Cloud Roll applications, a relatively small minority were 
living out of state or in Montana but not on the Highline, Front Range, Great Falls or Helena. 
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some data which indicate that there are some Little Shell Highline residents with whom 
the interviewee had little or no contact (1. Azure 1998; M. Doney 1998; Swanson 1998). 

Franklin and Bunte conducted a total of 40 interviews on the Highline. There were no 
interviews farther east on the Highline than Malta. Their interviews also covered the 
Hays-Zortman area and Lewistown. Their report did not present conclusions for specific 
Highline towns other than Havre. Concerning the Highline, Franklin and Bunte 
concluded that "Little Shells of one area tend to be on very familiar terms with each 
other, not only within the same town but among adjacent towns" (Franklin and Bunte 
1994, 87). The BIA interviews and Franklin and Bunte interviews support a conclusion 
that the Highline residents commonly have informal social contact with some other Little 
Shell residents of other Highline towns besides the one they reside in. This result is not 
surprising, given that many if not most adults have lived in more than one of the towns at 
some point in their lives, and have relatives distributed throughout the area. Only a 
minority of the petitioner's members now live along the Highline, and this evidence 
shows social interaction within one geographical region, not throughout the petitioner as a 
whole. 

Franklin and Bunte commented briefly on informal social interaction in the Front Range 
area. They stated that "the same pattern of interlocking contacts [as seen on the Highline] 
can be seen within and between the Front Range communities of Choteau, Augusta, and 
Browning" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 88). There were interviews with at least 14 Front 
Range individuals. The BAR interview information was consistent with Franklin and 
Bunte's conclusion that kinship based and other informal social ties are common on the 
Front Range (C. Salois 1998a; Brewster 1998). As on the Highline, however, this 
infomation on social interaction is limited to a minority of the petitioner's members and 
to one geographical region. 

Social Contact Between the Front Range and the Highline 

Although social contact and kinship links exist within each region, from all available 
evidence there does not appear to be at present, or to have been in recent decades, 
substamial informal social contact between individuals from the two different regions of 
traditional Little Shell settlement, the Highline and the Front Range. BAR imerview 
questions about experience in the opposite region asked whether the interviewee knew 
someone from the opposite region, and, if so, how he or she knew them. These questions 
almost universally elicited a response from interviewees that they had little or no 
acquaintance with Metis families from the other area except from Little Shell 
organization meetings (FD 1998). For example, a long term chairman who served from 
the late 1980's until 1994 stated that she did not know the Front Range people except 
through meetings of the Little Shell organization (Swanson 1998). A very active 
individual who had been an area representative and is widely known throughout the 
Highline stated that he had attended events in Choteau a number of times without 
knowing that there was a large Metis population and a separate settlement of "Metis" 
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people there (S. Doney 1998).118 

This information is consistent with the fact that the various kinship networks of the Little 
Shell members within the geographical regions do not extend across the boundary 
between the two regions to any appreciable extent. Although Franklin and Bunte 
presented evidence that some intermarriages occurred in the past between the Metis 
families of the two areas, these were too few to "unite" the two regions (see the 
discussion under intermarriage). 

Great Falls and Helena 

A fairly detailed investigation by BAR indicated that although Great Falls presently has a 
large population of Little Shell members, they do not form a social community (Guzman 
1998; Koke 1998; Fleury 1998; Shield 1998; R. Salois 1998; Thomas 1998; Jacoby 
1998). There are no longer any residential concentrations, although a public housing 
development reportedly has a substantial number of Little Shell. along wlth other Indians. 
There was not good evidence from BAR interviews or the petitioner's infonnation that 
Little Shell members living in Great Falls know and have informal social contact with 
numerous other Little Shell living in Great Falls other than immediate relatives. Many of 
the examples cited in Franklin and Bunte's table of examples of infonnal social contact in 
Great Falls involved activities of the Great Falls Native American Center, and thus were 
not clearly examples of informal social contact within the petitioner (Franklin and Bunte 
1994, table 5). 

Franklin and Bunte stated that several bars in Great Falls are identified by their 
interviewees as so-called "breed bars" where "Chippewa-Cree Metis" (Little Sheil, Rocky 
Boy's, and Turtle Mountain) hang out (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 88). They also stated 
that there are certain bingo parlors where Little Shell members regularly see each ·other. . 
There was some support for these observations in BAR interviews. However, it could not 
be determined from the available information how much of the Little Shell population in 
Great Falls visited these two kinds of locations (J acoby 1998; Thomas 1998). 

Although the data cited above do not describe a significant level of informal social 
contact among the Little Shell members in Great Falls. the political history of the Little 
Shell Band provides evidence that there is some maintenance of social contacts among 
the members who live in the city. This is shown by past and present instances where 
Great Falls has appeared to act as a distinct political constituency (see the political 
narrative above). Local leaders have been able to achieve a fair degree of visibility with 
local Little Shell members and have been able at times to mobilize them for meetings. 
fund raising. and other activities (R. Salois 1998; Shield 1998). Getting local support for 

III Franklin and Bunte did not address this issue in their analysis of informal social interaction. A limited 
review of their interview data did not show information concerning informal social contacts between the 
(WO regions, except where acquaintance may have developed in Great Falls or other urban areas (Franklin 
and Bunte 1995a). 
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political and organizational activities has been achieved in part through press coverage 
and the assistance of the local Indian center. The ex tent and nature of this political action 
implies that some local social contact has been occurring, and certainly that there was 
communication outside of formal meetings. 

Franklin and Bunte stated that they were unable to offer much infonnation concerning 
present-day Helena (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 72), The BAR field investigation 
concerning the present-day Little Shell membership in Helena was also limited. The 
available information indicates that there is not now a community locally (Mayer 1998; 
Swan 1998). However, as in Great Falls, the local Little Shell members at times, past and 
present, have fonned a distinct political constituency and have been able to mobilize 
political support for their perceived interests (see narrative of political activities, above). 

Out-oj-state Members 

The profile of the birthplaces of out-of-state members (see above) shows that out-of-state 
residence is, for the most part, the product of relatively recent migrations, with few 
migrants before 1940 and increasingly frequent migration since 1950. The out-of-state 
population is not one which has been established for several generations outside the home 
areas of the Little Shell petitioner. "Home areas" is used here to refer to the locations -­
the rural Highline and Highline towns (including Lewistown), Front Range towns, and 
Great Falls and Helena -- where residence areas largely made up of Metis families existed 
from the 1920's to the 1950's, or which were otherwise centers of Little Shell Metis 
settlement before 1950. 

About 14 percent of the members born before 1959 were born out of state. Most of these 
individuals continue to reside out of state. 119 To the extent that the out-of-state members 
were born in Montana, especially in the home areas, and are thus more or less recent out­
migrants, continued contact with Little Shell relatives in the home regions is credible. 

Washington state has the largest number of Little Shell members outside of Montana, 
with 400 Little Shell members. This is 10 percent of the membership, or one-third of the 
out-of-state members. Of those Washington State members born in 1960 or before, 
44 percent were born either on the Highline or the Front Range, and another 20 percent 
were born in Great Falls or Helena. An additional 14 percent were born elsewhere in 
Montana. Most of the rest (19 percent) were born in Washington state, with only 
3 percent born elsewhere. The older the individual now residing in Washington state. the 
more likely he or she was born in the home areas. Of those born before 1929, 66 percent 
(25 of 38) were born on the Front Range or the Highline and another 9 percent (3 of 38) 

119 About a fifth of those born out of state were born in Canada and North Dakota. Almost half of these 
mostly older individuals now live in Montana. As noted earlier. there is evidence that these resulted from the continuation of the migration that brought the Metis families into Montana in the latter 19th and early 20th centuries. Because they mostly reside in Montana now, and come from areas of Metis populations in North Dakota or Canada. they are not pan of the post World War II migration of Metis out of Montana. 
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in Great Falls or Helena. For those born between 1930 and 1949, the Highline-Front 
Range percentage dropped to 45 percent (45 out of 101), but the Helena and Great Falls 
total increased to 29 percent (29 of 101). These figures are consistent with the historical 
patterns of settlement, with the Highline and Front Range the oldest area of settlement in 
Montana, Great Falls and Helena next, and out-of-state migration genenilly not beginning 
until after World War n. 

BAR and petitioner interviews do not provide adequate data to evaluate to what extent, or 
whether, members living outside the "home areas" of settlement maintain social contact 
with members of the Little Shell Band within that area. There is only limited discussion 
in the petition reports concerning social contacts of the residents of the Highline and 
Front Range towns and the two main Montana cities with out-of-state Little Shell 
members. Among the few exceptions is a brief mention that there is now an area 
representative from Spokane and that in 1996 a candidate for chainnan campaigned in 
that city (see below). 

Campisi and Stama's report included an analysis of the social contacts of a selection of 34 
individuals, almost all from the rural towns, Great Falls, or Helena, which indicated that 
they maintained contacts with kinsmen who resid~d out of state as well as with kinsmen 
living elsewhere in Montana (Campisi and Stama 1987a, 48-64). However, the examples 
of kinsmen their interviewees were in contact with were limited to primary kin. The 
Franklin interviews were consistent with this, insofar as in-state interviewees made 
regular reference to contact with their primary kin living outside the state. The 
information in BAR interviews was also consistent in showing contact with immediate 
kin out of state. Those interviews, however, did not focus on the question of maintenance 
of contact by out-of-state members. This information did not demonstrate that social 
contacts extend beyond primary kin. 

The petitioner report narratives, and the notes and transcripts of petitioner interviews, do 
not indicate whether the question of contacts with out-of-state kinsmen beyond 
immediate kinsmen was addressed or not. Further, the available data did not provide 
information whether there were out-of-state families with no contact with the home area, 
and if so, how many such families there may be. The petitioner and BAR interviews were 
primarily with individuals living in the "home areas" (see above). Most of the rest of the 
interviews were with members from elsewhere in Montana. 

Annual Joe Dussome Day 

There has been only one regular event, other than family occasions and political meetings, 
that has brought Little Shell members together. This event is the annual Joe Dussome 
Day, which has been held since 1990. 120 In 1991, there were 94 attendees (Franklin and 

120 The announcement for the 1993 Joe Dussome Day referred to the event that year as "the fourth," 
suggesting the current series may have begun in 1990 (LSTCIM 11113/1993; see also Fleury 1998). A 
similar annual event, first termed "Pembina Days" was established in approximately 1979. The available 
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Bunte 1995b, 17 I) and in 1992, 113 guests signed the guestbook (Franklin and Bunte 
1994, 152). Franklin and Bunte attended the 1993 reunion, which was attended by more 
than 225 adults (including some Rocky Boy members and non-Indian spouses of Linle 
Shell members). Held in Havre, it was attended largely by members from the Highline 
area, Lewistown, and Great Falls, with some attendees from other Montana locations 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 113). The 1996 celebration held at Black Eagle (a suburb of 
Great Falls) was combined with a quanerly meeting and was the occasion of announcing 
the results of the elections for officers. Franklin repons that he at one point made a head 
count of well over 200 adults, which because of fluctuating attendance was probably less 
than the total attendance (Franklin 1997, 15). Franklin described this occasion as both a 
social event, with traditional fiddling and foods, and a political event. In J 998, separate 
celebrations were apparently held in Havre and in Billings. The estimated total 
attendance was 200 (LSTCIM, Mar. 1998,5). These attendance figures represent 
approximately one·tenth or less of the petitioner's adult members. 

Funerals 

Franklin and Bunte mentioned several funerals in suppon of their argument that the Little 
Shell fonn a social community at present (Franklin and Bunte J 994, 82·83). For two of 
the funerals noted, the interviews indicated that large numbers of Little Shell members, 
beyond the immediate family, had attended (LaRance 1993; Flansberg 1993). Three other 
funerals, all in Great Falls, were described as having a large turnout of Little Shell and 
other Indians from the city. 

The BAR interviews inquired about three funerals of well·known Little Shell that had 
occurred (all on the western Highline) just before or during the field visit. Interviewees 
who had attended these funerals made general observations that a large number of Little 
Shell had attended (Teske 1998; Fleury 1998), without giving funher detail. In the 
instance of one of the funerals, some of the Highline interviewees had not attended and 
had limited knowledge of or connection with the individual who had died (G. Azure 
1998). This is consistent with the observation that even though members may have 
widespread socia] contacts within their region. the extent of those contacts also have 
limits. 

The available infonnation concerning the funerals mentioned in interviews indicates that 
some funerals of Little Shel1 members are attended by some members outside the 
immediate circle of the relatives of the deceased. However, there were not sufficient 
examples, nor sufficient details in the available examples, to be able to confinn this 
conclusion or to detennine how many outside the immediate family generally attend 
funerals of Little Shel1 members. 

evidence indicates the event was not held between approximately 1980 and 1990. There was no mention of 
the even! between 1980 and) 990 in the available minutes and other documents. 
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Evidence from Political Communication 

Additional information about social contact and communication was gained from 
responses to BAR interview questions about political processes. These questions 
attempted to determine the existence, and extent, of infonnal political communication. 
Their purpose was to investigate whether there was infonnation and opinion passed by 
word of mouth among the members and between members and officers concerning 
political issues such as the actions of the council and officers. 

Information on the political processes at present indicated that there was a significant 
amount of communication about particular issues between individual members and both 
councilmen and area representatives (see below). Area representatives and councilmen 
heard from members of their own kinship network, and some nonrelatives. who expressed 
opinions on matters such as the fai lure to hold ejections in 1992, the status of the Havre 
office, and the actions of the controversial chairman James Parker Shield. l21 

It was also found that there was frequently a pre-existing relationship between the official 
(councilman. officer or area representative) and the member expressing an opinion. 
Commonly, an interviewee would know some of these "political figures" through earlier 
infonnal contact, for example, where they had lived, or through their kinship network 
(Swanson 1998: Koke 1998; G. Azure 1998). However. it was also not uncommon for a 
member to identify councilmen or other officials who had not been known to them before 
they met at a meeting. and for such officers to have been contacted by members they did 
not know personally (Koke 1998; C. Salois 1998a: Jacoby 1998). No instances were 
found of prior infonnal contact. in the context of political communication, by a Highline 
individual with a "political figure" from the Front Range. or vice versa. 

Summary Concerning Informal Socia/Interaction 

Overall, the interview data. from the petitioner and BAR taken together, support a finding 
that individual adult members of the Little Shell maintain informal social contact with at 
least some other Little Shell members outside of their immediate, primary kin. There are 
many examples in Franklin and Bunte interviews and BAR interviews of instances of 
informal social contact, usually locally, with at least some Little Shell outside of the 
interviewee's primary kin.122 The information concerning informal social interaction is 
limited in that the selection of interviewees by the petitioner's researchers, Franklin and 
Bunte, was somewhat disproportionately weighted towards older individuals and 

III The analysis of BAR interview data did not fully segregate contacts based on the extended kinship 
network of the political officeholder from contacts with other members. 

122 Because of the size of the petitioner'S membership and its wide geographical distribution, there is no 
expectation that any individual member would have an informal acquaintance with all or even most of the 
rest of the petitioner'S members. Thus. the analyses here concern whether members have significant social 
panicipation with other Little Shell who are either relatives beyond their primary kin or individuals who are 
not kinsmen. 
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individuals who lived in the rural towns where the "moccasin flats" had been (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 87). The data are most adequate for the towns and rural areas of the 
Front Range and Highline (as far east as Malta). Information about the city of Great 
Falls, where 17 percent of the membership lives, was sufficient to indicate that there is 
less informal social contact among the resident population than was the case in the rural 
areas. Information about Helena, the second largest urban population, is very limited but 
does not indicate a community of Little Shell members. 

There was little information about the social interaction of the 30 percent of members 
who were resident out of state with members in the "home" areas. There were only a 
handful of interviews with out-of-state members in any of the three sets of interviews. 
An analysis of those members resident in Washington State (one third of the out of state 
membership) indicated that approximately half were born either in one of the two main 
regions or in one of the two main urban centers, Great Falls and Helena. The time 
available for preparation of this report did not allow for an analysis of the remainder of 
the out-of-state individuals to determine whether they were closely related to those living 
in the two main regions or the two main urban centers. No analysis was made of the 
19 percent of the membership living in Montana but not within these four areas. 

There were no examples in any of the three sets of interviews (FD 1998; Franklin 1993-
94; Campisi and Stama 1986) of individuals whose contacts were limited to attending 
formal meetings, had only recently made contact with the Little Shell, or had not known 
they were of Metis background until they enrolled. 123 

Affiliation with Other Montana Tribes 

Approximately 10 percent of Little Shell members live on or near one of the Montana 
reservations. Most of these individuals are married to members of the reservation tribe or 
are descendants of such marriages. Some descendants of these marriages are not on the 
Little Shell roll, because they are enrolled with the tribe of their non-Little Shell parent 
and the Little Shell Band prohibits dual enrollment with a recognized tribe l24 (see 
Franklin and Bunte 1994, 52-54). These descendants do not show on the chart of the 
geographical distribution of the membership (Table 14). The exact number of current 
marriages of Little Shell members to members of reservation tribes was not determined 
for this report. Franklin and Bunte stated they recorded 115 existing marriage~ between 
Little Shell members and members of other tribes, and concluded that this count was 
likely to be substantially incomplete (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 52). 

123 Several interviewees stated there were Lillie Shell members who would not admit it or only recently 
discovered they were "Little Shell" (J. Azure 1998). There was insufficient information to identify to whom 
this may have referred. 

124 Because of membership requirements of the reservation tribes, not all children of these marriages were 
eligible to enroll with the tribe of the parent from a recognized tribe (Bremner 1998; S. Doney 1998). 
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There are 60 enrolled Little Shell members living in two small towns on the Blackfeet 
Reservation, Babb and Heart Butte. These settlements constitute an exception to the 
generalization that there are no longer specific areas more or less exclusively occupied by 
Little Shell and other Metis families (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 72, 79). Another 165 
members live at Browning, on the Blackfeet reservation, and 63 at Cut Bank, just beyond 
the reservation boundary. Many, if not most, of these individuals are part of families that 
have married into the Blackfeet Tribe. There are other individuals from these 
intennarried families living in these locations who are enrolled with the Blackfeet and not 
enrolled with the Little Shell Band because of the prohibition against dual enrollment. 

A historic antipathy between the Blackfeet and the Cree, predating the reservation, 
remains strong (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 105-107; Bremner 1998; Jacoby 1998). 
Consequently, a very strong ethnic boundary remains between the the Blackfeet and Little 
Shell families, who are commonly identified as Cree in this area (Bremner 1998). The 
derogatory tenn "Cree bacon" is still in use there to refer to individuals from Little Shell 
families (Jacoby 1998). Nonetheless, the Blackfeet tribe has recently adopted several 
Little Shell Band members who live on the reservation (FD 1998).125 

There are 69 Little Shell members in Hays, which is on the Fort Belknap Reservation, or 
in Zortman and Landusky, which are nearby, just outside the reservation boundary. Some 
of the Little Shell who live in these settlements are married to Fort Belknap tribal 
members (S. Doney 1998; FD 1998; Franklin and Bunte 1994,52-54). Some of their 
descendants are enrolled with the Fort Belknap Tribe and therefore are not enrolled with 
the Little Shell Band. Antipathy exists between the Little Shell Metis and the reservation 
tribes (Gros Ventre and Assiniboine) on the Fort Belknap Reservation, where 
intennarriages with Assiniboine go back to the 19th century. There have been several 
well-known clashes over jobs and land rights between Little Shell members married to 
tribal members and the Fort Belknap tribe (5. Doney 1998; G. Azure 1998; Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 154). 

An undetermined number of members are married to members of other Montana tribes; 
Rocky Boy's Band, the Crow Tribe, or the Northern Cheyenne Tribe. Some live on or 
near the reservations of these tribes. Distinctions appeared to be less sharply drawn 
between Little Shell Metis and Rocky Boy's reservation members than at Blackfeet and 
Fort Belknap, perhaps because of their greater commonality of background (Anderson 
1998). 

Connections with the Turtle Mountain Band 

The current Little Shell membership does not appear to have significant social ties with 
the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewas in North Dakota. There were no instances found 
of social visiting to the Turtle Mountain area, although some individuals know of distant 
relatives at Turtle Mountain (FD 1998; G. Azure 1998). There are a few Turtle Mountain 

12' These individuals have relinquished their Little Shell membership. 
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individuals, past and present, who have married Little Shell people. These marriages 
were generally well-known to Highline members who were interviewed. Franklin and 
Bunte found nine marriages to people from Turtle Mountain (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
52). 

When asked who among the Little Shell Band were from Turtle Mountain, interviewees 
generally responded that some Little SheIl Band familIes are particularly thought of as 
having family connections with Turtle Mountain or having come from there. Among the 
most frequently mentioned were the Azures and the LaFountains. Stories were common 
about individuals who at one point or another in the past 25 years had received small 
checks or probate notices from Turtle Mountain Agency in connection with inherited land 
interests at Turtle Mountain. A number of Little Shell members have had interests in 
probate proceedings on the Turtle Mountain Reservation (BlA 10/2611992). In one case, 
in 1978. a Doney who was elected secretary of the Little Shell Band had to resign because 
she was dually enrolled with the Turtle Mountain Band (LSTCIM lOnIl978). 

Highline interviewees could identify individuals from the Turtle Mountain reservation 
who had lived in their area during the "moccasin flats" era. They viewed them as a 
distinct but not substantially different category of Metis (Gilbert 1998; Short 1998; Vogel 
1998). Some of these were Turtle Mountain members living on Turtle Mountain public 
domain allotments. Those interviewees who mentioned them did not indicate that there 
was a close social relationship with these allottees (e.g., Gilbert 1998).126 

Discrimination by Non-Indians 

There was no evidence that the Little Shell people today face the widespread 
discrimination that occurred in the past. Interviewees generally did not report present-day 
discrimination. One interviewee reported that there remains substantial discrimination of' 
a quiet kind in the Choteau area today (Brewster 1998). The discrimination referred to 
was in social attitudes and patterns of friendship, not in employment or in housing. This person's non-Indian wife, also from Choteau, reported that she had frequently been 
snubbed by non-Indians since she had married him. A similar report of social 
discrimination was given by a long-time resident of Havre (Swanson 1998). 

Franklin'and Bunte concluded, based on their interview data, that "strong patterns of 
discrimination" exist in the "towns of Montana where most Little Shell live" (Franklin 
and Bunte 1994, 104). Discrimination by whites, or perception of it, was cited in 13 of 
their 60 interviews (Franklin and Bunte 1995a). It was not indicated whether this subject 
was raised in all of their interviews, making it impossible to determine what proportion of 
the interviewees might have experienced discrimination in recent times. 

1%6 BAR interviews did not support Franklin and Bunte'S statement that. 'The Little Shell have always had close ties with the allotted Turtle Mountain Chippewa living in Montana" (as opposed to families which were viewed as derived from Turtle Mountain bUI which were nol aJlottees in Montana (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 51-52). 
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However, many of the examples Franklin and Bunte cite, or which are listed in their 
subject index of their interviews. concerned distinctions between Little Shell Yletis and 
the Indians of the Blackfeet and Fort Belknap Reservations rather than distinctions made 
by non-Indians (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 104-105). BAR interview data strongly 
confirmed their conclusion that there continue to be strong negative distinctions drawn 
between reservation Indians and the Little Shell Metis at the Fort Belknap, Blackfeet. and 
Rocky Boy's reservations (S. Doney 1998; Bremner 1998; G. Azure 1998). Data were not 
available concerning the status of Little Shell living on the other Montana reservations or 
married to tribal members from those reservations. However, some individuals from the 
rural towns and Great Falls also reported experiences with these attitudes in relations with 
reservation Indians (Maki 1998; Shield 1998). Only a small minority of Little Shell 
members, about 10 percent. live on a reservation, so these strong social distinctions from 
reservation Indians were not widespread among the petitioner's members. 

There is sufficient evidence only to indicate that a small degree of discrimination or 
negative distinction in relations with non-Indians continue to exist in the rural towns, but 
not that widespread or strong patterns of discrimination exist. The distinctions made 
were not shown to extend to housing, marriage or employment, but may involve informal 
social relations. Equivalent data were not available concerning Little Shell residents of 
Great Falls and other Montana cities. 

Identity 

Little Shell members generally identified themselves and their people, in informal 
conversations with each other, as "breeds" or "half-breeds" (FD 1998).127 These 
identifications were often followed by a reference to being "Metis." Identification as 
"Chippewa" or, less frequently, to "Cree" was also common. More formally. and when 
interacting with non-members, members frequently referred to themselves as "Little Shell 
people" as well as Chippewa. In most cases, an individual's self-identification as 
Chippewa, Cree, or Indian was not expressed as conflicting with identification as Metis. 
Tribal historian Robert Van Gunten explained this by saying, "Most Little Shell, if not all, 
are Metis, and we don't really work at making a distinction" (Bryan 1985, 98). However, 
for some, especially among the Front Range people, Metis is an alternative. or a preferred 
identity, to Indian. For some others, Chippewa is (he preferred identity (Van Gunten 
1998). 

Little Shell members frequently have described "their people" as "falling between" the 
reservation Indians and the whites, and characterized themselves as having long been 
quite distinct from either (e.g., G. Azure 1998; Bremner 1998). Being Metis, as distinct 
from Indian in this sense, is a source of pride. Little Shell interviewees commonly 
reported negative comments about Metis, or "breeds," from Indians on reservations where 
Little Shell have lived or worked. 

121 These are pejorative terms when used by outsiders to refer to the group and its members. 
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Although interviewees consistently identified themselves as "Little Shell people," their 
descriptions of their family histories and backgrounds (on the Metis sides) only 
infrequently referenced Chief Little Shell or his band specifically (FD 1998). Franklin 
and Bunte did reference one individual who said that her great-grandfather, lean-Baptiste 
WIlkie, had been a member of Little Shell's council. but they gave no further examples 
(Franklin and Bunte 1994, 110). A significant number of interviewees referred with pride 
to their ancestors' participation in the Louis Riel rebellions before 1900 (e.g .• Short 1998; 
R. Salois 1998; Koke 1998). Many described family connections in Canada, sometimes 
to Indian reserves (e.g., G. Azure 1998; Short 1998: Anderson 1998; Parenteau 1998; 
Fleury 1998; C. Salois I 998a; Bremner 1998). Others referenced a family history 
connecting them to Turtle Mountain, or, less specifically, to North Dakota, consistent 
with the genealogical evidence. 

Cultural Differences Today 

The traditional Metis culture survives today to a limited extent. Franklin and Bunte 
attempted to estimate the percentage of members today who maintain some of the cultural 
practices that earlier in the century made the Metis families culturally distinct from the 
surrounding non-Indian and Indian communities. There were sufficient examples from 
interviews to conclude that some minor cultural differences survive among a large 
proportion of the membership, and significant differences among a small portion of it. 
The small differences were primarily some traditional foods and aspects of New Year's 
celebrations. The Michiff language was the only significant cultural difference. 

Franklin and Bunte concluded that 37 of the 60 households they visited, or 62 percent of 
them, practice traditional foadways (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 101). The BAR interviews 
were consistent with this. finding that a number of people are familiar with and prepare 
some of the traditional Metis foods. Franklin and Bunte said that their interviewees 
indicated that these Little Shell households take part in the New Year's practice of 
"'feeds' and visiting, at least within their extended families" (Franklin and Bunte 1994, IO I). The latter qualification is important, since although New Year's celebrations are 
still fairly common, they are much smaller and more limited than the elaborate 
celebrations characteristic of the Metis culture in the past. A typical statement is one 
from an older leader who described the old style celebrations as ending after World War 
II (H. Paul 1991). Present-day celebrations, in contrast with the past, appear to be limited 
to extended families (cf. Vogel 1998; H. Paul 1991). Some individuals noted that some 
of the Little Shell members living in Montana cities hold some version of the New Year's 
celebration. The BAR interviews, together with Franklin and Bunte's interviews, 
provided sufficient instances to conclude that small scale New Year's celebrations, with 
some traditional foods, are commonplace. However, these households may prepare these 
foods only a few times a year at most. As described, these foodways reveal small cultural 
differences, not a significant cultural difference. from the surrounding non-Indian and 
Indian cultures. 

Franklin and Bunte concluded, in discussing their interview data concerning the foodways 
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and the New Year's celebrations. that "there is no reason to conclude that the sample is 
unrepresentative" (Franklin and Bunte 1994. 102). However. they present no analysis to 
demonstrate whether their interviewees were representative or not. Their interviews. as 
discussed above, appear to be disproponionately weighted towards older individuals and 
inhabitants of the rural. small town areas where the Little Shell have lived since the 
\920's. These individuals are more likely to have maintained some of the traditional 
culture than those who have moved elsewhere. Thus a precise measure of the extent to 
which these cultural traditions are practiced among the membership could not be 
developed. 

Franklin and Bunte found that of 76 individuals they interviewed. 14 were fluent speakers 
of the Michif language. and 20 were partial speakers or passive bilinguals (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994. 101-102). Of the fluent speakers. the youngest was born in 1934, with four 
born in the 1920's and the rest earlier. Franklin and Bunte offered no definitive 
conclusions from this about the percentage of Little Shell members who speak the 
language. They stated concerning this finding that. "our sampling is hardly exhaustive. 
however. so that there may well be younger Little Shell speakers that simply were not in 
our pool of interviewees." In contrast to their discussion of traditional foodways and the 
New Year's celebrations, here they appeared to argue that their sample was not 
representative. To the degree that their interview sample was weighted toward older. 
rural individuals. mostly likely to be culturally conservative, it is likely that speakers are 
overrepresented among their interviewees. 

Judging by interviews with older adult members who grew up with fluent speakers but 
did not learn (or retain) the language, it appears unlikely that there are more than a very 
few younger speakers (FD 1998; Sinclair 1979; Johnson 1979). Little Shell leaders 
interviewed in 1998 concerning a proposed language program did not indicate that they 
were aware of younger speakers (Anderson 1998; Maki 1998).128 

Contemporary Political Processes 

In 1994, the Little Shell for the first time elected their officers by balloting conducted 
throughout the state rather than voting by those attending the annual meeting. Polling 
places were established in major population centers of Little Shell members within 
Montana. Absentee balloting was also allowed. so that members could vote by mailing in 
a ballot. Various political forces led to the shift to statewide balloting. which was a result 
of an effort to reform electoral processes. These reforms came about as a result of 
complaints by members and leaders about the handling of the 1992 election and about the 
incumbent council and chairman. The Native American Rights Fund, the group's legal 
advisor, encouraged the voting. A NARF spokesman was quoted as saying that it was 
imponant for the petitioner to show significant participation through voting (Great Falls. 

128 The Little Shell Band has asked one older member to develop a language teaching program and has 
also considered a proposal to seek a grant for language preservation (Anderson 1998; Van Gunten 1998). 
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Tribune 1994). 

The movement for reform began from two sources. From within the Little SheJJ 
organization, efforts were begun by the council and area representatives. More or Jess 
simultaneously, a separate movement was begun outside of the council by James Parker 
Shield, who was returning to Little SheJJ Band politics after an absence of 12 or 13 years. 

Interviews, minutes, and other sources indicated that there had been unhappiness among 
members about the 1992 annual meeting at which it was concluded to continue the 
existing council without holding a new election (the paraJJel action in 1990 was not 
specifically mentioned). Complaints were voiced that this action had taken place at a 
very poorly attended meeting which people claimed had not been advertised as an 
election meeting (Koke 1998; Shield 1998). The election committee chainnan reported 
to the council in 1994 that many of the people she had talked to objected to the way the 
1992 election meeting had been held and that, consequently, there was the feeling that the 
incumbents retained in office in 1992 should be subject to a vote by the membership 
(LSTCIM 8/1311994). 

Little Shell Band members. in BAR interviews in 1998, also gave other. more general 
reasons for preferring statewide balloting: that it was a fairer way to hold an election 
because of the great distances to travel to meetings and frequent bad weather. and that the 
demands of work make it difficult to travel to the annual meeting (FD 1998). 

James Parker Shield in 1994 characterized the Little Shell political landscape as one in 
which it was hard to communicate because of the long distances between the various 
places where members lived. He said also that most of the tribe "had no clue as far as the 
federal recognition effort" but that it strongly wanted information. which was not getting 
out from the council (Shield 1994). He cited frustration of the membership with "the lack 
of elections," making the council in effect self-appointing. and stated that criticism was 
"gathering steam." Shield also stated that people felt frustrated because they felt "the 
[election] process is not open." 

The issue of the lack of an election in 1992, and questions about how the next election 
was going to be held, first surfaced in Little Shell Band minutes in April 1994 (LSTCIM 
4/23/1994). Questions were raised about the 1992 "decision to keep the present council." 
It was asked whether absentee votes would now be allowed, and when would a new 
constitution. with new election provisions. be put into place. 

At a June 18. 1994. area meeting, Darrell Koke, chainnan of the area representatives, 
presented ideas for revising the election process such as advertising the election, having 
election judges, and having polling places in each area. The council appointed her and 
councilman John Gilben to head a committee of area representatives to prepare a 
"proposal of voting in the areas rather than.at a community location" (LSTCIM 
611811994). This group became the election committee that designed and carried out the 
1994 election. 
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At this same area meeting, Shield stated that he had held a meeting that same day in Great 
Falls where "it was decided by the people that they would put together a Constitutional 
Convention to draft a 'living' active constitution" (LSTCIM 6/18/1994). He said "it is 
time that the Little Shell staned acting as a tribe." Shield said he came to the area 
meeting to inform the council of his actions, but that he was not asking their permission. 
The council stated at an August 1994 meeting that Shield had indicated at the June 
meeting that "he and other members of the Tribe are convening a Constitutional 
convention to write a new constitution that better represents the wishes of the people. He 
does not have the approval of the Tribal Council in this move" (LSTCIM 811311994). 
Shield, however, stated in an interview in June 1994 that there was one member of the 
council who was working with him (Shield 1994). There was no evidence that Shield 
held any further meetings after June 1994, or carried out plans for a constitutional 
convention. 

Shield stated in the June 1994 interview that he was promoting statewide elections and 
revision of the tribal constitution as a means to "pry loose" the hold on the Little Shell 
council of chairman Deborah Swanson and her supporters (Shield 1994). He indicated 
that statewide balloting would bring him greater support than he could gather at an annual 
meeting, and "guaranteed" that it would defeat Swanson. Franklin and Bunte noted that 
in June 1994 Chane Salois, a key ally of Swanson. had "questioned Shield's motives" in 
promoting constitutional revision, apparently reflecting a not inaccurate view that Shield 
was promoting change in part for his own political benefit (Franklin and Bunte 1995b, 
179). 

During the subsequent election Shield became the first Little Shell Band candidate to 
actively campaign. Shield stated he was campaigning because it was important for people 
"to know more about the candidates and not to just vote for relatives, like a lot of our 
people have done in the past." (Shield 1994). He stated further, that "more important is 
that tribal members know about the election and get out and vote" (Great Falls Tribune 
1994). 

The election committee presented two proposals for elections at the September 17, 1994, 
quarterly area meeting in Great Falls (LSTCIM 911/1994). One was essentially to retain 
the old statewide convention system. The other proposal called for: "30 days public 
notice of election; nominations for Council positions to be accepted September 17 to 
October 25 to the election committee," with the election to be on November 26. In 
addition, the proposal called for polling to take place in each area. The area 
representatives were to be responsible for time and place of voting and to have a list of 
eligible voters. Finally, the proposal stated that "voting can be done by absentee ballot." 
The second proposal was accepted by a majority of the approximately 100 people present 
(LSTCIM 9/1/1994, signup sheet). While Great Falls was well represented among those 
present, there were an equal number from the Highline, as well as many from Helena and 
from the western part of the state. 

Also at the September meeting, John Gilbert presented a petition dated July 1. There was 
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no indication who had circulated the petition, although Franklin and Bunte indicate that 
they understood it to have been promoted by Gilbert and Koke themselves to develop 
support for electoral reforms (Franklin and Bunte 1995b, 179). The petition contained 
eleven statements. It called for the election to cover the entire council, not just those 
whose terms were up. It stated that "the majority of the Little Shell members were not 
represented at the meeting two years ago in Billings when it was decided to keep the same 
council members," and that "had there been public notices of the election of the council 
there would have been more members in attendance." The latter reflected the feeling 
among the membership that the 1992 Billings meeting was poorly attended and thus that 
the election was improper. The reforms requested by the petition included balloting "in 
each area" (i.e., statewide election), nominations from the areas in advance of the 
election, absentee balloting, publication of notice of the election in the media, and other 
changes. 

The petition contained 151 names, most from Havre or elsewhere in the Highline or from 
relatives of Highline signers who were living elsewhere. Franklin and Bunte concluded 
that these represented the majority of the families living in Havre and Chinook and at 
Rocky Boy's reservation (Franklin and Bunte 1995b, 179-180). They noted that Shield's 
efforts were based on support from Great Falls, his political constituency, and suggested 
that the efforts of the council, and Shield, together show the breadth of political concern. 
with the electoral processes among the membership. 

The 1994 election was held on November 26. Elected to the four council seats 129 were 
incumbents John Gilbert and Tim Zimmerman, as well as James Parker Shield and Roger 
Salois, both from Great Falls (LSTCIM 1211011994). Gilbert was the top votegetter with 
502 votes. According to a rough count, there were 681 ballots cast, of which 622 were 
considered to have been cast by eligible voters (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 152). The 
percentage of eligible voters voting was 18 percent. 130 

John Sinclair, who initially challenged the 1994 election on a number of procedural 
grounds,131 also specifically challenged the election of James Parker Shield. At the first 
quarterly meeting after the election, Sinclair raised the issue of whether the 1977 Little 
Shell constitution barred James Parker Shield from holding office (LSTCIM 1/1411 995). 
Section V of the constitution states that if an office holder "be found guilty of a felony or 
misdeameanor involving dishonesty" the governing body of the Little Shell "sha1I declare 

129 There was nothing in the written record to indicate why or by what action the September proposal to include the incumbent officers voted upon in 1992 in the election was discarded. 

1)0 This percentage was calculated based on 3,505 eligible voters, the number of individuals on the Little Shell membership list who were born in 1976 or before. The membership list is that used for this finding, which includes supplements through 1992. 

131 An initial count had shown Sinclair as being elected to the council. This result was announced in the press and then retracted after a recount (Grea! Falls Tribune 1/6/1995). Sinclair did not pursue his challenge based on this apparent counting error. 
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the position vacant" (LSTCIM 911011977). The section had been written with sufficient 
ambiguity that it was unclear whether it referred to someone who had at some time been 
convicted of a felony, or if it only meant an officer holder who comitted a felony while in 
office. Shield noted at the January meeting that he had made no secret of problems he 
had had earlier in his lifetime and that they were well-known. His position was that the 
constitutional provision only referred to actions while in office. 

The council after some discussion voted to seat Shield and the others elected (LSTCIM 
1114/1995). Also seated as councilman was Judy Jacoby, the highest vote getter among 
those not winning office. Jacoby filled a slot opened by the resignation of the First Vice 
Chairman, who had resigned as of the date of that meeting. 132 

It is clear that by 1994 a financial crisis had developed which resulted in a lack of funds 
to pay the office rent and other bills (Gilbert 1998; R. Salois 1998). At some point early 
in 1995, the tribal office closed for lack of funds and the files were put in storage. 

Another political crisis developed in 1995, resulting in the removal from office of 
Deborah Swanson, who had been the chairman since 1988. The issues behind Swanson's 
removal are indicated by statements at the September 16, 1995, council meeting by a 
councilman who alleged that "Swanson has refused to abide by the wishes of the. board in 
relocating the tribal offices, 'has refused to comply with reasonable requests for 
information and failed to act in the Tribe's best interests with respect to our recognition 
proceedings." Tribal finances and questions concerning enrollment records were also at 
issue (LSTCIM 911611995). It is likely that the sentiment among members objecting to 
the failure to hold an election in 1994 stemmed in part from political discontent over the 
handling of the Havre office by the incumbent chairman. The council voted at its 
September 16 meeting to remove her from office (LSTCIM 9/16/1995). Vice-chairman 
Mack McGillis was made acting chairman. 

There is good evidence that the way the operations of the tribal office, then a1 Havre, 
were being conducted had been an issue among members even before the 1994 election 
(FD 1998), and continued to be for many members after the election. 133 Although 
opinions differed, many individuals interviewed were aware of. or had received 
complaints, that the office was never open. Linked with this were complaints that the 
chairman and the enrollment officer, who lived in Havre, were unresponsive, refusing to 
give out information or respond to inquiries (FD 1998; Vogel 1998). 

The location of the tribal office was a political issue in 1994, as it had been earlier. At a 

IJl As has been the standard practice. the second vice-chairman moved up to first, and a councilman 
moved up to second vice chairman, leaving an open councilman slot. 

IJJ Determining the truth of these allegations is not relevant for purposes of an acknowledgment finding. 
The significance of (he allegations lies in what the controversy reveals about the political processes of the 
petitioner. 
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July 1994 "District" meeting in Great Falls, in a discussion of other political 
controversies, it was stated by some that Great Falls should be an "area office" after 
Federal recognition. The location of the office was put on the 1994 ballot as a 
referendum, with Havre receiving 359 votes, Great Falls 177, and other locations 25 
(Great Times 111611996). There was also a meeting in Great Falls in 1995, attended by 
approximately 70 members, which voted that Havre remain the location of the office 
(Sinclair 1998). 

Despite the 1994 "referendum" and earlier meeting in 1995, the council voted, 
immediately after ousting Swanson in September 1995, to move the office to Great Falls. 
The council in 1995 was dominated by Great Falls members. Councilmen Roger Salois 
and James Parker Shield, as well as acting chainnan Mack McGillis, who were all from 
Great Falls, organized the efforts of members in Great Falls to move the office and 
establish it in Great Falls (R. Salois 1998; Shield 1998). Council members and others 
from Great Falls traveled to Havre, removed tribal files from storage and transported 
them to Great Falls. Interviewees described a fairly active group of members in Great 
Falls at this time who worked on fund raisers to get the funds [0 payoff the Little Shell 
debt and pay for office space in Great Falls (R. Salois 1998; Fleury 1998; Shield 1998; 
LSTCJM 10/1411 995). Those persons instrumental in moving the office argued that [here 
was considerable sentiment among the membership to move the office to Great Falls 
because the city was more centrally located for members (R. Salois 1998; Shield 1998; 
Great Falls Tribune 9/2611 995). 

The issue of the location of the office was linked in people's opinions with shifting power 
to Shield and his allies in the Great Falls area and away from Swanson, whose supporters 
were primarily based in Havre and elsewhere on the Highline. Chainnan Swanson later 
characterized the conflict in part as a geographical one between the Highline and Great 
Falls. She likened it to the conflicts which had occurred in the 1970's and early 1980's 
when John Sinclair was chainnan (Swanson 1998) and the conflicts during Joe 
Dussome's era. She characterized the Great Falls members' opinions as the "Hill 57 
attitude," suggesting that this encompassed Helena and Butte as well. 

The 1996 election was again conducted by statewide balloting. James Parker Shield ran 
for chairman, teaming up on a slate of candidates with John Gilbert for First Vice 
Chainnan. Tim Zimmerman for Second Vice Chainnan, and Roger Salois, for council, all 
of whom had served on the existing council. Also on the slate was Caroline Fleury, a 
newcomer, who ran for council. Shield and Gilbert appear to have been the prime 
movers, one of their campaign fliers being identified as from the "Shield/Gilbert 
Committee" (Shield and Gilbert 1996). Fonner acting chairman Mack McGillis, from 
Great Falls, who was by then no longer an officer, was allied with Shield's group. 

Shield and, to a lesser extent, Gilbert, campaigned for office, holding infonnational 
meetings in [Owns as far away as Spokane (Shield 1996). Franklin characterized the 
turnout at these meetings as "substantial" given the size of the local population (Franklin 
1997, 8). The largest attendance was 25 at Hays, where the enrolled membership, 
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including children, was 69. Shield was also particularly skillful in getting media 
coverage of his campaign. NARF provided a grant in the amount of $2.960 to pay for 
election expenses (LSTCIM 8/311996). 

Shield and his slate ran on a platfonn of bringing a "new approach" to tribal business (c. 

Salois 1998b). Shield and his allies planned to come in with a program to change the 
system of governance in a number of ways. In a recent interview Shield pointed to his 
sponsorship of widening committee membership to include noncouncil members as an 
example (Shield 1998). One of their campaign niers listed Federal acknowledgment as 
their "mission" and their goals as enrollment of all eligible members, economic 
development, preservation of Little Shell history and culture, open, honest and fair tribal 
government, and improved communication between the council and members (Shield and 
Gilbert 1996). 

They were opposed on the ballot by fonner chairman John "Bud" Sinclair, who ran 
against Shield for chainnan. and Sinclair's alJy, Melvin Swan. Judy Jacoby chose not to 

run again, citing as her reasons the political conflicts of the past two years, during which 
she, Swan. and Sinclair had often opposed Shield (Jacoby 1998). Two candidates ran 
against Gilbert: Robert Van Gunten. who was informally allied with Sinclair and Swan, 
and Robert Doney. 

A total of 640 ballots were cast in the election held November 16, 1996. Of these, 525 
were found to be valid. This represented 14 percent of the eligible voters. l34 Most of the 
other ballots were found to have been cast by individuals whom the election committee 
could not readily identify on the tribal roll. although it concluded that some may have 
been enrolled under a different name (Franklin 1997, 12). Of the 640 ballots, 180 were 
cast at polling places, about 200 were absentee ballots which were delivered to the polling 
places, and the balance were absentee ballots which were mailed in (Franklin 1997. J O-
11). Franklin visited the polling places at Great Falls, Havre, and Hays on voting day. 
He concluded that there was a large amount of informal social interaction at the voting 
places in Great Falls and Havre, as well as food being served, and some dancing (Franklin 
1997,13). 

Shield and his slate were all elected. Shield received 298 votes to Sinclair's 224. Gilbert 
received 344 to his opponents' combined totaJ of 176. Zimmerman defeated Swan 312 to 
205 (LSTCIM 11/2311996). Also elected were Mary Tobe Whittaker, running unopposed 
as secretary-treasurer, and Caroline F1eury. Roger Salois, and Henry Gladeau, also 
unopposed, for council. The results were announced at the annual Joe Dussome Day 
celebration in late November 1996, which was attended by over 200 adults (Franklin 
1997,15). 

130 The percentage was calculated based on 3.632 eligible voters. the number of individuals on the lillIe 
Shell membership list born in 1978 or before. The membership list is that used for (his finding. which 
includes supplements through 1992. 
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The election quickly generated a high level of controversy. Strong protests developed 
against how the election was conducted and against seating Shield as chainnan. The lead 
figures in opposing the election were Jacoby, S wan, and Sinclair (Jacoby 1998; Swan 
1998; Sinclair 1998; Shield 1998; Franklin 1997, 18). Darrell Koke, head of the area 
representatives, wrote a public letter of protest to the council in late December which is 
corisidered to have helped spark opposition to Shield (Jacoby 1998). Following Koke's 
letter, Jacoby also directed a strong protest letter to the council. dated December 23, 
1996. 

It appears that Jacoby, Swan, and Sinclair had campaigned against Shield before the 
election. Jacoby had contacted her extensive network of relatives on the Highline, as well 
as friends and relatives in Great Falls, where she was living, advising them to vote against 
Shield (Franklin 1997. 19; Jacoby 1998). Jacoby is both a Doney and a Laverdure, and is 
related to many in the Highline towns and Lewistown. Jacoby reported that there was a 
great deal of word-of-mouth protest between the election and the January II, 1997, 
meeting at which the newly elected officers were to be installed (LSTCIM 1111/1997). 
She reporteo also that she had received 45 letters on the subject of the election. 

At the January 11. 1997. meeting. Shield's seating as chainnan was challenged first by 
Darrel] Koke. then chair of the area representatives. and then by Jacoby, Sinclair, and 
Swan (LSTCIM 1/1111997). Although the issue of Shield's background was reprised. his 
actions during the interval between the election and the January meeting appear to have 
been the central political issue. Koke objected that Shield. although he was not yet 
chairman. had already rented a separate office for the chairman across town from the 
Little Shell office. had printed his own letterhead for the chairman's office, and was 
already sending out letters. These same complaints were repeated in interviews 
conducted by BAR with individuals from a wide variety of family lines and backgrounds (FD 1998). 

Koke then requested that the council remove Shield. Jacoby had declined Koke's request 
to bring such a motion, stating that the area representatives (i.e., Koke) should bring the 
matter to the council. Jacoby instead moved. unsuccessfully, to have the election 
nullified. It was finally agreed that Shield would be seated, subject to a 90-day 
probationary period during which the area representatives would set up a committee to 
evaluate Shield's behavior. The council at this point was more or less equally divided 
between Shield supporters and opponents. 

The council held a separate meeting after the general council meeting to go over the 
issues with Shield (LSTCIM 111111997). They raised the issue of Shield not keeping the 
council informed and not making decisions for the Little Shell Band without tribal 
council approval or disapproval. He reiterated his promise. made during the general 
meeting. to resign after 90 days if the council at that point was not satisfied. At the 
request of acting chairman John Gilbert, the council agreed to try to work with Shield 
"for the good of the Little Shell." 
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Immediately after the January II council meeting, Jacoby, Swan. and Sinclair organized a 
petition drive. sending out twO petitions and a letter indicating that they hoped to invoke 
the referendum process in the constitution (Sinclair et al. 1997). One petition called for 
interpreting the constitutional clause concerning "felony" to prohibit office holding by a 
person who had comitted a felony at any time (LSTCIM 1997a). The other called for the 
council to declare the entire election null and void because of various claimed 
irregularities (LSTCIM 1997b). The irregularities cited included problems with polling 
places, problems with the distribution of absentee ballots. and the apparently inadvertent 
distribution of the Shield "slate" literature with part of the mailing of the absentee ballots. 
The latter was frequently cited by interviewees who objected to the election (FD 1998). It 
appears that various individuals contacted by Jacoby, Swan, or Sinclair. andby others 
who contacted them, pulled together relatives and friends to sign the petitions. In 
addition to Jacoby and her allies, the acting chairman John Gilbert also received a 
significant number of protests of (he election (Gilbert 1998). 

By February, Shield had lost the support of the counciJ. including all of his former 
political allies, except for one council member. At a February II, 1997, meeting. the 
council asked him to resign voluntarily. giving as their reasons the harassment of phone 
calls from members concerning the actions that Shield took without consulting the tribal 
council. his "lack of communication with other tribal council members. his making 
decisions without informing the tribal council," his not being a "team player." and the 
"stress, divisiveness and turmoil that was occurring" (LSTCIM 2J 1111997). Shield 
refused to resign. The council then passed a motion to remove him. Only one of Shield's 
"slate" members supported him, by abstaining from the vote to remove him. John Gilbert 
was made chairman and Darrell Koke was selected by the council to fill the vacancy 
created on the council by Gilbert becoming chairman. 

There was no indication in the February 11 meeting minutes that a committee of area 
representatives had made a review of Shield's actions. as had been planned at the 
January II meeting. David Parenteau was appointed at the February meeting to replace 
Koke as chairman of the area representatives. Parenteau wrote to each of the 18 area 
representatives immediately after the meeting to ask whether they approved or 
disapproved of removing Shield. Seventeen of the 18 agreed with the action, and one 
dissented. Parenteau's action was taken with the agreement of the council, although not, 
apparently, at the council's direction (LSTCIM 311111997). 

A petition dated February 12, 1997. was circulated among the membership. It stated that 
the signers "strongly agree[d] with the decision of the tribal council" to remove Shield. 
There was no indication who circulated the petition. nor whether it was presented to the 
councilor the officers. There were 61 signatures, almost all from Great Falls or from 
Havre or other Highline towns. Signatories included several area representatives, Toby 
Whittaker, the secretary-treasurer. and council member Darrell Koke. 

At the March 1997 quarterly meeting, the first since Shield's removal, Jacoby and Sinclair 
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again raised the issue of the validity of the election.l3~ The chairman and council agreed 
to accept a "petition" which had 263 names on it as well as 45 letters Jacoby had received 
on the subject of the election in January (Jacoby 1997).136 During the meeting, NARF 
attorney Peregoy, in response to a question from chairman Gilbert, advised against 
nullifying the election, saying there was no body of law which would hold the election 
illegal and that "the tribe would be shooting itself in the foot and disenfranchising a large 
majority" if it nullified the election. After an extensive discussion of the questions by 
members and area representatives, it was decided not to nullify the election. In what was 
seen as a peace gesture. Jacoby and Sinclair were nominated to the election committee for 
the next eJection (Franklin 1997.33; Jacoby 1998; LSTCIM 3/811997). This action was 
instigated by David Parenteau, chairman of the area representatives. Eighty-five people 
signed in for this meeting, including officers. council members. and area representatives. 

Jacoby stated in an interview that she was aware that there was a great deal of discontent 
among the elders about the amount of open conflict at these meetings (Jacoby 1998).137 
She, and petition researcher Robert Franklin, consider that this dislike of open conflict is 
part of the political culture of the Little Shell Band. Franklin cited as part of his evidence 
for this proposition a videotape of the March 1997 meeting which shows active audience 
participation in opposing the "bickering and fighting" and.in seeking to reach agreement 
(Franklin 1997, 29-30). 

Shield filed suit in state district court on May 9, 1997. to overturn his removal, obtaining 
a temporary restraining order reinstating him as chairman from May] 2 through May 22 
(Montana Dist. Court 5/12/1997). The council responded with the help of substantial 
legal aid from NARF, holding that the state court did not have jurisdiction because of 
tribal sovereignty (LSTCIM 6/6/1997). Shield argued that the group was a non-profit 
corporation, and thus subject to state jurisdiction (Great Falls Tribune 5/20/1997). 

The lawsuit was dismissed, subsequent to a May 22, 1997, hearing. pursuant to ajoint 
stipulation from both parties to resolve the issue internally (Montana Dist. Court 
5/29/1997; Great Falls Tribune 5/31/1997). Shield stated that he agreed to withdraw the 
suit because pursuing it would compromise the tribe's sovereignty by having a state court 
decide an internal political issue (Shield 1998; Great Falls Tribune 5/31/1997). The court 
noted in its dismissal that it appeared that there was "good cause ... that the Court has no 

I)' Jacoby noted in this meeting that she was sending her materials to Robert Franklin, the lead researcher 
for the Lillie Shell petition (LSTCIM 2/1111991). Franklin incorporated these materials into his analysis of 
the 1996 election which was submitted as pan of the Lillie Shell Band's petition (Franklin 1997). 

136 The "petition" presented to the council was a list 263 individuals objecting to the election, compiled 
from leiters, signatures on the petitions they had circulated. and phone calls between late December 1996 
and March 1997 (Jacoby 1991 and 1998). Additional protests were received by Jacoby after that point, 
reaching a total of 283 (Jacoby 1998). 

1)7 Jacoby has noted that at the same time she was being pressured by others to be the "point person" for 
the protest (Jacoby 1998). 
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jurisdiction to hear this matter. , , ," (Montana Dist. Coun 6/3/1997), 

As an alternative, the council voted on May 27, 1997. to set up an independent 
adjudicatory panel of three Little Shell members to hear the case and issue an advisory, 
non-binding decision to the tribal council (Gilbert 1997), After this process had begun. 
and letters and briefs exchanged. Shield withdrew his request for the hearing (Shield 
1997) This ended his actions to contest his re'moval. 

Further Analysis of the Shield Removal 

James Parker Shield has been an effective but often controversial political catalyst whose 
occupation of office has twice lead to internal conflict within the Little Shell group and to 
his removal or withdrawal from office. The events and processes leading to his removal 
in 1997 seem to parallel his earlier removal from office in 1981 (see above), He is very 
well known among the Little Shell membership. as well as among non-Indians, because 
of the positions he has held in the Little Shell organization, in the Great Falls Indian 
Alliance, and as state Indian coordinator, and, in part, because of the controversies he has 
generated in those positions. Shield, who grew up on Hill 57, has had a strong political 
base in Great Falls, as a result of his activities there over the years. 

Knowledge of, and opinion about, Shield's actions and the council action to remove him 
from office was widespread among the membership (FD 1998), Those interviewed 
expressed strong opinions about Shield, and indicated only a minority of members 
continued to support him. The most common theme expressed in the interviews was that 
he was a brilliant man who saw far into the future of the Little Shell Band, and that he 
was also a highly skilled politician. Interviewees were also of the opinion, however, that 
he was uncontrollable and acted on his own without consulting with the council or others 
within the Little Shell Band. 

Area Representatives 

The area representative system was reorganized, and somewhat revitalized. in 1993, when 
the council established the position of chairman ofthe area representatives. Darrell Koke, 
Clf Havre, was appointed in 1994 as the first chairman. While in this position she became 
more involved in Little Shell politics. Koke is credited with strengthening the area 
representative system. She produced a set of guidelines for area representatives, in effect 
a manual for how to hold meetings, etc. (Koke 1994), 

The current head of the area representatives indicated that, as a result of a push by the 
area representatives, they were now regularly allowed to attend council meetings 
(Parenteau 1998). This was sought by area representatives in order to have better 
information about the council's activities to bring to members (Allen 1998; Vogel 1998), 
There was evidence (hat area representatives, rather than being elected in local meetings 
as in the past, are now often individuals who have requested and received appointment by 
the council (Parenteau 1998; Thomas 1998). 
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One curreni council member stated that the area representatives were "the ones that really 
have the power" and that they could oust the council if they wanted to get together to do it 
(R. Salois 1998). While this probably overstates their influence, based on other 
interviews (e.g., Gilbert 1998; Jacoby 1998; S. Doney 1998; G. Azure 1998), it reflects 
the important role that area representatives have played in political events in the past 
decade. 

The area representatives played an important role in the change to statewide elections. 
The election committee appointed by the council in 1994 to prepare proposals for a 
revised election process was initially characterized as a committee of area representatives 
and was co-chaired by Darrell Koke (LSTCIM: 6/18/1994). Koke had, prior to that time, 
brought some of the ideas being talked about by the area representatives to the attention 
of the council. One of the couJicil members described the area representatives' reporting 
of membership complaints about the past elections as a major factor in the council's 
agreement to revise the system (c. Salois 1998a). The ideas were at least partly the result 
of meetings held by the area representatives in their areas (Thomas 1998). The 1994 
election committee's notes of its July 12, 1994, meeting indicated that the committee 
anticipated that the area representatives would either hold area meetings or otherwise 
make contact with individuals in their area to discuss and find out the members' 
preferences about each of the issues concerning revising the election process (LSTCIM 711211994). . 

The area representatives also played a role in the political conflicts over Shield. The 
council sought their approval of its action to remove Shield (see above). The area 
representatives' role as representing members' opinions is also evident in the discussions 
at the council meetings from January through March 1997. Darrell Koke and David 
Parenteau, her successor, apparently felt that as chainnen of the area representatives they 
were in a position (0 offer support for the council's actions and to mobilize favorable 
political opinion. Jacoby and Sinclair also sought area representative support by trying to 
involve Darrell Koke in support of their efforts to have Shield removed and to nullify the 1996 election (FD 1998). 

Geography and Political Processes 

The rural towns and the two cities where many Little She]) ancestors moved in the 1920's 
and 1930's and where many members stilI reside cover a very large geographic span (see 
Figures 6 and 7). Between Wolf Point at the east end of the Highline and Havre at the 
west end, the distance by road is 209 miles. From Havre to Browning is 162 miles. From 
Browning to Great Falls, through the Front Range rural towns such as Choteau, is 
approximately 127 miles by road. Helena is another 90 miles south of Great Falls. Great 
Falls to Lewistown is 107 miles. And Lewistown to the Highline at Malta (passing by 
Zortman and Landusky) is 112 miles. 

It is generally felt by Little Shell political leaders who have been active in the past 20 
years that the geographic dispersion of the membership is, as in the past, a difficulty with 
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which the Little Shell Band governing institutions have had to deal (Swanson 1998: 
Shield 1998; R. Salois 1998; FD 1998). The problems of distance and travel are 
repeatedly mentioned. The geographical factor is also reflected in the commonly 
expressed idea that being a council member or officer necessarily meant frequent travel, 
often in difficult weather (Swanson 1998; C. Salois 1998a). A variety of measures have 
been used 'to keep sufficient contact and a flow of information across the large distance 
separating the locations where Little Shell members live. Some are a continuation of the 
organizational features established by Dussome' s organization in the late 1930's. 

The area or quarterly meeting is seen by leaders and members as a way to have the 
leadership come to a local area rather than always meeting in a central place (Swanson 
1998; Vogel 1998). In the same way the area representatives are a means of distributing 
information locally and gathering opinion and suppon. They were and are expected to· 
hold local meetings to accomplish this (Thomas 1998). 

The 1994 change from electing officers at an annual meeting to statewide balloting is 
described by Little Shell leaders as having been made in part to deal with the distances 
separating Little Shell members in Montana. Among other· reasons, the change resulted 
from unhappiness with the statewide convention, which meant that only the relatively few 
individuals who could attend were able to vote in elections. Members complained about 
the time and expense of traveling long distances to the annual meetings, even though 
modern travel conditions are vastly improved over even those of the 1950's (FD 1998). 

Another manifestation of the geographical factor is that members complained to the 
council and officers of a lack of communication if quarterly meetings and other 
organization activities were not held from time to time in their area, or if it seemed that 
they were only being held in one or two locations (e.g, Van Gunten 1998). It has thus 
been, and continues to be the practice today, according to a number of leaders, to rotate 
quanerly and annual meetings among different locations so that more people can 
panicipate, given the limitations on the ability of many members to travel long distances 
to a meeting. The locations where it is considered appropriate to hold quarterly meetings 
appear to be limited to those which have been centers of Little Shell settlement since 
early in the century, i.e., the urban centers of Helena and Great Falls, the Highline from 
Havre to Malta, Lewistown, and either Choteau or Browning on the Front Range. 

Geographical rivalry has flared up from time to time. It was evident in the LIM conflicts 
with the MLI in the early 1950's, as it had been in the 1930's and early 1940's. It also was 
part of the basis for the political conflicts in the early 1980's. 

Geographical rivalry and problems of communication with members have been concerns 
in connection with the location of the tribal office. The issue came up in the early 1980's, 
when offices were briefly established in Great Falls and then Helena. The location of the 
office established in 1989 became a political issue, especially between the Highline and 
Great Falls. The political calculation for a tribal office location tends to come down to 
Great Falls versus Havre, both being relatively central and both having a relatively large 
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number of members. Great Falls. which has the largest number of members and is 
traditionally an area for urban migration. is not identified with either the Highline or the 
Front Range and. proponents argue. has better airline service (Gilbert 1998; R. Salois 
1998). 

Economic Needs as a Present-Day Political Issue 

The economic needs of members is not as strong a political issue now as it was in the 
1930's and early 1940·s. However. several interviewees stated that the membership is still 
relatively poor and in need of assistance (Maki 1998; Van Gunten 1998; Sinclair 1998). 

Economic needs have come before the council in the past several years as an issue 
primarily in ,he context of enrollment. Because the Little Shell members have had some 
access (0 some services from the Indian Health Service and the BIA since the early 
1970's, individuals have sought enrollment to gain access to these benefits. Little Shell 
officials cited these services and benefits as currently one of the driving issues for 
individuals seeking enrollment. because evidence of enrollment with the Little Shell Band 
could be used to obtain health services from the Indian Health Service (FD 1998; Maki 
1998; Vogel 1998; Gilbert 1998). Tribal council officials were concerned that a 
suspension of new enrollments. in effect since at least 1992. was hurting older individual,s 
who needed medical help and were eligible to be members (Maki 1998; Gilbert 1998). 

Complaints were common in BAR interviews that the reservation tribal governments 
administering Indian Health Service (IHS) contracts or BIA education programs were 
incorrectly limiting access by Little Shell members (FD 1998; Jacoby 1998; S. Doney 
1998). Interviewees frequently commented that access to IHS services and BIA 
educational grants has varied from one year to another. as Federal Government and 
reservation tribal government polices changed. 

Franklin and Bunte noted that the Little Shell office has frequently been called upon to 
help get medical services through the IHS. primarily by certifying enrollment and/or tribal 
ancestry. It has also provided certification of membership for purposes such as 
preference in state and Federal hiring. for obtaining Montana State higher education 
tuition waivers, and other. similar. purposes (Franklin and Bunte 1994. 153) . . ' 

Membership Requirements as a Political Issue 

There was some limited evidence that maintenance of the blood degree requirement has 
been a political issue discussed by the membership in the past decade. The issue was also 
raised at a number of meetings in the 1980·s. Some interviewees said that it was 
appropriate to maintain a blood degree. but that with outmarriage the present requirement 
meant that increasingly some of the younger generation could not be enrolled (e.g .• S. 
Doney 1998). Because there was information from only a limited number of interviews. 
and little mention in minutes, there was not sufficient information to establish whether 
maintenance of a blood degree requirement for membership is presently an important 
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political issue for the Little Shell Band membership. 

Participation by Non-Members 

For the past five or ten years, as a result of the freeze on enrollment, some people who are 
not enrolled members have been participating in the political activities of the Little Shell 
Band. At one point it was ruled by the council that an unenrolled individual could 
become an area representative if that person's membership application was pending 
(LSTCIM 6/18/1994). In 1995, a council member requested that the enrollment be 
completed for three unenrolled individuals who were area representatives (Jacoby 1995). 
A substantial number of individuals whose names did not appear on the membership list 
cast votes in the 1994 and 1996 statewide elections, although their votes were not counted 
(see above). The names of unenrolled individuals appeared on the lists of those 
protesting the 1996 elections (Jacoby 1998; Franklin 1997,28). 

As far as could be determined, all of these nonmember panicipants were immediate 
relatives of enrollees, rather than representing "new" family lines not previously part of 
the group (FD 1998). The Little Shell Band enrollment officer and others noted that 
many people, especially older ones, did not realize that the enrollments done before 1984, 
when the current enrollment process was begun, are not considered valid (Maki J 998). 
Consequently, these people i'ncorrectly believe that they are members. Others, who were 
determined by the BlA to be eligible for the Pembina award, assumed that this meant that 
they were also enrolled with the Little Shell Band, not realizing that enrollment with the 
petitioner was a separate process. 

Enrollment/or the Pembina Judgment Fund Award 

Franklin and Bunte argue that between 1982 and 1993 communication concerning the 
Pembina judgment roll process was frequent between the Little Shell council and officers 
and the membership (Franklin and Bunte 1994,145-148). There were 1.722 members of 
the Little Shell Band accepted on the Pembina judgment roll (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 
147). There are no figures on how many of these successful applicants communicated 
with the Little Shell office and Little Shell enrollment officer Edna Teske, but the BAR 
interviews and the evidence cited by Franklin and Bunte indicate that a large number of 
inquiries were made. Presumably there were also inquiries by applicants who were 
subsequently rejected for the payment. 

Because the Little Shell enrollment officer was the primary BlA contact for the 
preparation of the Little Shell ponion of the Pembina roll, the Little Shell office was a 
logical contact for members. The primary information sought by members from the 
enrollment officer and the council concerned the application process, e.g., the 
documentation of ancestry that was required, and an explanation of the distinction 
between applying for the judgment ,payment and enrollment in the Little Shell 
organization. Members also sought information about how and when the payment would 
be made. 
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Minutes of area and tribal council meetings between 1980 and the present show that the 
claims payment, and the somewhat cumbersome application process, were frequent topics 
of discussion (see above). Enrollment and application for the claims payment were cited 
as one of the reasons for opening the first tribal office in 1989 (Havre Daily News 
5/1111989). Failure to respond to inquiries concerning enrollment, and the closure of the 
Havre office where the enrollment operation was conducted, was one of the political 
issues which led to the removal of fonner Chairman Swanson and moving the office to 
Great Falls (see discussion above). Franklin and Bunte cited two 1993 area meetings 
where the Pembina award was discussed at length as evidence for widespread 
communication with the membership (Franklin and Bunte 1994, 147). 

Franklin and Bunte also cited as evidence of communication the log of calls to the Little 
Shell office for nine months of 1993. Their analysis of the log concludes that 880 
different individuals called, of which "the vast majority" were members (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 153). However. they did not provide a separate count of inquiries which 
concerned the Pembina award, as opposed to inquiries for other purposes. They merely 
stated that "substantial numbers" of the inquiries were about the award (Franklin and 
Bunte 1994, 147). 

The evidence shows communication by a large number of people looking to the tribal 
council and officers for information about the Pembina award. It also shows that the 
council held meetings to get information out to members. The minutes and interviews 
also show that the council and officers were reacting to the concerns of the membership 
by inquiring of the Bureau about the Pembina judgment enrollment process and by 
requesting Bureau action concerning its implementation. 

Fund-raising and Miscellaneous Council Activities 

According to present and recent Little Shell political leaders, the operations of the tribal 
office and other organizational activities have been financed to a substantial degree by 
donations from the members and fund-raising activities rather than by government or 
other grants (Gilbert 1998; R. Salois 1998; C. Salois 1998a).138 A common device has 
been to have a raffle or lottery at a quarterly meeting or at Joe Dussome Day. The money 
to move the tribal office from Havre to Great Falls in 1995 and to payoff outstanding 
bills was raised by activities such as raffles of donated items and yard sales organized by 
members in Great Falls (R. Salois 1998; Shield 1998). Similar activities for fund raising 
were described by fonner chainnan Deborah Swanson as occuring in Havre and on the 
Highline during her term as chairman between 1988 and 1995. Franklin notes that $535 
was raised at a March 1996 meeting from donations and a raffle (Franklin 1997,34). 

A detailed analysis was not made of available data concerning fund-raising activities, 

IJI NARF has provided funding for elections. and petition research. at least since 1993. The group had an 
Administration for Native Americans grant (A.~A) in 1990. but has not been a regular reCipient of ANA 
grants. 

-218-

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 292 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Technical Report 

panicularly of how many members may have participated. Present and past leaders 
describe these activities as small scale efforts which together with the individual financial· 
resources of council members and officers have been the primary means of funding the 
organization from the mid-1980's to the present (i.e, during their tenure). According to 
most accounts, these efforts raise only small sums of money -- at most a few hundred 
dollars at a time (FD 1998). 

In 1997, and probably 1998, the Little Shell council arranged for the inclusion of the 
group in the distribution of the meat of buffaloes culled from Federal herds (Grear Times 
3/12/1997; Sinclair 1998). The distribution was carried out by members appointed by the 
council. These members prepared the meat and identified families and individuals who 
wanted the meat by calling members, putting notices in the newspaper and at Indian 
centers, and receiving letters requesting it. The council was not, by the available 
evidence, involved in deciding who would receive me meat. Although Franklin referred 
to this as a distribution to "needy" members (Franklin 1997, 36). the available 
information did not indicate that economic need was a criterion for being included in the 
distribution. In 1997,212 individuals in Montana. and others elsewhere, received buffalo 
meat (Great Times 3/12/1997). 

Little Shell Eligibility for BIA and IRS Services 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs in 1970 began to provide some limited services, panicularly 
for higher education, to individual Little Shell members. Services were provided on the 
basis of blood degree, without regard to enrollment in a recognized tribe (BIA 5/411970, 
1130/1978). Federal policies in that era allowed some Bureau services to be provided to 
individuals of one-quarter Indian blood or more, regardless of tribal enrollment (Interior 
6/12/1978). The Department of the Interior stated in 1971. with reference to me Montana 
unenrolled Indians, that, "Those who can establish a specific degree of Indian blood are 
now entitled to certain services from the Bureau of Indian Affairs" (BIA 6(2111971). BIA 
services since about 1975 have reportedly included grants for higher education (Swanson 
1993). The extent of services, and the basis for services, varied somewhat in different 
years (see BIA 5/4/1970, 1130/1978; Interior 6/12/1978). It was not determined for this 
report precisely what BIA services were provided in what years, nor the exact basis for 
those services at a given time. 

Little Shell members received some services from the Indian Health Service as early as 
the 1970's. rns policies have varied over time, but have been based on the general 
principle that Indians who were members of recognized tribes, or descendants of a 
recognized tribe, were eligible for direct services. 139 In 1988, the Director of the rns 
Billings area office informed the chairman of the Little Shell that the Little Shell 
members were considered descendants of a recognized tribe, apparently Turtle Mountain, 
and thus eligible for direct services from the DiS (DiS 1988). Little Shell minutes in 

139 Little Shell eligibility was limited to direct services from an IHS facility. They were not eligible for 
"contract services" from the private sector for care not available at an IHS facility. 
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1989 indicated that members were eligible for direct services from IHS if they filled out 
certain forms which the Turtle Mountain Agency verified (LSTCIM 4/811989). In 1994. 
the Director of the Indian Health Service informed the Native American Rights Fund that 
eligibility for IHS services required demonstration of descent from a federally recognized 
tribe (IHS 1994). It stated further that the IHS relied on the Department of Interior to 
determine whether the Little Shell members were considered descended from the Turtle 
Mountain tribe and thus eligible. In 1997. however. the IHS Associate Area Director for 
Billings advised IHS service unit directors that any individual who was an enrolled 
member of the Little Shell tribe was eligible for direct services (IHS 1997 a). The Fort 
Belknap Service Unit Director. in commenting on this advisory. noted that this eligibility 
was because "the Little Shell membership is considered descendants of a federally 
recognized tribe" (IHS 1997b). 

Presently. however. Little Shell members complain that they often face restrictions on 
illS services that they did not face in the past. Their comments indicate that this is a 
result of reservation governments taking over illS direct service units under contracts 
with the illS (S. Doney 1998; Jacoby 1998; Sinclair 1998). However. interviews and 
Little Shell minutes indicated that perceived limitations on medical services from IHS. as 
well as limits on education services from BIA. have been an issue for Little Shell 
members for the past 20 years (FD 1998). Problems with illS and Bureau services were 
mentioned in council minutes in 1978, 1983. and 1989, among other years (LSTCIM 
lOn1l978, 5/14/1983. 4/8/1989. 5/13/1989). Access to services is a reason that some 
individuals have sought enrollment and a concern of the present (1998) Little Shell 
council because the petitioner's current freeze on new enrollments prevents some older 
people from access to IHS medical services (MaId 1998; Gilbert 1998). 

Little Shell Relationship with the State of Montana and Montana Indian Tribes 

The Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board has served as an advisory body to the government 
of the State of Montana since 1951. The Board includes representatives from all of the Montana tribes. In 1952, the list of member tribes included the Landless Indians of 
Montana (MITPB 1952). The group has been a member of the Board since that time. 
According to Little Shell leaders, members of the Little Shell of one quarter or more 
degree Indian blood have been eligible since at least the mid-1980's for state college 
tuition waivers on the same basis as Montana reservation Indians (Swanson 1998; C. 
Salois 1998a). They have also been eligible, in the same manner as members of 
reservation tribes, for an exemption from state taxes as long as they reside and work on a 
reservation and are enrolled with the Little Shell (Swanson 1993). Recently, the state has 
reportedly considered revoking this exemption for the Little Shell (C. Salois 1998a). The 
Governor of Montana in 1992 submitted a letter to the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
supporting acknowledgment of the Little Shell Band (Stephens 1992). The Governor's 
letter was accompanied by documents concerning the Little Shell's relationship with the 
State of Montana. 

Resolutions in support of Federal acknowledgment of the Little Shell petitioner have been 
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passed by Indian organizations and federally recognized tribes: in 1978 by the Inter-Tribal 
Board of Montana, which includes the Little Shell band as a member; in 1985 by the 
National Tribal Chainnan's Association, the tribal council of the Confederated Salish and 
Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Reservation, and the tribal council of the Northern 
Cheyenne Tribe; and in 1992 by the Chippewa Cree Tribe of Rocky Boy's Reservation 
and the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians of North Dakota (MITPB 1978; 
NTCA 1985; Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes 1985; Northern Cheyenne Tribe 
1985; Chippewa Cree Tribe 1992; Turtle Mountain Band 1992). In 1996, the Turtle 
Mountain Band passed and submitted to the BlA a resolution "reconfinning its support of 
Federal Recognition of the Little Shell of Montana" (Turtle Mountain Band 1996). No 
documentation was received with any of these resolutions. 

The Petitioner's Membership: 

Governing Documents 

The petitioner considers its governing document to be the "Constitution and By-Laws of 
the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana" which was adopted on 
September 10, 1977 (LSTCIM 9/10/] 977). Article I of the constitution defined the 
governing body of the group as the Executive Board, which consisted of a president, vice­
president, second vice-president, secretary-treasurer, and area council members. An 
Executive Committee, consisting of the president, vice-presidents, secretary-treasurer, 
and at least three council members, constituted a quorum for conducting business on the 
Board's behalf. The duties of the officers were described in Article Vll. Articles IV and 
VI described the procedures for proposing ordinances or resolutions and for adding 
amendments to the constitution. Article V defined the group's membership criteria. Any 
Indian of Pembina ancestry and one-quarter degree Indian blood was eligible for . 
membership, provided that they had never received an allotment of land derived from an 
Indian reservation. All children born to members who possessed one-quarter degree of 
Indian blood were entitled to membership. The article required applicants to be approved 
for membership by the group's Executive Committee. 

In the petition documentation the petitioner submitted to the BIA in 1984, it included an 
uncertified copy of its 1977 constitution as its governing document. The same 
submission, however, also contained a copy of the "Official Constitution and By-laws of 
the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana [which was] Adopted by Tribal 
Members May 16,1981 at Helena, Montana" (LSTCIM 9110/]977). The language in 
Section I of the 1981 constitution was confusing in regards to limiting membership to 
persons of at least one-quarter "Pembina Chippewa Blood." The BIA asked the petitioner 
to provide an explanation of its membership requirements, as well as a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting at which the 1981 constitution had been approved, and a copy of a 
list of members who had voted or were eligible to vote on its ratification (BIA 4/8/1985). 

In the interim between the submission of the petition documentation and the BIA's 
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response to it, however, the group had reaffinned the 1977 constitution as its "operative, 
governing document" at a meeting of the Little Shell petitioner on May 26, 1984 
(LSTCIM 512611984, resolution). Despite this action, there apparently was still some 
confusion regarding interpretation of the membership criteria (LSTCIM 3nIl987a). On 
September 14, 1985, after receiving the BIA's query, the petitioner passed Resolution 
No. 85-1 in order to rescind language in the earlier Resolution 84-11 of May 26,1984, 
which, like the rejected 1981 constitution, purported to limit tribal membership to persons 
of "at least one-quarter Pembina Chippewa blood," which was further defined as 
"Chippewa-Cree blood derived from Pembina ancestry." The 1985 resolution reaffinned 
thal Article V, Sections I, n and ill of the constitution of 1977 defined who was eligible 
for membership (LSTCIM 9114/1985). 

At a special meeting held in Havre on March 7, 1987, the petitioner passed Resolution 
87-1 which again reaffinned the 1977 constitution as its governing document. This 
resolution further stated that the membership criteria enumerated in Article V, Sections I, n, and ill of the 1977 constitution were recognized as "constituting and describing the 
sole and entire class of Indian persons eligible for membership." The resolution of 1987 
said that it superseded the resolution of 1985. The new resolution provided "further 
clarification" of the provisions of the 1977 constitution, and stated that this interpretation 
was "consistent with the historical and contemporary understanding of the Tribe and its 
members" (LSTCIM 3nIl987b). The fol1owing comparison shows how the 1987 
resolution interpreted Article V of the 1977 constitution: 

Section I. Article V 1971 Constitytion: 

1977 Constitution: All members of the Little Shell tribe of Chippewa Indians of the State 
of Montana whose application as an Indian has been approved or may hereafter be 
approved by the Executive Commi!1ee of said Tribe. 

Resolution of March 7, 1987: This section means that members of the Little Shell Tribe 
shall consist of those lillIe Shell Chippewa Indians. also referred to as Pembina Indians. listed or eligible for enlistment on the Roe Cloud Roll, provided that said Indian's 
application for enrollment in the Little Shell Tribe has been approved by the Tribal 
Council. 

Section II Anicle V. 1977 Constitytion: 

1977 Constitution: Any Indian of Pembina ancestry and one-quaner (114) degree Indian 
blood providing they never have received an allotment of land derived by other Indian 
Reservations through adoption or marriage. subject to approval idenlical to Section I. 

Resolution of March 7, 1987: This section means that members of the Tribe shall consist 
of any descendant of those members included in Section I, provided that said descendent 
[sic]: (I) possesses a minimum of 1/4 degree Indian blood; (2) is not enrolled in another 
Indian tribe; and (3) has applied and been approved for enrollment by the Tribal Council. 

Section III, Miele y, 1977 Constitution: 

1977 Constitution: All children born to members of the Tribe who possess one-quaner 
degree (114) Indian blood are entitled to membership. 
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Resolution of March 7.1987: This section means that any child born to members In 

Section II are eligible for enrollment. The intent is to make eligible for membership any 
Section II member's child who possesses a minimum of 118 Indian blood. Membership is 
contingent upon making application to and securing the approval of the Tribal Council for 
enrollment. 

From this interpretation of the constitution, it is apparent that the petitioner relied on the 
Roe Cloud Roll as the prime, although not the sole, source for identifying the Indians of 
Pembina or Little Shell Chippewa descent who qualified for membership in its group. 
This interpretation of Section I, that the membership consisted of those "listed or eligible 
for enlistment on the Roe Cloud Roll," opened the way for non-enroIled siblings of Roe 
Cloud enrollees. and their descendants. to be eligible for membership in the group. The 
phrase "or eligible for enlistment on the Roe Cloud Roll" appeared to indicate that 
applicants need not trace their ancestry to someone who was on the Roe Cloud Roll. but 
rather to someone who would have qualified for that roll. If applicants did not trace 
directly to a Roe Cloud Roll ancestor, they could use the 1917 McLaughlin report, the 
Rocky Boy's census, or the genealogies of the Red River households 1818-1870 to 
document their Chippewa ancestry (BAR 5/13/1998). While this language appeared to 
broaden the field of candidates for membership, approval by the council and the 
interpretation of Section II that an applicant must have 1/4 degree Indian blood and be of 
Pembina j Little Shell descent added some limitations on who could qualify for 
membership. Section ill allowed the children of the 1/4 Indian blood degree members, if 
they possessed at least 118 Indian blood degree and were approved by the council, to 
become members. 

The petitioner again reaffirmed the 1977 constitution as its governing document when it 
answered a grievance filed by its former chairman, James Parker Shield. in 1997 (Gilbert 
1997). 

Membership Lists 

The combined petitioner's membership lists dated 1987,1990,1991, and 1992 comprise 
the official membership of the petitioning group, as certified by its council (BAR 
5/1 311998). There were 3,366 names on the 1987 list. 319 names on the 1990 list. 112 
names on the 1991 list. and 97 names on the 1992 list as submitted to the BlA by the 
petitioner (LSTCIM 1987, 1990, 1991, 1992). The BlA combined these lists into a 
master database to facilitate its research on the petition. eliminating duplicate names and 
deceased individuals from the combined list. and concluded that there are 3,893 members 
of the petitioner's organization. This total has been used for statistical purposes 
throughout this report. This combined membership list replaces earlier membership lists 
of the petitioner's organization. The prior membership lists submitted by the petitioner 
were those of 1978 and 1984. There are no known earlier membership lists of the 
petitioner's organization. 

The petitioner submitted to the BIA a copy of a list. dated April 1978, which included the 
names of 804 applicants for membership (LSTCIM 1978). Some of the applicants had an 
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address and ~n application number, but many did not. It appears that an adult parent was 
assigned an application number and that the applicant's children were not assigned 
separate application numbers. Although the names were arranged in a loose alphabetical 
order, the list contained no ages, birthdates, or cross references to other family members 
to help identify the individual. The column labeled "Enrollment #" was blank in every 
instance. It appears that 546 names on the 1978 list match names on the certified 1987-
1992 membership lists. There are six women on the 1978 list who may also be on later 
lists with a different surname, but without a birthdate or other identifying characteristics, 
the BIA could not assume they were the same individuals. There were 258 names on the 
1978 list that could not be accounted for on the petitioner's later membership lists. The former enrollment officer stated that when all members were asked to re-enroll in 1984, 
many of the people on the 1978 list were found to be members of the Turtle Mountain 
Band of Chippewa or of federally recognized tribes in Montana. She also stated that 
several people assumed that if they applied for the Pembina judgment award, they also 
were automatically applying for membership in the Little Shell band. This was not the 
case, and their names would not appear on the later lists unless they had submitted the 
proper application fonn (BAR 511211998). It is also assumed that a number of the 1978 
applicants are now deceased. 

The petitioner submitted a membership list dated September 25, 1984, of 1,871 names 
(LSTCIM 1984, membership list). Each membership list entry on the 1984 list recorded 
the person's roll number, name and address, gender, birth date, birth place, tribe, blood 
degree (Chippewa and other), father's name, birth date, birth place, tribe and blood 
degree, and mother's name, birth date, birth place, tribe and blood degree. This 
membership list was part of the petitioner's response to the BIA' s "obvious deficiency" 
review letter and included a copy of pages of the 1984 membership list with corrections 
to birth dates, blood degrees, addresses, spelling, and parentage. Several persons were 
noted as deceased, and some annotations included their exact death date. Others were 
noted as dual enrollees with the recognized tribes of the Rocky Boy's or Turtle Mountain 
Reservations. The names of the dual enrollees did not appear on the subsequent 1987 or later lists. A few names on the 1984 list had a hand-written note "delete," but no 
explanation was made as to why the member was deleted. Other names were marked 
"delete/duplicate," which included women who were listed by their maiden name or 
previous marriage surname as well as their current name. Some individuals were listed 
more than once, with variations in the spelling of their names (e.g., James C. Brown and 
James Brown). 

Dual Membership 

The petitioner's constitution does not allow for dual membership in a federally 
recognized tribe as well as in the Little Shell band. At the time of the petitioner's re­
enrollment project in the 1980' s, individuals who were already members of other tribes 
were removed from the membership list (BAR 511111 998, 511211998, 5113/1998). Some 
of the individuals who had been on the 1978 membership list were removed because they 
were found to be members of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa (BAR 511411998). 
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Some of the ancestry charts and membership records submitted by the petitioner cite 
enrollment numbers for the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa for collateral relatives or 
spouses (for example, see descendants of Charles St. Arnaud). The Turtle Mountain 
Band's enrollment criteria states that persons whose names appear on the May 24, 1940, 
roll, or their descendants who have 114 Indian blood and who are not penn anent residents 
of Canada: are eligible for membership in the Turtle Mountain Band (Turtle Mountain 
Band 1959). The enrollment officer at the Turtle Mountain Agency stated that many of 
the "Montana Chippewa" have tried to enroll at Turtle Mountain, but that unless they or a 
direct line ancestor was on the 1940 base roll, they were not eligible (BAR 5/211l998). 
The BlA's comparison of the 1940 Turtle Mountain roll with the petitioner's current 
membership list did not reveal individuals enrolled in both organizations. 

The BlA' s review of the membership records of the federally recognized tribes in the 
Billings Area Office shows that the names of 15 of the petitioner's members also appear 
on the membership records of these tribes. Eight names on the petitioner's membership 
list also appear on the 1997 Rocky Boy's Reservation membership list. three names on 
the petitioner's membership also appear on the 1997 Ft. Belknap membership list, and 
four names on the petitioner's membership list appear on the 1996 Blackfeet Tribe's 
membership list (BAR 5/141l998, 5/15/1998). These 15 individuals appear to have one 
parent who is a member of the federally recognized tribe and one parent who is a member 
of the Little Shell petitioner. There is no evidence that any significant number of the 
petitioner'S membership are members of federally recognized tribes in Montana. 

Membership Files 

The petitioner submitted copies of an ancestry chart and a page from the membership list 
for each person on the 1984 membership list. Very few of the ancestry charts had full 
dates of birth, death or marriage for anyone other than the applicant. In most instances. 
these fonns and charts connected the individual on the membership list to parents. 
grandparents, aunts. uncles. siblings, or other relatives on the Roe Cloud Roll. The 
pedigree charts contain as many as five generations back in the indi viduals' s history, 
much more infonnation than the membership list which only named the applicant's 
parents and grandparents. 

The genealogical records submitted with the petition were arranged by the petitioner in 
file folders by ancestral lines. For example, a file with "Lally Doney and Angela Moran" 
on the folder label had charts for some of the descendants of that couple. In most cases, it 
appears that the names on the file folders were also the names of individuals who 
appeared on the Roe Cloud Roll. There are some exceptions, but not many. The file 
folder may have named only one or two ancestors with Roe Cloud descent when, in 
actuality, there were others. BlA research confinned additional descent from, or 
connections to, Roe Cloud enrollees. This infonnation was added to the BlA's database 
of the petitioner's membership in order to help clarify the group's enrollment process. 

During the BlA's site visit in May 1998, the membership files in the petitioner's offices 
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were examined to confinn the procedures and determine how the group maintains its 
files. Each member, including minors, has a separate file with a birth certificate or 
baptismal record, ancestry chart, individual history chart, and if applicable, a copy of the 
data in the parent's file. The member's records were found to be arranged in alphabetical 
order, with a separate file for the 1987 membership list. and each of the subsequent 
supplemental lists compiled in 1990, 1991, and 1992 (BAR 5/13/] 998). 

The petitioner also maintains a separate file for the pending applications which have not 
been acted on by the petitioner's council. The files for pending members contain the 
same forms and certificates as the files for certified members. The individual 
membership files contain the "Enrollment Criteria List," which lists seven items that must 
be in the files. Those items are: (I) a completed and signed application form, (2) the 
name and number of a Roe Cloud Roll ancestor, (3) a family tree [ancestry chart], (4) an 
individual history chan, (5) birth and baptismal certificates, (6) a record verifying Indian 
blood degree, and (7) the names of any ancestors enrolled on a reservation and the name 
of the reservation. 

Other letters and forms in the files of both members and pending applicants include: a 
form relinquishing membership in either a federally recognized tribe or in the Little Shell 
petitioner, in compliance with the group's prohibition of dual enrollment; a fonn for 
blood degree certification signed by the petitioner's enrollment officer; a form letter 
acknowledging receipt of a letter requesting information about enrolling; a notice 
acknowledging receipt of application or other enrollment questions; and a form letter 
verifying that the individual is a member of the petitioning entity of Montana. Some files 
also have notices that the individual does not meet the requirements for enrolling with the 
Turtle Mountain Chippewa. Some files also contain a letter explaining a recent fund­
raising project which involved taking photographs of members at quarterly meetings and 
making identification cards. 

In addition to the standard forms and leHers, some files also contain death certificates, marriage records, probate records, letters from the BIA stating that the person was eligible 
to recei ve funds pursuant to the 1971 Act as a Pembina descendant, estate records, pages 
of published genealogies, church records of baptisms and marriages, and Indian allotment records. Not all of the files have all of the records cited above, but they do appear to have 
the re€ords required by the petitioner's governing documents and resolutions to determine 
that the applicant is entitled to enroll as a member. The files do consistently contain the 
birth certificates, applications, ancestry sheets, individual history charts, and letters from 
the enrollment committee requesting documentation. The enrollment resolutions do not 
specify that the individual submit certified copies of birth certificates or other vital 
records. Most files reviewed during the site visit had photocopies of certified birth 
certificates or baptismal records for the applicant, rather than the original, certified 
document (BAR 5113/1998). 

The petitioner'S enrollment committee checks each application and file to ensure (hat all 
of the forms and procedures outlined in the group's membership criteria are in place 
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(BAR 511311998). The enrollment committee continues to update the files by checking 
them for missing documents, such as birth certificates or affidavits regarding dual 
enrollment. At the quarterly meetings, they request relatives of persons with incorrect 
addresses to help "track down" the new addresses. Members of the enrollment committee 
said that it was up to the applicant to supply documentation of descent from the Turtle 
Mountain Chippewa (BAR 5112/1998). 

The enrollment committee stated that the council was not accepting new membership 
applications because of concerns that it would slow down the acknowledgment process if 
there were changes in the membership at this time. However, the council does act on 
questions of dual enrollment and removal of names from the membership list. The 
enrollment committee cited to a meeting in March 1998 when the council acted on three 
members' requests to remove their names from the list (BAR 5113/1998). Edna Teske, 
the petitioner's former enrollment officer, stated that the council had previously removed 
the names of individuals who were found to be dually enrolled in a federally recognized 
tribe (BAR 5/1311998). 

When asked by the BIA how the Indian blood degree was calculated, Teske stated that the 
Turtle Mountain Agency records, the Roe Cloud Roll, McCumber report, and Rocky 
Boy's (McLaughlin and Wheat) rolls were used to prepare the ancestry charts an9 to 
calculate the blood degrees at the time of the Pembina judgment award (BAR 511311998). 
In tum, the current enrollment committee uses the charts prepared by Teske in the 1980's. 
as well as the earlier Roe Cloud Roll, McCumber report, and Rocky Boy's rolls, to 
determine whether new applicants meet the petitioner's own membership requirements 
(BAR 5113/1998). 

Teske's 1994 Report 

In 1994, Edna Teske prepared a report on the petitioner's members who had appeared 
either as an adult or a chi Id on the Roe Cloud Roll. The report was titled "Teske's 312 
Little Shell Elder Enrollees Also Enrolled in the ca. 1937 Roe Cloud Census: Historic 
Evidence of Chippewa-Cree Ancestry" (Franklin 1995, table 1). As sources for "historic 
evidence of Chippewa-Cree ancestry," her report identified the "member, member's lineal 
ancestor, or sibling of either member or member's lineal ancestor" who had appeared on 
the Roe Cloud Roll as well as on the index to the 1880 McIntyre report on "Half-Breed 
Scrip" recipients, the 1890 census of the Mahone Commission, a presumed 1892 "List[e) 
des families metis americaine de Pembina" attributed to Bottineau, the 1906 Turtle 
Mountain census and Family History Books, the 1917 Rocky Boy's roll by McLaughlin, 
the 1934 Rocky Boy's roll, or the "Genealogy of Red River Households 1818-1870" 
compiled in Sprague and Frye's 1983 book on The Genealogy of the First Metis Nation 
(Franklin 1995, 6), However, not all of these sources, such as the McLaughlin report and 
Sprague and Frye's book, identified the individuals they listed specifically as Pembina 
Chippewa. 

Although Teske's 1994 report was not an exhaustive study of the origins of all the 
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members or their ancestors listed on the Roe Cloud Roll, it did provide a list of the 
sources that were used by the petitioner to confirm Chippewa or Chippewa-Cree ancestry. 
Of the 312 Roe Cloud enrollees listed in the Teske report, 24 cited only to the Roe Cloud 
Roll for proof of descent. However, most of the people in the report had ancestors on 
three or four of the historical lists, and some had as many as five ancestors on the various 
lists. The table of "Red River Households 1818-1870" cited in Teske's report provided 
evidence for the origins of 199 of the 312 Roe Cloud enrollees. There were 111 of the 
enrollees who had an ancestor or collateral relative on the 1880 index to the Mcintyre 
report of the Metis who had received "half-breed scrip" under the Red Lake and Pembina 
treaties of 1863 and 1864. Teske found that 157 enrollees were connected by descent or 
collaterally to someone on the "ca. 1892 Bottineau list" of American Metis. Sixty-two of 
the enrollees connected to someone on the 1890 Turtle Mountain commission census. and 
1 14 of them had an ancestor or collateral relative who was named in the 1906 (or later) 
Turtle Mountain censuses and Family History Books. Fifty-eight enrollees had a lineal 
ancestor or collateral relative on McLaughlin's 1917 Rocky Boy's roll, and 40 enrollees 
had an ancestor or collateral relative on the 1934 Rocky Boy's roll (Franklin 1995, 
table I). 

Descent/rom a Historical Tribe 

Many of the petitioner's ancestors can be traced in historical records to the Metis 
residents of the Red River Settlement in British territory in the years from at least 1835 to 
1870, and the Pembina and Sl. Joseph settlements in American territory in 1850 and the 
following decades. About 27 percent of the petitioner's members descend from 
individuals residing in the British Red River Settlement about 1835. Twenty-five adult 
heads of households can clearly be identified on the 1850 census of Pembina County, 
Minnesota Territory, as ancestral to the petitioner. Approximately 48 percent of the 
petitioner's members descend from the 25 families identified on the 1850 census. l40 In 
addition, some of the petitioner's ancestors appeared on the 1873 and 1874 tax lists of 
Pembina County, Dakota Territory. Forty-six of the petitioner's ancestors can be identified in the records of the Red River Settlement about 1870. Approximately 
38 percent of the petitioner's members descend from the 46 ancestors living in 1870 in 
the British Red River Settlement. However, only 12 percent (467 of 3,893) of the 
petitioner's members are descendants of 1870 residents of the Red River Settlement who 
had not previously been on the] 850 census of Pembina County. 141 Although this 
evidence indicates the historical origins of the majority of the petitioner's ancestors, it is 
not evidence of descent from a historical Indian tribe. 

While the petitioner has claimed descent from a group of Chief Little Shell's followers 

14() See the section of this report on the "Red River Chippewa and Metis, 1790-1850's" for a more detailed anal ysis of the 1850 census. 

I" See the section of this report on the "Metis Migration to Montana, 1870's-1880's" for a more detailed analysis of the 1870 census. 
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who allegedly were excluded from the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa in 1892 and 
migrated to Montana together, the documentary evidence and the oral histories of some of 
the members reflected a quite different pattern. There was a historical tribe of Chippewa 
Indians at Turtle Mountain which was a successor to the treaty tribe of 1863. Although 
some of the petitioner's ancestors had close family ties to this band, the predominant 
portion of the petitioner's membership could not be traced, with the evidence available 
for this finding, to a core set of ancestors who existed within the Turtle Mountain tribal 
entity prior to 1892. It is possible, however, that research in addtional sources, such as 
the Indian census rolls of the Turtle Mountain reservation, could reveal additional 
genealogical ties to that historical tribe. The conclusion that the available evidence fails 
to show tbat most of the petitioner's members descend from the historical Turtle 
Mountain Band does not necessarily mean that the petitioner's members do not descend 
from a historical tribe of Chippewa Indians. An alternative hypothesis is that they may 
descend from a historical Pembina Band which existed prior to 1892, and which 
negotiated the treaty of 1863. 

The petitioner'S descent from the Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians as constituted in 
1863 and 1864 when it treated with the Federal Government can be estimated from 
sources which were reviewed for this report. The records are in two categories: those 
contemporary to the treaty and those created after the· fact. Contemporary records 
included lists of treaty signers, an annuity roll of 1864, and the McIntyre report of 1880 
which identified Chippewa "mixed bloods" who received land scrip as beneficiaries of 
the treaties of 1863 and 1864 with the Red Lake and Pembina bands. Later records 
include the BIA's judgment award roll of 1994 which identified individuals who were 
descendants of Pembina Chippewa individuals identified at any time in the 40 years 
between the 1863 treaty and the 1905 Turtle Mountain cession. These sources, which 
already have been discussed separately in this report according to chronology, are 
reviewed here together in a brief summary of the extent to which the petitioner's 
members descend from a historical tribe. 

One of the signers of the 1863 treaty, Joseph Gornon (Gourneau), a "Pembina warrior," 
appears to be an ancestor of some of the petitioner's members (Stalutes 1863). None of 
the three Pembina men who signed the 1864 treaty can clearly be identified as ancestral to 
the petitioner'S members. There are 74 descendants from the Goumeau family among the 
petitioner's 3,893 members. The records that were closest in time to the treaty, and 
would therefore most likely reveal the names of the majority of the tribal members, were 
the annuity rolls created to fulfill the treaties. The voucher for annuities paid in 1864 
which was submitted by the petitioner only listed the recipients by their phonetic Indian 
names (BIA 1864). However, the vast majority of the petitioner's ancestors, as listed in 
the ancestry charts submitted by the petitioner, and verified by the BIA, were identified 
by their French or English surnames. Therefore, it was not possible to clearly connect the 
petitioner's ancestors with individuals on the 1864 list alone. Neither the petitioner nor 
BIA researchers attempted to match all of the petitioner's ancestors with the names on 
any of the subsequent annuity lists. Thus, at this time, only 2 percent of the petitioner's 
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ancestors can be linked directly to a probable member of the treaty band. '42 

In 1880, SpeciaJ Agent McIntyre of the General Land Office made a report on the 
recipients of land scrip under the treaties of 1863 and 1864. His lists included 28 
ancestors of the petitioner's members who can clearly be identified as scrip recipients. 
while another 8 men on his lists are possible ancestors. This count of ancestors in 
McIntyre's report includes all scrip recipients regardless of what McIntyre said about the 
merits of their claim to scrip. At least 37 percent, and perhaps as many as 45 percent, of 
the petitioner's members descend from men identified in Mcintyre's report as scrip 
holders (GLO 1880). The petitioner'S enrollment secretary, Edna Teske, also found that 
III of 312 Little Shell elders listed on the Roe Cloud Roll, about 36 percent of them, had 
a lineal or collateral connection to a treaty scrip recipient (Franklin 1995, table I). 
Mcintyre. however, found that some of the scrip recipients had received scrip as relatives 
of the Red Lake Band or were members of non-treaty tribes. so not all of these men had 
received scrip as relatives of the Pembina Band. About 33 percent of the petitioner's 
members descend from men on McIntyre's list who received treaty scrip as a relative of a 
member of the Pembina Band of Chippewa (GLO 1880. list A).'43 

The roll created to distribute the judgment award for the 1863 treaty. as authorized by the 
Act of 1971. included descendants of the "mixed blood" relatives of the Pembina Band 
who received benefits provided by the treaty. Thus. in assembling the judgment roll, the 
Federal Government concluded that the mixed-blood or Metis descendants, with at least 
114 Pembina Chippewa blood, had equal rights to receive an award with the descendants 
who were members of the Pembina successor tribes of Turtle Mountain Chippewa, 
Minnesota Chippewa, and the Chippewa-Cree Tribe of Rocky Boy's Reservation. The 
Act of 1982 which authorized the distribution of the judgment award for the 1905 Turtle 
Mountain cession included the roll created for the Act of 197 I as one of its acceptable 
sources of proof of descent from the historical Pembina Band. Therefore. individuals 
who recei ved a judgment award under either distribution act were considered to be 
descendants of a member, or relative of a member. of the Pembina Band as it had been 
constituted in 1863. The awards were made on the basis of lineal descent. and 
Congress's distribution acts did not require the "mixed-blood" or Metis descendants 
receiving the awards to have maintained tribal relations until the time of the acts. either as 
an entity of their own or as part of the historical tribe or its successors. 

The research conducted by the BIA at the time of the judgment fund distribution acts 
assumed that individuals on the Roe Cloud Roll, who had Chippewa ancestry, were 
descendants of the Pembina Chippewa of treaty times (BIA 81 19/1980, 10). Using this 
same assumption. the 77 percent of the members of the petitioning group who have a 

142 See the section of this report on "Treaty Negotiations and Benefits, 1850-1880" for a more detailed 
analysis of the treaty ancestors. 

J4) See the section of this report on "Treaty Negotiations and Benefits. 1850- J 880" for a more detailed analysis of the McIntyre report of 1880. 
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lineal or collateral relative with Chippewa ancestry on the Roe Cloud Roll would be 
considered descendants of the Pembina Chippewa of treaty times. 144 

The 1994 judgment roll contained 51 percent of the 3,366 individuals who were on the 
1987 membership list of the Little Shell Band (BIA 3/2411 994; LSTCIM 1987, 
membership list). The petitioner's supplemental lists of 1990,1991, and 1992 included 
528 individuals who had not been on the 1987 list, but the available evidence does not 
indicate how these more recent members of the group relate to individuals on the 1994 
judgment roll. At least 38 percent of the 3,893 current members of the petitioning group 
appeared on the 1994 judgment roll (BIA 3/24/1994). Therefore, using the Government's 
criteria for the disbursement of funds in the judgment award of 1994, it follows that 
38 percent of the petitioner's members descend from individuals who were part of, or 
related to a member of, the Pembina Band or its successors at some time prior to 1905. 145 

The Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa has been found to be one of the successor tribes 
to the Pembina Band of the treaty of 1863 (BIA 811911980, 11). Thirty heads of families 
on the Mahone Commission's 1890 census of the Turtle Mountain Band can be clearly 
identified as some of the petitioner's ancestors (Mahone et al. 1890). Twenty-one of the 
petitioner's ancestors were on the McCumber Commission' s roll of 18.92 (McCumber et 
al. 101111892). A total of31 ancestors of the petitioner's members were listed on one of 
these two commission rolls. Only 6 percent of the petitioner's current members descend 
exclusively from the 10 individuals who were listed as members of the Turtle Mountain 
Band by the 1890 commission, but who were absent from the 1892 McCumber roll. 
Thus, this evidence does not support the theory that the petitioner descends principally 
from individuals excluded from the Turtle Mountain Band by the McCumber 
Commission. About 26 percent of the petitioner'S current members descend from one of 
the 31 individuals who were accepted by either of the two Federal commissions as a 
member of the Turtle Mountain Band .prior to the negotiation of the 1892 agreement. 146 . 

At least an additional 9 percent (362 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend from 
individuals who were on the 1884-1900 family registers or the 1906 family history books 
of the Turtle Mountain Agency. Thus, at least 35 percent of the petitioner'S members 
descend from an ancestor who can be considered a member of the Turtle Mountain Band 
at some time during the period from 1884 to 1906. However, these records do not 
provide a complete accounting of all of the petitioner's ancestors who may have been a 
part of the historical Turtle Mountain Band. A more thorough search of the Indian census 
records of the Office of Indian Affairs after 1885 (BIA 1885-1940), for example, may 

144 See the section of Ihis report on the "Indian Reorganization Act and the Roe Cloud Roll, 1934-1940" 
for a more detailed analysis of the Roe Cloud Roll. 

14' See the section of this report on the "Indian Claims Commission Awards, 1964-1994" for a more 
detailed analysis of the judgment rolls. 

146 See the section of this report on the "McCumber Agreement, 1890-1899" for a more detailed analysis 
of the commission rolls. 
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identify additional ancestors living at Turtle Mountain in this era. 

The Chippewa Cree Tribe of the Rocky Boy's Reservation was identified by the Bureau 
of Indian Affairs, for purposes of the judgment awards, as a tribe which had enrolled 
members who were descendants of the 1863 Pembina treaty band (BlA 8/15/1980; 
8/1 9/1980. 2,9, 12). About 24 percent of the petitioner's members trace to ancestors who 
were on either the 1909 census of Rocky Boy's band by Wheat or the 1917 report on 
Rocky Boy's population by Mclaughlin (BlA 4/2011909; Interior 7/16/1917; BAR 
1998).147 

In summary, the available evidence indicates that a minority (33 percent) of the 
petitioner's members descend from ancestors who were related to members of the 
Pembina Band of Chippewa during the era of the treaty of 1863. Because these mix.ed­
blood relatives of the treaty band were descendants of someone who had been a member 
of the band at an earlier time, the petitioner'S members who descend from men who 
received treaty scrip as a relative of the Pembina Band therefore descend from a member 
of the band in a generation earlier than the treaty. The evidence indicates that a minority 
(26 percent) of the petitioner's members descend from ancestors who were members of 
the Turtle Mountain Band during the era of the McCumbe.r Agreement of 1892. Thus, the 
evidence available for this finding does not show that the petitioner'S membership 
consists of descendants from a historical Indian tribe, or from historical tribes which 
combined. 

This review of the evidence and assumptions relating to descent ultimately from the 
historical Pembina Band of Chippewa has ex.amined individual sources. It remains to ask 
how these sources of evidence can be combined. Some of the petitioner's members 
descend both from an ancestor who was a relative of a member of the Pembina Band and 
an ancestor who belonged to the Turtle Mountain Band, its partial successor. Because of 
marriages between the petitioner's family lines, there are multiple lines of descent and 
duplication of points of origin for the petitioner's ancestors. These measurements of 
descent from these two historical tribes, therefore, are not exclusive of each other. This 
means that these two measurements cannot be added together as a measurement of 
descent from the Pembina Band and the tribe which evolved from it, because this would 
include the double counting of the petitioner'S members with descent from both historical 
entities. ' 

If this duplication and double counting is eliminated in a way which gives priority to 
descent from the Pembina Band, which is the historical tribe cited in the petitioner's 
governing document, and next adds descent from the Turtle Mountain Band, its partial 
successor according to the Indian Claims Commission, then 33 percent (] ,293 of 3.893) 
of the petitioner's members descend from the historical Pembina Band (based on the 
treaty of 1863 and McIntyre's report of 1880 on treaty scrip recipients) and an additional 

147 See the section of this repon on "Montana Settlements. 1900's-1920's" for a more detailed analysis of the Rocky Boy's rolls. 
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15 percent (582 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members descend exclusively from the 
successor Turtle Mountain Band (based on an additional 395 members having descent 
from individuals on the 1890 and 1892 commission censuses and another 187 members 
having descent from individuals who were on the 1884-1900 family registers or the 1906 
family history books of the Turtle Mountain Agency). Because the Turtle Mountain Band 
evolved from the Pembina Band, these exclusive lines of descent can be totaled to show 
that 48 percent (1,875 of 3,893) of the petitioner's members trace their ancestry back to 
the Pembina Band of Chippewa and its related Metis families, or to its successor. 

If Pembina ancestry is assumed for the Chippewa element of the Rocky Boy's Band of 
Chippewa-Cree, as was done by the Bureau of Indian Affairs in preparing the 1994 
judgment roll for the distribution of the Indian Claims Commission's award. then an 
additional 14 percent (543 of 3.893) of the petitioner's members with descent from a 
Rocky Boy's member of Chippewa ancestry, but not descent from a Pembina Band or 
Turtle Mountain Band ancestor, could be included as individuals of Pembina Chippewa 
descent, bringing the total of members with Pembina ancestry to 62 percent (2,4 I 8 of 
3,893). 

If all of the descendants of the eight men on McIntyre's report who may be ancestors of 
some of the petitioner's members were counted, then another 7 percent (289 of 3,893) 
could be added to the computation of the petitioner'S members with Pembina Chippewa 
descent. 

There are at least 433 individuals on the petitioner'S membership list, about 11 percent of 
its members, who descend from an ancestor who was at the Red River Settlement in 1835 
or 1870, but not from any of the ancestors identified as having had ancestry from the 
Pembina Band, Turtle Mountain Band, or Rocky Boy's Band. Although these members 
may have Metis, Cree, or other Indian ancestry, it has not been shown at this time that 
they have Pembina Chippewa ancestry. Almost all of these 433 individuals have at least 
one ancestor who was on the Roe Cloud Roll in 1938. Thus, with further research the 
petitioner may be able to show that some of these members who appear to descend 
exclusively from the Metis population at the Red River Settlement in Canada also had 
Pembina Chippewa ancestry. 

The petitioner did not submit genealogical charts for all of the new members on the 1987 
membership list, or for any of the new members on its 1990, 1991, and 1992 
supplemental membership lists. For individuals who were the children of individuals 
already in the genealogical database. the BIA' s researchers attached that existing 
genealogical infonnation to the new members who lacked a genealogical chart. In this 
fashion it was possible to connect some of these new members to their ancestors. 
However, the descent of many individuals on the 1987-1992 membership lists could not 
be attached to existing genealogical infonnation. For example, about 900 individuals 
with 1987, 1990, 1991, or 1992 membership numbers have not shown descent from, or 
close collateral relationships to, someone on the Roe Cloud Roll. Because of this missing 
infonnation, many of the petitioner'S most recent members could not be counted as 
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members who have descent from a historical tribe. It is possible that the petitioner will 
be able to show that a significant number of these individuals also descend from ancestors 
with established Pembina Chippewa descent. 
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Dusenberry, Verne 
1954 Montana's Displaced Persons: The Rocky Boy Indians. Helena, MT: Montana 

Historical Society. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

1958 Waiting for a Day that Never Comes. Montana: The Magazine ofWesrern 
HiSTOry 8(2):26-39. Petition Doc~ment: 2000-27.1. 3000-5-70, and 1995 
Exhibit 254. (Note: reprinted in Kennedy 1965 and Peterson and Brown 1985.) 

Dussome, Joseph H. 
] 21 5 / 193] Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Dec. 5, 1931. Petition Document: 

]995 Exhibit 40. 

1212]/ ] 931 Letter to Representative Scott Leavitt, Dec. 21, 193]. Petition Document: 3000-
]-4. 

4/4/ 1934 Demands of the Lost Band of the Chippewa and Cree Indians, with handwriten 
annotation as "filed April 4, 1934." Petition Document: 3000-8-135, and 1989 
Exhibit ]SR#3-20. 
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Dussome. Joseph H. (cont.) 
5125/1934 Letter to Senator B.K. Wheeler. May 25. 1934 [also dated May 28. 1934). 

Petition Document: 934-1. 2000-1. and 1987 Exhibit 10. 

1128/1935 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. lan. 28, 1935. Petition Document: 
2000-4. 1984 Appendix A. and 1995 Exhibit 54. 

2J 91 1937 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Feb. 9. 1935. Petition Document: 
1987 Exhibit 50. 

3/30/1937 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Mar. 30, 1937. Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 82. 

611211937 Letter to Commissioner ofIndian Affairs. June 12, 1937. Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 88. and Franklin 1994 encl. 47. 

71 f 11940 Letter to Thomas Ouellette. luly I. 1940. Petition Document: 1989 
Exhibit HAC#I-25. and 1995 Exhibit 122. 

7110/1940 Letter to Friends & Kinsmen. July 10, 1940. Petition Document: 2000-11. 

1211/1941 Letter to Thomas Oulette [sic), Dec. 1. 1941. Petition Document: 3000-8-16, 
1989 Exhibit HAC#2-26, and 1995 Exhibit 163. 

21 5 1 1943 Letter to Friends and Members. Feb. 5. 1943. Petition Document: 3000-8-2 I b. 
and 1989 Exhibit HAC#2-44. 

4/41 1947 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Apr. 4. 1947. Petition Document: 
947-4. and 1987 Exhibit 16. 

7/28/1947 Letter to Representative Wesley A. D'Ewart. July 28. 1947. Petition Document: 
2000-20. 

3/3/ 1948 Letter to Superintendent of the Turtle Mountain Agency. Mar. 3. 1948. Petition 
Document: 2000-21. 

31 I / 1949 Letter to Representative Wesley A. D'Ewart, Mar. I. 1949. Petition Document: 
3000-2-68, and 1995 Exhibit 187. 

21211 1952 LettertoJerryThumm. Feb. 21.1952 (copy). Petition Document: 952-8. 

ca. 1953 Two Groups of Landless Indian in Montana, n.d. [ca. Apr. 16, 1953). Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 206. 

4113/1953 Letter to Helen Thumm, Apr. 13, 1953. In Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 206. 

6/29/ 1953 Letter to [F.W.) Haverland. Bureau of Indian Affairs, June 29. 1953 (copy). 
Petition Document: 953-26. 
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Dussome. Joseph H. (cont.) 
9/20/1962 Testimony before the Indian ClaIms Commission, Sept. 20. 1962. Petition 

Document: 1987 Exhibit 5. 

6/10/1963 Letter to Roselen Maloney, Clerk and Recorder, June 10, 1963. NARF files 
[received by BAR on May 22. 1998). 

Dussome. Joseph H .• et al. 
3/12J 1938 Letter. Mar. 12, 1938. Roe Cloud application files. NARF files. 

10/6/ 1939 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 6, 1939. Petition Document: 
3000·7·119a. 

1941 Petition. n.d. [1941]. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 133b. 

Dussome. Joseph H., and A.D. Nault 
1934a Letter to Secretary [Sangray]. Apr. 1. 1934. Petition Document: Letter of 

LSTCIM 7/9/1998 encl. S#2. 

1934b Statement. n.d. [ca. Apr. 4.1934). Petition Document: 1989 Exhibit HAC#I·14. 

Ewers, John C. 
1974 Ethnological Report on the Chippewa Cree Tribe of the Rocky Boy Reservation 

and the Little Shell Band of Indians. Chippewa Indians VI. New York, NY: 
Garland. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

FD 
See: Field Data 

Fernandez, Clarice 
1979 Interview by Robert Van Gunten, Sept. 23, 1979. NARF files. 

Field Data (cited as: FD) 
1998 Interviews of members of the petitioning group and other individuals by BAR 

Anthropologist, at various locations in Montana, May 5 to May 18, 1998. 

Flanagan, Thomas 
1985 Louis Riel and the Dispersion of the American Metis. Minnesota History 

49: 179·190. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 4. 

F1ansberg, Velma Gardipee 
1993 Interview by Robert J. FrankJin, at Hays, 1993. NARF files. 

Fleury. Caroline 
1998 Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls, May 17, 1998. BAR 

Anthropologist's tape (two sides). 

Fleury, Caroline, er al. 
1998 Discussion between Caroline Fleury, Pat Maki, and Darrell Koke, at Petitioner's 

Office in Great Falls. May 7, 1998. BAR Anthropologist's tape (two sides) . 
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FR (Federal Register) 
vol. 59 Procedures for Establishing That an American Indian Group Exists as an Indian 

Tribe. Feb. 25. 1994. Federal Register 59:9280-9300. 

Franklin. Robert 1. 
1993-1994 Transcripts of Dr. Robert Franklin's Field Interviews in Support of Federal 

Recognition of the Little Shell Tribe of Montana. [received by BAR on Dec. 4. 
1997]. NARF tiles. 

1994 Previous Federal Acknowledgment of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians 
of Montana: An Analysis of Federal Governmental Actions Taken in the Period 
of the 1930s and 1940s, May 9. 1994. Includes documentary appendix. Petition 
Document. 

1995 Summary of the Evidence Demonstrating that the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa 
Indians of Montana Meets the Federal Acknowledgment Criteria at §83.7(d) 
through (g), with Special Reference to Criterion §83.7(e), Jan. 18. 1995. 
Includes documentary exhibits. Petition Document. 

1996 Revised Analysis of Little Shell Endogamy Rates. Mar. 8, 1996 (attached to a 
letter from Robert M. Peregoy to Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, 
Mar. 19, 1996]. Petition Document. BAR administrative files. 

1997 An Analysis of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana's 1996 
Statewide Tribal Election and Election-Related Internal Politica1 Controversies 
within the Tribe, Apr. 2, 1997. Petition Document. 

FrankJin. Robert 1 .. and Pamela B. Bunte 
1994 Supplemental Evidence and Analysis in Support of FederaJ Acknowledgment of 

the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana. Dec. 12,1994. 
[Submitted by the petitioner as its analysis of criteria (a) through (c).] Petition 
Document. 

1995a Index of Topics and Little Shelllnterviews from Little Shell SupplementaJ 
Evidence Report. n.d. [received by BAR on Feb. 17, 1995). Petition Document. 

1995b Supplemental Report on the Little Shell Chippewa Tribe's Federa1 
Acknowledgment: SupplementaJ Chronology of Documents 1870-1994, n.d. 
[received by BAR on Mar. 14. 1995]. Petition Document. 

1996 A Montana Metis Community Meets the Federal Acknowledgment Process: The 
Linle Shell Chippewa of Montana and 25 CFR 83.7(b), the "Community" 
Criteria. Conference Paper, May 8, 1996. Petition Document. (Reprinted in 
Proceedings o/the International Conference on the Mitis People o/Canada 
and the United States, ed. by William Furdell. Great Fa1ls, MT: University of 
Great Falls, 1997). 

n.d. Copies of field notes, n.d. [received by BAR on Oct. 30, 1997]. NARF files . 
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Garrett, Robert 1. 
1966 

Gibson, H.V. 
1941 

Gilbert, John 
1997 

1998 

Gladue', Michael 
1892 

GLO 

Letter to George St. Clair and K.W. Bergan, Sept. 28. 1966. Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 268. 

Letter to Governor Sam Ford, Sept. 17, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 149. 

Letter to James Parker Shield, May 30, 1997. Petition Document: Letter of 
LSTCIM 4/2211998 encl. 2. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Chinook, May 14, 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (two sides). 

Affidavit, Feb. 9, 1892. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., 1 sess .. 1900. 
p.15!. Petition Document: 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

See: U.S. General Land Office 

Gourneau. Patrick 
1971 History of the Tunle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians. Belcourt. ND, ca. 

1971. Copy at Special Collections Library. Montana State University. Bozeman, 
MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana State Univ. NARF tiles. 

Grand Forks Plaindealer 
1895 Newspaper clipping. n.d. [enclosed with A. W. Stiles to Commissioner General 

Land Office. May 2. 1895]. Letter Received 1895 - #20438 encl.. Special 

Gray. Raymond 
1/24/1935 

121201 1939 

4/24/1940 

9/24/1941 

10/1/1941 

Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. National Archives. Petition Document: 1000-18. 
(See also': clipping from the Journal, May 1. 1895, in the same source.) 

Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Jan. 24. 1935. Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 53. 

Letter to Dear Sir. Dec. 20. 1939. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 
719/1998 encl. S#9. 

Letter to Tom Sangray, Apr. 24, 1940. Petition Document: 1989 
Exhibit HAC#I-21. 

Letter to 1.B. Convery. State Board of Public Welfare. Sept. 24. 1941. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 152. 

Letter to 1.B. Convery. State Board of Public Welfare. Oct. 1, 1941. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 158. 
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Great FaJIs Leader 
121 1 / 1941 One Obstacle Remains for Indians. Dec. 1. 1941. Petition Document: 3000-6-4. 

Great FaJIs Tribune 
9/7/1899 Newspaper clipping. Sept. 7.1899. Petition Document: 3000-7-67. 

10/1211905 Newspaper clipping, Oct. 12, 1905. Petition Document: 3000-7-69. 

6/14/1910 Newspaper clipping, June 14, 1910. Petition Document: 3000-7-142. 

4/ 6/ 1926 Removing Indians Strikes Wall in Council Session, Apr. 6, 1926. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-73. 

4/141 1927 Crees and Chippewas Here Found Needing Assistance. Apr. 14. 1927. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-74. 

4/21/1927 Agents Repon Indian Camp Here Good as Reservation. Apr. 21. 1927. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-75. 

1/9/ 1932 The Homeless Indian. Jan. 9, 1932. Petition Document: 3000-7-76. 

4/13/1933 More Indians Will Become Wards of U.S .. Apr. 13, 1933. Petition Document: 
3000-7-78. 

3/25/ 1934 Two Delegates Ask Tract for Nomad Indians, Mar. 25, 1934. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-79. and 3000-8-168. 

3/30/ 1934 Indian Subsistence Tracts Planned for Falls Section, Mar. 30, 1934. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-80. 

5/ 9 I 1934 Reservation Expected for Cree Indians, May 9, 1934. Petition Document: 3000-
7-81. . 

113/1935 The Indians' New Deal. Jan. 3,1935. Petition Document: 3000-7-84. 

3/201 1936 Cree-Chippewa Halfbloods Seek Land Allotments, Mar. 20, 1936. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-9], 3000-8-]36, and ]995 Exhibit 70. 

3/29/1936 Chippewa-Cree Indians Ask Reservation and Indemnity, Mar. 29,1936. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-92, 3000-2-1],3000-2-12, and 3000-8-15Oc. 

7/25/1937 Homeless Indians Will Meet With Rocky Boys, July 25, 1937. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-10 I. 

1/20/ 1949 Mrs. Phillips Asks Action to Relieve Hill 57 Indians, Jan. 20, 1949. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 183. 

6/15/ 1950 Help for Landless Indians Proposed in Mansfield Bill, June 15, 1950. Petition 
Document: 3000-6-8, and 1995 Exhibit 197. 
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Great Falls Tribune (cont.) 
121181 1950 Rehabilitation of Indians Gets Support, Dec. 18, 1950. Petition Document: 

3000-6-9, and 1995 Exhibit 199. 

4/231 1951 Montana Landless Indians Organize At General Gathering in Great Falls, 
Apr. 23,1951. Petition Document: 3000-7-4, 3000-8-32,1987 Exhibit 19, and 
1995 Exhibit 202. 

1011 7/ 1951 Rehabilitation and Industrial Program for Landless Indians Endorsed, by Bonner, 
Oct. 17, 1951. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 208. 

3/27/1955 Little Shell Indians Take Action to Settle Claims, Mar. 27,1955. Vertical File: 
Hill 57, Montana Historical Society. Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: 
Montana H.S. 

2/23/ 1956 Indian Group Retains Claim Lawyer, Feb. 23, 1956. Petition Document: 3000-
8-157. 

4/26/ 1959 Ex-Governor Urges Landless Indians To Work for Government Recognition, 
Apr. 26, 1959. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 256. 

1/301 1972 Little Shell Chippewas Asking Time, Help to Fill Applications, Jan. 30, 1972. 
Petition Document: 3000-8-163, and 1995 Exhibit 281. 

21 1 1 1972 Chippewa to Get Help On Ancestrial [sic] Claims, Feb. I, 1972. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-168. 

2125/ 1974 Indians Claim Double Standard of Treatment Exists, Feb. 25, 1974. Petition 
Document: 3000-4-20, and 1995 Exhibit 283. 

7/1 1 1978 Little Shell Tribe to Join at Zortman for Pembina Days, July I, 1978. Petition 
Document: 3000-8-165, and 1995 Exhibit 285. 

7125/1984 Little Shell Tribe chooses new officers. July 25,1984. Petition Document: 1995 

Exhibit 316. 

1994 Landless Indians Pin Hope on Vote: Little Shell Say Good Turnout Critical in 
Tribe's Recognition Fight, [ca. Nov. 1994]. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

116/ 1995 Little Shell Tribe Recounts Ballots. Jan. 6, 1995. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

9/26/1995 Little Shells Oust Leader. Sept. 26, 1995. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

5/20/1997 Shield out again in Little Shell battle, May 20, 1997. In Respondent's Pre­
Hearing Brief, tab 2, before Tribal Adjudicatory Panel. Petition Document: 
Letter of LSTCIM 4/2211998 encl. I. 
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Great Falls Tribune (cont.) 
5/3111997 Shield agrees to withdraw suit against Little Shell, May 31, 1997. In 

Respondent's Pre-Hearing Brief. tab 2. before Tribal Adjudicatory Panel. 
Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 4122/1998 enc!. 1. 

Great Times 
11/6/1996 

3/12/ 1997 

Gubatayao, Max 
1964 

Guzman, Wanda 
1998 

Hansen, Matthew 

Nov. 16 tribal election is second statewide, Nov. 6,1996. Petition Document: 
Franklin 1997 tab I. 

Good news (and bad) for Little Shell, Mar. 12, 1997. Petition Document: 
Franklin 1997 tab 5. 

Indian Attitudes on Hill 57 and Mt. Royal toward their White Neighbors. In Our 
Indian Neighbors: An Independent Study Prepared for the Citizens' Committee 
on Great Falls Indian Affairs, by Andree Deligdisch, Appendix IV. Petition 
Document: 964-1. 

Interview (with sister and Joe McGillis) by BAR Anthropologist, May 17, 1998. 
BAR Anthropologist's tape. 

1980 The South Fork of the Teton River: A History of Its People. Manuscript. 
Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 5. 

Hansbrough, Henry C. 
1891 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Mar. 10, 1891. Letter Received 

1891 - #18995 enc!., Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. 
NARF files. 

1893 

Harrod, Howard 
1971 

Havard, V. 
1880 

Havre Daily News 

Letter to Secretary of the Interior, Jan. 23, 1893. In House Executive 
Document 229,52 Cong., 2 sess., 1893, pp.7-8. Copy of H.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

Mission Among the Blackfeet. Nonnan, OK: University of Oklahoma Press. 
Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

The French Half-Breeds of the Northwest. Annual Repon of the Smithsonian 
Insritution 1879, pp.309-327. Washington, D.C.: GPO. BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

5/11/1989 Little Shell Tribe Opens First Office, May 11,1989. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 
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Head Chiefs of the Pembina and Tunle Mountain bands 
1876 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Aug. 3D, 1876. Petition Document: 

876·5. 

Hesketh, John 
1923 History of the Turtle Mountain Chippewa. ColleCTions of the State Historical 

Society of North Dakota 5:85-154. BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Hickerson. Harold 
1956 The Genesis of a Trading Post Band: The Pembina Chippewa. Ethnohistory 

3:289-345. BAR Historian's files: Published. 

1959 Summary and Discussion, of Journal of Charles Jean Baptiste Chaboillez. 1797-
1798. Erhnohisrory 6:410-427. BAR Historian's files: Published. 

1988 The Chippewa and Their Neighbors. Rev. ed. Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland 
Press, 1988. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Hill, Edward E., compo 
1965 McIntyre Report (Entry 368). Preliminary Inventory No. 163: Records of the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs, 110. Washington, D.C.: NationaJ Archives. Excerpt 
in BAR Historian's tiles: Published. 

Hill Comm. 
See: Hill County Bicentennial Commission 

Hill County BicentenniaJ Commission (cited as: Hill Comm.) 
1976 Grit, Guts and Gusto--A History of Hill County. Havre, MT. BAR Historian's 

files: Montana H.S. 

Hind. Henry You Ie 
1860 Narrative of the Canadian Red River Exploring Expedition of 1857. London, 

1860; reprint, Rutland, VT: c.E. Tuttle. 1971. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

Hornaday, William T. 

House 

1889 Extermination of the American Bison. Smithsonian Institution, Annual Report, 
] 887. Washington, D.C.: GPO. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Maps. 

See: U.S. House of Representatives 

Howard, James H. 
1958 The Turtle Mountain 'Chippewa.' North Dakota Quarterly 26(2):37-45. BAR 

Historian's files: Published. 

1965 The Plains-Ojibwa or Bung;. South Dakota Museum Anthropological Papers, 
No. I. Vennillion, SO: University of South Dakota. Excerpts in BAR 
Historian's files: Published. 
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Howard, Joseph Kinsey 
1952 Strange Empire, A Narrative ojthe Northwest. New York, NY: Morrow. 

Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

IHS 
See: U.S. Indian Health Service 

Ind.CI.Comm. 
See: U.S. Indian Claims Commission 

Indian Truth 
1936 

Indian Worker 

Field Observations. Vol. 13. No.1, Jan. 1936. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 68. 

1935a Vol. 1. No.1. n.d. [1935]. Petition Document: 935·22. (Reprints in Petition 
Document: 3000-8-9, and 1989 Exhibit HAC#I-3.) 

1935b Vol. 1, No.2. n.d. [1935]. Petition Document: 3000-6-2. (Reprints in Petition 
Document: 3000-8-9, and 1989 Exhibit HAC#I-3.) 

Interior 
See: U.S. Department of the Interior 

Jacoby, Judy 
1995 

1997 

1998 

Johnson, Mary 
1979 

Kane, Paul 
1859 

Letter to M. McGillis, Dec. 22, 1995. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's 
files: Gardipee Papers. 

"Petition" to council. n.d. [1997]. Petition Document: FrankJin 1997 tab 8 
("Petitions 1997" and following letters). Copy obtained by BAR from Judy 
Jacoby, BAR Anthropologist's files. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls, May 14. 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (four sides). 

Interview by Little Shell Oral History Project, Apr. 12, 1979. Petitioner's Office. 
BAR Anthropologist's files: Gardipee Papers. 

Wanderings of an Artist Among the Indians of Nonh America . ... London. 
1859; reprint, Rutland. VT: c.E. Tuttle Co., 1968. Excerpt in BAR Historian's 
tiles: Published. 

Keating, William H. 
1824 Narrative of an Expedition to the Source of St. Peter's River . ... Philadelphia. 

PA, 1824; reprint, Minneapolis, MN: Ross & Haines, 1959. Excerpts in BAR 
Historian's files: Published. 
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Kenck, Richard 
1994a Oral history interview (transcript), June 7, 1994. O.H. 1653, Montana Historical 

Society, Helena, MT. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 7 (draft transcript). 
BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

1994b Oral History interview (transcript), June 22, 1994. O.H. 1660, Montana 
Historical Society. Helena. MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Kennedy, Michael S., ed. 
1965 The Red Man's West. New York, NY: Hastings House. Petition Document: 

1995 Exhibit 265. 

Koke, Darrell 
1994 Guidelines for Area Representatives, prepared by Chairman of Area 

Representatives. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles. 

1998· Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls, May 7. BAR Anthropologist's 
tape (three sides). 

Kolika, Mrs. Joseph 
194 I Letter to Mr. Dussome, Dec. 1. 194 I. [Box 235, MC 172, Montana Historical 

Society, Helena, MT.] Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 164. 

Lafromboise, Josephine [Mane II] 
1994 Oral history interview (transcript). June 8, 1994. O.H. 1654, Montana Historical 

Society, Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

La Fromboise, Louis 
1892 Affidavit, Feb. 9, 1892. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., 1 sess .• 1900. 

p.152. Petition Document: 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

Landless Indians of Montana [aJso known as the Little Shell Band] (cited as: LIM) 61 I / 1949 Minutes of a meeting of the Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians, known as the 
Landless Indians of Montana, at Chinook. June I, 1949. Petition Document: 
3000-8-25,1989 Exhibit HAC#I~1O and ISR#3-9, and 1995 Exhibit 189. 

ca . .1950 Resolution, n.d. (ca. Mar. 15, 1950]. Petition Document: 3000-1-16,1987 
Exhibit 9, and 1989 Exhibit HAC#I-16. 

5/26/1950 Minutes of a meeting of district representatives at Malta, May 26, 1950. 
Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

6/3/ 1950 Minutes of a meeting of the Landless Indians of Montana at Chinook, June 3, 
1950. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: Minutes. 

12116/1950 Minutes, Dec. 16,1950. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes, 
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Landless Indians of Montana rUM] (cont.) 
2J 3 11951 Minutes of a meeting of the Landless Indians of Montana Feb. 3-4, 1951. 

Petition Document: 951-13. and 1984 Appendix A. 

3/20/1954 Summary of the Convention held in Chinook. Montana, by the Landless Indians 
of Montana, Little Shell Band. Mar. 20 and 21,1954. Petition Document: 3000-
8-41, and 1995 Exhibit 216. 

Mar. 1955 Document dated Mar. 1955. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

9/25/1955 Minutes of a meeting at Havre, Sept. 25, 1955. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 235. 

9/21 1961 Minutes of a convention at Lewiston, Sept. 2-3, 1961. Petition Document: 961-
l3, and 1984 Appendix A. 

11201 1962 Minutes, Jan. 20, 1962. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 

10/30/1963 Minutes, Oct. 30,1963. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

11/301 1963 Minutes of a meeting of the Little Shell Band of Chippewa and Cree Indians, the 
Landless Indians of Montana. at Chinook, Nov. 30, 1963. Petition Document: 
3000-8-62; 1984 Appendix A, 1987 Exhibit 27, and 1995 Exhibit 264. 

1/ I / 1966 Minutes, Jan. 1, 1966. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

1/9/ 1966 Minutes of a district meeting of the Little Shell Band of Montana, Jan. 9, 1966. 
Petition Document: 1984 Appendix A. 

July 1966 Minutes, july 1966. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

10/15/ 1966 Minutes, Oct. 15, 1966. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

10/5/ 1968 Minutes, Oct. 5, 1968. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

111111969 Minutes of a district meeting at Chinook, MT, Jan. 11, 1969. Petitioner's Office. 
BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

111 61 1969 Minutes, Jan. 16, 1969. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

3/7/ 1970 Minutes, Mar. 7, 1970. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

II] 5/ 1972 Minutes, Jan. 15, 1972. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologisl's files: 
Minutes. 
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Landless Indians of Montana [LIM] (cont.) 
21171 1973 Minutes. Feb. 17. 1973. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 

31\21 1977 

LaPier. Art 
1979 

Minutes. 

Minutes of a meeting at Lewistown, Mar. 12. 1977. Petition Document: 1987 
Exhibit 33. 

Interview by Robert Van Gunten. Apr. 3, 1979. Petitioner'S Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Gardipee Papers. 

LaPier, Rosalyn R. 
1997 Between Hay and Grass: A Brief Examination of Two Metis Communities in 

Central Montana in the I 880s. Proceedings of rhe International Conference on 
rhe Mitis People of Canada and lhe United Slates, ed. by William Furdell. 
Great Falls. MT: University of Great Falls. BAR Historian's files: Published. 

LaRance. Ralph 
1993 

LaRoque, David 
1929 

Interview by Robert J. Franklin. at Choteau, Oct. 18, 1993. NARF files. 

Testimony and statement, July 22, 1929, at Poplar, MT. In U.S. Senate. Survey 
of Conditions of the Indians in the United Stares, 23: 12312, 12433·35. 
Washington. D.C.: GPO, 1932. Petition Document: 3000·5-65. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

Law. Laura Thompson 
1953 History of Rolette County, Nonh DakOTa, and Yarns of the Pioneers. 

Minneapolis, MN: Lund Press. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

LIM 
See: Landless Indians of Montana 

Little Bull er al. 
1878 

Little Shell 
1884 

Little Shell et al. 
1885 

1888 

Lener to H.M. Rice, [Jan. 9], 1878. enclosed with Rice to Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs, Jan. 16, 1878. Letter Received 1878 . #R33, Special Case 110 
(Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. Petition Document: 878·1. and 1000-3. 

Telegram to the President, June 28. 1884. Letter Received 1884 • #] 2484, 
Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. Petition Document: 
1000-]0. 

Letter to Secretary of the Interior, July 12, 1885. Letter Received 1885 -
#] 6442, Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75, National Archives. Petition 
Document: 885·3. 

Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Mar. 5, 1888. Petition Document: 
888-]. 
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Little Shell et ai. (cont.) 
1892 Council proceedings. Oct. 24. 1892. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong .. I sess .. 

1900. pp.38-39. Petition Document: 900-4 and 1984 Appendix H. pp.51-52. 
Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1896 Letter to Baptiste [lB. Bottineau], Mar. 24. 1896. Letter Received 1899 -
#20192 encl. 13. Special Case I \0 (Emry 102). RG 75. National Archives. 
Petition Document: 1000-2 \. 

1898 Letter to John Bte. Bottineau. Jan. 26. 1898. in Senate Document 154. 
55 Cong .. 2 sess .. 1898. p.26. Petition Document: 1000-32. BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

Little Shell Band of Chippewa Indians, or Little Shell Chippewa 
1939 For Attorney Collection. Feb. 1939. Petition Document: 2000-6. 1984 

Appendix A, and 1987 Exhibit 7. 

ca. 1955 Lener 10 All Members of the lillIe Shell Band of Chippewa Indians. wah ballot. 
n.d. [ca. 1955]. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 224. 

3/251 1955a Minutes of a meeting of the Little Shell Band of Chippewas, Mar. 25,1955. 
SC 869. Montana Histoncal Society, Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: 
Montana H.S. 

3/25/1955b Registration list. Meeting of the Little Shell Chippewa of Montana, at Great 
Falls, Mar. 25-26, 1955. SC 869, Montana Historical Society, Helena, MT. 
BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

ca. 1956 Attorney's Contract. n.d. [ca. 1956]. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 240. 

3/13/1971 Resolution [blank copy not signed or certified], Mar. 13. 1971. Petition 
Document: 971-58 . . 

Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana (cited as: LSTCIM) 
9/10J 1977 Constitution and By-Laws of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of 

Montana, Sept. 10, 1977. Petition Document: 1984 Appendix B. 

1978 Membership list, Apr. 1978. Petition Document: 1984 Appendix E. 

10/7 / 1978 Minutes of a quarterly meeting, Oct. 7, 1978. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

1219/ 1978 Minutes, Dec. 9, 1978. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

3/81 1980 Minutes, Mar. 8, 1980. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

1/31/ 1981 Minutes. Jan. 31. 1981. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 
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Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana [LSTCIM] (cont.) 
3/211 1981 Minutes of a special meeting at Great Falls. Mar. 21. 1981. Petitioner's Office. 

Petition Document: 1984 Appendix A. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

91121 1981 Minutes of a meeting at Helena. Sept. 12. 1981. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

1982 Partially documented petition. Dec. 15. 1982. Petition Document. 

51 8 1 1982 Minutes, May 8. 1982. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 

61171 1982 Statement of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana on S.I735. 
June 17, 1982. Attached [0 letter from Ralph Doney. chair. to councilmen. area 
representatives. and members. June 28. 1982. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

31121 1983 Minutes, Mar. 12. 1983. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

3/211 1983 PartiaIly documented petition. Mar. 21. 1983. Petition Document. 

5/14/ 1983 Minutes, May 14, 1983. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

9/1 0/ 1983 Minutes, Sept. 10, 1983. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

10/8/ 1983 Minutes. Oct. 8, 1983. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

1984 PartiaJly documented petition, Sept. 22, 1984. Includes narrative. Includes 
appendices. Includes documentary exhibits. Includes ancestry charts. Includes 
membership list. Sept. 25. 1984. Petition Document. (Note: The narrative 
portion of this petition is also cited as: Morris and Van Gunten 1984.) 

5/26/ 1984 Resolution No. 84-11, and Minutes. May 26, 1984. Resolution in Petition 
Document: 1984 folder #1. Minutes from Petitioner's Office. in BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

6/23/ 1984 Minutes. June 23, 1984. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

9/14/1985 Resolution No. 85-1. and Minutes, Sept. 14. 1985. Resolution in Petition 
Document: 1984 folder #1. Minutes from Petitioner's Office, in BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

4/26/ 1986 Minutes, Apr. 26, 1986. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 
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Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana [LSTCIM] (cant.) 
9120/ 1986 Minutes, Sept. 20, 1986. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 

Minutes. 

1987 Partially documented petition, Nov 1987. Includes narrative. Includes 
documentary exhibits. Includes ancestry chans. Includes membership list, 
printout dated June 17, 1987 [copy on computer disk, received by BAR on 
Apr. 16, 1997]. Petition Document. (Note: The narrative portion of this petition 
is also cited as: Campisi and Stama 1987.) 

3/71 1987a Minutes, Mar 7, 1987. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files 
Minutes. BAR Genealogist's files: #12. 

3/71 1987b Resolution No. 87-01. Mar. 7. 1987. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #12. 

1989 Petition documentary exhibIts, with cover letter ~ov. 21. 1989. Includes Helen 
Arthur Collection (HAC) and ISR files. Petition Document. 

4/81 1989 Minutes. Apr. 8. 1989. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 

51131 1989 Minutes, May 13. 1989. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

10120/1989 Bibliography to Narrative, Oct. 20. 1989. Petition Document. 

1990 Supplemental membership list. Computer disk, received by BAR on Apr. 16. 
1997. Petition Document. 

11 5 1 1990 Resolution No. 90-01, Jan. 5, 1990. BAR administrative files. 

7114/1990 Minutes. July 14,1990. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

8/11/1990 Resolution LS-90-08, Aug. II, 1990. BAR administrative files. 

1991 Supplemental membership list. Computer disk, received by BAR on Apr. 16, 
1997. Petition Document. 

1992 Supplemental membership list. Computer disk, received by BAR on Apr. 16, 
1997. Petition Document. 

11/13/1993 Announcement of Fourth Annual Joe Dussome Day, ca. Nov. 13, 1993. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 342. 

4/23/ 1994 Minutes, Apr. 23, 1994. Petitioner's Office. BAR AnthropologiSt's files: 
Minutes. 

5/17/1994 Resolution 94-02, May 17,1994. BAR administrative files. 
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Linle Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana [LSTCIM] (cont.) 
61181 1994 Minutes of a meeting at Choteau. June 18. 1994. Petitioner's Office. BAR 

Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

711211994 Minutes of the Tribal Council Election Committee, July 12, 1994. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 350[b]. 

8113/1994 Minutes, Aug. 13, 1994. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 

9/ 1 / 1994 Minutes. with signup sheet, Sept. 1, 1994. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's tiles: Minutes. 

12J101 1994 Minutes. Dec. 10. 1994. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's tiles: 
Minutes. 

1995 Petition documentary exhibits. [submitted to accompany FrankJin and Bunte 
1995b]. Petition Document. 

1114/ 1995 Minutes. Jan. 14, 1995. Petitioner'S Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

9/161 1995 Minutes, Sept. 16. 1995. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

10/14/ 1995 Minutes. Oct.. 14. 1995. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

8/3 / 1996 Minutes of the Election Committee. Aug. 3, 1996. Petition Document: Franklin 
1997 tab 17. 

11123/ 1996 "Minutes" of Joe Dussome Day. Nov. 23. 1996. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files: Minutes. 

1997a Petition to clarify the interpretation of Article I, Section V of the 1977 
Constitution of the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana, n.d. 
[1997]. Petition Document: FrankJin 1997 tab 8. Copies obtained by BAR from 
Judy Jacoby, BAR Anthropologist's files. 

1997b Petition to declare the Little Shell Tribal Election of November 16, 1996. null 
and void .... , n.d. [1997]. Petition Document: FrankJin 1997 tab 8. Copies 
obtained by BAR from Judy Jacoby, BAR Anthropologist's files. 

1111/ 1997 Minutes of a special meeting, Jan. II. 1997. In Respondent's Pre-Hearing Brief. 
tab 10, before Tribal Adjudicatory Panel. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 
412211998 encI. I. 

211111997 Minutes. Feb. II. 1997. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 
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Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana [LSTCIM] (cont.) 
3/8/ 1997 Minutes. Mar. 8. 1997. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 

Minutes. 

311111997 Minutes, Mar. I I. 1997. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

6/6/1997 Resolution LS-97-02. June 6. 1997, Petition Document: submitted April 1998, 

Mar. 1998 Newsletter. Vol. 2:3, Mar. 1998. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's 
files. 

4/22/ 1998 Petition documentary exhibits. submitted with letter from Robert M. Peregoy to 
BAR. Apr. 22, 1998. Petition Document. 

4/241 1998 List of area representatives of the Little Shell Tribe. Petition Document. 

5127/1998 Letter from Robert Van Gunten to BAR, May 27, 1998. Petition Document. 

7/91 1998 Petition documentary exhibits (file of the correspondence of Thomas Sangray, 
1934-1955). submitted with letter from Roben M. Peregoy to BAR, July 9, 1998. 
Petition Document. 

n.d. Undated document in Petitioner's Office minutes book. BAR Anthropologist's 
files: Minutes. 

Lost Band of the Chippeways 

LSTClM 

1927 Minutes of the Meeting Held at the Fair Grounds at Hays. Mont.. Aug. 20, 1927. 
Petition Document: 3000-8- I. 1987 Exhibit 4. 1989 Exhibit HAC#I -I 5. and 
1995 Exhibit 35. 

See: Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana 

Mahone, A.H., eT aJ. [''Turtle Mountain Chippewa Commission"] 

Maki. Pat 

1890 Census Roll of the Tunle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians. 1890. Item #88. 

1891 

1998 

Irregularly Shaped Papers (Entry 310). RG 75. National Archives. Petition 
Document: Franklin 1995 Appendix A item 5. NARF files. 

Repon of the Turtle Mountain Chippewa Commission. Feb. 9. 1891. Letter 
Received 1891 - #18995 enc!. 3. [Flat Papers], Special Case 110 (Entry 102). 
RG 75. National Archives. Also. a copy in Item #88. Irregularly Shaped Papers 
(Entry 310). RG 75. National Archives. Petition Document: 891-5. and IO{)()-
14. 

Miscellaneous communications with BAR Anthropologist. at Petitioner's Office. 
May 1998. BAR Anthropologist's files. 
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Malone, Michael P., et al. 
1991 Montana: A History of Two Centuries. Seattle. WA: University of Washington 

Press. Excerpt in BAR Historian' 5 files: Published. 

Mayer, Connie 
1998 Interview (with husband) by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls (from Helena), 

May 11,1998. BAR Anthropologist's tape (two sides). 

McCumber, Porter J. 
1904 Remarks, Mar. 21, 1904. Congressional Record, 58 Cong., 2 sess., pp.3458-59. 

BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1912 Remarks, Aug. 17, 1912. Congressional Record, 62 Cong., 2 sess .• pp.11158-
59. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

McCumber. Porter J.. et al. ["McCumber Commission") 
9/241 1892 Notice: List of names stricken off from the rolls as parties not entitled to the 

benefits of a treaty with the Turtle Mountain Chippewa Indians. Sept. 24. 1892. 
In Senate Document 444. 56 Cong .• 1 sess .. 1900, ppAI-42. Petition Document: 
900-4, 3000-8-133. and 1984 Appendix H, pp.49-50. Copy of S.Doc.444 in 
BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

9/291 1892 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 29, 1892. Letter Received 
1892 - #35747. Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. 
Petition Document: 1000-17. 

101 I / 1892 Census of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians ["McCumber Roll"], 
Oct. I, 1892. In House Executive Document 229,52 Cong., 2 sess .. 1893, 
pp.24-67. Petition Document: 1984 Appendix H, pp.78- I 21. Copy of 
H.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

12J 3 11892 Report of the Turtle Mountain Indian Commission [to Secretary of the Interior], 
Dec. 3, 1892. Letter Received 1892 - #43466. [Special Case 110.] RG 75, 
National Archives. In House Executive Document 229, 52 Cong., 2 sess .• 1893. 
pp.9-23. Petition Document: 892-10. Copy of H.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

McFarlane. Dale, compo 
1981 St. Peter's Mission. Vol. 1: Marriage Register, 1859-1895. Diocese of Great 

Falls - Billings. BAR files. 

McGillis. Mack 
1993 Interview by Robert 1. Franklin, at Great Falls, Dec. 2, 1993. NARF files. 

McNickle, D'Arcy 
1937 Hill 57. 1ndians at Work, Feb. I, 1937. Also in file Mission Indian Agency-092, 

box 16. Central Classified Files 1920-1953, RG 75, National Archives. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-94 (transcript). and submitted June 13, 1997. 
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TABLE 1 

PETIT10NER'S Al"lCESTORS: BRIT1SH RED RIVER SETTLEMENT. ca. 1835 

Name I ID No. 

George Fidler [b.< 1807] # 1541 

Charles Gladue [b.I776] # 1969 

James Short [b.1809] # 4367 

Andre Trottier [b.1791] # 471 I 

Eusebe LeDeoux [b.181 I] # 2870 

Oliver LaRoque [b.1797) It 2792 

Louis Gardlpee [b.I782] # 1898 

Angus McGillis [b.I775] # 3357 

Antoine Houle [b.I787] # 2221 

George Kipling [b.ISOI] # 2298 

Peter Whitford [b.1795] # 5180 

James Anderson [b.I775] # 79 

Joseph LaFournaise [b.I776] # 2527 

Jean Baptiste Wilkie [b. ?] # 5186 

John Kipling [b.I770) # 2293 

AleXIS Belgarde [b.ISOO ca. J # 270 

SOURCE: Sprague and Frye 1983. table 2. 

NOTES: 

Parish 

St. Francois-XaVier. Assinibolne R. 

SI. Francois-XaVier. AssinibOine R. 

51. Francois-Xavier. Assinibolne R. 

51. Francois-XaVier. Assinibotne R. 

5t. FranCOis-Xavier. Assinibotne R. 

St. Francois-XaVier. Asslniboine R. 

5t. FranCOis-XaVier. A')stnihoine R. 

5t. Francois-Xavier. Asstnibotne R. 

51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 

51. Clement. Red River 

51. Andrew. Red River 

51. Andrew. Red River 

51. Boniface. Red River 

51. Vital. Red RIver 

St. Norben. Rw River 

SI. Norben. Red RIver 

Except as noted. all of these men were identified as "Metis" in Sprague and Frye 1983. table I . 
• Individual was identified as "European" in Sprague and Frye 1983. table I 
b A spouse of the individual was identified as "Indian" in Sprague and Frye 1983. table I 
, Individual's "race" was not cited In Sprague and Frve 1983. table I. 
d On the 1850 Pembina census IdJ Son on the 1850 Pembina census. 
, In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1870. 
t Son received 1863 treaty 5cnp. r Son a possible trealy scnp recIpient or applicant. 

ill 

S3 

141 

149 

164 

171 

177 

181 

184 

191 

24 

30 

98 

112 

13 

205 

96 

Notes 

a.1 

b 

d.e.f 

er 

C.t 

a.b 

b.c.[d] 

\dJ.f 

b 

d.C' 
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TABLE 2 

PETITIOl\TER'S A..:"ICESTORS: PEMBINA CO .. MINNESOTA TERRITORY. 1850 

# Family 
House Name on Census Petll1oner's Name ~ Size Birthplace NOles 

18 Joseph Ramville Renville 37 6 Bntish Red River 

22 Francois Fion Fayant I Fagnant 60 11 British Red River Ie 

33n2 Baptiste Cart / Chunelte Charelte 40 7 PembIna c.[e) 

34 Francois SI. Pierre SI. Pierre 49 6 PembIna 

59 Pierre Berger Berger 34 i Bntish Red River 

61 Gabriel Azure Azure 26 3 PembIna 

7' Edward Wells Wells / Welsh 38 6 British Red River (c] 

7~ Michael Klaync Kline 31 9 British Red River 

84 Andre Troller Trottier / Trotchie 66 6 Bntish Red River a.b.lc) 

90 Charles Peltier Peltier / Peltchie 52 13 Pembina b 

92 Antoine LaPierre LaPierre 37 7 British Red River 

94 Baptiste Wilker Wilkie 47 12 Pembina [J).c 

100 Charles Azure. Sr. Azure 29 7 Pembina 

102 Antoine Azure Azure 56 4 British Red River 

108 Peter Laverdure Laverdure 31 6 Pembina c 

109 Joseph Gernon Gourneau 25 3 Pembina 

115 Baptiste Davis DaVIS 28 7 Bntish Red River 

126 Louis Landrie Landrie I Landry 44 7 Bntish Red River 

129 Antoine Houle [Sr.] Houle 50 2 Pembina 

133 Joseph Gernon Gourneau 60 4 LaPOInte. Wis. 

137 Alexis Bellgard Belgarde 50 8 British - Canada a.[c0J 

145 Bapllste LaFournier LaFournalse 35 9 BrilJsh Red River raj 

147 Joseph Lonais Doney 29 5 British Red River 

175 Francois Klayne Kline 31 4 British Red River [eO] 

187 Jacque Morrisette John Mourselte 57 12 British Red River 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1850; White Weasel n.d. [1850 census]. 

NOTES: 
"In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835. lal Father In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835. 
b In the Red River Settlement, ca. 1870. 
e Received 1863 treaty scrip. [e) Son received 1863 trealy scrip. Ie') Son a possible Ireaty scrip recipient or applicanl 
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TABLE 3 

PETITION'ER'S ANCESTORS: RECIPIEl'. J'S OF SCRlP UNDER TREATIES OF 1863·1864 

Name Status 

Joseph Amelin [Hamelin] #241 Good 

Antoine [La Belle] Azure # 137 Good 

Charles Azure [Sr.] #325 [Good] 

Charles [Charhence] Azure #326 [Good; 

Gabriel Azure #136 Good 

PIerre Berger # 138 Bad 

Pierre BOllineau #119 Good 

John B. Charette [Sr.] #49 Good 

John Charelle # 18S Good 

Frank Courchane #14 Good 

Joseph Dussome # 18 Good 

Jonas Emely [Amlin] #135 Doubtful 

Joe Flammand [Flament] #52 Good 

Pete Flammand [Pierre FlamentJ #277 Good 

Antoine Gladeau #360 Not Good 

Joseph Gourneau (3d] #363 [Good] 

Joseph Gourneau (Jr.] #364 [Good] 

Joseph Jerome #140 Good 

Paul Kipling [Kipland] #152 Good 

Antoine LaPlante #305 (Bad] 

Pierre Laverdure #396 Bad 

Charles SI. Arneau #321 [Good] 

Louis Thomas. Jr. #234 Good 

Charles Trotchie [Trottier] #444 '1 

Isadore Walleue #173. #466 Good 

Joseph Wallette #375 Good 

Daniel Wells #389 Good 

John Baptiste Wilkie [Sr.] # 172 Good 

SOURCE: GLO 1880 [Mcintyre Report). List A. 

NOTES: 

Residence Comments 

51. Vincent "PembIna 112 breed" 

51. Joseph family at Pembina 

"Can't tind" family at Pembina 

[Mountains] family al PembIna 

51. Joseph family al Pembina 

Dead . not a ChIppewa" 

Red L..,ke Falls 

Pembina 

Pembina 

Pembina Mt. "mother from Red Lake" 

Mountams 

Turtle Mts. family "from Red River" 

White Earth "from Pembina" 

Pembina always "in ceded country" 

Wood Mts. "Cree 112 breed" 

Pembina father "Chippewa mIXed" 

[Pembma] "Chippewa mixed blood" 

51. Vincent 

Dead known at PembIna 

MountaIns "Cree 112 breed" 

Ft. McLeod "SIOUX or Assiniboine" 

MountaIns brother's status is "good" 

Pembina 

'1 no one could idenlii) 

Northwest ("of (he Pembina tribe"] 

Mountains "of the Pembina tribe" 

51. Vincent father at SI. Joseph 

51. Joseph "first settlers at Pembina" 

I Status of applicallon for scrip. according to GLO Agent Mcintyre (GLO 1880). 
• Joseph Francis Amelin (70 descendants) or Joe Emely (57 descendants). or both. In pelltloner's ancestry. 
b Father in the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835. 
C On the 1850 Pembina census. 
d In the Red River Seniement. ca. 1870. idl FatheJ In (he Red River Settlement. ca. 1870 
• On the 1892 McCumber ColTllTlission roll. 
f Descendant on the 1917 Rocky Boy roll. 

Notes 

a.f 

e 

c.e 

e 

c.: 

c.e 

" 

b 

c.e 

c.[d] 

b.c.{dJ 

c.d 

b.c 
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TABLE 4 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: BRITISH RED RIVER SETTLEMENT. ca. 1870 

"'arne! ID No. 

Joseph Pocha Ib.1800) # 3943 
Joseph Pocha Ib.1833) # 3775 
Andre DeSjarlais [b.1822] # 1277 
Charles Peltier [b.1805) # 3584 
Andrew 51. Germaine [b.1838] # 4549 
Francois SI. Germaine [b.I782] # 4599 
Leander 51. Germaine [b.1839] # 4596 
Francois Fayant [b.1796] # 1460 
Hugh Ross [b.1793] # 4246 
Antoine Houle [b.1787J # 2221 
FranCOIS 51. Germaine [b.1833J # 4597 
John J. Ross [b.1832] # 4226 
William Fiddler [b.1827J # 1544 
Oliver LaRoque [b.l797] # 2792 
Cuthben McGillis [b 1822J # 3358 
LOUIS Landry [b.1816) # 2591 
Moses Landry [b.1845] # 2684 
Andre Trottier [b.1791] #4711 
Jean Baptiste Fayant Ib.IBO I] # 1461 
Alexander Jeannotte [b.1828)·# 2354 
Angus McGillis [b.1838] # 3354 
Jean Baptiste Trottier [b.1841 J # 4971 
James (Napolean) \Vhlleford [b.1827) # 5175 
Alexander Gardlpee [b.1842) # 1805 
Baptiste Gardipee [b.1832) # 1808 
Bonaventure Gardlpee [b.1822) # 1893 
Louis Gardipee [b.1836] # 1806 
Calaise Lafountain [b.1826] # 2520 
Jean Baptiste LaFrambois [b.1806] # 2529 
Alexander McGillis [b.1811] # 3356 
Modeste McGillis [b.1848] # 3596 
Charles Bremner [b.1835] # 500 
Alexander Bremner [b.l793] # 492 
John 5wan / Swain [b.1832] # 4914 
Joseph Laverdure [b.l785] # 2837 
George Kipling [b.1804] # 2298 
George Ram Kipling [b.1824] # 2299 
Moses Carrier [b.1819] # 720 
Emmanuel Champagne [b.180 I) # 739 
Eli Paranteau [b.1835] # 3818 
Joseph Parameau [b.1817] # 3807 
Daniel Wells [b.1836] # 5231 
Alexander Moran [b.1836] # 3194 
Louis Moran [b.1812] # 3195 
Francois Dubois [b.1775] # 1322 
John Bapl1ste Dubois [b.1826] # 1320 

SOURCE: Sprague and Frye 1983. table 4 and table 5. 

NOTES: 

Parish 

High Bluff. Assiniboine River 
High Bluff. Assiniboine River 
Baie SI. Paul. Assinibolne River 
Baie SI. Paul. Assiniboine River 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assinibome R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assinlbome R. 
SI. FranCOis-Xavier. Assinibome R. 
SI. FranCOis-Xavier. Assmibome R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assmiboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Asslniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
51. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. AssinibOine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois Xavier. Assinibolne R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
SI. Francois-Xavier. Assiniboine R. 
Headingly. Assiniboine River 
Headmgly. Assiniboine River 
51. Charles. Assiniboine River 
51. Charles. Assiniboine River 
51. Clement. Red River 
SI. Andrew. Red River 
51. Boniface. Red River 
SI. Boniface. Red River 
SI. Boniface. Red River 
SI. Boniface. Red River 
SI. Norben. Red River 
51. Agathe. Red River 
51. Agathe. Red River 
51. Agathe. Red River 
SI. Agathe. Red River 

• In the Red River Settlement. ca. 1835 
b On the 1850 Pembina census. fbI On the 1850 Pembina census as a child. 

66-70 
68 
13.246 
222 
94 
100-101 
101 
115-133 
115-133 
116-13 1 

127 
136 
147 

b 
d 

[dJ 

t 
Id] 

a 
[d] 

I Ti a.[e"] 
181-190 
195-)96 b 

195-196 [b] 

195-196 a.b.[c] 
19i 
199-202 d 

202-204 
202-204 
202-204 
none 
none 
none 
none 
none IdJ 
none 
none 
none 
42 

43 
7~ 

90 Ie] 
24 a 
264-267 
15 
15 
117-113 
117-113 [d) 
31-27 
575 d 
577 
577-579 
579 

e Received 1863 treaty scnp. [eJ Son received 1863 Ireaty scrip. [e'l Son a possible treaty scnp recipient or applicant. 
d On the 1890 Mahone CommISSIOn census. Idl Widow or child on the 1890 Mahone ComrrusslOn census 
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TABLE 5 

PETITIONER'S AJ'\TCESTORS: MARRlAGES AT ST. PETER'S MISSION. 1874-189:2 

Date Place Groom Bnde 

1874/8/29 Wlill,am) DuBray Marie Malaterrf 
18771 I 129 Milk RIver :vtodeste Gladeu Melinle Azure 
187717113 \111k RIver John Swan IJames Jain) Elisa Nome 
18781 I 129 Milk RIver Francois Azure. # I Marie Berger 
18781 I 129 :vtllk River Vital TurquOlte Adele Berger 
18781 3 131 Milk RIver John Plummer Cathenne Cook 
18791 I I 8 FI. Belknap Clement Azure Margaret Edo 
1879/1115 FrancIs Laverdure Mane Turcotte 
1879/2/21 John M. ILlonel] Doney Virginia LaFountaIn 
18791 3 125 SI. Peler~ Ambrose LaPIerre Adelaid Roseblane 
18791 3 125 SI. Pelen Francis Henry LaPierre Mana Rosa 5wan 
1880/2 1 9 Milk River Francois Azure. #~ Julia PeltIer 
1880/2/10 Mtlk RIver John Malaterre Marie Roseblane 
1880/4 I 6 Alexander Azure Mane A.zure 
18801514 Judith BaSIn Anthony Reu!') Ernestine Wells [Hermestlna Welsh] 
18801 8 130 Soulh Fork Sun R. John Bapllste Pambrum C3lhenne [Euphrasina) Malalatre 
1881/1124 SI. Pelers Moyse Azure Marg.aret ChampIOn 
1881/2/9 Soulh Fork FranCIS Munro ~ Mane 
1881/5110 Judith Basm William LaFrambOIse Catherine Berger 
188117/10 FI. Assiniborne Bernard Thomas ITami] Eliza [Lalza] 51. DenniS 
1881/9/20 51. Peters Ambrose Larance Cathenne Nome 
188111 1/21 SI. Peter; Bona~enture Azure :vtagdaline Gardlpee 
18821 I 123 51. Peten John AloysIUS Courchene Marie Alphonslna Azure 
18821 21 3 Musselshell R. Charles LeMire AlOYSia Swan 
188212/21 SI. Peten John Gardipee Henrietta Blagon 
18821 31 8 Carroll William Baston Marie Goslin 
18831 31 7 Carroll Isidore Azure Carolina PaquIn 
1883/3/14 Judith BaSIn John Thomas Welsh Aloysia Wilky 
1883/41 3 Judilh BaSIn Bonaventure Gardipee Calhenne LaRocque 
1883/4/10 Judilh BaSIn Daniel [David] La~erdure Mary M. [Natalie] Well, 
1883/4/10 Judith BaSin Joseph Laverdure Marie Upstlina Welsh 
1883/4/25 J oh n P arrem Marie Malaterre [DuMay] 
1883/4/30 Judith BaSin Joseph Welsh Julia Wilky 
1883/8/21 51. Peters Anthony Azure Julia CollinS 
18841 I 128 51. Peler, Henry McCullough Ford Rose Dantels 
1884/31 8 SI. Peters lohn Thompson Elizabelh Ouellenr 
18841 81 4 Rat Willow Cr. Eli Louis [Leon] Gardipee Marie LaRocque 
1885/1/4 51. Peler5 Peler Beauchamp Julia Azure 
1885/51 5 South Fork Pascal LaPIer Manann Co\ltn~ 
18851121 5 Badger Cr. Elais Gardlpee Anlonia KalaltSlpS-lsalcJ 
188611/7 SI. Peters Alexander James Foster Cecilia Azure 
188611112 SI. Peters Hilary Sangray Helen Troltier 
188611119 Judith Basin Elias Paul Rose Daniels I Dognon 
1886121 I SI. Peters Aloysius Brunon Isabella Collim 
188618/22 Lewistown Modeste Rocheleau Catherine Berger 
1886111/23 SI. Peters Francis AZure Emma [Marie Virginia] Larance 
1888/10123 51. Pelers Alben Larance Eliza 51. Germain 
1888/1 0/23 51. Pelers John Baptiste 5wan Julia Larance 
1889/5/20 51. Peler~ Caleb (Tom) Anderson Rora (Marie) Swan 
1889/5120 SI. Pelers Frank Sangray [Francis LandreJ Mary Ann Anderson 
1889/10/14 51. Pelers Peter Sangra y [Mary] Christine 5wan 
1891/5/28 SI. Peters William Belgarde Christine Laverdure 
18921 4/25 51. Peters Charles 5wan Marian Deschenaux [Marie Deshnoe] 
189217/27 SI. Peters Moses LaPierre Ida LaFrambOise 

SOURCE: McFarlane 1981 [SI. Peter's Mission records]. 
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TABLE 6 

PETITIOl\TER'S ANCESTORS: MONTANA TERRITORY, 1880 

~arne Count\ District ED. House ~ Background 

Katie Conway Choteau FI. Benton 3 144 26 b. Montana 

Eli L. Gardipee Choteau FI. BenlOn 3 161 22 b. Dakota [gr'father R.R.J 

Charles Trotchie Choteau FI. Benton 3 168 43 Pembina 1850: father R.R 

Daniel (& Louise )Wells Choteau FI. Benton 3 [171 J 45 Red R. 1870: b. Dakota 

Alexander Guardipee Choteau Shoukin 4 47 50 Red River 1870 

Bapliste Guardipee Choteau TelOn R. 4 67 48 Red River 1870 

Eli Guardlpee Choteau Teton R. 4 68 23 b. Canada 

Jack Swan Lewis &: SI. Peter's 20 59 29 Father from Red River 

Frank LaPier LewIs & 51. Peter's 20 61 29 Father at Pembina 1850 

Gabriel Azure LewIs & 51. Peter's 20 63 57 Pembina 1850 

Francois Courchene LeWIS & 51. Peter's 20 . 65 46 [Pembina ca. 1860] 

Charles Azure, [Jr.] Lewis & 51. Peter's 20 68 45 Pembina 1850 

Anthonyl Antoine Azure Lewis & 51. Peter's 20 71 55 Pembina 1850 

Gabriel Beauchman Lewis &: 51. Peter's 20 75 34 b. Dakota 

Paul Nomee Lewis & 51. Peter' 5 20 77 48 b. Canada 

Bapme Lavadure Lewis & SI. Peter's 20 81 30 b. Dakota 

Modeste Gladeau Lewis & 51. Peter's 20 82 32 b. Canada 

Moses LaPierre Lewis & Sun R. 20 217 .) b. Minnesota 

Henry M. Ford Lewis & Sun R. 20 223 16 b. Montana 

Louis Malatare Lewis & Sun R. 20 229 47 b. Brilish Columbia 

John Courchene Meagher Judith Basin 23 27 20 b. Canada [ I Dakota) 

John Charene Meagher Judith Basin 23 32 37 Pembina 1850 

'Jacob Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 34 25 Father at Pembina 1850 

Isadore Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 35 32 Pembina 1850 

Pierre / Peter Berger Meagher Judith BaSin 23 36 60 Pembina 1850 

Isaie Berger Meagher Judith Basin 23 37 35 Pembina 1850 

\-loses LaTra)' Meagher Judith Basin 23 42 32 b. Canada 

Joseph Doney Meagher Judith Basin 23 44 37 Pembina 1850 

John M. Doney Meagher Judith Basin 23 46 22 Father at Pembina 1850 

Pierre Laverdure Meagher Judith Basin 23 53 65 Pembina 1850 

SOURCES: US. Census 1880: also: U.S. Census 1850; Sprague and Frye 1983. lables 4 and 5; and Riel 1985.5:210. 
220. 221. 235.239.259,285,288.303. 34i. 
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TABLE 7 

M1GRA T10N TO MONTANA OF PETIT10NER'S 1835 RED RNER ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant Location Descendants 

1835 Ancestor in Montana in Montana' In MOnlanl! in Pet!lloner : 

Alexis Belgarde [b.1800 ca.) child 1868 birth grchild Milk RIver 96 

Louis Gardipee [b.1782) child 1874 birth grchild Sun River 126 

Charles Gladue [b.I776) grandchild 1878 birth g'grchild "Harlem 
.. 70 

Eusebe LeDeoux [b.1811] child 1879 birth grchild Yel10wslone [R.] 150 

Andre Trolller [b.179I) child 1880 census Ft. Benton 26 

Oltver LaRoque [b.1797) grandchild 1880 census Ft. Benton 126 

Jean Bapliste Wilkie [b. ')] grandchild 1880 census Lewistown 2.59 

Anlome Houle [b.1787) grandchild 188~ birth g' grchild Chester 107 

Peter Whitford [b.1795] grandchild 1883 per application Choteau Co. 34 

James Anderson [b.1775] grandchild 1883 per application Choteau Co. 34 

James Short [b.1809] grandchild 1885 birth g' grchild Malta 15:: 

Joseph LaFournaise [b.I776] g' grandchild 1900 c. 2g'grchild [Valley Co.] 15 

Angus McGillis [b.I775] grandchild 1902 birth g' grchild Dupuyer 38 

George Fidler [b.< 1807) g' grandchild 1926 birth 2g'grchild [Blaine Co.) 10 

John Kipling [b.I770] 3g'grandchild 1931 birth 4g' grchild Telcn Co. ~5 

George Kipling [b.1801] 2g' grandchild 1931 birth 3g'grchild TelOn Co. -,< 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880; Interior 7116/1917 [McLaughlin rol1]: BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applicalJons]: 
McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's MiSSion records]; White Weasel n.d., 106·124 11850 census]: Petitioner's ancestry chan5. 

SOTES: 
Sec: Table 1 for additional informallon about the petitIOner's 1835 anceslOrs. 
I Some dates of binh and dales of mamage are eSllmales. 
: Because some of the petitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals. thiS column can not 
be added to obtam a total. 
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TABLE 8 

MIGRATION TO MONTANA OF PETITIONER'S 1850 PEMBINA ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant LocatIOn Descendants 
1850 Ancestor in Montana in Montana I In Montana in PetitIoner: 
Alexis Belgarde child 1868 birth grchild Milk River 44 
MIchael Kline child 1869 birth grchild "LeWIstown" 37 
Francois St. PIerre child 1869 birth grchild "LeWIstown" 37 
FranCOIs Fayant child 1878 birth grchild 51. Peter's 129 
Andrew Trotchie child 1880 censu~ Ft. Benton 26 
PIerre Berger self 1880 census Judith BaSIn 189 
John Baptiste Charette child 1880 census Judnh Basin 33 
Joseph Done~ self 1880 census Judith BaSIn 536 
Joseph Gourneau [Sr.J grandchild 1880 census Judith BaSIn 55 
Joseph Gourneau [Jr.J child 1880 census Judith Basin 55 
Pierre Laverdure self 1880 census Judith Basin 168 
John Baptiste Wilkie child 1880 census Judith Basin 293 
Gabriel Azure self 1880 census SI. Peter's 328 
Antoine LaPierre child 1880 census SI. Peter's 79 
Antoine AZure child 1880 census SI. Peter's 61 
Charles Azure. Sf. child 1880 census 51. Peter's 59 
Edward Wells grandChild 1880 marriage Judith Basin 46 
Frank Kline child 1882 binh grchild [Valley Co.1 96 
Charles Peltchie grandchild 1883 birth g' grchild Choteau Co. 104 
Louis Landrie grandchild 1893 marriage 51. Peter's 24 
John Moursette child 1896 birth grchild Flathead Co. 10 
Jean Baptiste LaFournaise grandchild 1900 birth g' grchild [Valley Co,J 15 
Joseph Renville grandchild 1907 birth g'grchild Wolf POint 19 
John Baptiste DaVIS grandchild 1919 birth g' grchild Wolf Point 18 
Antoine Houle [Sr.J grandchild 1934 birth g' grchi Id BlaIne Co. 18 

SOURCES: U.S. Census 1880: Interior 711 6/1917 [McLaughlin rolll: BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll apphcaltons]; McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's Mission records I: White Weasel n.d., 106-124 [1850 census]; Petilloner's ancestry cham. 
NOTES: 
See Table 2 for additional information about the petitIoner's 1850 ancestors. 
I Some dales of binh are and dates of marriage eStimate~ 
2 Because some of the petitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals. this column can not be added to obtain a total. 
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TABLE 9 

M1GRA TION TO MONTANA OF PETIT10NER' S 1863 TREATY SCRIP ANCESTORS 

Name of Descendant Date Descendant LocatIOn Descendants 
1863 Ancestor in Montana m Montana I In Montana in PetitIOner: 

Antoine Gladeau child 1877 marriage Milk RIver 68 

Frank Courchane self 1877 per McLaughlin (Cascade Co.] 9 

Charles Trotchie [Trottier] self 1880 census Ft. Benton 27 

Pierre Berger self 1880 censu~ Judith Basm 183 

John Charette self 1880 census Judith Basm 33 

John B. Charelle (Sr.] child 1880 census Judith Basm 33 

Joseph Gourneau [Jr.] grandchIld 1880 census Judith BasIn 74 

Joseph Gourneau [3d] child 1880 census Judith BaSIn 29 

Pierre Laverdure self 1880 census Judith BasIn 166 

John Baptiste Wilkie [Sr.] child 1880 census Judith Basm 287 

Charles (ChariIencej Azure self 1880 census St. Peter~ S7 

Charles Azure [Sr.] child 1880 census St. Peter's 57 

Gabriel Azure self 1880 census St. Peter's 'n-__ I 

Daniel Wells child 1880 marriage Judith BaSIn 58 

Joseph Dussome child 1881 marriage Malta 258 

Paul Kipling child 1881 birth grchild Lewistown 26 

Antoine [La Belle) Azure self 1884 birth child St. Peter's 18 

Joseph Amelin [Hameline] a child 1885 birth grchild a" Choteau Co. '1 b 

Antoine LaPlante grandchild 1898 birth g' grchild Toole Co. 10 

Jonas Emely (Amlin] child 1912 birth grchild Phillips Co 33 

Louis Thomas, Jr. grandchild 1913 birth g'grchild Fergus Co. 

Joseph Jerome child 1913 birth grchild Shendan Co. 3 

Charles St. Arneau grandchild 1913 birth g'grchild Sheridan Co. 3 

Pierre Bottineau grandchild 1914 birth g'grchild Wolf Point 9 

Joe F1ammand (F1ament] child 1915 birth grchild Pondera Co. 9 

Isadore Wallette grandchilc 1933 birth g' grchild Ft. Peck 5 

Joseph Wallette g' grandchIld 1933 birth 2g' grchild FI. Peck S 

Pete F1ammand (PIerre F1ament] child 1937 application Roosevelt Co. 6 

SOURCES: U,S. Census 1880: Interior 711 6/1917 (MclaughlIn rolll: BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applications]: 
McFarlane 1981 [51. Peter's Mission records]: White Weasel nd" 106-124 [1850 census]: PetitIoner's ancestry charts. 

NOTES: 
See Table 3 for addillonal information about the pelilloner's ancestors who received 1863 treaty scnp. 
I Some dates of binh and dates of marriage are estimates. 
, Because some of the petilIOner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuals, IhlS column can not 
be added to obtam a total. 
• Joseph Francis Amelin or Joe Emely in petitioner's ancestry. ," Descendant of Joseph F. Amelln. 
b Undetermined; possibly 68 (Joseph Amelin), 56 (Joe Emily), or 124 (combined), 
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TABLE 10 

\1]GRATION TO MONTANA OF PETITIONER'S 1870 RED RNER ANCESTORS 

~ame of Descendant Date Descendant location Descendants 1870 Ancestor in Montana In Montana I m Montana In Petilloner : 
Bonaventure Gardlpee self 1874 birth .child Sun RIver 16 James (Napolean) Whileford self 1874 birth child 7 7: Modeste McGillIs self 1875 birth child "Fergus Co. 

., 
18 Hugh Ross child 1877 bl[\h grchild "Wolf Pomt" ~-- 1 John J. Ross self 1877 birth child "Wolf POint" ~-
';'1 Francois Fayant child 1878 birth grchild SI. Peter's 126 Calalse lafountain child 1879 maITIage SI. Peter's 236 Oliver LaRoque child 1879 birth grchild YeliowslOne [R] 104 Eli Paranteau self 1879 birth child Yellowstone [R,] 104 Joseph Paranteau child 1879 birth grchild Yellowstone [R.] 104 Alexander Gardlpee self 1880 census Choteau Co, 81 Bapliste Gardlpee self 1880 censu~ Tewn River 29 LOUIS Gardlpee grandchild 1880 census Fl Benton 182 Andre Tratller / Trotchle child ! 880 censu~ Fl Benton 26 Daniel Wells self 1880 census Ft. Benton 60 Antome Houle [b.I787] grandchild ! 883 birth g' grchild "Rocky Bov" 10i Charles PeltJer grandchild 1883 bJrth g grchild ChOleau Co. 104 Alexander McGillis grandchild 1885 birth g' grchild Phillips Co. 254 Moses CarTier child 1886 bJrth grchild [Tewn Co,J 26 Emmanuel Champagne grandchild 1886 birth g' grchild [Teton Co.] 26 Joseph Laverdure grandchild 1890 birth g' grchild Dearborn RJ\'er 54 John Swan I Swain child 1890 blflh grchild Dearborn River 54 Louis Landry grandchild 1893 marnage SI. Peter's 24 Moses Landry child 1893 marnage SI. Peter's 24 Jean BaplJste Fayant grandchild 1894 blflh g' grchild Valley Co, 36 Angus McGillis child 1894 blflh grchild Valley Co, 38 Jean Baptiste TrollJer child 1897 birth grchild Blaine Co. 8:? Cuthbert McGillIs grandchild 1902 birth g'grchild Pondera Co. 3E> Joseph Pocha [Sr.] grandchild 1902 birth g'grchild Lewis & Clark Co 79 Joseph Pocha [Jr.] child 1902 blflh grchild leWIS & Clark Cc. 79 Jean Baptiste LaFrambois grandchild 1905 birth g' grchild Cascade Co. ~5 Alexander Bremner grandchild 1906 birth g' grchlid Milk RIver 14 Charles Bremner child 1906 birth grchild Milk RIver 14 Andrew St. Germaine child 1907 birth grchild Wolf POint i Francois SI. Germaine [Sr.) grandchild 1907 birth g' grchlld Wolf POint 47 John Baptiste Dubois child 1910 birth grchild Hill eo, 15 ,Francois Dubois grandchild 1910 blflh g' grchild Hill Co, 15 A ndre Desjarlais grandchild 19 I 9 birth g' grchild Wolf POlnl 18 Alexander Jeannotte child 19 I 9 blflh grchdd Phillips Co, 74 Leander SI. Germaine grandchild 1919 bJTIh g'grchild Wolf POint i~ _I WIllIam Fiddler g'grchild 1926 birth 2g'grchild [Blaine Co.J 10 Francois Sl. Germame [Jr.] grandchild 1927 birth g' grchild Roosevelt Co, 13 George Ram Kipling [Jr.] g' grchild 1931 birth 2g' grchild Teton Co. 25 George KiplIng [Sr.) 2g' grchild 1931 birth 3g' grchild Teton Co, 25 Alexander Moran g' grchild 1949 birth 2g' grchild Wolf POint 9 Louis Moran 2g'grchild 1949 birth 3g'grchild WolfPolnl 9 

SOURCES: U.S, Census IS80: Interior 7/16/1917 [McLaughlin roll): BIA 1937 [Roe Cloud roll applIcations]: McFarlane 1981 [St. Peter's Mission records]: White Weasel n.d .. 106- I 24 [1850 census): Petitioner's ancestry cham. 
NOTES; 
Sec Table 4 for additionaJ infonnalion about the petitioner's 1870 ancestors. 
I Some dates of binh and dales of marriage are estimates. I Because some of the pelitioner's members are descendants of more than one of these individuaJs, this column can not be added to obtain a total. 
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TABLE II 

PETITIONER'S ANCESTORS: TURTLE MOUNTAIN RESER V A TION, 1890-1892 

1890 1892 Family 

Name _#- _#- ~ Size Categorv on Rolls Notes 

Michael Allard 6 481 8 Mixed blood ON resn 

Andrew Allery 4 6 37/49 9 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Anthony Azure 
.., 

12 65/68 3-4 Mixed blood ON resn. [a] "-

Charles Azure, Sr. 19 16 75/76 2 Mixed blood ON resn. a.e 

Charles Azure, Jr. 21 17 53/55 4-5 Mixed blood ON resn. [a].e 

Louis Belgarde. # I 30 16 57/50 II Mixed blood OFF resn. [aj 

Susan [Susette) Belgarde 41 30 61 1 na 1-2 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Antoine Brien 17 45 64/67 5-6 ~1ixed blood OFF ION 

[John) Baptiste Charette. [Sr.] 54 53 85/88 6 Mi.\ed blood ON resn. a.e 

John Baptiste Davis. Sr. 89 70 71173 4 Mixed blood ON resn. a.f 

Louis Davis 64 331 8 Mixed blood ON resn. [aj.f 

Charles Demonlgine [Demontigny] 87 721 Mixed blood ON resn. d 

Joseph Gourneau, [3d] 117 105 63/62 4-7 Mixed blood ON resn. a.e 

John Hayes 132 118 25/26 3 Mixed blood ON resn 

Antoine Houle, [Jr.) 129 121 65/65 5 Mixed blood ON resn. [a] 

Alexander Jeanotte 59 53 J 6 MIxed blood OFF resn. b,f 

Gaspar JeanOlte, Jr. 64 27/ 5 Mixed blood OFF resn. [b ],f 

Margaret Gourneau Kipling 14:2 131 63/63 MIxed blood ON resn. [a] 

Charlotte Adams LaFountaInc 159 163 60/63 3 MIxed blood ON resn 

Moses LaPierre 167 134 49/50 3-4 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Oliver LaRoque 80 28 I 5 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Pete LaValley 178 147 44/45 7-8 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Alexander Martell 204 177 na / 38 4 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Alexander Morin 187 55/ 7 Mixed blood ON resn. b.f 

Peter [St. Pierre) Morin 101 57 44/46 8 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Susanna Daigon Parenteau 233 78/ I Mixed blood ON resn. c 

Charles Putra, [#2] 219 197 47/50 12 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Andre SI. Gennaine 122 52/ 4 Mixed blood OFF resn. b.f 

Cherez St. Gennaine I Theresa Bonneau 124 65/ 4 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

Joseph Thomas 250 227 43/46 7 Mixed blood ON resn. 

Vital Turcotte 74 /33 8 Mixed blood OFF resn. 

SOURCES: Mahone et al. 1890 [Mahone [011]; McCumber et aI. 10/111892 [McCumber roll]. 

~OTES: 
• On the 1850 Pembina census. loj Father on the 1850 Pembina census. 
b In the Red River Settlement, ca. 1870. [bl Father in the Red River Settlement, ca. 1870. 
C Husband in the Red River Sf'ulement. ca. 1870. 
d In the Red River Settlement before 1870. according to Sprague and Frye 1983, Table I. 
e Received 1863 treaty scnp. 
f On the January 1892 list of the "Grand Council" of the Turtle Mountain Band (Turtle MIn. 1892). 
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TABLE 12 

LOCA TION OF PETITIOl\'ER'S ANCESTORS IN MONTANA, 1920 

County ED# 

Big Horn Crow Resn_ 
Blame 10 
Blain!: 242 
Blame 244 
Cascade 31 
Fergus 84 
Fergus 86 
Fergus 87 
Fergu~ 90 
Fergus 91 
Fergus 103 
Fergus 106 
Feq.!Us III 
Fergus 112 
Glacier 1~5 
GlaCier 126 
GlaCier Blackfeet Rem_ 
Hill 130 
Hill 131 
Hill 132 
Hill 136 
Hill Rocky Boy Resn_ 
LeWlS & Clark 102 
Lewis & Clark 106 
Lewis & Clark 107 
Lewis & Clark 114 
Lewis & Clark 119 
Lewis & Clark 12.5 
Missoula 169 
Pondera 163 
Philhps 152 
Phillips 153 
Phillips 156 
Phillips 157 
Phillips 158 
Phillips 160 
Phillips 161 
Phillips 162 
Phillips 239 
Phillips / Blaine a 

Belknap Resn. 
Roosevelt 188 
Roosevelt 189 
Roosevelt 191 
Roosevelt 196 
Sheridan 200 
Teton 207 
Teton 208 
Teton 214 
Toole 216 
Valley 226 

SOURCE: U.S Census 1920 (Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 31). 
NOTES: 
• Ft. Belknap Resn. = Phillips Co. (8). Blaine Co. (4) 
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TABLE 13 

LOCATION OF ACCEPTED ROE CLOUD ROLL APPLICANTS. ca. 1938 

Highline and Lewistown. 400 
Havre 31 

Chinook 16 

Zurich 5 

Harlem 67 

Dodson 15 

Malta 13 

Glasgow 20 
Wolf Point (on FI. Peck Reservation) 51 
Brockton (on Ft. Peck Reservation) :-
Poplar (on FI. Peck Re,ervation) 

Rocky Boy's Reservation 3:-
Ft. Belknap Reservation 
Hays (on Ft. Belknap Reservation) 56 
Zortman 20 
Landusky 12 

Timber Ridge 
Lewistown 54 

Front Ran~e 55 
Browning (on Blackfeet Reservation) 21 

Babb (on Blackfeet Reservation) 15 
Choteau 10 

Augusta 8 
Gilman 

Urban 43 
Great Falls 10 

Helena 31 
Billings 

Missoula 

EI~!:wh!:[!: in Montan!! 50 

Flathead Reservation (Polson. Arlee. SI. Ignatius) 2"7 

Crow Reservation and Hardin 10 

East of Ft. Peck (Culbertson. Froid. Dagmar) 9 
Others (iocation unknown) 4 

Address nOI ~iven 2 2 

Total 550 550 

SOURCE: BIA 1938 (Petition Document: 3000·8·85) and BIA 1945 (Petition Document: 3000·5-47). 
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TABLE 14 

LOCATION OF PETITIONER'S CURRENT MEMBERS, 1992 

Montana 2715 (70~) 
Highhne and LewIstown 738 

Havre 224 
ChInook 76 
ZUrIch 5 
Harlem 50 
Dodson 39 
~1alta 59 
Glasgow 41 
Wolf POint (on Ft. Peck ReservalJon I 38 
Poplar (on Ft. Peck Reservation) 17 
Box Elder Ion Rocky Boy's ReservatIOnl 25 
Havs (on Ft. Belknap Reservation I 69 
Zortman 12 
Landusky 3 
LewIstown (including Roy and Hilger) 80 

Front Range 383 
Browning (on Blackfeet Reservation) 165 
Babb (on Blackfeet Reservationl 51 
Heart Butte Ion Bhlckfeet ReservatIOn! 9 
Cut Bank (near Blackfeet Reservation) 63 
Dupuyer 6 
Choteau 75 
Augusta 14 

Urban 1146 
Great Falls (IncL Black Eagle and Vaughn) 660 
Helena lincl. E. Helena) 178. 
Bulte III 
Anaconda 47 
Billings 95 
MIssoula 55 

Elsewhere in Montana 448 
Kalispell 52 
Libby 48 
Flathead Reservation 28 
Balance of the State 320 

Out of State 1178 (309c) 
WashinglOn 4(){) 
California 168 
Oregon 133 
Idaho 7' 
WyomIng 6:: 
North Dakota 40 
Other 304 

Total 3893 3893 

SOURCE: LSTCIM 1987. 1990, 1991. 1992 [Petitioner's membership lists). 
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MITPB 
See: Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board 

MLI 
See: Montana Landless Indians 

Montana 
1941 Senate Joint Memorial No.7, Feb. II, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 

Exhibit 130. and Letter of LSTCIM 7/9/1998 encl. S#40. 

1949 Senate Joint Memorial No.3. Feb. 25. 1949. Session Laws 1949, p.662. Drafts 
in Petition Document: 3000-2-3.3000-8-26, 1989 Exhibit HAC#I-8 
and HAC#2-33 and HAC#2-60, and 1995 Exhibit 186. 

1951 Senate Joint Memorial No.1, Feb. I, 1951. Session Laws 195 I, p.754. 
[Reproduced in Proceedings of the First Montana Indian Affairs Conference, 
Helena. MT. June 22-23,1951.] Draft in Petition Document: HAC#2-59. 

1955 House Joint Memorial No.8, Mar. 3, 1955. Drafts in Petition Document: 3000-
2-16. and 1995 Exhibit 227. 

Montana, Attorney General 
1949 Attorney General Arnold Olsen to Comrrussioner of Indian Affairs, Apr. 2, 1949. 

Petition Document: 2000-22, 3000-2-7, and 1989 HAC#I-21. 

Montana, Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County (ciled as: Montana Disl. Court) 
5/1211997 Shield v. Maki et al., Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause, 

May 12. 1997. In Respondent's Pre-Hearing Brief, tab 5, before Tribal 
Adjudicatory Panel. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 4/2211998 encl. 1. 

5/29/1997 Shield v. Whitaker et al .• Stipulation to Dismiss. May 29. 1997. In Respondent's 
Pre-Hearing Brief, tab 7, before Tribal Adjudicatory Panel. Petition Document: 
Letter of LSTCIM 4/2211998 encl. 1. 

6/3/ 1997 Shield v. Whitaker el ai., Order of Dismissal, June 3. 1997. In Respondent's Pre­
Hearing Brief. tab 7, before Tribal Adjudicatory Panel. Petition Document: 
Letter of LSTCIM 4/2211998 encl. 1. 

Montana Inter-Tribal Policy Board (cited as: MITPB) 
1952 Minutes of a meeting. Nov. 24, 1952. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 

7/911998 encl. S#37. 

1978 Resolution 78-21. Mar. 12. 1978. BAR administrative files. 

1981 Newsletter. June 1981. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 307. 
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Montana Landless Indians (cited as: MLI) 
121171 1939 Minutes of a meeting [at Great Falls]. Dec. 17, 1939 [at least two versions]. 

Petitioner's Office. Petition Document: 1984 Appendix A (marked as 939-103 
and 939-104). BAR Anthropologist's files: Minutes <marked as 939-104 and 
939-107). 

121201 1939 Minutes of a meeting at Helena. Dec. 20, 1939. Petition Document: 939-55. 

1/18/ 1940 Letter to Secretary of the Interior Harold L. Ickes, Jan. 18, 1940. Petition 
Doc 3000-8-139, and 1995 Exhibit 110. Roe Cloud application files. NARF 
files. 

31121 1940 Letter to Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman. Jr., 
Mar. 12, 1940. Petition Document: 3000-8-141. and 1995 Exhibit 112. 

1941 Petition, n.d. [1941]. [Box 108, MC 35, Montana Historical Society, Helena, 
MT.J Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 161. 

5/211 1951 Articles of Incorporation, May 2), ) 951. Petition Document: 3000-8-169, and 
1995 Exhibit 203. 

3/251 1955 Minutes of a joint meeting at the College of Great Falls, Mar. 25-26, 1955. 
Petition Document: ) 995 Exhibit 222. 

4/2211966 Minutes, Apr. 22, 1966. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files: 
Minutes. 

Montana Dist. Court 
See: Montana, Eighth Judicial District Coun 

Mooney, James, and Cyrus Thomas 
1907 Chippewa. In Frederick Webb Hodge. ed., Handbook of American Indians 

Nonh of Mexico, I :277-281. Washington, D.C.: GPO. BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

Morris. C. Patrick, and Roben Van Gunten . 
1984 A History of the Chief Little Shell Tribe of Montana. Manuscript. [Submitted 

by the petitioner as its historical narrative.] Petition Document. 

Morrow. Florence 
1993 Interview by Raben J. Franklin, at Great Falls, Dec. 7, 1993. NARF files. 

Mueller, Oscar 
1931 Interview of Ben Kline, Dec. 2,1931. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 2. 

Murray, James E. 
1950 Letter to State Senator Phillips, ~y 15. 1950. Petition Document: 1989 

Exhibit HAC#2-54. and 1995 Exhibit) 94. 

- 28 -
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Murray, Stanley N. 
1984 The Turtle Mountain Chippewa. 1882-1905. North Dakota History 51( I): 14·37. 

BAR Historian's files: Published. 

NaUlt, Fred 
1977 Fred Nault: Montana Metis. Rocky Boy's Reservation. MT. Pamphlet 3071. 

Montana Historical Society, Helena. MT. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 3 
and 46. 

National Tribal Chainnen's Association (cited as: NTCA) 
1985 Resolution NTCA No. 85-26, Oct. 7,1985 [attached to a letter from Raymond 

C. Field to Secretary of the Interior Donald Hodel, Oct. 28, 1985]. BAR 
administrative files. 

New Nation 
1978a Tribal Attorney and NARF Attorney to Present Tribes [sic] Petition for Federal 

Recognition. Nov. 14. 1978. Petitioner's Office. BAR Anthropologist's files. 

1978b Oral History Proposal Submitted, Nov. 14, 1978. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

1978c Tribal Enrollment Up, Nov. 14, 1978. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

1980 Li ttle Shell Office Opens In Great Falls, June 1980. Petitioner's Office. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

Northern Cheyenne Tribe 
1985 Resolution No. 97 A(85), Dec. 16, 1985 [attached to a memorandum from BlA 

Billings Area Director to Deputy Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, Jan. 8, 
1986]. BAR administrative files. 

Noyes. Alva 1. 
1917 In the Land of Chinook. Helena, MT. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: 

Published. 

NTCA 
See: National Tribal Chainnen's Association 

Ouellette, Thomas 
6113/1939 Letter to Thomas Sangray, June 13. 1939. Petition Document: Letter of 

LSTCIM 71911998 encl. S#6. 

7118/1939 Letter to Senator James E. Murray, July 18,1939. [Box 287, Murray Collection 
(#91), University of Montana, Missoula. MT]. Petition Document: 3000·)·6. 
and 3000·8-138. 

6/2211940 Letter to J.H. Dussome. June 22, 1940. Petition Document: 3000·2·2, 3000·8· 
150b, 1989 Exhibit HAC#I·25 and ISR#3·12. 
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Ouellette, Thomas (conL) 
8119/1941 Letter to J.H. Dussome. Aug. J 9. J 941. Petition Document: 2000-15. 

11130/1941 Letter to J.H. Dussome, Nov. 30. 1941. Petition Document: 1989 
Exhibit HAC#2-22. 

Owen, David Dale 
1852 Report of a Geological Survey of Wisconsin, Iowa; and Minnesota. 

Parenteau. David 
1998 

Philadelphia, PA. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls. May 6. 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (three sides). 

Parsons, John E. 
1963 West on the Forty.Ninth Parallel: Red River to the Rockies. 1872·1876. New 

York. NY: Morrow. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Paul, Fern 
1993 

Paul, Howard 
1991 

1998 

Interview by Robert 1. Franklin, at Cascade, Dec. 6, 1993. NARF files. 

Interview by Jack Campisi and William Stama. at Great Falls, Aug. 20, 1991. 
NARF files. 

Interview. May 9, 1998, as summarized by Robert Van Gunten. Petition 
Document: Letter of LSTCIM 5/271998. 

Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians 
ca. 1939 To the Secretary of the Interior of the United States ... 1 Lewistown. Montana. 

n.d. [ca. 1939]. Petition Document: 2000-9, and 1984 Folder #1-6. 

6110/1939 Minutes of Meeting of the Pembina Chippewa, at Great Falls, MT. June 10, 
1939. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 7/9/1998 encl. S#6. 

J 0/51 1940 Authorization of Delegates, Oct. 5, 1940. Petition Document: 2000-12. 

7/2/1941 Minutes of State Convention Held In Malta, Mont., July 2-3. 1941. Petition 
Document: 3000-8-20, 1989 Exhibit HAC#2-38 and ISR#3-ll, and 1995 
Exhibit 142. 

7/31 194] Resolution, July 3, 1941. Petition Document: 3000-8-19, 1989 Exhibit ISR#3-
11, and 1995 Exhibit 141. 

12161 1941 Minutes. of a special meeting of the landless Indians of the Pembina Band. at 
Great Falls, Dec. 6, 1941. Petition Document: 1989 Exhibit HAC#2-49 and 
HAC#2-58. 
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Pembina County, Dakota Territory 
1873-1874 Personal Property Valuation, 1873. and Personal Property Valuation. 1874. 

Collections of rhe Srare Historical Society of North Dakota 1 :405-411. BAR 
Historian's files: Published. 

Peregoy, Robert M. 
1994 Letter to Branch of Acknowledgment and Research. May 20. 1994. BAR 

administrative files. 

1995 Letter to Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Feb. 9. 1995. with enclosed 
tape recording of meeting dated July 29,1994 [July 30, 1994]. BAR 
administrative files. (See also: BAR 7/30/1994.) 

Peterson. Jacqueline. and Jennifer S.H. Brown. eds. 
1985 The Ne ...... Peoples. Lincoln. NB: University of Nebraska Press. 

Petition, or, Petitioner 
See: Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana (LSTCIM) 

Pettigrew, Richard F. 
1881 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 2. 1881. Petition Document: 

881·1. 

1882 Letter to Secretary of the Interior, May 1. 1882. Letter Received 1882 - #8078, 
Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. National Archives. NARF files. 

Phillips, Mrs. B.M. [Ruth] 
1945 Letter to Representative James F. O'Connor. Jan. 8. 1945. Petition Document: 

3000-8-53. 

Phillips Comm. 
See: Phillips County Diamond, Jubilee Committee 

Phillips County 
1941 Resolution, by Board of County Commissioners, Apr. 7, 1941. Petition 

Document: 2000-14, and 1995 Exhibit 135. 

Phillips County Diamond Jubilee Committee (cited as: Phillips Comm.) 
1962 Railroads to Rockets, 1887-1962: The Diamond Jubilee of Phillips County. 

Montana. N.p. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Phillips County Historical Society, compo (cited as: Phillips H.S.) 
1978 The Yesreryears. Malta, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Phillips County News 
5/1/1941 Non-Ward Indians May Get Reservation on Phillips Ranch, May I, 1941. 

Petition Document: 941·3,1984 Appendix G, and 1995 Emibit 139. 

1/13/ 1944 Landless Indians Still Planning Land Purchase. Jan. 13, 1944. Petition 
Document: 3000·7·151, and 1995 E:d1ibit 173. 
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Phillips H.S. 
See: Phillips County Historical Society 

Plurnrner. Cieorge 
1978 Letter to Bureau of Indian Affairs [letter to petition for Federal recognition of the 

Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana). Apr. 28, ) 978. BAR 
administrative files. 

1979 

1991 

Bulletin, Jan. 5, ) 979. Petition Document: 3000-8-92, 1984 Appendix A. 1987 
Exhibit 38, 1995 Exhibit 292. BAR Anthropologist's files. 

Interview by Robert Peregoy, Dec. 17,1991. NARF files (received by BAR on 
May 22, 1998). 

Pocha .. Edna 
1934 Letter to (Commissioner ofIndian Affairs] John Collier. Dec. 30, 1934. Petition 

Document: ) 995 Exhibit 50. 

Pope, Captain John 

President 

1849 Report of Exploration of Territory of Minnesota. 1849. Excerpts In Senate 
Document 444, 56 Cong., I sess., 1900, pp.76-83. Petition Document: 900-4. 
Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

See: U.S. President 

Providencia, Sister 
3/151 1955 Letter to Chippewa Friends. Petition Document: 3000-8-150. and 1984 

Appendix A. 

3/221 1955 Letter to Chippewa Friends. Petition Document: 3000-8-43, and 3000-8-151 . 

. 
July 1955 Households on Hill 57, Jan. 1954 - July 1955. Petition Document: 1995 

Exhibit 226. 

1964 The Indian Villages on Hill 57 at Great Falls. Montana, [May 1964]. Box 6, 
Verne Dusenberry Papers, Special Collections Library, Montana State 
University, Bozeman. MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana State Univ. 

1979 Interview by Little Shell Oral History Project, at Spokane, Oct. 7, 1979. NARF 
files. 

Ramsey, Alexander 
1850 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 21, 1850. Annual Repon of the 

Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1850, pp.43-64 [pp.75-96 in Congressional 
Executive Document version]. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 
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Ramsey, Alexander (cont.) 
1851 Letter to Secretary of the Interior. Nov. 7, 1851. Annual Repon of the 

Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1851. pp.284-288 [Congressional Executive 
Document version]. BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

1863 Letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 1863. Annual Repon of the 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1863. pp.427-434. BAR Historian's files: 
Commissioner. 

1882 Letter to Representative R.T. [sic 1 Pettigrew, May 22, 1882. Letter Received 
1882 - #9881, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. NARF 
files. 

Reardon. Myrtle [Bushman] 
1994 Oral history interview (transcript), Feb. I. 1994. O.H. 1655, Montana Historical 

Society. Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Riel, Louis 
1985 The Collected Writings of Louis Riel, ed. by Gilles Martel. Edmonton: 

Ufllversity of Albena Press. Excerpts in Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 4. 

Robinson, Elwyn B. 
1966 History of North Dakota. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press. Excerpts in 

BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Rocky Boy's Band 
n.d. Petition, by delegates and representatives of the Rocky Boy[']s Band and the 

Homeless Indians of the State of Montana. n.d. [ca. 1936] (copy). Petition 
Document: 3000-8-10, and 1989 Exhibit HAC#I-21 and ISR#3-3. 

1936 

Ross, Alexander 
1856 

RoyComm. 

Proceedings and Minutes of Meeting Held at Rocky Boy Agency, June 19, 1936. 
Petition Document: 3000-8-10. 

The Red River Settlement: Its Rise, Progress and Present Stare. London, 1856; 
reprint, Rutland, VT: C.E. Tuttle Co., 1972. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

See: Roy History Committee 

Roy History Committee (cited as: Roy Comm.) 
1990 Homestead Shacks over Buffalo Tracks. Bozeman, MT. BAR Historian's files: 

Montana H.S. 

Royce, Charles c., compo 
1900 Indian Land Cessions in the United States. Eighreenrh Annual Repon of the 

Bureau of American Ethnology 1899. Washington, D.C.: GPO. Excerpts in 
BAR Historian's files: Published. 
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Salois, Chane 
1998a Interview by BAR Anthropologist. at Choteau, May 8, 1998. BAR 

Anthropologist's tape (two sides). 

1998b Telephone conversation with BAR Anthropologist, Apr. 29. 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's files. 

Salois, Roger 
1998 Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls, May 6, 1998. BAR 

Anthropologist's tape (four sides). 

Sangray, Thomas 
1948 Letter to Senator James E. Murray, Apr. 19, 1948. Petition Document: Letter of 

LSTCIM 7/9/1998 encl. S#28. 

Schneider, Mary Jane 
1986 North DakOTa Indians: An IntroduCTion. Dubuque, IA: KendalllHunt. Excerpts 

in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

Schoenberg, Wilfred P. 

Senate 

1960 Jesuits in Montana, 1840·1960. Portland. OR: Oregon Province of the Jesuit 
Order. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

See: U.S. Senate 

Shatraw, Milton 
1970 Thrashin·Time. Palo Alto, CA: American West Publishing. Petition 

Document: 1995 Exhibit 8. 

Shield, James Parker 
1994 Interview by BAR staff, June 6, 1994. BAR Anthropologist's notes. BAR files. 

1996 Interview by Robert J. Franklin, Nov. 16, 1996. Petition Document: Franklin 
1997 tab 23. 

1997 Letter to John Gilbert, Aug:. 14, 1997. Petition Document: Letter of LSTCIM 
412211998 encl. 10. 

1998 Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls, May 15. 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (two sides). plus notes on a portion of the interview not on 
tape. 

Shield, James Parker, and John Gilbert 
1996 Campaign flier for Little Shell Chippewa election. Document obtained by BAR 

from James Parker Shield on Aug. I, 1998. 

Short, Lillian 
1998 Interview (with Lola Werk Hayward) by BAR Anthropologist, at Malta, May 14, 

1998. BAR Anthropologist's tape (three sides). 
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Silloway. P.M. 
1936 Silloway's History of Central Montana. Lewistown. MT. BAR Historian's 

files: Montana H.S. 

Sinclair. Clara 
1960 Letter to Dave Salois, ca. Sept. 28. 1960. Document obtained by BAR from 

R. Salois. BAR Anthropologist's files. 

Sinclair. John "Bud" 
1979 Interview by Little Shell Oral History Project. NARF files. 

1998 Interview (with Mel Swan) by BAR Anthropologist. May 10.1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape. 

Sinclair. John "BUd." et al. 
1997 Letter by John "Bud" Sinclair, Melvin Swan. and Judy Jacoby to Little Shell 

Members, Jan. 13, 1997. Petition Document: Franklin 1997 tab 20. 

Smith, Colonel c.F. 
1856 Repon of an expedition ... to the Red R.jver of the Nonh, Dec. 30, 1856. 

Annual Report of the Secretary of War 1858. pp.426-444. In House Executive 
Document 2, 35 Cong., 2 sess. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

Sprague, D.N., and R.P. Frye. compo 
1983 The Genealogy of the First Mitis Nation: The Development and Dispersal of 

the Red River Settlement, 1820-/900. Winnipeg: Pemmican Publications. 
Excepns in Petition Document: Franklin 1995 Appendix A item 4. Excerpts in 
BAR Historian's files: Published. BAR Library. 

S1. Clair, George 
1969 Letter to Jacob Ahtone. Bureau of Indian Affairs. Apr. 29. 1969. Petition 

Document: 969-20. 

S1. Clair. George. and Donald R. Marble 
1970 Letter to Senator Lee Metcalf. Mar. 31. 1970. BAR administrative files. 

'Statutes 
See: U.S. Statutes at Large 

Stephens. John H. 
1969 Letter from Chainnan. Board of County Commissioners of Blaine County. to 

Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Jan. 6, 1969. Petition Document: 969-8. 

Stephens. Stan 
1992 Letter from Governor of Montana to Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, 

June 24, 1992. BAR administrative files. 

- 35 -

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 365 of 397 



little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Sources Cited 

Stevens, Isaac I. 
1854 

Stewart, Orner C. 
1956 

Swan. Elizabeth 
1955 

Swan. Mel 
1998 

Swanson, Debbie 
1993 

1998 

Swanton, John 
1952 

Lener to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Sept. 16, 1854. Annual Repon of the 
Secretary o/the Interior 1854. pp.392-457. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: 
Department of the Interior. 

Cart-Using Indians of the American Plains. Selected Papers of the Fifth 
International Congress of Anthropological and Ethnological Sciences, pp.351-
355. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press. BAR Historian's 
files: Published. 

Letter to Sister Providencia. Mar. 23, 1955. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 221 

Interview (with John "Bud" Sinclair) by BAR Anthropologist, May 10, 1998. 
BAR Anthropologist's tape. 

Interview by Robert J. Franklin, at Havre, Sept. II, 1993. NARF files. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Havre, May 13. 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (four sides). 

The Indian Tribes of North America. Bureau of American Ethnology, 
Bulletin 145. Washington, D.C.: GPO. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

Tanner. Helen Hornbeck 
1992 The Ojibwa. New York. NY: Chelsea House. Excerpts in BAR Historian's 

files: Published. 

Tanner, Jesse A. 
1906 

Tanner, John 
1830 

Teller. Henry M. 
1898 

Foreign Immigration into North Dakota. Collections of the State Historical 
Society of Nonh Dakota I: 180-186. BAR Historian's files: Published. 

A Narrative of the Captivity and Adventures of John Tanner during Thirty 
Years Residence among the Indians in the Interior of Nonh America, ed. by 
Edwin James. New York, NY: Carvill. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

Letter to Willis Van Devanter, Assistant Attorney General of the Interior 
Department. Mar. 21,1898. Letter Received 1898 - #13889 encl., Special 
Case I 10 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. Petition Document: 1000-31. 
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Teller, Henry M. (cant.) 
1904 Remarks, Mar. 21, 1904. Congressional Record, 58 Cong., 2 sess., p.3458. 

Teske, Edna 
1998 

Teton Comm. 

BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist. at Havre, May 12, 1998. BAR 
Anthropologist's tape (four sides). 

See: Teton County History Committee 

Teton County History Committee (cited as: Teton Comm.) 
1988 Teton County: A History. Choteau, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Thomas. Sherry 
1998 Interview by BAR Anthropologist. at Great Falls, May 17, 1998. BAR 

Anthropologist's tape (one side). 

Thorndale, William, and William Dollarhide 
1987 Map Guide 10 the U.S. Federal Censuses, 1790-1920. Baltimore. MD: 

Genealogical Publishing Co. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Maps. 

Thumm. Helen 
1951 Letter to David Rein. Apr. 6, 1951 (copy). Petition Document: 951-10. 

Turtle Mountain Band, or, Turtle Mountain Indians (cited as: Turtle Mountain) 
1880 Letter to Agent I.M. McLaughlin, Oct. 23. 1880. Petition Document: 880-2. 

1883 Answers given to the Hon. Commissioner. [July 19], 1883. Letter Received 
1883 - #13489 ex. I. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. National Archives. 
Petition Document: 883-2. 

1891 Preamble and Resolutions. Jan. 7.1891. In Senate Document 444.56 Cong., 
1 sess .. 1890, pp.1 09-113. Petition Document: 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in 
BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1892 Grand Council Proceedings and Resolutions, Jan. 29. 1892. In Senate 
Document 444, 56 Cong .• 1 sess .• 1890, pp.118-119. Petition Document: 900-4 

. and 1000-15. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1893 Minutes of the council proceedings of December 6 and 8, 1893. In Senate 
Document 444, 56 Cong .• 1 sess .• 1890, pp.124-132. Petition Document: 900-4 
and 1984 Appendix H. pp.142-151. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

1896 Supplemental and Amended Agreement. June 17, 1896. Letter Received 1898 -
#49149. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. National Archives. Petition 
Document: 1000-22. 
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Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians 
1959 Constitution and Bylaws. Article ill - Membership, approved June 16, 1959. 

BAR Genealogist's files: #31. 

1992 Resolution No. 4653-05-92. May 7, 1992 [attached to a memorandum from BlA 
Aberdeen Area Director to Office of Tribal Services, June 17, 1992]. BAR 
administrative files. 

1996 Resolution No. TM309-04-96, Apr. 30, 1996 [attached to a memorandum from 
BlA Aberdeen Area Director to Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, 
June 5,1996]. BAR administrative files. 

Twining, Captain W.J. 
1877 Report. Feb. 14, 1877. In Senate Executive Document 41, 44 Cong., 2 sess., 

1877. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

U.S. (United States) 
1863 Journal of the treaty negotiations with the Red Lake and Pembina Bands, 1863 

[citations are to the typewritten copy]. Treaty of Oct. 2, 1863, at frames 900-
975, roll 6, microfilm T-494. RG 75, National Archives. Excerpts in BAR 
Historian's files: National Archives. 

U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs, or, Office of Indian Affairs (cited as: BlA) 
5/16/ 1851 Commissioner of Indian Affairs [Luke] Lea to Gov. [Alexander] Ramsey, 

May 16,1851 (copy). Letters Sent, p.380, roll 44, microfilm M-21, RG 75, 
National Archives. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

7/24/ 1863 Commissioner of Indian Affairs William P. Dole to [Gov.] Alexander Ramsey, 
July 24, 1863. Letters Sent, pp.183-184, roll 71, microfilm M-21, RG 75, 
National Archives. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

1864 Voucher titled Pembina Roll, flan. 4], 1864. Petition Document: 864-1,864-3, 
3000-8-132, and 1987 Exhibit 55. 

9/41 1871 Henry S. Neal et af. to Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 4, 1871. 
Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1871, pp.240-257. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

10/201 1871 Henry M. Tenney et aJ. to Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 20, 
1871. Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1871, pp.686-688. 
BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

111 8 I 1871 Agent E.P. Smith to Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Nov. 8, 1871. 
Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1871, pp.588-594. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

101 I I 1872 Agent E.P. Smith 10 Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 1, 1872. Annual 
Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1872, pp.208-211. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
1211 1 1873 Agent E. Douglas to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Dec. I, 1873. Annual 

Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1873, p.179. BAR Historian's 
files: Commissioner. 

III I 11874 Annual Report, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs E.P. Smith, Nov. I, 1874. 
Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1874. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

5/23/1878 Commissioner of Indian Affairs E.A. Hay! to Secretary of the Interior, May 23, 
1878. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., I sess., 1900, pp.153-155. Petition 
Document: 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

911 4/1880 A~ent c.A. Ruffee to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Sept. 14, 1880. Petition 
Document: 880-1. 

111171 1880 Agent James McLaughlin to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Nov. 17, 1880. 
Petition Document: 880-3. 

311 51 1881 Agent James McLaughlin to Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Mar. 15, 
1881. In Senate Document 444,56 Cong., 1 sess., 1900, pp.99-101. Petition 
Document: 881-4 and 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

10/241 1881 Annual Report, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price, Oct. 24. 1881. 
Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1881. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

2114/ 1882 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price to Secretary of the Interior. Feb. 14, 
1882. In House Report 1144,47 Cong., I sess., 1882. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

3/11/ 1882 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price to Secretary of the Interior, 
Mar, II, 1882. In House Report 1144.47 Cong., I sess., 1882. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

6/7 / 1882 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price to Secretary of the Interior, June 7, 
1882. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., 1 sess., 1900, pp.23-28. Petition 
Document: 900-4 and 1000-32. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

6/30/ 1882 Agent John W. Cramsie to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 30. 1882. 
Letter Received 1882 - #12389, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75. National 
Archives. NARF files. 

7/24/ 1883 Special Agent Cyrus Beede to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, July 24, 1883. 
Letter Received 1883 - #13849, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National 
Archives. Petition Document: 1000-5. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
1011 0/ 1883 Annual Repon, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price, Oct. 10, 1883. 

Annual Report of The Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1883. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

6/4/ 1884 Agent John W. Cramsie to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 4, 1884. Letter 
Received 1884· #10994, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National 
Archives. Petition Document: 884-4. 

10115/ 1884 Annual Report, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs Hiram Price, Oct. 15. 1884. 
Annual Report of The Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1884. Excepn in BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

1884-1900 Family Register of the Turtle Mountain Agency, 1884·1900. Volumes of Family 
Registers, boxes 138-140 and 144. Turtle Mountain Agency. RG 75. National 
Archives. Kansas City, MO. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: National 
Archives. 

1885-1940 Indian Census Rolls. Rolls 94-97 (nevil's Lake Agency. 1885-1905) and Roll 
161 (Fon Totlen, 1906·1909), microfilm M-595, RG 75, National Archives. 

8/251 1886 Agent John W. Cramsie to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Aug. 25, 1886. 
Annual ReporT of The Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1886, p.60. Excerpt in 
BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/3111887 Farmer-in-charge Ernest W. Brenner to Agent John W. Cramsie, Aug. 31, 1887. 
Annual Report of The Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1887. p.33. Excerpt in 
BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/23/1889 Farmer-in-charge E. W. Brenner to Agent J.W. Cramsie, Aug. 23, 1889. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1889, p.I44. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/41 1890 Fanner-in-<:harge E.W. Brenner to Agent John H. Waugh, Aug. 4, 1890. Letters 
Sent, pp.74-76. box 235. Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

8/25/1890 Farmer-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Aug .. 25, 
1890. Annual ReporrofThe Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1890,27·29. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

10/4/ 1890 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs R. V. Belt to A.H. Mahone eT al.. Oct. 4, 
1890. Lener Received 1891 • #18995 [encl.], Special Case 110 (Entry 102). 
RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

4118/ 1891 Agent John H. Waugh to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Apr. 18. 1891. Letter 
Received 1891 - #18995 enc!. 6, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75. National 
Archives. NARF files. 
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u.s. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BlA] (cont.) 
9/1 2J 1891 Farmer-in-charge E. W. Brenner to Agent John H. Waugh. Sept. 12, 1891. 

Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1891. p.320. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9/2111891 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs R.V. Belt to Secretary of the Interior. 
Sept. 21, 1891. In Senate Document 444. 56 Cong .. 1 sess .• 1900, pp.113-118. 
Petition Document: 900-4 and 1000-32. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

11281 1892 Agent John H. Waugh to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Jan. 28, 1892. Letters 
Sent. pp.318-319. box 235, Turtle Mountain Agency. RG 75, National Archives, 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

41121 1892 Agent John H. Waugh to Senator H.C. Hansbrough, Apr. 12, 1892. Leners Sent, 
pp.341-342. box 235, Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

8/26/ 1892 Agent John H. Waugh to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Aug. 26, 1892. Letter 
Received 1892 - #31610, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National 
Archives. NARF files. 

9/31 1892 Farmer-in-charge E. W. Brenner to Agent John H. Waugh, Sept. 3, 1892. 
Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1892, pp.352-354. BAR 
Historian's tiles: Commissioner. 

9/30/1892 Agent John H. Waugh to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 30, 1892. 
Letters Sent pp.425-426. box 235, Tunle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. NARF 
tiles. 

10115/1892a Agent John H. Waugh to Whom It May Concern, Oct. 15. 1892. In Senate 
Document 444, 56 Cong., I sess .• 1900, p.41. Petition Document: 900-4 and 
1984 Appendix H, p.50. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

IOll5/1892b Agent John H. Waugh to John B. Bottineau, Oct. IS, 1892. In Senate 
Document 444, 56 Cong., 1 sess., 1900, p.41. Petition Document: 900-4 and 
1984 Appendix H. p.50. Copy of S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1/6/1893 Commissioner of Indian Affairs TJ. Morgan to Secretary of the Interior. Jan. 6, 
1893. In House Executive Document 229, 52 Cong., 2 sess., 1893, pp.2-6. 
Copy of H.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

7/6/1893 Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning to Secretary of the Interior. 
July 6. 1893. In Senate Document 444.56 Cong., I sess .. 1900. pp.94-98. 
Petition Document: 900-4 and 1984 Appendix H, pp.133-137. Copy of 
S.Doc.444 in BAR Historian's tiles: Congress. 

- 41 -

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 371 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Sources Cited 

U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
8/29/1893 Farmer-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Agent Ralph Hall, Aug. 29, 1893. Annual 

Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1893, pp.230-232. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9116/ 1893 Annual Report, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning, Sept. 16, 
1893. Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1893. Excerpt in 
BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

5/1 01 1895 Agent Ralph Hall to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 10, 1895. Letter 
Received 1895 - #21338, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National 
Archives. NARF files. 

81231 1895 E. W. Brenner, Turtle Mountain Subagency, to Agent Ralph Hall, Aug. 23. 1895. 
Annual Report of rhi' Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1895, pp.230-231. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

12/91 1895 Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning to Secretary of the Interior. 
Dec. 9. 1895. In Senate Document 23, 54 Cong .. I sess .. 1895. p.2. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

6/241 1896 Commissioner of Indian Affairs n.M. Browning to c.L. Trevitt. June 24. 1896 
(copy). Letter Received 1898 - #49149 enc!. 5. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). 
RG 75. National Archives. NARF files. 

8/17/ 1896 Farmer-in-charge E. W. Brenner to Agent Ralph Hall, Aug. 17, 1896. Annual 
Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1896, pp.228-229. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9/15/ 1896 Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning to Secretary of the Interior. 
Sept. 15.1896. Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1896. 
p.96. Excerpt in BAR,Historian's files: Commissioner. 

811211897 Fanner-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Agent Ralph Hall, Aug. 12. 1897. Annual 
Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1897. pp.212.214. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

1/1 1/1898 Commissioner of Indian Affairs W.A. Jones to Representative M.N. Johnson. 
Jan. 11. 1898 (copy). Letter Received 1899 - #20192 enc!. 3, Special Case 110 
(Entry 102). RG 75. National Archives. Pelition Document: 1000-28. 

8/111 1898 Fanner-in-charge E. W. Brenner to Agent F.O. Getchell. Aug. II, 1898. Annual 
Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1898. pp.223-224. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9/17/1898 Agent F.O. Getchell to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 17, 1898. Letter 
Received 1898 - #42909, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75. National 
Archives. Petition Document: 1000-33. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIAl (cont.) 
10/27/ 1898 Commissioner of Indian Affairs W.A. Jones to Secretary of the Interior, OCl. 27, 

1898. Letter Received 1898 - #49149, SpeciaJ Case 110 (Entl)' 102), RG 75. 
~ational Archives. Petition Document: 1000-34. 

8/14/1899 Fanner-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Agent T.O. Getchell, Aug. 14. 1899. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1899, pp.270-271. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/21/1900 Agent F.O. Getchell to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Aug. 21,1900. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1900, pp.308-311. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/22/ 1900 Farmer-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Agent F.O. Getchell, Aug. 22, 1900. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1900, pp.311-312. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8/11/1902 Farmer-in-charge E.W. Brenner to Agent F.O. Getchell, Aug. II. 1902. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1902, pp.265-266. Petition 
Document: 902-1. BAR Historian's tiles: Commissioner. 

1/8/ 1904 Commissioner of Indian Affairs W.A. Jones to Secretary of the Interior, lan. 8, 
1904. In Senate Repon 1020, 58 Cong., 2 sess., 1904. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

4/26/ 1904 Superintendent Charles Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Apr. 26, 1904. 
Letters Sent, vo!.l: 185-191, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

5/1211904 Superintendent Charles Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 12, 1904. 
Letters Sent, voL I :233-236. box 6, Fon Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

6/6/ 1904 Superintendent Charles Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 6, 1904. 
Letters Sent, vo!.1 :292-293, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

8/2211904 Commissioner of Indian Affairs W.A. lones to Superintendent [Charles L.] 
Davis, Aug. 22, 1904. (Note: this 4-page letter of instructions was accompanied 
by a 3-page cover letter of the same date.) File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, 
box 182, Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. 
BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

9/ 1 1 1904 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 1, 
1904. Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1904, pp.266-272. 
BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9/271 1904 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 27, 
1904. leiter Received 1905 - #5626 encl. 15, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), 
RG 75, National Archives. Petition Document: 1000-36. 
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u.s. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA) (conI.) 
10/61 1904 Ratification by the Turtle Mountain band, n.d. [Oct. 6, 1904). Folder: Claims 

1933, box 59, Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, 
MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

10/81 1904 Superintendent [Charles L.) Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs (telegram), 
Oct. 8,1904. leiter Received 1904 - #70118, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), 
RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

10/1 0/ 1904 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 10, 
1904. Letter Received 1904 - #71402, Special Case I 10 (Entry 102). RG 75, 
National Archives. Also In Letters Sent. vol. I :477-479. box 6. Fort Totten 
Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. NARF files. BAR 
Historian's files: National Archives. 

101181 1904 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Oct. 18, 
1904. Letter Received 1905 - #5626 encl. 10 (leiter Received 1904 - #75046), 
Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. Also In Letters Sent, 
voI.2:28-30, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, 
MO. NARF files. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

10/26/1904 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Oct. 26, 
1904. Letter Received 1905 - #5626 encl. II (Letter Received 1904 - #76286), 
SpeciaJ Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

121 9/1904 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs A.C. Tonner to Secretary of the Interior, 
Dec. 9, 1904. Letter Received 1905 - #5626, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), 
RG 75, National Archives. Petition Document: 1000-38. 

1125/ 1905 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs C. F. Larrabee to Superintendent Charles 
L. Davis. Jan. 25, 1905. File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments. box 182, Turtle 
Mountain Agency, RG 75. National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR 
Historian's files: NationaJ Archives. 

211 /1905 Superintendent [Charles L. Davis] to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Feb. I, 
1905. Letters Sent, voI.2:347-348, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75. NationaJ 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

2117/1905 Ratification by the Turtle Mountain band, Feb. 17, 1905. Including attached 
minutes of Feb. 15, Feb. 16, and Feb. 17. Folder: Claims 1907-41. box 59, 
Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75. National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR 
Historian's files: National Archives. 

21181 1905 Superintendent [Charles L.] Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs (telegram), 
Feb. 18. 1905. Letter Received 1905 - #13867, Special Case I 10 (Entry 102), 
RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

2124/ 1905 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Feb. 24, 
1905. Leners Sent, voI.2:384-392. box 6, Fort Totten Agency. RG 75, NationaJ 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: NationaJ Archives. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BlA] (cont.) 
3/16/ 1905a Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs c.F. Larrabee to Superintendent Charles 

L. Davis, Mar. 16, 1905 File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box 182, Turtle 
Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR 
Historian's files: National Archives. 

3/16/ 1905b Superintendent [Charles L. Davis] to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Mar. 16. 
1905. Letters Sent, vo1.2:450, box 6, Fort Totten Agency. RG 75, National 
Archives. Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

3/27/ 1905 Superintendent [Charles L. Davis] to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Mar. 27. 
1905. Letters Sent, voI.2:471-473, box 6, Fort Totten Agency. RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

4/6/ 1905 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Turtle Mountain Band, Apr. 6, 1905. Letters 
Sent. voI.2:487-490, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National Archives, 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

4/221 1905 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Apr. 22, 
1905. Letters Sent, vol.3: 12-13, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

8117/ 1905 Annual report, by Superintendent Charles L. Davis, Aug. 17, 1905. Annual 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1905, pt.1 :278-282. BAR 
Historian's files: Commissioner. 

8119/ 1905 Commissioner of Indian Affairs F.E. Leupp to Superintendent Charles L. Davis, 
Aug. 19, 1905. File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box J 82, Turtle Mountain 
Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: 
National Archives. 

9/22/ 1905 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs C.F. Larrabee to Secretary of the 
Interior, Sept. 22, 1905. File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box 182, Turtle 
Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR 
Historian's files: National Archives. 

9/26/ 1905 Superintendent [Charles L. Davis) to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 26, 
1905. Letters Sent, voI.3:394-396, box 6, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

9/30/1905 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Francis E. Leupp to Secretary of the Interior, 
Sept. 3D, 1905. Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1905, 
pt.1: 144-145. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

10/13/ 1905 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs c.F. Larrabee to Charles L. Davis, Oct. 
13, 1905. File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box 182, Turtle Mountain 
Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: 
National Archives. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA] (conI.) 
10/31/ 1905 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Oct. 31. 

1905. Letter Received 1905 - #88931. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. 
National Archives. Petition Document: 905-10. 

1211911905 Superintendent [Charles L. Davis] to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Dec. 19. 
1905. Letters Sent. vol.4: 124-125, box 7, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75. National 
Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

ca. 1906 General rules governing applications for enrollment. ... , n.d. [ca. Oct. 15, 
1906]. File: Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box 182. Turtle Mountain Agency, 
RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National 
Archives. 

1906a Family history books. Turtle Mountain Agency. Excerpts in BAR Genealogist'S 
files: #32-33. 

1906b Family data cards. Box 85, Turtle Mountain Agency, RG 75, National Archives, 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Genealogist's files: #26. 

3126/ 1906 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Mar. 26, 
1906. Letters Sent. voI.4:420-422, box 7, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, National 
Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

6/211 1906 Minutes of Meeting [by Superintendent Charles L. Davis], June 21. 1906. File: 
Turtle Mountain Enrollments, box 182. Turtle Mountain Agency. RG 75. 
National Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

6/2911906 Minutes of Meeting of the Council [by Special Agent Edgar A. Allen], June 26-
29. 1906. Letter Received 1907 - #32382, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, 
National Archives. NARF files. 

8/27/1906 Annual Report, by Superintendent Charles L. Davis. Aug. 27,1906. Annual 
Repon of The Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1906, pp.292-295. Petition 
Document: 906-2. BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

9/8/ 1906 Superintendent Charles L. Davis to [Fanner-in-charge] E. E. Jones. Sept. 8. 
1906. Folder: Charles Davis correspondence, box 251, Turtle Mountain 
Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Historian's files: 
National Archives. 

9/13/1906 Superintendent [Charles L. Davis] {o Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 13. 
1906 [excerpt]. Leiter Sent. voI.5:261-265, box 7, Fort Totten Agency, RG 75, 
National Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

9130/ 1906 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Francis E. Leupp to Secretary of the Interior, 
Sept. 30, 1906. Annual Repon of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1906, 
pp.153-155. Petition Document: 906-1. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: 
Commissioner. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
1'2/20/ 1906 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs C.F. Larrabee to Secretary of the 

Interior. Dec. 20. 1906 [Allen repon]. Folder: Repon on Enrollment 
Applications. box 190. Tunle Mountain Agency. RG 75. National Archives. 
Kansas City, MO. Copy in BAR Genealogist's files: #15. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's tiles: National Archives. 

2/4 1 1907 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs c.F. Larrabee to Special Indian Agent 
E.A. Allen. Feb. 4. 1907. Box 190. Tunle Mountain Agency, RG 75. National 
Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #17. 

9/30/ 1907 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Francis E. Leupp to Secretary of the Interior, 
Sept. 30, 1907. Annual Report of rhe Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1907. 
pp.63-64. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Commissioner. 

41201 1909 Allotting Clerk Thralls W. Wheat to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Apr. 20. 
1909 (copy). SC 903. Montana Historical Society. Helena, MT. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 19. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

4/29/1909 Superintendent, Ft. Tolten Indian Industrial School to Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, Apr. 29, 1909 (unsigned). Box 190, Tunle Mountain Agency, RG 75, 
National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Genealogist's files: #17. 

5/7/1910 Commissioner of Indian Affairs R.G. Valentine to Kanick et al .. May 7, 1910. 
Petition Document: 910-1, and 1987 Exhibit 54. 

1111 11910 Annual Repon, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs Roben G. Valentine, Nov. 1, 
1910. Annual Report ofrhe Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1910, p.33. 
Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 24. 

9/41 1912 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs c.F. Hauke to Secretary of the 
Interior, Sept. 4, 1912. Petition Document: 912-33. 

111101 1913 List of Competent allottees on the Turtle M't [sic] Reservation in North Dakota, 
Nov. 10, 1913. Box 150, Turtle Mountain Agency. RG 75. National Archives. 
Kansas City, MO. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #24. 

9/2111914 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Calo Sells to Secretary of the Interior, Sept. 21, 
1914. Annual Report a/the Commissioner 0/ Indian Affairs 1914, pp.46, 166. 
Petition Document: 914-}, Excerpt in BAR Historian's tiles: Commissioner. 

10115/1917 Annual Report, by Commissioner of Indian Affairs Cato Sells, Oct. 15. 1917. 
Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 1917, pp.64-65. Petition 
Docu ment: 917-1. 

ca. 1920 Indian heirs. by Turtle Mountain Agency. ca. 1920. Box 138, Turtle Mountain 
Agency. RG 75, National Archives. Kansas City, MO. BAR Genealogist's files: 
#16. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
4/16/1928 Commissioner of Indian Affairs [Charles Burke] to Senator Bunon K. Wheeler. 

Apr. 16. 1928. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 37. 

12114/ 1931 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs J. Henry Scattergood to Joseph H. 
Dussome. Dec. 14. 1931. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 41 [attached to 
Exhibit 40]. 

111211933 Commissioner of Indian Affairs C.J. Rhoads to Charles C. Moore. 
Commissioner of the General Land Office, Jan. 12, 1933. Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 43. 

10/181 1933 Statement and testimony by Superintendent Earl Wooldridge at hearings at 
Rocky Boy Agency, Oct. 18, 1933. In U.S. Senate, Survey of Conditions of the 
Indians in the United States, 31:16649-68. at 16654-55. Washington, D.C.: 
GPO, 1934. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

711 01 1934 Minutes of Meeting to Discuss Provisions Made for Landless Indians, July 10, 
1934. Petition Document: 934-3, and 1995 Exhibit 48. 

1114/ 1935 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to Edna 
Pocha. Jan. 14. 1935. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 51. 

1/221 1935 Superintendent Ear) Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Jan. 22, 
1935. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 52. 

214/ 1935 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Feb. 4. 
1935. Petition Document: 935-21. 

211211935 Chief of Land Division J.H. Stewan to Superintendent Jasper W. Elliott. 
Feb. 12. 1935. Petition Document: 935-20. and 1995 Exhibit 57. 

2/28/ 1935 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Representative Roy E. Ayers, 
Feb. 28,1935. Petition Document: Frank.lin 1994 encl. 17. 

3/ 2 / 1935 Chief of Land Division J .H. Stewan to Joseph H. Dussome. Mar. 2, 1935. 
Petition Document: 935-44. 

311211935 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to 
Superintendent Earl Wooldridge. Mar. 12. 1935. Petition Document: 935-40, 
and 1995 Exhibit 58. 

3/25/ 1935 Memorandum, by Charles E. Roblin. Mar. 25. 1935. Petition Document: 935-
41. 

5/31/ ) 935 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 31, 
1935 (copy). Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 62. 

6/10/ 1935 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to 
Superintendent Earl Wooldridge, June 10, 1935. Petition Document: 30<X>-7 -87. 
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u.s. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
9116/ 1935 Commissioner of Indian Affairs to Superintendent Earl Wooldridge. Sept. 16. 

1935. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 64. 

12123/ 1935 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Secretary of the Interior. 
Dec. 23. 1935. Petition Document: 935-11. 936-13. and 1995 Exhibit 66. 

1/15/1936 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman. Jr .• to Secretary 
of the Interior. Jan. 15. 1936. Petition Document: 3000-7-88. and 1995 
Exhibit 67. 

3/7 / 1936 Enrollment under the Indian Reorganization Act, Circular No. 3134. Mar. 7. 
1936. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 69. 

61\ 21 1936 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to Dan 
Sangrey et al .. June 12. 1936. Petition Document: 3000-7-89. 

7/2 I 1936 Memorandum: Enrollment at Rocky Boy's Agency, July 2, 1936 (copy). Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 71. 

7/6/ 1936 Memorandum to the Commissioner [of Indian Affairs]. by Committee on 
Enrollment. July 6. 1936. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 72, and Franklin 
1994 encl. 31. 

9/221 1936 Memorandum: Registration as an "Indian" in accordance with Section 19. by 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier. Sept. 22. 1936 (copy). Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 73. 

1111 01 1936 Memorandum to the Commissioner [of Indian Affairs]: Enrollment of Landless 
Montana Indians, by Allan G. Harper. Nov. 10. 1936. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 74. 

121101 1936a Report of Enrollment Committee. by C.E. Faris. Dec. 10. 1936. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 75. 

12110/ 1936b Superintendent Wooldridge et al. to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Dec. 10. 
1936. Petition Document: 3000-7-93. 

ca. 1937 Commissioner [of Indian Affairs] to J.H. Dussome, n.d. [ca. 1937]. Petition 
Document: 1987 Exhibit 50. 

1937 Roe Cloud Roll application files. NARF files. 

3/ 3 / 1937 [Assistant to the] Commissioner of Indian Affairs to J .H. Dussome. Mar. 3, 
1937. Petition Document: 1987 Exhibit 50. 

3/6/ 1937 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Superintendent Earl Wooldridge. 
Mar. 6, 1937 (copy). Petition Document: 3000-7-96. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
3/8/1937 Memorandum to the Commissioner [of Indian Affairs]. by Allan G. Harper. 

Mar. 8.1937. Petition Document: 937-1. 937-9. and 1995 Exhibit 77. 

31121 1937 Assistant to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs F.H. Daiker to Oscar H. Lipps, 
Mar. 12. 1937. Petition Document: 1987 Exhibit 50. 

3118/ 1937 Superintendent J.E. Balmer to Fred A. Baker. Mar. 18. 1937. Petition 
Document: 1984 Appendix E. (Note: 1995 Exhibit 79 includes the lener but not 
the table). 

3/25/ 1937 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge et af. to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 
Mar. 25. 1937. Petition Document: 3000-7-97. 

4/ 6/1937 Assi~tant to the Commissioner F.H. Daiker to Oscar H. Lipps. Apr. 6. 1937 
(copy). Petition Document: 1987 Exhibit 50. 

4/131 1937 Assistant to the Commissioner F.H. Daiker to a.H. Lipps. Apr. 13. 1937 (copy 
of telegram). Pelition Document: 1987 Exhibit 50. 

4114/1937 [Field Representative O.H.] Lipps to [Assistant to the Commissioner F.H.] 
Daiker. Apr. 14. 1937 (telegram). Petition Document: 1987 Exhibit 50, and 
Franklin 1994 encl. 35. 

5/31 1937 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman. [Jr.]. to Joseph 
Dussome. May 3. 1937. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 83. 

5/5 / 1937 Field Representative O.H. Lipps to Assistant to the Commissioner Fred H. 
Daiker. May 5. 1937. Petition Document: 3000-7-99. and 1995 Exhibit 84. 

5/27/1937 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs (Attention: 
Mr. Daiker). May 27. 1937. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 85. and Franklin 
1994 encl. 44. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #60. 

6/4/ 1937 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge 10 Commissioner of Indian Affairs. June 4. 

1937. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 86. 

6111/ 1937 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. June 11. 
1937. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 87. 

6/151 1937 Superintendent Earl Wooldridge to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. June 15. 
1937. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 89. 

7/20/1937 Memorandum to Land Division, by Assistant to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs F.H. Daiker. July 20.1937. Petition Document: 3000-7-100. 

8/2/1937 Memorandum to Mr. Stewart. by D'Arcy McNickle. Aug. 2. 1937. Petition 
Document: 3000-7-102. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIAJ (COni.) 

III 9/1937 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Chainnan, Rocky Boy Council. 
Nov. 9,1937. Petition Document: 3000·7-103. 

11/30/1937 Memorandum to Commissioner Collier, by Assistant to the Commissioner F.H. 
Daiker, Nov. 30, 1937. Pelition Document: 3000-7-105. 

1938 Landless Cree Indians, 1938. compiled by Dr. Henry Roe Cloud ["Roe Cloud 
Roll"] (photostat. acquired by the Library of Congress. Legislative Reference 
Service, Jan. 27.1956). Petition Document: 3000-8-85. (See a)so: BIA 1945 
[40 pp.]. BIA 9/2711949 [5 pp.], BIA 1987.) 

11191 1938 Supervisor of Indian Education Henry Roe Cloud to Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, Jan. 19, 1938. Petition Document: 938·82. 

21161 1938 Memorandum to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, by Henry Roe Cloud. 
Feb. 16, 1938. Petition Document: 3000·7-110. 

4/251 1938 Assistant to the Commissioner John Henick [to Joseph Dussome], Apr. 25, 
1938. Roe Cloud Roll application files. NARF files. 

4/291 1938 Commissioner of Indian 'Affairs John Collier to Henry Roe Cloud, Apr. 29, 
1938. Petition Document: 3000·1·38, and 1995 Exhibit 92. 

7/231 1938 Supervisor of Indian Education Henry Roe Cloud to Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs. July 23,1938. Petition Document: 3000-1-40, and 1995 Exhibit 94. 

9/28/1938 Assistant to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs Fred H. Daiker to Henry Roe 
Cloud, Sept. 28, 1938. Petition Document: 3000-1-41, and 1995 Exhibit 95. 

10/10/1938 The final report of Henry Roe Cloud ... on the educational campaign among the 
Rocky Boy Band ... for the adoption into the Band of a limited number of non· 
ward. landless'Indians, Oct. 10, 1938. Petition Document: 3000·1-42. and 1995 
Exhibit 97. 

2J 91 1939 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Superintendent E.E. McNeilly, 
Feb. 9, 1939. Petition Document: 3000·1·44, and 1995 Exhibit 104. 

3/6/1939 Henry Roe Cloud to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Mar. 6, 1939. [Roll and 
applications for enrollment of the Pacific Coast Indians, 2 parts.] File 805-1939-
Hoopa Valley-053, Central Classified Files 1907-1939 (Entry 121), RG 75, 
National Archives. 

3/181 1939 Ballot for Adoption Election, Mar. 18. 1939. Petition Document: 3()()()·8·11, 
and 1984 Appendix A. 

3/211 1939 Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Collier to Superintendent E.E. McNeilly. 
Mar. 21. 1939. Petition Document: 3ooo·}·45, and 1995 Exhibit lOS . 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA) (cont.) 
8/71 1939 [Assistant to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs F.H. Daiker) to Superintendent 

Emmett E. McNeilly, Aug. 7.1939. Petition Document: 3000-1-46. and 1995 
Exhibit 106. 

8/311 1939 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Herrick to Emmett e. Angland, 
Aug. 31.1939. Petition Document: 3000-8-138 encl. (Reprint in Petition 
Document: 3000-1-8.) 

2I12I1940a Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman. Jr., to Senator 
James E. Murray, Feb. 12, 1940. Petition Document: 2000-9.1, and 3000-8-140. 

2/121 1940b Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman. Jr., to [Rose 
Gray], Feb. 12, 1940. Roe Cloud Roll application files. NARF files. 

3/'" I I 940 Superintendent E.E. McNeilly to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Mar. 7, 1940. 
Petition Document: 3000- I -50, and 1995 Exhibit 111. 

31181 1940 Minutes of the March 6, 1940, Rocky Boy's Business Committee, Mar. 18, 
1940. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 113. 

4/6/ 1940 Minutes of a meeting at Rocky Boy, Apr. 6, 1940. Petition Document: 1989 
EJdJibit HAC#2-41. 

5/2/1940 Minutes of a meeting of April 27, 1940, at Rocky Boy's Agency, May 2, 1940. 
Petition Document: 940-50, and 1995 Exhibit 116. 

5113/1940 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to Senator 
James E. Murray, May 13, 1940. Petition Document: 3000-1-55, and 1995 
Exhibit 118. 

121 9/1940 Memorandum for Mr. Jennings, by D'Arcy McNickle, Dec. 9,1940. Petition 
Document: 940-53, 19~5 Exhibit 123, and Franklin 1994 enc!. 75 and 76. 

12113/1940 Memorandum: Landless Indians of Montana, by J.c. McCaskill, Dec. 13, 1940. 
Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit] 24. 

4111/1941 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmerman, Jr., to Senator 
James E. Murray, [Apr. II. 1941). Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 136. 

4/231 1941 Landless Unenrolled Indians in the State of Montana, by J.e. McCaskill, 
Apr. 23, 1941. Petition Document: 941-2. and 1995 Exhibit 138. 

10/4/1941 [Allan Harper] for the Commissioner [of Indian Affairs] to J.H. Dussome, 
Oct. 4,1941. Petition Document: 3000-1-12,1989 Exhibit HAC#I-1 and 
ISR#3-5, and 1995 Exhibit 155 . 

1211 / 194] The Evolution of the Turtle Mountain Chippewa Roll, by John H. Holst, Dec. 1. 
1941. Manuscript. Depanment of the Interior Library, Washington, D.C. BAR 
Historian's files: Depanment of the Interior. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BlA] (cont.) 
2123/ 1942 Landless Unenrolled Indians in the State of Montana, by Acting Chief of 

Planning and Development Branch [J.c. McCask.ill], Feb. 23, 1942. Petition 
Document: 1995 Exhibit 171. 

1945 Roll of Landless Indians of Montana ["Roe Cloud Roll"], n.d. [marked as 
received at Rocky Boy's Agency. 1945]. Petition Document: 3000·5-47, and 
1995 Exhibit 175 (incomplete). 

5/28/ 1947 Superintendent James D. Crawford to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 28. 
1947. Petition Document: 947·6. 

2121/ 1949 Assistant Commissioner of Indian Affairs William Zimmennan, Jr., to 
Representative Mike Mansfield, Feb. 21,1949. Petition Document: 3000·2·5, 
3000·2·6a. 1989 HAC#I·08, 1995 Exhibit 184, and Franklin 1994 enc\. 103. 

6/21/ 1949 Regional Director Paul L. Fickinger to Attorney General of Montana Arnold H. 
Olsen, June 21,1949. Petition Document: 3000·1·13,3000·2·8, and 1995 
Exhibit 190. 

9/27/ 1949 Roe Cloud Roll, n.d. [attached toT.W. Wheat. for the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, to Superintendent J.W. Wellington. Sept. 27.1949]. Petition Document: 
1984 Appendix E. 

1/23/1950 Regional Director Paul L. Fickinger to [Joseph Dussome], Jan. 23, 1950. 
Petition Document: 3000·1·15, and 1995 Ex.hibit 192. 

6/15/ 1950 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs H. Rex Lee to Representative Mike 
Mansfield. June 15. 1950. Petition Document: 3000·1-64. and 1995 
Exhibit III. 

4/16/ 1953 Superintendent J.W. Wellington to Acting Solicitor W.H. Flannery. Apr. 16. 
1953 (copy). In Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 206. 

11/15/ 1956 Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs W. Banon Greenwood to Area Director 
Percy F. Melis, Nov. 15. 1956 (copy). Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 247. 

4/1 / 1965 Area Director Martin N.B. Holm to Albert C. Guardipee. Apr. 1. 1965. Petition 
Document: 965-3. 

9/13/1967 Superintendent W.A. Mehojah. Sr. to Area Director Martin N.B. Holm. Sept. 13. 
1967. Petition Document: 3000-1-84, and 1995 Exhibit 269. 

5/27/ 1969 Tribal Operations Officer Jacob Ahtone to George SI. Clair, May 27, 1969. 
Petition Document: 969-3. 

4/23/ 1970 Acting Associate Commissioner [of Indian Affairs] William Benham to Senator 
Lee Metcalf, Apr. 23. 1970. BAR administrative files. 
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u.s. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] (cont.) 
5/4/ 1970 Acting Associate Commissioner of Indian Affairs to Superintendent Roclcy 

Boy's Agency, May 4, 1970. Petition Document: 970-58. 

ca. 1971 Area Director to George SI. Clair. n.d. [ca. 1971 J. Petition Document: 971-1. 

6/2 \I 1971 Commissioner of Indian Affairs Louis R. Bruce to Legislative Counsel. June 21, 
1971. Petition Document: 971-62. 

9/17/ 1971 Memorandum: Preparation of roll for distribution of a judgment awarded the 
Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians, by Acting Deputy Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs Harold D. Cox. Sept. 17. 1971. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #46. 

1216 I 1971 Memorandum: Pembina Judgment Fund Roll, by Deputy Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs John O. [Crew]. Dec. 6.1971. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #46. 

1217/ 1971 Memorandum: Minnesota Chippewa Tribal Roll suggested as approved roll for 
establishing Pembina ancestry, by Acting Superintendent. Minnesota Agency. 
Dec. 7. 1971. BlA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist'S files: #46. 

1219 I 1971 Memorandum: Minnesota Chippewa Tribal Roll suggested as approved roll for 
establishing Pembina ancestry, by Area Director Raymond Lightfoot, Dec. 9, 
1971. BlA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's files: #46. 

121141 1971 Memorandum: Pembina Judgment Fund Roll, by Superintendent. Minnesota 
Agency, Dec. 14,1971. BlA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's files: 
#46. 

11271 1972 Memorandum: Copies of rolls and Archives files [Pembina Judgment Award], 
by Acting Chief. Division of Tribal Operations Roben Pennington. Jan. 27. 
1972. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #46. 

5/251 1972 Memorandum: Request that Minnesota Chippewa Tribal Roll be approved for 
use in establishing Pembina ance~try. by Area Director W.D. Babby. May 25, 
1972. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's tiles: #46. 

9/25/1972 Memorandum: Use of Minnesota Chippewa Roll to establish Pembina ancestry. 
by Deputy Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Sept. 25, 1972. BIA Aberdeen Area 
Office. BAR Genealogist's files: 1/46. 

21] ]1 1974 Memorandum: Pembina Judgment. by Acting Director, Office of Indian Services 
John Geary, Feb. 1 I. 1974. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's 
tiles: #46. 

1/301 1978 Superintendent Leo Brockie. Jr., to David K. Dubois, Jan. 30, 1978. Petition 
Document: 978-59. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [ElA] (cont.) 
8115/ 1980 Memorandum: Historical documents for identification of Pembina ancestors, by 

Acting Deputy Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Aug. 15. 1980. BlA Aberdeen 
Area Office. BAR Genealogist's files: #46. 

8119/ 1980 Results of Research Report in 1905 Pembina Chippewa award in Dockets 113. 
246, 191 and 221 and Draft Proposal for Use and Distribution of Funds. by 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs. Aug. 19, 1980. Petition Document: 3000-1-
113a. BAR Histonan's files: Department of the Interior. 

11112/ 1980 Memorandum: Historical documents for identification of Pembina ancestors. by 
Acting Deputy Commissioner of Indian Affairs Theodore Krenzke, Nov. 12, 
1980. BlA Aberdeen Area Office. EAR Genealogist's files: #46. 

3/5 / 1981 Memorandum: Hlstoncal Documents for IdentificatIOn of PembIna ancestors, by 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs (signed by Theodore Krenzke), Mar. 5, 1981. 
BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR Genealogist's files: #46. 

21 9 1 1982 Memorandum: Pembina Judgment A ward. by Director, Office of Indian Services 
Theodore C. Krenzke, Feb. 9. 1982. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #46. 

1127/1983 Chief, Division of Tribal Government Services Patrick A. Hayes to Ralph 
Doney, Jan. 27, 1983. BAR administrative files. 

41 8 1 1985 Deputy Director, Office of Indian Services Hazel E. Elbert to Donald F. Bishop. 
Apr. 8, 1985. BAR administrative files. 

1987 Basic Membership Roll of the Landless Indians of Montana, ] 937 Census Taken 
by Dr. Henry Roe Cloud [as updated by the BlA, ca. 1987 or 1989]. Petition 
Document: Franklin 1995 Appendix A item 2. 

7/19/ 1990 Chief. Di vision of Tribal Government Services Carol A. Bacon to Debbie 
Swanson, July 19, 1990. BAR administrative files. 

10/26/ 1992 Acting Realty Officer. Turtle Mountain Agency to Little Shell Tribe of 
Chippewa Indians. Oct. 26, 1992. Petition Document: ] 995 Exhibit 337[c]. 

31241 1994 Printout of Little Shell members on the judgment roll, by Turtle Mountain 
Agency, Mar. 24, 1994. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 348. 

3123/ 1995 Acting Director. Office of Tribal Services Joann Sebastian Morris to Debbie 
Swanson, Mar. 23. 1995. BAR administrative files. 

3114/ 1997 Director, Office of Tribal Services Deborah J. Maddox to John Gilbert, Mar. ] 4, 

1997. BAR administrative files. 

3/13/ 1998 Director, Office of Tribal Services Deborah J. Maddox to John Gilbert, Mar. 13. 
1998. BAR administrative files. 
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U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs [BlA] (cont.) 
111l! 1999 Tribal Enrollment Specialist Karen Joseph. BIA Aberdeen Area Office. to BAR 

Genealogist. Jan. II. 1999. BAR Genealogist's files: #46. 

U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs. Branch of Acknowledgment and Research (cited as: BAR) 
7/30/1994 Tape recording of a meeting with the petitioner's researchers and attorney al 

NARF. July 30.1994. BAR files. (See also: Peregoy 1995.) 

1998 Family Tree-Maker computer file "BAR-LS.98." BAR files. 

511111998 BAR Genealogist's notes at petitioner's office. May II. 1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: # 14. 

5/1 211998 BAR Genealogist's notes at petitioner'S office, May 12, 1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #14. 

5113/1998 BAR Genealogist's notes at petitioner'S office, May 13,1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #14. 

5114/1998 BAR Genealogist's notes at BIA Billings Area Office, May 14.1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #59. 

5/15/1998 BAR Genealogist's notes at BlA Billings Area Office. May 15,1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #59. 

5121/1998 BAR Genealogist's notes at BIA Turtle Mountain Agency, May 21, 1998. BAR 
Genealogist's files: #58. 

U.S. Census (cited as: Census) 
1850 Federal Population Census 1850, Minnesota Territory. Roll 367, microfilm 

M-432. RG 29. National Archives. Excerpts in BAR Genealogist's files: #48. 
(See also: White Weasel n.d., abstracts in BAR Genealogist's files: #48,) 

1880 Federal Population Census 1880, Monrana Territory. Roll 742, microfilm T-9, 
RG 29, National Archives. Excerpts in BAR Genealogist's files: #47. 

1910 Petitioner's transcription of excerpts from the Federal Population Census 19] O. 
Montana. [Microfilm T-624, RG 29, National Archives.] Petition Document: 
] 995 Exhibit 23. 

1920 Petitioner's transcription of excerpts from the Federal Population Census 1920. 
Montana. [Microfilm T-625. RG 29, National Archives.] Petition Document: 
1995 Exhibit 31. 

U.S. Census Office (cited as: Census Office) 
1894 Report on Indians Taxed and Indians Not Ta:ud in the United Stares (Except 

Alaska) at the Eleventh Census: 1890. Washington. D.C.: GPO. Excerpts in 
BAR Historian's tiles: Published. 
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U.S. Coun of Claims (cited as: Ct.Cl.) 
1974 Tunle Mounrain Band oj Chippewa v. United States (Appeal No. 6-72), Jan. 23, 

1974. Ct.CI. 203:426-459. BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

1979 United Stares v. Turrle Mounrain Band, er at. (Appeal No. 8-78). Dec. 12, 1979. 
Ct.CI. 222: 1-15. BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

1980 T urrle Mounrain Band er al. v. Un ired Slares, Mar. 18, 1980. Ct.Cl. 223:79 J. 
BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

U.S. Department of Commerce (cited as: Commerce) 
1979 Twenry Censuses: Population and Housing Questions, 1790-1980. 

Washington, D.C.: GPO. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

U.S. Department of the Interior (cited as: Interior) 
10/41 1882 Secretary of the Interior H.M. Teller to General Land Office. Oct. 4, 1882 

(copy). Letter Received 1882 - #21031. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75, 
National Archives. NARF files. 

121191 1882 Memorandum of talk by Sec[retar]y of the Interior with "Little Shell" and his 
delegation of Tunle Mountain Chippewas. copy dated Dec. 19. 1882.' [Letter 
Received 1882 - #23100. Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75. National 
Archives.] Petition Document: 882-1. 

21231 1883 Secretary of the Interior H.M. Teller to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Feb. 23, 
1883. Letter Received 1883 - #3764, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, 
National Archives. NARF files. 

8/281 1885 InspeclOr Roben S. Gardner to Secretary of the Interior, Aug. 28, 1885. Letter 
Received 1885 - #20952 (with Exhibits No.1. No.2, No.5), Special Case 110 
(Entry 102), RG 75, National Archives. Excerpt in Petition Document: 1000-13. 
Copy in BAR Historian's files: National Archives. 

11/13/ 1888 Historical infonnation relating to the Tunle Mountain Indians, by R. V. Belt. 
Chief Indian Division, Nov. 13, 1888. In Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., 
1 sess., 1900. pp.132-146. Petition Document: 900-4. Copy of S.Doc.444 in 
BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

11/24/ 1888 Annual Repon, by Secretary of the Interior William F. Vilas, Nov. 24. 1888. 
Annual Repon of the Secretary of the Interior 1888. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Depanment of the Interior. 

212/1893 .Assistant Attorney-General [of the Depanment of the Interior] George H. 
Shields to Secretary of the Interior, Feb. 2, 1893. In House Executive 
Document 229. 52 Cong .. 2 sess., 1893, pp.6-7 Copy ofH.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

21 4 1 1893 Acting Secretary of the Interior George Chandler to the President, Feb. 4, 1893. 
In House Executive Document 229. 52 Cong., 2 sess., 1893, pp.1-2. Copy of 
H.Ex.Doc.229 in BAR Historian's files: Congress. 
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u.s. Department of the Interior (cont.) 
5/15/ 1895 Inspector James McLaughlin to Secretary of the Interior. May IS, 1895. leiter 

Received 1895 - #22071. Special Case 110 (Entry 102), RG 75, National 
Archives. Petition Document: 1000-19. 

4/151 1899 Memorandum: Turtle Mountain Chippewas, by Chief, Indian Division E.E. 
White. Apr. 15.1899. Letter Received 1899 - #20192 encl. 16. Special 
Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

6/ I / 1904 Acting Secretary of the Interior Thos. Ryan to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. 
June 1. 1904. Letter Received 1904 - #36397, Special Case 110 (Entry 102). 
RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

112]/ 1905 Secretary of the Interior E.A. Hitchcock to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. 
Jan. 21. 1905. Letter Received 1905 - #5626, Special Case 1 IO (Entry 102), 
RG 75. National Archives. NARF files. 

3/l 01 1905 Secretary of the Interior E.A. Hitchcock to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 
Mar. 10, 1905. Letter Received 1905 - #19297, Special Case 110 (Entry 102), 
RG 75, National Archives. NARF files. 

9/301 1907 Acting Secretary of the Interior Woodruff to Commissioner of Indian Affairs. 
Sept. 3D, 1907. Decisions of the Departmem oJthe Interior . .. Relating to the 
Public Lands 36: 105-106. BAR Historian's files: Department of the Interior. 

11/101 1908 Inspector Frank C. Churchill to Secretary of the Interior, Nov. 10, 1908. Petition 
Document: 908-52. 

1/15/1916 Voightv. Bruce, Jan. 15,1916. DecisionsoftheDepanmentoJthelnterior ... 
Relating 10 the Public Lands 44:524-530. BAR Historian's files: Department of 
the Interior. (Reprint In Folder: Claims 1933, box 59, Tunle Mountain Agency, 
RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City. MO. BAR Historian's files: National 
Archives.) 

2J231 1916 Secretary of the Interior Franklin K. Lane to Senator Henry F. Ashurst, Feb. 23. 
1916. Folder: Tunle Mountain Claims 1916-25, box 113, Tunle Mountain 
Agency, RG 75, National Archives, Kansas City, MO. BAR Historian's files: 
National Archives. 

3/17/1916 Acting Secretary of the Interior A.A. Jones to Senator Henry L. Myers. Mar. 17. 
1916. In House Repon 626.64 Cong., I sess., 1916. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

5/30/ 1917 Tentative Roll of Rocky Boy Indians [by Inspector James Mclaughlin], May 30, 
1917. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 29. 

6126/1917 Memorandum, by Inspector James McLaughlin, June 26,1917. BIA Tunle 
Mountain Agency. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 30. BAR Genealogist's 
files: #37. 
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U.S. Department of the Interior (cont.) 
7/7/1917 Inspector James McLaughlin to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, July 7,1917. 

BlA Tunle Mountain Agency. BAR Genealogist's files: #37. 

7/16/1917 Roll of Rocky Boy Indians [by Inspector James McLaughlin], approved by 
Secretary of the Interior Franklin K. Lane, July 16, 1917. BIA Tunle Mountain 
Agency. BAR Genealogist's files: #37. 

4/16/ 1928 Secretary of the Interior Huben Work to Senator Lynn J. Frazier. April 16, 1928. 
In Senate Repon 1114. 70 Cong .. I sess., 1928. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

4/201 1935 Secretary of the Interior Harold L. Ickes to Senator Elmer Thomas, Apr. 20. 
1935. In Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, Hearings on 5.1786. 74 Cong., 
1 sess., May 10, 1935. Petition Document: 935-1. BAR Historian's tiles: 
Congress. 

4/20/ 1937 Acting Secretary of the Interior Charles West to Senator Elmer Thomas, Apr. 20, 
1937. In House Repon 1770, 75 Cong., 3 sess., 1938. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. 

5/27/ 1937 Acting Secretary of the Interior Charles West to Representative Will Rogers, 
May 27, 1937. Petition Document: 937-22. 

7/4/ 1937 Memorandum to D'Arcy McNickle, Bureau of Indian Affairs, from Assistant 
Solicitor Charlotte Westwood. July 4, 1937. [File 41706-1937-General Service-
066, Central Classified Files (Entry 121), RG 75, National Archives.] Indiana 
Miami Petition for Federal Acknowledgment. Documents, Vol. 3, document 99. 
BAR files. 

7/29/ 1955 Assistant Secretary of the Interior Onne Lewis to Representative Clair Engle, 
July 29, 1955. In House Repon 1589, 84 Cong., 1 sess., 1955. Petition 
Document: 3000-1-20. and 1995 Exhibit 230. 

ca. 1968 Secretary of the Interior (not signed) to Representative John W. McCormick. n.d. 
[ca. 1968). Petition Document: 3000-1-79. 

61121 1978 Associate Solicitor Thomas W. Fredericks to Harold Gray, June 12. 1978. 
Petition Document: 978-18. 

8/2/ 1985 Deputy Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs John W. Fritz to Speaker of the 
House of Representatives [and to President of the Senate]. Aug. 2. 1985. BAR 
administrative files. 

9/61 1985 Memorandum: Interpretation of Sections 6 and 7 of Pembina Distribution Act. 
by Assistant Solicitor Scott Keep. Sept. 6, 1985. BAR administrative files. 
BAR Genealogist's files: #61. 

8/28/ 1998 Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs [by Linda L. Richardson] to John Gilben, 
Aug. 28. 1998. BAR administrative files. 
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U.S. General Land Office (cited as: GLO) 
1880 [Special Agent) C.W. McIntyre to Commissioner General Land Office J.A. 

Williamson. Aug. 20, 1880. Letter Received 1880 - #1325, box 1, McIntyre 
Repon (Entry 368), Records Relating to Red Lake and Pembina Chippewa Half­
Breed Scrip, RG 75, National Archives. BAR Genealogist's files: #54 (repon). 
#53 (List A), #55 (List E). 

U.S. House of Representatives (cited as: House) 
1890 Reservation of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians. House 

Repon 632. 51 Cong .. I sess. Petition Document: 890-1. 

1898 Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians. House Repon 820. 55 Cong .. 
2 sess. Petition Document: 1000-32. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

3/18/1898 Congressional Record. 55 Cong., 2 sess., Mar. 18.1898. p.298 I. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

4/8 / 1904 Conference Report on Indian Appropriation Bill, by Committee of Conference, 
Apr. 8. 1904. House Report 2342. 58 Cong .• 2 sess. BAR Historian's files: 
Congress. (See also: Congressional Record. 58 Cong .• 2 sess .• Apr. 8. 1904, 
pp.4538-41.) 

1/30/1905 H.R. 18519.58 Cong .. 3 sess .. Jan. 30. 1905. Petition Document: 905-8. (See 
also: Congressional Record. 58 Cong .. 3 sess., Jan. 30.1905. p.1618. and the 
index to bills for the 58th Congress in the Congressional Record.) 

3/8/ 1920 Congressional Record. 66 Cong .. 2 sess .. Mar. 8. 1920. p.4049. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

1/31 1939 H.R. 798. 76 Cong .. 1 sess .. Jan. 3. 1939. Petition Document: 939-1. 

7/181 1955 H.R. 7433. 84 Cong .• I sess .. July 18. 1955. Petition Document: 3000-1-23. and 
1995 Exhibit 229. 

7/29/ 1955 Providing Assistance for Cenain Landless indians in the Stare of Montana. 
July 29. 1955. House Report 1589. 84 Cong .• I sess. Petition Document: 3000-
I-20, and 1995 Exhibit 230. 

U.S. Indian Claims Commission (cited as: Ind.CI.Comm.) 
1954 LittLe SheJl Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket 191), Dec. 3, 1954. 

Ind.CI.Comrn.3:417-421. BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

1958 Red Lake, Pembina, and White Earth Bands of Chippewa v. United States 
(Docket 18-A. 113. 191), May 21. 1958. Ind.CI.Comm.6:247-335. Excerpts in 
BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

1961 Red Lake. Pembina. and White Earth Bands of Chippewa v. United States 
(Docket 18-A. 113. 191). June 15, 1961. Ind.CI.Comm.9:315-344. Excerpts in 
BAR Historian's tiles: Judicial. 
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U.S. Indian Claims Commission [Ind.CI.Comm.] (com.) 
1964 Red Lake. Pembina. and White Earth Bands of Chippewa v. United States 

(Docket 18-A, I 13, 191), Apr. 24, 1964. Ind.C1.Comm. 9:n.p. [between pp.345 
and 346]. BAR Historian's tiles: Judicial. (Note: The preliminary award of 
Oct. 5, 1961. is at Ind.CI.Comm. 9:457.) 

1967 Blackfeet and Gros Ventre Tribes of Indians v. United Stares (Docket 279-A). 
Ind.CI.Comm. 18:241-287. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

1970 Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket I 13, 246. 191. 
221). June 30, 1970. Ind.CI.Comm. 23:315-339. BAR Historian's files: Judicial 

197 I Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket I 13, 246, 191, 
221), Nov. 11. 1971. Ind.CJ.Comm.26:336-362. BAR Historian's files: 
Judicial. 

1974 Little Shell Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket 191), Apr. 5, 1974. 
Ind.C1.Comm.33:469-510. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Judicial. 

I 978 Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa v. United States (Docket I 13, 246, 191, 
22 I), Sept. 20, 1978. Ind.CJ.Comm. 43 :25 I -307. Excerpts in BAR Historian's 
files: Judicial. 

U.S. Indian Health Service (cited as: illS) 
1988 Area Director Duane L. Jeannotte to Debbie Swanson, Aug. 2, 1988. 

(Attachment 9 to Peregoy letter.) NARF files. 

1994 Director Michael Lincoln to Robert Peregoy, Jan. 4, 1994. NARF files. 

1997a Memorandum: Members of Little Shell, by Joseph Birdshead for Garfield Little 
Light, Associate Area Director. July 17, 1997. NARF files. 

1997b Memorandum:' Little Shell Membership for Direct Care, by Charles D. Plumage, 
Director, Fort Belknap Health Center, Aug. 20, 1997. NARF files. 

U.S. President (cited as: President) 
12121/1882 Executive Order, by Chester A. Arthur, Dec. 21.1882. In U.S. President, 

E.xecutive Orders Relating to Indian Reservations, p.137. Washington. D.C.: 
GPO, 1912. Also In Charles J. Kappler. comp., Indian Affairs: Laws and 
Treaties, I :885. Washington. D.C.: GPO, 1904. BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

3/291 1884 Executive Order. by Chester A. Arthur. Mar. 29. 1884. In U.S. President. 
Executive Orders Relating to Indian Reservations, p.137. Washington, D.C.: 
GPO, 1912. Also In Charles 1. Kappler. comp., Indian Affairs: Laws and 
Treaties, 1:885. Washington. D.C.: GPO, 1904. BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

- 6 J -

United States Department of the Interior. Office of Federal Acknowledgment Lsm V001 0007 Page 391 of 397 



Little Shell (MT): Proposed Finding - Sources Cited 

U.S. President (con!.) 
6/3/ 1884 Executive Order. by Chester A. Arthur. June 3. 1884. In U.S. President. 

Executive Orders Relating 10 Indian Reservations. p.137. Washington. D.C.: 
GPO. 1912. Also In Charles 1. Kappler. comp .. Indian Affairs: Laws and 
Treaties, I :885. Washington. D.C.: GPO, 1904. BAR Historian's files: 
Published. 

2J 6 / 1893 President Benj[ amin] Hanison to Senate and House, Feb. 6, 1893. In House 
Executive Document 229, 52 Cong., 2 sess., 1893, p.l. Copy of H.Ex.Doc.229 
in BAR Historian's tiles: Congress. 

U.S. Senate (cited as: Senate) 
2123/ 1876 Memorial of the Chippewa Indians oj Turrle Mountain, Dakota Territory. 

introduced Feb. 23. 1876. Senate Miscellaneous Document 63. 44 Cong .. I sess. 
Petition Document: 1000-1. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

3/29/1876 S.669. 44 Cong .. I sess .. introduced Mar. 29,1876. Leiter Received 1878-
#R33, Special Case 110 (Entry 102). RG 75, National Archives. NARF tiles. 
(See also: Congressional Record. 44 Cong .. I sess., Mar. 29.1876, p.2027.) 

2118/ 1898 Congressional Record. 55 Cong., 2 sess., Feb. 18, 1898, p.1872. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

1216/ 1899 Congressional Record, 56 Cong .. 1 sess .. Dec. 6. 1899, p.88. BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

1900 Papers Relative to an Agreement with the Turrle Mountain Band oj Chippewa 
Indians in North Dakota. Senate Document 444, 56 Cong., I sess. Petition 
Document: 900-4. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

1214/ 1901 Congressional Record. 57 Cong., 1 sess., Dec. 4, 1901, p.125. BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

6/27/1902 Tunle Mountain Band of Indians, by Committee on Indian Affairs, June 27, 
1902. Senate Report 21l7, 57 Cong., 1 sess. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

III 1 I 1903 Congressional Record, 58 Cong., I sess., Nov. 11, 1903, p.178. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

1/25/1904 Agreement with the Tunle Mountain Band o/Chippewa Indians in Nonh 
Dakota, by Committee on Indian Affairs. Jan. 25, 1904. Senate Repon 47 I. 
58 Cong" 2 sess. BAR Historian's files: Congress. (See also: Congressional 
Record, 58 Cong .• 2 sess., Jan, 25. 1904, p.11 00.) 

21261 1904 Wandering American-born Indians oj Rocky Boy's Band, Montana, by 
Committee on Indian Affairs, Feb. 26, 1904. Senate Report 1020,58 Cong., 
2 sess. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

3/21/1904 Congressional Record. 58 Cong., 2 sess., Mar. 21,1904, pp.3457-60. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 
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U.S. Senate (cont.) 
3/2']) 1904 Congressional Record. 58 Cong., 2 sess .. Mar. 22, 1904. pp.3491-92. BAR 

Historian's files: Congress. 

41J3/1921 Congressional Record. 67 Cong., I sess., Apr. 13, 1921. p.187. BAR 
Historian's tiles: Congress. 

2121/ 1933 Turtle Mountain Band or Bands of Chippewa Indians oj North Dakota, by 
Committee on Indian Affairs, Feb. 21. 1933. Senate Report 1269.72 Cong., 
2 sess. BAR Historian's files: Congress. 

2171 1935 S.1786. 74 Cong .. I sess., Feb. 7, 1935. Petition Document: 935-60. (See also: 
amended 5.1786. July 31,1935. Petition Document: 935-2.) 

511 01 1935 Turtle Mountain Indians of North DakOTa Jurisdictional Act. by Committee on 
Indian Affairs. May 10, 1935. Hearings on 5.1786. 74 Cong .. I sess. BAR 
Historian's files: Congress. 

51131 1935 Turtle Mountain Chippewa Indians 0/ North Dakota. by Committee on Indian 
Affairs. May 13. 1935. Senate Report 972. 74 Cong., I sess. BAR Historian's 
files: Congress. 

2110/1937 S. 95, 75 Cong .• I sess .• Feb. 10, 1937. Petition Document: 937-35. (See also: 
Senate Report 70. 75 Cong .• I sess .• 1937.) 

2124/1939 5.88 [as referred to the U.S. House of Representatives], 76 Cong .• 1 sess .. 
Feb. 24. 1939. Petition Document: 939-2. 

1969 Journal a/the Executive Proceedings a/the Senate. New York: Johnson 
Reprint Corp. Excerpts in BAR Historian's tiles: Congress. 

1/26/1971 S.287, 92 Cong., I sess .. Jan. 26.1971. Petition Document: 3000-1-93b. 

2J 2 / 1971 S.522, 92 Cong .. 1 sess .• Feb. 2. 1971. Petition Document: 3000-1-95. 

U.S. Statutes at wrge (cited as: Statutes) 
1818 Convention with Great Britain. Oct. 20. 1818. Statutes at wrge 8:248. BAR 

Historian's files: Statutes. 

1825 Treaty with the Sioux and Chippewa ....• Aug. 19, 1825. Statutes at wrge 
7:272. BAR Historian's files: StalUles. 

1850 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department, Sept. 30. 1850. 
Statutes at Large 9:544 at 556. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1860 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department. June 19. 1860. 
Statures at Large 12:44 at 59. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1862 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department. July 5. 1862. 
Statutes at Large 12:512 at 529. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 
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U.S. Statutes (cont.) 
1863 Treaty with the Red Lake and Pembina Bands. Oct. 2, 1863. Statures at Large 

13:667 (or, v.13: p.43 of treaties). BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1864 Treaty with the Chippewa--Red Lake and Pembina Bands. Apr. 12, 1864. 
Statutes at Large 13:689 (or, v.13: pA9 of treaties). BAR Historian's files: 
Statutes. 

1873 An act making appropriations to supply deficiencies in the appropriations for the 
service of the Government. Mar. 3. 1873. Statutes at Large 17:530 at 539. 
Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1874 An act to establish a reservation for cenain Indians in the Territory of Montana. 
Apr. 15, 1874. StatuTes aT Large 18:28. BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1883 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department, Mar. I, 1883. 
Swtutes at Large 22:433 at 449. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1887 An act to provide for the allotment of lands in severalty to Indians on the various 
reservations, Feb. 8. 1887. Statutes at Large 24:388 at 389. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Statutes. 

1888 An act to ratify and confirm an agreement with the Gros Ventre, Pi egan, Blood, 
Blackfeet, and River Crow Indians in Montana, May 1, 1888. Statutes at Large 
25: 113. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1890 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department, Aug. 19, 1890. 
Statutes at Large 26:336 at 354. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1892 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department, July 13, 1892. 
Statutes at Large 27: 120 at 139. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1896 An act making provision for the deportation of refugee Canadian Cree Indians 
from the State of Montana and their delivery to the Canadian authorities, 
May 13, 1896. Statutes at Large 29: I I7. BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1904 An act making appropriations for, .. the Indian Department, Apr. 21, 1904. 
Statutes at LArge 33: 189 at 194-196. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

19O5 An act making appropriations for ... the Indian Department, Apr. 30, 1908. 
Statutes at LArge 35:70 at 84. Excerpt in BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1916 An act to amend the Act of February II, 1915, providing for the opening of the 
Fan Assinniboine Military Reservation, Sept. 7, 1916. Statutes at Large 
39:739. BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1934 An act to conserve and develop Indian lands and resources .... , June 18, 1934. 
Statutes at Large 48:984. Petition Document: 934-10. Excerpt in BAR 
Historian's files: Statutes. 
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U.S. Statutes (cont.) 
1939 An act to add cenain public-domain land in Montana to the Rocky Boy Indian 

Reservation, Mar. 28, 1939. Sw/u/es aI Lnrge 53:552. BAR Historian's files: 
Statutes. 

1940 An act to authorize the purchase of certain lands adjacent to the Tunle Mountain 
Indian Agency, May 24,1940. Srarutes aC Lnrge 54:219. BAR Historian's files: 
Statutes. 

1950 An act to authorize the sale of a small tract of land at Great Falls, Montana, 
Aug. 18, 1950. StalUles at Large 64:463. Petition Document: 950-4: 1995 
Exhibit 198. BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1971 An act to provide for the disposition of funds appropriated to pay a judgment in 
favor of the Pembina Band of Chippewa Indians, July 29, 1971. S/a/utes at 
Large 85: 158. BAR Historian's files: Statutes. 

1982 An act to provide for the use and distribution of funds awarded the Pembina 
Chippewa Indians, Dec. 31, 1982. SWlUtes at Lnrge 96:2022. BAR Historian's 
files: Statutes. 

Van den Broeck. Father 
1925 Sketch of Ben Kline's life, Nov. 14, 1925. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 2. 

Van Gunten, Robert 
1998 Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Great Falls (from Kalispell), May 10. 

1998. BAR Anthropologist's tape (three sides). 

Venne,l.Z. 
9/91 1941 

10/221 1941 

111141 1941 

Vogel, Helen 
1998 

Letter to Governor Sam C. Ford. Sept. 9, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 147. 

Letter to Governor Sam C. Ford. Oct. 22. 1941. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 159. 

Letter to Governor Sam C. Ford, Nov. 14, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 
Exhibit 162. 

Interview by BAR Anthropologist, at Dodson (from Malta), May 14, 1998. 
BAR Anthropologist's tape (two sides). 

Vrooman, Nicholas Peterson 
1994 Letter to Robert 1. Franklin. Feb. I, 1994. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 346. 

Warren, William W. 
1885 History of the Ojibways. Collections of the Minnesota Historical Society 

(1885), 5:21-394; reprint. Minneapolis, MN: Ross & Haines, Inc., 1957. 
Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 
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Wessel, Thomas R. 
1974 A History of the Rocky Boy's Indian Reservation. Manuscript. Montana 

Historical Society, Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

Wheeler. Bunon K. 
4/3/ 1941 Letter to 1.H. Dussome. Apr. 3, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 134. 

10/30/ 1941 leiter to J.Z. Venne, Oct. 30, 1941. Petition Document: 1995 Exhibit 160. 

Wheeler-Voegelin. Ermi nie, and Harold Hickerson. 
1974 The Red Lake and Pembina Chippewa. Chippewa Indians I. New York, NY: 

Garland. Excerpts in BAR Historian's files: Published. 

White Weasel, Charlie 
1989 Old Wild Rice. Belcourt, ND. BAR Library. 

n.d. Pembina and Tllrtle Mountain Ojibway (Chippewa) Hisrory. Belcourt, ND, 
n.d. [ca. 1992]. BAR Library. (Note: Abstract of 1850 census in BAR 
Genealogist's files: #48). 

Wiseman, Alfred 
1993a Interview by Robert 1. Franklin, 1993. NARF files. 

1993b Oral history interview (transcript), Nov. 29,1993. O.H. 1658, Montana 
Historical Society, Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

1994 Oral history interview (transcript), Feb. 10, 1994. O.H. 1659, Montana 
Historical Society, Helena, MT. BAR Historian's files: Montana H.S. 

1998 Interview (with Chane Salois) by BAR Anthropologist, at Choteau, May 8, 1998. 
BAR Anthropologist's tape. 

Wiseman, Cecelia LaRance 
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